

IRIS Toxicological Review of Perfluorohexanesulfonic Acid (PFHxS, CASRN 335-46-4) and Related Salts

July 2023

Integrated Risk Information System Center for Public Health and Environmental Assessment Office of Research and Development U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Washington, DC

DISCLAIMER

This document is a preliminary draft for review purposes only. This information is distributed solely for the purpose of pre-dissemination peer review under applicable information quality guidelines. It has not been formally disseminated by EPA. It does not represent and should not be construed to represent any Agency determination or policy. Mention of trade names or commercial products does not constitute endorsement or recommendation for use.

CONTENTS

СО	NTE	NTS	
AU	тно	ORS CONTRIBUTORS REVIEWE	RSxi
EXE	ECUT	TIVE SUMMARY	xiii
ES.	ES.1 Lifetime and Subchronic Oral Reference Dose (RfD) for Noncancer Effectsx		
ES.	ES.2 Confidence in the Oral Reference Dose (RfD) and subchronic RfDx		
ES.3 Noncancer Effects Following Inhalation Exposure			alation Exposurexvi
ES.4 Evidence for Carcinogenicity		xvii	
1.	٥v	ERVIEW OF BACKGROUND INFO	RMATION AND ASSESSMENT METHODS1-1
	1.1	BACKGROUND INFORMATION	ON PERFLUOROHEXANESULFONIC ACID (PFHXS)1-1
		1.1.1. Physical and Chemical P	operties1-1
		1.1.2. Sources, Production, an	l Use1-3
		1.1.3. Environmental Fate and	Transport1-4
		1.1.4. Potential for Human Exp	osure and Populations with Potentially Greater Exposure1-5
	1.2	SUMMARY OF ASSESSMENT M	THODS1-8
		1.2.1. Literature Search and So	reening1-8
		1.2.2. Evaluation of Individual	Studies1-11
		1.2.3. Data Extraction	
		1.2.4. Evidence Synthesis and	ntegration1-14
		1.2.5. Dose-Response Analysis	
2.	LIT	ERATURE SEARCH AND STUDY E	ALUATION RESULTS2-1
	2.1	LITERATURE SEARCH AND SCRE	ENING RESULTS
	2.2	STUDY EVALUATION RESULTS	
3.	PH	ARMACOKINETICS, EVIDENCE SY	NTHESIS, AND INTEGRATION
	3.1	PHARMACOKINETICS	
		3.1.1. Absorption	
		3.1.2. Distribution	
		3.1.3. Metabolism	
		3.1.4. Excretion	
		3.1.5. Evaluation of PBPK and	YK Modeling

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.

	3.1.6. Empirical Pharmacokinetic Analysis	3-39
	3.1.7. Model Evaluation Conclusion and Extrapolation Approach	3-44
	3.2. NONCANCER HEALTH EFFECTS	3-47
	3.2.1. Thyroid Effects	3-48
	3.2.2. Immune Effects	3-74
	3.2.3. Developmental Effects	3-105
	3.2.4. Hepatic Effects	3-196
	3.2.5. Neurodevelopmental Effects	3-224
	3.2.6. Cardiometabolic Effects	3-248
	3.2.7. Hematopoietic Effects	3-289
	3.2.8. Female Reproductive Effects	3-296
	3.2.9. Male Reproductive Effects	3-318
	3.2.10. Renal Effects	3-332
	3.2.11. Other Noncancer Health Effects	3-342
	3.3. CARCINOGENICITY	3-342
	3.3.1. Cancer	3-342
4.	SUMMARY OF HAZARD IDENTIFICATION CONCLUSIONS	4-1
	4.1. SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS FOR NONCANCER HEALTH EFFECTS	4-1
	4.2. SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS FOR CARCINOGENICITY	4-5
	4.3. CONCLUSIONS REGARDING SUSCEPTIBLE POPULATIONS AND LIFESTAGES	4-5
5.	DERIVATION OF TOXICITY VALUES	5-1
	5.1. NONCANCER AND CANCER HEALTH EFFECT CATEGORIES CONSIDERED	5-1
	5.2. NONCANCER TOXICITY VALUES	5-2
	5.2.1. Oral Reference Dose (RfD) Derivation	5-2
	5.2.2. Subchronic Toxicity Values for Oral Exposure (Subchronic Oral Reference Dose [RfD]) Derivation	5-21
	5.2.3. Inhalation Reference Concentration (RfC) Derivation	5-23
	5.3. CANCER TOXICITY VALUES	5-23
REI	FERENCES	R-1

TABLES

Table 1-1. Physical-chemical properties of PFHxS and related salts ^a	1-3
Table 1-2. Serum PFHxS concentrations based on NHANES 2013–2014 data (µg/L)	1-5
Table 1-3. PFHxS levels at 10 military installations	1-6
Table 1-4. Populations, exposures, comparators, and outcomes (PECO) criteria	1-9
Table 3-1. Estimated Volume of distribution (Vd) values in rats, mice, and monkeys	3-10
Table 3-2. Measured cord serum: maternal serum ratios	3-15
Table 3-3. Summary of estimated clearance values in animals	3-23
Table 3-4. Summary of clearance values estimated for humans	3-31
Table 3-5. Summary clearance values for humans	3-34
Table 3-6. Pharmacokinetic parameters for rats, mice, monkeys, and humans	3-41
Table 3-7. Data-derived extrapolation factor (DDEF) calculations	3-46
Table 3-8. Associations between PFHxS exposure and thyroid hormone levels in medium	
confidence studies of adults.	3-53
Table 3-9. Associations between PFHxS exposure and thyroid hormone levels in medium	
confidence studies of infants	3-56
Table 3-10. Evidence profile table for PFHxS thyroid effects	3-72
Table 3-11. Summary of PFHxS and data on antibody response to vaccines in children	3-78
Table 3-12. Summary of PFHxS and data on antibody response to vaccines in adults	3-81
Table 3-13. Summary of PFHxS and selected data on infectious disease in humans	3-84
Table 3-14. Summary of PFHxS and data on hypersensitivity in humans	3-91
Table 3-15. Animal study details	3-98
Table 3-16. Evidence profile table for PFHxS immune effects	3-102
Table 3-17. Summary of 34 epidemiologic studies of PFHxS exposure and growth restriction	
measures	3-116
Table 3-18. Summary of 11 epidemiologic studies of PFHxS exposure and post-natal growth	
measured	3-161
Table 3-19. Associations between PFHxS and anogenital distance in medium confidence	
epidemiology studies	3-165
Table 3-20. Summary of 19 epidemiological studies of PFHxS exposure and gestational duration	
measures	3-175
Table 3-21. Evidence profile table for PFHxS related developmental effects	3-187
Table 3-22. Associations between PFHxS and liver enzymes in <i>medium</i> confidence epidemiology	
studies	3-199
Table 3-23. Evidence profile table for oral PFHxS exposure and liver effects	3-219
Table 3-24. Summary of results for <i>medium</i> confidence epidemiology studies of PFHxS exposure	
and cognitive effects	3-231
Table 3-25. Summary of results for <i>medium</i> confidence epidemiology studies of PFHxS exposure	
and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)	3-236
Table 3-26. Summary of results for medium confidence epidemiology studies of PFHxS exposure	
and behavior	3-238
Table 3-27. Evidence profile table for PFHxS neurotoxicological effects	3-246
Table 3-28. Associations between PFHxS exposure and blood lipids in <i>medium</i> confidence	
epidemiology studies	3-253
Table 3-29. Associations between PFHxS exposure and hypertension in <i>medium</i> confidence	
epidemiology studies in adolescents and young adults	.3-260

Table 3-30. Associations between PFHxS exposure and gestational hypertension and	
preeclampsia in <i>medium</i> confidence epidemiology studies	3-260
Table 3-31. Associations between PFHxS exposure and type 2 diabetes in epidemiology studies	3-264
Table 3-32. Associations between PFHxS exposure and gestational diabetes in epidemiology	
studies	3-266
Table 3-33. Associations between PFHxS exposure and insulin resistance or blood glucose in	
epidemiology studies	3-269
Table 3-34. Associations between maternal exposure to PFHxS and adiposity in children	3-277
Table 3-35. Associations between maternal exposure to PFHxS and overweight status in children	
in <i>medium</i> confidence epidemiology studies	3-280
Table 3-36. Evidence profile table for PFHxS exposure and cardiometabolic effects	3-286
Table 3-37. Evidence profile table for PFHxS hematopoietic effects	3-295
Table 3-38. Summary of results for epidemiology studies of fecundity	3-298
Table 3-39. Evidence profile table for PFHxS exposure and female reproductive effects	3-314
Table 3-40. Associations between PFHxS and semen sperm parameters in <i>medium</i> confidence	
epidemiology studies	3-320
Table 3-41. Evidence profile table for PFHxS exposure and male reproductive effects	3-329
Table 3-42. Associations between PFHxS exposure and renal function	3-335
Table 3-43. Evidence profile table for PFHxS urinary system effects	3-341
Table 4-1. Hazard conclusions across published EPA PFAS human health assessments	4-3
Table 5-1. Endpoints considered for dose-response modeling and derivation of points of	
departure for thyroid effects in animals	5-4
Table 5-2. Endpoints considered for dose-response modeling and derivation of points of	
departure for immune (decreased serum antibody) effects in humans	5-6
Table 5-3. Mean birth weight deficit studies considered for dose-response modeling and	
derivation of points of departure for developmental effects in humans	5-8
Table 5-4. Benchmark response levels selected for BMD modeling of PFHxS outcomes	5-10
Table 5-5. Points of Departure (PODs) considered for the derivation of PFHxS candidate toxicity	
values	5-11
Table 5-6. Uncertainty factors for the development of the lifetime RfD for PFHxS	5-14
Table 5-7. Lifetime candidate values for PFHxS	5-18
Table 5-8. Confidence in the organ-/system-specific RfDs for PFHxS	5-19
Table 5-9. RfD and organ-/system-specific RfDs for PFHxS	5-20
Table 5-10. Subchronic RfD organ-/system-specific RfD values for PFHxS	5-22

FIGURES

Figure 1-1. Chemical structure of PFHxS and related salts	. 1-2
Figure 2-1. Literature search for perfluorohexanesulfonic acid and related salts	. 2-2
Figure 3-1. Observed end-of-study of PFHxS in female and male rats in the NTP bioassay	.3-3
Figure 3-2. Ratio of extracellular water (% of body weight) in children versus adults	3-17
Figure 3-3. Comparison of PFHxS PBPK model predictions to IV dosimetry data	3-36
Figure 3-4. Comparison of Female (left) and Male (right) CL values for IV and gavage exposure of	
equivalent dose levels	3-40
Figure 3-5. Study evaluation results for epidemiology studies of PFHxS and thyroid effects	3-51

Figure 3-6. Study evaluation results for measures of thyroid hormone levels in PFHxS animal	
toxicity studies	3-59
Figure 3-7. Summary of thyroid hormone measures in animal studies	3-61
Figure 3-8. Percent change in thyroid hormone levels following PFHxS exposure in the available	
animal toxicology studies	3-62
Figure 3-9. Study evaluation results for endocrine histopathology outcomes in PFHxS animal	
toxicity studies	3-64
Figure 3-10. Study evaluation results for endocrine organ weights in PFHxS animal toxicity	
studies	3-65
Figure 3-11. Summary of endocrine organ weight effects in animal studies.	3-66
Figure 3-12. EDSP21 results of PFHxS active assays	3-69
Figure 3-13. Summary of evaluation of epidemiology studies of PFHxS and antibody response	
immunosuppression effects.	3-76
Figure 3-14. Summary of evaluation of epidemiology studies of PFHxS and infectious disease	
immunosuppression effects.	3-83
Figure 3-15. Summary of evaluation of epidemiology studies of PFHxS and hypersensitivity	
effects	3-89
Figure 3-16. Study evaluation results of PFHxS animal toxicity studies with immune-related	
endpoints.	3-97
Figure 3-17. Summary of PFHxS immune hematology results	3-99
Figure 3-18. Study evaluation results for 39 epidemiological studies of birth weight and PFHxS	3-110
Figure 3-19. Perinatal studies of birth weight measures and subsets included in different	
evaluations	3-111
Figure 3-20. Overall population birth weight results for 11 high confidence PFHxS	2 1 2 0
Eigene 2.21. Overall a studietical bitth versicht assults for 17 versions and law soufidance.	3-120
Figure 3-21. Overall population birth weight results for 17 medium and low confidence	2 1 2 1
Epidemiological studies.	3-121
Figure 3-22. Forest plot of 27 studies included for the EPA meta-analysis on changes in mean	2 1 2 2
Figure 2.22 Sex specific male infants only mean hirth weight results for 14 DEHys	3-122
opidemiological studios	2 1 2 5
Eigure 2-24 Sex-specific female infants only mean birth weight results for 14 DEHyS	5-125
enidemiological studies	2-126
Eigure 2-25. Overall population standardized hirth weight results for 12 epidemiologic studies	2_120
Figure 3-26. Sex stratified standardized birth weight results for 5 enidemiologic studies	3-129
Figure 3-20. Sex stratified standardized birth weight results for 5 epidemiologic studies	3-134
Figure 3-28. Overall nonulation mean hirth length results for 16 PEHyS enidemiological studies	2-125
Figure 3-29 Sex stratified hirth length results for 11 enidemiologic studies	3-136
Figure 3-30 Study evaluation results for 14 enidemiological studies of head circumference and	
PFHxS	3-138
Figure 3-31. Overall population head circumference results for 12 epidemiologic studies	
Figure 3-32. Sex stratified head circumference results for 8 epidemiologic studies	
Figure 3-33. Study evaluation results for 7 epidemiological studies of small for gestational age	
and low birth weight and PFHxS	3-143
Figure 3-34. Small for gestational age and low birth weight results for 7 epidemiologic studies	
Figure 3-35. Study evaluation results for 13 epidemiological studies of postnatal growth and	
PFHxS.	3-147
Figure 3-36. Standardized postnatal weight results for PFHxS epidemiological studies	3-149

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.

DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Figure 3-37. Mean postnatal weight results for PFHxS epidemiological studies	3-150
Figure 3-38. Standardized postnatal height results for PFHxS epidemiological studies	3-152
Figure 3-39. Mean postnatal height results for PFHxS epidemiological studies	3-153
Figure 3-40. Postnatal rapid growth (weight-for-age and weight-for-length z-score) results for	
PFHxS epidemiological studies.	3-156
Figure 3-41. Postnatal rapid growth (length-for-age and head circumference z-score) results for	
PFHxS epidemiological studies.	3-157
Figure 3-42. Postnatal head circumference results for PFHxS epidemiological studies	3-158
Figure 3-43. Postnatal body mass index, adiposity, and ponderal index and weight status results	
for PFHxS epidemiological studies	3-160
Figure 3-44. Summary of study evaluation for epidemiology studies of anogenital distance	3-163
Figure 3-45. Summary of study evaluation for 10 epidemiology studies of preterm birth	3-168
Figure 3-46. Preterm birth results for 10 PFHxS epidemiological studies.	3-169
Figure 3-47. Study evaluation results for 19 epidemiological studies of gestational age and PEHxS	3-171
Figure 3-48. Overall population gestational age results for 17 PEHxS epidemiological studies	
Figure 3-49. Sex stratified gestational age results for 8 PEHxS epidemiological studies	
Figure 3-50. Study evaluation results for nine epidemiological studies of fetal loss and PEHxS	
Figure 3-51. Summary of study evaluation for 2 epidemiology studies of birth defects.	
Figure 3-52. Developmental animal study evaluation heatmap	
Figure 3-53. PEHxS-induced developmental effects.	
Figure 3-54. Hepatic effects human study evaluation heatmap.	
Figure 3-55. PEHxS liver weight animal study evaluation heatmap.	
Figure 3-56. Liver weight responses from animal studies.	
Figure 3-57. Liver histopathology animal study evaluation heatmap.	
Figure 3-58. Histopathology observations from short-term studies.	3-207
Figure 3-59. Histopathology observations from developmental toxicity studies	
Figure 3-60. Histopathology observations from developmental toxicity studies (F1 generation	
animals)	3-209
Figure 3-61. PFHxS liver serum biomarkers animal study evaluation heatmap.	3-211
Figure 3-62. PFHxS liver/hepatobiliary serum biomarkers.	3-212
Figure 3-63. Summary of study evaluation for epidemiology studies of neurodevelopment	3-226
Figure 3-64. Confidence scores of neurodevelopmental system effects from repeated PFHxS	
dose animal toxicity studies	3-242
Figure 3-65. Study evaluation results for epidemiology studies of PFHxS and blood lipids	3-250
Figure 3-66. Study evaluation results for epidemiology studies of PFHxS and cardiovascular	
disease risk factors	3-259
Figure 3-67. Study evaluation results for epidemiology studies of PFHxS and cardiovascular	
disease	3-261
Figure 3-68. Summary of study evaluation for PFHxS and type 2 diabetes in epidemiology	
studies	3-263
Figure 3-69. Heatmap of study evaluations for PFHxS and gestational diabetes	3-265
Figure 3-70. Heatmap of study evaluations for insulin resistance and blood glucose	3-268
Figure 3-71. Summary of study evaluations for epidemiology studies of PFHxS and metabolic	
syndrome	3-273
Figure 3-72. Summary of study evaluations for epidemiology studies of adiposity	3-275
Figure 3-73. Cardiometabolic effects, heart weight/histopathology – animal study evaluation	
heatmap. For additional details see HAWC link.	3-282

Figure 3-74. Cardiometabolic effects, serum lipids – animal study evaluation heatmap	3-283
Figure 3-75. Hematological animal study confidence scores from repeated PFHxS dose animal	
toxicity studies	3-290
Figure 3-76. Hematopoietic effects of PFHxS exposure in animals	3-293
Figure 3-77. Summary of study evaluation for epidemiology studies of fecundity	3-297
Figure 3-78. Summary of study evaluations for epidemiology studies of female reproductive	
hormones	3-300
Figure 3-79. Summary of study evaluation for epidemiology studies of other female reproductive	
effects	3-303
Figure 3-80. PFHxS mating and fertility animal study evaluation heatmap	3-307
Figure 3-81. PFHxS estrous cycle animal study evaluation heatmap	3-308
Figure 3-82. PFHxS hormone levels animal study evaluation heatmap	3-309
Figure 3-83. PFHxS female reproductive histopathology animal study evaluation heatmap	3-310
Figure 3-84. PFHxS female reproductive organ weight animal study evaluation heatmap	3-311
Figure 3-85. PFHxS female reproductive sexual differentiation and maturation animal study	
evaluation heatmap	3-312
Figure 3-86. Semen parameters epidemiology study evaluation heatmap	3-319
Figure 3-87. Summary of study evaluation for epidemiology studies of male reproductive	
hormones	3-321
Figure 3-88. Male reproductive animal study evaluation heatmap – sperm measures	3-324
Figure 3-89. Male reproductive histopathology animal study evaluation heatmap.	3-325
Figure 3-90. Male reproductive animal study evaluation heatmap – reproductive hormones	3-326
Figure 3-91. Male reproductive animal study evaluation heatmap – reproductive organ weights	3-327
Figure 3-92. Male reproductive animal study evaluation heatmap – developmental effects and	
functional measures	3-328
Figure 3-93. Renal effects human study evaluation heatmap	3-333
Figure 3-94. Renal effects – animal study evaluation heatmap	3-338
Figure 3-95. Study evaluation results for epidemiology studies of PFHxS and cancer	3-343

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ADHD	attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
AIC	Akaike's information criterion
ALT	alanine aminotransferase
AST	aspartate aminotransferase
atm	atmosphere
ATSDR	Agency for Toxic Substances and
	Disease Registry
BMD	benchmark dose
BMDL	benchmark dose lower confidence limit
BMDS	Benchmark Dose Software
BMR	benchmark response
BUN	blood urea nitrogen
BW	body weight
CA	chromosomal aberration
CASRN	Chemical Abstracts Service registry
	number
СНО	Chinese hamster ovary (cell line cells)
CPHEA	Center for Public Health and
	Environmental Assessment
CL	confidence limit
CNS	central nervous system
CYP450	cytochrome P450
DAF	dosimetric adjustment factor
DDEF	data-derived extrapolation factor
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
ER	extra risk
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FEV_1	forced expiratory volume of 1 second
GD	gestation day
GDH	glutamate dehydrogenase
GGT	γ-glutamyl transferase
GLP	good laboratory practices
GSH	glutathione
GST	glutathione-S-transferase
HBCD	hexabromocyclododecane
Hb/g-A	animal blood:gas partition coefficient
Hb/g-H	human blood:gas partition coefficient
HEC	human equivalent concentration
HED	human equivalent dose
HERO	Health and Environmental Research
	Online
i.p.	intraperitoneal
IRIS	Integrated Risk Information System
i.v.	intravenous
LC ₅₀	median lethal concentration
LD ₅₀	median lethal dose
LOAEL	lowest-observed-adverse-effect level
MN	micronuclei

MNPCE	micronucleated polychromatic
MOA	mode of action
MTD	move of action maximum tolorated dose
MID	maximum tolerated dose
NCI	National Cancer Institute
NOAEL	no-observed-adverse-effect level
NTP	National Toxicology Program
NZW	New Zealand White (rabbit breed)
ORD	Office of Research and Development
osRfD	organ-specific reference dose
PBPK	physiologically based pharmacokinetic
PFHxS	perfluorohexanesulfonic acid
PND	postnatal day
POD	point of departure
POD _[ADJ]	duration-adjusted POD
QSAR	quantitative structure-activity
	relationship
RD	relative deviation
RfC	inhalation reference concentration
RfD	oral reference dose
RGDR	regional gas dose ratio
RNA	ribonucleic acid
SAR	structure activity relationship
SCE	sister chromatid exchange
SD	standard deviation
SDH	sorbitol dehydrogenase
SE	standard error
SEM	Systematic Evidence Map
SGOT	glutamic oxaloacetic transaminase, also
	known as AST
SGPT	glutamic pyruvic transaminase, also
	known as ALT
TSCATS	Toxic Substances Control Act Test
	Submissions
TWA	time-weighted average
UF	uncertainty factor
UFA	animal-to-human uncertainty factor
UFd	database deficiencies uncertainty factor
UF _H	human variation uncertainty factor
UFL	LUAEL-to-NOAEL uncertainty factor
UFs	subchronic-to-chronic uncertainty
	factor
WOS	Web of Science

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.

AUTHORS | CONTRIBUTORS | REVIEWERS

Assessment Managers (Lead Authors)	
Xabier Arzuaga, Ph.D.	U.S. EPA/ORD/CPHEA
<u>Ingrid L. Druwe</u> , Ph.D.	
Authors	
Thomas F. Bateson, Sc.D., M.P.H.	U.S. EPA/ORD/CPHEA
J. Allen Davis, M.S.P.H.	
<u>Michael Dzierlenga</u> , Ph.D.	
Andrew Kraft, Ph.D.	
<u>Alexandra Larsen</u> , Ph.D.	
Elizabeth Radke, Ph.D.	
Hongyu Ru, Pn.D.	
Paul Schlosser, Ph.D.	
<u>Shaha White</u> , Ph.D. John Michael Wright Sc D	
John Michael Wright, Sc.D.	
<u>Jay Zilao</u> , Pil.D.	
Jason C. Lambert, Ph.D.	ILS. EPA/ORD/CCTE
,,,	
Contributors	
Laura Dishaw. Ph.D.	U.S. EPA/ORD/CPHEA
Mary Gilbert, Ph.D.	
Barbara Glenn, Ph.D. (retired)	
<u>Christopher Lau</u> , Ph.D.	
Geniece Lehmann, Ph.D.	
Andrew Hotchkiss, Ph.D.	
<u>Anuradha Mudipalli</u> , Ph.D.	
<u>Kathleen Newhouse</u> , Ph.D.	
<u>Pamela Noyes</u> , Ph.D.	
Katherine O'Shaughnessy, Ph.D.	
<u>Kristen Rappazzo</u> , Ph.D.	
<u>Susan Makris</u> , Ph.D. (retired)	
<u>Tammy Stoker</u> , Ph.D.	
Andre Weaver, Ph.D.	
<u>Erin Yost</u> , Ph.D.	
<u>Chris Corton</u> , Ph.D.	U.S. EPA/ORD/CCTE
Charles and a Wine Dle D	
<u>Stephanie Kim</u> , Ph.D.	U.S. EPA/ Region 2
Andrew Rooney, Ph.D.	NIH/NTP/NIEHS
Kyla Taylor, Ph.D.	, ,
Dori Germolec, Ph.D.	
Alexis Agbai	Oak Ridge Associated Universities (ORAU) Contractor
Timothy Decoff	
Angela Scafidi (former)	

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Robyn B. Blain, Ph.D. Alexandra E. Goldstone, M.P.H. Alexander J. Lindahl, M.P.H. Christophe<u>r A. Sibrizzi</u>, M.P.H.

ICF

Production Team

Maureen Johnson Ryan Jones Dahnish Shams Iessica Soto Hernandez Vicki Soto Samuel Thacker Garland Waleko

U.S. EPA/ORD/CPHEA

Oak Ridge Associated Universities (ORAU) Contractor (former) Oak Ridge Associated Universities (ORAU) Contractor Oak Ridge Associated Universities (ORAU) Contractor (former)

Executive Direction

Grace Kaupas

Rebecca Schaefer

Jacqueline Weinberger

Wayne Cascio V. Kay Holt Samantha Jones Kristina Thaver Andrew Kraft Paul White Ravi Subramaniam Ianice Lee **Glenn Rice** Viktor Morozov

CPHEA Center Director CPHEA Deputy Center Director CPHEA Associate Director **CPAD** Division Director CPAD Associate Division Director, IRIS PFAS Team Lead **CPAD Senior Science Advisor** CPHEA/CPAD/Toxic Effects Assessment (DC) Branch Chief CPHEA/CPAD/Toxic Effects Assessment (RTP) Branch Chief CPHEA/CPAD/Science Assessment Methods Branch Chief CPHEA/CPAD/Quantitative Assessment Branch Chief

Review

CPAD Executive Review Committee	
Kristina Thayer	CPAD Division Director
Paul White	CPHEA/CPAD/Senior Science Advisor
Janice Lee	CPHEA/CPAD/Toxic Effects Assessment (RTP) Branch Chief
Glenn Rice	CPHEA/CPAD/Science Assessment Methods Branch Chief
Ravi Subramaniam	CPHEA/CPAD/Toxic Effects Assessment (DC) Branch Chief
Karen Hogan	CPHEA/CPAD/Emeritus
Alan Stern	NJDEP (retired), Contractor

Agency Review

This assessment was provided for review to scientists in EPA's program and regional offices. Comments were submitted by: Office of Air and Radiation (OAR), Office of Air Quality and Standards (OAQPS), Office of Land and Emergency Management (OLEM), Office of Children's Health Protection (OCHP), Office of Water, Region 1, Region 3, Region 4, and Region 8.

Interagency Review

This assessment was provided for review to other federal agencies and the Executive Office of the President (EOP). Comments were submitted by: The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), Department of Defense (DoD). National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS). Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ), Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), National Institute of Health (NIH), and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)/Agency for Toxic Substance and Disease Registry (ATSDR).

> This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR OUOTE

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Perfluorohexanesulfonic acid (PFHxS, CASRN 355-46-4)¹, and its related salts (such as 1 2 potassium perfluorohexanesulfonate [PFHxS-K, CASRN 3871-99-6], ammonium 3 perfluorohexanesulfonate [PFHxS-NH₄, CASRN 68259-08-5], and sodium perfluorohexanesulfonate 4 [PFHxS-Na, CASRN 82382-12-5]), are members of the group per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances 5 (PFAS). This assessment applies to PFHxS as well as nonmetal and alkali metal salts of PFHxS that 6 would be expected to fully dissociate in aqueous solutions of pH ranging from 4 to 9 (e.g., in the 7 human body) and not release other moieties that would cause toxicity independent of PFHxS. The 8 synthesis of evidence and toxicity value derivation presented in this assessment focuses on the free 9 acid of PFHxS and its potassium, sodium, and ammonium salts given the currently available toxicity 10 data. 11 Concerns about PFHxS and other PFAS stem from the resistance of these compounds to 12 hydrolysis, photolysis, and biodegradation, which leads to their persistence in the environment. 13 PFAS are not naturally occurring; they are man-made compounds that have been used widely over 14 the past several decades in industrial applications and consumer products as many PFAS are 15 resistant to heat and are used to confer resistance of products (e.g., textiles) to stains by repelling 16 oil, grease, and water. PFAS are also used in a wide range of other applications, including as 17 electrical insulation and to confer frictionless coatings onto surfaces. PFAS in the environment are 18 found at industrial sites, military fire training areas, wastewater treatment plants, and found in 19 commercial products (see Appendix A, Section 2.1.2). 20 The Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) Program is developing a series of five PFAS 21 assessments (i.e., perfluorohexane sulfonate [PFHxS], perfluorobutanoic acid [PFBA], perfluorohexanoic acid [PFHxA], perfluorononanoic acid [PFNA], perfluorodecanoic acid [PFDA], 22 23 and their associated salts) (see December 2018 IRIS Program Outlook) at the request of EPA 24 national programs and regions. Specifically, the development of human health toxicity assessments 25 for exposure to these individual PFAS represents only one component of the broader PFAS strategic roadmap at the EPA (https://www.epa.gov/pfas/pfas-strategic-roadmap-epas-commitments-26

- 27 <u>action-2021-2024</u>). The systematic review protocol (see Appendix A) for these five PFAS
- 28 assessments outlines the related scoping and problem-formulation efforts, including a summary of
- 29 other federal and state assessments of PFHxS. The protocol also describes the systematic review

¹ The CASRN given here is for linear PFHxS; the source of PFHxS used in toxicity studies was reported to be 98% pure and reagent grade, generally giving this CASRN. None of the studies referenced in this assessment explicitly state that only the linear form was used. Therefore, there is the possibility that a minor proportion of the PFHxS used in the studies were branched isomers and thus observed health effects may apply to the total linear and branched isomers in a given exposure source.

1 and dose-response methods used to conduct this review (see also Section 1.2). In addition to these 2 ongoing IRIS PFAS toxicity assessments, EPA's Office of Research and Development is carrying out 3 several other activities related to PFAS, including the creation of PFAS systematic evidence maps 4 (SEMs) (Carlson et al., 2022; Radke et al., 2022) and consolidating and updating PFAS data on 5 chemical and physical properties, human health toxicity, and pharmacokinetics, as well as 6 ecotoxicity. 7 Human epidemiological studies have examined possible associations between PFHxS 8 exposure and health outcomes including immune responses, birth weight, hematopoietic effects, 9 thyroid hormone effects, liver enzyme effects, serum lipids effects, cardiovascular disease, 10 hematological effects, reproductive effects, neurodevelopmental effects, and cancer. The ability to 11 draw conclusions from the epidemiological evidence for the assessed health outcomes is limited 12 (apart from immune effects) by the overall quality and lack of consistency in the available studies. 13 Animal studies of PFHxS exposure exclusively examined the oral exposure route; therefore, 14 no inhalation assessment was conducted nor was an inhalation reference concentration (RfC) 15 derived (see Section 5.2.3). The available animal studies of oral PFHxS exposure examined a variety 16 of noncancer endpoints, including those relevant to the thyroid, immune system, developmental 17 effects, hematopoietic system, hepatic effects, cardiometabolic effects, reproductive (male and 18 female) system, nervous system, and renal effects. Some limitations in the animal database include 19 the types of studies identified (e.g., few subchronic studies and no chronic exposure studies were 20 available), and few studies per health outcome.

21 Overall, the available **evidence indicates** that PFHxS exposure is likely to cause thyroid and 22 developmental immune effects in humans, given sufficient exposure conditions. For thyroid effects, 23 the primary supporting evidence for this hazard conclusion included evidence of decreased thyroid 24 hormone levels, abnormal histopathology results, and changes in organ weight in experimental 25 animals. For immune effects, the primary supporting evidence included decreased antibody 26 responses to vaccination against tetanus or diphtheria in children. Selected quantitative data from 27 these identified hazards were used to derive toxicity values (see Table ES-1; see Sections 3.2.1 and 28 3.2.2 for evidence synthesis and integration analyses).

29 Evidence primarily from epidemiological studies **suggests** but is insufficient to infer that 30 PFHxS exposure might affect fetal development, specifically resulting in decreased birth weight (see 31 Section 3.2.3). However, due to limitations and uncertainties in the currently available studies, a 32 hazard could not be clearly identified, and these data were not considered for use in deriving 33 toxicity values. While no reference dose (RfD) was derived for developmental effects, a point of 34 departure (POD) was derived and presented for comparison purposes (see Section 5.2.1). 35 In addition, evidence from human and animal studies suggests but is insufficient to infer 36 that PFHxS exposure may cause hepatic, neurodevelopmental, and cardiometabolic effects in 37 humans.

- 1 Lastly, although evidence from humans and or animals was also identified for
- 2 hematopoietic, reproductive, renal, and carcinogenic effects, the currently available evidence is
- 3 inadequate to assess whether PFHxS exposure may be capable of causing these health effects in
- 4 humans, and these outcomes were not considered for use in deriving toxicity values.

Organ/ System	Evidence Integration judgment	Toxicity value	Value (mg/kg-d)	Confidence	UFA	UFH	UFS	UFL	UF D	UFC	Basis
Immune (i.e., developmental immune)	Evidence indicates (likely)	Lifetime osRfD	2 × 10 ⁻¹⁰ (RfD)	Medium	1	10	1	1	3	30	Decreased serum anti-tetanus antibody concentration in children at age 7 yrs (<u>Budtz-Jørgensen</u> <u>and Grandjean,</u> <u>2018; Grandjean et</u> <u>al., 2012</u>)
		Subchronic osRfD	2 × 10 ⁻¹⁰	Medium	1	10	1	1	3	30	Decreased serum anti-tetanus antibody concentration in children at age 7 yrs (<u>Budtz-Jørgensen</u> <u>and Grandjean,</u> <u>2018; Grandjean et</u> <u>al., 2012</u>)
Thyroid	Evidence indicates (likely)	Lifetime osRfD	1 × 10 ⁻⁷	Medium	3	10	1	1	3	100	Decreased serum total T4 levels in F1 Wistar rats (<u>Ramhøj</u> <u>et al., 2018</u>)
		Subchronic osRfD	1 × 10 ⁻⁷	Medium	3	10	1	1	3	100	Decreased serum total T4 levels in Wistar rats (<u>Ramhøj</u> et al., 2018)

Table ES-1. Health effects with evidence available to synthesize and draw summary judgments and derived toxicity values

RfD = reference dose (in mg/kg-d) for lifetime exposure; subchronic RfD = reference dose (in mg/kg-d) for lessthan-lifetime exposure; osRfD = organ-/system-specific reference dose (in mg/kg-d); UFA = animal to human uncertainty factor; UFC = composite uncertainty factor; UFD = evidence base deficiencies uncertainty factor; UFH = human variation uncertainty factor; UFL = LOAEL to NOAEL uncertainty factor; UFS = subchronic to chronic uncertainty factor.

1 ES.1 LIFETIME AND SUBCHRONIC ORAL REFERENCE DOSE (RfD) FOR NONCANCER EFFECTS

2 From the identified hazards with sufficient qualitative and quantitative information to 3 support the derivation of candidate lifetime values (i.e., immune and thyroid), decreased serum 4 anti-tetanus antibody concentrations in children (male and female) (Budtz-Jørgensen and 5 Grandjean, 2018; Grandjean et al., 2012) was selected as the basis for the oral RfD of 4×10^{-10} 6 mg/kg-day. A BMDL_{$1/2SD} of 2.82 \times 10^{-4}$ mg/L in serum was identified for this endpoint and was used</sub> 7 as the POD_{Internal}. The human equivalent dose POD (POD_{HED}) of 1.16×10^{-8} mg/kg-day was derived 8 by multiplying the POD_{Internal} by the human clearance of 4.1×10^{-5} L/kg-day to estimate human 9 equivalent doses from an internal dose. The overall RfD for PFHxS was calculated by dividing the 10 POD_{HED} by a composite uncertainty factor of 30 to account for interindividual differences in human 11 susceptibility (UF_H = 10) and deficiencies in the toxicity evidence base (UF_D = 3). The immune 12 organ-/system-specific osRfD is based on the lowest overall POD_{HED} and UF_C; therefore, the selected 13 RfD based on decreased serum anti-tetanus antibody concentration in children (a susceptible 14 lifestage for this effect) is considered protective of the observed health effects associated with 15 lifetime PFHxS exposure. The selection considered both available osRfDs as well as the overall 16 confidence and composite uncertainty for those osRfDs. The thyroid osRfD was based on 17 application of a composite uncertainty threefold greater than that applied in deriving the immune 18 osRfD (UF_c = 100 for thyroid versus UF_c = 30 for developmental immune effects). Further, when 19 comparing the sensitivity of thyroid and immune osRfDs, the thyroid value is 500-fold higher than 20 the developmental immune endpoint. Selection of the RfD on the basis of developmental immune 21 effects is presumed to be protective of possible thyroid and other potential adverse health effects 22 (including potential effects on birth weight) in humans. Finally, since the developmental immune 23 osRfD is based on effects observed in males and females, the overall RfD would be protective for 24 both sexes. The same study (Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean, 2018; Grandjean et al., 2012) 25 endpoint (decreased serum anti-tetanus antibody concentration in children) and value were 26 selected as the basis for the subchronic RfD of 4×10^{-10} mg/kg-day.

27 ES.2 CONFIDENCE IN THE ORAL REFERENCE DOSE (RFD) AND SUBCHRONIC RFD

28 29 The overall confidence in the RfD and subchronic RfD is *medium* and is driven by *medium* confidence in the overall evidence base for immune effects, *medium* confidence in the <u>Budtz-</u>

30 Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018); Grandjean et al. (2012) study (HAWC link), and medium

31 confidence in quantitation of the POD (see Section 5.2. and Table 5-8).

32 ES.3 NONCANCER EFFECTS FOLLOWING INHALATION EXPOSURE

No studies that examine toxicity in humans or experimental animals following inhalation
 exposure are available and no acceptable physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) models

are available to support route-to-route extrapolation; therefore, no RfC was derived.

1 ES.4 EVIDENCE FOR CARCINOGENICITY

2 Under EPA's Guidelines for Carcinogen Risk Assessment (U.S. EPA, 2005), EPA concluded

- 3 there is *inadequate information to assess carcinogenic potential* for PFHxS by either the oral or
- 4 inhalation routes of exposure. This conclusion is based on the lack of adequate data to inform the
- 5 potential carcinogenicity of PFHxS in the database. This precludes the derivation of quantitative
- 6 estimates for either oral (oral slope factor [OSF]) or inhalation (inhalation unit risk [IUR])
- 7 exposure.

1. OVERVIEW OF BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND ASSESSMENT METHODS

- A series of five PFAS assessments (Perfluorohexanesulfonic acid [PFHxS], 1 2 perfluorohexanoic acid [PFHxA], perfluorobutanoic acid [PFBA], perfluorononanoic acid [PFNA], 3 perfluorodecanoic acid [PFDA], and their associated salts; see December 2018 IRIS Outlook) is 4 being developed by the Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) Program at the request of the 5 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) national programs and regions. Appendix A is the 6 systematic review protocol for these five PFAS assessments. The protocol outlines the scoping and 7 problem-formulation efforts relating to these assessments, including a summary of other federal 8 and state reference values for PFHxS. The protocol also lays out the systematic review and dose-9 response methods used to conduct this review (see also Section 1.2). This systematic review 10 protocol was released for public comment in November 2019 and was subsequently updated based 11 on those public comments. Appendix A includes a link to the updated protocol, including a 12 summary of the updates in the protocol history section (see Section 12). In addition to these
- 13 ongoing IRIS PFAS toxicity assessments, EPA's Office of Research and Development is carrying out
- 14 several other activities related to PFAS, including creation of PFAS systematic evidence maps
- 15 (SEMs) and consolidating and updating PFAS data on chemical and physical properties, human
- 16 health toxicity, and pharmacokinetics, as well as ecotoxicity.

1.1. BACKGROUND INFORMATION ON PERFLUOROHEXANESULFONIC ACID (PFHxS)

Section 1.1 provides a brief overview of aspects of the physicochemical properties, human
exposure, and environmental fate characteristics of perfluorohexanesulfonic acid (PFHxS; CASRN
335-46-4), and its related salts that might provide useful context for this assessment. This overview
is not intended to provide a comprehensive description of the available information on these topics.
The reader is encouraged to refer to the source materials cited below, more recent publications on
these topics, and authoritative reviews or assessments focused on these topics.

1.1.1. Physical and Chemical Properties

PFHxS and its related salts such as potasium, sodium, and ammonium PFHxS salts covered
in this assessment are members of the group per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). <u>Buck et</u>
al. (2011) defines PFAS as fluorinated substances that "contain 1 or more C atoms on which all the
H substituents (present in the nonfluorinated analogues from which they are notionally derived)
have been replaced by F atoms, in such a manner that they contain the perfluoroalkyl moiety

- 1 C_nF_{2n+1}–)." More specifically, PFHxS is classified as a perfluoroalkane sulfonic acid [PFSA; (<u>OECD</u>,
- 2 <u>2015</u>]]. PFSAs containing six or more perfluorinated carbons are considered long-chain PFASs
- 3 (ATSDR, 2018b; OECD, 2015; Buck et al., 2011). Thus, PFHxS is a long-chain PFAS. The chemical
- 4 structures of PFHxS² and its related salts are presented in Figure 1-1. The physical-chemical
- 5 properties of PFHxS and related salts are provided in Table 1-1.



Figure 1-1. Chemical structure of PFHxS and related salts (see <u>https://comptox.epa.gov/dashboard/</u>). X represents the cations for potassium (CASRN 3871-99-6), sodium (CASRN 82382-12-5), and ammonium (CASRN 68259-08-5).

² While this figure shows the linear chemical structures, the assessment may also apply to other non-linear isomers of PFHxS and related salts as described in the Executive Summary.

	Value						
Property (unit)	PFHxS 355-46-4 ⁵	PFHxS Potassium salt 3871-99-6°	PFHxS Ammonium salt 68259-08-5 ^c	PFHxS Sodium salt 82382-12-5 ^c			
Molecular weight (g/mol)	400	438	417c*	422*			
Melting point (°C)	190	273	111*	217*			
Boiling point (°C)	246	303*	228 *	238*			
Density (g/cm ³)	1.84*	1.84*	1.84*	1.84*			
Vapor pressure (mm Hg)	8.10 × 10 ⁻⁹	8.19 × 10 ^{-9*}	8.19 × 10 ^{-9*}	8.19 × 10 ^{-9*}			
Henry's law constant (atm-m³/mol)	1.94 × 10 ^{-10*}	1.94 × 10 ^{-10*}	1.94 × 10 ^{-10*}	1.94 × 10 ^{-10*}			
Water solubility (mol/L)	6.08 × 10 ^{-4d}	3.52 × 10 ^{-2*}	6.10 × 10 ⁻⁴ *	7.03 × 10 ^{-2*}			
рКа	0.14*	ND	ND	ND			
LogP	2.20 ^d	2.71*	3.48 *	2.91*			
Soil adsorption coefficient (L/kg)	2,300*	2,300*	2,300*	2,300*			
Bioconcentration factor (BCF)	175*	271*	271*	5.94*			

Table 1-1. Physical-chemical properties of PFHxS and related salts^a

^aThis information is provided as part of a general overview providing background context only and should not be used for decision purposes. Up-to-date primary references should be consulted.

^bCompTox Chemicals Dashboard (<u>U.S. EPA, 2018a</u>) for all values except pKa. The value of pKa was obtained from ECHA: <u>https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/1f48372e-97dd-db9f-4335-8cec7ae55eee.</u> Questions and corrections to the CompTox Chemicals Dashboard can be submitted at: <u>https://comptox.epa.gov/dashboard/</u>.

^c (U.S. EPA, 2018a). Questions and corrections to the CompTox Chemicals Dashboard can be submitted at: <u>https://comptox.epa.gov/dashboard/</u>.

^dAs of April 2023 these values are indicated as 'experimental' in the CompTox Chemicals Dashboard (<u>U.S. EPA,</u> <u>2018a</u>); however, they appear to be predicted values based on the citations provided, and therefore may be more uncertain. Note that these values are not used for dosimetric extrapolation in this assessment, which was based on available empirical pharmacokinetic data (see Section 3.1.7).

*Average predicted value. These values are more uncertain and, in general, less reliable than experimental values. ND= No data

1.1.2. Sources, Production, and Use

- PFAS are not naturally occurring in the environment (<u>ATSDR, 2018a</u>). They are man-made
 compounds that have been used widely over the past several decades in consumer products and
 industrial applications because of their resistance to heat, oil, stains, grease, and water. PFHxS has
 been used as a surfactant to make fluoropolymers, and in water- and stain-protective coatings for
 carpets, paper, packaging, and textiles (<u>Norwegian Environment Agency, 2018; NTP, 2018c</u>). It may
- 6 also be present in certain industrial and consumer products, such as electronics, industrial fluids,
- 7 "food-contact papers, water-proofing agents, cleaning and polishing products either for intentional
- 8 uses (as surfactants or surface protection agents) or as unintentional impurities from industrial

- 1 production processes" (<u>Norwegian Environment Agency, 2018</u>). It has also been used in aqueous
- 2 film-forming foam (AFFF) for fire suppression (<u>Laitinen et al., 2014</u>).
- 3 EPA has been working with companies in the fluorochemical industry since the early 2000s
 4 to phase out the production and use of long-chain PFAS such as PFHxS
- 5 (https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managing-chemicals-under-tsca/risk-management-and-
- 6 <u>polyfluoroalkyl-substances-pfass</u>). However, in addition to the environmental persistence of PFHxS
- 7 (see below), products containing PFHxS are still in use and may be imported into the United States;
- 8 thus, there may continue to be a source of environmental contamination due to disposal or
- 9 breakdown in the environment (<u>Kim and Kannan, 2007</u>).
- 10 No chemical reporting data on production volume are available in EPA's ChemView (U.S.
- 11 <u>EPA, 2019a</u>) for PFHxS or its salts. As part of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year
- 12 2020 (see Section 7321), 172 per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances including PFHxS were added to
- 13 the EPA's Toxic Release Inventory (TRI) list (<u>https://www.epa.gov/toxics-release-inventory-tri-</u>
- 14 program/tri-listed-chemicals). The reporting requirements apply to a de minimus limit of 1% and a
- 15 manufacture, process, or otherwise use threshold of 100 lbs. Currently, there is incomplete
- 16 quantitative information available in EPA's Toxic Release Inventory or other informational
- 17 repositories regarding PFHxS releases to the environment from facilities that manufacture, process,
- 18 use imported/previously manufactured products that contain, or dispose of imported/previously
- 19 manufactured products containing PFHxS.

1.1.3. Environmental Fate and Transport

20 PFAS, including PFHxS, are very stable and persistent in the environment (ATSDR, 2018a; 21 Harbison et al., 2015), and many are found worldwide in the environment, wildlife, and humans 22 (https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managing-chemicals-under-tsca/risk-management-and-23 polyfluoroalkyl-substances-pfass). Long-chain PFAS have been found at sites, including private and 24 federal facilities, and have been associated with various sources, including AFFF for fire 25 suppression, and PFAS manufacturers and industries that use PFAS (e.g., textiles) (ATSDR, 2018a). 26 Various long chain PFAS have estimated half-lives of 2 to 9 years in humans (ATSDR, 2018a). 27 However, using an average volume of distribution of 255 mL/kg estimated from nonhuman primate 28 data (see Table 3-1) and weighted geometric mean clearance of 0.031 mL/kg-day in humans (see 29 Table 3-4), the half-life of PFHxS in humans is estimated by the EPA to be 15.6 years. 30 PFAS that are released to air exist in the vapor phase in the atmosphere and resist 31 photolysis, but particle-bound concentrations have also been measured (Kim and Kannan, 2007). 32 In soil, the mobility of PFHxS depends on the soil adsorption coefficients (see Table 1-1). 33 Volatilization of PFHxS from moist soil is not expected to be an important transport process (NLM, 34 2017, 2016, 2013). Furthermore, PFHxS is expected to adsorb to suspended solids and sediments in

35 water (<u>NLM, 2017, 2016, 2013</u>).

1.1.4. Potential for Human Exposure and Populations with Potentially Greater Exposure

The general population may be exposed to PFAS via inhalation of indoor or outdoor air,

2 ingestion of drinking water and food, and dermal contact with PFAS-containing products (<u>ATSDR</u>,

3 <u>2018a; NLM, 2017, 2013</u>). Exposure may also occur via hand-to-mouth transfer of materials

4 containing these compounds (<u>ATSDR, 2018a</u>). However, the oral route of exposure has been

- 5 considered the most important route of exposure among the general population. This conclusion is
- 6 based on several studies that have investigated the various routes of PFAS exposure (<u>Sunderland et</u>
- 7 <u>al., 2019</u>).

1

8 The presence of PFHxS in human blood provides evidence of exposure among the general

- 9 population. PFHxS has been monitored in the human population as part of the National Health and
- 10 Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES). PFHxS was measured in serum samples collected in
- 11 2013–2014 from more than 2,000 survey participants (<u>CDC, 2022</u>). The results of these analyses
- 12 are presented in Table 1-2.

Table 1-2. Serum PFHxS concentrations based on NHANES 2013–2014 data ($\mu g/L)$

Population group ^a	Value
Total Population (N = 2,168)	
geometric mean	1.35
50th percentile	1.40
95th percentile	5.60
3 to 5 yrs (N = 181)	
geometric mean	0.715
50th percentile	0.740
95th percentile	1.62
6 to 11 yrs (N = 458)	
Geometric mean	0.913
50th percentile	0.850
95th percentile	4.14
12 to 19 yrs (N = 402)	
Geometric mean	1.27
50th percentile	1.10
95th percentile	6.30
20 yrs and older (N = 1,766)	
Geometric mean	1.36
50th percentile	1.40
95th percentile	5.50

^aThis table provides only general context on serum PFHxS levels from a single study and within a narrow timeperiod (environmental PFHxS levels are changing over time). Note that PFHxS is expected to bioaccumulate over a lifetime (see Sections 1.1.3 and 3.1). Up-to-date information from authoritative bodies should be used in any decisional context.

Source: <u>CDC (2022)</u>. Fourth National Report on Human Exposure to Environmental Chemicals.

Air and Dust

1

- PFHxS has not been evaluated under the Air Toxics Screening Assessment
- 2 (https://www.epa.gov/AirToxScreen). However, PFHxS was measured at concentrations ranging
- 3 from less than the limit of detection to 1.56 pg/m^3 in the vapor and particle phases of air samples
- 4 collected from an urban area of Albany, New York, in 2006 (Kim and Kannan, 2007).
- 5 PFAS, including PFHxS, have also been measured in indoor air and dust and may be
- 6 associated with the indoor use of consumer products such as PFAS-treated carpets or other textiles
- 7 (ATSDR, 2018a). For example, Kato et al. (2009) analyzed dust samples collected from 39 homes in
- 8 the United States, United Kingdom, Germany, and Australia for PFAS, including PFHxS, which was
- 9 detected in 79.5% of the samples. Furthermore, indoor air samples (N = 4) from a town in Norway
- 10 had PFHxS mean concentrations of $<4.1 \text{ pg/m}^3$ for PFHxS (<u>Barber et al., 2007</u>).

Water

11 EPA conducted monitoring for several PFAS in drinking water as part of the third Unregulated Contaminant Monitoring Rule (UCMR) (U.S. EPA, 2016c). Under the UCMR3, all public 12 13 water systems (PWSs) serving more than 10,000 people and a representative sample of 800 PWSs 14 serving 10,000 or fewer people were monitored for 30 unregulated contaminants between January 15 2013 and December 2015. PFHxS was among the 30 contaminants monitored and was detected 16 above the minimum reporting level (MRL) of 0.03 μ g/L in 55 of the 4,920 PWSs tested and in 207 of 17 the 36,971 samples collected. Kim and Kannan (2007) analyzed lake water, rainwater, snow, and 18 surface water from Albany, New York, and reported concentrations of PFHxS ranging from less than 19 the LOD to 0.0135 μ g/L. PFAS were detected at higher concentrations in groundwater samples from 20 an industrial site (3M Cottage Grove) in Minnesota. PFHxS was detected in all seven wells that were 21 sampled at concentrations ranging from 6.47 to 40 μ g/L (WS, 2007) as cited in ATSDR (2018b).

Aqueous Film-Forming Foam (AFFF) Training and Military Sites

- 22 The levels of PFHxS in soil and sediment surrounding perfluorochemical industrial facilities
- 23 has been measured at concentrations ranging from less than the LOD to 3,470 ng/g (ATSDR,
- 24 2018b). PFHxS was also detected at an Australian training ground where AFFFs had been used
- 25 (Baduel et al., 2015). PFHxS was detected at 10 U.S. military sites in 76.9% of the surface soil
- 26 samples and 72.7% of sediment samples (ATSDR, 2018b). Table 1-3 shows the concentration of
- 27 PFHxS in soil and sediment at these military sites.

Table 1-3. PFHxS levels at 10 military installations

Media	Value
Surface Soil	
Frequency of detection (%)	76.92
Median (µg/kg)	5.70
Maximum (µg/kg)	1,300

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Media	Value
Subsurface Soil	
Frequency of detection (%)	59.62
Median (µg/kg)	4.40
Maximum (µg/kg)	520
Sediment	
Frequency of detection (%)	72.73
Median (µg/kg)	9.10
Maximum (µg/kg)	2,700
Surface Water	
Frequency of detection (%)	88.00
Median (µg/kg)	0.710
Maximum (µg/kg)	815
Groundwater	
Frequency of detection (%)	94.93
Median (µg/kg)	0.870
Maximum (µg/kg)	290

Source: Anderson et al. (2016); ATSDR (2018a).

Other Exposures

- 1 Schecter et al. (2012) collected 10 samples of 31 food items from five grocery stores in 2 Texas and analyzed them for persistent organic pollutants, including PFHxS, which was detected in 3 cod fish at a concentration of 0.07 ng/g wet weight. Stahl et al. (2014) characterized PFAS in 4 freshwater fish from 164 U.S. urban river sites and 157 Great Lakes sites. PFHxS was detected in 5 45% of the samples at maximum concentrations of 3.5 ng/g and method detection limit of 0.12 6 ng/g (Stahl et al., 2014). PFHxS was not detected in U.S. grocery store finfish and shellfish samples 7 (Ruffle et al., 2020). Apart from fish, overall dietary data for the United States are limited. Data from 8 other countries (e.g., South Korea, Brazil, Saudi Arabia) suggest that long-chain PFAS such as PFHxS 9 can sometimes be detected in samples of food products including shellfish, dairy products, meats, 10 vegetables, food packaging materials, and water (both tap and bottled) (Chen et al., 2018b; Surma 11 et al., 2017; Heo et al., 2014; Moreta and Tena, 2014; Pérez et al., 2014). The relevance of these 12 detects (and the associated PFHxS levels) to U.S. products is unknown. **Populations with Potentially Greater Exposures**
- 13Populations that may experience exposures greater than those of the general population
- 14 may include individuals in occupations that require frequent contact with PFHxS-containing
- 15 products, such as individuals who install and treat carpets or firefighters (<u>ATSDR, 2018a</u>). <u>Rotander</u>
- 16 <u>et al. (2015a)</u> analyzed serum samples from 149 Australian firefighters at an AFFF training facility.
- 17 Mean and median PFHxS concentrations were 10 to 15 times higher than those of the general
- 18 population of Australia and Canada. <u>Laitinen et al. (2014)</u> evaluated eight firefighters exposure to
- 19 PFHxS after three training sessions in Finland in which AFFF had been used. The authors found that
- 20 the firefighters "serum PFHxS concentrations seemed to increase during the three training sessions

- 1 although it was not the main PFAS used in AFFF." Populations living near fluorochemical facilities
- 2 where environmental contamination has occurred may also be more highly exposed (<u>ATSDR</u>,
- 3 <u>2018b</u>).
- 4 Populations that rely primarily on seafood for most of their diet, possibly including some
- 5 native American tribes (<u>Byrne et al., 2017</u>), may also be disproportionately exposed to PFHxS.
- 6 <u>Christensen et al. (2017)</u> and <u>Haug et al. (2010)</u> used data on serum PFAS levels and 30-day self-
- 7 reported fish and shellfish ingestion rates from NHANES 2007–2014 to explore potential
- 8 relationships between PFAS exposures and fish consumption. PFHxS was detected in the serum of
- 9 at least 30% of the NHANES participants, and after adjusting for demographic characteristics
- 10 shellfish consumption was associated with elevated levels of PFHxS (<u>Christensen et al., 2017</u>).

1.2. SUMMARY OF ASSESSMENT METHODS

The methods used to conduct this systematic review and dose-response analysis are summarized in the remainder of this section. A more detailed description of the methods for each step of the assessment development process is provided in the systematic review protocol released in 2019 (see Appendix A); the literature inventory for PFHxS in the protocol was not updated after its release (see Section 2.1). The protocol includes additional problem-formulation details, including the specific aims and key science issues identified for this assessment.

1.2.1. Literature Search and Screening

17 The detailed search approach, including the query strings and populations, exposures, 18 comparators, and outcomes (PECO) criteria (see Table 1-4), are provided in Appendix B. The results 19 of the literature search and screening efforts are documented in Section 2.1. Briefly, a literature 20 search was first conducted in 2017 and regular yearly updates are performed. The most recent 21 literate search update that was fully incorporated into the assessment is from April 2022. The 22 literature from the past year (through March 2023) is in the process of being screened while the 23 document is undergoing public comment. The results of this literature update and any additional 24 unscreened studies identified during public comment will be screened against the PECO criteria 25 and presented in a table that will be included as an Appendix to the assessment. The table will 26 provide the identified studies that met PECO criteria or certain supplemental evidence categories 27 (i.e., in vivo mechanistic or MOA studies, including non-PECO routes of exposure and populations; 28 in vitro and in silico models; and ADME and pharmacokinetic studies) and EPA's judgment on 29 whether the studies would have a material impact on the assessment conclusions (i.e., identified 30 hazards or toxicity values) presented in the public comment draft. The external peer reviewers are 31 asked to consider EPA's disposition of these newly identified studies and make recommendations, 32 as appropriate (see Charge Question 1). 33 The literature search queried the following databases (no date or language restrictions

34 were applied):

- 1 PubMed (<u>National Library of Medicine</u>)
- 2 Web of Science (<u>Thomson Reuters</u>)
- 3 Toxline (<u>National Library of Medicine</u>)
- 4 TSCATS (<u>Toxic Substances Control Act Test Submissions</u>)
- 5 In addition, relevant literature not found through database searching was identified by:
- Review of citations in studies meeting the PFHxS PECO criteria or published reviews of
 PFHxS; finalized or publicly available U.S. federal and international assessments (e.g., the
 2021 Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry [ATSDR] PFAS toxicity profile).
- 9 Searches of published PFAS Systematic Evidence Maps (SEMs) (<u>Carlson et al., 2022</u>; <u>Pelch et al., 2022</u>) starting in 2021.
- Review of studies submitted to federal regulatory agencies and brought to the attention of
 EPA. For example, studies submitted to EPA by the manufacturers in support of
 requirements under the Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA).
- Identification of studies during literature screening for other EPA PFAS assessments. For example, epidemiology studies relevant to PFHxS were sometimes identified by searches focused on one of the other four PFAS currently being assessed by the Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) Program.
- Other gray literature (e.g., primary studies not indexed in typical databases, such as technical reports from government agencies or scientific research groups; unpublished laboratory studies conducted by industry; or working reports/white papers from research groups or committees) brought to the attention of EPA.
- All literature is tracked in the U.S. EPA Health and Environmental Research Online (HERO)
- 23 database (<u>https://heronet.epa.gov/heronet/index.cfm/project/page/project_id/2630</u>). The PECO
- criteria (see Table 1-4) identify the evidence that addresses the specific aims of the assessment and
- 25 to focus the literature screening, including study inclusion/exclusion.

Table 1-4. Populations, exposures, comparators, and outcomes (PECO) criteria

PECO element	Evidence
<u>P</u> opulations	Human: Any population and lifestage (occupational or general population, including children and other sensitive populations). The following study designs will be included: controlled exposure, cohort, case control, and cross-sectional. (Note: Case reports and case series will be tracked as potential supplemental material.)
	Animal: Nonhuman mammalian animal species (whole organism) of any lifestage (including preconception, in utero, lactation, peripubertal, and adult stages).

PECO element	Evidence
	Other: In vitro, in silico, or nonmammalian models of genotoxicity. (Note: Other in vitro, in silico, or nonmammalian models will be tracked as potential supplemental material.)
<u>E</u> xposures	Human: Studies providing quantitative estimates of PFHxS exposure based on administered dose or concentration, biomonitoring data (e.g., urine, blood, or other specimens), environmental or occupational-setting measures (e.g., water levels or air concentrations, residential location and/or duration, job title, or work title). (Note: Studies that provide qualitative, but not quantitative, estimates of exposure will be tracked as supplemental material.)
	Animal: Oral or inhalation studies including quantified exposure to PFHxS based on administered dose, dietary level, or concentration. (Note: Nonoral and noninhalation studies will be tracked as potential supplemental material.) PFHxS mixture studies are included if they employ an experimental arm that involves exposure to a single PFHxS. (Note: Other PFHxS mixture studies are tracked as potential supplemental material.)
	Studies must address exposure to following: PFHxS (CASRN 355-46-4), PFHxS potassium salt (CASRN 3871-99-6) or PFHxS ammonium salt (CASRN 68259-08-5).
<u>C</u> omparators	Human: A comparison or reference population exposed to lower levels (or no exposure/exposure below detection levels) or for shorter periods of time.
	Animal: Includes comparisons to historical controls or a concurrent control group that is unexposed, exposed to vehicle-only or air-only exposures. (Note: Experiments including exposure to PFHxS across different durations or exposure levels without including one of these control groups will be tracked as potential supplemental material [e.g., for evaluating key science issues; Section 2.4 of the protocol].)
Outcomes	All cancer and noncancer health outcomes. (Note: Other than genotoxicity studies, studies including only molecular endpoints [e.g., gene or protein changes; receptor binding or activation] or other nonphenotypic endpoints addressing the potential biological or chemical progression of events contributing toward toxic effects will be tracked as potential supplemental material [e.g., for evaluating key science issues; Section 2.4 of the protocol].)

1 In addition to those studies meeting the PECO criteria and studies excluded as not relevant 2 to the assessment, studies containing supplemental material potentially relevant to the specific 3 aims of the assessment were inventoried during the literature screening process. Although these 4 studies did not meet PECO criteria, they were not excluded. Rather, they were considered for use in 5 addressing the identified key science issues (see Appendix A, Section 2.4) and other potential 6 scientific uncertainties identified during assessment development but unanticipated at the time of 7 protocol posting. Studies categorized as "potentially relevant supplemental material" included the 8 following: 9 • In vivo mechanistic or mode of action studies, including nonPECO routes of exposure

- 10 (e.g., intraperitoneal injection) and populations (e.g., nonmammalian models)
- 11 In vitro and in silico models

- Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion (ADME) and pharmacokinetic studies (excluding models)³
- Exposure assessment or characterization (no health outcome) studies
- 4 Human case reports or case series studies

5 The literature was screened by two independent reviewers with a process for conflict 6 resolution, first at the title and abstract level and subsequently the full-text level, using structured 7 forms in DistillerSR (Evidence Partners; <u>https://distillercer.com/products/distillersr-systematic-</u> 8 <u>review-software/</u>). Literature inventories for PECO-relevant studies and studies tagged as 9 "potentially relevant supplemental material" during screening were created to facilitate subsequent 10 review of individual studies or sets of studies by topic-specific experts.

1.2.2. Evaluation of Individual Studies

The detailed approaches used for the evaluation of epidemiologic and animal toxicological studies used in the PFHxS assessment are provided in the systematic review protocol (Appendix A, see Section 6). The general approach for evaluating PECO-relevant health effect studies is the same for epidemiology and animal toxicological studies, although the specifics of applying the approach differ; thus, they are described in detail in Appendix A (see Sections 6.2 and 6.3, respectively).
Approaches for study evaluation for mechanistic studies is described in detail in Appendix A (see Section 6.5).

18 The key concerns for the review of epidemiology and animal toxicological studies are 19 potential bias (systematic errors or deviations from the truth related to internal validity that affect 20 the magnitude or direction of an effect in either direction) and insensitivity (factors that limit the 21 ability of a study to detect a true effect and can lead to a false negative). For example, any types of 22 random measurement error that may lead to attenuation of study results (i.e., bias toward the null). 23 In evaluating individual studies, two or more reviewers independently arrived at judgments 24 regarding the reliability of the study results (reflected as study confidence determinations; see 25 below) with regard to each outcome or outcome grouping of interest; thus, different judgments 26 were possible for different outcomes within the same study. The results of these reviews were 27 tracked within EPA's version of the Health Assessment Workplace Collaboration (HAWC). To 28 develop these judgments, each reviewer assigned a category of *good*, *adequate*, *deficient* (or *not* 29 *reported*, which generally carried the same functional interpretation as *deficient*), or *critically* 30 *deficient* (listed from best to worst methodological conduct; see Appendix A, Section 6 for 31 definitions) related to each evaluation domain representing the different characteristics of the

32 study methods that were evaluated based on the criteria outlined in HAWC.

³Given the known importance of ADME data, this supplemental tagging was used as the starting point for a separate screening and review of pharmacokinetics data (see Appendix A, Section 9.2 for details).

1 2	Once all evaluation domains were evaluated, the reviewers collectively considered the identified strengths and limitations to reach a final study confidence classification:
3 4	• <i>High</i> confidence: No notable deficiencies or concerns were identified; the potential for bias is unlikely or minimal, and the study used sensitive methodology.
5 6	• <i>Medium</i> confidence: Possible deficiencies or concerns were noted, but the limitations are unlikely to be of a notable degree or to have a notable impact on the results.
7 8 9 10	• <i>Low</i> confidence: Deficiencies or concerns were noted, and the potential for bias or inadequate sensitivity could have a significant impact on the study results or their interpretation. <i>Low</i> confidence results were given less weight than <i>high</i> or <i>medium</i> confidence results during evidence synthesis and integration (see Sections 1.2.4 and 1.2.5).
11 12 13	• Uninformative: Serious flaw(s) were identified that make the study results unusable. Uninformative studies were not considered further, except to highlight possible research gaps.
14	Using the HAWC platform (and conflict resolution by an additional reviewer, as needed), the
15	reviewers reached a consensus judgment regarding each evaluation domain and overall
16	(confidence) determination. The specific limitations identified during study evaluation were carried
17	forward to inform the synthesis (see Section 1.2.4) within each body of evidence for a given health
18	effect (i.e., study confidence determinations were not used to inform judgments in isolation).
	Additional Enidemials on Considerations

Additional Epidemiology Considerations

While the detailed methods for epidemiology study evaluation are described in the
systematic review protocol (see Appendix A, Section 6.2.1), a few considerations have been
developed further; these are described here.

As noted above, study sensitivity is an important consideration given that it could lead tofalse negative (i.e., null) results (Type II error) if a study is underpowered or not designed with

24 adequate sensitivity to detect an association that may exist. A key element for study sensitivity,

25 along with others described in the systematic review protocol, is whether exposure

26 contrasts/gradients are sufficient across populations to detect differences in risk. For example, if

27 measurement error results in inaccurate exposure estimates, this can lead to exposure

28 misclassification and also influence the ability to detect an association as well as an exposure-

29 response relationship that may be evident of a biologic gradient.

Confounding across PFAS is a potential source of uncertainty when interpreting the results
 of epidemiology studies of individual PFAS (e.g., quantifying the effect of an individual PFAS can

32 potentially be confounded by other PFAS). For confounding to occur, co-pollutants would have to

be associated with PFAS of interest, associated with the endpoint, and not act as an intermediate in

34 the causal pathway. One way to begin to assess whether co-exposure is occurring is through

35 examination of correlations. While some PFAS pairs have correlation coefficients consistently above

0.6 (e.g., PFNA and PFDA), the correlations for most PFAS, including PFHxS, vary from 0.1 to 0.6 1 2 depending on the study (see Appendix A, Section 6). For this reason, it was not considered 3 appropriate to assume that co-exposure to other PFAS was necessarily an important confounder in 4 all studies. The potential for confounding across PFAS is incorporated in individual study 5 evaluations and assessed across studies in evidence synthesis. In most studies, it is difficult to 6 determine the likelihood of confounding without considering additional information not typically 7 included in individual study evaluation (e.g., associations of other PFAS with the outcome of 8 interest and correlation profiles of PFAS within and across studies). In addition, even when this 9 information is considered or the study authors perform analyses to adjust for other PFAS, it is often 10 not possible to fully disentangle the associations due to high correlations. This challenge stems 11 from the potential for amplification bias in which bias can occur following adjustment of highly 12 correlated PFAS (Weisskopf et al., 2018). Thus, in most studies, there may be some residual 13 uncertainty about the risk of confounding by other PFAS. A "Good" rating for the confounding 14 domain is reserved for situations in which there is minimal concern for substantial confounding 15 across PFAS as well as for other sources of confounding. Examples that would obtain this rating 16 include results for a PFAS that predominates in a population (such as a contamination event) or 17 studies that demonstrate robust results following multi-PFAS adjustment (i.e., similar results to 18 single-PFAS models), which would also indicate minimal concern for amplification bias. Because of 19 the challenge in evaluating individual studies for confounding across PFAS, this issue is also 20 assessed across studies during the evidence synthesis phase, as described in the systematic review 21 protocol (see link in Appendix A, Section 6.2), primarily when there is support for an association 22 with adverse health effects in the epidemiology evidence (i.e., moderate, or robust evidence in 23 humans, as described below). Analyses used include comparing results across studies in 24 populations with different PFAS exposure mixture profiles, considering results of multipollutant 25 models when available, and examining strength of associations for other correlated PFAS. In 26 situations for which there is considerable uncertainty regarding the impact of residual confounding 27 across PFAS, a factor is captured that decreases the overall strength of evidence (see link in 28 Appendix A, Section 10).

1.2.3. Data Extraction

29 The detailed data extraction approach is provided in Appendix A, Section 8. Briefly, data 30 extraction and content management were carried out using HAWC for all health effects for animal 31 studies and some health effects for epidemiological studies. Data extraction elements collected from 32 epidemiological, controlled human exposure, animal toxicological, and in vitro studies are 33 described in HAWC (https://hawcprd.epa.gov/about/). For epidemiological studies not extracted 34 in HAWC, extraction was performed into Word tables and the extraction elements depended on 35 information needed for presentation. Not all studies that meet the PECO criteria went through data 36 extraction: studies evaluated as being *uninformative* were not considered further and therefore did 37 not undergo data extraction, and outcomes determined to be less relevant during PECO refinement

1 did not go through data extraction. The same was true for *low* confidence studies when *medium* and

2 *high* confidence studies (e.g., on an outcome) were available. All findings are considered for

3 extraction, regardless of the statistical significance of their findings. The level of extraction for

4 specific outcomes within a study may differ (i.e., ranging from a narrative to full extraction of

5 dose-response effect size information). For quality control, data extraction was performed by one

6 member of the evaluation team and independently verified by at least one other member.

7 Discrepancies in data extraction were resolved by discussion or consultation within the evaluation

8 team.

1.2.4. Evidence Synthesis and Integration

9 For the purposes of this assessment, evidence synthesis and integration are considered
10 distinct but related processes (see Appendix A, Sections 9 and 10 for full details). For each assessed

11 health effect, the evidence syntheses provide a summary discussion of each body of evidence

12 considered in the review that directly informs the integration across evidence to draw an overall

13 judgment for each health effect. The available human and animal evidence pertaining to the

14 potential health effects are synthesized separately, with each synthesis providing a summary

15 discussion of the available evidence that addresses considerations regarding causation that are

16 adapted from <u>Hill (1965)</u>. Mechanistic evidence is also synthesized as necessary to help inform key

17 decisions regarding the human and animal evidence; processes for synthesizing mechanistic

18 information are covered in detail in Appendix A, Section 9.2.

19 The syntheses of the human and animal health effects evidence focus on describing aspects 20 of the evidence that best inform causal interpretations, including the exposure context examined in 21 the sets of studies. The evidence synthesis is based primarily on studies of high and medium 22 confidence. Low confidence studies could be used if few or no studies with higher confidence are 23 available to help evaluate consistency, or if the study designs of the *low* confidence studies address 24 notable uncertainties in the set of *high* or *medium* confidence studies on a given health effect. If *low* confidence studies are used, a careful examination of the study evaluation and sensitivity with 25 26 potential effects on the evidence synthesis conclusions will be included in the narrative. When 27 possible, results across studies are compared using graphs and charts or other data visualization 28 strategies. The synthesis of mechanistic information informs the integration of health effects 29 evidence for both hazard identification (e.g., biological plausibility or coherence of the available 30 human or animal evidence; inferences regarding human relevance, or the identification of 31 susceptible populations and lifestages across the human and animal evidence) and dose-response 32 evaluation (e.g., selection of benchmark response levels, selection of uncertainty factors). 33 Evaluations of mechanistic information typically differ from evaluations of phenotypic evidence 34 (e.g., from routine toxicological studies) primarily because mechanistic data evaluations consider 35 the support for and involvement of specific events or sets of events within the context of a broader

36 research question (e.g., support for a hypothesized mode of action; consistency with known

biological processes), rather than evaluations of individual apical endpoints considered in relative
 isolation.

Following the synthesis of human and animal health effects data and mechanistic data,
integrated judgments are drawn across all lines of evidence for each assessed health effect. During
evidence integration, a structured and documented two-step process is used, as follows:

Building from the separate syntheses of the human and animal evidence, the strength of the
evidence from the available human and animal health effect studies are summarized in parallel, but

8 separately, using a structured evaluation of an adapted set of considerations first introduced by Sir

9 Bradford Hill (<u>Hill, 1965</u>). This process is similar to that used by the Grading of Recommendations
10 Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) (Morgan et al., 2016; Guyatt et al., 2011;

11 Schünemann et al., 2011), which arrives at an overall integration conclusion based on consideration

12 of the body of evidence. These summaries incorporate the relevant mechanistic evidence (or mode

13 of action [MOA] understanding) that informs the biological plausibility and coherence within the

14 available human or animal health effect studies. The terms associated with the different strength of

15 evidence judgments within evidence streams are *robust*, *moderate*, *slight*, *indeterminate*, and

16 *compelling evidence of no effect.*

17 The animal, human, and mechanistic evidence judgments are then combined to draw an 18 overall judgment that incorporates inferences across evidence streams. Specifically, the inferences 19 considered during this integration include the human relevance of the animal and mechanistic 20 evidence, coherence across the separate bodies of evidence, and other important information 21 (e.g., judgments regarding susceptibility). Note that without evidence to the contrary, the human 22 relevance of animal findings is assumed. The final output is a summary judgment of the evidence 23 base for each potential human health effect across evidence streams. The terms associated with 24 these summary judgments are evidence demonstrates, evidence indicates (likely), evidence suggests, 25 evidence inadequate, and strong evidence of no effect. The decision points within the structured 26 evidence integration process are summarized in an evidence profile table for each considered 27 health effect.

As discussed in the protocol (see Appendix A), the methods for evaluating the potential
carcinogenicity of PFAS follow processes laid out in the EPA cancer guidelines (U.S. EPA, 2005);
however, for PFHxS, data relevant to cancer were sparse and did not allow for such an evaluation
(see Appendix A, Section 3.3).

1.2.5. Dose-Response Analysis

The details for the dose-response employed in this assessment can be found in Appendix A,
Section 11. Briefly, a dose response assessment was performed for noncancer health hazards,
following exposure to PFHxS via the oral route, as supported by existing data. For oral noncancer
hazards, oral reference doses (RfDs) are derived when possible. An RfD is an estimate, with
uncertainty spanning perhaps an order of magnitude, of an exposure to the human population
(including susceptible subgroups) that is likely to be without an appreciable risk of deleterious

health effects over a lifetime (U.S. EPA, 2002). The derivation of reference value like the RfD
 depends on the nature of the health hazard conclusions drawn during evidence integration. For
 noncancer outcomes, a dose response assessment was conducted for evidence integration
 conclusions of evidence demonstrates or evidence indicates (likely). In general, toxicity values

5 are not developed for noncancer hazards with **evidence suggests** conclusions (see Appendix A,

6 Section 10.2 for exceptions). Consistent with EPA practice, the PFHxS assessment applied a twostep

7 approach for dose response assessment that distinguishes analysis of the dose response data in the

8 range of observation from any inferences about responses at lower environmentally relevant

9 exposure levels (<u>U.S. EPA, 2012</u>, <u>2005</u>):

- Within the observed dose range, the preferred approach was to use dose-response modeling to incorporate as much of the dataset as possible into the analysis. This modeling to derive a point of departure (POD) ideally includes an exposure level near the lower end of the range of observation, without significant extrapolation to lower exposure levels.
- As derivation of cancer risk estimates and reference values nearly always involves
 extrapolation to exposures lower than the POD; the approaches to be applied in these
 assessments are described in more detail in Appendix A, Section 11.2.

17 When sufficient and appropriate human and laboratory animal data are available for the 18 same outcome, human data are generally preferred for the dose-response assessment because use 19 of human data eliminates the need to perform interspecies extrapolations. For reference values, 20 this assessment will derive a candidate value from each suitable dataset. Evaluation of these 21 candidate values will yield a single organ/system-specific value for each organ/system under 22 consideration from which a single overall reference value will be selected to cover all health 23 outcomes across all organs/systems. While this overall reference value represents the focus of 24 these dose-response assessments, the organ/system-specific values can be useful for subsequent 25 cumulative risk assessments that consider the combined effect of multiple PFAS (or other agents) 26 acting at a common organ/system. For noncancer toxicity values, uncertainties in these estimates 27 are characterized and discussed. 28 For dose-response purposes, EPA has developed a standard set of models 29 (http://www.epa.gov/bmds) that can be applied to typical datasets, including those that are 30 nonlinear. In situations for which there are alternative models with significant biological support 31 (e.g., pharmacodynamic models), those models are included as alternatives in the assessment(s) 32 along with a discussion of the models strengths and uncertainties. EPA has developed guidance on 33 modeling dose-response data, assessing model fit, selecting suitable models, and reporting 34 modeling results [see the EPA Benchmark Dose Technical Guidance (U.S. EPA, 2012)]. For each 35 modeled response, a POD from the observed data was estimated to mark the beginning of 36 extrapolation to lower doses. The POD is an estimated dose (expressed in human-equivalent terms)

37 near the lower end of the observed range without significant extrapolation to lower doses. The POD

- 1 is used as the starting point for subsequent extrapolations and analyses. For noncancer effects, the
- 2 POD is used in calculating the RfD.

2. LITERATURE SEARCH AND STUDY EVALUATION RESULTS

2.1. LITERATURE SEARCH AND SCREENING RESULTS

1 The database searches yielded 4,432 records, of these records 162 were identified from 2 additional sources, such as posted National Toxicology Program (NTP) study tables and during 3 review of reference lists from other authoritative sources (ATSDR, 2018b) (see Figure 2-1). No 4 studies were submitted to EPA. After deduplication, 1,935 unique records were identified, 862 were 5 excluded during title and abstract screening, and 806 were reviewed at the full text level. Of the 806 6 screened at the full text level, 446 were considered to meet the populations, exposures, 7 comparators, and outcomes (PECO) eligibility criteria (see Table 1-4). The studies meeting PECO at 8 the full text level included 415 epidemiologic studies and 20 animal studies. High throughput 9 screening data on perfluorohexane sulfonate (PFHxS) are currently available from the EPA's 10 Chemicals Dashboard (U.S. EPA, 2019b) and relevant information is presented and analyzed in

11 Appendix D (see Section 3).



Figure 2-1. Literature search for perfluorohexanesulfonic acid and related salts.

2.2. STUDY EVALUATION RESULTS

1 One hundred seventeen epidemiologic studies were identified that met the PECO criteria

- 2 and report on the potential association between PFHxS and human health effects. The database of
- 3 animal toxicity studies for PFHxS consists of two short-term oral exposure studies using rats (<u>NTP</u>,
- 4 <u>2018a</u>; <u>3M, 2000a</u>), one subchronic study using mice (<u>Bijland et al., 2011</u>), and three
- 5 multigenerational studies using rats or mice (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2020</u>; <u>Chang et al., 2018</u>; <u>Ramhøj et al.</u>,
- 6 <u>2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>).
- 1 Graphical representations of outcome-specific study evaluations are presented and
- 2 discussed within the hazard sections (see Sections 3.2.1–3.3.1). In cases for which a study was rated
- 3 *medium* or *low* confidence for one or more of the evaluated outcomes, the specific limitations are
- 4 explained in the synthesis section(s). Detailed rationales for each domain and overall confidence
- 5 rating are available in Health Assessment Workspace Collaborative (<u>HAWC</u>).

3. PHARMACOKINETICS, EVIDENCE SYNTHESIS, AND INTEGRATION

3.1. PHARMACOKINETICS

The following sections review the scientific evidence for the absorption, distribution,
 metabolism, and excretion (ADME) of perfluorohexane sulfuric acid (PFHxS). In general, the
 evidence described below demonstrates that PFHxS has ADME characteristics of comparable with
 other perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAA) that are readily absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract following
 oral exposure irrespective of sex or species.

6 Multiple PFHxS isomers have been identified. Benskin et al. (2009) found evidence of three 7 PFHxS isomers as minor fractions in a PFOS standard generated using electrochemical fluorination. 8 They identified the most prevalent of these as the linear isomer (n-PFHxS), and the two others as 9 branched isomers. The branched isomers were present as a small fraction relative to the linear 10 isomer⁴ but were a majority of the PFHxS found in urine 3 days after dosing, as branched isomers 11 are eliminated more quickly than n-PFHxS. By day 38 the branched isomers, but not n-PFHxS, were 12 essentially absent in blood (Benskin et al., 2009). Some pharmacokinetic studies specifically 13 identified the isomer used (e.g., Sundström et al. (2012) used the linear isomer), but others did not. Results from other studies based on measured PFHxS concentrations in blood were therefore 14 15 assumed to represent n-PFHxS unless otherwise specified. The current evidence is too sparse to 16 draw separate judgments for branched and linear isomers, although this review of PFHxS ADME is 17 interpreted as primarily focused on evidence for n-PFHxS. While branched PFHxS isomers are likely 18 to have many similar pharmacokinetic (and pharmacodynamic) properties as n-PFHxS, their 19 contribution to the summary information below (and the toxicity data in Section 3.2) cannot 20 currently be specified. 21 Both animal and human data suggest that PFHxS has a high affinity for protein binding. 22 Bischel et al. (2011) measured 99% bound in a solution of bovine serum albumin and Kim et al. 23 (2018b) estimated less than 0.08% free in rat plasma and 0.03% free in human plasma. Significant 24 sex differences in urinary excretion have been reported, suggesting hormonal regulation of

- 25 transporters involved in renal reuptake (<u>Yang et al., 2009</u>). The PFHxS serum concentrations
- 26 reported at the end of the 28-day NTP bioassay (<u>NTP, 2019</u>) were in fact strongly suggestive both of
- sex differences and of saturable resorption in the elimination of PFHxS by rats (see Figure 3-1).
- 28 While the dose range was greater for female rats (0–50 mg/kg-day) than male rats (0–10 mg/kg-

⁴ Based on peak height in a representative chromatogram shown in Figure 1 of <u>Benskin et al. (2009)</u>, quantified by digitization of the published plot, the two branched isomers had concentrations of about 8% and 15% of the linear isomer in the dosing solution.

- 1 day), it is still clear that plasma levels in the males at 10 mg/kg-day (198 mg/L) were three times
- 2 higher than the plasma concentration in females given 12 mg/kg-day (64 mg/L) at the end of the
- 3 28-day study. This sex difference was clearly reflected by the differences in clearance and half-life
- 4 for male and female rats seen in multiple studies, discussed subsequently. The <u>NTP (2019)</u> data also
- 5 clearly indicated strong pharmacokinetic nonlinearity (see Figure 3-1). If absorption and clearance
- 6 were independent of concentration the plasma concentrations in Figure 3-1 would be
- 7 approximately linear with dose. The PK data discussed below also indicated nonlinearity in either
- 8 or both the absorption and clearance. In particular, <u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u> estimated clearance levels
- 9 1.5 to 2 times higher after a 32 mg/kg dose than after 4 and 16 mg/kg and a decrease in
- 10 bioavailability of about 50% between 4 and 32 mg/kg in both male and female rats. However,
- 11 because those PK experiments only used a single dose, they may not have achieved plasma
- 12 concentrations high enough to demonstrate the extent of the difference in clearance that might be
- 13 needed to explain the NTP data.



Figure 3-1. Observed end-of-study of PFHxS in female and male rats in the NTP bioassay (NTP, 2019) as a function of dose. The plasma concentrations were measured one day after the final dose, i.e., day 29. While the two data sets look similar as shown with their respective dose scales, note that significant saturation occurs in male rats by a dose of 5 mg/kg-day, where the plasma concentration is 80% of that observed at the highest administered dose, while a dose of about 20 mg/kg-day is needed to achieve the same degree of saturation in females, while the highest concentration in males is twice that in females. The similarity in shape may occur because binding of PFHxS to the same transporter determines the nonlinearity in both sexes.

1 Serum binding also appears to limit distribution of PFHxS into other tissues, with the 2 tissue:blood or plasma ratio reported as less than 0.2 for liver and much lower for all other tissues 3 (Kim et al., 2016b; Benskin et al., 2009). After the liver, the next highest tissue levels were observed 4 in kidney, lung, heart, and spleen. Similar to other PFAAs, PFHxS has been presumed to be 5 metabolically inert, but <u>Sundström et al. (2012)</u> only recovered 45%–55% of material between 6 serum, liver, urine, and feces 96 hours after dosing to Sprague Dawley (SD). The majority (\sim 90%) 7 of PFHxS was excreted in the urine rather than the feces (Kim et al., 2018b). 8 A pharmacokinetic (PK) approach was used to extrapolate toxicity points of departure from 9 animal PFHxS doses and human blood PFHxS levels to a human equivalent (external oral) dose. A 10 review of the ADME information for rats and humans directly informed the PK approach. Although 11 no endpoints in mice or monkeys were advanced for dose-response modeling, evaluation of ADME 12 in those species provided a broader context for interpreting the results in rats and humans. For 13 example, to what extent might significant differences between PK in male and female rats be 14 predictive of possible sex differences in humans? Differences or similarities between rats and 15 monkeys can likewise be indicative of the comparison between rats and humans. 16 Two key parameters determined were clearance (CL; L/kg-day) and volume of distribution 17 (Vd; L/kg). For convenience, the following analysis of published data used units of mL/kg-day. 18 Options for PBPK, and PK modeling were evaluated (see Section 3.1.5). That evaluation informed 19 the specific choice for dose extrapolation, described in Approach for Animal Human Extrapolation 20 of PFHxS Dosimetry in Section 3.1.7), while the literature used to support the selection of the PK

21 parameters and rationale for the approach used are discussed in the relevant Pharmacokinetics22 sections below.

3.1.1. Absorption

23 For the most part, PFHxS data showed near complete absorption after oral dosing. Kim et al. 24 (2016b) estimated total AUC in blood (AUC_{0- ∞}) that was greater after oral compared with IV doses 25 (4 mg/kg PFHxS) in both male and female rats. This result is counter to general pharmacokinetic 26 understanding, which assumes that the oral AUC will be lower than the IV AUC due to incomplete 27 absorption in the gastrointestinal tract. These results may have been an artifact of experimental variability and the PK analysis used but they indicated complete absorption. <u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u> then 28 29 estimated \sim 90% absorption in female SD rats (92% and 88% absorption at 1 and 4 mg/kg doses, 30 respectively) and 96% in male SD rats (10 mg/kg dose) based on observations to 14 days 31 postexposure. While <u>Sundström et al. (2012</u>) showed results indicating only 50% oral uptake in SD 32 rats, this was based on only two animals for the oral PK and observations only to 24-hour post dose, 33 so are more uncertain. <u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u> estimated a decline in the fraction of PFHxS absorbed 34 with increasing dose in rats: 98%, 82%, and 52% absorbed in males and apparent values of 142%, 35 112%, and 71% in females at respective doses of 4, 16, and 32 mg/kg. As noted above, reduced 36 absorption at higher doses would explain in part the observed dose-dependence seen in Figure 3-1.

1 While the results discussed above indicate a decrease in bioavailability at higher doses, 2 pharmacokinetic extrapolation from animals to humans is focused on low doses for which most of 3 the available data indicated complete absorption, if not greater bioavailability after oral exposure 4 than IV dosing. A more comprehensive computational analysis of the PK data was conducted (see 5 Section 3.1.6), including consideration of less than 100% bioavailability; however, that analysis was 6 unable to resolve the uncertainty in bioavailability. Therefore, 100% bioavailability was assumed 7 for the purpose of low-dose extrapolation from rats to humans. 8 The rate of absorption appeared to be more rapid in female rats than in males. Kim et al. 9 (2016b) reported a T_{max} of 1.4–1.5 hours (0.06 days) in female rats, but 3 days in male rats and Kim 10 et al. (2018b) likewise reported 1.4 hours in females and 3.1 days in males. However, this difference

11 in timing may also be confounded by the much slower clearance in male versus female rats (see

12 below). <u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u> obtained a T_{max} of 2–3 hours in female rats and 5–7 hours in male rats,

13 with a decreasing trend as dose increased. Transporter-mediated processes and protein binding

14 may have caused dose-dependence of T_{max} for PFHxS, but the differences in T_{max} between dose

15 groups was not reported as statistically significant by <u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u> and the range of values

16 for each sex was not large enough to be of consequence for dose extrapolation.

While these results indicated somewhat slower absorption in male than female rats, it is
only by a factor of 2 or 3 (Huang et al., 2019a). Sundström et al. (2012) observed a T_{max} of only 0.5
hours in female SD rats and could not estimate a value for male rats due to the short 24-hour
window of observation. The cause for the discrepancy from other studies discussed just above was
unclear. Plotted data indicated very rapid initial absorption in both males and females (<u>Kim et al., 2018b</u>; <u>Kim et al., 2016b</u>) and by definition peak concentration occurs when the rate of clearance

23 equals the rate of absorption (which decreases as the remaining dose in the gastrointestinal tract

24 declines). So, it may simply be that it took longer for the absorption rate to fall below the slow

25 clearance rate of PFHxS in male rats than female rats.

26 In male CD-1 mice Sundström et al. (2012) the observed T_{max} was 8 hours at a dose of 1 27 mg/kg and 4 hours at a dose of 20 mg/kg, while T_{max} was 2 days in females at 1 mg/kg, but only 4 28 hours in female mice at 20 mg/kg. Thus, the predominant results indicated that the majority of 29 absorption occurs in less than 8 hours in mice, consistent with uptake being in the range of 90% or 30 higher. It was unclear why T_{max} was lower at the higher doses in both males and females. No specific methodological flaws were identified, but the exact value of T_{max} from an experiment depends on 31 32 the timing of blood samples (experimental design) and can be affected by experimental variability. 33 Serum concentrations were measured starting at 2 hours and it is possible that the value of "2" for

34 female mice dosed with 1 mg/kg PFHxS was actually 2 hours, rather than 2 days. While

35 bioavailability was not measured in primates, it is reasonable to assume that uptake in monkeys

36 and humans is likewise fairly efficient.

A study on the toxicological response upon dermal exposure to a technical mixture
containing PFHxS showed the presence of PFHxS in serum during the 28-day dosing period and

1 after a 14-day recovery period (3M, 2004). Male and female rats were exposed to the product as a 2 liquid on cotton gauze or as a solid dried onto cotton gauze. PFHxS from both the liquid and dried 3 product entered systemic circulation through the skin as determined by measurements of serum 4 PFHxS levels. Male rats showed higher PFHxS serum levels compared with female rats, which was 5 likely an effect of differential excretion, rather than differential absorption. Male rats showed a 6 clear accumulation of PFHxS in serum over the duration of the 28-day dosing period and levels 7 appeared to decrease during the recovery period in the group exposed to the dried formulation. 8 Male rats exposed to the liquid formulation had peak levels observed after the recovery period. In 9 female rats, peak concentrations were seen after 14 days of exposure and lower levels were seen 10 after 28 days of exposure. Levels were lower still after the recovery period. These data suggested a 11 concern for dermal exposure to PFHxS in both liquid and dried formulations, but further research is 12 needed to quantify rates of absorption, the resulting relationship between external and internal 13 dose, and the extrapolation of this information to human exposure. 14 No data on absorption of PFHxS through the respiratory tract has been found. 15 There is no direct quantification of oral absorption of PFHxS in humans. However, an

16 epidemiological study by <u>Stubleski et al. (2016)</u> identified a qualitative association between PFHxS

17 concentrations in human serum and concentrations in drinking water. Specifically, a 54% increase 18 in serum levels was observed during the observation period after a large contamination event, but

19 serum levels only declined 20% after an intervention that decreased drinking water levels by 60%.

20 The lack of exact correlation may have been due to the timing of sampling versus the contamination

21 event, as well as to the long half-life of PFHxS in humans.

22 Given the generally high absorption reported in rats (e.g., 90% for female rats and 96% for 23 male rats) by Kim et al. (2018b), humans will be assumed to absorb 100% of ingested PFHxS, which is slightly more health protective compared with assuming 90%–96%. 24

3.1.2. Distribution

25 While PFHxS was found at some level in all tissues evaluated, the largest amounts have been 26 in the liver, followed by the kidneys and lung, with much lower levels in other tissues. For example, 27 Benskin et al. (2009) reported tissue: blood ratios in male rats on day 3 of dosing at 0.03 mg/kg as 28 being 17% for liver, 10% for lungs, 5% for heart and kidney, with other tissues being 4% or lower. 29 <u>Kim et al. (2016b)</u> measured ratios after 72 days in male and 14 days in female rats from 4 mg/kg 30 doses and obtained ratios of 17% and 11% for male and female liver, respectively; 13% and 8% for 31 kidney; 5% and 4% for heart; 4% and 3% for lung (each for males and females, respectively); and 32 2% for spleen in both sexes. This distribution appears to be fairly rapid compared with the overall 33 time-course in blood: <u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u> showed essentially constant tissue:plasma ratios in 34 female rat liver and kidney from day 0 to day 8 and in the male rat kidney from 0 to 50 days after a 35 16 mg/kg dose. Interestingly, the ratio in the male rat liver quickly rose to 50%-60% but then 36 gradually increased to over 80% on day 50 (Huang et al., 2019a). This time-dependence may have 37 been due to slower clearance from the male rat liver than the blood and other tissues which may

1 confound interpretation of PK data. If the percent distribution to the liver (relative to plasma)

- 2 increased over time, then the observed decline in plasma concentrations was not proportional to
- 3 whole-body elimination.

4 The order of tissue concentrations was observed to be the same in mice as in rats, but with 5 the mouse liver having 25%-40% of serum levels and the kidney $\sim 10\%$ (Sundström et al., 2012). 6 However, measurements of PFAS levels in human cadavers indicated a different ordering of 7 concentration, with highest levels in kidney (median 18 ng/g), followed by lung (median 5.7 ng/g), 8 then brain, liver, and bone (2.3, 1.8, and 1.2 ng/g, respectively) (Pérez et al., 2013). These human 9 results should be interpreted with some caution since they do not provide ratios from matched 10 samples and the specific method of collecting tissues likely differed to some extent (details on the 11 human tissue collection are not available). But the difference between kidney and liver may be large 12 enough to suggest a difference between human and rodent PFHxS distribution for these tissues. 13 Karrman et al. (2010) also examined postmortem liver concentrations in 12 human samples 14 and compared those to serum concentrations previously observed in the region. This comparison is 15 severely limited as the serum and liver samples were sourced from different individuals. 16 Yeung et al. (2013) evaluated PFHxS concentrations in liver versus serum of humans with 17 hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) or cirrhosis due to chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV). In these 18 patients, the liver concentration was 15% of the serum in HCC patients (n = 11) and 9% of the 19 serum in HCV patients (n = 32). These results need to be interpreted with caution because of the 20 disease status, but they indicated somewhat lower distribution into the human liver than observed 21 in rodents. The authors did not have paired liver and serum from healthy individuals for 22 comparison. In addition to the evidence of distribution to the brain in cadavers, PFHxS has been 23 observed in the cerebrospinal fluid of neonates, with a median cerebrospinal fluid: blood serum 24 ratio of 0.0290 from 2 paired samples (Liu et al., 2022b). Based on evidence from other PFAS in 25 humans and rats that the authors reviewed, this ratio is expected to be higher in neonates 26 compared to adults due to ongoing development of the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier. 27 Intracellular concentrations of PFHxS in the brain are expected to be much higher than the 28 concentration in the cerebrospinal fluid due to interactions between PFHxS and cytoplasmic 29 proteins.

30 A recent study evaluated levels of several PFAS, including PFHxS, in human serum as a 31 function of various measures of body composition as well as localized measurements of adipose 32 content throughout the body generated by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) and whole-33 body magnetic resonance imaging (WB-MRI) (Lind et al., 2022). There was not an association with 34 traditional measures of body composition, such as body-mass index (BMI). PFHxS was however 35 inversely related to total lean mass, leg lean mass, subcutaneous adipose tissue in the arms, trunk 36 and thigh, and skeletal muscle volume in the arms and legs in men but not in women. Given the 37 minimal distribution of PFHxS to adipose and muscle tissues described above, one might expect 38 essentially no effect of the volume of these tissues on serum levels. However, one would predict a

negative correlation between Vd and body fat, the results in men may be consistent with that
prediction if glomerular filtration increases with body mass or surface area. It is also possible that
the correlation was due to variation in exposure related to body fat or muscle volume that occurs
particularly in males. Matched estimates of exposure from dietary surveys or samples, or matched
measures of urinary clearance (PFAS concentrations in urine) are ultimately needed to determine

6 whether or not the correlations actually reflect PK variation.

7 Kang et al. (2020) measured the levels of PFAS in the follicular fluid of women undergoing

- 8 oocyte retrieval for in vitro fertilization in relation to their serum levels and observed a median
- 9 ratio of 0.84, which is much higher than seen for other various tissues described above. This result
- 10 suggested that PFHxS can pass readily through the follicular walls (theca and granulosa cells), and

11 that binding to proteins in the follicular fluid is similar to that in serum.

- 12 <u>Zhao et al. (2015)</u> and <u>Zhao et al. (2017)</u> investigated the role of renal transporters known
- to be involved in enterohepatic recirculation of bile acids. <u>Zhao et al. (2015)</u> showed that PFHxS is a
- 14 substrate for the human and rat Na⁺/taurocholate co-transporting polypeptide (NTCP) expressed in
- 15 vitro and <u>Zhao et al. (2017)</u> showed that multiple human and rat organic anion transporting
- 16 polypeptides (OATPs) likewise transported PFHxS. These active transport processes may
- 17 contribute to the relatively high distribution of PFHxS observed in the liver and its long half-life in
- 18 rats and humans by limiting biliary excretion. Excretion is also limited by protein binding in the
- 19 liver, for example observed in interactions with human liver fatty acid-binding protein (hL-FABP)
- 20 (Yang et al., 2020a; Sheng et al., 2016), and in serum, discussed subsequently in the *Distribution in*
- 21 Blood/Proteins section. The impact of serum protein binding on renal clearance is also discussed in
- the **Excretion** section (Section 3.1.4) under the *Clearance Versus Glomerular Filtration Rate and*
- 23 *Free Fraction in Serum* subsection.

Volume of Distribution

24 Vd is a pharmacokinetic parameter that quantifies the extent to which a chemical 25 distributes between the blood and the body as a whole and is effectively an average of tissue-26 specific distribution ratios. Vd is key in evaluating internal dose because it quantifies the blood 27 concentration for a given total amount in the body. See Section 3.1.6, Empirical Pharmacokinetic 28 Analysis, for details of EPA's computational analysis. In rats, mean Vd ranged from 123 to 327 29 mL/kg among studies, doses, and routes of administration, without a clear sex difference (Huang et 30 al., 2019a; Kim et al., 2018b; Kim et al., 2016b; Sundström et al., 2012). Only Sundström et al. (2012) evaluated the Vd in mice at two oral doses, and while the values were approximately 25% 31 32 lower in females than in males at a given dose, the value for female mice given 20 mg/kg was 33 between the values for male mice given 1 versus 20 mg/kg. The overall range of Vd in mice (96–195 34 mL/kg) strongly overlapped the observed range in rats. The Vd in monkeys was also evaluated by 35 Sundström et al. (2012), though only at a single IV dose (10 mg/kg) and was likewise in the range

reported for rats: 213 mL/kg in female monkeys and 287 mL/kg in male monkeys.

The fact that reported values of Vd were generally below 300 mL/kg and that most tissue specific levels were low compared with blood (see previous section) indicated that PFHxS primarily
 distributes with extracellular fluid, with the exception of the liver.

4 Reported values of Vd are listed in Table 3-1, grouped by species and sex. No data to
5 determine Vd in humans were found.

6 The biochemical and physiological factors that determine tissue distribution have been
7 generally presumed to be evolutionarily conserved among mammalian species, an assumption

- 8 which was supported by the overall similarity of values across species seen in Table 3-1. However,
- 9 species differences in Vd can occur, especially given that the tissue fraction in the body varies
- 10 among species, and as shown by <u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u> the distribution to different tissues varies
- 11 several-fold. Since nonhuman primates were expected to be closer to humans in body composition
- 12 than rats or mice, the Vd values in human males and females was assumed equal to the values

13 estimated by <u>Sundström et al. (2012)</u> for male and female monkeys, respectively. There is

- 14 uncertainty in this assumption, that would be reduced by measurements of the PFHxS Vd in
- 15 humans.

16 A Bayesian PK analysis was conducted that combines data from across studies and doses

17 listed in Table 3-1 for male and female rats and mice (summary in Section 3.1.6, details provided in

18 Appendix E). This analysis provided both an overall mean and a credible interval for the Vd for each

19 of these species and sexes. The analysis for rats was restricted to oral dosimetry data because the

- 20 reported PK parameters indicated some discrepancy between the results for IV and oral dosimetry
- 21 that were unlikely to be resolved by the empirical modeling approach used here, and the bioassay
- 22 results that will be extrapolated using the PK parameters are from oral exposures. Because only IV
- 23 route data were available for monkeys, those data were used for that species.

Study	Vd (mL/kg)	Notes			
Male rats					
<u>Sundström et al. (2012)</u>	275 ± 5ª	10 mg/kg IV, n = 4, 10 w time-course			
	269 ± 52 ^b	4 mg/kg IV, n = 5, 72 d			
<u>Kim et al. (2016b)</u>	278 ± 4 ^b 264.4 (255.6–272.6)	4 mg/kg oral, n = 5, 72 d			
	315 ± 23 ^b	10 mg/kg IV, n = 5, 14 d			
<u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u>	327 ± 10 ^b 293.4 (262.9–323.9)	10 mg/kg oral, n = 5, 14 d			
	224 ± 32°	4 mg/kg IV, n = 3/time point, 50 d			
	123 ± 11 ^d 137.8 (116.2–159.6)	4 mg/kg oral, n = 3/time point, 50 d			
<u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u>	137 ± 9 ^d 144.2 (121.1–166.5)	16 mg/kg oral, n = 3/time point, 50 d			
	192 ± 17 ^d 210.7 (176.9–243.2)	32 mg/kg oral, n = 3/time point, 50 d			
Population mean	216.5 (149.2–281.4)				
	Female rats				
Sundström et al. (2012)	278 ± 66ª	10 mg/kg IV, n = 3, 24 h			
	126 ± 14ª	10 mg/kg IV, n = 4. 10 w			
	289 ± 24 ^b	4 mg/kg IV, n = 5, 14 d			
<u>Kim et al. (2016b)</u>	256 ± 18 ^b 286.9 (264.5–309.6)	4 mg/kg oral, n = 5, 14 d			
	176 ± 11 ^b	0.5 mg/kg IV, n = 5, 14 d			
	191 ± 7.5 ^b	1 mg/kg IV, n = 5, 14 d			
<u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u>	130 ± 5.5 ^b	4 mg/kg IV, n = 5, 14 d			
	154 ± 20 ^b	10 mg/kg IV, n = 5, 14 d			
	187 ± 3.5 ^b 196.0 (117.2–213.6)	1 mg/kg oral, n = 5, 14 d			
	159 ± 7.8 ^b 236.3 (215.5–257.6)	4 mg/kg oral, n = 5, 14 d			
<u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u>	144 ± 18°	4 mg/kg IV, n = 3/time point, 22 d			
	155 ± 9 ^d 162.8 (142.9–183.2)	4 mg/kg oral, n = 3/time point, 22 d			
	186 ± 14 ^d 187.9 (166.5–208.5)	16 mg/kg oral, n = 3/time point, 22 d			

Table 3-1. Estimated Volume of distribution (Vd) values in rats, mice, and monkeys

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Study	Vd (mL/kg)	Notes
	264 ± 20 ^d 261.9 (231.9–290.2)	32 mg/kg/ oral, n = 3/time point, 22 d
Population mean	224.2 (182.7–266.4)	
	Male mice	
Curdeteins et al. (2012)	129 ^b	1 mg/kg oral, n = 4/time point, 23 w
Sundstrom et al. (2012)	195 ^b	20 mg/kg oral, n = 4/time point, 23 w
Population mean	154.6 (122.6–185.5)	
	Female mice	
Sundström at al. (2012)	96 ^b	1 mg/kg oral, n = 4/time point, 23 w
Sundstrom et al. (2012)	147 ^b	20 mg/kg oral, n = 4/time point, 23 w
Population mean	123.0 (104.5–140.6)	
	Male monkeys	
Sundström et al. (2012)	287 ± 52 ^b 282.4 (251.9–314.9)	10 mg/kg IV, n = 3, 171 d
	Female monkeys	
Sundström et al. (2012)	213 ± 28 ^b 228.5 (204.4–252.5)	10 mg/kg IV, n = 3, 171 d

Values in italics are the mean (90% credible interval) from the Bayesian analysis described in Appendix E (oral exposure data).

^aVdSS from two-compartment PK model.

^bVd from noncompartmental PK analysis.

^cSum of central and peripheral compartment volumes obtained with a 2-compartment PK model.

^dVd from one-compartment PK model.

1 2	While Vd in rodents for a number of PFAS have generally been found to be less than 1,000 mL/kg (1 L/kg), reported values do vary considerably. For example, <u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u> reported
3	respective male and female rat values for total Vd of:
4	• 170–340 and 170–420 mL/kg for PFBS;
5	• 300–680 and 220–420 mL/kg for PFOS given doses of 2 mg/kg; but
6	• 79 and 56 mL/kg for PFOS given a dose of 20 mg/kg
7	(Dzierlenga et al., 2019) reported respective male and female rat values for total Vd of:
8	• 300–620 and 223–560 mL/kg for PFHxA;
9	• 150–200 and 79–340 mL/kg for PFOA; and
10	• 410–630 and 270–410 mL/kg for PFDA.
11	In part, these ranges, and differences in reported Vd values between laboratories reflected
12	both experimental variability and differences in the pharmacokinetic analyses used, which may
13	have been more or less sensitive to variability in the data. Experimental design, such as the
14	timepoints selected for measurement and duration of a PK study also impact Vd estimates. But
15	some of the variability demonstrated here between different PFAS almost certainly represents true
16	differences in their chemical properties. A comprehensive review of such factors is beyond the
17	scope of this assessment, but these data indicated that the reported Vd values for PFHxS were well
18	within the overall range observed for several other PFAS.
19	The only study to evaluate Vd in humans directly from human data for PFHxS (vs. using a
20	value obtained for other PFAS or in other species) was that of <u>Chiu et al. (2022</u>), who applied a one-
21	compartment PK model in a Bayesian analysis of human serum concentrations matched with
22	drinking water (DW) concentrations of several PFAS, including PFHxS, from multiple community
23	studies. The analysis only included adults who were determined unlikely to have occupational
24	exposure (i.e., for whom DW was likely to be the primary exposure) with corresponding DW
25	concentrations measured prior to measurement of their serum concentration. The overall approach
26	and parameter estimation method were considered sound. The value of Vd obtained for PFHxS
27	(95% CI) was 0.25 (0.15, 0.42) L/kg, which is almost identical to the average of the Vd values
28	estimated for male and female monkeys (Table 3-1).

Distribution in Blood/Proteins

29 The low estimated volume of distribution of PFHxS reflects the relatively high amount of the

- 30 chemical found in plasma. A major factor in this distribution was attributed to the interaction
- between PFHxS and proteins in plasma, including albumin and transthyretin (<u>Alesio et al., 2022</u>;
- **32** Forsthuber et al., 2020; Bischel et al., 2011; Weiss et al., 2009). An investigation of protein binding

- 1 showed that in human plasma PFHxS was 99.98% bound to protein with no sex-specific difference
- 2 (<u>Kim et al., 2018b</u>). The same study reported 99.92% binding to protein in male rat plasma and
- 3 99.93% binding to protein in female rat plasma (<u>Kim et al., 2018b</u>). Binding to plasma proteins may
- 4 also drive the partitioning of PFHxS within blood components for which greater levels of PFHxS
- 5 were measured in serum and plasma compared with whole blood. <u>Poothong et al. (2017)</u> found
- 6 median ratios of 1.06 between serum and plasma, 1.88 between serum and whole blood, and 1.75
- 7 between plasma and whole blood in adult men and women. Hanssen et al. (2013) found a median
- 8 ratio of 1.58 between plasma and whole blood in women just after the delivery of a child. Jin et al.
- 9 (2016) determined a mass fraction in plasma of 0.87 in adult men and women. Liu et al. (2023)
- 10 obtained a similar mean fraction in plasma of 0.84 specifically for *n*-PFHxS, but higher fractions of
- 11 0.9 and 0.93 for two branched isomers.

Fetal Blood and Placenta

12 Studies of the associations between maternal serum levels and umbilical cord blood levels 13 of PFHxS demonstrated transfer through the placenta (Kang et al., 2021; Li et al., 2020a; Chen et al., 2017; Hanssen et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013a; Fromme et al., 2010; Monroy et al., 14 2008). Lee et al. (2013), Chen et al. (2017), Kang et al. (2021), Li et al. (2020a) and Zhang et al. 15 16 [2013a] showed greater concentrations of PFHxS in maternal serum relative to cord serum, a 17 phenomenon that also has been observed for other PFAS such as PFOA and PFOS (e.g., Li et al. 18 [2020a]). Lee et al. (2013) analyzed pairwise data to determine a cord serum: maternal serum ratio 19 of 0.57 ± 0.29 (mean ± SD). <u>Chen et al. (2017)</u> similarly found a geometric mean cord 20 serum:maternal serum ratio of 0.54. Kang et al. (2021) calculated an arithmetic mean cord 21 serum:maternal serum ratio of 0.365. Hanssen et al. (2013) observed a median cord:maternal ratio 22 of 0.53 in plasma and a median cord:maternal ratio of 0.43 in whole blood from pairwise data. 23 Zhang et al. (2013a) also examined the ratio in whole blood and found a cord:maternal blood ratio 24 of 0.294. Li et al. (2020a) compared cord: maternal serum ratios from preterm versus full-term 25 deliveries and reported a median ratio of 0.40 for preterm versus 0.72 for full-term, with the 26 difference being statistically significant. The authors suggest that this increase in distribution may 27 be due to placental aging, resulting in a reduced capacity to limit transfer of xenobiotics, though 28 they also consider simple accumulation with time as a mechanism (Li et al., 2020a). Li et al. (2020a) 29 also evaluated the role of nine placental transporters, testing for correlation between their 30 expression and the cord:maternal serum ratio. However, the only significant correlation was with 31 folate receptor alpha (FR α) in preterm deliveries (i.e., not full term), with a positive correlation 32 coefficient, indicating that $FR\alpha$ facilitates transfer to the fetus. 33 In contrast, Monroy et al. (2008) observed cord serum concentrations that were 34 significantly higher than maternal serum concentrations based on a paired *t*-test and linear 35 regression analysis. However, these data were highly censored, with the prevalence of samples

above the level of detection in umbilical cord serum (20%) lower than in maternal serum (45.5%).

1 The observed relationship between maternal serum and umbilical cord serum could be an artifact 2 due to the higher prevalence of umbilical cord samples below the level of detection. 3 To quantitatively compare the distribution between tissues and maternal blood matrices 4 among different studies, adjustment were made to correct for the distribution among blood 5 components. As described above, Poothong et al. (2017) measured a median ratio of 1.88 for 6 serum: whole blood, 1.75 for plasma: whole blood, and 1.06 for serum: plasma concentrations of 7 PFHxS. These values were used to adjust subsequent tissue:blood matrix ratios to tissue:serum, 8 when reported for whole blood or plasma. 9 Serum and plasma are components of whole blood, with the main other component (by 10 volume) being red blood cells. Assuming that PFHxS partitions completely into the plasma and not 11 the red blood cells, a theoretical maximum ratio between the plasma and whole blood was 12 calculated, that is, as if whole blood is a dilution of plasma with red blood cells. The small additional 13 volume contribution from other components of whole blood not present in plasma or serum were 14 assumed to not substantially affect this theoretical ratio. The most common metric for the 15 composition of whole blood is the hematocrit (Hct), which is the ratio of the volumes of red blood 16 cells and whole blood. In terms of Hct, the theoretical maximum ratio of plasma:whole blood was 17 calculated as 1/(1-Hct). The normal range of hematocrit for men is 42-52 % and for women is 37-18 48 % (Jordan et al., 1992). Inputting a typical human male Hct of 45% gave a plasma: whole blood 19 ratio of 1.82. In females, Hct is typically lower, which resulted in a lower estimated maximum 20 plasma:whole blood ratio. Using the reported plasma:whole blood ratio of 1.7 and a Hct of 45% the 21 fraction of PFHxS in plasma (Fp) was calculated to be $1.7 \times (1-Hct) = 93.5\%$, which is very high but 22 consistent with the high level of plasma protein binding described above. The median ratio of 1.88 23 serum: whole blood reported by Poothong et al. (2017) is greater than the theoretical maximum and 24 implies a Hct of \geq 46.8%, which is in the normal range for men, but slightly higher than the normal 25 range for women. The population of <u>Poothong et al. (2017)</u> was approximately 75% women, which 26 may indicate a deviation from the ideal behavior assumed for the calculation, variation in Hct, or an 27 experimental error in the measurement of concentrations or in the separation. Partitioning of 28 PFHxS and other PFAAs between human plasma and blood cells was also investigated by Jin et al. 29 [2016], who obtained a mean Fp = 91% and report a mean serum:whole blood ratio of 1.6. The 30 average of serum: blood ratio of 1.6 from Jin et al. (2016) and 1.88 from Poothong et al. (2017) is 31 1.7. Given Hct = 0.45, this value implies 95.7% of PFHxS is in serum, which is still reasonable. 32 Therefore, a serum: blood ratio of 1.7 was used to convert tissue partitioning data relative to whole-33 blood concentrations to serum-based concentrations below. 34 The empirical data of <u>Hanssen et al. (2013)</u>, although limited by a modest number of 35 subjects with data over the limit of detection, indicated generally higher serum:whole blood ratios

36 in cord serum and blood than maternal serum and blood, with ratios for multiple samples

- 37 (subjects) reported as 2.2 or higher. This difference can be explained in part by a higher hematocrit
- in later gestation and newborns than in adults (mean hematocrit ~51% for gestation week 42 and

1 full-term newborns) (Jopling et al., 2009). One study included in Table 3-2 below (Zhang et al.,

2 <u>2013a</u>) reported concentrations of PFHxS for whole maternal and cord blood, rather than serum

3 levels. Therefore, the resulting ratios for matched samples (obtained from the supplemental data of

4 <u>Zhang et al. (2013a)</u>) were adjusted by the ratio 0.55;0.49, that is, $(1-Hct_{adult})/(1-Hct_{fetus})$ to account

- 5 for the expectation that serum:whole blood concentrations will be higher in the fetal cord blood
- 6 than in the adult.

7 With the adjustment noted above, median (mean) values of cord serum:maternal serum

- 8 ratios in humans at childbirth were 0.53 on average (see Table 3-2). That the value is roughly 50%
- 9 indicated that the placenta may limit transfer of PFHxS from the mother to the fetus, but if
- 10 distribution to fetal tissues is increased in proportion to water content of tissue, as discussed
- 11 below, then an overall higher concentration in the fetus versus maternal tissue is predicted. There
- 12 was not an apparent trend in the ratio related to the maternal sample timing relative to childbirth
- 13 (i.e., whether taken before, at, or after childbirth) or the fraction of cord or maternal serum
- 14 measurement below the limit of detection, although as described above <u>Li et al. (2020a)</u> reported a
- 15 significant increase in the ratio from preterm to full-term deliveries. Examination of the standard
- 16 deviation of the mean of medians and mean of means shows that the two values are, on average,
- 17 similar, suggesting that the distribution of cord serum:maternal serum ratio is symmetric. However,
- 18 it is notable that the reported median value is lower than the mean value in almost every study.

	Cord serum: maternal serum ratio		% > LOD		
Study	Median	Mean	Cord	Maternal	Maternal sample timing
<u>Chen et al. (2017)</u>	0.55	0.6	97%	97%	Within 3 d prior to delivery
Hanssen et al. (2013)	0.54	0.63	100%	100%	3–5 d after delivery
Kang et al. (2021)	0.315	0.365	97%	100%	At delivery, exact timing not clear
<u>Kim et al. (2011b)</u>	0.65	0.64	100%	100%	20–41st wk of pregnancy, mostly in 3rd trimester
Lee et al. (2013)	0.5	0.57	100%	100%	At delivery, exact timing not clear
Liu et al. (2011)	0.73	0.95	96%	98%	Within 1 wk after delivery
Yang et al. (2016b)	0.35	0.43	100%	100%	1–2 d before delivery
Yang et al. (2016c) ^a	0.52	0.63	96%	100%	Within 1 wk after delivery
Zhang et al. (2013a)	0.332	0.387	100%	100%	Within 1 hr prior to delivery
Li et al. (2020a) preterm	0.40	NR	81%	81%	Within 1 wk before delivery
Li et al. (2020a) full-term	0.72	NR	94%	94%	Within 1 wk before delivery

Table 3-2. Measured cord serum: maternal serum ratios

	Cord serum: maternal serum ratio		% > LOD		
Study	Median	Mean	Cord	Maternal	Maternal sample timing
Overall mean ^b	0.50±0.14	0.58±0.17			

NR = not reported.

^aCord: maternal serum ratios for this study are the ratio of the reported median (mean) values for cord and maternal serum.

^bMean and standard deviation of the set of medians or means.

- 1 After correction for the serum:whole blood ratio as described above, comparisons between 2 maternal serum and placenta were reasonably consistent: <u>Chen et al. (2017)</u> observed median 3 (mean) placenta: maternal serum = 0.421 (0.429) and applying the serum: whole blood factor of 1.74 to the results of Zhang et al. (2013a) the EPA obtained median (mean) = 0.266 (0.289). Chen et al. 5 (2017) suggested that the difference between their results and those of <u>Zhang et al. (2013a)</u> was 6 due to variation in isomeric composition between the two study populations or the greater range in 7 concentration in the placentas in the study of Zhang et al. (2013a), but with the correction applied 8 here it appears to be modest. The volume of distribution estimated for PFHxS in female monkeys 9 was Vd = 0.213 L/kg (Sundström et al., 2012), which represents the average of distribution into all 10 tissues. While the placenta distribution measurements in humans of <u>Chen et al. (2017)</u> and <u>Zhang et</u> 11 al. (2013a) were 1.5 to 2 times higher than this value for female monkeys, Kim et al. (2018b) 12 showed greater variability in PFHxS concentrations between specific tissues of rats. Hence, the 13 reported placenta: serum levels of Chen et al. (2017) and Zhang et al. (2013a) were not outside the 14 range one would expect for a specific tissue given an overall Vd of 0.213 L/kg, i.e., if distribution to 15 adipose and muscle was substantially less than internal organs, as was observed for rats by Kim et 16 al. (2018b). 17 As umbilical cord blood followed the same trend as in adult blood, the results from Chen et 18 al. (2017) and Zhang et al. (2013a) were consistent with a concentration trend of cord 19 serum > placenta > cord whole blood. 20 One study that distinguished between isomers of PFHxS found the greatest prevalence of
- the linear relative to the branched isomer in cord serum (97% linear), followed by maternal serum
 (86% linear) and placenta (77% linear) (<u>Chen et al., 2017</u>).

Distribution in Fetal Tissues and Children

- 23 One study provides a relatively unique dataset of PFHxS concentrations in human fetal
- tissues obtained from voluntary abortion (gestation week < 12) or after intrauterine fetal death in
- 25 the second and third trimester, and in maternal serum collected at these times (<u>Mamsen et al.</u>,
- 26 <u>2019</u>). However, PFHxS was detected in only 6% of fetal tissues, making it difficult to interpret
- 27 these data quantitatively.
- Pharmacokinetic modeling of PFOA dosimetry in humans by <u>Goeden et al. (2019)</u> suggested
 a reason why observed tissue levels of PFAS in the fetus and young children may have been greater

- 1 than in adults: the greater amount of extracellular water in the tissues of fetuses and children
- 2 (<u>Friis-Hansen, 1961</u>) led to a greater distribution of PFAS into these tissues. As noted above, the Vd
- 3 values estimated for adult rats, mice, and monkeys are consistent with the assumption of
- 4 distribution in body water. The amount of extracellular water in newborns was estimated to be 2.4
- 5 times higher than adults (<u>Friis-Hansen, 1961</u>) (see Figure 3-2).



Figure 3-2. Ratio of extracellular water (% of body weight) in children versus adults. Values (points) were calculated from results in <u>Friis-Hansen (1961)</u> and plotted at the mid-point for the corresponding age ranges evaluated.

6 Mamsen et al. (2019) (described briefly above) only detected PFHxS in 6% of fetal tissue 7 samples and did not report ratios of fetal tissue to maternal serum for PFHxS. So, while their data 8 may indicate that average fetal levels are much lower than maternal levels, they cannot be used to 9 quantify the fetal-maternal relationship. Since PFHxS is amphiphilic, with Vd < 1 in adults, it is not 10 expected to distribute with or in proportion to body fat and therefore fetal body fat content is not 11 considered an appropriate predictor of fetal PFHxS distribution. Given the overall lack of data on 12 fetal distribution of PFHxS, EPA considers any estimate of such distribution to be uncertain. In the 13 face of this uncertainty, EPA chose the simplest assumption for prediction of fetal body burdens: 14 that distribution between fetal serum and fetal tissues is the same as the distribution between 15 serum and tissues in the newborn. The alternative, which would be to assume that there is a 16 discontinuity (sudden increase or decrease) in the body burden of the offspring at the moment of 17 birth, would require a more specific assumption about the magnitude and direction of that 18 discontinuity. Likewise, assuming any other change in Vd over the time of fetal development and 19 birth would also have no supporting data and therefore involve equal or greater uncertainty. There 20 are no clear developmental PK data for PFHxS that could be used to guide a choice among these

- alternatives. Hence, EPA simply assumed that the ratio of body water in the newborn versus adults
 (2.4) also applies to the fetus.
- 3 Since the Vd in a human woman (mother) is assumed to be the same as in monkeys, given 4 the assumption that Vd in a fetus is 2.4 times higher than an adult, the estimated Vd in a female 5 fetus relative to fetal serum is 2.4×0.213 L/kg = 0.511 L/kg and in a male fetus 2.4×0.287 6 L/kg = 0.689 L/kg. But as described above, the average ratio of PFHxS in cord serum, which is 7 assumed to be fetal serum, compared with maternal serum was $r_{f:m} = 0.52$. Together, these values 8 and assumptions led to the prediction that relative to *maternal* serum, the Vd for the fetus as a 9 whole is 0.52×0.511 L/kg = 0.266 L/kg for females and likewise 0.358 L/kg for males, indicating 10 average fetal tissue concentrations is 25% higher than average maternal tissues for girls and 68% 11 higher for boys. Hence, the body burden in the newborn can be estimated using the following 12 equation: 13 amount of PFHxS in newborn = $r_{f:m} \times C_{mother} \times Vd_{newborn} \times BW_{newborn}$ (3-1)14 where $r_{f:m} = 0.52$ and Vd_{newborn} is 0.511 L/kg for girls and 0.689 L/kg for boys. 15 The average weight of a newborn is only 5% of maternal body weight (3.4 versus 68 kg), so
- 16 while distribution into the male fetus was estimated to be 68% higher than maternal tissues, the 17 effect on Vd of the mother and fetus together (i.e., total amount in the mother and fetus compared 18 with maternal serum concentration) was thereby estimated to be less than 3.4% (5% × 68%). 19 Therefore, the Vd for mother and fetus together during pregnancy was simply assumed equal to the 20 value for the adult woman (0.213 L/kg), although the amount in the newborn child was calculated 21 as described above. Because the maternal weight just after childbirth is reduced by more than the 22 weight of the newborn, reflecting the loss of amniotic fluid, placenta, etc., this choice effectively 23 assumed slightly less PFHxS mass is lost with those fluids than would be calculated if total maternal 24 and fetal Vd were increased. The interpolation function shown in Figure 3-2 can be multiplied by 25 the adult Vd (L/kg) to obtain the corresponding value for children under 10 years of age, as was 26 done by <u>Goeden et al. (2019)</u>. However, an opposing factor is the approximately 20% larger blood 27 volume as a fraction of BW in young children compared with older children and adults (Darrow et 28 al., 1928), given that a high fraction of PFHxS is bound to blood proteins. More specifically, the mass 29 of PFHxS bound to blood proteins would increase in proportion to the total mass of those proteins, 30 which one might expect to increase in proportion to blood volume. Hence, a 20% larger blood 31 volume could be expected to reduce the PFHxS available for distribution to tissues by 20%. So, 32 instead of an increase of 2.4-fold in Vd in newborns one might predict an increase of 1.9-fold (i.e., 33 80% × 2.4).

Trend in Pregnancy

Four studies investigated how PFHxS levels tend to change during pregnancy and nursing.
 Monroy et al. (2008) found that mean maternal serum PFHxS concentration did not change

- 1 between sampling at 24–28 weeks and sampling at delivery. Likewise, <u>Oh et al. (2022)</u> observed
- 2 only a slight average decrease in maternal PFHxS over the course of pregnancy, not statistically
- 3 significant. (Varsi et al., 2022) observed PFHxS serum concentrations in pregnant women at 18, 28,
- 4 and 36 weeks. Total PFHxS concentrations were relatively constant during this time, but there were
- 5 differences observed between PFHxS isomers. Linear PFHxS decreased during pregnancy and was
- 6 lower than concentrations observed in women who had never been pregnant at all timepoints.
- 7 Branched PFHxS however was highest at the 36 week timepoint, compared to concentrations at 18
- 8 and 28 weeks and compared to the non-pregnant women. <u>Glynn et al. (2012)</u> presented data for
- 9 other PFAS on the relative serum concentrations during pregnancy and nursing but did not present
- 10 that information for PFHxS, although PFHxS was included in other analyses in that study.

Breast Milk

- 11 PFHxS has been observed in human breastmilk, indicating that nursing acts as a route of
- 12 excretion for the mother and a route of exposure for her infant (<u>Kim et al., 2011b</u>; <u>Karrman et al.</u>,
- 13 <u>2010</u>; <u>Kärrman et al., 2007</u>). <u>Blomberg et al. (2023)</u> evaluated longitudinal changes in breast milk
- 14 concentrations of PFHxS between delivery and up to 8 months postpartum; while milk
- 15 concentrations declined among the women with the highest levels at 0-2 months postpartum (i.e.,
- 16 over 500 pg/mL), they were more constant among those with early concentrations of 300 pg/mL or
- 17 lower. This decrease can be viewed as supporting this hypothesis, but some caution is needed in
- 18 interpreting these data as the drinking water source for the most highly exposed part of the cohort
- 19 was switched to a less contaminated source as soon as the contamination was identified, i.e.,
- 20 decreased exposure through drinking water could also drive decreased breast milk concentrations,
- 21 independent of excretion through breast milk. However, <u>Oh et al. (2022)</u> observed a significant
- 22 decline in maternal serum levels (average decline of 5.6%) during the first six months postpartum
- 23 in a population with typical PFHxS exposure (with no intervention to reduce exposure). This
- 24 provides some additional potential evidence of increased excretion of PFHxS after giving birth,
- 25 without an artificial change in PFHxS exposure.
- 26 In paired milk and maternal serum samples, the concentrations were highly correlated 27 (Pearson $r^2 = 0.8$) (Kärrman et al., 2007). The concentration of PFHxS in breastmilk was reported to 28 be lower than the concentration in paired maternal serum, with ratios between milk and maternal 29 serum of 0.02 (Kärrman et al., 2007) and 0.008 (Kim et al., 2011b). Karrman et al. (2010) reported 30 PFHxS concentrations in breast milk samples but did not have paired maternal blood levels, which 31 limits the ability to specify the distribution into breast milk compared with other body 32 compartments. Another study found that PFHxS was below the limit of detection in all breast milk 33 samples collected (Liu et al., 2011). Mondal et al. (2014) investigated the association between 34 PFHxS concentration in maternal and infant serum and the length of breastfeeding and found that, 35 although there were associations consistent with breastfeeding acting as a route of excretion for the 36 mother and a route of exposure for the infant, none of the associations rose to the level of
- 37 significance. Significant associations were found for other PFAS studied and negative associations

- 1 for maternal serum and length of breastfeeding and positive associations for infant serum and
- 2 length of breastfeeding were consistent across PFAS. <u>Varsi et al. (2022)</u> observed paired maternal
- 3 and infant serum concentrations, with one infant timepoint at 6 months of age, and six maternal
- 4 timepoints, three during pregnancy and four postpartum. At 6 months after delivery, the relative
- 5 concentrations of PFHxS in the infant and mother differed by isomer, with the infants having a
- 6 higher median linear PFHxS concentration and a lower median branched PFHxS compared to the
- 7 mothers. Similarly, the branched:linear isomeric ratio was lower in the infant compared to the
- 8 mother. This could indicate a preferential transfer of the linear isomer to the infant, either during
- 9 gestation or lactation. Potential evidence for gestational transfer is the increase in maternal
- 10 branched:linear isomeric ratio that the authors observed between the 28th and 36th week of
- 11 pregnancy. Evidence for lactational transfer is the association the authors observed between infant
- 12 linear PFHxS concentration and months of exclusive breastfeeding, a relationship that was not
- 13 present for the branched isomer.

3.1.3. Metabolism

Due to the high stability of the perfluoroalkyl bonds, PFHxS is thought to not be metabolized in mammals, as was seen for similar PFAS (Lau et al., 2007). Studies have examined similar PFAS, in cludies a set (DEDA) and a set of (DEDA) and identified exhibits

16 including perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorodecanoic acid (PFDA) and identified only the

- 17 parent compound in excreta (<u>Vanden Heuvel et al., 1991a</u>, <u>b</u>). The sulfonate analog of PFOA,
- 18 perflurosulfonic acid (PFOS), is also not metabolized (<u>Lau et al., 2007</u>).

3.1.4. Excretion

Animals

19 Several studies examined the excretion of PFHxS from animals, particularly rats, after a 20 controlled exposure (Huang et al., 2019a; Kim et al., 2018b; Kim et al., 2016b; Sundström et al., 21 2012; Benskin et al., 2009). Excretion has been observed in urine and feces, with renal excretion 22 being the most prominent route. Other studies have only indirect observation of excretion through 23 the decreasing amounts of PFHxS in the serum over time. As PFHxS is not metabolized, decreases in 24 serum concentration after the distribution phase were attributed to excretion, assuming a constant 25 serum:tissue ratio. As noted above, the distribution phase may not be complete after a relatively 26 short time given the shifts in liver: serum ratio observed over 50 days (Huang et al., 2019a). To 27 quantify the impact of such a shift on estimated excretion would require a PBPK model for PFHxS 28 that accounts for the time-dependence in specific tissue volumes and distribution, which is not in 29 the realm of available science. Since the extended time-dependent distribution appears to be 30 confined to the liver, the analysis based on empirical evaluation of excretion was still assumed to 31 provide a sufficient approximation for dosimetric extrapolation. 32 In animal studies, urinary excretion was greater than fecal excretion. There was a strong 33 sex-dependence in rats and mice in renal excretion with female rats excreting more of the total

- 1 dose in urine. Specifically, <u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u> reported 15.9% of the initial IV dose was excreted in
- 2 urine and 1.3% of the dose was excreted in feces in male rats and 39.1% of the dose was excreted in
- 3 urine and 3.1% of the dose was excreted in feces in female rats after 14 days. Similarly, after an oral
- 4 dose, in male rats 18.5% of the dose was excreted in urine and 2.8% in feces, while in female rats
- 5 36.8% of the dose was excreted in urine and 3.3% in feces. In another study <u>Kim et al. (2016b)</u>,
- 6 reported that female rats excreted 28.02% of an IV dose in urine after 14 days while male rats
- 7 excreted 8.26% of the dose in urine after 72 days. <u>Sundström et al. (2012)</u> reported that twenty-
- 8 four hours after an IV dose, female rats excreted 13.28% of the dose, while male rats excreted
- 9 0.70% of the dose.
- 10 In mice, the total dose excreted in 24 hours was dose dependent, with 0.882% of a 1 mg/kg
- dose and 1.654% of a 20 mg/kg dose excreted in males and 0.317% of a 1 mg/kg dose and 2.552%
- 12 of a 20 mg/kg dose excreted in females (<u>Sundström et al., 2012</u>). The lower excretion in female
- 13 versus male mice for the 1 mg/kg dose was the only situation with a greater male rodent excretion
- 14 (<u>Sundström et al., 2012</u>). Urinary excretion was slower in monkeys, with 0.102% of an IV dose
- excreted in urine in 24 hours in male monkeys and 0.055% of the dose in female monkeys
- 16 (<u>Sundström et al., 2012</u>). Unlike rodents, there was not a clear difference between monkey sexes in
- 17 the amount of urinary excretion.
- 18 In addition to observations in excreta, multiple studies also estimated the rate of decrease
- in serum or plasma levels of PFHxS in the form of a half-life or clearance (CL) in rats (<u>Huang et al.</u>,
- 20 <u>2019a; Kim et al., 2018b; Kim et al., 2016b; Sundström et al., 2012; Benskin et al., 2009</u>). While all of
- 21 these studies appear to have been conducted with appropriate quality, there is significant variation
- in the results. For example, <u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u> estimated a CL of 228 mL/kg-day in female rats after
- an intravenous (IV) dose of 4 mg/kg, while <u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u> estimated a CL of 46 mL/kg-day in
- 24 female rats after an oral dose of 4 mg/kg. Despite the significant variability in the results between
- 25 studies, routes of exposure, and to an extent, doses of PFHxS, a quite consistent result is that the CL
- 26 in male rats is about an order of magnitude lower than female rats, and so the subsequent analysis
- 27 evaluates parameters for male and female rats separately.
- 28 An issue found in the PK data is that for some studies that used both IV and oral doses, the 29 blood AUC was higher after the oral dose than after the same dose given IV, which contradicts 30 classical PK analysis. For example, given doses of 4 mg/kg <u>Kim et al. (2016b)</u> reported an AUC 31 almost twice as great after oral dosing than after IV dosing in female rats, and Huang et al. (2019a) 32 reported an AUC 40% higher after oral dosing than after IV. By classical PK analysis one expects 33 that only a fraction of an oral dose will be absorbed but that the subsequent distribution and 34 elimination are otherwise identical to what is observed after IV dosing. In that case, the AUC after 35 oral dosing would be less than or equal to the AUC after IV dosing, to the extent that there is limited 36 oral bioavailability. A key assumption in this classical analysis is that distribution and elimination 37 are independent of the exposure route, and EPA interpreted these discordant empirical results as 38 suggestive that this assumption is incorrect. EPA's analysis of PK data supported this possibility,

Toxicological Review of Perfluorohexanesulfonic Acid and Related Salts 1 with a trend of greater clearance following IV exposure compared to gavage in female rats (see 2 3.1.6 Empirical Pharmacokinetic Analysis). The mechanistic explanation for this difference is not 3 obvious. Excretion could be greater after IV dosing if, immediately after dosing, a smaller 4 proportion of PFHxS is bound to tissue phospholipids and serum proteins compared with the oral 5 dosing scenario. This could occur if equilibration between bound and free PFHxS takes some time. 6 Absorption from the GI tract is slower and PFHxS first passes through the liver (where a significant 7 fraction is retained) before systemic distribution, which would allow for equilibration between free 8 and bound states as PFHxS enters the blood. Thus, a higher fraction of PFHxS could have been 9 bound when first reaching general circulation after oral dosing than after IV dosing, such that the 10 urinary excretion after oral dosing was slower. A similar mechanistic explanation for differences in 11 protein binding is that passage through the acidic environment of the stomach results in a greater 12 proportion of the PFHxS anion, which could facilitate binding and thus limit excretion compared to 13 IV exposure. 14 Because the toxicological bioassays that will be interpreted with the PK model used oral 15 administration, it was considered clearly preferable that the PK parameters used should reflect that 16 route of exposure. Given the oral-IV discrepancies noted above, only results from oral PK 17 experiments were evaluated for rats and mice. Key PK parameters from these oral PK experiments 18 are listed in Table 3-3. 19 A factor to be noted in Table 3-3 and discussed previously was that the data of Huang et al. 20 (2019a) indicate higher CL in male and female rats given a dose of 32 mg/kg compared with 4 and 21 16 mg/kg. While the difference was not indicated as statistically significant, it was consistent with a 22 mechanism of saturable renal resorption (Weaver et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2009) and with the end-23 of-study serum concentration data shown in Figure 3-1 (NTP, 2019). Comparing results for the 24 lower two doses, the CL estimated by <u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u> for 16 mg/kg in female rats was 25% 25 higher than that estimated at 4 mg/kg and the CL for 16 mg/kg in male rats was 19% higher than 26 that estimated at 4 mg/kg. Although not statistically significant, this was interpreted as likewise 27 consistent with some dose-dependence. On the other hand, the CL reported for female rats at 32 28 mg/kg by <u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u> was below that reported by <u>Kim et al. (2016b)</u> at 4 mg/kg and the CL 29 for male rats at 32 mg/kg by Huang et al. (2019a) was below that estimated from the results of 30 Benskin et al. (2009) presumably due to inter-study variability. Hence, subsequent PK analyses 31 included data for all dose levels from Huang et al. (2019a).

32 Overall mean CL values and confidence intervals for male and female rats, mice, and 33 monkeys were obtained by Bayesian PK analysis of all the oral PK data for each sex of rodents and

34 the IV PK data for each sex of monkeys (summary in in Section 3.1.6, analysis details provided in

35 Appendix E).

Citation	Dose (mg/kg)	CL ^a (mL/kg-d)	n
Male	rats		
Benskin et al. (2009)	0.03	9.85 ^b	7
<u>Kim et al. (2016b)</u>	4	7.15 5.71 (5.46–5.69)	5
<u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u>	10	6.65 6.58 (3.34–9.68)	5
	4	4.82 5.37 (4.61–6.14)	3c
<u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u>	16	5.74 5.91 (5.09–6.75)	3c
	32	9.02 9.74 (8.47–11.03)	3°
Population mean		7.15 (3.73–10.26)	
Female	rats		
<u>Kim et al. (2016b)</u>	4	124.8 117.8 (110.7–125.3)	5
Kim et el. (2018b)	1	81.1 83.02 (77.22–89.38)	5
	4	65.3 106.3 (98.58–113.8)	5
	4	46.1 50.14 (45.03–55.01)	3c
<u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u>	16	59.0 61.36 (55.58–67.17)	3c
	32	92.2 94.54 (85.43–103.3)	3c
Population mean		84.10 (64.72–103.8)	
Male M	Лice		
Sundetröm et al. (2012)	1		4
	20		4
Population mean		3.86 (3.27–4.41)	
Female	mice		
Sundetröm et al. (2012)	1		4
	20		4
Population mean		3.18 (2.83–3.52)	
Male mo	onkeys		
Sundström et al. (2012)	10	1.33 ± 0.12 1.39 (0.94–1.83)	3
Female m	onkeys		

Table 3-3. Summary of estimated clearance values in animals

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Citation	Dose (mg/kg)	CL ^a (mL/kg-d)	n
Sundström et al. (2012)	10	1.93 ± 0.41 2.12 (1.81–2.44)	3

Only oral exposure results are shown for rats because there were discrepancies between oral and IV data that could not be resolved and the oral route was used in the bioassays evaluated for toxicity. Only oral dosimetry data were available for mice and only IV dosimetry data were available for monkeys (results shown; (<u>Sundström et al., 2012</u>)).

^aValues in italics are mean (90% credible interval) from Bayesian analysis (details in Appendix E).

^bCalculated from reported half-life ($T_{0.5}$) for n-PFHxS as CL = ln(2)*Vd/ $T_{0.5}$ using the geometric mean of Vd values for male rats listed in Table 3-1. Serum time-course data were not available from <u>Benskin et al. (2009)</u>, so results from this study were not used in the Bayesian analysis.

^cNumber of rats per time point, but each rat had blood taken at no more than two time points, so the total number of rats used per dose level where much higher (<u>Huang et al., 2019a</u>).

1 While the results summarized in Table 3-3 were obtained by empirical analysis for total 2 clearance, it is worth noting the fraction of PFHxS eliminated in feces reported by Kim et al. (2018b) 3 was used as a means of estimating fecal clearance in humans. These data were used to estimate 4 total clearance for studies where renal clearance was measured and were deemed most 5 appropriate as primate and human-specific data were unavailable. The ratio of average PFHxS 6 excretion in feces versus urine was 8.2% and 7.9% in male and female rats, respectively, after IV 7 dosing and 15.1% and 9.0%, respectively, after oral dosing (Kim et al., 2018b). The higher fraction 8 eliminated in feces after oral dosing was attributed in part to incomplete absorption by that route. 9 Therefore, an average value of 8% from the IV data was used for extrapolation to humans. 10 The excretion of PFHxS has been observed in humans both directly through measurement 11 of PFHxS in urine and indirectly through the observation of changes in serum or plasma 12 concentrations over time. Changes in serum or plasma concentrations are informative of excretion 13 because PFHxS is not metabolized, thus any observations of decreasing concentrations in blood 14 after the distribution of the chemical were attributed to excretion. Most observations were within 15 populations with higher exposure than the general population, either workers in fluorochemical production (Fu et al., 2016; Gao et al., 2015; Olsen et al., 2007), workers at a fishery where the 16 17 waters were contaminated with PFAS (Zhou et al., 2014), or with increased exposure via 18 contaminated drinking water (Li et al., 2018; Worley et al., 2017). For measures of clearance and

- 19 half-life, geometric means were presented unless otherwise specified because geometric means are
- 20 less influenced by extreme values that are common in these skewed distributions.

Humans

Half-life estimates

- 21 Four studies reported half-life values for PFHxS based on observations of decreasing serum
- 22 levels in individual subjects at multiple time points after decreased exposure, either due to
- 23 retirement after occupational exposure (<u>Olsen et al., 2007</u>), replacement of the foam used by
- firefighters (<u>Nilsson et al., 2022</u>) or to the introduction of drinking water filtration at an

1 occupational site (Li et al., 2022b; Li et al., 2018). Li et al. (2022b) is a follow-up analysis of the 2 population evaluated by Li et al. (2018). All four studies, the Nilsson et al. study and the Olsen et al. 3 study fit the data for each person separately. Several plots in <u>Olsen et al. (2007)</u> showed declines in 4 serum levels over time that were very close to log-linear (i.e., showed negligible positive curvature), 5 which is suggestive of little effect of ongoing exposure for those subjects. However, Li et al. (2022b) 6 obtained a shorter half-life using data collected between six months and one year after the end of 7 exposure (mean $t_{1/2}$ = 3.85 years) compared to using data collected 1-2.5 years after the end of 8 exposure (mean $t_{1/2}$ = 4.33 years) or 2.5-4.5 years after the end of exposure (mean $t_{1/2}$ = 4.62 9 years). Positive curvature in a serum time-course plot after a decrease in exposure (for example 10 retirement), which is indicated by these results from Li et al. (2022b), is evidence of background 11 exposure, as can be observed by examining Eq. 2 in (Bartell, 2012). The differences among half-lives 12 values for the time periods of evaluation reported by Li et al. (2022b), less than 20%, are not 13 statistically significant, however. Li et al. (2018) reported a mean half-life of 7.4 years in males 14 (n = 20) and 4.7 years in females (n = 30) aged 15–50 years old while <u>Li et al. (2022b)</u> reported a 15 median (5th, 95th percentile) half-life of 5.4 (2.34, 9.29) years (n = 114). Olsen et al. (2007) reported 16 a half-life of 8.5 years in their cohort, which consisted of 2 females and 24 males at retirement. 17 The population of Li et al. (2022b) included children and the mean half-life for those 18 participants 1–14 years of age was 3.01 years compared to 5.26 years for participants 15–50 years 19 of age and 6.41 years in participants over 50 years. The much lower apparent half-life in the 1-1420 year old group is almost certainly the result of PFHxS dilution into the growing bodies of the youth. 21 The intermediate half-life for participants 15–50 years of age may be partly attributed to the 22 difference between males (mean 5.39 years) and females (mean 4.48 years) which correlates with 23 the expected higher clearance due to menstrual fluid loss for women in that age range. This 24 difference of 17% in half-life is in contrast to minimal differences of less than 2% between males 25 and females aged 1–14 and less than 3.7% between males and females over age 50. 26 Nilsson et al. (2022) analyzed PFHxS concentrations in firefighters after PFHxS was 27 removed from the formulation of the foam used for fire suppression. (97.5% of the recruited 28 population were male and the exact number of women in each sub-cohort was not reported, so the 29 results will be assumed to represent males.) The subjects had a range of serum concentrations at 30 the start of the study that overlapped with those found in the general population, which would 31 come from other exposure sources that are presumed to be shared by the study subjects. Since the 32 level of these other exposure sources is not precisely known and likely varies over time, the 33 contribution from them represents an uncertainty that would particularly impact half-life estimates 34 of subjects with initial concentrations in the general population range. Therefore, EPA chose to use 35 the results reported for only those subjects who's initial PFHxS concentration was greater than the 36 95th percentile of the general population, which ranged from just above that 95th percentile to over 37 20 times higher. Nilsson et al. (2022) reported a mean (95% CI) half-life of 7.7 (7.1, 8.3) years for 38 this group without background subtraction and a mean (95% CI) half-life of 6.7 (6.2, 7.2) years after

subtracting age-specific average concentrations reported for the general Australian population. The
 half-life calculation assumes a simple exponential decay, which would only be accurate with no
 ongoing exposure or if background exposure is constant, allowing it to be addressed by simple

- 4 subtraction, and is reasonable estimated based on results from other study populations, albeit from
- 5 the same country. The modest difference in the mean half-lives obtained with and without
- 6 background subtraction for the highly exposed group indicates that background exposure had some
- 7 impact on the observed changes in serum levels for that group, but less than 15%. Hence, the value
- 8 obtained for the highly exposed group with subtraction is considered to be appropriate for
- 9 describing the elimination of the PFHxS from occupational exposure of this cohort with a minimal
- 10 level of uncertainty due to the assumptions involved.
- 11 <u>Worley et al. (2017)</u> estimated a population half-life by fitting a PK model to population

12 mean serum concentrations at two timepoints with an estimated ingestion rate for that population.

- 13 Because <u>Worley et al. (2017)</u> did not evaluate individual elimination, only measured serum levels at
- 14 two time points, and relied on an estimated exposure level, their study was considered to have
- 15 greater uncertainty than the other studies, with results that are more difficult to interpret in terms
- 16 of being a mean or geometric mean of individual values. In particular, it is possible that the drinking
- 17 water concentration was not constant as was assumed by <u>Worley et al. (2017)</u> or that there were
- 18 other significant sources of ongoing exposure. Because of these methodological concerns, the
- 19 results of <u>Worley et al. (2017)</u> were not used in estimating an overall average clearance for humans,
- 20 although it is noted that the corresponding clearance (0.031 mL/kg-day) is identical to the
- estimated geometric mean across other studies (see Table 3-4).
- As described in Volume of Distribution (in Section 3.1.2), <u>Chiu et al. (2022)</u> applied a one compartment PK model in a Bayesian analysis of human serum concentrations matched with
 drinking water (DW) concentrations of several PFAS, including PFHxS, from multiple community
- 25 studies. Since the overall approach and parameter estimation method were considered sufficiently
- sound, the resulting clearance was combined with other published human parameters in estimating
- 27 overall population clearance and volume of distribution (Table 3-4).

Clearance rates estimated from half-lives

28 The clearance rate for a single-compartment PK model is related to the half-life and volume29 of distribution by the following equation:

30 $CL = ln(2) \cdot Vd/T_{0.5}$

31 The approach for Bayesian analysis of PK data described in Appendix E was used to re-

- 32 analyze the monkey PK data from <u>Sundström et al. (2012</u>), resulting in mean volumes of
- distribution of 278 mL/kg for males and 228 mL/kg for females, for which the average is 253
- 34 mL/kg. Using either the sex-specific Vd for corresponding segregated human studies, or the average

1 Vd for results from mixed populations, values for total human clearance were estimated from the 2 half-life values: 3 • Li et al. (2018): 0.071 mL/kg-day in males and 0.092 mL/kg-day in females (same 4 participants as Li et al. (2022b)). • Li et al. (2022b): 0.098 mL/kg-day in male participants aged 15–50 years, 0.064 mL/kg-day 5 6 in females aged 15-50 years and 0.075 mL/kg-day in males and females aged > 50 years 7 (participants below age 15 not included due to impact of growth) 8 • <u>Nilsson et al. (2022)</u>: 0.079 mL/kg-day in adults (age 22–82, 97%–98% males). 9 • Olsen et al. (2007): the clearance for each subject was calculated as described above for the 10 24 men and 2 women in the study. 11 • The geometric mean (arithmetic mean) of the resulting values is 0.072 (0.077) mL/kg-12 day in males. 13 • Clearance in the two women ranked second and third lowest in the entire set. 14 • Worley et al. (2017): 0.031 mL/kg-day in men and women 15 These total clearance values also incorporate routes of clearance in addition to renal and menstrual 16 clearance, which could consist of fecal clearance, shedding of skin, and clearance due to childbirth 17 and lactation, to the extent that these occurred in the study populations. Urinary clearance estimates 18 Four studies directly evaluated urinary clearance of PFHxS in humans from matched serum 19 and urine concentrations (Yao et al., 2023; Fu et al., 2016; Gao et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2013b). Of 20 these studies, the ones with occupational cohorts Gao et al. (2015) and Fu et al. (2016) had much 21 greater exposure than the general population (Yao et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2013b). Yao et al. 22 (2023) estimated clearance in infants, while all other studies were in adults. Their results are as 23 follows: 24 Fu et al. (2016) measured serum and urine PFHxS concentrations in matched samples from 25 occupationally exposed workers, and while they converted the results to half-lives for reporting, 26 the paper states that Vd = 230 mL/kg was used for the estimate. Given a reported geometric mean 27 (GM) half-life of 19.9 years in men, the corresponding clearance is 0.022 mL/kg-day. The GM 28 urinary clearance for women in the study (reported in the text) was 0.024 mL/kg-day. That the 29 overall population GM was reported to be 0.023 mL/kg-day increases confidence in the CL in men 30 back-calculated here (0.022 mL/kg-day). 31 Gao et al. (2015) did not distinguish between sexes but did distinguish between isomers of 32 PFHxS and found much greater clearance for the branched isomer, GM = 0.18 mL/kg-day, compared 33 with the linear (n-) isomer, GM = 0.04 mL/kg-day, with an overall clearance GM of 0.05 mL/kg-day

34 for total PFHxS, in a mixed population of men and women. The values for n- and total are between

those estimated from the half-lives of <u>Li et al. (2018)</u> and <u>Olsen et al. (2007)</u> (0.06-0.07 mL/kg-day)

1 and the urinary clearance values estimated by Fu et al. (2016) and Zhang et al. (2013b) (0.02-0.03 2 mL/kg-day). 3 Zhang et al. (2013b) obtained GM values of 0.018 for men and older women and 0.028 for 4 younger women, which is in the range of total clearance estimated from Worley et al. (2017). That 5 the GM values of <u>Zhang et al. (2013b</u>) are within an order of magnitude of the overall population 6 GM provides confidence that the true value is within an order of magnitude of those reported. 7 These route-specific clearance estimates do not include fecal elimination. After IV dosing 8 Kim et al. (2018b) measured fecal/urinary excretion rates of 8.2% and 7.9% in male and female 9 rats, respectively. Therefore, total excretion for Fu et al. (2016), Gao et al. (2015), and Zhang et al. 10 (2013b) was estimated as 1.08 times) the estimated urinary excretion rates (i.e., 100% of urinary 11 excretion plus 8% of urinary excretion for fecal clearance) for the purpose of determining an 12 overall total clearance in humans. The value estimated from a rat study was deemed appropriate as 13 there is no human or primate data on the relative amount of fecal and urinary excretion. There is 14 uncertainty in assuming that relative amount of fecal and urinary excretion in human is similar to 15 rats, that could be reduced by additional relevant human or primate data. 16 Yao et al. (2023) estimated urinary clearance of PFHxS and other PFAS in infants, based on 17 the ratio of the estimated urinary excretion rate to estimated cord serum concentration. Cord blood 18 was collected at delivery and the concentration multiplied by two to account for the serum-to-19 whole-blood ratio. Urine was collected in disposable diapers collected over the first postnatal week 20 and later extracted for measurements. The methods do not specify how a daily average urine 21 concentration was then determined from the set of samples for each infant, but it is presumed that 22 the extracted urine from all diapers collected during the week was mixed prior to analysis, resulting 23 in a "mixing cup" average concentration for the week. The resulting concentration was then 24 multiplied by a reported average urine elimination rate in infants of 48 mL/kg-day, rather than 25 using the actual urine volume collected. Since the serum concentrations and resulting urinary 26 elimination of breast-fed infants are expected to increase significantly after child-birth based on 27 reported breast milk: maternal serum distribution and breast milk ingestion rates, while the cord 28 blood concentration might only match the infant blood concentration at the moment of birth, the 29 resulting estimate of infant clearance is likely to be an over-prediction of the true clearance rate. 30 From a population of 20 infants the median (15th, 75th percentile) urinary clearance was 0.270 31 (0.108, 0.781) mL/kg-day, with a mean value 0.956 mL/kg-day, i.e., an order of magnitude higher 32 than the rate estimated in adults. The sample distribution is clearly skewed, with a maximum 33 estimated value of 11.7 mL/kg-day perhaps due to the urine sample timing issue discussed here. 34 While glomerular filtration is still developing in neonates, the expression of renal OAT1 and OAT3 is 35 also below adult levels (Bueters et al., 2020), and urinary excretion of PFNA will depend on both of 36 these opposing factors in a manner that cannot be quantitatively predicted. Given these 37 uncertainties, the results of this study will not be used quantitatively, though they indicate that 38 neonates will have lower serum levels of PFNA per unit exposure than adults.

Sex differences in human PFHxS PK

1 Zhang et al. (2013b) shows a small quantitative difference in urinary clearance between 2 men and older women and younger women (i.e., 0.01 mL/kg-day). It is possible that this difference 3 derives from differences in renal expression of renal transporters between men and women 4 (Murray, 2017), but it could also be due to random inter-subject variability, given the overall range 5 of clearance observed across studies, and based on the overall range of clearance in each group, the 6 difference is not statistically significant. Hence, there does not appear to be a systematic difference 7 between men and women in the urinary clearance of PFHxS, except to the extent that menstrual 8 blood loss accounts for the difference reported by Li et al. (2018) and in participants between 15 9 and 50 years of age reported by Li et al. (2022b). However, a menstrual loss term of 0.033 mL/kg-10 day was used for EPA's analysis for women of reproductive age, based on the analysis of Verner and 11 Longnecker (2015) of corresponding blood and fluid loss reported by Hallberg et al. (1966). 12 Applying the Vd values estimated from male and female monkeys (Sundström et al., 2012) to men 13 and women respectively also led to some difference in the corresponding half-life estimates. 14 Zhang et al. (2013b) calculated a rate for menstrual clearance based on a study of PFOA and 15 PFOS that estimated menstrual blood loss using measurements of the blood quantity excreted 16 (Harada et al., 2005). This estimate of menstrual blood loss was not specific to PFOA or PFOS and is 17 also applicable to PFHxS. However, Harada et al. (2005) cite Hallberg et al. (1966) as the source for 18 a menstrual blood loss of 70 mL per cycle, but according to Hallberg, "The mean value of the 19 menstrual blood loss was 43.4 ± 2.3 mL in the entire series" [of experimental groups] and "the 20 upper normal limit of the menstrual blood loss is situated between 60–80 mL." Thus, 70 mL/cycle 21 appears to be closer to an upper bound for healthy women. More recently Verner and Longnecker 22 (2015) reviewed Hallberg et al. (1966), evaluated both blood loss and total fluid loss from 23 menstruation and concluded that the fluid lost in addition to blood was likely to be serum, with the 24 corresponding serum binding proteins and associated PFAS. Including this serum loss and 25 assuming 12.5 menstrual cycles per year, Verner and Longnecker (2015) estimated an average 26 yearly total serum loss of 868 mL (69.4 mL/cycle or 72.3 mL/month). Assuming an average human 27 female body weight of 72 kg (mean value for women 21-30 years of age from Table 8-5 of (U.S. EPA, 28 2011a)), the corresponding average rate of clearance is 868 mL/(365 day)/(72 kg) = 0.033 mL/kg29 day. 30 Lorber et al. (2015) examined the effects of ongoing blood loss through menstruation or 31 through frequent blood withdrawal as a medical treatment. Male patients with frequent blood 32 withdrawal had serum concentrations 40%-50% less than males from the general population for 33 the chemicals observed in the study (PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFHxS, and PFOS). Female patients also 34 had a lower serum concentration than females from the general public. The trend in relation to the 35 number of recent blood draws or in the recency of the last blood draw was not examined for PFHxS. 36 It was examined for PFOA and PFOS, and significant associations were observed in PFOS only. This 37 study's analysis of the impact of menstrual blood loss was purely a modeling exercise, which was

- 1 performed for PFOA and PFOS. The authors estimated a monthly blood loss of 35 mL (which is close
- 2 to the median loss of 43.4 mL reported by <u>Hallberg et al. (1966)</u>), 50% of which was serum,
- 3 resulting in a clearance of 17.5 mL/month, or 0.0081 mL/kg-day in a 72 kg woman. This value is
- 4 also chemical-independent and could be applied to PFHxS instead of the menstrual clearance
- 5 estimated by <u>Verner and Longnecker (2015)</u>.
- 6 Jain and Ducatman (2022) compared serum levels of PFHxS and other PFAS in US females
- 7 and males as a function of age. While serum PFHxS concentrations were similar at age 12–13 and
- 8 after age 55, they declined in females compared to males between these ages until the
- 9 concentrations in females were approximately one half of those in males between ages 30 and 45.
- 10 Qualitatively similar results, though with a smaller magnitude, were seen for PFOA, PFOS and PFNA
- 11 (<u>Jain and Ducatman, 2022</u>). Similarly, <u>Li et al. (2022b</u>) estimated a shorter half-life (corresponding
- 12 to more rapid clearance) for females than males 15–50 years of age, but not for 1–14 years of age or
- 13 over 50 years of age, although the difference between males and females aged 5–50 is only about
- 14 15%. These results are strongly suggestive that menstrual clearance is a significant factor in the
- 15 clearance of these PFAS. Further, the results of <u>Jain and Ducatman (2022)</u> that for the US population
- 16 (rather than a highly exposed Swedish cohort) menstrual clearance results in an approximate
- 17 doubling of total clearance, supporting use of the menstrual clearance rate of 0.033 mL/kg-day

18 estimated from the results of <u>Verner and Longnecker (2015)</u> above.

- As mentioned in the distribution section (see Section 3.1.2), PFHxS has been observed in breast milk, so lactation can act as an excretion route for a nursing mother. One study that examined the association between maternal serum concentrations and the length of breastfeeding and found a weak, nonsignificant inverse association. There were stronger inverse associations for the other PFAS studied, PFOA, PFOS and PFNA, suggesting that there may be less transfer of PFHxS
- to breast milk than other PFAS, or that the variation between people in serum level is large
- 25 compared with the impact of breastfeeding.

Dosimetry of linear versus branched isomers

Gao et al. (2015) is the only PK study to provide separate estimates of elimination for linear
 versus branched isomers in humans. With the clearance of the branched isomer being so much
 higher than the linear, the body burden is expected to be much higher for the linear than the
 branched isomer, given equal exposures. Using the clearance for the sum of PFHxS accounts for the
 relative prevalence of the different isomers in the serum of the participants. Therefore, the result
 for mixed or total PFHxS from Gao et al. (2015) will be used in combination with the results of the
 other PK studies. The result is interpreted as reasonably health-protective across all forms.

Summary of human PFHxS excretion

A summary of the clearance values reported or estimated from each of the adult humanelimination studies is provided in Table 3-4.

Study (basis)	Clearance (mL/kg-d)	N	Notes
Chiu et al. (2022) (serum levels vs. drinking water exposure	0.068	41	Geometric mean; 37 individuals and 4 population mean results
Fu et al. (2016) (urinary clearance with fecal estimatea)	0.025	207	Geometric mean; 136 men, 71 women
Gao et al. (2015) (urinary clearance with fecal estimate ^a)	0.054	36	Geometric mean for total linear and branched PFHxS; result based on 57 paired samples from 22 men, 14 women
Li et al. (2018) (empirical half-life)	0.071	20	Men aged 15–50; CL calculated from mean half-life using Vd = 278 mL/kg
Li et al. (2018) (empirical half-life)	0.059	30	Women aged 15–50; CL calculated from mean half- life using Vd = 228 mL/kg and subtracting 0.033 mL/kg-d for menstrual clearance (<u>Verner and</u> Longnecker, 2015)
Olsen et al. (2007) (empirical half-life)	0.072	26	Geometric mean of individual clearance values, calculated from reported half-lives as described above; 24 men, 2 women (all ≥59 yrs)
Li et al. (2022b) (empirical half-life)	0.098	22	Males, ages 15–50; CL calculated from mean half- life using Vd = 278 mL/kg
Li et al. (2022b) (empirical half-life)	0.064	30	Females, ages 15–50; CL calculated from mean half-life using Vd = 228 mL/kg and subtracting 0.033 mL/kg-d for menstrual clearance (<u>Verner</u> and Longnecker, 2015)
Li et al. (2022b) (empirical half-life)	0.075	33	Age > 50; CL calculated from mean half-life using Vd = 253 mL/kg
Nilsson et al. (2022) (empirical half-life)	0.079	99	Age 22–82, 97–98% males; CL calculated from mean half-life using Vd = 278 mL/kg
Worley et al. (2017) (half-life fitted for PK modelb)	0.031	45	Clearance calculated using Vd = 230 mL/kg (value used in the PK model); 22 men, 23 women
Zhang et al. (2013b) (urinary clearance with fecal estimate ^a)	0.030	19	Geometric mean; women ≤50 yrs
Zhang et al. (2013b) (urinary clearance with fecal estimate ^a)	0.019	64	Geometric mean; all men and women >50 yrs
Weighted geometric mean	0.041 ^{c,d}	447	Exp Σ[log(CL _i)·N _i] / Σ[N _i]

^aReported urinary clearance was multiplied by 1.08 based on observed fecal/urinary elimination in rats after IV dosing (<u>Kim et al., 2018b</u>).

^bHalf-life determined from fitting PK model to geometric mean of serum concentrations measured in 2010 and 2016, accounting for estimated ongoing exposure.

^cCalculated for all studies except <u>Worley et al. (2017)</u> due to methodological issues identified for that study and <u>Li</u> <u>et al. (2018)</u> since data for that population are included in the data of <u>Li et al. (2022b)</u> (see "Half-life estimates").

^dVariance around this value can be described by a weighted geometric standard deviation of 1.6, which is a multiplicative factor, or a weighted geometric coefficient of variance of 22%.

1 In Table 3-4, the subset of clearance values estimated from empirical half-lives (Li et al., 2 2022b; Li et al., 2018; Olsen et al., 2007) are fairly similar to each other after adjustment for 3 (subtraction of) menstrual blood loss, and similar to the results of Chiu et al. (2022), but are higher 4 than most of the urinary clearance values and the results of Worley et al. (2017), which were based 5 on exposure estimated from drinking water concentrations measured at one time point and may 6 not reflect higher exposure concentrations in preceding years. While Kim et al. (2018b) observed 7 fecal excretion of PFHxS in rats to be only 8% of urinary excretion after IV exposure, it is possible 8 that fecal excretion and other routes such as shedding of dead skin contribute enough to the overall 9 clearance to account for the two- to three-fold difference between those estimated from empirical 10 half-lives (Li et al., 2022b; Li et al., 2018; Olsen et al., 2007) and the estimates of urinary clearance. 11 In this case, the weighted geometric mean clearance shown in Table 3-4 will underpredict overall 12 clearance to that extent. However, it also possible that the empirical half-lives reflect urinary 13 clearance under conditions of saturated renal resorption, which is not representative of the general population at lower exposure levels, but <u>Chiu et al. (2022)</u> attempted to exclude very highly 14 15 exposed individuals (i.e., with occupational exposure) and also obtained a relatively high clearance. 16 Data on how clearance may vary as a function of age (i.e., in rat pups or children compared 17 with adults) and during pregnancy are mostly lacking. Li et al. (2022b) did estimate the half-life in 18 individuals 1–14 years of age and found it to be about one half of that in older individuals (3 years 19 vs. 6 years), but this is an apparent half-life that likely includes the impact of growth. As discussed 20 above, Yao et al. (2023) estimated urinary clearance of PFHxS in infants to be almost an order of 21 magnitude higher than the estimated clearance rates in adults, 0.27 vs. 0.036 mL/kg-day, but the 22 approach used may have over-estimated the rate. Renal excretion varies in proportion to body 23 surface area with age over most of the lifetime but is still developing in newborns along with 24 expression of organic anion transporters (OATs) (Bueters et al., 2020) that are associated with 25 renal resorption of PFAS, and the volume of distribution may also vary with age. In the preceding 26 section, "Distribution in fetal tissues and children," the possible effect of changes in extracellular 27 water and blood volume as a fraction of BW in children was discussed. Finally, the absence of a 28 reliable pharmacokinetic model which can account for these factors and the likely differences in 29 accumulation of PFHxS in humans exposed chronically versus in experimental animals during relatively short-term health effects studies creates uncertainty in simpler pharmacokinetic 30 31 extrapolation based on clearance. Nevertheless, the results of Jain and Ducatman (2022) indicate 32 strongly that menstrual fluid loss creates an approximately two-fold difference in clearance 33 between women of reproductive age and men, which is quite consistent with the weighted 34 geometric mean clearance of 0.041 mL/kg-day (in the absence of menstrual fluid clearance) and the 35 average menstrual fluid clearance of 0.033 mL/kg-day from Verner and Longnecker (2015) and the 36 limited data available for neonates and children indicate that their clearance is higher than adults. 37 While the range of values in Table 3-4 represent a range of uncertainty of five-fold, given 38 the number of estimates it seems unlikely that the true clearance in humans would be lower than

1 the minimum value of 0.019 mL/kg-day from <u>Zhang et al. (2013b</u>). The weighted geometric mean

- 2 clearance of 0.041 mL/kg-day is 2.2 times higher than this minimum and based on the overall
- 3 evidence was considered sound for use in estimating human equivalent doses (HEDs) for points of
- 4 departure (PODs) estimated from animal toxicity studies or blood concentrations estimated from
- 5 epidemiological evaluations, with an additional 0.033 mL/kg-day for menstrual fluid loss in women
- 6 of reproductive age.

7 The clearance values shown in Table 3-4 were compared with species-specific glomerular

8 filtration rate (GFR), with and without adjustment for serum protein binding, to evaluate the

9 possible role of those mechanisms. Considering the time period of <u>Davies and Morris (1993</u>), this

10 comparison used their value for average human BW, 70 kg, which results in an estimated GFR/BW

of 2.57 L/kg-day in humans, 83,000 times greater than the empirically estimated geometric mean

12 clearance for humans. <u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u> reported an average PFHxS free fractions (f_{free}) of 0.00025

13 in humans, which led to $GFR \times f_{free} = 0.64 \text{ mL/kg-day}$, which is still almost 16 times greater than the

- geometric mean empirical clearance. Thus, it appears likely that there is significant renal resorptionof PFHxS in humans.
- 16 Comparing the human CL values to those predicted from allometric scaling of mouse and 17 rodent CL values shows that allometric scaling appears to overpredict human clearance rats. BW^{3/4} 18 allometric scaling suggested that CL in an 80 kg human should be 4.2 times lower than in a 0.25 kg 19 rat and 7.2 times lower than in a 30 g mouse. Applying a factor of 4.2 to the population mean CL 20 values for male and female rats in Table 3-3, resulted in predictions of human male CL of 1.7 21 mL/kg-day and female CL of 20 mL/kg-day, one to three orders of magnitude higher than the 22 values estimated from human data in Table 3-4. Likewise using the CL in mice and the allometric 23 factor of 7.2 resulted in an estimated human male CL of 0.54 mL/kg-day and female CL of 0.44 24 mL/kg-day, roughly an order of magnitude higher than observed. Performing this analysis for a 6 25 kg male monkey or a 4 kg female monkey produces a similar overprediction, with extrapolated 26 clearance values of 0.73 and 1.0 mL/kg-day after applying scaling factors of 1.9 and 2.1. In 27 summary, this analysis indicated that use of BW^{3/4} scaling would have led to an overprediction of 28 HEDs (effectively an underprediction of risk) by one to three orders of magnitude, depending on 29 the animal species and sex in which a POD was identified. Hence, the use of BW^{3/4} scaling was 30 avoided for PFHxS, but comparisons of $BW^{3/4}$ scaling to the selected approach (see Section 3.1.6)
- 31 was provided for context.

Excretion Summary

The estimated average clearance values for adult humans are listed in Table 3-5. Since menstrual blood loss was subtracted as appropriate from the data in Table 3-4 when estimating the general, nonspecific clearance in humans, a corresponding rate should be added for women of childbearing age. In particular, the higher estimate of <u>Verner and Longnecker (2015)</u> (0.033 mL/kgday) appears to be consistent with the empirical comparison of PFHxS serum concentrations in men and women (<u>Jain and Ducatman, 2022</u>). This additional term is considered appropriate for

- 1 deriving HEDs for reproductive effects in women. Since newly available data show that maternal
- 2 serum levels remain constant or decline during pregnancy and the early postpartum period, the
- 3 additional clearance term for menstrual loss is also considered appropriate for estimating HEDs for
- 4 effects occuring in-utero or otherwise correlated with maternal serum concentrations measured
- 5 during pregnancy and post-partum.
- 6 However, since the current analysis should protect younger children, men and older
- 7 women, it was considered appropriate not to include menstrual clearance when evaluating
- 8 dosimetry in humans for health effects that can occur at any point in life, even though they may
- 9 have been observed in laboratory animals of reproductive age. This choice follows the typical
- 10 approach when assessing susceptible sub-populations.

Table 3-5. Summary clearance values for humans

Population	Clearance (mL/kg-d)	References
Human geometric mean (general population)	0.041 ^{a,b}	(<u>Chiu et al., 2022; Li et al., 2022b; Nilsson et al., 2022;</u> <u>Fu et al., 2016; Gao et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2013b</u> ; <u>Olsen et al., 2007</u>)
With menstrual fluid loss (women of reproductive age)	0.074	Includes average menstrual fluid loss of 0.033 mL/kg- day from <u>Verner and Longnecker (2015)</u>

^aHuman clearance estimates also depend in part on volumes of distribution estimated for monkeys by <u>Sundström</u> <u>et al. (2012)</u>; does not include estimated clearance due to menstrual fluid loss.

^bMeasurements of urinary clearance only were corrected for estimated fecal/urinary clearance ratio of 1.08 based on observations in rats by <u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u>.

3.1.5. Evaluation of PBPK and PK Modeling

11 The PFAS protocol (Supplemental Information document, Appendix A) recommends the use 12 of scientifically sound and validated physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) models as the 13 preferred approach for dosimetry extrapolation from animals to humans, while allowing for the use 14 of data-informed extrapolations (such as the ratio of serum clearance values) for PFAS that lack a 15 scientifically sound and sufficiently validated PBPK model. If chemical-specific information is not 16 available or too uncertain, the protocol then recommends that doses be scaled allometrically using 17 body weight (BW)^{3/4} methods. Selection from among this hierarchy of decisions considered both 18 the inherent and chemical-specific uncertainty (e.g., data availability) for each approach option. 19 This hierarchy of recommended approaches for cross-species dosimetry extrapolation is consistent 20 with EPA's recommendations on using allometric scaling for the derivation of oral reference doses 21 (U.S. EPA, 2011b). This hierarchy preferentially prioritizes adjustments that result in reduced 22 uncertainty in the dosimetric extrapolation.

- A PBPK model was identified for PFHxS in rats and humans (<u>Kim et al., 2018b</u>). The
- 24 computational code for this model was obtained from the model authors and evaluated for
- consistency with the written description in the published paper, the PK data for PFHxS, known
- 26 physiology, and the accepted practices of PBPK modeling. Unfortunately, several flaws were found

2 impact on model predictions. A much larger issue identified is that the model had only been 3 calibrated to fit the oral PK data for rats and the set of model parameters selected by the model 4 authors to match those data included an oral bioavailability (BA) lower than is otherwise supported 5 by the empirical PK data. For example, the fraction absorbed by the male rat was effectively set to 6 39% in the model when the empirical PK analysis showed 88%–92% bioavailability. Further, when 7 the model was used to simulate the intravenous PK data, data to which a PK model should be 8 calibrated, the parameters were found to be completely inconsistent with these data. Figure 3-3 9 compares results obtained with a replication of the PBPK model, which exactly matches the 10 published PBPK model results for oral dosimetry, to the data and empirical PK fit for a 10 mg/kg IV 11 dose to male rats. 12 The overprediction (approximately three to four times higher than the data for male rats) of 13 the IV data by the <u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u> model indicated that distribution into the body is significantly 14 underpredicted by the model, which was offset in the simulations of oral dosimetry data by use of 15 an unrealistically low oral bioavailability. Initial efforts to refit the model to the data did not 16 produce acceptable fits to both the IV and oral dose PK data and involved changing model 17 assumptions in a way that would require separate experimental validation before use. In particular, to match the observed rate of decline in the blood as well as the observed accumulation in urine

in the model. One flaw, an error in the balance of blood flow through the liver, had only a moderate

- to match the observed rate of decline in the blood as well as the observed accumulation in urineand feces required an assumption of another route of excretion, for which there are no data. It was
- 20 therefore determined that the published model structure and underlying assumptions did not allow
- 21 a sufficiently sound calibration of the model to the PK data, given the currently available
- 22 understanding of PFAS pharmacokinetics.

1


Figure 3-3. Comparison of PFHxS PBPK model predictions to IV dosimetry data (circles) of <u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u> **for a 10 mg/kg dose.** The red, solid line was the result of an empirical PK analysis shown by <u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u> (digitized). EPA's replication of the PBPK model (solid black line) exactly reproduced the PBPK model results of <u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u> for oral dosimetry (results not shown – simulation shown here was for IV dose) hence was considered an accurate reproduction of the model. The blue dashed line shows model results after correction of the blood flow rate exiting the liver. The discrepancy between the PBPK model prediction for a 10 mg/kg dose and the data demonstrated that the published model structure and parameters are very inconsistent with the empirical data, hence that there was a significant flaw in the model.

- 1 Fabrega et al. (2015) developed a PBPK model describing the dosimetry of multiple PFAS in 2 humans, including PFHxS. A concern with this model is that the tissue:blood partition coefficients 3 were estimated by comparing tissue concentrations measured in cadavers with blood 4 concentrations from different (living) subjects, albeit from the same geographic region. Also, the 5 brief description provided for the estimation of the parameters for saturable renal resorption was 6 considered not sufficient to allow for independent reproduction of that process and it was unclear 7 how the two constants can be independently identified from such data. Finally, model results for 8 PFHxS shown by the authors underpredict an epidemiological dataset (Rylander et al., 2009) by 9 about an order of magnitude. Therefore, the model was not considered further for use in this 10 review.
- 11 <u>Verner et al. (2016)</u> developed a coupled classical PK model, wherein single-compartment
- 12 models represented the mother and fetus or child, which incorporated growth of the fetus and
- 13 child, maternal body weight changes, and a time-varying rate of milk intake to account for the
- 14 decline in g/kg-day ingested with the child's age. With parameter samples selected from

distributions by Monte Carlo sampling, maternal exposure levels for individuals from two studies
were selected to match the observed maternal serum concentration at delivery (i.e., given the
sample set of parameter values) and the PFAS concentrations in the mother and child simulated for
the first three years of the child's life. Measured plasma levels in children at 6 months of age were
fairly well predicted, though the model tended to under-predict the plasma levels at age three, with

fairly well predicted, though the model tended to under-predict the plasma levels at age three, with
many observations more than two-fold higher than predicted. A version of the PK model was

- 7 implemented and its ability to predict rat PK data was evaluated as described in Appendix E.2.
- 8 Unfortunately, based on the under-prediction of PFHxS concentrations in three-year-old children
- 9 shown by Verner et al. (2016) and the poor performance of the model in predicting rat PK data
- 10 using parameter values estimated for that species (Appendix E.2), model predictions were not
- 11 considered sufficiently reliable for use in this assessment.
- It is also noted that EPA's high throughput toxicokinetics (httk) computational model
 package (Pearce et al., 2017) predicts dosimetry for PFHxS. However, this model currently does not
 account for the activity of transporters, in particular those involved with renal resorption, so
- 14 account for the activity of transporters, in particular those involved with renarresorption, so
- 15 clearance (in the absence of metabolism) is estimated as the free fraction in blood times the
- 16 glomerular filtration rate. The httk package estimates the half-life of PFHxS in humans to be 38 days
- 17 or 0.11 years, corresponding to CL = 3.9 mL/kg-day (using Vd for female monkeys), over two orders
- 18 of magnitude higher than that estimated from the empirical in vivo human data. Hence, the httk
- **19** model was also not considered further for use in this review.
- 20 Bil et al. (2022) used a classical two-compartment PK model structure to estimate internal 21 dose relative potency factors for liver toxicity observed in male rats for nine PFAS, including PFHxS. 22 Since the PK model parameter estimation was performed separately for each PFAS, only the results 23 for PFHxS need to be discussed here, but it is noted that the objective of the paper was to develop a 24 method for prediction of toxicity from exposure to PFAS mixtures. For, PFHxS, Bil et al. (2022) used 25 the PK data of Huang et al. (2019a), one of the studies included in EPA's analysis, and obtained 26 results for a single compartment (monophasic clearance) with a volume of distribution of 137 27 mL/kg and a half-life of 16.5 days using the data for the 16 mg/kg dose. These values are similar to 28 those reported by Huang et al. (2019a) for that dose (144 mL/kg and 16.9 days, respectively), but 29 somewhat lower than the results of EPA's analysis of multiple data sets including Huang et al. 30 [2019a] (mean values of 217 mL/kg and 21 days). Because EPA's clearance value is obtained from analyzing data from all three dose levels used by Huang et al. (2019a) and data from two other 31 32 studies (Kim et al., 2018b; Kim et al., 2016b), it is considered superior for use in pharmacokinetic 33 extrapolation from animal to human points of departure.
- Sweeney (2022) developed a PBPK model for PFHxS in humans. Model simulations were
 conducted for individuals from 0–70 years of age and results analyzed (compared with data) for
 individuals from 12–70 years of age. The text indicates that an adjustment factor for ingestion in
- 37 children 0–10 years of age was employed, but gestational and lactational exposure are not
- 38 mentioned and pregnancy was not simulated. The model structure and assumptions and

1 adjustments for physiological changes with age appear to be sound and the author has compared 2 model results to a comprehensive set of human PK data. 3 Unfortunately, the model code for <u>Sweeney (2022</u>) contains a mass-balance error in which 4 the unbound fraction in plasma (CAFREE) is calculated as the total amount in plasma (APLAS) 5 divided by the plasma volume, which effectively means that distribution to tissues and urinary 6 elimination are not restricted by the plasma protein binding. If instead one interprets APLAS as 7 only being the amount free in plasma, then the corresponding total amount in plasma 8 (APLAS/FREE) is not included in the mass balance check for the model code. EPA's review of the 9 model code suggested that the variable APLAS is consistent with the total amount in the plasma, not 10 the free amount. For example, the differential equation for APLAS sums all the PFHxS that 11 distributes out of the liver after absorption from the stomach (based on the amount free in the 12 liver), rather than being only assigned the fraction that is free in blood. However, if the total amount 13 in blood is APLAS/FREE, making this correction would add an amount approximately 40 times 14 APLAS to the overall mass balance equation, which would then likely demonstrate an overall mass 15 balance error. 16 It is possible that the mass balance error in <u>Sweeney (2022)</u> is related to the inability of <u>Kim</u> 17 et al. (2018b) to correctly replicate the IV dosimetry in rats, noted above, in that both point to a 18 central assumption that appears to be incorrect. Kim et al. (2018b) correctly calculates the mass 19 balance in the plasma based on the assumption that only the free fraction in the plasma can 20 distribute to tissues, but then fails to predict that tissue distribution after IV dosing. The central 21 model code used by Sweeney (2022) was originally developed by Loccisano et al. (2011), who may 22 have inadvertently introduced the mass balance error in an attempt to correct for an inability of the 23 model to predict tissue distribution and urinary elimination. The resolution of this issue may 24 require relaxing the assumption that the free fraction and bound fraction in the serum are strictly at 25 equilibrium at all times, as opposed to being treated as a dynamic equilibrium with distinct rates of 26 association and dissociation. In the latter case, the rate of distribution to tissues and urinary 27 elimination would be limited by the rate of dissociation, which may be more rapid than the 28 equilibrium fraction free multiplied by the blood flow rate to the tissues (or glomeruli). A 29 mathematical model that incorporates the kinetics of plasma binding and release to describe 30 uptake of drugs by the brain has been previously described by <u>Robinson and Rapoport (1986)</u>, but 31 adaptation of this model to the tissue distribution of PFHxS would require measurement of the 32 separate rates of association and dissociation, data which have not been reported. Hence, 33 appropriate revision of the PBPK models was not possible for use in this assessment. 34 Irrespective of the potential impact of the mass balance error, from Table 1 of Sweeney 35 (2022), the model predicts urine concentrations around 2.5 times higher than Fu et al. (2016) and 36 3.75 times higher than measured by <u>Zhang et al. (2013b</u>), indicating an overall predicted clearance 37 of 0.06-0.07 mL/kg-day, consistent with the results of Li et al. (2018), whose data were used for 38 calibration. However, the result means that application of the Sweeney (2022) would be less health-

protective than use of the weighted geometric mean clearance, 0.041 mL/kg-day (Table 3-5) and
 would not address some of the other uncertainties noted here. For both this reason and the mass
 balance issue, the model was not further considered for use in the current analysis.

4 Most recently, Chiu et al. (2022) applied a one-compartment PK model in a Bayesian 5 analysis of human serum concentrations matched with drinking water (DW) concentrations of 6 several PFAS, including PFHxS, from multiple community studies. Since the one-compartment 7 model structure is essentially identical to that already evaluated by the EPA and only addresses 8 exposure of adults, for whom body weight is presumed fixed, it was not considered further for use 9 as a PK model, but the overall approach and parameter estimation method were considered 10 sufficiently sound that the resulting parameters were combined with other published human 11 parameters in estimating overall population clearance and volume of distribution (Table 3-4). 12 Yao et al. (2023) used a one-compartment PK model to estimate the time-course of multiple 13 PFAS, including PFHxS, in human children from birth to one year of age. However, the model used a 14 constant level of intake by the child, based on the breast milk concentration measured just after 15 birth and the volume of breast milk ingested per day for infants < 1 month of age, and did not 16 account for the dilution due to growth of the child over that time. Breast milk intake is expected to 17 peak between 3 and 6 months of age and the intake per kg BW of the infant to decline from the first 18 month of age through the first year (https://www.epa.gov/expobox/exposure-factors-handbook-19 chapter-15), while concentrations of PFHxS in maternal serum declined on average in the first 20 month after birth (<u>Oh et al., 2022</u>). Hence, the simulations of <u>Yao et al. (2023</u>) likely over-predict

21 the actual PFHxS time-course in children after the first month of life.

3.1.6. Empirical Pharmacokinetic Analysis

To estimate sex-specific PK parameters with measures of uncertainty for male and female rats based on all of the published studies, including <u>Kim et al. (2018b</u>), a hierarchical Bayesian analysis was conducted using either a one- or a two-compartment empirical PK model. Details of the analysis are provided in Appendix E. Results for a one-compartment model are described here for mice and rats and results for a two-compartment model for monkeys.

Estimation of Pharmacokinetic Parameters

27 In classical PK theory, it is expected that once a chemical is absorbed or distributed to the

28 blood, its excretion (clearance) is then independent of the route of administration. With IV

- administration, 100% of the dose is delivered directly to the blood, while only a fraction of an oral
- 30 dose may be absorbed. Therefore, the area-under-the-curve (AUC) for blood or serum
- 31 concentration after an oral dose should be less than or at most equal to the AUC after the same dose
- 32 administered IV, and the fraction absorbed, or bioavailability, is estimated as AUC_{oral}/AUC_{IV}.
- However, when both the IV and oral PFHxS exposure data for rats (at identical doses) were
- 34 analyzed from <u>Kim et al. (2016b</u>), <u>Kim et al. (2018b</u>) and <u>Huang et al. (2019a</u>) by EPA, the estimated
- 35 serum concentration AUC was consistently lower for the IV-dose data than the oral dose data for a

- 1 number of the datasets, with the result that the corresponding CL values were quite different, in
- 2 some cases with non-overlapping data-set-level credible intervals (see Figure 3-4). This difference
- 3 was especially evident in the female, where CL after IV dosing was higher in all cases examined.
- 4 This outcome does not match general pharmacokinetic theory, which depends on a number of
- 5 assumptions, including that distribution into body tissues is independent of dose route.



Figure 3-4. Comparison of Female (left) and Male (right) CL values for IV and gavage exposure of equivalent dose levels from <u>Kim et al. (2016b)</u>, <u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u> and <u>Huang et al. (2019a)</u>. The central point, a triangle for IV and a circle for gavage, denotes the mean CL, the thicker portion of the lines are the quartiles, and the thinner extent of the lines denote the 95th confidence interval. Note that these clearance values are slightly different than presented in Table 3-6, because those values were based on an analysis of only the gavage datasets, whereas the values in the figure above are based on analysis of the gavage and IV data together in a hierarchical Bayesian framework.

- 6 Since data of <u>Kim et al. (2018b</u>) show nearly identical urinary and fecal excretion after IV
- 7 versus oral dosing, it is possible that distribution into body tissues was much greater after IV
- 8 dosing, perhaps because more of the IV-infused PFHxS could distribute to various tissues before it
- 9 became bound to serum proteins, while the slower absorption from oral dosing led to lower tissue
- 10 distribution. Tissue dosimetry data after both IV and oral doses, which could be used to evaluate
- 11 this hypothesis, were not available and resolution of the apparent discrepancy was considered
- 12 beyond the scope of this analysis. Because the objective was to extrapolate dosimetry from oral
- 13 exposures in animal toxicity studies to humans, given the unusual quantitative results from
- 14 classical PK analysis for IV versus oral dosimetry, only the oral dosimetry data were included in the
- 15 final analysis for rats and mice. Only IV dosimetry data were available for monkeys, so those data
- 16 were analyzed recognizing that it may not exactly represent oral kinetics. Because the empirical
- 17 data indicted the blood AUC after IV exposure was less than after oral exposure to the same dose for
- 18 most of the experiments, it was assumed that oral bioavailability was 100% and that was assumed
- in subsequent analyses.
- A single study reported PK data that could be used for parameter estimation for mice and
 monkeys (<u>Sundström et al., 2012</u>). While <u>Sundström et al. (2012</u>) did collect PK data after both IV

1 and oral administration in mice, they did not estimate a bioavailability for male mice and the

- 2 estimate of 50% availability in female mice was based on only two animals for oral dosimetry.
- **3** Therefore, the more complete datasets for 1 and 20 mg/kg oral doses provided separately were
- 4 analyzed similarly to the analysis for rats described above, assuming 100% bioavailability. The
- 5 resulting PK model fits (see Appendix E, Figure E-5) were quite good, showing that the oral PK data
- 6 for mice were consistent with this assumption; the model did not over-predict the serum
- 7 concentration time-course.
- 8 Only IV data were available for monkeys (<u>Sundström et al., 2012</u>), so those data were
- 9 analyzed for that species, recognizing the resulting uncertainty in bioavailability and that there may
- 10 be differences in distribution and clearance between the two routes of administration. While the
- 11 mouse and rat PK data were adequately fit with a one-compartment model (see Appendix E, Figures
- 12 E-1 to E-5), the monkey PK clearly showed biphasic clearance from the serum, requiring a two-
- 13 compartment model, that is, one including both central and a deep tissue compartment (see
- 14 Appendix E, Figure E-6). No critical dose-response endpoints were identified in monkey, so no
- 15 determination needed to be made considering the best approach for pharmacokinetic extrapolation
- 16 from monkeys.
- 17 Values for the volume of distribution (Vd, mL/kg) and clearance (CL, mL/kg-day) were also
- 18 estimated from the Bayesian analysis for each study and dose, as well as overall population mean
- 19 values (Appendix E). An average half-life $(T_{1/2})$ was calculated from these results using the formula,
- 20 $T_{1/2} = \ln(2) \times Vd/CL$. Interestingly, while the analysis showed a clear, large sex difference in
- 21 clearance and the corresponding half-life between male and female rats, almost no difference
- 22 appeared between male and female mice. The monkey results should be interpreted with some
- 23 caution, as they were based on only three animals per sex, but they suggest an intermediate case
- between rats and mice, with clearance in male monkeys being 73% of female monkeys. The much
- slower clearance in male rats compared with female rats is assumed to result from higher
- 26 expression of renal transporters that resorb PFHxS. The data for mice and monkeys suggest that
- 27 expression of the transporters is much less sex-dependent in those species.

Table 3-6. Pharmacokinetic parameters for rats, mice, monkeys, and humans

Study	Dose (mg/kg)	n	Clearance (mL/kg- d) ^a (mL/kg) ^a		T1/2⁵ (d)
	N	1ale r	ats		
<u>Kim et al. (2016b)</u>	4	5	5.71 (5.46–5.69)	264.4 (255.6–272.6)	32.1
<u>Kim et al. (2018b)</u>	4	5	6.58 (3.34–9.68)	293.4 (262.9–323.9)	30.9
	4	3c	5.37 (4.61–6.14)	137.8 (116.2–159.6)	17.8
	16	3c	5.91 (5.09–6.75)	144.2 (121.1–166.5)	16.9

Study	Dose (mg/kg)	n	Clearance (mL/kg- d) ^a	Volume of distribution (mL/kg)ª	T1/2⁵ (d)
	32	3c	9.74 (8.47–11.03)	210.7 (176.9–243.2)	15.0
Population mean			7.15 (3.73–10.26)	216.5 (149.2–281.4)	21.0 ^d
	Fe	male	rats		
<u>Kim et al. (2016b)</u>	4	5	117.8 (110.7–125.3)	286.9 (264.5–309.6)	1.7
Kim et al. (2018b)	1	5	83.02 (77.22–89.38)	196.0 (117.2–213.6)	1.6
	4	5	106.3 (98.58–113.8)	236.3 (215.5–257.6)	1.5
	4	3°	50.14 (45.03–55.01)	162.8 (142.9–183.2)	2.3
Huang et al. (2019a)	16	3 ^c	61.36 (55.58–67.17)	187.9 (166.5–208.5)	2.1
	32	3°	94.54 (85.43–103.3)	261.9 (231.9–290.2)	1.9
Population mean			84.10 (64.72–103.8)	224.2 (182.7–266.4)	1.8 ^d
	Μ	ale m	nice		
<u>Sundström et al. (2012)</u> (all data)	1 & 20	4 ^c	3.86 (3.27–4.41)	154.6 (122.6–185.5)	27.8
	Fer	nale	mice		
<u>Sundström et al. (2012)</u> (all data)	1 & 20	4 ^c	3.18 (2.83–3.52)	123.0 (104.5–140.6)	26.8 ^d
	Mal	e mo	nkeys		
Sundström et al. (2012)	10	3	1.39 (0.94–1.83)	282.4 (251.9–314.9) ^e	141
	Fema	ale mo	onkeys		
Sundström et al. (2012)	10	3	2.12 (1.81–2.44)	228.5 (204.4–252.5) ^e	75
		Huma	in		
All males and females below age 12.4 y and above age 50 y		577	0.041	228 (women) ^f 278 (men) ^f	3,855 (10.6 y) 4,700 (12.6 y)
Women 12.4-50 years of age			0.074	228 (women) ^f	2,136 (5.9)

^aValues are mean (study-level 90% credible interval) or population mean (90% credible interval).

 ${}^{b}T_{1/2} = ([mean] volume of distribution [mL/kg]) \times ln (2) / ([mean] clearance [mL/kg-d]).$

^cNumber of animals per time point.

^dRats displayed a large difference in half-life between sexes that mice did not. This sex-dependence was seen in rats for many PFAS and has been linked to sex-hormone dependent changes in renal transporters (<u>Kudo et al.</u>, 2002). It is not fully understood why this phenomenon is different between species.

^eSum of central and peripheral compartment volumes from a 2-compartment PK model.

^fVd in women assumed equal to the value for female monkeys, Vd in men assumed equal to male monkeys.

1 While the results for rats showed a fair degree of variability in CL between studies (see

2 Table 3-6), the range in mean values is 1.8-fold for males and 2.3-fold for females is modest and the

- 1 overall population means were obtained via a Bayesian analysis that addressed the variability both
- 2 within and among the datasets (see details in Appendix E, Section 1). Hence, these values provided
- 3 an estimate of the relationship between dose and mean serum concentration levels in rats that
- 4 appeared to be accurate to within a factor of two, which was set as an acceptable degree of
- 5 discrepancy between PK model simulations and data in EPA's Umbrella Quality Assurance Project
- 6 Plan (QAPP) for Dosimetry and Mechanism-Based Models (U.S. EPA, 2018b), and so were
- 7 considered sufficiently sound for use in cross-species extrapolation.
- 8 The assumption that the Vd derived from monkeys is a suitable surrogate for the human Vd
 9 introduces some uncertainty to the calculated human half-life. However, <u>Chiu et al. (2022)</u> obtained
- 10 a mean (95% CI) Vd of 0.25 (0.15, 0.42) L/kg from their analysis of human data, which is essentially
- 11 the average of the values from male and female monkeys, 0.287 and 0.213 L/kg, respectively.
- 12 Hence, the extent of the uncertainty is judged to be minimal. Use of the value from <u>Chiu et al. (2022)</u>
- 13 would only change some of the estimated clearance values in Table 3-5 by less than 20%, so would
- 14 have a minimal impact on the geometric mean clearance obtained.

Clearance Versus Glomerular Filtration Rate and Free Fraction in Serum

- 15 Some mechanistic insight could be gained by comparing the clearance values shown in
- 16 Table 3-6 with species-specific glomerular filtration rate (GFR), with and without adjustment for
- 17 serum protein binding. <u>Davies and Morris (1993)</u> summarized GFR for multiple species. Using 0.25
- 18 kg as the species average BW for the rat, the GFR/BW for rats is 7.55 L/kg-day, which is
- **19** approximately 1,100 and 90 times higher than the population mean clearance estimated in male
- 20 and female rats, respectively.
- Binding to serum proteins plays a likely role in these very large differences. As discussed
 above in the context of distribution, PFHxS binds to albumin with high affinity and it is the major
- carrier of PFHxS in blood (<u>Forsthuber et al., 2020; Bischel et al., 2010; Weiss et al., 2009</u>). This
- binding may play a role in the limiting the rate of the renal excretion of PFHxS, in addition to the
- 25 role played by renal transporters. Kim et al. (2018b) measured reported PFHxS free fractions ($f_{\rm free}$)
- 26 of 0.00076 and 0.00069 in male and female rat plasma. Using these values, GFR× f_{free} = 5.7 and 5.2
- 27 mL/kg-day in male and female rats. This alternative estimate of clearance for male rats is close to
- 28 the population mean in Table 3-6 (7.15 mL/kg-day), which could be interpreted as showing
- 29 minimal renal resorption in males. However, for female rats GFR× f_{free} is more than order of
- 30 magnitude lower than the population mean clearance of 84.1 mL/kg-day. Section 3.1.5 provided
- 31 further discussion of the fact that the PBPK model of <u>Kim et al. (2018b</u>), which assumed that tissue
- 32 distribution was similarly limited by the free fraction, underpredicted the observed short-term
- distribution of PFHxS in rats. Hence, while it is expected that serum protein binding limits renal
- 34 excretion (and tissue distribution) to some extent, the reduction appears to be less than predicted
- 35 by assuming that clearance is strictly limited to the equilibrium free fraction. As noted above,
- 36 <u>Robinson and Rapoport (1986)</u> used a mathematical model that incorporates the kinetics of plasma

binding and release in order to describe uptake of drugs by the brain, supporting this conclusion.
 Alternately, there could be an error in the measured free fraction.

- 3 More qualitatively, the fact that the measured free fraction is similar in male versus female
 4 rats indicates that it cannot explain the large sex difference in empirical clearance, and hence that
- 5 sex differences in renal resorption are likely to be a factor.

3.1.7. Model Evaluation Conclusion and Extrapolation Approach

6 The clearance in rats is sufficiently slow that PFHxS is expected to accumulate throughout 7 the course of the 28-day NTP bioassay (NTP, 2019) in male rats and for about 10 days in female 8 rats, as illustrated in Appendix E, Section 2. For this reason, the preferred approach would be to 9 perform an interspecies dose extrapolation that accounts for the time-dependence of the internal 10 dose (i.e., bioaccumulation). Further, given the slow clearance of PFHxS in male rats, the growth of 11 rats during these toxicity studies could be a significant factor as increases in BW are expected dilute 12 the body burden from earlier exposures. Therefore, a computational model for a single-13 compartment PK model was developed to describe the accumulation and elimination of PFHxS 14 during these experiments, with time-dependence in BW based on the empirical data for BW. Details 15 of the model and its evaluation against serum concentration data from NTP (2019) were provided 16 in Appendix E, Section 2. While the period of accumulation was much longer for male rats, female 17 rats were modeled in the same way as males for consistency. However, application of the single-18 compartment PK model revealed that this simple approach was not suitable for PFHxS due to an 19 observed nonlinear relationship between dose and plasma concentration, which the single-20 compartment model was not able to replicate. 21 As noted in the Summary of Human PFHxS Excretion section, uncertainties also exist in the 22 potential extrapolation of such a model to developmental or other early-lifestage effects. Even 23 though the results for the one-compartment PK model indicated that the model may be adequate 24 for low-dose extrapolation of dosimetry in adult animals, the failure of this model (see Appendix E, 25 Section 2) and the issues identified with the published PBPK models (see Section 3.1.5) 26 demonstrated an incomplete understanding of PFHxS pharmacokinetics. Additional research, which 27 may be extensive, is needed to resolve the existing inconsistencies between the various models and 28 the data. Thus, a reliable PK model for PFHxS is not considered to be in the realm of available 29 science. Further, use of the empirical one-compartment PK model for some endpoints and a of data-30 derived extrapolation factor (DDEF) for others would create inconsistency in the extrapolation

- 31 approach. This inconsistency would hinder the comparison between different candidate points of
- 32 departure and the failure of the model in some instances lowers the confidence in model
- 33 predictions, even for dose ranges where the model appears to be performing well. Therefore, a PK
- 34 model was not used for dosimetric extrapolation.

Approach for Animal-Human Extrapolation of PFHxS Dosimetry

- 1 After evaluation of three published PBPK models and a one-compartment PK model for 2 PFHxS, it was determined that none of these options could reliably predict PFHxS dosimetry. An 3 alternative to use of PK (or PBPK) models for dosimetric extrapolation is use of data-derived 4 extrapolation factors (DDEFs). As stated in EPA's guidance for DDEFs (U.S. EPA, 2014), use of these 5 factors "maximize the use of available data and improve the scientific support for a risk 6 assessment." As discussed above in the Evaluation of Pharmacokinetic Modeling and Summary of 7 Human PFHxS Excretion sections, the estimated population average values of total CL for male and 8 female rats and for humans were considered sufficiently sound for use in such extrapolation, while 9 use of BW^{3/4} scaling (the least preferred option; see U.S. EPA (2011b)) could lead to over-prediction 10 of HEDs by as much as three orders of magnitude. Therefore, DDEFs calculated from the clearance 11 values listed in Table 3-5 and Table 3-6, were used as the next preferred option. Specifically, the 12 ratio of human clearance to clearance in the animal species and sex in which a given POD was
- 13 identified was used to estimate the HED for that POD. For example, to extrapolate from a POD from
- 14 the NTP bioassay for an endpoint in male rats to humans,

15 HED = POD × $CL_H/CL_{rat,m}$,

- 16where CL_H is the clearance in humans for the appropriate population, $CL_{rat,m}$ is the clearance in male17rats and $CL_H/CL_{rat,m}$ is the DDEF. This calculation assumed the same fraction absorbed or
- 18 bioavailability in human and rats, which is taken to be 100% as described in Section 3.1. In
- 19 particular, the computational PK analysis summarized in Section 3.1.6 found that the published PK

20 data showed serum AUC after oral exposures were higher than serum AUCs after matching IV

21 exposures for several key studies rather than results consistent with less than 100% oral

22 bioavailability.

For gestational effects, the clearance in the female animal (dam) was assumed to determine
dosimetry to the fetus. However, for effects observed in rat pups at PND 22, the clearance for the
same sex adult rat was used.

26 While menstruation does not occur during pregnancy and may not resume until after 27 weaning of the child, as described in the subsections *Trend in Pregnancy* and *Breast Milk* in 3.1.2 28 Distribution, studies of longitudinal changes in during and after pregnancy show maternal serum 29 levels remaining fairly constant or constant or declining through this lifestage. This likely occurs 30 because the long half-life of PFHxS results in slow accumulation as well as elimination, while the 31 increase in total body mass during pregnancy (including the fetus and placenta) is expected to 32 result in a dilution of the body burden as the PFHxS distributes into those growing tissues. 33 Therefore, the serum levels in the pregnant and postpartum woman are expected to be consistent 34 with her serum levels at the start of pregnancy, which are determined by her total clearance prior

1 to pregnancy, including menstrual fluid loss. Thus, HEDs for developmental endpoints that occur in-

2 utero such as reduced birthweight or are based on measures of maternal serum concentration will

3 be calculated using the higher clearance estimated for women of childbearing age (12.4–50 years)

4 in Table 3-6.

5 However, this additional clearance clearly does not occur in young children, and as

6 described in Summary of Human PFHxS Elimination in Section 3.1.4, there may be differences in PK

7 among human lifestages that cannot be quantified because of a lack of empirical PK data during

- 8 childhood. While effects in adults do not involve extrapolation across lifestages, the degree of
- 9 accumulation of PFHxS in rats during a 28-day bioassay could be less than the accumulation during
- a comparable portion (4%) of the human life span. Therefore, HEDs for effects observed in
- 11 experimental animals more than a few days after birth, where dosimetry in the pups or human
- 12 child may be a significant factor, and immune effects correlated with serum concentrations
- 13 measured 5 years after birth, for which the exposure and clearance of the offspring are significant
- 14 factors, have been calculated using the population-average CL_{H} from Table 3-6.
- 15The key assumption made in calculating a DDEF for a given endpoint evaluated was that for

17 Table 3-6 were used to calculate the DDEF. Table 3-7 shows the resulting DDEFs.

Table 3-7. Data-derived extrapolation factor (DDEF) calculations

Sex and species of observation (lifestage)	CLA (mL/kg-d)	DDEF ^a
Male rats (adult and male pups > PND 7)	7.15	5.73 × 10 ⁻³
Female rats (adult and female pups > PND 7), non-reproductive/developmental effects	84.1	4.88 × 10 ⁻⁴
Female rats (adult), reproductive effects and effects in pups < PND 7	84.1	8.80×10^{-4}

^aDDEF = (CL_H/CL_A) with CL_H = 0.041 mL/kg-d for effects in all males and females outside of reproductive age, except for those occurring in-utero or correlated with maternal serum levels during or after pregnancy. For reproductive effects in females and developmental effects associated with maternal serum levels, CL_H = 0.074 mL/kg-d was used. These DDEF values assume equal oral bioavailability in rats and humans. Rat CL values from Table 3-6. No data exist showing that CL in juveniles is different from adults.

18 When an internal dose POD, specifically a serum concentration, is obtained from human19 epidemiological studies, the HED will likewise be calculated as:

 $20 \qquad \text{HED} = \text{POD}_{\text{int}} \times \text{CL}_{\text{H},}$

- 21 using the geometric mean estimate for human clearance from Table 3-5, $CL_{H} = 0.041 \text{ mL/kg/d} = 4.1$
- $\times 10^{-5}$ L/kg-day for effects associated with serum levels in children (e.g., immune effects associated

- 1 with serum levels measured at age 5) and 0.074 mL/kg-day = 7.4×10^{-5} L/kg-day for
- 2 developmental effects associated with maternal serum levels.

Uncertainty in HED Calculations

3 The ranges in population mean parameter Table 3-6 can be used as a measure of 4 uncertainty in the CL for male and female rats. The upper end of the 90% credible intervals is only 5 43% higher than the mean for male rats and 23% higher than the mean for female rats, indicating 6 that concentrations during the bioassays were unlikely to be much lower than effectively estimated 7 using the DDEF, hence that the corresponding HEDs were also judged unlikely to be more than 1.5-8 fold lower. Applying the DDEF, however, effectively assumed the rats were at steady state, when 9 this was not likely the case, especially for male rats used in the NTP bioassay (NTP, 2018a), which 10 could lead to an over-prediction of the HED_{POD} . The non-menstrual clearance value used for humans 11 was approximately two-fold higher the lowest from among those reported by or estimated from 12 multiple studies of PFHxS dosimetry in humans. Only a modest correction for fecal absorption 13 (using the ratio of fecal/urinary elimination observed in rats after IV dosing) was applied. Hence, 14 the average human clearance is unlikely to be more than two-fold lower than the value used for 15 HED calculation. The relative values of non-menstrual and menstrual clearance correlate strongly 16 with differences between PFHxS serum levels found in the U.S. population (NHANES data) (Jain and 17 Ducatman, 2022), reducing the qualitative uncertainty. While uncertainties in the extrapolation to 18 developmental exposure and dosimetry in children remain, there are currently no data to indicate 19 that these are greater than is accounted for by application of the standard human interindividual 20 uncertainty factor (UF_H), of which a factor of 3 is typically attributed to pharmacokinetic differences

21 across individuals.

3.2. NONCANCER HEALTH EFFECTS

22 For each potential health effect discussed below, the synthesis describes the evidence base 23 of available studies. Arrays or tables summarizing endpoint results across studies within each 24 evidence stream are also provided. The effect levels presented in these arrays and tables are based 25 on statistical significance⁵ or biological significance, or both. Examples relevant to interpretations of 26 biological significance include consideration of the directionality of effect (e.g., statistically 27 significantly decreased cholesterol/triglycerides is of unclear toxicological relevance), tissue-28 specific magnitude of effect (e.g., statistically nonsignificant increase of $\geq 10\%$ in liver weight may 29 be considered biologically significant), and dose-dependence (e.g., a significant finding at a single, 30 lower dose level but not at multiple, higher dose levels may be interpreted as potentially spurious). 31 For this section, evidence to inform organ-/system-specific effects of PFHxS in animals following

²Throughout the assessment, the phrase "statistical significance" indicates a p-value < 0.05, unless otherwise noted.

- 1 developmental exposure are discussed in the individual organ-/system-specific sections (e.g., liver
- 2 effects after developmental exposure are discussed in the hepatic effects section and so on,
- 3 although they are generally cross-referenced to the Developmental Effects section; Section 3.2.3).
- 4 Evidence on other developmental effects (e.g., fetal growth) is only discussed in the Developmental
- 5 Effects section. Lastly, overt toxicity was not observed at any of the highest doses tested in any of
- 6 the available studies (in contrast to data available for some of the other PFAS being assessed by the
- 7 IRIS Program), and thus the potential for overt toxicity to complicate interpretation of the health
- 8 effect-specific PFHxS evidence is not a factor discussed in any of the following sections.

3.2.1. Thyroid Effects

9 Under normal physiologic conditions, neurons in the hypothalamus release thyroid

10 releasing hormone (TRH) to stimulate epithelial cells of the anterior pituitary gland to release

- 11 thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) (<u>Irizarry, 2014</u>). TSH plays a number of important metabolic
- 12 functions including stimulation of the thyroid gland to release thyroxine (T4), which is converted to
- 13 triiodothyronine (T3). When increased T3 and T4 serum levels exceed a blood concentration
- 14 threshold, secretion of TRH from the hypothalamus is inhibited via a negative feedback loop
- 15 (Irizarry, 2014; Pilo et al., 1990). In adults, T3 and T4 play important metabolic functions; for
- 16 example, decreases in T3 and T4 serum levels, a condition known as hypothyroidism, result in
- 17 increased weight gain, fatigue, and dry skin, as well as effects on the memory and a difficulty to
- 18 concentrate. Conversely, increased levels of T3 and T4, otherwise known as hyperthyroidism, result
- 19 in increased rate of metabolism, weight loss and increased heart rate (<u>Mullur et al., 2014</u>). During
- 20 fetal development and throughout early childhood, thyroid hormones play an important role in
- 21 somatic growth and development. Thyroid hormones have been shown to play a critical role in
- 22 neurogenesis, neuronal migration, and synaptogenesis, as well as shifting neuronal cells from a
- 23 proliferative state to a differentiation state and myelination (<u>Gilbert et al., 2016</u>). In humans,
- 24 alterations of prenatal maternal T4 have been linked to declines in cognitive function in children
- 25 (Korevaar et al., 2016; Haddow et al., 1999). Importantly, changes in prenatal and maternal T4 have
- 26 been shown to be biologically important in the absence of changes in TSH reviewed in (<u>Vansell</u>,
- 27 <u>2022; Moog et al., 2017; Stagnaro-Green and Rovet, 2016; Dong et al., 2015; Navarro et al., 2014;</u>
- 28 Rovet, 2014; Patel et al., 2011; Berbel et al., 2010; Morreale de Escobar et al., 2008; Cuevas et al.,

29 <u>2005; Rovet, 2005; Zoeller and Rovet, 2004; Hood and Klaassen, 2000; Hood et al., 1999a; Hood et </u>

30 <u>al., 1999b</u>).

Human Studies

31 Thirty-nine studies (reported in 44 publications) have investigated the relationship

- 32 between PFHxS exposure and thyroid hormones and/or thyroid disease in humans. All of the
- 33 available human studies examined the association between PFHxS exposure measured in blood and
- 34 thyroid hormones (see Figure 3-5).

1 There were multiple outcome-specific considerations that were influential on the study 2 evaluations. First, for outcome ascertainment, collection of blood during a fasting state and at the 3 same time of day for all participants (or adjustment for time of collection) is preferred for 4 measurement of thyroid hormones to avoid misclassification due to diurnal variation (van Kerkhof 5 et al., 2015). Studies that did not consider these factors (e.g., by study design or adjustment) were 6 not excluded but were considered deficient for the outcome ascertainment domain. This is expected 7 to result in nondifferential outcome misclassification, and thus, bias toward the null on average. For 8 participant selection, it was considered important to account for current thyroid disease and/or use 9 of thyroid medications; studies that did not consider these factors by exclusion or another method 10 were considered deficient for the participant selection domain. Concurrent measurement of 11 exposure with the outcome was considered acceptable for this outcome since thyroid hormones 12 can be up- or downregulated relatively quickly in relation to the long half-life of PFHxS (half-life of 13 T3 and T4 are in the order of hours/days, respectively (Leboff et al., 1982) versus years for PFHxS 14 (Li et al., 2018); see Section 3.1.3); thus, exposure measurement ratings were not downgraded for 15 timing of measurement. All of the available studies analyzed PFHxS in serum or plasma using 16 appropriate methods as described in the systematic review protocol (see Appendix A). Thyroid 17 hormones were analyzed using standard methods (e.g., immunoassays, HPLC-MS/MS) in all studies. 18 The *medium* confidence studies generally were not downgraded for participant selection, but most 19 did not account for time of day of blood collection and fasting, which is considered likely to result in 20 nondifferential outcome misclassification (expected to be toward the null on average) for thyroid 21 hormone measures. The *low* confidence studies were generally downgraded for both the 22 participant selection issues and outcome ascertainment issues described above, though Liu et al. 23 (2018) did not account for thyroid medication use but was unique in the set of available studies in 24 that data were collected prospectively, and the analysis was based on change in outcome, so there 25 was less concern for the lack of adjustment impacting the results. 26 In summary, 26 studies were *medium* confidence (Cakmak et al., 2022; Gallo et al., 2022; Li 27 et al., 2021b; Sarzo et al., 2021; Aimuzi et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2020a; Lebeaux et al., 2020; Liang et 28 al., 2020; Aimuzi et al., 2019; Caron-Beaudoin et al., 2019; Inoue et al., 2019; Reardon et al., 2019; 29 Blake et al., 2018; Dufour et al., 2018; Kang et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2018; Preston et al., 2018; Berg et 30 al., 2017; Crawford et al., 2017; Shah-Kulkarni et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2016a; Wang et al., 2014; Webster et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2013; Wen et al., 2013) and ten were low confidence (Liu et al., 31 32 2021b; Itoh et al., 2019; Heffernan et al., 2018; Khalil et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018b; Li et al., 33 2017c; Lewis et al., 2015; Ji et al., 2012; Chan et al., 2011; Bloom et al., 2010). Three studies were 34 uninformative in study evaluation (Seo et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2016a; Kim et al., 2011a). Sensitivity 35 was a concern across studies due to narrow exposure contrasts in several studies (see sensitivity 36 domain in Figure 3-4), combined with the expected bias toward the null due to outcome 37 misclassification. Thus, null results are difficult to interpret. The *medium* confidence studies were 38 the focus of evidence synthesis; low confidence studies did not undergo data extraction but were

- 1 still considered for consistency in the direction of association. The domain ratings, populations, and
- 2 thyroid measures for each study are presented in Figure 3-5.



Figure 3-5. Study evaluation results for epidemiology studies of PFHxS and thyroid effects. Full details available by clicking H AWC link. Multiple publications of the same study: <u>Preston et al.</u> (2018) also includes <u>Preston et al.</u> (2020).

G: good; A: adequate; D: deficient; CD: critically deficient; Un: uninformative.

1 The results for the association between PFHxS exposure and thyroid effects in *medium* 2 confidence studies are presented in Tables 3-8 and 3-9. Twenty-eight studies examined 3 associations with thyroid hormones in adults, including 13 focused on pregnant women (see Table 4 3-8). For T4, out of 27 studies, the results are mixed. In the 15 *medium* confidence studies, a few 5 statistically significant associations were reported (positive associations in both sexes in <u>Cakmak et</u> 6 al. (2022), positive association in women but inverse in men in Wen et al. (2013), positive 7 association in men >50 years of age in Li et al. (2021b), positive association in pregnant women in 8 Aimuzi et al. (2020), and inverse association in pregnant women in <u>Reardon et al. (2019)</u>. Other 9 non-significant results were also in both directions or showed no association. The *low* confidence 10 studies were also inconsistent in direction of association for T4. Many of the inverse associations 11 had small magnitudes of effect and some estimates, particularly for total T4, were imprecise, both 12 of which decrease certainty in the evidence. There is no clear pattern by exposure level or 13 population. Nineteen studies examined associations with T3. In the 12 medium confidence studies, 14 most reported no association with the exception of three studies (Aimuzi et al., 2020; Crawford et 15 al., 2017; Wen et al., 2013) in women that reported higher levels of T3 with higher exposure to 16 PFHxS (statistically significant in latter two studies). Twenty-seven studies reported on TSH, and of 17 the 16 medium confidence studies, one reported statistically significant higher TSH with higher 18 exposure (Reardon et al., 2019) and one study reported a statistically significant inverse 19 association (<u>Aimuzi et al., 2020</u>), both in pregnant women, but the remaining studies reported no

20 clear association.

Table 3-8. Associations between PFHxS exposure and thyroid hormone levels in *medium* confidence studies of adults.

		Median exposure (IQR) or as specified	Effect			
Reference	Population	(ng/mL)	estimate General pop	I 4 ulation. adults	13	ISH
<u>Cakmak et al.</u> (2022)	CHMS cross-sectional study (2007–2011), Canada, 6,045 participants (all ages)	1.5 (GM)	Percent change for GM equivalent increase	Total T4 0.9 (0.1, 1.8) *	NR	-1.1 (-4.9, 2.9)
<u>Crawford et</u> al. (2017)	Time to Conceive cross-sectional study (2008–2009), U.S., 99 women	1.6 (GM)	β (p-value) for log- unit increase	Total T4 -0.15 (0.5) Free T4 0.01 (0.8)	Total T3 2.8 (0.2)	-0.03 (0.7)
<u>Wen et al.</u> (2013)	NHANES cross- sectional study (2007– 2010), U.S., 1,181 adults (672 men, 509 women)	2.0 (GM)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	Total T4 Women 0.26 (0.11, 0.41)* Men -0.03 (-0.18, 0.11) Free T4 Women 0.003 (-0.02, 0.03) Men - 0.02 (-0.03, -0.003)*	Total T3 Women 4.07 (2.23, 5.92)* Men -0.08 (-1.70, 1.54) Free T3 Women 0.003 (-0.02, 0.03) Men 0.005 (-0.003, 0.01)	Women -0.02 (-0.13, 0.09) Men 0.02 (-0.06, 0.52)
<u>Blake et al.</u> (2018)	Fernald Community Cohort (1990–2008), U.S., 210 adults (81 men, 129 women)	2.7 (1.7–4.1)	Percent change for IQR increase	Total T4 1.74 (-1.73, 5.33)	NR	1.97 (-7.73, 12.7)
<u>Liu et al.</u> (2018)	POUNDS Lost trial of weight loss treatment (2004–2007) 621 adults (237 men, 384 women)	3.1 (2.3–4.4)	Spearman correlatio n coefficient s for change in hormone	0–6 months 0.04 6–24 months -0.02	0–6 months 0.01 6–24 months -0.05	NR
<u>Gallo et al.</u> (2022)	Veneto cross-sectional study in high exposure area (2017), Italy, 14,888 adults	6.5 (3–12)	Percent change for IQR increase	NR	NR	Women 1.1 (-1.8, 4) Men -5.5 (-11, 0.3)
<u>Li et al.</u> (2021b)	Ronneby cross- sectional study in high exposure area (2014– 2015), Sweden, 2,687 participants (all ages)	93 in women age 20–50 yrs	Percent change	Free T4 Women 20–50 yrs 0.43 (-0.08, 0.94) Women >50 yrs 0.01 (-0.57, 0.6) Men 20–50 yrs 0.51 (-0.14, 1.16) Men >50 yrs 0.73 (0.02, 1.45)*	Free T3 Women 20–50 yrs 0.08 (-0.41, 0.57) Women >50 yrs 0.05 (-0.47, 0.57) Men 20–50 yrs 0.29 (-0.29, 0.88) Men >50 yrs 0.26 (-0.36, 0.89)	Women 20–50 yrs -0.47 (-2.52, 1.62) Women >50 yrs 0.63 (-1.88, 3.2) Men 20–50 yrs -0.37 (-2.7, 2.01) Men >50 yrs -0.14 (-2.79, 2.58)

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified (ng/mL)	Effect estimate	Т4	T3	тѕн
	<u> </u>		Pregnan	t women		
Yang et al. (2016b)	Beijing Prenatal Exposure cross- sectional study (2013) 157 mother-infant pairs	0.5	Spearman correlatio n coefficient s	Total T4: 0.08 Free T4: 0.04	Total T3: 0.08 Free T3: 0.12	-0.15
<u>Wang et al.</u> (2013)	Cross-sectional analysis within Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (2003–2004), Norway, 903 pregnant women	0.6 (0.4–0.8)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	NR	NR	0.01 (-0.04, 0.07)
<u>Aimuzi et al.</u> (2020)	Cross-sectional analysis within Shanghai Birth Cohort (2013–2016), China, 1,885 pregnant women	0.6 (0.4–0.7)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	Free T4 0.12 (0.02, 0.22)*	Free T3 0.2 (0.05, 0.34)*	-0.12 (-0.22, -0.01)*
<u>Sarzo et al.</u> (2021)	Cross-sectional analysis within INMA (2003–2008), Spain, 919 pregnant women	0.6 (0.4–0.9)	Percent change for doubling (95% CI)	Free T4 -1.6 (-7.56, 4.75)	Total T3 0.52 (-6.05, 7.54)	6.09 (-0.71, 13.4)
<u>Wang et al.</u> (2014)	Taiwan Maternal and Infant Cohort Study (2000–2001), Taiwan, 285 pregnant women and 116 neonates	0.8 (0.3–1.4)	β (95% CI) for unit increase	Total T4 -0.13 (-0.32, 0.06) Free T4 -0.01 (-0.02, 0.003)	Total T3 -0.002 (-0.01, 0.001)	0.11 (-0.002, 0.21)
<u>Webster et</u> al. (2014)	CHirP cohort (2007– 2008), Canada, 152 women	1.0 (0.7–1.7)	β (95% CI) for IQR increase	Free T4 -0.02 (-0.1, 0.07)	NR	0.01 (-0.05, 0.07)
<u>Reardon et</u> al. (2019)	Alberta Pregnancy Outcomes and Nutrition cohort (2009–2012), 494 women	1.0	β (95% Cl) for unit increase	Free T4 -0.01 (-0.01, - 0.001)*	Free T3 Not significant	0.14 (0.04, 0.25)*
<u>Inoue et al.</u> (2019)	Cross-sectional analysis within Danish National Birth Cohort (1996–2002), Denmark, 1,366 pregnant women	1.1 (0.8–1.4)	Absolute Percent difference (95% CI) per IQR increase	Free T4 -0.3 (-1.6, 1)	NR	1.7 (-4.4, 8.1)
<u>Lebeaux et</u> al. (2020)	Health Outcome and Measures of the Environment cohort (2003–2006), 355 mother-infant pairs	1.6 (1.5)	β (95% CI) for doubling	Total T4 -0.01 (-0.04, 0.02) Free T4 0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	Total T3 -0.01 (-0.04, 0.02) Free T3 -0.02 (-0.04, 0)	-0.06 (-0.23, 0.11)

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-54DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified (ng/mL)	Effect estimate	Т4	T3	TSH
<u>Preston et al.</u> (2018)	Project Viva cohort (1999–2002), U.S., 732 pregnant women and 480 neonates	2.4 (1.6–3.8)	β (95% CI) for IQR increase	Total T4 -0.05 (-0.14, 0.04) Free T4 -0.60 (-1.39, 0.19)	NR	2.89 (-2.12, 8.17)

**p* <0.05.

6

GM: geometric mean.

One medium confidence study (<u>Berg et al., 2017</u>) is not included because quantitative results were only reported for significant associations.

1 Six studies examined associations with thyroid hormones in children and/or adolescents, in

2 addition to studies of adults that included adolescents or all ages without stratifying results, which

3 were described above. All six studies (five *medium* confidence and one *low* confidence) reported

4 null associations between PFHxS exposure and thyroid hormones (<u>Gallo et al., 2022</u>; <u>Li et al., 2021b</u>;

5 <u>Kim et al., 2020a; Caron-Beaudoin et al., 2019; Kang et al., 2018; Khalil et al., 2018</u>)

Eleven studies (9 medium confidence) examined associations with thyroid hormones in

7 infants. For T4, 10 studies were available, including 9 of *medium* confidence. One study with the

8 highest exposure levels (<u>Preston et al., 2018</u>) reported statistically significant lower levels of total

9 T4, driven by the association in boys, with an exposure-response gradient across quartiles. The

10 remaining studies reported no association. Nine studies examined associations with T3. One *low*

11 confidence study (<u>Shah-Kulkarni et al., 2016</u>) reported statistically significant higher levels of T3

12 with higher PFHxS exposure in girls and no association in boys, while <u>Aimuzi et al. (2019)</u> reported

13 statistically significant inverse associations, strongest in boys. The remaining studies reported no

14 association. Ten studies examined the association between TSH and PFHxS exposure. There were

15 lower levels of TSH with higher PFHxS exposure in one *low* confidence study (<u>Shah-Kulkarni et al.</u>,

16 <u>2016</u>), and higher levels of TSH in one study (<u>Wang et al., 2014</u>) though neither was statistically

17 significant, and the confidence intervals were wide. The remaining studies reported no association.

		Median exposure (IQR) or as specified	Effect			
Reference	Population	(ng/mL)	estimate	T4	Т3	тѕн
<u>Guo et al.</u> (2021)	Sheyang Mini Birth Cohort Study (2009– 2010), China, 490 infants	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	β (95% Cl) for ln-unit increase	Total T4 0.04 (-0.006, 0.09) Free T4 0.02 (-0.007, 0.05)	Total T3 0.04 (-0.003, 0.09) Free T3 0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)	-0.10 (-0.23, 0.03)
<u>Dufour et al.</u> (2018)	University Hospital of Liege cohort (2013– 2016) 214 mother- infant pairs	0.2	β (p-value) for detected vs not detected	NR	NR	(0.9) Girls 0.09 (0.5) Boys -0.06 (0.5)
<u>Aimuzi et al.</u> (2019)	Cross-sectional analysis from Shanghai Obesity and Allergy Cohort Study (2012–2013), 568 infants	0.2 (0.1–0.3)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	Free T4 0.06 (-0.06, 0.18) Girls 0.03 (-0.14, 0.2) Boys 0.1 (-0.07, 0.26)	Free T3 -0.04 (-0.09, - 0.001)* Girls -0.08 (-0.14, -0.02)* Boys -0.02 (-0.16, -0.03)*	-0.03 (-0.06, 0.004) Girls -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) Boys -0.04 (-0.08, 0.01)
<u>Yang et al.</u> (2016b)	Beijing Prenatal Exposure cross- sectional study (2013) 157 mother-infant pairs	0.5	Spearman correlation coefficients	Total T4: -0.005 Free T4: 0.01	Total T3: -0.07 Free T3: -0.03	0.08
<u>Wang et al.</u> (2014)	Taiwan Maternal and Infant Cohort Study (2000–2001), Taiwan, 116 infants	0.8 (0.3–1.4)	β (95% CI) for unit increase	Total T4 0.002 (-0.50, 0.50) Free T4 -0.03 (-0.10, 0.04)	Total T3 -0.001 (-0.007, 0.004)	0.49 (-1.45, 2.43)
<u>Lebeaux et</u> al. (2020)	Health Outcome and Measures of the Environment cohort (2003–2006), 355 mother-infant pairs	1.6 (1.5)	β (95% CI) for doubling	Total T4 0.02 (-0.01, 0.06) Free T4 -0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)	Total T3 -0.02 (-0.08, 0.03) Free T3 -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)	0.05 (-0.05, 0.16)
<u>Preston et</u> al. (2018)	Project Viva cohort (1999–2002), U.S., 480 infants	2.4 (1.6–3.8)	β (95% Cl) for IQR increase	-0.15 (-0.38, 0.08) Girls 0.07 (-0.23, 0.37) Boys -0.46 (-0.83, -0.1)*	NR	NR
<u>Liang et al.</u> (2020)	Cross-sectional analysis within Shanghai- Minhang cohort (2012), China, 300 infants	2.7 (2.0–3.4)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	Total T4 -0.59 (-7.94, 6.76) Free T4 -0.32 (-0.87, 0.22)	Total T3 0 (-0.05, 0.04) Free T3 0.02 (-0.08, 0.13)	0.43 (-1.02, 1.88)

Table 3-9. Associations between PFHxS exposure and thyroid hormone levels in *medium* confidence studies of infants.

**p* <0.05.

One medium confidence study (<u>Berg et al., 2017</u>) is not included because quantitative results were only reported for significant associations.

1 In addition, five studies (four *medium* confidence) (Gallo et al., 2022; Kim et al., 2020a; 2 Dufour et al., 2018; Wen et al., 2013; Chan et al., 2011) reported on the association between PFHxS 3 and dichotomous hyper- and hypothyroidism outcomes defined by the authors using set cutpoints. 4 In Wen et al. (2013), a *medium* confidence study, there were greater odds of subclinical 5 hypothyroidism in men (OR 1.57, 95% CI 0.76, 3.25) and women (OR 3.10, 95% CI 1.22, 7.86), and 6 subclinical hyperthyroidism in women (OR 2.27, 95% CI 1.07, 4.80) and lower odds of subclinical 7 hyperthyroidism in men (OR 0.56, 95% CI 0.24, 1.2). Subclinical hypothyroidism was defined as 8 TSH >5.43 mIU/L, and subclinical hyperthyroidism was defined as TSH < 0.24 mIU/L (both limited 9 to those without diagnosed thyroid disease). Also in adults, Dufour et al. (2018) reported higher 10 odds (though not statistically significant) of hypothyroidism in pregnant women and Gallo et al. 11 [2022] did not report increases in thyroid disease or medication use. In the low confidence study 12 (Chan et al., 2011), hypothyroxinemia in pregnant women was defined as normal TSH 13 concentrations with no evidence of hyperthyroidism ($0.15 - \le 4 \text{ mU/L}$) and free T4 in the lowest 14 10th percentile (\leq 8.8 pmol/L) of the study sample). They found higher odds of hypothyroxinemia 15 with higher PFHxS exposure (OR 1.12, 95% CI 0.89, 1.41). In children and adolescents, Kim et al. 16 [2020a] reported lower odds of subclinical hypothyroidism with higher exposure and Gallo et al. 17 (2022) reported no association.

<u>Thyroid effects summary</u>

18 Overall, the evidence for the association between PFHxS exposure and thyroid effects is 19 inconsistent. Some studies do indicate an association between thyroid hormones or subclinical 20 thyroid disease and PFHxS exposure, but this direction is not consistent across studies and the 21 associations with PFHxS exposure in most studies were null. There is also not clear coherence 22 across outcomes, with indications of associations with both hyper- and hypothyroidism and unclear 23 coherence of the direction of association between TSH and the other hormones. However, almost all 24 of the available studies were deficient in outcome ascertainment due to lack of consideration of 25 timing of sample collection. As discussed above, this is likely to result in nondifferential outcome 26 misclassification, which also is expected to bias results toward the null on average, although the 27 studies without this issue also reported null findings. Given these concerns, the findings across this 28 set of studies are difficult to interpret.

Animal Studies

1 The toxicity evidence base for PFHxS-induced endocrine outcomes consists of three 2 multigenerational publications (two studies) in SD or Wistar rats (Ramhøj et al., 2020; Chang et al., 2018; 3 Ramhøj et al., 2018), one developmental study in ICR mice (Chang et al., 2018), and one short-term (28 4 day) study in SD rats (NTP, 2018a). All studies treated the animals orally to PFHxS via gavage. Endocrine-5 related outcomes evaluated by these studies included: thyroid hormones, histopathology, and endocrine 6 organ weights including thyroid, parathyroid, and adrenal gland weight. Potential PFHxS effects on male 7 and female reproductive organs (e.g., testes and ovaries) and reproductive hormones (e.g., testosterone 8 and estradiol) that also encompass part of the endocrine system are discussed in Male Reproductive Effects 9 and Female reproductive Effects sections. 10 Evaluation of the available animal studies showed that these were generally well conducted for

- most endocrine-related endpoints. The available studies examined PFHxS endocrine toxicity effects using 11
- 12 doses that ranged between 0 and 10 mg/kg-day in mice (Chang et al., 2018); 0 and 25 mg/kg-day in rats
- 13 with the exception of NTP (2018a), for which a range of 0-50 mg/kg-day in female rats and 0-10 mg/kg-
- 14 day in male rats was used. These ranges account for the pharmacokinetic (PK) sex differences that have
- 15 been observed in rats, for which PFHxS appears to have a lower mean half-life in female rats versus their
- 16 male counterparts (1.72 and 26.9 days, respectively, after oral dosing (Kim et al., 2016b)). No overt toxicity
- 17 was observed at any of the highest doses tested in any of the available studies. Two *high* confidence studies,
- 18 <u>Chang et al. (2018)</u> and <u>NTP (2018a)</u>, examined PFHxS effects on histopathology endpoints; three *high*
- 19 confidence studies (Chang et al., 2018; NTP, 2018a; Butenhoff et al., 2009) examined PFHxS effects on
- 20 thyroid gland weight. Lastly, two high confidence studies (NTP, 2018a; Butenhoff et al., 2009) also
- 21 measured adrenal gland weights. A summary of the study evaluations for each endpoint are presented in
- 22 Figures 3-6, 3-12, and 3-13; additional details can be obtained from HAWC.

Thyroid hormones

- 23 Four studies (three *high* and one *low* confidence; see Figure 3-6, below) examined the effects of
- 24 PFHxS on levels of thyroid hormones, T3, T4, and/or TSH. One high confidence study, NTP (2018a)
- 25 examined effects on serum concentrations of TSH, T3, and total and free T4 in adult animals. The other two
- 26 high confidence studies examined effects of PFHxS on serum T4 (Ramhøj et al., 2018), T3 and TSH (Ramhøj
- 27 et al., 2020) in exposed dams and their offspring (exposed via lactation) through PND 22. Lastly, the fourth
- 28 study was *low* confidence in which <u>Chang et al. (2018)</u> reported using a developmental study design that
- 29 followed established guidelines for such studies (OECD 422 Testing guidelines). However, the reported
- 30 study design ignored essential components of the OECD 422 developmental toxicity screening guidelines. A
- 31 necessary requirement of the OECD guidelines is that serum T4 be measured as part of developmental
- 32 toxicity studies. The study authors did not measure T4 serum levels, under the rationale that T4 is an
- 33 "inactive hormone" and elected to measure TSH serum levels instead. It has been established that serum
- 34 TSH measures are not good indicators of potential endocrine disruption (OECD, 2016; Stoker et al., 2006;
- 35 Crofton, 2004).



Figure 3-6. Study evaluation results for measures of thyroid hormone levels in PFHxS animal toxicity studies. Full details available by clicking HAWC link.

1 NTP (2018a) measured free and total T4 serum levels in Sprague Dawley and Ramhøj et al. (2018) 2 measured total T4 serum levels in Wistar rats (see Figures 3-7 and 3-8). NTP observed a statistically 3 significant, dose-dependent decrease (p < 0.01) of free and total T4 levels starting at the lowest 4 experimental dose (0.625 mg/kg-day) in male rats (up to 60% and 78% decrease in free and total T4 5 respectively); free T4 and total T4 were significantly decreased beginning at 12.5 mg/kg-day and 6.25 6 mg/kg-day, respectively, in female rats (p < 0.01, up to 32% and 38% decrease in free and total T4 7 respectively). However, serum total T4 levels are a more sensitive and reliable measure of T4 due to 8 sensitivity limitations in the available assays used to measure free T4. <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u> reported 9 similar findings in Wistar rat dams, with statistically significant, dose-dependent decreases in serum total 10 T4 at 5 mg/kg-day and above in dams at PND 22 after exposure from gestational day 7 (GND 7) through 11 postnatal day 16/17 (Ramhøj et al., 2018) (-26% decrease at 5 mg/kg-day dose and up to -71% decrease 12 at 25 mg/kg-day dose). Comparable observations were made in the pups born to the PFHxS-exposed dams in <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u>, with statistically significant decreases in total T4 levels in serum collected from 13 14 PND22 pups at ≥ 5 mg/kg-day (p < 0.001, up to a 71% decrease in total T4 at 25 mg/kg-day dose and 38% 15 decrease in total T4 at 5 mg/kg-day dose). No overt toxicity was observed at any of the highest doses tested in any of the available studies. Effects occurred at lower concentrations of PFHxS in male rats than their 16 17 female counterparts indicating that males could be more susceptible to PFHxS effects than females (see 18 Figure 3-7). However, a more likely explanation is that these observations, at least in part, can be explained 19 by the differences in PFHxS pharmacokinetics that exist between male and female rats. Sex differences in plasma half-life and tissue distribution have been observed for PFHxS, wherein PFHxS-exposed male rats 20 This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

3-59

1	have a longer plasma half-life (20.7–26.9 days) versus their female counterparts (0.9–1.7 days) (<u>Kim et al.</u> ,
2	<u>2016b</u>).
3	Two studies, <u>NTP (2018a)</u> and <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u> , measured T3 in serum. <u>NTP (2018a)</u> observed
4	a statistically significant and dose-dependent decrease ($p < 0.05$) in serum T3 levels in male, but not female,
5	SD rats at ≥0.625 mg/kg-day (<i>p</i> < 0.01); <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u> in a similar study design as <u>Ramhøj et al.</u>
6	(2018), reported a significant decrease in serum T3 in Wistar rat dams at the highest tested dose: 25
7	mg/kg-day at PND 22 after exposure from gestational day 7 (GND 7) through postnatal day 16/17
8	($p < 0.001$, 19% decrease). Comparable observations were also made in the pups born from the exposed
9	dams at PD16/17 in which a significant decrease in serum T3 was observed in pups of both sexes at the
10	highest dose: 25 mg/kg-day ($p < 0.001$, 16% decrease).
11	Lastly, three studies, <u>NTP (2018a)</u> , <u>Chang et al. (2018)</u> and <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u> investigated PFHxS
12	effects on TSH levels. None of these studies observed changes in TSH serum levels in male or female CD1
13	mice, Sprague Dawley rats or Wistar rats in response to PFHxS exposure.
14	Taken together, and as noted in the study results reported by NTP and the combined Ramhøj
15	studies (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2020</u> ; <u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>), these results support that PFHxS exposure in rats has the
16	ability to adversely decrease the endocrine hormones, T4 and T3, in the absence of observed effects on
17	TSH.



Figure 3-7. Summary of thyroid hormone measures in animal studies. Figure displays the three *high* confidence studies included in the analysis; the sole *low* confidence study, <u>Chang et al. (2018)</u> was omitted from the analysis. Full details available by clicking <u>HAWC</u> link. Details on study confidence may be found in Figure 3-6.



Figure 3-8. Percent change in thyroid hormone levels following PFHxS exposure in the available animal toxicology studies. For details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Histopathology

1 Three *high* confidence studies evaluated nonneoplastic histopathologic lesions in endocrine 2 tissues in response to PFHxS exposure (Ramhøj et al., 2020; NTP, 2018a; Butenhoff et al., 2009) 3 (see Figure 3-9). NTP (2018a) evaluated various organs in the endocrine system including the 4 adrenal cortex, adrenal medulla, parathyroid gland, pituitary gland, and the thyroid gland in adult 5 male and female rats exposed to PFHxS for 28 days. <u>NTP (2018a)</u> observed no histological lesions in 6 any of the endocrine tissues they evaluated and made no observations of hyperplasia or 7 hypertrophy in the thyroids at doses up to 10 mg/kg-day in male rats or 50 mg/kg-day in female 8 rats. However, a 44-day study by **Butenhoff et al. (2009)** observed increased incidences of 9 hypertrophy and hyperplasia (characterized as "minimal") of thyroid follicular epithelial cells in 10 adult male rats that were exposed to 3.0 mg/kg-day PFHxS (40% incidence) and an increase in 11 "moderate" hypertrophy and hyperplasia at 10 mg/kg-day PFHxS (70% incidence) for up to 44 12 days (minimal hypertrophy/hyperplasia (20% incidence) was observed in control animals). The 13 study authors attributed the pathological changes in the thyroid to changes in enzyme induction in 14 the liver (see Serum Biomarkers of Liver Function in Section 3.2.5) that have been shown by others 15 (Sanders et al., 1988) to result in a compensatory increase in T4 clearance that may elicit increases 16 in TSH hormone levels or no compensatory TSH responses. The role of TSH in the progression of 17 thyroid hyperplasia and hypertrophy were highlighted in Noves et al. (2019). In the proposed 18 Adverse Outcome Pathway (AOP) by Noves et al. (2019), the authors illustrate that increased serum 19 TSH may lead to thyroid hyperplasia and hypertrophy. However, <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> did not 20 measure thyroid hormone levels as part of their experimental analysis, so this hypothesis was not 21 tested. Lastly, <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u> reported that in Wistar rat dams exposed to PFHxS at doses 22 ranging from 0.05 to 25 m/kg-day from gestational day 7 (GND 7) through postnatal day 16/17, no PFHxS effects on thyroid histopathology were observed. The authors reported that the thyroid 23 glands corresponding to the high dose (25 mg/kg-day) male pups showed "small histological 24 25 changes;" however, these changes were within the normal range and were no longer evident on PD 26 22. The authors did not observe hypertrophy or hyperplasia at any time point in either the exposed 27 dams or their offspring (Ramhøj et al., 2020).



Figure 3-9. Study evaluation results for endocrine histopathology outcomes in PFHxS animal toxicity studies. Full details available by clicking <u>HAWC</u> link.

<u>Organ weights</u>

1 Three studies evaluated the effect of PFHxS exposure on thyroid gland weights (Ramhøj et 2 al., 2020; Chang et al., 2018; NTP, 2018a) (see Figure 3-10; Figure 3-11). Chang et al. (2018) and 3 NTP (2018a) observed no significant effects in adult CD1 male or female mice or in adult male or 4 female Sprague Dawley rats at the PFHxS doses administered in these studies (see Figure 3-11). 5 However, <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u> observed a statistically significant (p < 0.05) decrease in absolute 6 thyroid weights (relative weights were not reported) starting at 5 mg/kg bw-day that continued 7 into the highest dose tested (25 mg/kg bw-day) in PD 22 female Wistar pups exposed to PFHxS 8 starting at GD7 (5 mg/kg bw-day *p* < 0.05, 17% decrease; 25 mg/kg bw-day *p* < 0.01; 23% 9 decrease) (see Figure 3-11). The differences in experimental designs across these studies make it 10 difficult to compare the results and thus the importance of the findings reported by Ramhøj et al. 11 (2020) is unclear. Two studies, Butenhoff et al. (2009) and Chang et al. (2018) evaluated the effects of PFHxS 12 13 on adrenal gland weights in SD rats. Butenhoff et al. (2009) reported no effect on absolute or relative adrenal weight resulting from 0, 0.3, 1.3, or 10 PFHxS mg/kg-day for 44 days. NTP observed 14 15 statistically significant increase in absolute adrenal weights in female rats (at \geq 12.5 mg/kg-day; 16 15% increase) and an increase in relative adrenal gland weight at 50 mg/kg-day (9% increase 17 p < 0.01) in female rats. NTP also reported decreases in both absolute (at \geq 5 mg/kg-day; -13%;

- 1 p < 0.05) and relative adrenal weights (at $\ge 2.5 \text{ mg/kg-day}$; -17%; p < 0.05) in male rats. It is unclear
- 2 why there were opposing responses across sexes in the NTP study that were not observed in the
- 3 <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> (see Figure 3-11); however, these observations could be due to the
- 4 pharmacokinetic differences between male and female animals coupled with differences in study
- 5 design between the two studies.
- 6
- Overall, the organ weight changes are mixed and cannot be readily interpreted.



Figure 3-10. Study evaluation results for endocrine organ weights in PFHxS animal toxicity studies. Full details available by clicking <u>HAWC</u> link.



Figure 3-11. Summary of endocrine organ weight effects in animal studies. Figure displays the *medium* and *high* confidence studies. Full details available by clicking <u>HAWC</u> link.

Mechanistic Evidence and Supplemental Information

1 The available thyroid hormones data in rodents showed strong effects on T4 and T3 after 2 short-term exposure, although no effects were observed on TSH; however, a pattern of decreased 3 T4 without pronounced (or detectable) changes in TSH is consistent with hypothyroxinemia and 4 has been observed in some analyses of other PFAS, including several long-chain (Kim et al., 2018a) 5 and short-chain (U.S. EPA, 2022, 2021a, b) PFAS. During pregnancy and early development, 6 perturbations in thyroid function can have impacts on normal growth and neurodevelopment in the 7 offspring (Stagnaro-Green and Rovet, 2016; Zoeller and Rovet, 2004). Low thyroid hormone status 8 is also likely associated with effects in numerous other organ systems, including the heart, bone, 9 lung, and intestine (Bassett et al., 2007; Mochizuki et al., 2007; Wexler and Sharretts, 2007; 10 Bizzarro and Gross, 2004). 11 Mechanistic studies on the endocrine effects of PFHxS are scarce, with only one study 12 conducted in a mammalian test system. Long et al. (2013) explored the effects of PFHxS along with 13 other PFAS on thyroid hormone signaling and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) using the T3-14 dependent rat pituitary cell line, GH3. The authors found that PFHxS inhibited GH3 cell 15 proliferation in a dose-dependent manner. Additionally, the authors found that PFHxS—along with 16 three other PFAS (PFOS, PFNA, and PFUnA)—antagonized GH3 cell proliferation in response to 17 exogenous T3 treatment. The authors speculated that PFHxS may compete with T3 for binding to 18 thyroid hormone receptor (TR) or other cofactors to inhibit cell proliferation; however, specific 19 experiments testing this hypothesis were not conducted. 20 Other studies in nonmammalian systems (e.g., avian neuronal cells and chicken embryos) 21 have shown that PFHxS alters mRNA levels of thyroid hormone-responsive genes, including 22 transthyretin (TTR) (Cassone et al., 2012; Vongphachan et al., 2011). TTR is a transport protein that 23 is secreted into the blood by the liver and by the choroid plexus into the cerebrospinal fluid. TTR 24 binds to thyroid hormones such as T4 and T3 in the serum and in the cerebrospinal fluid. Due to its 25 low affinity for thyroid hormones TTR readily disassociates from these and is therefore responsible 26 for the immediate delivery of T3 and T4 to various extrahepatic tissues and potentially into the 27 brain (Palha, 2002). Decreases in TTR may lead to decreases in T4 transport (Refetoff, 2015). Additionally, TTR plays a key role in thyroid hormone storage and transport during fetal 28 29 development. PFHxS-induced decreases in TTR mRNA have been shown in nonmammalian 30 systems, and the above mechanism would in part assist in elucidating the mechanisms underlying 31 the in vivo observations pertaining to PFHxS-induced decreases T3 and T4. However, TTR binds 32 only a small portion of the circulating thyroid hormones (15%–20%) (Refetoff, 2015), and 33 confirmatory studies in model systems more relevant to humans would be needed to understand 34 the potential role of PFHxS-induced alterations to thyroid hormone-responsive genes in humans. 35 Data from the ToxCast Dashboards Endocrine Disruptor Screening Program (EDSP21) 36 (https://comptox.epa.gov/dashboard/chemical-lists/EDSPUOC) reveal that K+PFHxS was active in 37 a total of only 2 out of 57 endocrine-related assays (with both positive hits at PFHxS levels nearing

- 1 the cytotoxicity limit). A summary of the assay results from the EDSP21 project may be found in
- 2 Appendix C, Section 3. Briefly, out of 27 estrogen receptor assays, K+PFHxS was active in one, the
- **3** ATG_ERE_CIS_up induction assay with an AC50 at 96.96 μM (see Figure 3-12). K+PFHxS was not
- 4 active in any of the 16 and rogen receptor assays. K+PFHxS was active in one out of 13 assays
- 5 associated with perturbation of thyroid hormone signaling, synthesis, or metabolism, namely the
- 6 NIS-RAIU inhibition assay with an AC50 of 18.68 μM. It should be noted that the current panel of
- 7 bioactivity assays interrogating thyroid hormone dynamics is predominately targeted at receptor-
- 8 dependent agonism/antagonism, which is only one of several pathways by which the mammalian
- 9 HPT-axis may be perturbed by PFAS (<u>Noyes et al., 2019</u>). K+PFHxS was not active in any of the
- 10 three steroidogenesis assays in the database. Overall, although not conclusive, PFHxS exhibited
- 11 little in vitro endocrine activity in these assays (>96% of assays were inactive).
- 12 Overall, the mechanistic information is scarce and inconclusive, and therefore does not
- 13 provide clear support for or against endocrine (thyroid)-modulating activity of PFHxS.



Figure 3-12. EDSP21 results of PFHxS active assays: A: ATG_ERE_CIS_up induction assay performed in HepG2 cells; B: NIS_RAIU_inhibition assay performed in HEK293T cells. Assay details available in Appendix C, Section 3.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-69DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Evidence Integration

1 Human studies provide conflicting evidence as to the potential effects of PFHxS on thyroid 2 outcomes (e.g., thyroid hormone levels). Although a few studies did suggest an association between 3 increasing PFHxS exposure levels and decreased circulating thyroid hormones (i.e., T4) or 4 subclinical thyroid disease, the associations were not consistent across studies (most studies were 5 null); the inconsistent findings could not be explained by differences in study design, confidence, or 6 other factors such as population, and there was no clear coherence across outcomes. The available 7 human evidence on PFHxS effects on the thyroid is indeterminate. 8 Evidence of thyroid toxicity resulting from PFHxS exposure in animal models exposed in 9 short-term and multigenerational studies showed dose-dependent effects on thyroid hormone (TH) 10 levels, most notably consistent decreases in serum T4 levels in rats (untested in mice) (NTP, 2018a; 11 Ramhøj et al., 2018). Coherent and consistent decreases in T3 in rats were also observed across 12 studies, whereas TSH was unchanged. Thyroid organ weights and thyroid histopathology were 13 inconsistently or only weakly affected across studies (e.g., increased incidence of thyroid 14 hypertrophy and mild hyperplasia in one study and decreased thyroid weight in another, with 15 otherwise null results), suggesting that the TH decreases are probably not attributable to effects of

- 16 PFHxS on thyroid gland function. However, the available evidence from exposed rodents shows a
- 17 consistent, dose-dependent disruption of thyroid hormone homeostasis, characterized by
- 18 decreased T4 and T3 serum levels concurrent with unaffected, normal levels of TSH is consistent
- 19 with hypothyroxinemia and also consistent with what has been observed in other PFAS including
- 20 PFBS, PFHxA, PFBA and PFOA. The observed TH decreases occurring in exposed adult animals and
- 21 indirectly (through the dams) exposed offspring were of a large magnitude of effect and occurred
- even at PFHxS exposure levels as low as 0.625 mg/kg-day in male rats. This finding is consistent
- with the published proposed thyroid disruption Adverse Outcome Pathway (AOP) by <u>Noves et al.</u>
- 24 (2019) and publication by <u>Zoeller and Crofton (2005</u>), in which the authors illustrated that
- 25 endocrine disruption in humans and rodents possess analogous key events and adverse outcomes
- 26 perhaps due to conserved biology across species (see additional discussion below). Decreased
- 27 thyroid hormone levels are judged relevant to human health, given the many similarities in the
- 28 production, regulation, and functioning of thyroid hormones between rodents and humans (<u>Vansell</u>,
- 29 <u>2022; Stagnaro-Green and Rovet, 2016; Dong et al., 2015; Navarro et al., 2014; Rovet, 2014; Berbel</u>
- 30 et al., 2010; Morreale de Escobar et al., 2008; Cuevas et al., 2005; Rovet, 2005; Zoeller and Rovet,
- 31 <u>2004; Hood and Klaassen, 2000; Hood et al., 1999a; Hood et al., 1999b</u>). Taken together, the
- 32 available animal evidence on endocrine effects, which is primarily based on the observed
- 33 supporting decreases in thyroid hormone levels after PFHxS exposure, is considered *moderate*.
- 34 Mechanistic studies examining the endocrine disrupting effects of PFHxS are scarce. In the
- single mammalian study, Long et al. (2013), PFHxS, similar to other tested PFAS, inhibited cell
- 36 growth but not proliferation in the T3-dependent rat pituitary cell line, GH3. However, while this

- 1 study suggests the possibility that PFHxS might compete with THs, these data alone are insufficient
- 2 to provide support for biological plausibility.
- 3 The currently available **evidence indicates** that PFHxS exposure likely causes thyroid
- 4 effects in humans given sufficient exposure conditions⁶ (see Table 3-10). This conclusion is based
- 5 primarily on consistent and coherent decreases in thyroid hormone levels across short-term and
- 6 multigenerational studies in rats exposed to PFHxS levels ≥ 2.5 mg/kg-day (with males being more
- 7 sensitive). The pattern of available evidence in rats indicates that PFHxS, like other PFAS (U.S. EPA,
- 8 <u>2021a</u>; <u>Coperchini et al., 2017</u>) leads to a disruption of thyroid hormone homeostasis in a pattern
- 9 similar to hypothyroxinemia. <u>Noves et al. (2019)</u> along with <u>Zoeller and Crofton (2005)</u> illustrated
- 10 that endocrine disruption in humans and rodents possess analogous key events and adverse
- 11 outcomes perhaps due to conserved biology across species, and thus these effects are considered
- 12 adverse and relevant to humans. These TH decreases could have detrimental effects on susceptible
- 13 populations as T3 and T4 are critical in brain development and bone growth during early childhood
- 14 and adolescence (<u>Crofton, 2004</u>). However, at present, few epidemiological studies and
- 15 toxicological studies have addressed PFHxS-induced effects in these populations, highlighting an
- 16 important data gap.

⁶ The "sufficient exposure conditions" are more fully evaluated and defined for the identified health effects through dose-response analysis in Section 5.
Table 3-10. Evidence profile table for PFHxS thyroid effects

	Evidence Integration Summary Judgement						
Evidence from studies of e	exposed humans (see <u>Human</u>	n Thyroid Section)					
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	⊕⊕⊙ Evidence Indicates (likely)		
Thyroid Measures & Disease Twenty-six <i>medium</i> confidence studies Ten <i>low</i> confidence	No factors noted	Unexplained inconsistency	Some human studies report an inverse association between thyroid hormones and PFHxS exposure, but most studies reported null findings.	⊙⊙⊙ Indeterminate	Primary basis: Moderate animal evidence for decreased T4 and T3 in adult and juvenile rats		
					Human relevance: Effects in rats are considered		
Evidence from in vivo anim	nal studies (see <u>Animal Thyroi</u>	id Section)	I		relevant to humans due to conserved biology across species (see Evidence		
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	Integration section.) Cross-stream coherence:		
 Thyroid Hormones Three <i>high</i> confidence studies in rats 28-d Multigenerational 	 Consistent and coherent decreases of T4 and T3 in adult and juvenile rats in the absence of effects on TSH Large Magnitude of effect (up to 70%) Dose response in studies 	No factors noted	Studies in rats (2 for T3 and 3 for T4) reported significant decreases in TH levels in both male and female rats (for T4), or just male rats (for T3), generally after PFHxS exposure at ≥2.5 mg/kg-d.	⊕⊕⊕ <i>Moderate</i> Based on decreased T4 and T3	 NA; human evidence indeterminate Susceptible Populations and lifestages: Young individuals exposed to PFHxS during gestation and early childhood may be susceptible populations. 		

Evidence Stream Summary and Interpretation				Evidence Integration Summary Judgement			
 Histopathology Three <i>high</i> confidence studies in rats 28- and 42-d Multigenerational 	•	No factors noted	•	No factors noted	Increased incidence of thyroid hypertrophy and hyperplasia in male rats in one study.		
Organ Weights Three <i>high</i> confidence studies in rats and one <i>medium</i> confidence study in mice	•	Concerning <i>magnitude</i> of effect (up to 23% decrease) in female pups in one study	•	Unexplained inconsistency (across studies for thyroid weights and across sexes for adrenal weights)	Decreased absolute thyroid weight in female F1 pups at PD22 (one study); Increased absolute adrenal gland weight in female rats and decreased absolute adrenal gland weight in male rats (one study); Increased relative adrenal gland weight in female rats (highest dose only) and decreased a relative adrenal gland weight in male rats (one study).		

3.2.2. Immune Effects

Human Studies

1 Epidemiology studies examining immune effects of PFHxS exposure include studies on 2 antibody response, infectious diseases, and hypersensitivity-related outcomes, which includes 3 asthma, allergies, and atopic dermatitis. The health effects results were grouped across studies to 4 develop conclusions on the same or related outcomes for the main categories of immune response 5 according to immunotoxicity guidance from the World Health Organization/International 6 Programme on Chemical Safety (IPCS, 2012): (1) immunosuppression, (2) sensitization or allergic 7 response, and (3) autoimmunity. Evidence for potential immune effects was considered within 8 these three categories because of common and related mechanisms within each category. Within 9 each category, health effects data were considered in the order of most to least informative for 10 immunotoxicity risk assessment (IPCS, 2012). Specifically, clinical studies on disease or immune 11 function assays are considered most informative, then general/observational immune assays 12 (lymphocyte phenotyping or cytokines), and finally endpoints such as hematology (i.e., blood 13 leukocyte counts) are least informative. Outcomes related to immunosuppression were considered 14 within two subcategories: antibody response and infectious disease. Several different outcomes, 15 such as asthma and food allergies, were included in the sensitization and allergic response category.

16 No studies were identified that evaluated outcomes related to autoimmunity.

Immunosuppression

17 Antibody response outcomes

- 18 The production of antigen-specific antibodies in response to an immune challenge (e.g.,
- 19 vaccination in humans or injection with sheep red blood cells in rodents) is a well-accepted
- 20 measure of immune function included in risk assessment guidelines and animal testing
- 21 requirements for immunotoxicity (IPCS, 2012; ICH Expert Working Group, 2005; U.S. EPA, 1998;
- 22 <u>IPCS, 1996</u>). The production, release, and increase in circulating levels of antigen-specific
- 23 antibodies are important for protection against infectious agents and preventing or reducing
- 24 severity of influenza, respiratory infection, colds, and other diseases as part of the humoral immune
- 25 response. Reduced antibody production is an indication of immunosuppression and may result in
- 26 increased susceptibility to infectious disease.
- Evaluations for studies of antibody responses following vaccination as reported in ten
 epidemiological studies (reported in 11 publications) are summarized in Figure 3-13. Among these
 studies, there were analyses of several vaccinations: diphtheria (six studies), tetanus (seven
 studies), measles (three studies), rubella (two studies), mumps (one study), Haemophilus
 influenzae Type B (two studies), hepatitis (one study), and FluMist (one study). There were four
 prospective birth cohorts, including three in the Faroe Islands and one in Norway (Granum et al.,
 2013), and one cohort of children beginning in their first year of life in Guinea-Bissau

- 1 (<u>Timmermann et al., 2020</u>). The three Faroe Islands studies included non-overlapping populations
- 2 enrolled at separate times, all *medium* confidence, one with enrollment in 1997–2000 and
- 3 subsequent follow-up to age 7 (<u>Grandjean et al., 2012</u>) and age 13 (<u>Grandjean et al., 2017a</u>), one
- 4 with enrollment in 2007–2009 and follow-up to age 5 (<u>Grandjean et al., 2017b</u>), and one with
- 5 enrollment in 1986–1987 and follow-up to age 28 (<u>Shih et al., 2021</u>). These cohorts are thus
- 6 considered independent of each other. Some analyses in <u>Grandjean et al. (2017b)</u> combined new
- 7 data from the cohort born in 2007-2009 with new follow-up data from the cohort born in 1997–
- 8 2000 (<u>Grandjean et al., 2012</u>); these are labeled in the results table. Given that the etiologic window
- 9 for immune effects of PFAS exposure is not known, these studies in the Faroe Islands have the
- 10 benefit of assessing multiple windows of exposure (maternal, multiple points in childhood) as well
- 11 as following outcomes over time. For example, exposures measured during infancy could have
- 12 reflected residual maternal antibodies, but the half-life of maternal antibodies is short and residual
- 13 antibodies would not be expected to exist beyond infancy and would not exist in the children at age
- 14 five years. Similarly, vaccine boosters likely changed these children's antibody concentrations over
- 15 time, but such changes were not expected to be related to PFHxS concentration. Having multiple
- 16 windows of exposure in this study allowed for comparisons of effects. In children, there were also
- 17 two *medium* confidence cross-sectional studies in the U.S. and Greenland (<u>Timmermann et al., 2021</u>;
- 18 <u>Stein et al., 2016b</u>) and one *low* confidence (due to expected residual confounding) cross-sectional
- 19 study in Germany (<u>Abraham et al., 2020</u>). In adults, there were two additional *low* confidence
- 20 studies, a short-term cohort (with exposure measured at vaccination and follow-up 30 days later)
- 21 in the United States (<u>Stein et al., 2016a</u>) and a cross-sectional study in Denmark (<u>Kielsen et al.,</u>
- 22 <u>2016</u>). These studies were *low* confidence due to concerns for potential selection bias and
- 23 confounding.



Figure 3-13. Summary of evaluation of epidemiology studies of PFHxS and antibody response immunosuppression effects. For additional details see HAWC link.

There are outcome-specific ratings for these domains. Multiple publications of the same data are presented on the heat map as one study. Grandjean et al. (2017a) also includes Grandjean et al. (2012).

1 The results for this set of studies are shown in Tables 3-11 (children) and 3-12 (adults). 2 Although results were mostly not statistically significant, a general inverse trend was apparent, 3 particularly among studies of children. Of the six *medium* confidence studies in children, three 4 (Grandjean et al., 2017a; Stein et al., 2016b; Granum et al., 2013) observed a statistically significant 5 inverse association for at least one vaccine type while the other three also reported inverse 6 associations in some analyses (Timmermann et al., 2021; Timmermann et al., 2020; Grandjean et 7 al., 2017b). Antibody levels were measured in the blood of individuals of several age groups (and 8 therefore different lengths of time since their initial vaccination or booster vaccination) and 9 compared with serum PFHxS concentrations also measured at different ages. All the studies in 10 children reported an association between higher concentrations of PFHxS and lower anti-vaccine 11 antibody levels in at least some exposure-outcome analysis pairs. These associations were 12 statistically significant for tetanus vaccination in children at ages 5 and 7 with childhood exposure 13 measurement Grandjean et al. (2012) and for rubella vaccination in Granum et al. (2013) and Stein 14 et al. (2016b). There are some results in the opposite direction for sub-analyses of the Faroe Island 15 cohorts and in Timmermann et al. (2021). In Timmermann et al. (2020), an inverse association was

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

1 observed in children who had received only one measles vaccination, but a positive association was 2 observed in children who had received two vaccinations. Neither of these results were statistically 3 significant, but the exposure contrast in this study was limited, which may have influenced their 4 ability to detect a statistically significant effect. No biological rationale has been identified as to 5 whether one exposure time period is more predictive of an overall immune response which might 6 explain the few inconsistent results. Only one study (Timmermann et al., 2021) examined the odds 7 ratio for not being protected against diphtheria (antibody concentrations < 0.1 IU/mL), which has 8 clearer clinical significance than continuous changes in antibody levels, and they reported an OR of 9 6.44 (95% 1.51, 27.36) among children with known vaccination records (adjusted for area of 10 residence, consistent with continuous antibody results). 11 In adults, the birth cohort with follow-up to young adulthood (Shih et al., 2021) reported 12 inconsistent results across exposure measurement timing windows. Results were similarly 13 inconsistent for antibodies to Hepatitis A and B (not shown). One low confidence study reported an 14 inverse association for diphtheria and tetanus vaccination (Kielsen et al., 2016). The single study of 15 FluMist reported no immunosuppression (Stein et al., 2016a). 16 It is plausible that the observed associations with PFHxS exposure could be explained by 17 confounding across PFAS. Exposure levels to other PFAS in the Faroe Islands populations were 18 considerably higher (blood concentrations of PFOS 17 ng/mL, PFOA 4 ng/mL, PFHxS 0.6 ng/mL) at age 5 years in Grandjean et al. (2012), and there was a moderately-high correlation between PFHxS 19 20 with PFOS and PFOA (r = 0.57 and 0.53, respectively). The authors assessed the possibility of 21 confounding in a follow-up paper (Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean, 2018) in which PFHxS effect 22 estimates from a piecewise-linear model were adjusted for PFOS and PFOA and there was only 23 limited attenuation of the observed effects of PFHxS indicating that there was still an independent 24 effect of PFHxS(see Appendix D, Table D-1). These two PFAS were the most important to control for 25 given that they were the most highly correlated with PFHxS and present at the highest 26 concentrations in the population. The other available studies did not perform multipollutant 27 modeling. In Stein et al. (2016b), correlations between PFHxS and PFOS and PFOA were moderate-28 high (r = 0.6 and 0.45, respectively), while in the other studies of antibody response, specific 29 correlations for each pair of PFAS were not provided, so it is difficult to determine the potential for 30 highly correlated PFAS to confound the effect estimates. Still, seeing PFHxS associated with the 31 outcome in multiple studies, each of which have different exposure conditions and thus different 32 inter-PFAS correlations, reduces the likelihood that confounding is the explanation. Overall, while it 33 is not possible to rule out confounding across PFAS, the available evidence supports that it is 34 unlikely to completely explain the observed effects, based primarily on the multipollutant modeling 35 results of the Faroe Islands studies (Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean, 2018). Other sources of 36 potential confounding, including possible co-exposures such as PCBs, were controlled 37 appropriately.

1 Despite the imprecision of many of the individual exposure-outcome analysis pairs, the 2 findings are generally consistent with an association between PFHxS exposure and 3 immunosuppression. Of the 37 antibody-to-PFHxS-exposure analyses provided in Table 3-11, 26 4 support a finding of decrease in antibodies with higher PFHxS concentration. While some were less 5 than a 1% decrease in antibody concentration per doubling of PFHxS concentration, the majority 6 were greater than 5% and several were greater than 10%. While there is not clear clinical adversity 7 for these fairly small changes in antibody levels for a healthy individual, by lowering the immune 8 response of the entire population, it is likely that a subset of people will be shifted into clinically 9 relevant immune suppression and that people with pre-existing immunosuppression will be more 10 severely affected. This combined with the elevated odds for lack of protection from diphtheria in 11 Timmermann et al. (2021) support that this is a relevant health effect resulting from PFHxS 12 exposure. The variability in the results, including a few null and positive associations, could be 13 related to differences in sample sizes, individual variation, vaccine type, and differences in timing of 14 the boosters, as well as differences in timing of antibody measurements in relation to the last 15 booster. However, these factors cannot be explored further with currently available evidence. The 16 inverse associations were observed despite limited sensitivity resulting from narrow exposure 17 contrast in some studies. While multiple of the available studies are in a fairly specific population 18 (i.e., Faroe Islands), this is the highest quality evidence available and the results are directly 19 relevant to humans in general, particularly given the similar exposure levels to the general U.S. 20 population. There is not evidence that differences in dietary habits (e.g., marine diet) or social 21 determinants of health in this population can explain the results. In summary, some uncertainty 22 remains resulting from variability in the response by age of exposure and outcome measures as 23 well as from vaccination (initial and boosters), and also due to the potential for confounding across 24 PFAS discussed above; but overall, the available evidence provides support for an association 25 between increased serum levels of PFHxS and decreased antibody production following routine 26 vaccinations in children and adults.

Reference, N, confidence	PFHxS Exposure timing and concentration in serum	Outcome measure timing	Effect estimate as specified	Effect estimate as specified ^a
			Diphtheria vaccine (% change in antibodies with increase in PFHxS)	Tetanus vaccine (% change in antibodies with increase in PFHxS) ^a
<u>Grandjean et al.</u>	Maternal; mean	Children (age 5), prebooster	-6.4 (-16.0 to 4.3)	-6.3 (-15.1 to 3.4)
<u>(2012)</u> , N = 380– 537, medium	(IQR): 4.4 (2.2–8.4) ng/mL	Children (age 5), postbooster	-3.7 (-14.1 to 7.9)	6.3 (-8.4 to 23.2)
		Children (age 7)	-0.5 (-13.1 to 14.0)	4.5 (-9.6 to 20.6)

Table 3-11. Summary of PFHxS and data on antibody response to vaccines in children

Reference, N, confidence	PFHxS Exposure timing and concentration in serum	Outcome measure timing	Effect estimate as specified	Effect estimate as specified a
	Children (age 5);	Children (age 5), prebooster	5.0 (-8.9 to 21.0)	-6.3 (-17.6 to 6.5)
	mean (IQR): 0.6	Children (age 5), postbooster	-9.1 (-18.7 to 1.7)	-19.0 (-29.8 to -6.6)
Grandioan et al	(0.5–0.9) ng/mL	Children (age 7)	-9.8 (-22.3 to 4.9)	-19.7 (-31.6 to -5.7)
(2017a) 1997–2000 cohort	Children (age 7); mean (IQR): 0.5 (0.4–0.7) ng/mL	Children (age 13)	-10.2 (-25.7 to 8.5)	14.8 (-13.3 to 52.2)
	Children (age 13); mean (IQR): 0.4 (0.3–0.5) ng/mL	Children (age 13)	-5.5 (-22.9 to 15.8)	8.7 (-18.5 to 45.0)
<u>Grandjean et al.</u> (2017b) ^b , N = 349,	At birth, not reported	Children (age 5), prebooster	-3.33 (-15.28 to 10.30)	-11.31 (-21.72 to 0.49)
<i>medium</i> 2007–2009 cohort (unless specified)	Infant (18 m); median (IQR): 0.2 (0.1–0.4) ng/mL	Children (age 5), prebooster	2007–2009 cohort 7.85 (-0.38 to 16.76) 1997–2000 cohort -12.42 (-55.25 to 71.43)	2007–2009 cohort -2.616 (-10.08 to 5.47) 1997–2000 cohort -5.18 (-51.71 to 86.19)
	Children (age 5); median (IQR):0.3 (0.2–0.4) ng/mL	Children (age 5), prebooster	4.26 (-15.12 to 28.08)	-4.432 (-21.26 to 15.99)
<u>Granum et al.</u> (2013), N = 49, <i>medium</i>	Maternal 0–3 d post-delivery; median: 0.3 ng/mL	Children (age 3)	n/a	0.07 (-0.03 to 0.18)
<u>Granum et al.</u> (2013), N = 50, medium	Maternal 0–3 d post-delivery; median: 0.3 ng/mL	Children (age 3)	-0.48 (-4.64 to 3.67)	n/a
Timmermann et al. (2021), N = 314, medium	Children (age 7-12)	Children (age 7-12)	Adjusted for time since vaccine booster, breastfeeding duration 48 (1, 115) Additionally adjusted for area of residence -40 (-64, 1)	Adjusted for time since vaccine booster, breastfeeding duration 28 (-6, 73) Additionally adjusted for area of residence -28 (-53, 10)
	Maternal		-53 (-87, 73)	-1 (-72, 245)
			Measles vaccine β (95%) ^a	Rubella vaccine β (95%) ^a
Timmermann et	Children (<1 yr)	Children (<1 yr)	-5 (-23, 18)	NR
<u>al. (2020)</u> , N = 237, medium	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	Children (2 yrs)	After 1 vaccine (control group) -11 (-34, 19) After 2 vaccines (intervention group) 10 (-18, 48)	NR
<u>Granum et al.</u> (2013), N = 50, <i>medium</i>	Maternal 0–3 d post-delivery; median: 0.3 ng/mL	Children (age 3)	-0.04 (-0.30 to 0.22)	–0.38 (–0.66 to –0.11)

Reference, N,	PFHxS Exposure timing and concentration in		Effect estimate as	Effect estimate as
confidence	serum	Outcome measure timing	specified	specified ^a
<u>Stein et al.</u> (2016b), N = 1,101– 1,190, <i>medium</i>	Children (age 12– 19); mean: 2.5 ng/mL	Children (age 12–19)	–2.8 (–10.1 to 5.21) (seropositive)	−6.0 (−9.6 to −2.2) (seropositive)
			Hib vaccine β (95%)ª	Mumps vaccine β (95%)ª
<u>Granum et al.</u> (2013), N = 50, medium	Maternal 0–3 d post-delivery; median: 0.7ng/mL	Children (age 3)	–0.48 (–4.64 to 3.67	n/a
<u>Stein et al.</u> (2016b), N = 1,101– 1,190, <i>medium</i>	Children (age 12– 19); mean: 2.5 ng/mL	Children (age 12–19)	n/a	-2.3 (-5.5 to 0.9)

^aLinear regression (β or % change in antibody per twofold increase of PFHxS). Numbers in parentheses are 95% confidence intervals.

^bResults for Faroe Islands Cohort 5 (2007–2009) unless otherwise stated.

Bold font indicates p < 0.05.

One study did not report quantitative results. <u>Abraham et al. (2020)</u> stated in text that there were no significant correlations of levels of PFHxS with levels of the vaccine antibodies for Hib, tetanus, or diphtheria.

Reference, N, confidence	Exposure timing and concentration	Outcome measure timing	Diphtheria vaccine β (95%)ª	Tetanus vaccine β (95%)ª	FluMist (A H1N1) vaccine Seroconversion RR (95% CI)
Shih et al. (2021), Faroe Islands, N = 281, medium	Cord blood; median (IQR) 0.2 (0.2)	Adults (age 28)	Total: 13.57 (-2.4, 32.15)) Women: 12.94 (-6.42, 36.32) Men: 14.72 (-10.98, 47.82)	Total: 0.63 (-10.86, 13.6) Women: 0.58 (-13.47, 16.91) Men: 0.74 (-17.78, 23.43)	n/a
	Children (age 7); 0.9 (0.4)		Total: 1.96 (-18.98, 28.31) Women: -18.74 (- 43.42, 16.68) Men: 17.48 (-11.86, 56.59)	Total: 3.23 (-13.22, 22.79) Women: -8.27 (-30.54, 21.15) Men: 11.01 (-10.78, 38.13)	
	Children (age 14); 0.6 (0.4)		Total: -7.62 (-37.93, 37.48) Women: -8.03 (-47.08, 59.84) Men: -7.20 (-47.17, 62.98)	Total: -10.24 (-35.99, 25.87) Women: -17.92 (-48.63, 31.14) Men: -1.37 (-39.02, 59.53)	
	Adults (age 22); 0.5 (0.4)		Total: -8.44 (-27.27, 15.27) Women: -15.68 (- 36.26, 11.55) Men: 8.32 (-27.37, 61.54)	Total: -3.47 (-19.88, 16.3) Women: -10.25 (-28.45, 12.57) Men: 11.85 (-18.98, 54.4)	
<u>Kielsen et al.</u> (<u>2016</u>), N = 12, low	Adult (10 d post vaccination); median (IQR): 0.4 (0.3–0.7) ng/mL	Adult – change from 4 d to 10 d postvaccinati on	-13.31 (-25.07, 0.29)	-4.35 (-13.72 to 6.04)	n/a
<u>Stein et al.</u> (2016a), N = 75, low	Adult (18–49 yrs old), d of vaccination; mean: 1.1 ng/mL	Adult (18–49 yrs old), 30 d postvaccinati on	n/a	n/a	by hemaglutinin inhibition: T2: 1.2 (0.2, 6.5) T3: 3.1 (0.8, 12.7) by immuno- histochemistry: T2: 1.1 (0.4, 2.9) T3: 1.7 (0.6, 4.8)

Table 3-12. Summary of PFHxS and data on antibody response to vaccines in adults

^aLinear regression (β or % change in antibody per two-fold increase of PFHxS). Numbers in parentheses are 95% confidence intervals.

Bold font indicates p < 0.05.

1 Infectious disease

2 Direct measures of infectious disease incidence or severity such as respiratory tract 3 infections, pneumonia or otitis media are useful for evaluating potential immunotoxicity in humans. 4 Increases in incidence or severity of infectious disease can be a direct consequence of impaired 5 immune function whether the specific functional deficit has been identified or not. Given the clear 6 adversity of most infectious diseases, they are generally considered good measures for how 7 immunosuppression can affect individuals and communities. Physician diagnosis is the most 8 specific way to assess infectious diseases, but these are usually only available for severe diseases 9 and are less likely for diseases where treatment is not sought. Self-reported incidence or severity of 10 disease may be less reliable but may be the only way to assess diseases such as the common cold or 11 gastroenteritis which while less adverse, are more common and can thus provide information about 12 immunosuppression and susceptibility to more severe infections. In general, symptoms of infection 13 alone are not considered reliable measures of disease because of their lack of specificity. Antibody 14 levels in response to infection are also included in this section (differentiated from antibody levels 15 in response to vaccination, described above); the utility of these measures depends on the study 16 design and population due to various factors such as potential confounding and prevalence of 17 infection. 18 Ten studies examined infectious disease occurrence in children, including eight prospective 19 birth cohorts one cohort with exposure measurement in childhood, and one cohort examining 20 antibody response to Hand, Foot, and Mouth Disease (HFMD) infection in the first three months of 21 life. In addition, two studies examined infectious disease occurrence in adults, including a cross-22 sectional study of COVID-19 illness severity (Grandjean et al., 2020) and a cross-sectional study of 23 antibody levels in response to several persistent infections (Bulka et al., 2021). 24 Study evaluations are summarized in Figure 3-14. Of the studies in children, four studies in 25 Japan (Goudarzi et al., 2017), Spain (Manzano-Salgado et al., 2019), Denmark (Dalsager et al., 26 2021a), and China (Wang et al., 2022) were *medium* confidence, and the remaining studies were 27 low confidence (Kvalem et al., 2020; Impinen et al., 2019; Zeng et al., 2019b; Impinen et al., 2018; 28 Dalsager et al., 2016; Granum et al., 2013). The *low* confidence birth cohorts were rated as 29 "deficient" in outcome ascertainment due to relying on parental self-report of incidence of common 30 infections or symptoms, with no validation of the measures. However, because the parents are 31 unlikely to know their child's exposure level, this misclassification is likely to be nondifferential 32 with respect to exposure. In contrast, the *medium* confidence studies assessed physician-diagnosed 33 conditions and were limited to more severe illnesses (otitis media, pneumonia, varicella, and

- 34 respiratory syncytial viral infection), which likely have better parental recall. Zeng et al. (2019b)
- 35 was *low* confidence because the outcome is difficult to interpret in infants and there are concerns 36
- for confounding by timing of HFMD infection as well as other limitations. The two studies in adults 37
- were both considered *medium* confidence. Grandjean et al. (2020) used biobank samples and 38 national registry data in Denmark to examine severity of COVID-19 illness severity. There was some

- 1 concern for selection bias in this study due to the expectation that biobank samples were more
- 2 likely to be available for individuals with chronic health concerns. In addition, severity of COVID-19
- 3 is not a direct measure of immune suppression as other factors may contribute to illness severity.



Figure 3-14. Summary of evaluation of epidemiology studies of PFHxS and infectious disease immunosuppression effects. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Two studies (Impinen et al., 2018; Granum et al., 2013) were sub-samples of the Norwegian Mother and Child (MoBa) cohort. The cohort sub-samples for these publications were different, so their study evaluations and results are reported independently, but it is possible that there is some overlap in the participants. Two studies (Dalsager et al., 2021a; Dalsager et al., 2016) were both analyses of the Odense Child Cohort. They were evaluated separately due to their different samples and outcome measurement methods but were not considered fully independent samples.

- 4 In children, higher odds of infectious disease with higher PFHxS levels were reported in two
- 5 of the four *medium* confidence studies (<u>Wang et al., 2022</u>; <u>Goudarzi et al., 2017</u>) and three of the six
- 6 *low* confidence studies (<u>Impinen et al., 2019</u>; <u>Dalsager et al., 2016</u>; <u>Granum et al., 2013</u>) (see Table
- 7 3-11). <u>Wang et al. (2022)</u> reported higher odds (though not statistically significant) of upper and
- 8 lower respiratory infection and diarrhea with higher exposure. (Goudarzi et al., 2017) reported
- 9 higher odds of total infectious disease from birth to age 4, but only in girls, and a significant trend
- 10 was observed, but the association was nonmonotonic across quartiles. No clear explanation for why

- 1 these results might vary by sex is available, and none of the other studies of immunosuppression
- 2 analyzed the results stratified by sex. <u>Impinen et al. (2019)</u> also reported higher odds of
- 3 gastroenteritis (statistically significant from birth to age 3), but not common cold or otitis media.
- 4 <u>Dalsager et al. (2016)</u> reported higher odds of diarrhea and fever (*p* > 0.05), but not cough or nasal
- 5 discharge. Another *medium* confidence study (<u>Manzano-Salgado et al., 2019</u>) reported an
- 6 association in the same direction, but the effect estimate was small and imprecise. Two other *low*
- 7 confidence studies did not observe an association between maternal PFHxS concentrations and
- 8 infections. In adults and adolescents, one study found higher persistent pathogen burden with
- 9 higher exposure (Bulka et al., 2021). In contrast, there an inverse association between PFHxS
- 10 exposure and COVID-19 illness severity. Overall, many of the studies had limited sensitivity due to
- 11 narrow exposure contrast, but there was no apparent relationship between higher study exposure
- 12 levels and observed associations. Given the inconsistency across studies, there is considerable
- 13 uncertainty in this outcome. The associations observed in some studies provide some limited
- 14 support for (and coherence with) the evidence of immunosuppression observed in the antibody
- 15 response studies.

Table 3-13. Summary of PFHxS and selected data on infectious disease in humans

Disease	Reference, confidence	Exposure measurement timing and concentration	Disease assessment timing	PFHxS results
Total infectious disease ^a	<u>Dalsager et al.</u> (2021a), medium	Maternal; median: 0.4	From birth to age 4	HR (95% Cl) 1.02 (0.90, 1.16)
	<u>Goudarzi et al.</u> <u>(2017)</u> medium	Maternal; median (IQR): 0.3 (0.2–0.4) ng/mL	From birth to age 4	Adj OR (95% Cl) Total: Q2 1.03 (0.764, 1.41) Q3 1.23 (0.905, 1.69) Q4 0.957 (0.703, 1.30) Trend <i>p</i> = 0.928
				Male: Q2 0.780 (0.508, 1.19) Q3 0.947 (0.614, 1.45) Q4 0.708 (0.461, 1.08) Trend <i>p</i> = 0.223
				Female: Q2 1.46 (0.938, 2.29) Q3 1.81 (1.14, 2.88) Q4 1.55 (0.976, 2.45) Trend <i>p</i> = 0.045
Lower respiratory tract infection ^b	Impinen et al. (2018) Iow	Cord blood	From birth to age 10	Adj β (95% Cl) 0.04 (−0.01, 0.09)
	<u>Dalsager et al.</u> (2021a), medium	Maternal; median: 0.4	From birth to age 4	HR (95% CI) 1.01 (0.78, 1.32)

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-84DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Disease	Reference, confidence	Exposure measurement timing and concentration	Disease assessment timing	PFHxS results
	<u>Wang et al.</u> (2022), medium	Maternal; median (IQR): 0.6 (0.4-0.8)	Through Age 1	OR (95% Cl) 10.62 (0.65, 173.7) IRR (95% Cl) 1.81 (0.27, 12.19)
	<u>Manzano-</u> <u>Salgado et al.</u> (2019) medium	Maternal (1st trimester), median (IQR): 0.6 (0.4–0.8) ng/mL	Age 1.5–7	1.07 (0.96, 1.18)
	<u>Impinen et al.</u> <u>(2019)</u>	Maternal mid- pregnancy; median	From birth to age 3	Adj RR (95% Cl): 1.15 (1.06, 1.24)
	low	(IQR): 0.7 (0.5–0.9) ng/mL	Age 6–7	0.92 (0.70, 1.21)
	<u>Kvalem et al.</u> <u>(2020)</u> low	Child age 10; median (IQR): 1.3	Age 10–16	Adj RR (95% CI) 0.98 (0.95, 1.02)
		(0.9)	Age 16 (last 12 m)	0.93 (0.74, 1.18)
Gastroenteritis (No. episodes/ frequency)	<u>Granum et al.</u> (2013), low	Maternal 0–3 d post-delivery; median: 0.3 ng/mL	From birth to age 3	Adj β (95% Cl) 3rd yr: 0.33 (-0.05, 0.71) All 3 yrs: 0.35 (0.10, 0.61)
	<u>Dalsager et al.</u> (2021a), medium	Maternal; median: 0.4	From birth to age 4	HR (95% CI) 0.85 (0.50, 1.43)
	<u>Impinen et al.</u> <u>(2019)</u> ,	Maternal mid- pregnancy; median (IQR): 0.7 (0.5–0.9) ng/mL	From birth to age 3	Adj (RR): 0.98 (0.96, 1.02)
	low		Age 6–7	1.27 (1.18, 1.38)
Diarrhea	<u>Dalsager et al.</u> (2016) Iow	Maternal; median (range): 0.3 (0.02– 1.0) ng/mL	Age 1–3	OR for proportion of d with symptoms (under/above median) Low exposure: Ref Medium: 1.16 (0.66, 2.02) High: 1.39 (0.77, 2.51) IRR for number of d with symptoms Low exposure: Ref Medium: 1.18 (0.64, 2.19) High: 1.71 (0.92, 3.16)
	<u>Wang et al.</u> (2022), medium	Maternal; median (IQR): 0.6 (0.4-0.8)	Through age 1	OR (95% CI) 1.17 (0.20, 6.83) IRR (95% CI) 1.27 (0.50, 3.20)
Common cold (No. episodes/ frequency)	Impinen et al. (2018), low	Cord blood; median (IQR): 0.2 (0.2–0.3) ng/mL	From birth to age 2	Adj β (95% Cl) –0.01 (–0.04, 0.02)
	<u>Granum et al.</u> (2013), Iow	Maternal 0–3 d post-delivery; median: 0.3 ng/mL	From birth to age 3	Adj β (95% CI) c 3rd year: 0.24 (-0.03, 0.51) All 3 yrs: 0.15 (-0.02, 0.32)
	<u>Dalsager et al.</u> (2021a), medium	Maternal; median: 0.4	From birth to age 4	HR (95% CI) for upper respiratory infections 1.01 (0.83, 1.21)

Disease	Reference, confidence	Exposure measurement timing and concentration	Disease assessment timing	PFHxS results
	<u>Wang et al.</u> (2022), medium	Maternal; median (IQR): 0.6 (0.4-0.8)	Through Age 1	OR (95% CI) 1.49 (0.28, 7.97) IRR (95% CI) 1.16 (0.60, 2.26)
	<u>Impinen et al.</u> (2019), low	Maternal mid- pregnancy; median (IQR): 0.7 (0.5–0.9) ng/mL	From birth to age 3	Adj RR (95% Cl): 1.01 (1.00, 1.03)
	<u>Kvalem et al.</u> (2020) medium	Child age 10; median (IQR): 1.3 (0.9)	Age 10–16	Adj OR (95% Cl): Reference 1–2 colds 3–5 colds: 0.99 (0.93, 1.04) >5: 0.97 (0.93, 1.03)
			Age 16 (last 12 m)	Adj OR (95% CI) Reference 0 colds 1–2 colds:0.98 (0.96, 1.00) ≥3: 0.97 (0.94, 1.00)
Cough	<u>Dalsager et al.</u> <u>(2016)</u> Iow	Maternal; median (range): 0.3 (0.02– 1.0) ng/mL	Age 1–3	OR for proportion of d with symptoms (under/above median) Low exposure: Ref Medium: 1.04 (0.60, 1.79) High: 0.97 (0.54,1.73) IRR for number of d with symptoms Low exposure: Ref Medium: 1.14 (0.87, 1.48) High: 1.00 (0.76, 1.31)
Ear infection	<u>Granum et al.</u> (2013), Iow	Maternal 0–3 d post-delivery; median: 0.3 ng/mL	From birth to age 3	No significant association with otitis media (data not shown)
	<u>Impinen et al.</u> <u>(2019)</u> , Iow	Maternal mid- pregnancy; median	From birth to age 3	Adj RR (95% Cl): 1.09 (1.04, 1.14)
		(IQR): 0.7 (0.5–0.9) ng/mL	Age 6–7	1.08 (0.93, 1.25)
Throat infection	<u>Impinen et al.</u> (2019), low	Maternal mid- pregnancy; median (IQR): 0.7 (0.5–0.9) ng/mL	From birth to age 3	Adj RR (95% Cl): 1.10 (1.02, 1.18) (no association with streptococcus throat infection)
Pseudocroup	Impinen et al. (2019), low	Maternal mid- pregnancy; median (IQR): 0.7 (0.5–0.9) ng/mL	From birth to age 3	Adj RR (95% Cl): 1.20 (1.11, 1.30)

Disease	Reference, confidence	Exposure measurement timing and concentration	Disease assessment timing	PFHxS results
Fever	<u>Dalsager et al.</u> <u>(2016)</u> low	Maternal; median (range): 0.3 (0.02– 1.0) ng/mL	Age 1–3	OR for proportion of d with symptoms (under/above median) Low exposure: Ref Medium: 0.99 (0.58, 1.71) High: 1.29 (0.72, 2.28) IRR for number of d with symptoms Low exposure: Ref Medium: 1.07 (0.80, 1.42) High: 1.20 (0.89, 1.62)
Hand Foot and Mouth Disease Virus Antibodies	<u>Zeng et al.</u> (2019b), Iow	Cord; median (IQR): 4.0 (2.3–5.4)	Birth and age 3 mo	OR (95% CI) for HFMD antibody concentration below clinically protective level Cord blood: 1.08 (0.74, 1.60) 3 mo: 1.00 (0.71, 1.43)
COVID-19 illness severity	<u>Grandjean et al.</u> (2020), medium	Biobank prior to illness; median (IQR): 0.5 (0.3–0.7)	Adulthood	OR (95% Cl) for 1 unit increase Increased severity based on hospitalization, admission to intensive care and/or death 0.52 (0.29, 0.93)*
Pathogen burden of persistent infections based on antibodies	Bulka et al. (2021)	Mean: 1.5	Ages 12–49 yrs	Relative difference (95% Cl) per doubling 12-19 yrs: 1.11 (1.06, 1.15)* 20-49 yrs: 1.02 (1.00, 1.05)* For individual pathogens, only Toxocara spp had positive association

Bolded values are statistically significant.

^aIncludes Otitis media, pneumonia, RS virus, Varicella.

^bLower respiratory tract infections include bronchitis, bronchiolitis, and pneumonia.

^cBivariate model was statistically significant (p = 0.036) for all 3 years.

Sensitization or allergic response

- 1 Another major category of immune response is the evaluation of sensitization-related or
- 2 allergic responses resulting from exaggerated immune reactions (e.g., allergies or allergic asthma)
- 3 to foreign agents (<u>IPCS, 2012</u>). A chemical may be either a direct sensitizer (i.e., promote a specific
- 4 IgE-mediated immune response to the chemical itself) or may promote or exacerbate a
- 5 hypersensitivity-related outcome without evoking a direct response. For example, chemical
- 6 exposure could promote a physiological response resulting in a propensity for sensitization to other
- 7 allergens (pet fur, dust, pollen, etc.). Hypersensitivity responses occur in two phases. The first
- 8 phase, sensitization, is without symptoms, and it is during this step that a specific interaction is
- 9 developed with the sensitizing agent so that the immune system is prepared to react to the next
- 10 exposure. Once an individual or animal has been sensitized, contact with that same (or, in some
- 11 cases, a similar) agent leads to the second phase, elicitation, and symptoms of allergic disease.
- 12 While these responses are mediated by circulating factors such as T-cells, IgE, and inflammatory
- 13 cytokines, there are many health effects associated with hypersensitivity and allergic response.
- 14 Functional measures of sensitivity and allergic response consist of measurements of the health

effects such as allergies or asthma and skin prick tests. Observational tests such as measures of 2 total IgE levels measure indicators of sensitivity and allergic responses but are not a direct 3 measurement of the response. The section is organized by the different types of measurements, 4 starting with functional measures as the most informative. 5 Thirteen studies (reported in 19 publications) examined hypersensitivity outcomes in 6 children. The study evaluations are summarized in Figure 3-15. Two of the included studies were 7 subsamples of the Norwegian Mother and Child (MoBa) cohort that were analyzed independently 8 (Impinen et al., 2019; Granum et al., 2013). In addition, three publications of NHANES data are 9 grouped together as one study because there is significant overlap in the NHANES years included in 10 the analysis samples (Buser and Scinicariello, 2016; Stein et al., 2016b; Humblet et al., 2014); 11 another publication examined a different year range of NHANES data and was considered 12 separately (Jackson-Browne et al., 2020). Ten studies were prospective birth cohorts, with 13 exposure measured during gestation or in cord blood. These studies were performed in China 14 (<u>Chen et al., 2018a</u>), Japan (<u>Goudarzi et al., 2016</u>; <u>Okada et al., 2014</u>), Norway (<u>Impinen et al., 2019</u>;

15 Impinen et al., 2018; Granum et al., 2013), Greenland and Ukraine (Smit et al., 2015), Spain

16 (Manzano-Salgado et al., 2019), Denmark (Beck et al., 2019), and the Faroe Islands (Timmermann

17 et al., 2017). In addition to the cohort studies, there was a case-control study of asthma in Taiwan

reported in multiple publications (Zhou et al., 2017b; Zhu et al., 2016; Dong et al., 2013), a cohort of 18

children with exposure measured at age 10 (Kvalem et al., 2020), and the analyses of NHANES data, 19

20 which is cross-sectional. All the studies were considered *medium* confidence.,

1



Figure 3-15. Summary of evaluation of epidemiology studies of PFHxS and hypersensitivity effects (e.g., asthma, allergies, and atopic dermatitis). For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Multiple publications of the same data are presented on the heat map as one study. <u>Goudarzi et al. (2016)</u> also includes <u>Okada et al. (2014)</u>. <u>Stein et al. (2016b)</u> also includes <u>Buser and Scinicariello (2016)</u> and <u>Humblet et al.</u> (2014).

1 Asthma

2 Twelve studies evaluated different measures related to asthma diagnosis and symptoms in 3 relation to PFHxS exposure (see Table 3-12. All studies were medium confidence. One study 4 examined asthma incidence (i.e., diagnosis within the past year, with cases identified from two 5 hospitals), which is the most specific measure available across studies, but which may result in 6 under-ascertainment because only severe cases are identified. The remaining studies examined 7 asthma prevalence using validated questionnaires, either "current" asthma (generally experiencing 8 symptoms in the past year with asthma diagnosis) or "ever" asthma (asthma diagnosis at any time 9 during their life). These measures are less specific than asthma incidence and the relevant etiologic

10 period is less clear.

1 Four studies examined "current" asthma and 11 studies examined "ever" asthma. Looking at 2 current asthma, one study (Impinen et al., 2019) out of four reported higher odds, although this was 3 not statistically significant. Three studies also reported a positive association with "ever" asthma, 4 but with inconsistency within each study. Zeng et al. (2019a) reported a strong positive, but very 5 imprecise, association in boys, and an imprecise inverse association in girls, while in Beck et al. 6 (2019), a strong positive association (p < 0.05) was observed in girls for doctor-diagnosed asthma, 7 but there was no sex-interaction with self-reported asthma. In Timmermann et al. (2017), a positive 8 association was observed only in a small subgroup (4%, 22 children) of the study population that 9 did not receive MMR vaccination and may be due to chance. The remaining studies showed no 10 association with ever asthma. 11 The single study (reported in multiple publications) of asthma incidence (the most specific 12 outcome measurement available) reported higher odds of asthma in children 10–15 years of age 13 with higher PFHxS exposure with an exposure-response gradient observed across quartiles in the 14 overall population (Dong et al., 2013). The association was stronger in girls than in boys (Zhu et al., 15 2016), although there was no significant interaction with sex hormone levels (Zhou et al., 2017b). 16 The association was strong (OR >3 in highest quartile of exposure), and the outcome measurement 17 is likely to suffer from less outcome misclassification than would measures of asthma prevalence in 18 the other available studies. This medium confidence study in Taiwan also had PFHxS exposure 19 levels that were among the highest of the available studies, while several studies with null results 20 had exposure levels with narrow exposure contrast across participants, which may have reduced 21 sensitivity. While there is considerable uncertainty due to inconsistency in the results across 22 studies, the null results are not interpreted as contradictory to the positive findings given the better 23 sensitivity and specificity (and relatively higher exposure levels) in Dong et al. (2013).

24 Allergies/Allergic sensitization

25 Five studies, all *medium* confidence, evaluated allergies and allergic sensitization outcomes

- 26 (see Table 3-12). Two studies examined food allergies. <u>Buser and Scinicariello (2016)</u>, an NHANES
- 27 analysis, reported higher odds of allergy in the second and fourth quartiles, with statistical
- 28 significance in the fourth quartile. <u>Impinen et al. (2019)</u> observed slightly higher, but not
- 29 statistically significant odds of current food allergies with higher exposure. <u>Impinen et al. (2019)</u>
- 30 also found higher, but not significant, odds of inhaled allergies. Four studies examined allergic
- 31 sensitization, and one study observed higher odds of elevated IgE with higher exposure, although
- 32 this was not monotonic as the highest odds were in the third quartile (<u>Buser and Scinicariello</u>,
- 33 <u>2016</u>). The other NHANES analysis (<u>Stein et al., 2016b</u>) and three other studies did not report
- 34 higher odds of sensitization with higher exposure.

35 Dermal allergic measures – eczema

- 36 Nine studies evaluated eczema (see Table 3-12). While the studies used different
- 37 terminology including eczema, atopic eczema, and atopic dermatitis, most assessed presence of an

- 1 itchy rash that was coming and going for at least 6 months using the International Study of Asthma
- 2 and Allergies in Childhood questionnaire. Three studies examined physician-diagnosed atopic
- 3 eczema, also collected using a questionnaire (<u>Impinen et al., 2019</u>; <u>Impinen et al., 2018</u>; <u>Granum et</u>
- 4 <u>al., 2013</u>), and <u>Kvalem et al. (2020)</u> used a different questionnaire for self-reported eczema. These
- 5 dermal response conditions can represent hypersensitivity to an antigen exposure from any route.
- 6 Two *medium* confidence studies reported higher odds of eczema with higher PFHxS exposure (Chen
- 7 <u>et al., 2018a; Timmermann et al., 2017</u>), both statistically significant (in girls only for <u>Chen et al.</u>
- 8 (2018a)), while two studies (Kvalem et al., 2020; Okada et al., 2014) reported an inverse
- 9 association. The remaining five studies reported no association. Exposure levels were highest in
- 10 <u>Timmermann et al. (2017)</u>, but levels in <u>Chen et al. (2018a)</u> were similar to the null studies, and
- 11 <u>Okada et al. (2014)</u>. There is no apparent explanation for the inconsistency across studies on the
- 12 basis of study design, population, bias, or other factors.

Hypersensitivity Exposure PFHxS OR (95% CI)^a or as Reference measurement timing measurement specified and concentration timing Asthma Incidence GBCA Children, current; Children (age 10–15) Asthma diagnosed in past year Dong et al. (2013) Q2: 1.54 (0.85, 2.77) median (IQR): 1.3 (0.6-Q3: 2.94 (1.65, 5.25) 2.8) (without asthma) Q4: 3.83 (2.11, 6.93) Trend *p* < 0.001 Zhou et al. (2017b) Children (age 10–15) By Sex Hormone Levels Low Testosterone M: 2.12 (1.34, 3.35) F: 1.62 (1.08, 2.45) High Testosterone M: 1.43 (0.99, 2.07) F: 2.27 (1.29, 3.99) Low Estradiol M: 1.47 (1.00, 2.15) F: 2.39 (1.39, 4.12) **High Estradiol** M: 1.62 (1.01, 2.60) F: 1.65 (1.07, 2.55) No significant interaction between PFHxS and sex hormone category Children (age 10-15) By Sex Zhu et al. (2016) Q4 vs Q1 M: 2.97 (1.33, 6.64) F: 5.02 (2.05, 12.30) **Current Asthma**

Table 3-14. Summary of PFHxS and data on hypersensitivity in humans.

Reference		Exposure measurement timing and concentration	Hypersensitivity measurement timing	PFHxS OR (95% CI) ^a or as specified
<u>Impinen et al. (2019)</u>		Maternal mid- pregnancy; median (IQR): 0.7 (0.5–0.9) ng/mL	From birth to age 7	1.21 (0.87, 1.67)
Imp	<u>inen et al. (2018)</u>	Cord blood; median (IQR): 0.2 (0.2–0.3) ng/mL	From birth to age 10	0.99 (0.82, 1.21)
<u>Kva</u>	<u>lem et al. (2020)</u>	Child (age 10); median (IQR): 1.3 (0.9) ng/mL	Child (age 16)	Last 12 months RR: 1.00 (0.98, 1.02)
Ste	NHANES ein et al. (2016b)	Children, current; mean: 2.5 ng/mL	Children (age 12–19)	IQR increase: 0.98 (0.51, 1.87)
		Ever Asth	ma	
<u>Zeng et al. (2019a)</u>		Cord blood median (IQR): 0.2 (0.1-0.2)	Child (age 5)	Ever asthma 2.02 (0.24, 17.24) Girls: 0.48 (0.00, 85.33) Boys: 3.40 (0.18, 65.11)
МоВа	<u>Granum et al. (2013)</u>	Maternal 0–3 day post-delivery; median: 0.3 ng/mL	From birth to age 3	No significant association (data not shown)
	<u>Impinen et al. (2019)</u>	Maternal mid- pregnancy; median (IQR): 0.7 (0.5–0.9) ng/mL	From birth to age 7	0.96 (0.79, 1.18)
<u>Beck et al. (2019)</u>		Maternal, gest week 8- 16; median (IQR): 0.4 (0.2–0.5) ng/mL	Child (age 5)	Ever doctor-diagnosed asthma 1.16 (0.78, 1.71) Boys: 0.89 (0.59, 1.34) Girls: 2.96 (1.26, 6.96) Ever self-reported asthma (≥ episodes of wheezing lasting more than a day in past 12 months) 1.18 (0.73, 1.90) Boys: 1.33 (0.66, 2.71) Girls: 1.04 (0.55, 1.98)
Manzano-Salgado et al. (2019) medium		Maternal (1 st trimester), median (IQR): 0.6 (0.4– 0.8) ng/mL	Age 1.5–7	Ever asthma RR: 0.96 (0.74, 1.24)
Jackson-Browne et al. (2020)		Child (age 3–11); mean (IQR): 0.8 (0.5–1.3)	Child (age 3–11)	Ever asthma OR: 1.1 (0.9, 1.3)
Kva	lem et al. (2020)	Child (age 10); median (IQR): 1.3 (0.9) ng/mL	Child (age 10)	Ever asthma RR: 0.99 (0.97, 1.01)
			Child (age 10–16)	Asthma between 10 and 16 years RR: 1.00 (0.99, 1.02)

Reference	Exposure Reference measurement timing and concentration		PFHxS OR (95% CI) ^a or as specified		
<u>Smit et al. (2015)</u>	Maternal, mean gestational week 24 or 25; mean (5 th -95 th): Ukraine: 1.5 (0.5–4.1), Greenland: 2.1 (1.0–5.1)	Children (age 5–9)	0.91 (0.69, 1.18)		
<u>Impinen et al. (2018)</u>	Cord blood; median (IQR): 0.2 (0.2–0.3) ng/mL	From birth to age 10	0.94 (0.72, 1.21)		
<u>Timmermann et al. (2017)</u>	Maternal, gestational week 34–36; median (IQR): 4.5 (2.2–8.3)	Child (age 5)	0.99 (0.80, 1.22)		
		Child (age 13)	0.98 (0.79, 1.20)		
	Child (age 5); median (IQR): 0.6 (0.4–0.9)	Child (age 5)	No MMR: 3.57 (0.95, 13.43) ^b Yes MMR: 0.81 (0.58, 1.14) Interaction <i>p</i> = 0.03		
		Child (age 13)	No MMR: 2.52 (0.77, 8.16) ^b Yes MMR: 0.90 (0.63, 1.27) Interaction <i>p</i> = 0.10		
	Child (age 13); median (IQR): 0.4 (0.3–0.5)	Child (age 13)	0.63 (0.41, 0.97)		
NHANES <u>Humblet et al. (2014)</u>	Children, current; median (IQR): 2.0 (1.0, 4.1)	Children (age 12–19)	Continuous: 0.98 (0.88–1.08) T2: 1.07 (0.89, 1.30) T3: 0.92 (0.74, 1.14)		
	Allergies (Fe	ood)			
<u>Impinen et al. (2019)</u>	Maternal mid- pregnancy; median (IQR): 0.7 (0.5–0.9) ng/mL	From birth to age 7	Ever: 1.03 (0.82, 1.30) Current: 1.10 (0.86, 1.41)		
NHANES Buser and Scinicariello (2016)	Children, current; mean: 2.2 ng/mL	Children (age 12–19)	Q2 1.43 (0.40, 5.14) Q3 0.99 (0.37, 2.65) Q4 3.06 (1.35, 6.93) Trend <i>p</i> = 0.11		
Allergies (Inhaled)					
<u>Impinen et al. (2019)</u>	Maternal mid- pregnancy; median (IQR): 0.7 (0.5–0.9) 	From birth to age 7	Ever: 1.18 (0.93, 1.50) Current: 1.21 (0.81, 1.81)		
Allergies (Sensitization)					

Reference		Exposure measurement timing and concentration	Hypersensitivity measurement timing	PFHxS OR (95% CI) ^a or as specified	
Impinen et al. (2018)		Cord blood; median (IQR): 0.2 (0.2–0.3) ng/mL	From birth to age 10	Positive SPT or sIgE > 0.35 kU/L 1.01 (0.84, 1.21)	
<u>Kva</u>	<u>lem et al. (2020)</u>	Child (age 10); median (IQR): 1.3 (0.9) ng/mL	Child (age 10)	Positive skin prick test RR: 1.01 (1.00, 1.02)	
			Child (age 16)	Positive skin prick test RR: 1.00 (1.00, 1.01)	
Timme	ermann et al. (2017 <u>)</u>	Maternal, gestational week 34–36; median (IQR): 4.5 (2.2–8.3)	Children (age 13)	Positive skin prick test 0.94 (0.79, 1.12)	
		Children (age 5)	Children (age 13)	Positive skin prick test 0.95 (0.75, 1.20)	
		Child (age 5); median (IQR): 0.6 (0.4–0.9)	Children (age 13)	Positive skin prick test 0.88 (0.64, 1.21)	
NHANES	Buser and Scinicariello (2016)	Children, current; mean: 2.2 ng/mL	Children (age 12–19)	Sensitization (any slgE >0.35 kU/L) Q2 1.11 (0.66, 1.88) Q3 1.46 (0.79, 2.69) Q4 1.17 (0.56, 2.44) Trend p = 0.72	
	<u>Stein et al. (2016b)</u>	Children, current; mean: 2.5 ng/mL	Children (age 12–19)	Sensitization (any sIgE >0.35 kU/L) IQR increase: 0.92 (0.66, 1.28)	
		Eczema	1		
МоВа	<u>Granum et al. (2013)</u>	Maternal 0–3 day post-delivery; median: 0.3 ng/mL	From birth to age 3	Eczema and itchiness or doctor- diagnosed atopic eczema: No significant association (data not shown)	
	Impinen et al. (2019)	Maternal mid- pregnancy; median (IQR): 0.7 (0.5–0.9) ng/mL	From birth to age 7	Ever: 1.09 (0.90, 1.31) Current: 1.06 (0.83, 1.36)	
Hokkaido	Goudarzi et al. (2016)	Maternal, gestational week 28–32; median (IQR): 0.3 (0.2-0.4)	Children (age 4)	Ever: Q2: 0.953 (0.658, 1.38) Q3: 0.910 (0.623, 1.32) Q4: 0.917 (0.626, 1.34) Trend <i>p</i> = 0.618	
	<u>Okada et al. (2014)</u>		Children (age 1 or 2)	Ever: Q2 0.82 (0.60, 1.13) Q3 0.69 (0.50, 0.95) Q4 0.79 (0.57, 1.08) Trend <i>p</i> = 0.08	

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-94DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Reference	Exposure measurement timing and concentration	Hypersensitivity measurement timing	PFHxS OR (95% CI) ^a or as specified
<u>Smit et al. (2015)</u>	Maternal, gestational week 24	Children (age 5–9)	Ever: 1.03 (0.86, 1.24) Current: 0.93 (0.73, 1.20)
<u>Chen et al. (2018a)</u>	Cord blood; median (IQR): 0.2 (0.2–0.2) ng/mL	Children (age 2)	Ever: 1.08 (0.62, 1.85) per log unit increase Q2 1.25 (0.74, 2.12) Q3 1.15 (0.68, 1.94) Q4 1.14 (0.67, 1.94) Trend <i>p</i> = 0.73 Females only Q2 1.43 (0.62, 3.30) Q3 1.29 (0.55, 2.99) Q4 2.30 (1.03, 5.15) Trend <i>p</i> = 0.06
<u>Impinen et al. (2018)</u>	Cord blood; median (IQR): 0.2 (0.2–0.3) ng/mL	From birth to age 10	0–2 years of age 1.06 (0.89, 1.26) Ever in 10 years 1.00 (0.67, 1.49)
<u>Manzano-Salgado et al. (2019)</u>	Maternal (1 st trimester), median (IQR): 0.6 (0.4– 0.8) ng/mL	Age 1.5-7	Ever eczema RR: 0.95 (0.86, 1.05)
<u>Kvalem et al. (2020)</u>	Child (age 10); median (IQR): 1.3 (0.9) ng/mL	Child (age 10)	Ever doctor diagnosed: RR: 1.00 (0.98, 1.01)
		Child (age 10-16)	Ever between 10 and 16 years RR: 0.79 (0.34, 0.99)
		Child (age 16)	Current (last 12 months) RR: 0.78 (0.60, 1.02)
<u>Timmermann et al. (2017)</u>	Maternal, gestational week 34–36; median (IQR): 4.5 (2.2–8.3)	Children (age 13)	1.32 (1.08, 1.62)
	Children (age 5)	Children (age 13)	0.92 (0.70–1.22)
	Child (age 5); median (IQR): 0.6 (0.4–0.9)	Children (age 13)	No MMR: 1.27 (0.16, 10.15) ^c Yes MMR: 0.80 (0.53, 1.20) Interaction <i>p</i> = 0.66

^aAll estimates are presented as OR (95% CI) for the odds of the outcome per two-fold increase in PFHxS concentration unless otherwise stated.

^bResults provided broken down by MMR vaccination status; yes (n = 537) or no (n = 22) when provided; some results were not split by MMR vaccination status.

Bold font indicates p < 0.05.

Animal Studies

- 1 Animal toxicity studies examining the effects of PFHxS on the immune system include two
- 2 (*high* confidence) short-term oral exposure studies performed in Sprague Dawley rats, (<u>NTP</u>,
- 3 <u>2018a; 3M, 2000b</u>) and one (*medium* confidence due to lack of results presentation) subchronic
- 4 oral exposure study performed in Crl:CD1 mice (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>); the study details are provided
- 5 in Table 3-15. It should be noted that none of the studies in the database were immunotoxicity
- 6 specific studies, but rather short-term or subchronic studies that focused on reproductive
- 7 endpoints but also measured general immune-related endpoints. IPCS guidance states that a 28-day
- 8 exposure period, such as those in the three studies in the evidence base, are adequate to elicit an
- 9 immune response (<u>IPCS, 2012</u>). The immune-relevant endpoints evaluated in these studies include
- 10 immune hematology (i.e., blood leukocyte counts), histopathology, and organ weights (i.e., bone
- 11 marrow, lymph nodes, spleen), which may inform sensitization and allergic response and
- 12 autoimmunity, categories of immunotoxicity described in guidance from the International
- 13 Programme on Chemical Safety (<u>IPCS, 2012</u>).⁷ Studies were separately evaluated for each of these
- 14 endpoints; however, the overall confidence rating was the same regardless of endpoint (see Figure
- 15 3-16; for study details please see Table 3-15 and HAWC).

⁷IPCS guidance notes that "the dataset[s] for most chemicals is unlikely to contain all the data on all the described endpoints" (<u>IPCS, 2012</u>).



Figure 3-16. Study evaluation results of PFHxS animal toxicity studies with immune-related endpoints. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Table 3-15. Animal study details

Study	Experimental model	Exposure route	Exposure doses	Duration	Immune endpoint(s)
<u>3M (2000b)</u>	Male and Female SD rats	Oral Gavage	0, or 10 mg/kg-d	28 d	Total immune cell counts ^a Histopathology, Organ Weights
<u>Chang et al. (2018)</u>	Male and Female CD-1 Mice	Oral Gavage	0, 0.3, 1, or 3 mg/kg-d	F0: Males: dosing started 14 d prior to cohabitation for a total of 42 d until scheduled to be euthanized. Females: dosing started 14 d prior to cohabitation and continuing through mating, gestation, and lactation. F0 dams were euthanized on lactation d 22 (LD22) which was 1 d post-last dose. F1: Mice were exposed in utero and via lactation. After weaning at postnatal d 22, pups were directly dosed with PFHxS for an additional 14 d at the same respective maternal doses.	Total Leukocyte counts ^b Histopathology ^c Organ Weights
<u>NTP (2018a)</u>	Male and Female SD rats	Oral Gavage	Males: 0, 0.625, 1.25, 2.5, 5 or 10 mg/kg-d Females: 0, 3.12, 6.25, 12.5, 25 or 50 mg/kg-d	28 d	Total immune cell counts Histopathology Organ Weights

^aTotal immune cell count included detailed counts of immune cells, e.g., basophil, eosinophil counts.

^bTotal leukocyte count does not include detailed counts of immune cells.

^cData not shown.

Immune hematology

- 1 A summary of the immune hematology outcomes can be found in Figure 3-17. Briefly, of the
- 2 three studies that examined immune outcomes, two <u>3M (2000b)</u> and <u>NTP (2018a)</u> performed a
- 3 complete detailed analysis of blood leukocyte counts including basophils, eosinophils, leukocytes,
- 4 lymphocytes, monocytes, and neutrophils, while <u>Chang et al. (2018)</u> reported only total blood
- 5 leukocyte counts. <u>3M (2000b)</u> and <u>Chang et al. (2018)</u> reported no statistically significant changes
- 6 in white blood cell counts in response to PFHxS exposure while NTP observed a statistically
- 7 significant decrease (p < 0.05) in eosinophil counts at the 10 mg/kg-day dose in male but not in
- 8 female SD rats. However, there were no other statistically significant changes in immune
- 9 hematology parameters, and the inconsistency in findings across the two rat studies is not
- 10 explained by dose or duration of exposure, or rat strain.



Figure 3-17. Summary of PFHxS immune hematology results. Figure displays the high and *medium* confidence studies included in the analysis. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

<u>Histopathology</u>

- 1 All three studies, <u>3M (2000b)</u>, <u>NTP (2018a)</u>, and <u>Chang et al. (2018)</u>, performed histological
- 2 analyses of immune organs and tissues, including bone marrow, lymph nodes, spleen, and thymus.
- 3 All three studies reported that they found no PFHxS-related histological abnormalities in the
- 4 immune organs and tissues that they examined although specific results were not reported.

<u>Organ weights</u>

All three studies, <u>3M (2000b)</u>, <u>NTP (2018a)</u>, and <u>Chang et al. (2018)</u>, measured thymus and
spleen weights of control and exposed animals, and no PFHxS-related effects were observed.

Mechanistic Evidence and Supplemental Information

7 Most of the mechanistic evidence available relates most closely to potential sensitization or 8 allergic response outcomes. Specifically, five studies examined mechanistic endpoints related to 9 hypersensitization in the human studies. None of the five studies reported significant associations 10 between PFHxS and IgE (Timmermann et al., 2017; Stein et al., 2016b; Zhu et al., 2016; Ashley-11 Martin et al., 2015; Dong et al., 2013). Among asthmatics in the Taiwan population where an 12 association was observed with asthma, increases in eosinophilic cationic protein concentration 13 were significantly associated (p = 0.004) with increasing PFHxS concentration (Dong et al., 2013). 14 In addition, one study examined cord blood gene expression in relation to PFHxS levels and found 15 that gene changes associated with PFHxS tracked very well with a set of 27 gene changes associated 16 with common cold episodes (Pennings et al., 2016); however, changes with PFHxS tracked very 17 poorly with a second set of 26 gene changes associated with rubella titers, and the relevance of 18 these gene changes to immune function in general, or antibody responses in particular, remains 19 unknown. No mechanistic evidence from animal, in vitro, in silico, or other evidence streams was 20 identified.

Evidence Integration

21 Human studies provide *moderate* evidence for immune system effects following exposure to 22 PFHxS (see Table 3-16). Specifically, increased serum levels of PFHxS correlated with decreased 23 antibody responses were observed in most exposure-outcome timing combinations in multiple 24 *medium* confidence studies, although most results were imprecise (i.e., not statistically significant). 25 While variability in response by age of exposure and outcome measure (vaccine type) as well as 26 timing of vaccinations (initial and boosters) resulted in some uncertainty, decreases (generally 27 between 5% and 10%) in antibody concentration per doubling of PFHxS concentration were 28 observed with reasonable consistency across multiple well-conducted studies. In addition, higher 29 odds of infectious disease or symptoms with higher PFHxS concentrations were observed in four of 30 seven available studies, which is coherent with the immunosuppression observed in antibody 31 response studies. There are remaining sources of uncertainty in the immunosuppression evidence,

1 including potential confounding by other PFAS and imprecision of some effect estimates. The 2 evidence for sensitization or allergic response was generally inconsistent, but there was some 3 evidence of an association with asthma incidence. A strong positive association with doctor-4 diagnosed asthma within the last year was observed in one *medium* confidence study, and this was 5 considered the most specific outcome measure available across the set of studies. However, unlike 6 the evidence on infectious disease, it is unclear how this finding might relate to the evidence 7 supporting immunosuppression, and without additional support or mechanistic understanding 8 (mechanistic information was predominantly null apart from a biomarker coherent with the 9 development of asthma observed in this same study) it does not support a stronger strength of 10 evidence determination. Other studies of sensitization and allergic response were inconsistent. 11 Studies of autoimmunity were not available. 12 Animal studies provide *indeterminate* evidence for immune system effects following 13 exposure to PFHxS (see Table 3-16). There were no immunotoxicity-specific animal studies in the 14 database, but rather general toxicity or developmental toxicity studies that included immune-15 related endpoints. As a result, the immune endpoints evaluated in the animal studies were less 16 sensitive and less informative for hazard identification than the endpoints evaluated in the human 17 studies available in the database. No reliable findings of PFHxS-related immune effects were

18 observed in *high* and *medium* confidence studies in animals exposed to PFHxS.

19 Taken together, the currently available **evidence indicates** that PFHxS likely causes 20 immune toxicity in humans given sufficient exposure conditions⁸. This conclusion is based on 21 epidemiology evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure and immune effects— 22 specifically, immunosuppression, driven primarily by studies of antibody response following 23 vaccination, with median PFHxS blood concentrations in children of 0.3–2.5 ng/mL. Despite 24 imprecision in the results, the antibody results present a generally consistent pattern of findings 25 that higher prenatal and childhood concentrations of PFHxS were associated with suppression of at 26 least one measure of the anti-vaccine antibody response to common vaccines, and coherent findings 27 from more limited evidence of associations between PFHxS exposure and higher odds of infectious 28 disease. These associations were observed despite poor study sensitivity. While clinical adversity of 29 fairly small changes in antibody concentrations is not established, one study reported higher odds 30 for lack of protection from diphtheria, and there is potential for a subset of people to be more 31 severely affected. Some uncertainty remains resulting from variability in the response by age of 32 exposure and outcome measures as well as from timing of vaccination (initial and boosters) and the

33 potential for confounding by other PFAS.

⁸ The "sufficient exposure conditions" are more fully evaluated and defined for the identified health effects through dose-response analysis in Section 5.

Table 3-16. Evidence profile table for PFHxS immune effects

	Evidence Integration Summary Judgment						
Evidence from studies of exposed humans (see Immune Human Studies Section)							
Studies and interpretation	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	⊕⊕⊙ Evidence indicates (likely)		
 Antibody Response to Vaccine 7 medium confidence studies 3 low confidence studies 	 Consistency – Evidence is generally consistent in the direction of association across vaccine type, timing of vaccination, and age at antibody response measurement Low risk of bias in studies in children Magnitude of effect – Large effect size observed in most studies despite limited sensitivity 	 Potential for residual confounding across PFAS Imprecision of most findings 	Studies in children observed inverse associations between PFHxS exposure and antibody levels following vaccination in at least some analyses. While not all results were statistically significant, the direction of association was generally consistent across studies and timing of exposure and outcome measures.	judgment → ⊕ ⊙ Moderate Generally consistent evidence for immunosuppression with PFHxS exposure based on lower antibody response in multiple medium confidence studies, supported by coherent but limited results for infectious diseases [Note: the evidence of hypersensitivity, based a single well-conducted study of asthma with inconsistent findings across other studies with less robust outcome measures, did not contribute to this judgment].	Based on generally consistent evidence of reduced antibody response to vaccination at median blood concentrations of 0.2–0.6 ng/mL. Human relevance: Evidence comes from epidemiological studies (see Immune Human Studies Section) Cross-stream coherence: NA: animal evidence is indeterminate		
 Infectious Disease 6 medium confidence study 6 low confidence studies 	 Despite potential limited sensitivity, six studies observed a significant positive association for at least one outcome 	 Unexplained inconsistency High risk of bias from potential outcome misclassification in low confidence studies 	2 medium and 3 low confidence studies reported higher odds of infectious disease or symptoms with higher PFHxS exposure, including total infectious disease, lower respiratory infection, throat infection,				

	Evidence Integration Summary Judgment				
			pseudocroup, and gastroenteritis		
Sensitization or allergic response • 13 medium confidence studies	 Magnitude of effect – Large effect size in the only study of asthma incidence Exposure-response gradient observed for asthma incidence in 1 study with the most reliable outcome measure Biological plausibility – mechanistic change coherent with asthma in the only study of asthma incidence 	 Potential for residual confounding across PFAS Unexplained inconsistency – Inconsistent direction of associations across studies for all hypersensitivity outcomes (with predominantly null findings) 	1 well-conducted study reported a clear positive association with asthma incidence and eosinophilic cationic protein. Of 11 other studies of asthma, only four reported higher odds of asthma in at least one subpopulation but were based on "current" or "ever" asthma definitions, which are less specific. Results for allergies/allergic sensitization, and dermal allergic measures had inconsistent findings.		
Evidence from In vivo Animal Studies (see Immune Animal Studies Section)				Evidence stream judgment	
 Hematology 2 high confidence studies One medium confidence study Histopathology 2 high confidence studies 	 Low risk of bias Low risk of bias 	 Endpoints considered nonspecific and insensitive indicators of immune function 	Decreased eosinophil counts in 1 study (<u>NTP</u> , <u>2018a</u>); however, there were no other statistically significant changes in immune hematology parameters and this finding alone is not considered adverse. No PFHxS-induced effects observed for histopathology.	⊙ ⊙ ⊙ Indeterminate [noting that the immune endpoints evaluated in the available animal studies are considered insensitive or nonspecific indicators of immune function.]	

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-103DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Evidence Stream Summary and Interpretation						Evidence Integration Summary Judgment	
•	1 <i>medium</i> confidence study						
Organ weights		•	Low risk of bias		No PFHxS-induced effects		
•	2 <i>high</i> confidence studies				weights.		
•	1 <i>medium</i> confidence study						

C: cohort, CC: case control, CS: cross sectional.

3.2.3. Developmental Effects

1 This section describes studies of PFHxS exposure and potential in utero and perinatal 2 effects or developmental delays, as well as effects attributable to developmental exposure. The 3 latter includes all studies for which exposure is limited to gestation and/or early life. Given that 4 some endpoints examined here, such as spontaneous abortion and preterm birth, could be driven 5 by either female reproductive or developmental toxicity, these endpoints are also discussed in the 6 context of coherence in Section 3.2.7 on Female reproductive effects. As such, this section has some 7 overlap with evidence synthesis and integration summaries for other health systems for which 8 studies evaluated the effects of developmental exposure (see Sections 3.2.5, 3.2.2, 3.2.7, 3.2.8, and 9 on potential Hepatic, Endocrine, and Female and Male Reproductive Effects, respectively).

Human Studies

The epidemiologic studies of possible developmental effects of PFHxS evaluate the
following endpoints: fetal and childhood growth restriction, spontaneous abortion, and gestational
duration (i.e., preterm birth and gestational age). Given that many of these endpoints could be
driven by either female reproductive or developmental toxicity, some are also discussed in the
context of coherence in the female reproductive effects section (see Section 3.2.7). The evidence
informing specific endpoints is discussed and synthesized below; however, the hazard conclusion
was determined at the level of developmental effects for the group of endpoints.

Study evaluation considerations

17 As detailed in the PFAS Systematic Review Protocol (see Appendix A), multiple outcome-18 specific considerations informed domain-specific ratings and overall study confidence. For the 19 Confounding domain, downgrading of studies occurred when key confounders of the fetal growth 20 and PFAS relationship, such as parity, were not considered. Some pregnancy hemodynamic factors 21 related to physiological changes during pregnancy were also considered in this domain as potential 22 confounders (e.g., glomerular filtration rate and blood volume changes over the course of 23 pregnancy) because these factors may be related to both PFHxS levels and the developmental 24 effects examined here. Irrespective of study design, more confidence was placed in the 25 epidemiologic studies that adjusted for glomerular filtration rate in their regression models or if 26 they limited this potential source of confounding by sampling PFAS levels earlier in pregnancy. An 27 additional source of uncertainty was the potential for confounding by other PFAS (and other co-28 occurring contaminants). Although scientific consensus on how best to address PFAS co-exposures 29 remains elusive, it was considered in the study quality evaluations and as part of the overall weight 30 of evidence determination (see Appendix C for additional discussion of these issues). 31 For the Exposure domain, all the available studies analyzed PFAS in serum or plasma using 32 standard methods. Given the estimated long half-life of PFHxS in humans (range: 4.7 to 8.5 years; 33 see Section 3.1.4.), samples collected during all three trimesters (and shortly after birth) were

> This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. 3-105 DRAFT–DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

considered adequately representative of the most critical in utero exposures for fetal growth and 2 gestational duration measures. Many of the cross-sectional studies relied on umbilical cord 3 measures collected shortly after birth. Exposure measures collected close to or concurrently with 4 outcome ascertainment were considered etiologically relevant and acceptable for these 5 developmental endpoints; thus, exposure measurement ratings were not downgraded for timing of 6 measurement. The postnatal anthropometric studies were evaluated with consideration of fetal 7 programming mechanisms (i.e., Barker hypothesis) where in utero perturbations, such as poor 8 nutrition, can lead to developmental effects such as fetal growth restriction and ultimately adult-9 onset metabolic-related disorders and related complications (see more on this topic in De Boo and 10 Harding (2006) and Perng et al. (2016) and other PFAS syntheses for potential cardiometabolic 11 disorders in Section 3.2.6). There is some evidence that birth weight deficits can be followed by 12 increased weight gain that may occur especially among those with rapid growth catch-up periods 13 during childhood (Perng et al., 2016). Therefore, the primary critical exposure window for 14 measures of postnatal (and early childhood) weight and height change is assumed to be in utero for 15 study evaluation purposes, and studies of this outcome were downgraded in the exposure domain if 16 exposure data were collected later during childhood or concurrently with outcome assessment (i.e., 17 cross-sectional analyses). 18 Studies were also downgraded for study sensitivity, for example, if they had limited 19 exposure contrasts or small sample sizes, since this can impact the ability of studies to detect 20 statistically significant associations that may be present (e.g., for sex-stratified results). In the 21 outcome domain, specific considerations address validation and accuracy of specific endpoints and 22 adequacy of case ascertainment for some dichotomous (i.e., binary) outcomes. For example, 23 birthweight measures have been shown to be quite accurate and precise, while other fetal and early 24 childhood anthropometric measures may result in more uncertainty. Mismeasurement and 25 incomplete case ascertainment can affect the accuracy of effect estimates by impacting both 26 precision and validity. For example, some spontaneous abortion studies were downgraded for 27 participant selection due to incomplete case ascertainment given that some pregnancy losses go 28 unrecognized early in pregnancy including before participants would be enrolled. This incomplete 29 ascertainment, referred to as left truncation, can result in bias toward the null if ascertainment of 30 fetal loss is not associated with PFHxS exposures (i.e., nondifferential). In some situations where 31 there is a true association with PFHxS, differential loss is possible, possibly causing a bias away 32 from the null, and can manifest as an apparent protective effect. Fetal and childhood growth 33 restriction were examined using several endpoints including low birth weight, small for gestational 34 age (SGA), ponderal index [i.e., birth weight grams)/birth length (cm³) × 100], abdominal and head 35 circumference, as well as upper arm/thigh length, mean height/length, and mean weight either at 36 birth or later during childhood. When sufficient high and medium confidence evidence is available 37 for a set of related endpoints, the developmental effects synthesis is largely focused on the higher quality endpoints (i.e., classified as good in the outcome domain). 38

1

1 Overall, mean birth weight and birth weight-related measures are considered very accurate 2 and were collected predominately from medical records; therefore, more confidence was placed in 3 these developmental endpoints in the outcome domain judgments. Some of the adverse birth 4 weight endpoints of interest examined here included fetal growth restriction endpoints based on 5 birth weight such as mean birth weight (or variations of this endpoint such as standardized 6 birthweight z-scores), as well as binary measures such as SGA (e.g., lowest decile of birthweight 7 stratified by gestational age and other covariates) and low birth weight (i.e., typically <2,500 grams; 8 5 pounds, 8 ounces) births. Sufficient details on the SGA percentile definitions and stratification 9 factors as well as sources of standardization for z-scores were necessary to be classified as good for 10 these endpoints in this domain. In contrast, other measures of fetal growth that are subject to 11 greater measurement error (e.g., head circumference and body length measures such as ponderal 12 index) were given a rating of adequate (Shinwell and Shlomo, 2003). These sources of 13 measurement error are expected to be nondifferential with respect to PFHxS exposure status and, 14 therefore, would not typically be a major concern for risk of bias but could impact study sensitivity. 15 Gestational duration measures were presented as either continuous (i.e., per each 16 gestational week) or binary endpoints such as preterm birth (typically defined as gestational age 17 <37 weeks). The potential for measurement error can complicate accurate estimates of gestational 18 age and may decrease study sensitivity related to some of these endpoints especially when based 19 on recall of last menstrual period alone. However, many of the studies were based on ultrasound 20 measures early in pregnancy, which should increase the accuracy of estimated gestational age and 21 the ability to detect associations that may be present. Studies were downgraded if based solely on 22 last menstrual period and more certainty was anticipated for studies using a combination of 23 measures with comparisons of any differences. Any sources of error in the classification of these 24 endpoints should be nondifferential with respect to PFHxS exposure and, therefore, would not be 25 considered a major concern for risk of bias, but could impact precision and study sensitivity. 26 Anogenital distance (AGD) is an externally visible marker that has been shown in animal 27 studies to be a sensitive indicator of prenatal androgen exposure (lower androgen levels associated 28 with decreased AGD, and the reverse). It is associated with other reproductive tract abnormalities, 29 including hypospadias and cryptorchidism in human and animal males (Liu et al., 2014; 30 Sathyanarayana et al., 2010; Salazar-Martinez et al., 2004); the potential adverse consequences in 31 females are less well defined. In boys, measures can be taken from the center of the anus to the 32 posterior base of the scrotum (ASD) or from the center of the anus to the cephalad insertion of the 33 penile (APD). In girls, there are two possible measures, the anoclitoris distance (ACD) and the 34 anofourchette distance (AFD). The primary outcome-specific criteria for this outcome are the use of 35 clearly defined protocols for measurement, ideally multiple measures of each distance (averaged), 36 and minimal variability in the age of participants at measurement.
<u>Growth restriction – fetal growth</u>

1 Developmental Epidemiologic Studies

Sixty-one epidemiological publications (across 58 different studies) examining PFHxS
exposures in relation to developmental endpoints were identified in the literature search. Several
studies examined multiple endpoints that are captured in separate sub-sections below. This
included the following: 12 studies on postnatal growth, 19 studies on gestational duration, 5 on
fetal loss, 4 on anogenital distance, 2 studies on birth defects, and 42 publications (across 39
different studies) that examined fetal growth restriction.

8 Fetal Growth Restriction – Study Background

9 The heat map of 39 fetal growth restriction studies below does not include three

- 10 overlapping publications, such as the <u>Woods et al. (2017)</u> publication from the same study
- 11 population (Health Outcomes and Measures of the Environment cohort) as <u>Shoaff et al. (2018)</u> (see
- 12 Figures 3-18 and 3-19). For consistency, birth outcomes measures reported in (Manzano-Salgado
- 13 <u>et al., 2017a</u>) were preferred to in utero growth estimates in the <u>Costa et al. (2019)</u> study from the
- same Environment and Childhood Infancia y Medio Ambiente (INMA) birth cohort. The smaller
- population subset from the <u>Bjerregaard-Olesen et al. (2019)</u> study is from the same Aarhus birth
- 16 cohort as <u>Bach et al. (2016)</u>. Given disparate results shown below in this subset versus the whole
- 17 cohort for head circumference and birth length, results from the full study population in <u>Bach et al.</u>
- 18 (2016) are given precedent. However, the <u>Bjerregaard-Olesen et al. (2019)</u> provide additional sex-
- 19 specific data not examined in <u>Bach et al. (2016)</u>. Difference in results for these endpoints are
- 20 highlighted in the syntheses below but only one study is plotted for each endpoint to aid the
- 21 evaluation of consistency across studies. Five of the remaining 39 fetal growth studies (Maekawa et
- 22 <u>al., 2017; Alkhalawi et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2013; Monroy et al., 2008</u>) are not
- 23 included in the synthesis further as they were classified as *uninformative* largely due to critical
- 24 study deficiencies in some risk of bias domains (e.g., confounding) or multiple domain deficiencies.
- 25 Birth Weight Background of Studies
- As shown in Figure 3-18 and Table 3-17, there were 34 informative studies that examined
- 27 birth weight measures in relation to PFHxS exposures. This included 13 studies that examined
- 28 PFHxS in relation to continuous standardized birth weight scores. Ten of these 13 reported
- 29 standardized measures along with mean birth weight differences in relation to PFHxS. Three
- 30 (Gardener et al., 2021; Gross et al., 2020; Xiao et al., 2019) of the 13 studies reported only
- standardized birthweight measures, with <u>Gardener et al. (2021)</u> not plotted below with the others
- **32** given an atypical, dichotomized effect estimate with different scaling.
- 33 Of the 31 epidemiological studies with mean birth weight data, four (Marks et al., 2019a;
- 34 <u>Ashley-Martin et al., 2017; Lind et al., 2017; Maisonet et al., 2012</u>) only reported sex-specific
- findings, including a study in boys (<u>Marks et al., 2019a</u>) and girls (<u>Maisonet et al., 2012</u>) from the

- 1 ALSPAC study (see Figure 3-19). Fifteen different studies examined mean birth weight differences
- 2 across the sexes 14 each in boy and girls. Among the 27 studies with results in the overall
- 3 population, three studies (<u>Eick et al., 2020; Gao et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018</u>) reported results based
- 4 only on categorical data.



Figure 3-18. Study evaluation results for 39 epidemiological studies of birth weight and PFHxS. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.



Figure 3-19. Perinatal studies of birth weight measures and subsets included in different evaluations.

1 Birth weight – Mean Differences – Background

2 Twenty-five of the included 31 mean birth weight studies were prospective birth cohorts, 3 and six were cross-sectional studies (Xu et al., 2019; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Shi 4 et al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016; Kwon et al., 2016) (see Figures 3-20 and 3-21). Five of these six 5 studies relied on umbilical cord blood measures (Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Shi 6 et al., 2017; Kwon et al., 2016), and one collected PFHxS blood samples in infants 3 weeks following 7 delivery (Gyllenhammar et al., 2018). Twenty-four studies had maternal blood measures that were sampled during trimesters one (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Ashlev-Martin et al., 2017; Lind et al., 2017; 8 9 Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a), two (Hamm et al., 2010), three (Luo et al., 2021; Yao et al., 2021; Kashino et al., 2020; Gao et al., 2019; Valvi et al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016), or across multiple 10 trimesters (Chang et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2021; Eick et al., 2020; Hiermitslev et al., 2020; Wikström 11 12 et al., 2020; Marks et al., 2019a; Workman et al., 2019; Sagiv et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Starling 13 et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016; Lenters et al., 2016; Maisonet et al., 2012). The study by Meng et al. 14 (2018) pooled exposure data from two study populations, one that measured PFHxS in umbilical 15 cord blood and one that measured PFHxS in maternal blood samples collected in trimesters 1 and 2. 16 For comparability with other studies of mean birth weight, EPA only examined data from one 17 measure, such as umbilical cord or maternal serum concentrations, and when necessary, relied on 18 other related publications (e.g., Gyllenhammar I (2017)) or additional information or data provided 19 by study authors. When possible, EPA converted effect estimates that were based on continuous

20 PFHxS measures to a 1 ln-unit increase to enhance comparability across studies (see Figures 3-22,

21	3-23, 3-24). These results employing a common unit of measurement were also used for the birth
22	weight meta-analysis conducted by EPA (see Appendix C for details on the methods employed).
23	Thirteen of the 31 mean birth weight studies were rated <i>high</i> in overall study confidence
24	(Luo et al., 2021; <u>Yao et al., 2021; Eick et al., 2020;</u> <u>Wikström et al., 2020; Buck Louis et al., 2018</u> ;
25	Sagiv et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Ashley-Martin et al., 2017; Lind et al., 2017; Manzano-Salgado
26	<u>et al., 2017a;</u> <u>Starling et al., 2017;</u> <u>Valvi et al., 2017;</u> <u>Bach et al., 2016</u>), while 11 were rated <i>medium</i>
27	(Chang et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2021; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Kashino et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et
28	<u>al., 2018; Meng et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016; Lenters et al., 2016; Maisonet et al.,</u>
29	<u>2012; Hamm et al., 2010</u>), and 7 were classified as <i>low</i> (<u>Gao et al., 2019;</u> <u>Marks et al., 2019a</u> ;
30	<u>Workman et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Shi et al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016)</u> (see
31	Figure 3-18).
32	Of the 31 mean birth weight studies detailed in this synthesis, 13 studies (Luo et al., 2021;
33	Wikström et al., 2020; Marks et al., 2019a; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Meng et al., 2018; Sagiv et al.,
34	2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Ashley-Martin et al., 2017; Li et al., 2017b; Starling et al., 2017; Valvi et al.,
35	2017; Lenters et al., 2016; Maisonet et al., 2012) were considered to have good study sensitivity.
36	Ten studies (<u>Chang et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2021; Eick et al., 2020; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Buck</u>
37	<u>Louis et al., 2018; Lind et al., 2017; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Bach et al., 2016; Kwon et al.,</u>
38	2016; Hamm et al., 2010) were classified as adequate and eight were deficient (Yao et al., 2021;
39	<u>Kashino et al., 2020; Gao et al., 2019; Workman et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Shi et</u>
40	<u>al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016</u>).
40 41	<u>al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016</u>). Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population
40 41 42	al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the
40 41 42 43	al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). <i>Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population</i> Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation
40 41 42 43 44	al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). <i>Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population</i> Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (<u>Buck Louis et</u>
40 41 42 43 44 45	al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). <i>Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population</i> Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (<u>Buck Louis et</u> al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016)
40 41 42 43 44 45 46	al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). <i>Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population</i> Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 <i>high</i> confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et
40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47	al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). <i>Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population</i> Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 <i>high</i> confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016) out of 10 <i>medium</i> and four (Gao et al., 2019; Xu et al.,
40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48	al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). <i>Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population</i> Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 <i>high</i> confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016) out of 10 <i>medium</i> and four (Gao et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Callan et al., 2016) out of six <i>low</i> confidence studies. In contrast, four studies
40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49	 al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 high confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016) out of 10 medium and four (Gao et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Callan et al., 2016) out of six low confidence studies. In contrast, four studies reported increased birth weight with PFHxS exposures while eight other studies were null. For
40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50	 al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 high confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016) out of 10 medium and four (Gao et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Callan et al., 2016) out of six low confidence studies. In contrast, four studies reported increased birth weight with PFHxS exposures while eight other studies were null. For example, the high confidence study by Eick et al. (2020) reported non-significant increased birth
40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51	 al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 high confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016) out of 10 medium and four (Gao et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Callan et al., 2016) out of six low confidence studies. In contrast, four studies reported increased birth weight with PFHxS exposures while eight other studies were null. For example, the high confidence study by Eick et al. (2020) reported non-significant increased birth weight across PFHxS tertiles (β range: 75.7 to 82.2 g) relative to tertile 1. The medium confidence
40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52	al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). <i>Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population</i> Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 <i>high</i> confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016) out of 10 <i>medium</i> and four (Gao et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Callan et al., 2016) out of six <i>low</i> confidence studies. In contrast, four studies reported increased birth weight with PFHxS exposures while eight other studies were null. For example, the <i>high</i> confidence study by Eick et al. (2020) reported non-significant increased birth weight across PFHxS tertiles (β range: 75.7 to 82.2 g) relative to tertile 1. The <i>medium</i> confidence study by Chen et al. (2021) reported a small increased mean birth weight based on continuous
40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53	al. 2017; Callan et al., 2016). Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 <i>high</i> confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016) out of 10 <i>medium</i> and four (Gao et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Callan et al., 2016) out of six <i>low</i> confidence studies. In contrast, four studies reported increased birth weight with PFHxS exposures while eight other studies were null. For example, the <i>high</i> confidence study by Eick et al. (2020) reported non-significant increased birth weight across PFHxS tertiles (β range: 75.7 to 82.2 g) relative to tertile 1. The <i>medium</i> confidence study by Chen et al. (2021) reported a small increased mean birth weight based on continuous exposures (β = 27.6 g; 95%CI: -64.7, 119.9 per ln-unit increase) along with mixed results based on
40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54	al., 2017; Callan et al., 2016). Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 <i>high</i> confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016) out of 10 <i>medium</i> and four (Gao et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Callan et al., 2016) out of six <i>low</i> confidence studies. In contrast, four studies reported increased birth weight with PFHxS exposures while eight other studies were null. For example, the <i>high</i> confidence study by Eick et al. (2020) reported non-significant increased birth weight across PFHxS tertiles (β range: 75.7 to 82.2 g) relative to tertile 1. The <i>medium</i> confidence study by Chen et al. (2021) reported a small increased mean birth weight based on continuous exposures (β = 27.6 g; 95%CI: -64.7, 119.9 per ln-unit increase) along with mixed results based on categorical PFHxS exposures (β range: -46 to 26 g). The <i>high</i> confidence Manzano-Salgado et al.
40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 55	al. 2017; Callan et al. 2016). Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 <i>high</i> confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016) out of 10 <i>medium</i> and four (Gao et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Callan et al., 2016) out of six <i>low</i> confidence studies. In contrast, four studies reported increased birth weight with PFHxS exposures while eight other studies were null. For example, the <i>high</i> confidence study by Eick et al. (2020) reported non-significant increased birth weight across PFHxS tertiles (β range: 75.7 to 82.2 g) relative to tertile 1. The <i>medium</i> confidence study by <u>Chen et al.</u> (2021) reported a small increased mean birth weight based on continuous exposures (β = 27.6 g; 95%CI: -64.7, 119.9 per ln-unit increase) along with mixed results based on categorical PFHxS exposures (β range: -46 to 26 g). The <i>high</i> confidence <u>Manzano-Salgado et al.</u> (2017a) study showed consistent but non-monotonic birth weight decreases across all three upper
40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 55 56	al 2017; Callan et al., 2016). Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 <i>high</i> confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016) out of 10 <i>medium</i> and four (Gao et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Callan et al., 2016) out of six <i>low</i> confidence studies. In contrast, four studies reported increased birth weight with PFHxS exposures while eight other studies were null. For example, the <i>high</i> confidence study by <u>Eick et al.</u> (2020) reported non-significant increased birth weight across PFHxS tertiles (β range: 75.7 to 82.2 g) relative to tertile 1. The <i>medium</i> confidence study by Chen et al. (2021) reported a small increased mean birth weight based on continuous exposures (β = 27.6 g; 95%CI: -64.7, 119.9 per ln-unit increase) along with mixed results based on categorical PFHxS exposures (β range: -46 to 26 g). The <i>high</i> confidence Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017a) study showed consistent but non-monotonic birth weight decreases across all three upper quartiles (β range: -30 to -65 g), but a relatively small deficit per each unit increase (β= -12.4 g;
40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 55 56 57	al. 2017; Callan et al. 2016). Birth weight – Mean Difference Results (in Grams) in Overall Population Overall, 14 of the 27 different epidemiological studies that examined associations in the overall population (i.e., both male and female neonates combined) detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-22, and Table 3-17). This included five (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016) out of 11 <i>high</i> confidence studies, five (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Kwon et al., 2016) out of 10 <i>medium</i> and four (Gao et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Callan et al., 2016) out of six <i>low</i> confidence studies. In contrast, four studies reported increased birth weight with PFHxS exposures while eight other studies were null. For example, the <i>high</i> confidence study by Eick et al. (2020) reported non-significant increased birth weight across PFHxS tertiles (β range: 75.7 to 82.2 g) relative to tertile 1. The <i>medium</i> confidence study by Chen et al. (2021) reported a small increased mean birth weight based on continuous exposures (β = 27.6 g; 95%CI: -64.7, 119.9 per ln-unit increase) along with mixed results based on categorical PFHxS exposures (β range: -46 to 26 g). The <i>high</i> confidence Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017a) study showed consistent but non-monotonic birth weight decreases across all three upper quartiles (β range: -30 to -65 g), but a relatively small deficit per each unit increase (β = -12.4 g; 95%CI: -46.2, 21.4). The latter results were indicative of deficits seen in the five <i>high</i> confidence

59 Birth weight deficits detected in the five *medium* confidence studies were larger (β range: – 60 30 to -93 g per each ln-unit increase). For example, the *medium* confidence study by <u>Hjermitslev et</u> 61 al. (2020) reported a large birth weight deficit (β = -93 g; 95%CI: -230, 44 per each ln-unit 62 increase). Two other *medium* confidence studies (Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Kwon et al., 2016) 63 reported birth weight decreases consistent in magnitude (β range: -53 to -60 g per each ln-unit increase). The *medium* confidence study by Chang et al. (2022) reported a non-significant deficit 64 per each ln-unit increase (β = -20 g; 95%CI: -84, 45) but larger results for PFHxS quartiles 2 (β = -65 66 36 g; 95%CI: -154, 83) and 4 (β = -54 g; 95%CI: -173, 66). The *medium* confidence study by Kashino et al. (2020) reported a null association with PFHxS and mean birth weight ($\beta = -1.3$ g; 67 68 95%CI: -26.3, 23.6 per each ln-unit increase). They did show large differences in multiparous 69 participants (β = -81.2 g; -122.3, -40.1 per each ln-unit increase) but not for primiparous 70 participants (β = -2.2 g; -46.2, 41.7 per each ln-unit increase). 71 Birth weight deficits detected in the two *low* confidence studies were consistent in 72 magnitude (β range: –72 to –76 g per each ln-unit increase). The *low* confidence study by <u>Gao et al.</u> 73 (2019) reported larger decreased birth weight in a non-monotonic fashion across PFHxS tertiles 2 74 $(\beta = -154.1 \text{ g}; 95\%\text{CI}: -332.2, 24.0)$ and 3 $(\beta = -101.2 \text{ g}; 95\%\text{CI}: -275.5, 73.1)$. Across all confidence 75 levels, only one (<u>Cao et al., 2018</u>) of 11 studies with categorical data in the overall population 76 showed some evidence of exposure-response relationships (β range: -14 to -25 g across tertiles).

77 Birth Weight- Mean Difference- Overall Population Summary

78 In the overall population, there were consistent results of deficits across all study 79 confidence levels (5 of 11 high, 5 of 10 medium, and 4 of 6 low confidence studies). However, the 80 five *high* confidence studies showed consistently smaller deficits (β range: -12 to -22 g per each unit increase) compared to the five *medium* (β range: -20 to -93 g) and two low (β range: -72 to -81 82 76 g) confidence studies. Although the majority of *low* confidence studies observed larger birth 83 weights in association with PFHxS exposure, the estimates were consistently imprecise, and the 84 identified methodological limitations preclude further interpretation in that subset. There was 85 limited evidence of exposure-response relationships based on categorical data, but the magnitude 86 of changes in those studies showing deficits ranged from -25 to -101 grams for the highest quantile 87 (compared to the lowest quantile) were comparable to those results (β range: -12 to -93 grams per 88 each ln-unit increase) based on the continuous exposure expressions shown above. 89 Limited patterns were evident as study sensitivity, exposure levels and contrasts and other 90 study design elements were not explanatory for null or inverse associations detected across the 91 birth weight studies. The birth weight deficits in the overall population may be influenced by

- 92 hemodynamic changes during pregnancy related to exposure assessment timing, as only four of the
- 93 fourteen were based on early biomarker sampling.

94 Meta-Analysis of Mean Birth Weight Differences

95 Twenty-eight studies were identified for possible inclusion into a meta-analysis of overall 96 population estimates (see Figure C-1 and more details on the Methods in Appendix C) if they 97 provided results in the overall population or in both sexes which allowed combination to estimate 98 an overall population result. Three studies with PFHxS categorical data only (Eick et al., 2020; Gao 99 et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018) were not included in the meta-analysis due to the lack of results on a per continuous exposure increase. The remaining 27 studies (from 28 publications) include the 100 101 other 24 studies identified in the overall population section noted above as well as three additional 102 studies, which reported sex-specific data only on boys and girls individually (Ashley-Martin et al., 103 2017; Lind et al., 2017). Another cohort (ALSPAC) reported results in girls (Maisonet et al., 2012) in 104 one publication and boys (Marks et al., 2019a) in another and were combined for the meta-analysis. 105 Following scale conversions and re-expressions (to ln-unit) for some studies by U.S. EPA, 106 the meta-analysis of 27 studies showed negligible between-study heterogeneity ($I_2 = 0\%$), and a 107 small but statistically significant decrease in birthweight (β =-7.7 g; 95% CI: -14.8, -0.5) per each 108 In-unit PFHxS increase (see Figure 3-20). Statistically significant results comparable in magnitude 109 were also detected when restricted to just *medium* and *high* confidence studies (β =-8.0 g; 95% CI: 110 -15.2, -0.7) and also to 23 studies that provided results based on some logarithmic transformation

- 111 (β = -6.5 g; 95% CI: -14.8, -0.5).
- 112 Mean birth weight deficits were detected only among the 12 high (β = -6.8 g; 95% CI: -16.3, 2.8) and 11 medium (β =-9.6 g; 95% CI: -20.8, 1.6) confidence studies. The pooled effect in the low 113 114 confidence studies was null (β =-1.5 g; 95% CI: -51.6, 48.7) and based upon far fewer studies (n = 115 4). Stratified mean birth weight deficits were also different based on studies with later sample 116 timing. The five studies that used umbilical cord samples or maternal samples after birth or 117 pregnancy samples had considerably larger deficits (β = -28.3 g; 95% CI: -69.3, 12.7) compared 118 with the 12 studies with sampling from early pregnancy (β = -7.3 g; 95% CI: -16.0, 1.4) or the ten 119 studies with sampling from mid- to late pregnancy ($\beta = -3.9$ g; 95% CI: -17.7, 9.9).

120 Overall, the meta-analytical data showing a small change in mean birth weight per each ln-121 unit change (i.e., a 2.7-fold increase in exposure in ng/mL within the range of observed exposures in 122 the study populations) support the main epidemiologic findings detailed above and provide some 123 limited evidence of an adverse effect on birthweight from maternal exposure to PFHxS (see 124 Appendix C for more detail and additional stratified analyses). The median exposure ranged from 125 0.16 to 10.36 ng/mL across the 27 studies with birth weight data in the meta-analysis. The pooled 126 birth weight estimates expressed here per each unit change are relatively small in magnitude are 127 expressed here per each unit change and could be larger depending on the range of exposures 128 within a particular study population or the range to which it is being extrapolated to. Although a 129 gradient across sample timing was not evident across all time periods, the pooled estimate in the 130 five studies with post-partum sample was much larger. In contrast to the late maternal sampled 131 studies, the associations in the early sampled studies were consistent in magnitude to the pooled 132 estimate across all studies as well as the combined *medium* and *high* confidence studies. Thus, while

- some uncertainty remains on the potential impact due to pregnancy hemodynamics especially in
- the later sampled studies, the overall combined results, the early sample timing studies as well as
- the higher confidence (*medium* and *high* combined) studies do show a small association between
- 136 mean birthweight and PFHxS.

	Study location.	Sample	Median exposure (range) in	Birth	Birth		SGA/
Author	years	size ^a	ng/mL	weight	length	нс	LBW
High Confidence Studies							
Ashley-Martin et al. (2017)	Canada, 2008–2011	1,509	1.0 (0.3, 25.0)	Ø Overall + Boys − Girls			
Bach et al. (2016); Bjerregaard-Olesen et al. (2019)	Denmark, 2008–2013	1,507	0.5 (<loq, 6.82)</loq, 	– Overall/ Boys/Girls	– Overall ^a ∅ Boys/Girls	– Overall ^b	
Buck Louis et al. (2018)	USA, 2009–2013	2106	0.71 (N/A)	– Overall	– Overall [*]	– Overall	
Eick et al. (2020)	USA, 2014–2018	506	0.33	+ Overall/ Boys/Girls			
Gardener et al. (2021)	USA, 2009–2013	354	0.5	个 All (BWT-z)			
<u>Lind et al. (2017)</u> c	Denmark, 2010–2012	636	0.3 (LOD, 7.3)	– Boys ∅ Girls		–Boys ∅ Girls	
<u>Luo et al. (2021)</u>	China, 2021	224	10.36 (N/A)	arnothing Overall	\varnothing Overall		
<u>Manzano-Salgado et al.</u> (2017a)	Spain, 2003–2008	1,202	0.58 (0.05, 11.01)	– Overall [*] ∅ Boys/Girls	– Overall ^{*b} ∅ Boys/Girls	− Overall ^{ab} Ø Boys/Girls	Ø SGA Overall/Girls/Boys Ø LBW Overall/Girls ↑ Boys
<u>Sagiv et al. (2018)</u>	USA, 1999–2002	1,645	2.4 (0.1, 74.5)	\varnothing Overall			

Table 3-17. Summary of 34 epidemiologic studies of PFHxS exposure and growth restriction measures

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-116DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

	Study location,	Sample	Median exposure (range) in	Birth	Birth		SGA/
Author	years	size ^a	ng/mL	weight	length	нс	LBW
<u>Shoaff et al. (2018)</u>	USA, 2003–2006	345	1.5 (0.1-32.5)	– Overall			
<u>Starling et al. (2017)</u>	CO, USA, 2009–2014	598	0.8 (0.1, 10.9)	– Overall			
<u>Valvi et al. (2017)</u>	Denmark, 1997–2000	604	4.54 (N/A)	+ Overall/ Boys/Girls	– Overall/ Boys Ø Girls	+ Overall*/Boys* ∅ Girls	
<u>Wikström et al. (2020)</u>	Sweden, 2007–2010	1533	1.23 (N/A)	Ø Overall/Boys ∕Girls			∅ SGA Overall/Boys ↑ SGA Girls
<u>Xiao et al. (2019)</u>	Faroe Islands, 1994–1995	172	0.55 (0.1, 2.8)	– Overall/Boys/ Girls	_ Overall/Boys/Girls*	– Overall/Boys/ Girls [*]	
<u>Yao et al. (2021)</u>	China, 2010– 2013	369	0.32	\varnothing Overall			
Medium Confidence Studies							
<u>Chang et al. (2022)</u>	USA, 2014–2018	370	1.10 (<lod, 4.80</lod, 	– Overall			arnothing Overall
<u>Chen et al. (2021)</u>	China, 2013– 2015	214	0.67 (N/A)	+ Overall	– Overall/Boys $arnothing$ Girls	– Overall	
Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)	Sweden, 1996–2001	381/ 587	0.24 (0.32, 26)	– Overall*/ Boys/Girls	arnothing Overall	\varnothing Overall	
<u>Hamm et al. (2010)</u>	Canada, 2005–2006	252	2.1° (<lod, 43)</lod, 	+ Overall			↑ SGA

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-117DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

	Studu Is setion	Commis	Median exposure (range)	Diah	Disth		564/
Author	years	size ^a	ng/mL	weight	length	нс	LBW
<u>Hjermitslev et al. (2020)</u>	Greenland, 2010–2011; 2013–2015	266	1.15 (0.21, 7.87)	– Overall/Girls + Boys	Ø Overall + Boys - Girls	–Overall/Girls Ø Boys	\varnothing Overall SGA \varnothing Overall LBW
<u>Kashino et al. (2020)</u>	Japan, 2003– 2009	1,591	0.3 (N/A)	Ø Overall/Boys ∕Girls	Ø Overall/Boys/Girls	Ø Overall/Girls– Boys	
<u>Kwon et al. (2016)</u>	S. Korea, 2006–2010	268	0.38 (0.11, 1.20)	– Overall			
<u>Lenters et al. (2016)</u>	Ukraine/Poland/ Greenland, 2002–2004	1,321	1.56, 2.28 (0.45, 5.95) ^d	arnothing Overall			
<u>Li et al. (2017b)</u>	China, 2013	321	3.87 (ND, 20.15)	− Overall/Boys Ø Girls			
Maisonet et al. (2012)	United Kingdom, 1991–1992	422	1.6 (0.2-54.8)	$-\operatorname{Girls}^{*a}$	$-\operatorname{Girls}^{*a}$		
<u>Meng et al. (2018)</u>	Denmark, 1996–2002	2,120	~1 (N/A)	∅ Overall/Girls + Boys			个LBW 个VLBW
Low Confidence Studies							
<u>Callan et al. (2016)</u>	W. Australia, 2003–2004	98	0.33 (0.06, 3.3)	– Overall	– Overall	– Overall	
<u>Cao et al. (2018)</u>	China, 2013–2015	337	0.09 0.03-0.31 ^f	_ Overallª/Boysª + Girls	– Overall/ Boys \varnothing Girls		
<u>Gao et al. (2019)</u>	China, 2015– 2016	132	0.24 (N/A)	– Overall	– Overall		

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-118DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Author	Study location, years	Sample size ^a	Median exposure (range) in ng/mL	Birth weight	Birth length	нс	SGA/ LBW
<u>Gross et al. (2020)</u>	USA, 2014	98	0.108 (N/A) ^g	– Overall/ Boys/Girls			
<u>Marks et al. (2019a)</u>	England, 1991–1992	447	1.9 (0.5, 74.2)	–Boys	– Boys ^b	Ø Boys	
<u>Shi et al. (2017)</u>	China, 2012	170	0.16 (<lod, 3.05)</lod, 	+ Overall/ Girls/Boys	+ Overall + Boys [*] ∅ Girls		
<u>Workman et al. (2019)</u>	Canada, 2010– 2011	414	0.44 (<loq, 24)</loq, 	Ø Overall	Ø Overall	+ Overall	
<u>Xu et al. (2019)</u>	China, 2016–2017	98	0.61 (0.30, 1.94) ^d	– Overall	+ Overall	\varnothing Overall	↑ SGA

Abbreviations: HC = Head circumference; SGA = small for gestational age; LBW = low birth weight; VLBW = very low birth weight; LOQ: level of quantification; LOD: level of detection; ND: non detectable; N/A: not available.

*Denotes statistical significance at p < 0.05; Æ represents a null association; + represents a positive association; - represents a negative association; -

represents increased odds ratio; ⁻ represents decreased odds ratio.

Note: "Adverse effects" are indicated by both increased ORs (-) for dichotomous outcomes and negative associations (-) for the other outcomes.

/ Denotes multiple groups with the same direction of associations.

^aExposure-response relationship detected based on categorical data.

^bReduction based on categorical data, null results based on continuous data.

^cHigh confidence for birth weight and Medium confidence for head circumference.

^dNo range provided but 5th–95th percentiles included.

^eArithmetic mean value, no median value available.

^fNo range provided but 10th–90th percentiles included.

^gDried Blood spot PFHxS sample collected within 48 hours of birth.

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison		Regression coefficient	β [change in mean BWT (g)]
Buck Louis, 2018, 5016992	NICHD Felal Growth Studies (2009-2013), United States, 2106 mother-infant pairs	lHigh	Cohori (Prospective)	Trimesler 1	-22.1	In-unil (ng/mL) increase	ł	•	β (change in mean BWT (g)) p<0.0
Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017. 4238465	INMA conort (2003-2008) 1202 mother-infant pairs	[High	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1	-30.2	Quartile 2		•	
					-64,9	Quartile 3			
					-40,3	Quartile 4		•	
					-12.4	In-unit (ng/mL) increase			
Bach et al., 2016. 3981534	Aarhus Birth Cohort (2008-2013), Denmark, 1507 mother-infant pairs	(High	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	-41	Quartile 2		•	
					-34	Quartile 3	-	•	
					-49	Quartile 4			
					-19.35	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	(=		
Sagiv, 2018. 4238410	Project Viva (1999-2002) 1645 mother-infant pairs	(High	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	-37.5	Quartile 2		•	
					44,9	Quartile 3			
					-10.8	Quartile 4			4
					-3.28	In-unit (ng/ml.) Increase			
Wikström, 2020. 6311677	SELMA (2007-2010). Sweden; 1533 mother-infant pairs	High	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	4	Quartile 2	j	-	
					-15	Quartile 3			
					-6	Quartile 4		•	ł
					-0,1	In-unit (ng/ml.) inclease			
Eick et al., 2020, 7102797	Chemicals In Our Bodies (CIOB) (2014-2018), US, 497 female participants	(High	Cross-sectional	Trimester 1-3	82,2	Tertile 2		+	• •
					75.71	Tertile 3	4	- 1	
Starling, 2017; 3858473	Healthy Start cohort (2009-2014) 628 mother-infant pairs	IHigh	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 2-3	32.9	Tertile 2			
					-31.8	Tertile 3		- 0	
					-13.5	In-unit (ng/mL) increase			
Shoaff et al., 2018, 4619944	HOME (2003-2006), United States. 345 mother-infant pairs	High	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 2-3, at delivery	-20.88	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	Ť		
Luo et al., 2021, 9959610	Zhujiang Hospital Cohori, China (2017-2019) 224 mother-infant pairs	(High	Cohori (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-11.343	Quartile 2	H	• <u> </u> •	
					-7.761	Quartile 3	1		
					-2.985	Quartile 4	ł		
					-12.5	In-unit (ng/mL) increase		•	
Valvi et al., 2017. 3983872	Farce Islands (1997-2000), Denmark, 604 mother-infant pairs	(High	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 3	21.6	In-unit (ng/mL) increase			
Yao et al., 2021, 9960202	Laizhou Wan Birth Cohort (LWBC) (2010-2013) China, 369 parent-infant pairs	High	Cohort (Prospective)	Triméster 3	-10.19	In-unit (ng/mL) increase		•	

Figure 3-20. Overall population birth weight results for 11 high confidence PFHxS epidemiological studies.^{a,b} For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviation: BWT = Birth Weight

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level, then by exposure window(s) examined.

^bFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison	Regression coefficient 6 [change in mean BWT (g)]
Gyllenhammar, 2018, 4238300	POPUP (1996-2011) 381 mother-infant pairs	(Medium)	Cross-sectional	3 weeks post-birth	-53 3	in-unit (ngimL) increase	G (change in mean BWT (g)) p<0.0
Kwon, 2016. 3858531	EBGRC (2006-2010) 268 mother-infant pairs	[Medium]	Cross-sectional	At birth	-80.1	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I
D. 2017, 3981358	GBCS (2013), China, 321 mother-infant pairs	(Medium)	Cross-sectional	At birth	-30,3	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Chang et al., 2022, 9959588	Emory University African American Vaginal, Oral and Gut Microbiome in Pregnancy Study (2014-2018), 445 perficipents	[Medium]	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	-36	Quartile 2	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
					5	Quartilo 3	
					-54	Quartile 4	
					20.2	In-unit (ng/mL)	
Chen, 2021. 7263985	Prospective cohort analysis from Shanghai Birth Cohort (2015-2017), 214 mother-infant pairs	(Modium)	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimestor 1-2	5.1	Quartile 2	1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
					-45.5	Quartile 3	
					25.6	Quartile 4	E
					27.6	in-unil (ng/mL) inc/ease	
Meng et al., 2018. 4829851	DNBC (1995-2002), Denmark, 3535 mother-infant pairs	(Medium)	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimestar 1-2	37.3	Quartile 2	······································
					7.6	Quartile 3	() () () () () () () () () ()
					8.6	Quartile 4	
					4,5	in-unit (ngimi.) increase	1
Hjermitslev, 2020, 5880849	ACCEPT birth cohort (2010-2011, 2013-2015), Greenland, 482 mother-infant pairs	(Medium)	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-3	-93	in-unif (ng/mi.) increase	······································
Hamm, 2010, 1290814	Alberta cohort (2005-2006) 252 mother-infant pairs	(Medium)	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 2	4,3	Turtike 2	
					26	Tertile 3	H
					21.9	in-unit (ngimL)	performance in the second seco
1	AUCHING INDEA DOALS	a la	Cabina	Trimerator 2.4	2.60	increase	100
5617146	Greenland/Poland/Ukraine, 1.321 mother-infani pairs	(Medium)	(Prospective)	Transitier 2-3	-5,00	increase	
Woods et al. 2017, 4183148	HOME (2003-2006), U.S., 384 mother-infant pairs	Modiumi	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 2-3	-7.29	in unii (ng/mL) increase	
Kashino, 2020, 6311632	Hekkaido Study on Environment and Children's Health (2003-2009), Japan, 1985 mother-child pairs	(Medium)	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-2.21	Parity (=1)	()
					-81.2	Parity (>=2)	
					-1,3	in-unii (ng/mL) increme	
Cao at al., 2018, 5080197	Zhoukou City Longitudinal Birth Cohort (2013-2015) China 282 mother-infani pairs	(Low)	Cahort (Prospective)	ALDINHY	-13,7	Teniku 2	++
					-25.1	Tertile 3	
Shi, 2017, 3827535	Haidan Hnspital (2012) 170 mother-infant pairs	(Low)	Cioss-sectional	At bires	d7.3	In-unit (ng/mL) Increase	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Xu, 2019, 5381338	Cross-sectional study (2016-2017), China, IIS miliher-infant pairs	(Low)	Cross-sectional	At birth	-75.5	in-unii (ng/mL) Increase	
Workman et al. 2019: 5387046	Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) Study (2010-2012), Canada (414 mother-Infant pairs)	(Lenw)	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 2-3	0.83	Insund(og/mL) Increase	
Callan, 2016, 3858524	AMETS (2008-2011) Australia, 98 mother-infant pairs	(Low)	Cross-sectional	Trimester 3	-72	In-unit (ng/mL) Increase	F
Gao et al., 2019, 5387135	Affiliated Hospital of Capital Medical University (2015-2016), China, 132 pregnant women	(Low)	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-154.1	Terble 2	
					-101.2	Tertile 3	the star star in the star star

Figure 3-21. Overall population birth weight results for 17 medium and low confidence epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviation: BWT= Birth Weight

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level, then by exposure window(s) examined.

^b(<u>Meng et al., 2018</u>) pooled samples from umbilical cord blood and maternal plasma during the first and second trimesters. The remaining studies were all based on either one umbilical or maternal sample.

^c(<u>Gyllenhammar et al., 2018</u>) results are displayed here for mean birth weight among 587 overall population participants in the POPUP Cohort compared to a smaller sample size of 381 in their 2018 publication.

^dFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

^eSome confidence intervals (CIs) truncated, e.g. the entire 95%CIs for these studies are: (<u>Hjermitslev et al., 2020</u>): - 230, 44.1; (<u>Xu et al., 2019</u>): -272.7, 121.6; (<u>Gao et al., 2019</u>): Tertile 2: -332.2, 24; Tertile 3: -275.5, 73.1

Author(s) and Year	Confidence	Timing	N					Estimate [95% CI]
Luo, 2021	High	Т3	224		-			-12.5 [-106.8, 81.8]
Shoaff, 2018	High	T2-T3	299		<u>э</u>			-20.9 [-55.9, 14.1]
Yao, 2021	High	Т3	369				i	-10.2 [-130.1, 109.7]
Starling, 2017	High	T2-T3	598					-13.5 [-50.7, 23.7]
Valvi, 2017	High	T3	604					21.6 [-25.2, 68.5]
Lind, 2017	High	T1	636				-	3.5 [-46.7, 53.8]
Manzano-Salgado, 2017	High	T1-T3	1202					-12.4 [-46.2, 21.4]
Bach, 2016	High	T1-T2	1507					-19.4 [-55.4, 16.7]
Ashley-Martin, 2017	High	T1	1509					7.5 [-26.6, 41.6]
Wikström, 2020	High	T1-T2	1533					-0.1 [-38.1, 37.9]
Sagiv, 2018	High	T1-T2	1645			-		-3.3 [-18.8, 12.2]
Buck Louis, 2018	High	T1	2106					-22.1 [-52.5, 8.4]
Kwon, 2016	Medium	в	268		-			-60.0 [-136.4, 16.3]
Li, 2017	Medium	в	321					-30.0 [-83.5, 23.5]
Gyllenhammar, 2018	Medium	PB	587					-53.3 [-104.5, -2.1]
Hamm, 2010	Medium	T2	252				-	21.9 [-23.4, 67.2]
Lenters, 2016	Medium	T2-T3	1321					-5.1 [-44.5, 34.3]
Kashino, 2020	Medium	тз	1591					-1.3 [-26.3, 23.6]
Chen, 2021	Medium	T1-T2	214		+			27.6 [-64.7, 119.9]
Hjermitslev, 2020	Medium	T1-T3	266	+				-93.0 [-230.0, 44.0]
Chang, 2022	Medium	T1-T2	370					-20.2 [-84.4, 44.0]
Maisonet, 2012	Medium	T1-T3	895					-11.2 [-28.5, 6.2]
Meng, 2018	Medium	T1-T2	2120					4.5 [-36.0, 44.9]
Xu, 2019	Low	в	98					-75.5 [-272.7, 121.7]
Shi, 2017	Low	в	170					47.3 [-23.4, 117.9]
Callan, 2016	Low	T3	98	-				-72.0 [-194.0, 50.0]
Workman, 2019	Low	T2-T3	414			-	-	-6.6 [-66.9, 53.7]
RE Model for All Studies (Q	= 18.88, df = 26,	p = 0.84; I ²	$= 0.0\%, \tau^2 = 0$.00)		•		-7.7 [-14.8, -0.5]
			-	1	1	- i	1	-
			-280	-200	-100	0	100	150
					Estimate (9	5% CI)		

Figure 3-22. Forest plot of 27 studies included for the EPA meta-analysis on changes in mean birth weight per each In-unit PFHxS increase.

Abbreviations: T1 = first trimester; T1–T2 = first and second trimester, T2 = second trimester; T2–T3 = second and third trimester; T3 = third trimester; B = at birth, PB = post-birth. See Appendix C for more details.

1 Birth Weight – Mean Differences – Sex-specific Results

2 Eight of the 14 studies with results showed some birth weight deficits in relation to PFHxS 3 exposures in either or both sexes (see Figures 3-23 and 3-24). In contrast, five studies in boys (β 4 range: 17 to 70 g per ln-unit increase) and three studies in girls (β range: 20 to 70 g per ln-unit 5 increase) showed non-significant increased birth weight. Seven studies in girls were null (Kashino 6 et al., 2020; Wikström et al., 2020; Meng et al., 2018; Ashley-Martin et al., 2017; Li et al., 2017b; 7 Lind et al., 2017; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a), while three were null in boys (Kashino et al., 8 2020; Wikström et al., 2020; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a). 9 Among the eight different studies that showed some evidence of inverse associations, six 10 were in boys and four were in girls. Two (Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Bach et al., 2016) of the eight 11 different studies reported decrements in both sexes. For example, birth weight deficits ranging 12 from -21 to -34 grams for quartiles 3 and 4 were seen in girls from the *high* confidence Bach et al. 13 (2016) study, but results were null for continuous exposure (per each ln-unit increase). In contrast, 14 results in boys for each ln-unit were -25 g but smaller (β range: -16 to -21 g) based on the upper 15 three quartiles (compared to quartile 1). In the *medium* confidence Gyllenhammar et al. (2018) 16 study, results were stronger in males (β = -71 g; 95%CI: -150, 8 per each ln-unit PFHxS increase) 17 than females (β = -45 g; 95%CI: -139, -47 per each ln-unit PFHxS increase). 18 Four of the studies noted above showed deficits only in boys (Marks et al., 2019a; Cao et al., 19 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Lind et al., 2017). Two of the four studies noted above detected deficits in 20 girls only (Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Maisonet et al., 2012). The largest association in girls was seen 21 in the *medium* confidence study by <u>Hiermitslev et al. (2020)</u> (β = -145; 95%CI: -306, 14.7 per each 22 In-unit increase). The *medium* confidence <u>Maisonet et al. (2012)</u> study showed some evidence of an 23 exposure-response relationship (β range: -9 to -108 grams across PFHxS tertiles). Two (Marks et 24 al., 2019a; Lind et al., 2017) of the seven studies that reported decrements in boys showed 25 incongruent results based on continuous and categorical exposures. For example, they both showed 26 null results for each ln-unit increase but large deficits were seen for exposure categories (β range: – 27 54 to -104 grams across PFHxS quantiles). A large deficit was also seen in the *low* confidence Li et 28 al. (2017b) study (β = -53 g; 95%CI: -127, 20 per each ln-unit increase). The *low* confidence Cao et 29 al. (2018) study showed some evidence of an exposure-response relationship in boys (β range: -30 30 to -109 g across tertiles). The study by <u>Hiermitslev et al. (2020)</u> was null for their continuous 31 exposure measure and quartile 4, did show some elevated non-significant results for quartiles 2

32 and 3 (β range: -39 to -51 g).

1 Birth Weight – Mean Difference – Sex-Specific Summary

- 2 Eight different studies showed some birth weight deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures in
- 3 either or both sexes. Although the magnitude of deficits was larger among girls (β range: -45 to
- 4 –145 g) per each ln-unit PFHxS increase than boys (β range: –25 to –71 g), more studies showed
- 5 deficits among boys. Four of these studies showed deficits in girls, while six showed deficits in
- 6 boys. There were no patterns seen for results across confidence levels among boys, but the deficits
- 7 seen in girls were limited to *medium* and *high* confidence studies only. Two of the three *low*
- 8 confidence studies in boys showed adverse results including one with evidence of an exposure-
- 9 response relationship based on categorical data. Among the five studies with categorical data, one
- 10 study each in boys and girls had exposure-response relationships that were comparable in
- 11 magnitude (-108 and -109 g in tertile 3). Those results were coherent with linear birth weight
- 12 relationships detected in several studies with continuous exposure metrics data as noted above
- 13 (ranging from -25 to -145 grams per each unit change in PFHxS).
- 14 Among these eight sex-specific studies, five had early biomarker samples indicative that
- 15 pregnancy hemodynamics was not likely an explanatory factor here. No other patterns by other
- 16 study characteristics were evident in the sex-specific findings including study sensitivity among the
- 17 null studies. Although the evidence may be somewhat stronger among males, the lack of consistent
- 18 patterns within and across studies and insufficiently sensitive studies to detect statistically
- 19 significant sex-specific associations preclude more definitive conclusions from being drawn.

Study	Population	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison	Regression coefficient ● β [change in mean BWT (g)]
Ashley-Martin, 2017, 3981371	MIREC study (2008-2011) 1509 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1	23.3	In-unit (ng/mL) încrease	HIGH CONFIDENCE
Lind, 2017, 3858512	Odense Child Cohort (2010-2012) 638 mother-infant pairs	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1	-26	Quartile 2	
					-104	Quartile 3	
					-66	Quartile 4	
					9	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	⊢
Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017, 4238465	INMA cohort (2003-2008) 1202 mother-infant pairs	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1	-6.4	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	P
Bach et al., 2016, 3981534	Aarhus Birth Cohort (2008-2013), Denmark, 1507 mother-infant pairs	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	-21	Quartile 2	++
					-19	Quartile 3	► • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
					-16	Quartile 4	·
					-24,63	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	•
Wikström, 2020, 6311677	SELMA (2007-2010), Sweden, 1533 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	-39	Quartile 2	
					-51	Quartile 3	• • • • •
					1	Quartile 4	i
					-13	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	
Valvi et al., 2017, 3983872	Farce Islands (1997-2000), Denmark, 604 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Tomester 3	17.3	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	(•)
Gyllenhammar et al., 2018, 4238300	POPUP (1996-2011) 381 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cross-sectional	3 weeks post-birth	-71	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	
Li, 2017, 3981358	GBCS (2013), China, 321 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cross-sectional	Al binh	-53.2	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	
Meng et al., 2018, 4829851	DNBC (1996-2002), Denmark, 3535 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	20.2	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	+- <u>1</u> •1
Hjermitslev, 2020, 5880849	ACCEPT birth cohort (2010-2011, 2013-2015), Greenland, 482 mother-infant pairs	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-3	70.4	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Kashino, 2020, 6311632	Hokkaido Study on Environment and Children's Health (2003-2009), Japan, 1985 mother-child pairs	Deficient	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-13.2	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	H-01-1
Cao et al., 2018, 5080197	Zhoukou City Longitudinal Birth Cohort (2013-2015), China, 282 mother-infant pairs	Deficient	Cohort (Prospective)	At birth	-29.7	Tertile 2	
					-109.3	Tertile 3	
Shi, 2017, 3827535	Haidan Hospital (2012) 170 mother-infant pairs	Deficient	Cross-sectional	At birth	67.7	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Matks, 2019, 5081319	ALSPAC (1991-1992), England, 457 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-3	-72.9	Tertile 2	••
					-53.9	Tertile 3	
					-5.2	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	

Figure 3-23. Sex-specific male infants only mean birth weight results for 14 PFHxS epidemiological studies.^{a,b,c,d} For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: BWT = Birth Weight

^aStudies are sorted first by sex, overall study confidence level, then by exposure window(s) examined. ^b(<u>Meng et al., 2018</u>) pooled samples from umbilical cord blood and maternal plasma during first and second trimesters. The remaining studies were all based on either one umbilical or maternal sample.

^c(<u>Gyllenhammar et al., 2018</u>) results are displayed here for mean birth weight among 587 overall population participants in the POPUP Cohort compared to a smaller sample size of 381 in their 2018 publication.

^dFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.



Figure 3-24. Sex-specific female infants only mean birth weight results for 14 PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: BWT= Birth Weight

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^b<u>Meng et al. (2018)</u> pooled samples from umbilical cord blood and maternal plasma during first and second trimesters. The remaining studies were all based on either one umbilical or maternal sample.

^c<u>Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)</u> results are displayed here for mean birth weight among 587 overall population participants in the POPUP Cohort compared to a smaller sample size of 381 in their 2018 publication.

^dFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

- 1 Birth Weight - Standardized – Background 2 Twelve of thirteen studies in the overall population that reported a continuous 3 standardized birth weight scores in relation to different PFHxS measures (see Figures 3-25 and 3-4 26), while the Gardener et al. (2021) study not included on the forest plot examined odds of being 5 in the lowest standardized birthweight category (vs. the top 3 birth weight z-score quartiles). Four 6 of the 13 studies also reported sex-specific results (Eick et al., 2020; Gross et al., 2020; Wikström et 7 al., 2020; Xiao et al., 2019), while Gardener et al. (2021) only examined interactions across sex for 8 associations between PFHxS and standardized birth weight measures. 9 Among the 13 studies that examined PFHxS exposure in relation to standardized birth 10 weight scores in the overall population, eight were *high* (Gardener et al., 2021; Eick et al., 2020; 11 Wikström et al., 2020; Xiao et al., 2019; Sagiv et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Ashley-Martin et al.,
- 12 <u>2017; Bach et al., 2016</u>), three were *medium* (<u>Gyllenhammar et al., 2018</u>; <u>Meng et al., 2018</u>; <u>Hamm</u>
- 13 <u>et al., 2010</u>) and two were *low* (<u>Gross et al., 2020</u>; <u>Workman et al., 2019</u>) confidence. Six studies
- 14 had good (<u>Wikström et al., 2020</u>; <u>Gyllenhammar et al., 2018</u>; <u>Meng et al., 2018</u>; <u>Sagiv et al., 2018</u>;
- 15 <u>Shoaff et al., 2018</u>; <u>Ashley-Martin et al., 2017</u>) study sensitivity ratings, while five were adequate
- 16 (Gardener et al., 2021; Eick et al., 2020; Xiao et al., 2019; Bach et al., 2016; Hamm et al., 2010) and
- 17 two were deficient (<u>Gross et al., 2020</u>; <u>Workman et al., 2019</u>).
- 18 Birth Weight Standardized Study Results
- 19 Null associations between PFHxS exposure and standardized birth weight scores were
- 20 reported in six studies (<u>Wikström et al., 2020</u>; <u>Workman et al., 2019</u>; <u>Gyllenhammar et al., 2018</u>;
- 21 <u>Sagiv et al., 2018; Ashley-Martin et al., 2017; Hamm et al., 2010</u>) (see Figures 3-25 and 3-26).
- 22 Similar to results from categorical and continuous exposures in <u>Wikström et al. (2020)</u> and <u>Sagiv et</u>
- al. (2018), birth weight z-score results were largely null in relation to PFHxS tertiles in the *high*
- 24 confidence <u>Eick et al. (2020)</u> study in the overall population and across the sexes. They did report
- 25 larger birth weight z-scores in the overall population for tertile 3 (β = 0.15; 95% CI: -0.12, 0.42
- 26 compared to tertile 1) that appeared to be driven primarily by results in females (β = 0.22; 95%CI:
- 27 –0.18, 0.63). The *high* confidence study by <u>Gardener et al. (2021)</u> detected non-significant increased
- 28 odds for their lowest standardized birthweight category (vs. the top three birth weight z-score
- 29 quartiles) across PFHxS quartiles (Q3: OR= 1.70; 95%CI: 0.81, 3.74); Q4: OR= 1.20; 95%CI: 0.55,
- 30 2.62). They also found no statistically significant interactions for their birth weight z-score
- 31 measures by sex.
- Although their continuous exposure results were null per each ln-unit PFHxS increase, the high confidence study by Bach et al. (2016) reported a small decrease in standardized birth weight scores (β = -0.11; 95%CI: -0.25, 0.03) in PFHxS quartile 4 compared to quartile 1. Similar results were seen for both tertiles 2 and 3 only (β range: -0.12 to -0.13) in the *high* confidence Shoaff et al. (2018) study. Statistically significant results similar in magnitude were detected in the *medium* confidence Meng et al. (2018) study (β = -0.14; 95%CI: -0.22, -0.07 per each ln-unit PFHxS increase). Larger statistically significant lower birth weight z-scores results were reported in the

- 1 *low* confidence study by <u>Gross et al. (2020)</u> for the overall population (β= -0.65; 95%CI: -0.99,
- 2 -0.39), males (β = -0.60; 95%CI: -1.14, -0.06) and females (β = -0.77; 95%CI: -1.25, -0.29) for
- 3 PFHxS levels greater than the mean level of dried-blood spot samples. Associations large in
- 4 magnitude per each ln-unit increase were also detected in the *high* confidence study by <u>Xiao et al.</u>
- 5 (2019) for the overall population (β = -0.74; 95% CI: -1.23, -0.26), male neonates (β = -0.62; 95%
- 6 CI: -1.28, 0.06), and female neonates (β = -0.87; 95% CI: -1.50, -0.22).



Figure 3-25. Overall population standardized birth weight results for 12 epidemiologic studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: BWT= Birth Weight

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^b(Xiao et al., 2019) results are truncated: the complete 95% CI ranges from -1.23 to -0.26 grams.

^cFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

Study	Population	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison		Regression coefficient	β [change in BWT Z-Score]
Wikström, 2020, 6311677	SELMA (2007-2010), Sweden, 1533 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	-0.081	Quartile 2			β [change in BWT Z-Score] p<0.05
					-0.083	Quartile 3			
					0.016	Quartile 4)	
					-0.017	In-unit (ng/mL) increase			
Sagiv, 2018, 4238410	Project Viva (1999-2002) 1645 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	-0.01	In-unit (ng/mL) increase		5 0 t	
Eick et al., 2020, 7102797	Chemicals In Our Bodies (CIOB) (2014-2018), US, 497 female participants	Adequate	Cross-sectional	Trimester 1-3	0,14	Tertile 2			-
						Tertile 3		-	
Xiao et al., 2019, 5918609	Faroe Islands (1994-1995), 172 mother-infant pairs	Adequate	Cohort. (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-0.62	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	-		
Gross et al., 2020, 7014743	Starting Early Program (StEP) Cohort, United States, 98 mother-infant pairs	Deficient	Nested case-control	At birth	-0.6	high (>mean) vs. low	i		
Wikström, 2020, 6311677	SELMA (2007-2010), Sweden, 1533 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	0.071	Quartile 2		i-i-i-i	
					0.062	Quartile 3		·+●1	
					-0.043	Quartile 4			
					0.031	In-unit (ng/mL) increase			
Sagiv, 2018, 4238410	Project Viva (1999-2002) 1645 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	0.04	In-unit (ing/mL) increase		ei e -i	
Eick et al., 2020, 7102797	Chemicals In Our Bodies (CIOB) (2014-2018), US, 497 female participants	Adequate	Cross-sectional	Trimester 1-3	0.06	Tertile 2			0
					0.22	Tertile 3			
Xiao et al., 2019, 5918609	Faroe Islands (1994-1995), 172 mother-infant pairs	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-0.87	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	• • •	-	
Gross et al., 2020, 7014743	Starting Early Program (StEP) Cohort, United States, 98 mother-infant pairs	Deficient	Nested case-control	At birth	-0.77	high (≳mean) vs. low	· · · · ·		

Figure 3-26. Sex stratified standardized birth weight results for 5 epidemiologic studies (boys above reference line, girls below). For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: BWT= Birth Weight

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level, then by Exposure Window(s) examined.

^b(Xiao et al., 2019) results are truncated: the complete 95% CI ranges from -1.5 to -0.22.

^cFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

1 Birth Weight – Summary of Different Measures and Analyses

2 Six of 13 studies showed some evidence of inverse associations between PFHxS and 3 standardized birth weight measures in the overall population. Among the 12 studies examining 4 continuous birth weight measures in the overall population, 3 showed some associations of at least 5 -0.1 in relation to either categorical or continuous PFHxS exposures. Two other studies (1 high and 6 1 low confidence) showed stronger associations in excess of -0.74 as well as comparable results in 7 both sexes. The high confidence study by Gardener et al. (2021) also reported non-significant odds 8 of being in the lowest standardized birthweight category (vs. the top 3 BWT z-score quartiles) 9 based on PFHxS quartiles 3 (OR range: 1.20 to 1.74). There was limited evidence of exposure-10 response relationships in support of the continuous study results expressed per a unit change. Few 11 patterns and minimal differences were seen across sexes. Among the six studies in the overall 12 population that showed some suggestion of inverse associations, two studies (1 high and 1 low 13 confidence) reported large associations consistent in magnitude for both male and female 14 neonates. Study sensitivity did also not seem to explain null study findings as four of these six 15 studies had good ratings in this domain. There was a slight preponderance of inverse associations 16 with four of the six studies using later biomarker samples. 17 Overall, 17 of the 31 epidemiological studies with mean birth weight in either/both sex or 18 the overall population detected some deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures (see Table 3-17), 19 although these deficits were at times limited to sex-specific findings (Marks et al., 2019a; Lind et al., 20 2017; Maisonet et al., 2012) and often were not statistically significant (see Figures 3-20, 3-21, 3-21 23, and 3-24). This included 14 (4 low and 5 each medium and high confidence) of the 27 studies in 22 the overall population. Two different studies (out of 14) with categorical data in the overall 23 population or either sex showed some evidence of exposure-response relationships. Overall, the 24 magnitude of changes in those studies showing deficits ranged from -25 to -109 grams for the 25 highest quantile (compared to the lowest quantile). Those results were consistent in magnitude 26 with 12 studies with continuous exposure metrics data showing birth weight-related deficits with 27 increasing exposures in the overall population (β ranging from -12 to -93 grams per each unit 28 change in PFHxS). Seven of these ranged from -12 to -30 grams, and the remaining five ranged from -53 to -93 grams. These data were supported by an EPA meta-analysis that showed also 29 30 showed a small birth weight deficit ($\beta = -7.7$ g; 95% CI: -14.8, -0.5) per each ln-unit PFHxS among 31 all 27 studies and were consistent in magnitude (β range: -7 to -10 g) across 12 high confidence 32 studies, 11 medium confidence studies, and the combined high and medium studies. Although 33 deficits were largest among post-partum samples, the results among the 12 early samples studies 34 were comparable (β = -7.3 g; 95% CI: -16.0, 1.4) to that seen in the overall population of all studies. 35 Although deficits were largest among post-partum samples, the results among the 12 early sampled 36 studies were comparable ($\beta = -7.3$ g; 95% CI: -16.0, 1.4) to that seen in the overall population of all 37 27 studies.

Limited patterns were evident in the mean birth weight findings as overall confidence, 1 2 study sensitivity, exposure levels and other study design elements were not explanatory for the null 3 or inverse associations. The mean birth weight differences in the overall population may be 4 influenced by hemodynamic changes during pregnancy, as only ten of the fourteen were based on 5 late biomarker sampling. Similar to that seen for standardized birth measures, the sex-specific data 6 were more mixed in relation to sample timing as four of six studies showing birth weight deficits 7 were based on late biomarker collection. 8 *Birth Length – Background of Studies* 9 Nineteen studies examined the relationship between PFHxS exposures and birth length in 10 the overall population or across sexes; one study (Alkhalawi et al., 2016) was classified as 11 uninformative and is not discussed here (see Figure 3-27). Two of the 10 studies reporting sex-12 specific findings did not report overall population results; both studies were from the ALSPAC

population, including a study in boys (<u>Marks et al., 2019a</u>) and girls (<u>Maisonet et al., 2012</u>). Two

- 14 studies (Xiao et al., 2019; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018) reported standardized birth length measures,
- 15 while the remaining studies examined mean birth length differences in relation to PFHxS. As noted
- above, two studies (<u>Bjerregaard-Olesen et al., 2019</u>; <u>Bach et al., 2016</u>) from the Aarhus birth cohort
- 17 are discussed when discrepancies arise or in isolation as for some sex-specific findings. They are
- 18 both listed together below in the background materials just below, but only counted as one study
- 19 when evaluating consistency and between-study heterogeneity patterns.
- 20 Six of the 18 included PFHxS studies examining birth length studies were classified as *high*
- 21 (Luo et al., 2021; Bjerregaard-Olesen et al., 2019; Xiao et al., 2019; Buck Louis et al., 2018; Manzano-
- 22 <u>Salgado et al., 2017a; Valvi et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016</u>), and five were *medium* (<u>Chen et al., 2021</u>;
- Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Kashino et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Maisonet et al., 2012)
- 24 confidence. Seven of birth length studies were classified as *low* confidence (<u>Gao et al., 2019</u>; <u>Marks</u>
- 25 <u>et al., 2019a; Workman et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Shi et al., 2017; Callan et al.,</u>
- 26 <u>2016</u>) largely due to concerns with participant, selection, confounding, and study sensitivity. For
- 27 example, seven of those studies were considered deficient for study sensitivity (<u>Kashino et al.</u>,
- 28 2020; Gao et al., 2019; Workman et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Cao et al., 2018; Shi et al., 2017; Callan
- 29 <u>et al., 2016</u>). Five studies were rated good (Luo et al., 2021; Marks et al., 2019a; Gyllenhammar et
- 30 <u>al., 2018; Valvi et al., 2017; Maisonet et al., 2012</u>) and six were adequate (<u>Chen et al., 2021</u>;
- 31 Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Bjerregaard-Olesen et al., 2019; Xiao et al., 2019; Buck Louis et al., 2018;
- 32 Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Bach et al., 2016).
- 33 Birth length-Overall Population Results
- 34 Nine of the 16 studies in the overall population reported shorter birth length in relation to
- **35** PFHxS exposure (see Figure 3-28; Table 3-17). Five of the six *high* confidence studies observed that
- **36** PFHxS exposure was associated with shorter birth length in at least one comparison set, including
- 37 statistically significant changes in three high confidence studies examining mean (Buck Louis et al.,

1 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a) or standardized birth length measures (Xiao et al., 2019). For 2 example, <u>Xiao et al. (2019)</u> reported smaller birth length z-scores in overall population ($\beta = -0.52$; 3 95% CI: -1.04, -0.13 each ln-unit increase). The Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017a) study reported 4 birth length reductions consistent in magnitude across all three PFHxS quartiles (β range: -0.31 to 5 -0.33 cm), although results were largely null for each ln-unit increase ($\beta = -0.09$; 95%CI: -0.25, 6 0.09). The study by Valvi et al. (2017) reported small deficits in mean birth length in the overall 7 population (β = -0.14 cm; 95% CI: -0.35, 0.04). Based on a ln-unit PFHxS increase, null results were 8 reported in the <u>Bach et al. (2016)</u> study, and their smaller subset analysis (n = 671 participants) 9 reported in Bjerregaard-Olesen et al. (2019) (the latter data are not plotted given from same 10 cohort). The Bach et al. (2016) study based on 1,507 participants did report decreased birth length 11 in the third (β = -0.1 cm; 95% CI: -0.5, 0.3) and fourth (β = -0.2 cm; 95% CI: -0.5, 0.2) quartiles 12 compared with the lowest quartile (not included on Figure Y given overlapping population). The 13 study by <u>Buck Louis et al. (2018)</u> reported that PFHxS was associated with reductions in birth 14 length (and upper thigh length; the latter data not shown) in the overall population (β = -0.22 cm; 15 95% CI: -0.39, -0.05 per each ln-unit increase), as well as Black ($\beta = -0.43$ cm; 95% CI: -0.71, 16 -0.14) and Hispanic neonates ($\beta = -0.34$ cm; 95% CI: -0.70, 0.03). 17 Three out of four *medium* confidence studies in the overall population were null for birth 18 length deficits in relation to PFHxS exposures. The Chen et al. (2021) study reported a small deficit 19 $(\beta = -0.15 \text{ cm}; 95\% \text{ CI}: -0.42, 0.11)$ per each ln-unit increase and non-monotonic consistent deficits 20 across quartiles (β range: -0.33 to -0.46 cm). Three out of five *low* confidence studies reported 21 some suggestion of birth length deficits in relation to PFHxS. Although results were null for tertile 3 22 relative to tertile 1, the low confidence study by <u>Cao et al. (2018)</u> reported a statistically significant 23 result (β = -0.33 cm; 95% CI: -0.68, -0.01) for tertile 2. Compared to tertile 1, the *low* confidence 24 study by Gao et al. (2019) reported a statistically significant result ($\beta = -0.43$ cm; 95% CI: -0.78, 25 -0.07) for tertile 2 but a smaller deficit in tertile 3 (β = -0.20 cm; 95% CI: -0.64, 0.25). Callan et al. (2016) reported an imprecise deficit of -0.20 cm (95% CI: -0.78, 0.38) per each ln-unit increase. In 26 27 contrast, Xu et al. (2019) reported a large increased birth (β = 0.66 cm; 95% CI: -0.01, 1.26 per each 28 In-unit increase). 29 Overall, 9 (5 high, 1 medium, and 3 low confidence) out of 16 studies in the overall 30 population provided some evidence of birth length deficits with increasing PFHxS exposure. Some 31 of these results were not always internally consistent across different exposure expressions 32 (continuous vs. categorical). The five studies with categorical data in the overall population did not 33 provide any evidence of any exposure-response relationships. Although mean birth length results 34 for continuous PFHxS exposures were smaller, two of the three studies with PFHxS quartiles

- 35 showed deficits similar in magnitude (β = -0.31 to -0.46 cm). There was a consistent pattern by
- 36 sample timing among those studies demonstrating birth length deficits in the overall population, as
- 37 six of the nine studies were based on late biomarker sampling. No other patterns by study
- 38 characteristics were evident.



Figure 3-27. Study evaluation results for 19 epidemiological studies of birth length and PFHxS. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Study	Population	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison	Regression coefficient	 β [change in mean BL (cm)] β [change in mean BL (cm)] ps0.05.
Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017, 4238465	INMA cohort (2003-2008) 1202 mother-infant pairs	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1	-0.33	Quartile 2		195% confidence interval
					-0.32	Quartile 3		
					-0.31	Quartile 4	······	the second second second second
					-0.09	In-unit (ng/mL) increase		
Buck Louis, 2018, 5016892	NICHD Fetal Growth Studies (2009-2013), United States, 2106 mother-infent pairs	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1	-0.22	In-unit (ng/mL) increase		
Bach et al., 2016, 3981534	Aarhus Birth Cohort (2008-2013). Denmark, 1507 mother-infant pairs	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimestor 1-2	٥	In-unit (ng/mL) increase		
					0.1	Quartile 2		-0
					-0.1	Quartile 3	1	and a second sec
					-0.2	Quartile 4	1	
Luo et al., 2021. 9959610	Zhujiang Hospital Cohort, China (2017-2019) 224 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cohart (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-0.001	Quartile 2 Quartile 3		
						Quartile 4	1 - 1 - 1	
					0.04	In-unit (ng/mL) increase		
Valvi et al., 2017, 3983872	Farce Islands (1997-2000), Denmark, 604 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-0.14	In-unit (ng/mL) increase		0.0
Xiao et al., 2019, 5918609	Faros Islands (1994-1995), 172. mether-infant pairs	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-0,59	In-unit (rigrmL) increase	• • •	
Gyllenhammar, 2018, 4238300	POPUP (1996-2011) 381 mother-infant pairs	Good	Cross-sectional	3 weeks post birth	a	In unit (ng/mL) increase	MEDIUM CONFIDENCE	
Chen, 2021, 7263985	Prospective cohort analysis from Shanghai Birth Cohort (2015-2017), 214 mother-infant pairs	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	-0.4	Quartile 2		
					-0.46	Quartile 3	1	a second descent second second second
					-0.33	Quartile 4		
					-0.15	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	1	
Hjermitslev, 2020, 5880849	ACCEPT birth cohort (2010-2011, 2013-2018), Greenland, 482 mother-infant pairs	Adequate	Cahart (Prospective)	Trimester 1-3	-0.18	lo-unit (ng/mL) Increase	· · · · ·	-
Kashino, 2020, 6311632	Hokkaido Study on Environment and Children's Health (2003-2009), Japan, 1985 mother-child pairs	Deficient	Cohart (Prospective)	Trimester 3	0.01	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	· · · ·	
Cao et al., 2018. 5080197	Zhoukou City Longitudinal Birth Conort (2013-2015), China, 282 mother-infant pairs	Deficient	Cohort (Prospective)	At birth	-0.33	Tertile 2		
					-0.07	Tertile 3	I	
Shi. 2017. 3827535	Haidan Hospital (2012) 170 mother-infant pairs	Deficient	Cross-sectional	At birth	0.17	In-unit (ng/inL) increase		6
Xu, 2019, 5381338	Cross-sectional study (2016-2017), China, 98 mother-infant pairs	Deficient	Cross-sectional	At birth	0.66	In-unit (ng/inL) increase		• •
Workman et al., 2019, 5387046	Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) Study (2010-2012), Canada (414 mother-infant pairs)	Deficient	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 2-3	-0.012	In-unit(ng/mL) increase	++	
Callan, 2016, 3858524	AMETS (2008-2011), Australia, 98 mother-infant pairs	Deficient	Cross-sectional	Trimester 3	-0.2	In-unit (ng/mL) increase		4
Gao et al., 2019, 5387135	Affiliated Hospital of Capital Medical University (2015-2016), China, 132 pregnant women	Delicient	Cohori. (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-0.43	Tertile 2	• • • • • • •	
					-0.2	Tertile 3		

Figure 3-28. Overall population mean birth length results for 16 PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: BL= Birth Length

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined. ^b(<u>Xiao et al., 2019</u>) and (<u>Gyllenhammar et al., 2018</u>) in blue text report birth length z-score data. ^cFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

Birth Length-Sex-Specific Results

Among these 11 studies with results in either boys, girls or both, some birth length deficits were detected in 7 different studies (see Figure 3-29). The *high* confidence study by <u>Xiao et al.</u> (2019) reported deficits in both sexes including larger and statistically significant birth length z-scores among girls (β = -0.72; 95% CI: -1.33, -0.12 each ln-unit increase). Sex-specific results were null based in both sexes based on continuous (per each ln-unit increase) data in the <u>Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017a)</u> and <u>Kashino et al. (2020)</u> studies. Four of the remaining six studies in females were null (<u>Chen et al., 2021</u>; <u>Bjerregaard-Olesen et al., 2019</u>; <u>Cao et al., 2018</u>; <u>Shi et al., 2017</u>). The

medium confidence <u>Maisonet et al. (2012)</u> study of girls only reported dose-dependent statistically significant associations across exposure tertiles (β range: -0.52 to -0.82). The *medium* confidence <u>Hjermitslev et al. (2020)</u> study reported deficits among female neonates only (β = -0.42 cm; 95% CI: -1.07, 0.22 per each ln-unit increase).

The *medium* confidence <u>Chen et al. (2021)</u> study reported a small birth length deficit (β = -0.15 cm; 95% CI: -0.61, 0.31) per each ln-unit increase in boys only. The high confidence study by <u>Valvi et al. (2017)</u> reported deficits among male neonates only (β = -0.22 cm; 95% CI: -0.49, 0.04 per each ln-unit increase). The *low* confidence study by <u>Cao et al. (2018)</u> detected non-monotonic reductions in birth length across tertiles (β range: -0.18 to -0.44) in boys, while another *low* confidence study of boys only (<u>Marks et al., 2019a</u>) detected evidence of an exposure-response relationship across PFHxS tertiles (β range: -0.25 to -0.39). In contrast, increased birth length (β range: 0.20 to 0.40 cm per ln-unit PFHxS increase) was detected in males in three studies (<u>Hjermitslev et al., 2020</u>; <u>Bjerregaard-Olesen et al., 2019</u>; <u>Shi et al., 2017</u>).

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression	Exposure Comparison	Regression coefficient
Manzeno-Sis gedo el 2 - 2017, 4258485	INVA cohort (2008-2008) *202 mother infant pairs	(High)	Adequise	Cohort (Prospective)	Timester *	-2.09	In-unit (n@mL) incresse	B (denge in near B, (or)) H Uph controle interval
Bjeriegsand-Clesen 16 f. , 2010, 105 3046	Aarhus Binh Cohort (2008-2013) 702 mother-infert peixs	High	Adequate	Cohort (Prospersive)	r mester 1-2	92	to-ant (nghili) incresse	1-1
abietat. 2017, 1953872	Farce Islands (1997-2000). Demiark: 604 motien-lilifart pairs	(High)	Good	Cohail (Pospective;	Trimesus: 3	0.22	In unik (ngérit.) interesse	F
ueo et el. 2019, 9 tenio	Herce (stends (1004-1000), 172 mothon infant point.	(Hist)	Adequate	Corott (Prespective)	Tomester 3	-0.43	In-unit (no/mL) increase	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
nan, 2021 253985	Prospective conort analysis from Shanghai Birth Colort (2015-2017) 217 mother-mant pare	(Mochum)	Attoquasie	Gohoil (Prospective)	7 mailer 1 3	9.15	In, anil (ngin) (increase:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
armitslav, 2020. 850849	ACCEPT sinth conort (2010-2011) 2013 2015): Gecentland, 482 mother-infant pairs	(Medium)	Addquate	Cohoit (Prospankivo)	Trimoster 1-3	9.27	In-init (ng/m)) increase	1
isahino, 2020, Bineuz	Hokkatop Study on Environment and Chridherts Health (2003-2005) Japon, 1305 mather ontid pairs	(Mebium)	Dehaent	Cohoit (Prospective)	Lonester 3	-0.1	thank inducts increase	
Caulatine, 2015, 1050197	Zircakca C. y Longitadiral Birth Conort (2013-2015): China, 222 mother-infant pairs	(Low)	Deficient	Collius) (Prospective)	At b(a)	(0.44)	Terfile 2	······
						5.18	"criile 3	
W, 2017 827035	Hakan Hospital (2012) 170 mothe-Intert pairs	June	Deficient	Cross sectors	AL BELE	04	In unit (ng/mu) increases	1
Varks, 2019. 5051/119	ALSHAC (1001-1002), England, 407 mother-infant pairs.	Irows	Good	Cohort (Presence vol)	r mester 1-3	-0.20	oristo 2	•
						0.35	Terile 3	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
fanzano-Salgado k.a., 2017 238415	INKA cultor (2003-2006) 1202 mother-infant pers	(High)	Adequate	Ochoni (Prospective)	Thres.s ^{- *}	-0.09	h-anit (ngint) increase	i de la constante de
ljorregaard Clesen It e., 2015 IO53615	Aarhus Birth Onhert (2008 2015) 702 mother-Infant pairs	(Lligh)	Articipantie	(Prospective)	Tempster 1.7	0	In anil (ogin) (increases	·
/abi et et , 2017. 1983872	Farce Islands (1996-2000), Decembre 664 montes information	High	Good	Cohort (Prostance vol)	Timester 3	-0,04	In- init (ng/m) (increase	·
Gad p. al. 2019, 81/2609	Farce Islands (1994-1995): 172 mother-intent peris	P PGP (Adequisite	Cohoit (Prospective)	Trimmar 3	0.72	http://gentylocyane	
Dien, 2021 1263965	Prospective concrt snelvels from Shanghai Bish Cobort (2015-2017) 214 mether-fritet pairs	(Mecium)	A CEQUETE	Cohort (Prospectivo)	r mester 1-2	-0.07	In-unit (right u) incresse	······
njet milislev, 2020. ISSC849	ACCE 11 clim conort (2010-2011, 2013-2015) Greenland, 4d2 mother-infant pairs	(Mecturn)	Adequate	Cotion (Prospective)	Trimester 1+3	-0.42	In-ung (ognru) increase	→ 0, 0, -0, -
faisone. et st., 012, 1332465	ALSPAC (1991 1992), U.K., 447 mothe-gir paire	(Medium)	Good	Octori (Prospective)	Trimester 1.3	0.52	Terille 2	· · · · · · · · ·
						-0.82	orbio S	l
Cashina, 2020, 131.1632	Hokkeise Study of Emirorment and Children's Health (2003-2006) Japen, 1985 mother-child pairs	Motional	Deficient	Ochon (Prospeciivo)	Trimoson 2	0.15	In-unit (1g/m),) incresse	
teo et al., 2015. 090107	Zhoukou Chr-Longitadinal Bitts Geneti (2018-2015), China, 292 molloc infant pairs	IL OM	Deticient	Cohort (Prospective)	At birth	40.29	entie 2	↓↓
						0.01	Terlite S	······
								E Contraction of the second seco

Figure 3-29. Sex stratified birth length results for 11 epidemiologic studies (boys above reference line, girls below). For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: BL= Birth Length.

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bXiao et al. (2019) in blue text reports birth length z-score data.

^cFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

1 Summary-Birth Length-Sex-Specific

- Stronger evidence of birth length deficits was observed in males (5 of 10 studies) compared
 to females (3 of 10 studies); however, these deficits were generally smaller in magnitude among
 males (β range: -0.15 to -0.39 cm) than females (β range: -0.42 to -0.82 cm). In addition to the two
- 5 null studies in males, three other studies reported increased birth length in relation to PFHxS
- 6 exposures. Two of the three studies with categorical data provided evidence of an inverse
- 7 exposure-response relationships, albeit only in males (<u>Marks et al., 2019a</u>) and females (<u>Maisonet</u>
- 8 <u>et al., 2012</u>) derived from the same ALPSAC study population.
- 9 Exposure levels were higher in the studies reporting birth length deficits in males, including
- 10 the top four and five of the top six highest exposure measures of centrality reported. Besides this
- 11 and the slightly more consistent results in males in general, no other patterns across study
- 12 characteristics explained the between-study heterogeneity including the null results. For example,
- 13 there was no definitive pattern of results by study confidence across the seven different studies
- 14 (two *high*, three *medium*, and two *low* confidence) nor sample timing (four had early biomarker
- 15 samples compared to three with late).

16 Summary-Birth Length

- 17 Overall, 12 out of 18 included studies provided some evidence of birth length deficits with
- 18 increasing PFHxS exposure in either the overall population or either sex. Some of these results were
- 19 not always internally consistent across different exposure expressions (continuous vs. categorical).
- 20 Two of the seven studies with categorical data provided some evidence of any exposure-response
- 21 relationships, both of these were from sex-specific studies in the same cohort. There was no pattern
- 22 among the null studies based on study sensitivity or other study characteristics. Mean and median
- exposure levels were higher among the male studies showing deficits, but this did not appear to
- 24 explain results in females or the overall population. There was not a consistent pattern by sample
- 25 timing among the studies showing inverse associations in either/both sex (four of seven had early
- sampling) or the overall population (three of nine had early sampling). Among the 11 different
- 27 studies demonstrating birth length deficits, six of them relied on early sampling suggesting limited
- 28 overall potential impact of pregnancy hemodynamics.

29 Head Circumference at Birth – Study Background

- 30 Fourteen studies examined PFHxS in relation to head circumference measured at birth
- 31 including two studies (Xiao et al., 2019; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018) reporting standardized head
- 32 circumference measures (see Figure 3-30). Among the other 12 studies, 10 (<u>Chen et al., 2021</u>;
- 33 Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Kashino et al., 2020; Bjerregaard-Olesen et al., 2019; Workman et al., 2019;
- 34 <u>Xu et al., 2019; Buck Louis et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Valvi et al., 2017); Bach et al.</u>
- 35 (2016); (Callan et al., 2016) of these studies reported data in the overall population. Eight studies
- analyzed sex-specific results include two studies (<u>Marks et al., 2019a</u>; <u>Lind et al., 2017</u>) that only
- 37 reported these data.

- 1 Four studies were classified as *low* confidence (<u>Marks et al., 2019a;</u> <u>Workman et al., 2019</u>;
- 2 <u>Xu et al., 2019; Callan et al., 2016</u>) and five each were *medium* (<u>Chen et al., 2021</u>; <u>Hjermitslev et al.,</u>
- 3 <u>2020; Kashino et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Lind et al., 2017</u>) and *high* (Bjerregaard-
- 4 <u>Olesen et al., 2019; Xiao et al., 2019; Buck Louis et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Valvi et</u>
- 5 <u>al., 2017</u>); <u>Bach et al. (2016)</u>. Seven of the 14 PFHxS studies on head circumference had adequate
- 6 study sensitivity (<u>Chen et al., 2021; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Bjerregaard-Olesen et al., 2019; Xiao et</u>
- 7 <u>al., 2019; Buck Louis et al., 2018; Lind et al., 2017; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a</u>), while four were
- 8 deficient (Kashino et al., 2020; Workman et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Callan et al., 2016) and three
- 9 had good study sensitivity (<u>Marks et al., 2019a; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Valvi et al., 2017</u>).



Figure 3-30. Study evaluation results for 14 epidemiological studies of head circumference and PFHxS. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

- 10 Head Circumference at Birth Overall Population Results
- 11 Seven out of the 12 studies in the overall population reported some evidence of reduced
- 12 mean or standardized head circumference at birth with increasing PFHxS exposures including four

of five high confidence studies, two of four medium and one of three low confidence studies (see 1 2 Figure 3-31). Three studies detected null associations (Kashino et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2019; 3 Gyllenhammar et al., 2018). Two studies reported small increases in head circumference per each 4 In-unit increase including the *high* confidence Valvi et al. (2017) study (β = 0.16 cm; 95% CI: 0.01, 5 0.29) and the *low* confidence <u>Workman et al. (2019)</u> study (β = 0.12 cm; 95% CI: -0.18, 0.42). 6 The *high* confidence Xiao et al. (2019) study reported lower head circumference z-scores in 7 the overall population (β = -0.52; 95% CI: -1.04, 0.00 per each PFHxS ln-unit increase). The *high* 8 confidence study by <u>Bach et al. (2016)</u> detected consistent deficits across quartiles two through 9 four (all β etas were -0.2 cm), but they reported null findings based on the continuous PFHxS 10 measure as well as in their smaller subset in a separate publication (Bjerregaard-Olesen et al., 11 2019) (the latter data are not plotted given from same cohort). Similarly, the high confidence study 12 by Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017a) showed some evidence of an exposure-response relationship 13 across the PFHxS quartiles (β range: -0.08 to -0.16) but not among the continuous exposure results 14 $(\beta = -0.01 \text{ cm}; 95\% \text{ CI}: -0.13, 0.10)$. The *high* confidence study by <u>Buck Louis et al. (2018)</u> reported 15 a precise but small deficit in the overall population (β = -0.09 cm; 95%CI: -0.19, 0) and saw a 16 statistically significant reduction in head circumference for Black (β = -0.25 cm; 95% CI: -0.41, 17 -0.08) neonates per each ln-unit increase in PFHxS. Two medium confidence studies detected an 18 imprecise head circumference difference of -0.14 cm per each ln-unit PFHxS increase including 19 Hiermitslev et al. (2020) (95%CI: -0.52, 0.25) and Chen et al. (2021) (95%CI: -0.46, 0.19). A larger 20 difference was detected in the *low* confidence <u>Callan et al. (2016)</u> study (β = -0.31 cm; 95% CI: 21 -0.74, 0.12 per each ln-unit PFHxS increase). 22 Overall, 7 of 12 studies showed some evidence of associations between PFHxS and different 23 head circumference measures in the overall population. Some of these results were not always 24 internally consistent across different exposure expressions (continuous vs. categorical). One of two 25 studies with categorical data showed some evidence of an exposure-response relationship across 26 quartiles. There was no clear pattern in study characteristics among the null studies, although two 27 of the four had deficient study sensitivity. Five of the seven studies were based on early biomarker

28 samples, so pregnancy hemodynamics did not appear to explain the study findings.

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison	n Regression coefficient. Γ β [change in mean HC (απ)]
Manzano-Salgado ei al., 2017, 4238465	INMA conort (2003-2008) 1202 mother-infant pairs	(High)	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1	-0.08	Quartile 2	β [change in mean HC (cm)] pr
						-0.14	Quartile 3	I Sa % contidence interval
						-0.16	Quartile 4	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
						-0,01	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	
Buck Louis, 2018, 5016992	NICHD Fetal Growth Studies (2009-2013), United States, 2106 mother-infant pairs	[High]	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1	-0.09	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	· · · · ·
Bach et al., 2016, 3981534	Aarhus Birlh Cohori (2008-2013). Denmark, 1507 mother-infant pairs.	[High]	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Thrnester 1-2	0	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	ι
						-0.2	Quartile 2	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
						-0.2	Quartile 3	
						-0.2	Quartile 4	1
Valvi et al., 2017, 3983872	Farce Islands (1997-2000). Denmark, 604 mother-infant pairs	High	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 3	0.16	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	
Xiao at al., 2019, 5918609	Paroe Islands (1994-1995), 172 mother-infant pairs	l ligh)	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimeater 3	0.52	In-unit (ng/mL) Increase	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Gyllenhammar, 2018, 4238300	POPUP (1996-2011) 381 mother-infant pairs	Medium	Good	Cross-sectional	3 weeks post-birth	-0.03	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	⊢ − • t
Chen, 2021, 7263985	Prospective cohort analysis from Shanghai Birth Cohort (2015-2017), 214 mether-infant pairs	(Medium)	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	-0.14	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	1
Hjermitslev, 2020, 5880849	ACCEPT birth cohort (2010-2011, 2013-2015), Greenland, 482 mother-infant pairs	(Medium)	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-3	-0.14	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	1 <u>1</u>
Kashino, 2020. 6311632	Hokkaido Study on Environment and Children's Health (2003-2009), Japan, 1985 mether-child pairs	(Medium)	Deficient	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-0.07	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	
Xu, 2019. 5381338	Gross-sectional study (2016-2017). China, 98 mother-infant pairs	[Low]	Deficient	Cross-sectional	At birth	0.05	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	
Workman et al., 2019, 5387046	Canadian Heelthy Infent Longitudinal Development (CHILD) Study (2010-2012), Canada (414 molher-infent pairs)	lrow	Deficient	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 2-3	0.12	in-unit(ng/mL) increase	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Callan, 2016, 3858524	AMETS (2008-2011), Australia, 98 mother-infant pairs	[Low]	Deficient	Cross-sectional	Trimester 3	-0.31	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	

Figure 3-31. Overall population head circumference results for 12 epidemiologic studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: HC= Head Circumference

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level, then by Exposure Window(s) examined. ^bXiao et al. (2019) and <u>Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)</u> in blue text report head circumference z-score data. ^cXiao et al. (2019) results are truncated: the complete 95% CI ranges from -1.04 to 0. ^dFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

- 1 Head circumference at birth Sex and Race-specific Results
- Eight studies examined PFHxS and head circumference differences among sexes (see Figure
 3-32). Two *high* confidence studies were null in both sexes (<u>Bierregaard-Olesen et al., 2019</u>;
- 4 Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a) and only one study (Xiao et al., 2019) showed inverse associations
- 5 in both sexes. Four of eight studies were null in boys, and one showed larger head circumference
- 6 differences with increasing PFHxS exposures. Five studies were null in girls and two studies
- 7 showed inverse associations between head circumference differences and PFHxS exposures.
- 8 Three of eight studies in boys and two of seven studies in girls reported associations with
- 9 PFHxS. The *high* confidence study by <u>Xiao et al. (2019)</u> reported smaller head circumference z-
- 10 scores with larger results in female (β = -0.76; 95% CI: -0.19, 0.23 per each ln-unit increase)
- 11 compared to male (β = -0.26; 95% CI: -0.46, 0.07 per each ln-unit increase) neonates. All of the
- 12 other studies examined mean head circumference differences in relation to PFHxS. For example,
- 13 the medium confidence study by <u>Hjermitslev et al. (2020)</u> showed head circumference differences
- among females only (β= -0.26; 95% CI: -0.73, 0.20 per each ln-unit increase). Among boys, the
- 15 *medium* confidence study by <u>Kashino et al. (2020)</u> reported head circumference differences smaller
- 16 in magnitude relation to PFHxS (β = -0.14 cm; 95%CI: -0.29, 0.02 per each ln-unit PFHxS increase),

- 1 as did the *medium* confidence study by Lind et al. (2017) (β = -0.1 cm; 95%CI: -0.4, 0.2 per each ln-
- 2 unit PFHxS increase). The Lind et al. (2017) study showed non-monotonic head circumference
- 3 deficits across exposure categories (β range: -0.1 to -0.7 cm), including one that was statistically
- 4 significant for PFHxS quartile 3 (β = -0.7 cm; 95% CI: -1.2, -0.2).
- 5 Overall, four (1 *high*; 3 *medium* confidence) of eight studies showed some evidence of
- 6 associations between PFHxS and different head circumference measures among either or both
- 7 sexes (including three of eight studies in boys and two of seven studies in girls). No study
- 8 characteristics (i.e. study design features or study quality domains) appeared to explain between-
- 9 study heterogeneity of results including sample timing, as half of the studies reporting inverse
- 10 association were based on early biomarker samples.



Figure 3-32. Sex stratified head circumference results for 8 epidemiologic studies (boys above reference line, girls below). For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: HC= Head Circumference

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level, then by Exposure Window(s) examined. ^bXiao et al. (2019) in blue text report head circumference z-score data.

^cFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

1 Head Circumference Summary

2 Overall, 8 of 14 total studies showed some head circumference deficits in either sex or in the 3 overall population in relation to PFHxS exposures. There was fairly consistent evidence of 4 associations in the overall population as 6 out of 12 studies (including five of the nine high and 5 medium confidence studies) reported some evidence of deficits for at least one exposure 6 comparison. Overall, one of the three studies with categorical data showed evidence of an 7 exposure-response relationship in either sex or in the overall population. There was no pattern 8 among the null studies based on study sensitivity and exposure levels/contrasts. There was not a 9 consistent pattern by sample timing among those studies demonstrating head circumference 10 deficits, as half other studies in both the overall population and sex-specific analyses that were based on late biomarker sampling. 11

12 Small for Gestational Age and Low Birth Weight

13 Seven epidemiological studies included here examined associations between PFHxS 14 exposure and different dichotomous fetal growth restriction endpoints, such as SGA (or related 15 intrauterine growth retardation endpoints) (Chang et al., 2022; Wikström et al., 2020; Xu et al., 16 2019; Hamm et al., 2010) or low birth weight (LBW) (Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Meng et al., 2018; 17 Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a) (see Figure 3-33). Two studies were high confidence (Wikström et 18 al., 2020; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a), three were *medium* confidence (Hjermitslev et al., 2020); 19 Meng et al. (2018); (Hamm et al., 2010) and two were low confidence (Chang et al., 2022; Xu et al., 20 2019). Two of these studies had good study sensitivity (Wikström et al., 2020; Manzano-Salgado et 21 al., 2017a), four had adequate study sensitivity (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; 22 Wikström et al., 2020; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a) while one was deficient (Xu et al., 2019). All 23 seven studies reported results in the overall population, while two (Wikström et al., 2020; 24 Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a) provided results in both the overall population and across sexes. 25 Three (Wikström et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2019; Hamm et al., 2010) of four SGA studies showed 26 some adverse associations (see Figure 3-34) in relation to PFHxS. The *medium* confidence study by Hamm et al. (2010) showed increased odds (OR=2.35; 95%CI: 0.63, 8.72) in the overall population 27 28 among tertile 3 compared to tertile 1. The *low* confidence by Xu et al. (2019) reported showed an 29 even larger statistically significant odds of SGA (OR=9.14; 95%CI: 1.15, 72.8 per each ln-unit 30 increase). Although their overall population results were null, some of the quartile results were 31 elevated (OR=1.76; 95%CI: 0.79, 3.90) but in a non-monotonic fashion. Their results based on a ln-32 unit increase were largely null for both sexes. In addition to the <u>Wikström et al. (2020)</u> study, two 33 other studies in the overall population were null (Chang et al., 2022; Hjermitslev et al., 2020). The 34 Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017a) study was null for the overall population, girls, and boys. 35 Two studies reported largely null results between PFHxS and LBW in the overall population 36 (Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a) as did the *medium* confidence study by 37 Meng et al. (2018) based on their quartile comparisons. Based on the continuous exposure

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-142DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- 1 expressions, Meng et al. (2018) reported a larger risk (OR=1.5; 95%CI: 0.7, 2.9 per each ln-unit
- 2 increase) for a very LBW (i.e., <2,260 grams) measure compared to the typical LBW definition of
- 3 <2,500 grams (OR=1.3; 95%CI: 0.8, 2.1). Although term LBW results were null in girls in the
- 4 <u>Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017a)</u> study, non-significant increases were seen amongst boys (OR=1.33;
- 5 95%CI: 0.47, 3.82 per ln-unit increases).



Figure 3-33. Study evaluation results for 7 epidemiological studies of small for gestational age and low birth weight and PFHxS. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.


Figure 3-34. Small for gestational age and low birth weight results for 7 epidemiologic studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: SGA= Small for Gestational Age; LBW= Low Birth Weight

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bLow birth weight overall population data above black reference line.

^cOverall population data above black dotted line; sex-stratified data below blue dotted line.

^dFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

1 Small for Gestational Age/Low Birth Weight Summary

Although they were not always statistically significant, five different (Wikström et al., 2020;

- 3 <u>Xu et al., 2019; Meng et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Hamm et al., 2010</u>) of the seven
- 4 studies examining either SGA, LBW or very LBW showed some increased risks with increasing
- 5 PFHxS exposures among the overall population or either girls or boys. The associations were quite
- 6 variable (OR range: 1.3–9.1) in magnitude including some large but imprecise increased odds, but
- 7 there was no evidence of exposure-response relationships based on categorical data in three
- 8 separate studies. There were no patterns of results based on sample timing and other
- 9 characteristics.

2

1 Fetal Growth Restriction Summary

2 Among the most accurate fetal growth restriction endpoints examined, there was 3 reasonably consistent evidence for birth weight deficits across different measures and types of 4 PFHxS exposure metrics considered. Some mean or standardized birth weight deficits were 5 detected in 20 of the 34 included studies, including 14 out of 16 *medium* and *high* confidence 6 studies. Inverse associations were also noted in 17 of 31 studies that examined mean birth weight 7 associations in the overall population (5 high; 5 medium and 4 low confidence). Although smaller 8 birth weight deficits were seen in the five *high* confidence studies (β = -11 to -22 g), the remaining 9 studies reporting reductions ranged from -30 to -93 grams per each ln-unit PFHxS increase. Similarly, 9 out of 12 sex-specific analyses, including 5 out of 9 medium and high confidence studies, 10 showed deficits in either or both male and female neonates. Results were larger based on 11 12 categorical comparisons in two *low* confidence studies (β range: -108 and -109 g for highest tertiles), but also consistent among these sex-specific studies expressing results per each ln-unit 13 14 increase in both *medium* (β range: -45 to -71 g) and *high* confidence studies (β range: -11 to -14 15 g). 16 The findings in the overall population were supported by meta-analysis results of a larger 17 study subset (n = 27) presented above (and detailed in Appendix C) that showed a small deficit (β = 18 -7.7 g; 95% CI: -14.8, -0.5 per each ln-unit increase) in analyses of the overall populations. This 19 overall meta-analysis birth weight result ($\beta = -7.7$ g) was comparable to analyses restricted to just 20 the high (β = -6.8 g) and medium (β = -9.6 g) confidence studies. The analysis restricted to only 21 studies with some early pregnancy (β = -7.3 g) biomarkers was also comparable in magnitude to 22 these results. This early pregnancy data subset would be less prone to any potential impact of bias 23 related to pregnancy hemodynamics. As noted above, many of the individual study results lacked 24 precision and were not statistically significant, especially the sex-stratified results. Two of the 16 25 *medium* and *high* confidence studies examining categorical data for the overall population or 26 different sexes, showed evidence of exposure-response relationships, which was supported by the

27 findings based on continuous PFHxS exposure data.

28 The evidence for birth length deficits was also consistent, with all four of the *high* 29 confidence studies showing deficits with increasing PFHxS exposures. However, among the *high* 30 confidence studies based on the overall populations, the birth length results were often imprecise 31 and fairly small in magnitude (-0.14 to -0.43 cm). In contrast, the results for PFHxS studies of head 32 circumference and ponderal index were largely null. Across these different endpoints there is some 33 evidence of an association between fetal growth restriction and PFHxS exposure, but important 34 uncertainties remain. For example, there was a pattern suggestive of potential bias in studies with 35 biomarker samples collected after pregnancy (i.e., postpartum), given these studies showed larger 36 deficits in birthweight. Some additional uncertainty also remains regarding whether any other 37 PFAS co-exposures are likely to be confounders in these studies; as such, this could potentially

38 affect study findings.

<u>Growth restriction – postnatal growth (infancy and early childhood up to 2 years of age)</u>

- 1 Postnatal Weight, Height, and Head Circumference Background
- 2 Thirteen studies were identified that assessed postnatal growth in relation to PFHxS (see
- 3 Figure 3-35) with each examining some measures of infant weight and/or height. Two
- 4 *uninformative* studies (<u>Jin et al., 2020a</u>; <u>Alkhalawi et al., 2016</u>) are not further considered here
- 5 mainly due to deficiencies or critical deficiencies in participant selection, confounding, analysis, and
- 6 study sensitivity. As shown in Figure 3-37 and Table 3-18, 5 of the 11 included studies were
- 7 considered *high* confidence (Gao et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2022; Starling et al., 2019; Shoaff et al.,
- 8 <u>2018</u>; <u>Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017b</u>), while three each were *medium* (<u>Jensen et al., 2020a</u>;
- 9 <u>Gyllenhammar et al., 2018</u>; <u>Maisonet et al., 2012</u>) and *low* confidence (<u>Gross et al., 2020</u>; <u>Cao et al.</u>,
- 10 <u>2018</u>; Lee et al., 2018). Of the 11 postnatal growth studies, study sensitivity in three were
- 11 considered adequate (<u>Gao et al., 2022; Starling et al., 2019</u>; <u>Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017b</u>), while
- 12 four each were good (<u>Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2018</u>; <u>Shoaff et al., 2018</u>; <u>Maisonet et al.,</u>
- 13 <u>2012</u>) and deficient (<u>Zhang et al., 2022</u>; <u>Gross et al., 2020</u>; <u>Jensen et al., 2020a</u>; <u>Cao et al., 2018</u>)
- 14 largely owing to small exposure contrasts.
- 15 Although there was some overlap across studies, limited serial measures during infancy as
- 16 well as inconsistent age at examinations and analyses may limit some comparisons here. For
- 17 example, <u>Zhang et al. (2022)</u> examined growth up to 12 months and <u>Starling et al. (2019)</u> took
- 18 measurements at 5 months only. <u>Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017b)</u> examined growth from birth until
- 19 6 months of age. Lee et al. (2018) examined postnatal growth at 2 years, while the <u>Cao et al. (2018)</u>
- 20 analyses were based on a mean of 19 months in participants. <u>Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)</u> had serial
- 21 postnatal growth measures for most endpoints at 3, 6, 12 and 18 months but was limited to 36
- 22 months and beyond for BMI SDS measures. <u>Gross et al. (2020)</u> completed examinations at 18
- 23 months, while <u>Maisonet et al. (2012)</u> did so at 20 months. <u>Jensen et al. (2020a)</u> examined different
- 24 adiposity measures at 3 and 18 months, while <u>Gao et al. (2022)</u> examined growth trajectory based
- on serial measurements at five time periods within the first 2 years (at birth, 42 days, 6 months, 12
- 26 months, and 24 months). <u>Shoaff et al. (2018)</u> examined postnatal growth with repeated measures at
- age 4 weeks to 2 years.



Figure 3-35. Study evaluation results for 13 epidemiological studies of postnatal growth and PFHxS. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

1 Postnatal Weight Standardized Results

- 2 In the overall population, eight postnatal studies (four high, two medium, and two low
- 3 confidence) examined PFHxS in relation to either standardized (<u>Zhang et al., 2022</u>; <u>Starling et al.</u>,
- 4 <u>2019; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017b</u>) or mean
- 5 weight measures (<u>Cao et al., 2018</u>; <u>Lee et al., 2018</u>; <u>Maisonet et al., 2012</u>) (see Figure 3-36). Three of
- 6 five studies with standardized postnatal weight measures reported some inverse associations with
- 7 PFHxS exposures, while the medium confidence <u>Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)</u> study of standard
- 8 deviation scores (SDS) for weight measured at 3 to 18 months was null. Results in the high
- 9 confidence study by <u>Zhang et al. (2022)</u> were largely null for standardized weight measures in the
- 10 overall population and both sexes, with the only association seen for increased weight among
- 11 tertile 2 exposures among girls examined up to 12 months (β = 0.15; 95% CI: 0.05, 0.25).
- 12 The results in the high confidence study by <u>Starling et al. (2019)</u> for the overall population
- 13 and both sexes were largely null for both weight-for-age and weight-for-length z-scores, although
- 14 they reported a statistically significant lower weight-for-age z-score at 5 months of age ($\beta = -0.17$;
- 15 95%CI: -0.33, -0.01 per each ln-unit increase) among girls. The authors did show an exposure-

- 1 response relationship for weight-for-age z-scores among girls across PFHxS tertiles (T2: $\beta = -0.24$;
- 2 95%CI: -0.54, 0.05; T3 β = -0.38; 95%CI: -0.69, -0.08), but the opposite was seen for boys (T2: β =
- 3 0.31; 95%CI: -0.01, 0.62; T3: β = 0.26; 95%CI: -0.09, 0.61). Results were smaller in magnitude but
- 4 fairly comparable for weight-for-length z-scores albeit in a non-monotonic fashion for girls (β

5 range: -0.20 to -0.23).

- 6 Compared with tertile 1, the *high* confidence study by <u>Shoaff et al. (2018)</u> detected small
- 7 nonstatistically significant deficits in z-scores for several outcomes including weight-for-age and
- 8 weight-for-length for PFHxS tertile 3 (β range: -0.15 to -0.16). They also reported non-significant
- 9 results per each ln-unit increase for both weight-for-age ($\beta = -0.12$; 95%CI: -0.29. 0.06) and
- 10 weight-for-length ($\beta = -0.12$; 95%CI: -0.26. 0.01) z-scores. Although they were also not statistically
- 11 significant, small weight z-score changes from birth to 6 months of age were also reported in the
- 12 Infancia y Medio Ambiente (INMA) birth cohort ($\beta = -0.09$; 95% CI: -0.22, 0.03 per each ln-unit
- 13 increase) from the other *high* confidence <u>Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017b)</u> study. These data seemed
- 14 largely driven by the findings in girls ($\beta = -0.13$; 95% CI: -0.29, 0.03).



Figure 3-36. Standardized postnatal weight results for PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bAge at Outcome Measurement: (<u>Gyllenhammar et al., 2018</u>) at 3 months, 6 months, 12 months, and 18 months (ordered top to bottom); (<u>Starling et al., 2019</u>) at 5 months; (<u>Zhang et al., 2022</u>) between 42 days and 12 months; (<u>Shoaff et al., 2018</u>) at 4 weeks, 1 year, and 2 years; (<u>Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017b</u>) at 6 months.

^cSolid black lines divide the figure into four categories. Listed from top to bottom they are as follows: Weight-for-Age Z-Score, Weight-for-Length Z-Score, Weight Z-Score, and Weight Gain Z-Score

^dWithin each category, overall population is located above the first blue dashed lines, boys are between the two blue dashed lines, and girls are below the second blue dashed line.

^eFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

1 *Postnatal* Weight_Mean - Results

- 2 Three studies examined associations between PFHxS exposures and mean postnatal weight
- 3 measures (<u>Cao et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2018; Maisonet et al., 2012</u>) (see Figures 3-37). The low
- 4 confidence study by Lee et al. (2018) detected associations infant weight at age 2 (β = -200 g; 95%
- 5 CI: -420, 20) per each ln-unit increase and monotonically across PFHxS quartiles (β range: -160 to -
- 6 360 grams). For example, a large difference was detected for quartile 4 (≥1.81 ng/mL) (β = -360 g;
- 7 95% CI: –740, 20) compared with quartile 1 (<0.77 ng/mL). They detected weight change
- 8 associations from birth to age 2 per each ln-unit increase (β = -170 g; 95% CI: -330, 160) but was
- 9 considerably smaller among quartile 4 exposures ($\beta = -60$ g; 95%CI: -400, 270). The <u>Cao et al.</u>
- 10 (2018) study was null for all comparisons, but they did report an imprecise postnatal (mean = 19
- 11 months) weight difference for tertile 2 (β = -145 g; 95% CI: -584, 294) in the overall population.
- 12 Tertile 2 results were imprecise and in opposite directions for boys (β = -387 g; 95% CI: -916, 143)
- and girls (β = 155 g; 95% CI: -605, 915), while there was some suggestion of reduced weight in
- tertile 3 among girls (β= -101 g; 95% CI: -811, 608). The medium confidence study of girls from
- 15 the ALSPAC study (Maisonet et al., 2012) were largely null and inconsistent across tertile (β range: -
- 16 32 to 63 g) over the first 20 months of life.

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison		Regression c	pefficient
Maisonet et al., 2012, 1332465	ALSPAC (1991-1992), U.K., 447 mother-girl pairs	(Medium)	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-3	-31.84	Tertile 2	OVERALL		
						62,86	Tertile 3			
Lee et al., 2018, 4238394	Environment and Development of Children (EDC) Cohort, South Korea, 645 mother-child pairs	(Low)	Good	Cohort	0-2 years	-360	Quartile 4)-	• · · · · ·	 β [change in mean growth weight (g)] β [change in mean growth weight (g)]
						-200	In-unit (ng/mL) increase		i	H 95% confidence interval
						-60	Quartile 4			
						-170	In-unit (ng/mL) increase		1	
Cao et al., 2018, 5080197	Zhoukou City Longitudinal Birth Cohort (2013-2015), China, 282 mother-infant pairs	(Low)	Deficient	Cohort (Prospective)	At birth	-144.8	Tertile 2		1	
						-11.4	Tertile 3			
						-386,8	Tertile 2	-		
						9.7	Tertile 3	BOYS		t the second sec
00000	200224402000			10000	0020	154.9	Tertile 2	00010		
						-101.3	Tertile 3		0	
								1.000 -800	-600 -400 -200 0	200 400 600 800 1.000

Figure 3-37. Mean postnatal weight results for PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: CI = Confidence Interval

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bFor <u>Lee et al. (2018)</u> above the dashed line is PNG at two years, while below the dashed line is PNG change from birth to two years.

^cData for overall population is found above the reference line; sex-stratified data is found below the reference line. ^dFor <u>Cao et al. (2018)</u>, sex-specific data is found below the reference line. Above the blue dashed line is data for boys; below the blue dashed line is data for girls.

^eWhile a monotonic exposure-response relationship was seen for PFHxS quartiles in relation to weight at 2 years in Lee, the 95%CIs were not estimable and only quartile 4 is plotted here.

^fFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

- 1 Postnatal Weight Summary
- 2 Five of eight studies in total showed some evidence of associations in the overall population
- 3 or other sex for either mean or standardized infant weight measures. This included one *high*
- 4 confidence study (<u>Shoaff et al., 2018</u>) showing associations for both weight for age and weight for
- 5 length measures in the overall population and both *low* confidence studies. There was a
- 6 preponderance of inverse associations between PFHxS and infant weight among girls only (based
- 7 on three of four, including two of three weight standardized studies and one mean weight study).
- 8 No patterns across the few studies with associations were evident.
- 9 Postnatal Height Standardized Results
- 10 In the overall population, five postnatal studies (two high, one medium, and two low
- 11 confidence) examined PFHxS in relation to either standardized (<u>Zhang et al., 2022</u>; <u>Gyllenhammar</u>
- 12 <u>et al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018</u>) or mean height measures (<u>Cao et al., 2018</u>; <u>Lee et al., 2018</u>) (see
- 13 Figures 3-38). Five studies in total examined postnatal height measures in relation to PFHxS
- 14 including three that examined standardized postnatal height (<u>Zhang et al., 2022</u>; <u>Gyllenhammar et</u>
- 15 <u>al., 2018; Shoaff et al., 2018</u>). None of these studies showed any evidence of an association between
- 16 PHFxS in relation to standardized infant height measures. The medium confidence by
- 17 <u>Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)</u> was null for standardized height measures in the overall
- 18 population. The high confidence study by <u>Zhang et al. (2022)</u> were null for standardized height
- 19 measures in the overall population and both sexes. The high confidence study by <u>Shoaff et al.</u>
- 20 (2018) was largely null for length-for-age z-score for continuous (β = -0.07; 95% CI: -0.27, 0.14) for
- each ln-unit increase and categorical PFHxS exposures (T3 (β = -0.13; 95%CI: -0.52, 0.27)).

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison	Regression coefficient
Zhang et al. 2022, 9944433	Shanghai Birth Colion (SBC) (2013-2016), China, 2395	(High)	Deficient	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 2	-0,009	Tertile 2	OVERALL POPULATION
	mother-intant pairs					-0.02	Tertlie 3	Imit S5% confidence interval
						-0.05	in-unit(rig/mL) increase	1
Shoaff et al.,	HOME (2003-2006), United States,	[High]	Good	Cohort	Trimoster 2-3, at	0.04	Tartila 2	1
2010, 4019944	ses mobiler-mant pairs			(Friespective)	Denvery	-0.13	Tertile 3	1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
						0.07	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	↓ <u> </u>
Gyllenhammar el al., 2018, 4238300	POPUP (1996-2011) 381 mother-infant pairs	(Medium)	Good	Cross-sectional	3 weeks post-blith	-0.01	In-unit (ng/mL) Increase	
						0	Io-unit (og/mi,) increase	•••
						0.01	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	
						0.01	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	
Zhang et al.,	Shanghai Birth Cohort (SBC)	(High)	Deficient	Cohort	Trimester 2	-0.006	Tertile 2	BOYS
2022, 0044433	mother-infent pairs			(Floapecave)		0.022	Tortilo 3	
						-0.06	In-unit(ng/mL) increase	
						0.092	Tertile 2	GIRLS
						-0.023	Tertile 3	
						0	In-unit(ng/mL) Increase	↓
								-8.6 -0.5 -0.4 -0.3 -0.7 -0.1 0 8.1 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.5

Figure 3-38. Standardized postnatal height results for PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bAge at Outcome Measurement: <u>Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)</u> at 3 months, 6 months, 12 months, and 18 months (ordered top to bottom); <u>Zhang et al. (2022)</u> between 42 days and 12 months; <u>Shoaff et al. (2018)</u> between 4 weeks and 2 years.

^cZhang et al. (2022) and <u>Shoaff et al. (2018)</u> examined length-for-age z-score.

^dOverall, population is above the solid black line, while sex-stratified data is below. Within sex-stratified data, boys are above the dashed line, girls below.

^eFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

1 Postnatal Height Mean Results

- 2 Two studies (<u>Cao et al., 2018</u>; <u>Lee et al., 2018</u>) examined associations between PFHxS
- 3 exposures and mean postnatal height measures (see Figures 3-39). The low confidence study by
- 4 <u>Lee et al. (2018)</u> reported statistically significant decreased mean height (β = -0.84 cm; 95% CI:
- 5 -1.26, -0.42 per each ln-unit increase) at age 2 as well as reductions in height (β = -0.89 cm; 95%
- 6 CI: -1.45, -0.33 per each ln-unit increase) from birth to age 2. They also detected exposure-
- 7 response relationships and statistically significant infant height reductions in quartiles 3 and 4 for
- 8 both weight at 2 years (Q4 β = -1.34 cm; 95% CI: -2.09, -0.60; Q3 β = -0.82 cm; 95% CI: -1.57,
- 9 -0.07) and weight change from birth to 2 year (Q4 β = -1.63 cm; 95% CI: -2.62, -0.64; Q3 β = -1.20
- 10 cm; 95% CI: –2.10, –0.30). The low confidence study by <u>Cao et al. (2018)</u> reported non-monotonic
- 11 increased postnatal length in the overall population (β range: 0.95 to 1.42 cm across
- 12 tertiles). Similar results were seen for girls (β range: 1.32 to 2.01 cm across tertiles) but were null
- 13 for boys (β range: 0.30 to 0.32 cm across tertiles).

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Regression coefficient	β [change in height]
Cao et al., 2018, 5080197	Zhoukou City Longitudinal Birth Cohort (2013-2015), China, 282 mother-infant pairs	ILow	Deficient	Coltort (Prospective)	At birth	1.42	Tertile 2			 β [change in height] p<0.05 H 95% confidence interval
						0.95	Tertile 3	the second second	•	and a start of the
Lee et el., 2018, 4238394	Environment and Development of Children (EDC) Cohort, South Korea, 645 mother-child pairs	Low	Good	Cohort	0-2 years	-0.27	Quartile 2	AT 2 YRS		
						-0.62	Quartile 3	1-0-1		
						-1.34	Quartile 4			
						-0.84	In-unit (ng/mL) increase			
						-0.76	Quartile 2	BIRTH TO 2 YRS		
						-1.2	Quartile 3	i		
						-1.63	Quartile 4			
						-0.89	In-umt (ng/mL) increase			
Cao et al., 2018, 5080197	Zhoukou City Longitudinal Birth Cohort (2013-2015), China, 282 mother-infant pairs	[Low]	Deficient	Conort (Prospective)	At birth	0.3	Tertile 2	BOYS		
						0.32	Tertile 3			
						2.01	Tertile 2	GIRI S		
						1.32	Tertile 3			
								-3 -2 -1 0	1 2 3	4 5 6

Figure 3-39. Mean postnatal height results for PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bAbove the solid black line is overall population data, while below is sex-stratified. Within the sex-stratified data, above the dashed blue line is boys, below is girls.

^cFor <u>Lee et al. (2018)</u> data, above the black dashed line is data referring to at two years, below the line is data referring to change from birth to 2 years.

^dFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

1 Rapid Weight Gain

2 Four high confidence studies (Gao et al., 2022; Starling et al., 2019; Shoaff et al., 2018); 3 Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017b) examined different rapid weight gain measures in relation to 4 PFHxS (see Figures 3-40 and 3-41). In the Health Outcomes and Measures of the Environment 5 (HOME) study, Shoaff et al. (2018) examined rapid growth based on weight z-scores in relation to 6 PFHxS in the overall population. In the Healthy Start study, <u>Starling et al. (2019)</u> examined different 7 rapid weight gain measures in relation to PFHxS for the overall population and both sexes. In the 8 Shanghai Birth Cohort, Gao et al. (2022) examined various measures of growth trajectories in the 9 overall population and across sex for various postnatal growth measures. In the INMA Birth Cohort 10 Study, Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017b) examined rapid growth from birth to six months. 11 Two of the four studies showed some increased odds of rapid growth measures with 12 increasing PFHxS exposures, although results were not always internally consistent. Shoaff et al. 13 (2018) reported null associations for odds of weight z-score differences across tertiles (e.g., tertile 14 3 OR=0.95, 95%CI: 0.65, 1.40). The study by Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017b) was also null for rapid 15 growth (OR=0.87; 95%CI: 0.72, 1.04). The study by Starling et al. (2019) reported an OR of 1.49 16 (95%CI: 1.02, 2.18) for rapid weight gain per each ln-unit increase based on the weight-for-age z-17 score data but was null for weight-for-length z-score (OR=0.95; 95%CI: 0.63, 1.44). 18 In the Gao et al. (2022) study, most relative risks were null based on standardized weight 19 for age and weight for length measures in the overall population and both sexes. Compared to the 20 moderate-stable referent, Gao et al. (2022) reported elevated odds for the low-rising weight-for-age 21 *z-score* (WAZ) trajectory (OR=1.92; 95% CI: 1.19, 3.08 per each ln-unit PFHxS increase) in the 22 overall population. This seemed driven by results in males (OR=2.96; 95%CI: 1.51, 5.82 per each ln-23 unit PFHxS increase) given that females showed null associations. Using a weighted quantile sum 24 mixture approach, they reported a statistically significant inverse association (OR=1.53; 95%CI: 1.13, 2.06 per each ln-unit PFAS Sum increase) for WAZ among low-rising participants (vs. 25 26 moderate-stable) with PFHxS having the highest weight among the PFAS mixture constituents. Among males only, Gao et al. (2022) reported increased odds for weight-for-length z-score 27 28 (WLZ) trajectory in low-rising (OR=2.43; 95% CI: 1.00, 5.87 per each ln-unit PFHxS increase) and 29 low-stable participants (OR=2.04; 95% CI: 0.70, 6.02 per each In-unit PFHxS increase). Compared to 30 the moderate-stable referent, Gao et al. (2022) reported elevated odds in females only for the 31 moderate-falling (OR=1.85; 95% CI: 0.97, 3.47 per each ln-unit PFHxS increase) and high-rising 32 length-for-age z-score (LAZ) trajectories (OR=1.61; 95% CI: 0.41, 6.38 per each ln-unit PFHxS 33 increase). The odds of LAZ for high-rising participants from the overall population was null in the 34 single pollutant model but was elevated for the PFAS mixture metric based on a weighted quantile 35 sum approach (OR=1.59; 95% CI: 0.90, 2.82 per each ln-unit PFHxS increase), with PFDA having the 36 highest weight among the PFAS mixtures. 37 Although most were not statistically significant, Gao et al. (2022) reported inverse

38 associations in the single PFAS models for *head-circumference-for-age* z-score for high-rising,

1 moderate-rising, low-rising, and low-stable vs. moderate-stable participants (OR range: 0.46 to 0.71

2 per each ln-unit PFHxS increase). They also reported a statistically significant inverse association

3 (OR=0.37; 95%CI: 0.18, 0.72) for low-rising vs. moderate-stable groups based on a PFAS mixture

4 metric (per each ln-unit increase) using a weighted quantile sum approach.

5 Rapid Weight Gain Summary

6 Overall, two of four studies showed increased odds of rapid growth in relation to PFHxS 7 exposures. Although results were a bit mixed across different growth trajectory measures, there 8 was only evidence of inverse associations between PFHxS and rapid growth as measured by head 9 circumference z-scores in the Gao et al. (2022) study. In contrast, most of the associations they 10 detected using weight for age, weight for length and length for age z-scores showed increased risk 11 of rapid growth per each ln-unit PFHxS increase. These associations were most evident among the 12 weight and height measures among the participants with a low baseline growth trajectory followed 13 by a rapid increased trend afterward (i.e., low-rising group). These data were supported by another 14 study (Starling et al., 2019) that reported a statistically significant OR (1.49; 95%CI: 1.02, 2.18 per 15 each ln-unit increase) for rapid weight gain based on weight-for-age z-score data only. Both of these 16 studies are consistent with a hypothesis that rapid weight growth in childhood that may have 17 followed intrauterine growth retardation from PFHxS exposures. These individuals may be at most 18 risk for metabolic syndrome, as evidenced by changes in obesity and other health effects later in

19 life.



Figure 3-40. Postnatal rapid growth (weight-for-age and weight-for-length zscore) results for PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bAge at Outcome Measurement: <u>Starling et al. (2019)</u> at 5 months, <u>Gao et al. (2022)</u> modeled data (collected at 42 days, 6 months, 12 months, and 24 months).

^cWeight-for-Age Z-Score data above the black reference line; weight-for-length below.

^dOverall population data above the blue line; Sex-stratified data below.

^eSex-Stratified data: male infants above the blue dash-dotted line; females below.

^fQuantile 2 in <u>Starling et al. (2019)</u> represents dichotomized exposure at median (quantile 1 referent: LOD-0.1 ng/mL; quantile 2: 0.2–3.5 ng/mL).

^gThe following <u>Gao et al. (2022)</u> results have been truncated: 1.92 [1.19–3.08], 2.96 [1.51–5.82], 2.43 [1–5.87], and 2.04 [0.7–6.02].

^hFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison	Population Description	Regression coefficient			
Gao et al., 2022, 10412913	Shanghai Birth Cohort (2013-2016), China: 3426 pregnant women	High	Adequate	Cohort. (Prospective)	Trimester 3	1.12	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	High-Rising vs. Moderate Stable				
						1.09	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	Moderate-Falling vs. Moderate Stable	OVERALL			N
						0.5	In-unit (ng/mL) Increase	High-Rising vs. Moderate Stable	+		1	
						07	in-unil (ng/ml,) increase	Moderate-Falling vs. Moderate Stable	MALES			
10000				-		1.61	In-unit (ng/mL) Increase	High-Rising vs. Moderate Stable			•	
						1.85	In-unit (ng/mL) Increase	Moderate-Falling vs. Moderate Stable	FEMALES			• •
						0.46	In-ung (ng/mL) Increase	Newborns (High-Rising vs Moderate Stable)	-	•		Charle Datio for Passid Crowth
						0.71	In-unit (rig/mL) increase	Newborns (Moderate-Rising vs Moderate Stable)	OVERALL	-		[Oods Ratio for Rapid Growth] p<0.05
						0.47	In-unit (ng/mL) Increase	Newborns (Low-Rising vs Moderate Stable)	-	•	1	5% confidence interval
									0 0.2	0.4 0.6 0.8	1 12 14 16	18 2 22 24 26 28 1

Figure 3-41. Postnatal rapid growth (length-for-age and head circumference zscore) results for PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bAge at Outcome Measurement: <u>Gao et al. (2022)</u> modeled data (collected at 42 days, 6 months, 12 months, and 24 months).

^cLength-for-Age Z-Score data above the black reference line; Head Circumference Z-Score below.

^dSex stratified Length-for-Age Z-Score data below blue solid line; males above blue dotted line; females below. ^eOverall population data above the blue line; Sex-stratified data below.

^fFemale confidence intervals have been truncated; the data points are 1.61 [0.41–6.38] and 1.85 [0.97–3.47].

^gFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

- 1 *Postnatal* Head Circumference
- 2 Three studies examined postnatal head circumference in relation to PFHxS (Zhang et al.,
- 3 <u>2022; Cao et al., 2018; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018</u>) (see Figure 3-42). Null results were detected in
- 4 the high confidence study by <u>Zhang et al. (2022)</u> for head circumference-for-age Z score per each ln-
- 5 unit PFHxS increase ($\beta = -0.08$; 95%CI: -0.19, 0.02). The medium confidence study by
- 6 <u>Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)</u> showed monotonic head circumference-for-age Z increases as children
- 7 aged from 3 to 18 months (β range: 0.05 to 0.12). The low confidence study by <u>Cao et al. (2018)</u>
- 8 reported non-monotonic increased postnatal head circumference in the overall population (β
- 9 range: 0.90 to 1.33 cm across tertiles). These results were comparable across boys (β range: 0.97 to
- 10 1.27 cm across tertiles) and girls (β range: 0.78 to 1.34 across tertiles). Overall, two of three studies
- 11 showed some evidence of increased postnatal head circumference in relation to PFHxS exposures.

ession coefficient	Reg	Exposure Comparison	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Window	Design	Study Sensitivity	Overall Study Confidence	Population	Study
If [change in PNO HC] p<0.05 If [change in PNO HC] p<0.05 If [change in PNO HC] p<0.05	i−• •	Terthe 2	-0.026	Trimouter 2	(Prospective)	Dedicaent	(High)	Shahghai Birth Cohort (SBC) (2013-2016), China, 2355	Zhang et el. 2022, 1044433
		Tentin 3	-0.141					mother-Infant pairs.	
		In suntingrmL) increase	0.08						
		Terine 2	1 38	AP-11997	Gilbort (Prispective)	Delitoral	ár undi	Zhoukou Cry Longiludeini filitti Cohort (2013-2015) Chird, 252 mother-infart pairs	Cao et al. 2018. 3080197
	+	Tortia 3	0.0						
	1	In-unit (ng/mL) Increase	0.05	3 wooks post-birm	Cross-sections!	Good	Meanin	POPUP (1996-2011) 361 mother-infant pairs	Gylennammar el al. 2016. 4238300
	+	In-amit (ng/mla) Increases	0.07						
DVERALL POPULATION		In-unit (right).) Increase	0.00						
	1-0-1	In-unit (ngimL)	10.12						
BOYS		Fertle 3	0.045	Trimester 2	Cohort (Prospective)	Delicioni	Highi	Shanghai Birth Cohort (SBC) (2013-2016), China, 2305 mother-infant pairs	Zhang et sl., 2022, 9944433
		krsmiting/mL).	-0.08						
0		Tentar 2	1.27	AI DHM	Cohort (Plospective)	Deficient	Il ow	Zhoukou City Longitudinal Birth Cohat (2013-2015), Chinit, 282 mother-infant pairs	Cao et al., 2019 5060107
		Tertin 3	0.97						
		Tedas z	0 093	Trimestor 2	Cohort	Descore	Iriani	Shanghai Birth Conort (SBC)	Zhang et al.
		Tertile 3	0.644					mother-infant pains	eme-1999475 -
GIRL	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	lo-unit(ngimi,) Wiziwawa	10.04						
	i	Tertile 2	1.34	A) fileth-	Cottori (Prospective)	Delicieni	(Low)	Zhoukou City Longitudinal Birth Cobarti (2013-2016), China, 792 midlam of ant units.	Can el al., 2016 5050397
	1		17.74					Andrew Andrew Bagen	

Figure 3-42. Postnatal head circumference results for PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bAge at Outcome Measurement: <u>Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)</u> at 3 months, 6 months, 12 months, and 18 months (ordered top to bottom); (<u>Zhang et al., 2022</u>) between 42 days and 12 months; <u>Cao et al. (2018)</u> at a mean of 19 months.

^c<u>Zhang et al. (2022)</u> reports head circumference-for-age Z-Score, <u>Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)</u> report head circumference Z-Score, and Cao reported odds ratios.

- ^dOverall population is above the solid black line, while sex-stratified data is below. Within sex-stratified data, boys are above the dashed blue line, girls below.
- ^eCao et al. (2018) upper and lower bounds have been truncated. For overall population, the Tertile 2 bounds are [0.42, 2.26] and the Tertile 3 bounds are [0, 1.81]. For boys, the Tertile 2 bounds are [0.1, 2.43] and the Tertile 3 bounds are [0, 1.81].

bounds are [-0.22, 2.16]. For girls, the Tertile 2 bounds are [-0.16, 2.84] and the Tertile 3 bounds are [-0.62, 2.18]. ^fFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

- 1 Postnatal Adiposity/Body Mass Index/Ponderal Index/Weight Status 2 Five studies (Zhang et al., 2022; Gross et al., 2020; Jensen et al., 2020a; Starling et al., 2019; 3 Shoaff et al., 2018) enabled examination of different measures of infant adiposity such as body mass 4 index (BMI), overweight status, and ponderal index (see Figure 3-43). Three of the five studies were 5 null (Zhang et al., 2022; Jensen et al., 2020a; Starling et al., 2019) for associations in the overall 6 population, while the remaining two showed decreased measures of adiposity in relation to 7 PFHxS. For example, the low confidence study by Gross et al. (2020) showed an inverse but non-8 significant association between overweight status at 18 months (OR=0.75 g; 95% CI: 0.30 to 1.85) 9 and dried blood spot PFHxS levels above the mean (compared to below the mean) with similar 10 relative risks among boys (OR=0.74; 95%CI: 0.17, 3.24) and girls (OR=0.68; 95%CI: 0.15. 3.12). The 11 high confidence study by Shoaff et al. (2018) exposure-response relationship detected for PFHxS 12 and BMI z score across tertile 2: (β = -0.12; 95%CI: -0.37, 0.13) and tertile 3 (β = -0.22; 95%CI: 13 -0.47, 0.03) and per each ln-unit increase ($\beta = -0.12; 95\%$ CI: -0.26, 0.01). 14 The results were a bit more mixed when examined by sex, with two of three sex-specific 15 studies showing some suggestion of increased adiposity among boys only. For example, the *medium* 16 confidence by Jensen et al. (2020a) reported null associations at age 3 and 18 months for 17 standardized (i.e., SDS) postnatal waist circumference, body mass index, and ponderal index 18 measures in their overall population. Although they did not detect statistically significant 19 interactions by sex for any endpoints evaluated, slight non-significant increases in boys BMI (β = 20 0.13; 95%CI: -0.34, 0.60 per each ln-unit increase) and Ponderal Index (β= 0.34; 95%CI: -0.14, 0.82 21 per each ln-unit increase) SDS scores were noted. The high confidence study by (Starling et al., 22 2019) was null for infant adiposity per each ln-unit PFHxS increase among the overall population 23 $(\beta = 0.01 \text{ fat mass increase }\%; 95\%$ CI: -0.67, 0.68). Results were divergent for males ($\beta = 0.54$ fat 24 mass increase %; 95%CI: -0.51, 1.58 per each ln-unit increase) versus females ($\beta = -0.42$ fat mass 25 increase %; 95%CI: -1.31, 0.47 per each ln-unit increase). Similar results were seen in their tertile 26 analyses with more adiposity in males (β range: 0.89 to 1.90% fat mass increase) and females (β = 27 -0.85 to -1.11% fat mass increase). The high confidence study by (Zhang et al., 2022) reported null 28 associations for PFHxS and BMI-for-age z-scores ($\beta = -0.01$; 95%CI -0.12, 0.09 per each ln-unit 29 increase) in the overall population, males (β = -0.01; 95%CI –0.12, 0.09 per each ln-unit increase) 30 and females (β = 0.10; 95%CI: -0.01, 0.20 per each ln-unit increase). 31 Postnatal Adiposity Summary 32 Overall, none of the five studies in the overall population reported increased adiposity with
- 33 increasing PFHxS exposures up to age 2 years. However, two of three studies in boys did show
- 34 some suggestion of increased adiposity in relation to PFHxS exposures. None of the three studies in
- 35 girls reported increased adiposity.

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison	Regression coefficient
Jensen et al., 2020, 6833719	OCC (2010-2012). Denmark, 613 mother-infant pairs	[Medium]	Deficient	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	0.04	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	BMI (overall population) ►
						0.13	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	BMI (boys)
						0.03	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	BMI (girls)
Shoaff et al., 2018, 4619944	HOME (2003-2006), United States, 345 mother-infant pairs	(High)	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 2-3, at delivery	-0.12	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	
1						-0.12	Tertile 2	BMI Z-Score (overall pop)
						-0.22	Tertilo 3	
Zhang et al., 2022, 9944433	Shanghai Birth Cohort (SBC) (2013-2016), China, 2395	(High)	Deficient	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 2	-0.01	In-unit(ng/mL) increase	→
	mother-intent pairs					0.02	Tertile 2	BMI-for-Age Z-Score (overall pop)
						-0.09	Tertile 3	
						-0.01	In-unit(ng/mL) increase	
						0.02	Tertile 2	BMI-for-Age Z-Score (boys)
						-0.09	Tertile 3	
						0.1	In-unit(ng/mL) increase	Pine Bill for Ana 7. Score (alris)
						0.1	Tertile 2	
					_	0.07	Tertile 3	
Starling et al. 2019, 5412449	Healthy Start Study (2009-2014), United States, 1410 mother-infant pairs	High	Adequate	Cohort	Trimester 2-3	0.01	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	Adiposity (overall pop)
	pairs					0.6	Tertile 2	•
						-0.02	Tertile 3	•
						0.54	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
						1.9	Tertile 2	
						0.89	Tertile 3	
						-0.42	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	Adiposity (giris)
						-1.11	Tertile 2	•
						-0.85	Tertile 3	•
Jensen et al., 2020, 6833719	OCC (2010-2012), Denmark, 613 mother-infant pairs	[Medium]	Deficient	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	0.08	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	Ponderal Index (overall pop)
						0.34	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	Ponderal Index (boys)
						0.02	in-unit (ng/mL) increase	Ponderal Index (girls)
Gross et al., 2020, 7014743	, Starting Early Program (StEP) Cohort, United States, 98	(Low)	Deficient	Nested case-control	At birth	0.75	Weight Status (>mean)	Weight Status (overall pop)
	mother-infant pairs					0.74	Weight Status (>mean)	Weight Status (boys)
*******						0.68	Weight Status	Weight Status (girls) []
							A recently	-0.5 -0.4 -0.3 -0.2 -0.1 0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.8 0.9

Figure 3-43. Postnatal body mass index, adiposity, and ponderal index and weight status results for PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bMeasurement types are separated by the solid black reference lines and are as follows (in descending order): BMI, BMI Z-Score, BMI-for-Age Z-Score, Adiposity, Ponderal Index, and Weight Status.

^cWithin each category, above the first dotted blue line are values for overall population, between the two dotted lines are values for boys, and below the second dotted line are values for girls.

^dFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

1 Postnatal growth summary

2

Overall, there were mixed results within and across the 13 available postnatal PFHxS

3 studies of postnatal growth with the most consistent evidence for postnatal weight. Five of eight

- 4 studies in total showed some evidence of associations with mean or standardized infant weight
- 5 measures including three high confidence studies in the overall population and three of four studies
- 6 in girls. No other patterns were evident. Only one low confidence study out of five total studies
- 7 showed any evidence of smaller height based on either with mean or standardized height measure
- 8 in the overall population or either sex. None of three available studies showed some evidence of

decreased postnatal head circumference in relation to PFHxS exposures. In contrast, two of them
showed increased postnatal head circumference. Similarly, none of the five studies in the overall
population reported increased adiposity in relation to PFHxS as two studies showed decreased

- 4 measures of adiposity. The results for rapid growth measures were a bit mixed but two of four
- 5 studies showed increased odds of rapid growth in relation to PFHxS.
- Although few studies examined exposure-response relationships based on categorical data
 in the overall population or across sexes, three different studies did show dose-dependence for
- 8 some measures such as infant weight (one of six studies), height (one of four studies) and adiposity
- 9 (one of three studies). No study characteristics were obvious explanatory factors for between-study
- 10 heterogeneity. Few patterns by sex were evident outside a preponderance of inverse associations
- 11 between PFHxS and infant weight among girls. There was also evidence in two of three studies in
- 12 boys of increased adiposity. However, limited exposure contrasts and statistical power may have
- 13 hampered the ability to detect associations small in magnitude especially among the sexes. In
- 14 summary, the evidence was mixed across various postnatal measures and different examination
- 15 windows, with only minimal evidence of exposure-response relationships to support the
- 16 continuous exposure scaled results. One challenge in evaluating consistency across heterogeneous
- 17 studies includes disparate periods of follow-up and assessment (e.g., childhood age at examination).

	Study location,	Sample	Median exposure (range) in					Rapid
Author	years	size	ng/mL	Weight	Height	нс	Adiposity	growth
High Confidence Studies								
<u>Gao et al. (2022)</u>	China, 2013–2016	1,350	0.54 (0.21, 3.75)					↑ Overall
<u>Manzano-Salgado et</u> <u>al. (2017b)</u>	Spain, 2003–2008	1,154	0.58 (0.05, 11.01)	- Overall∕ Girls ∅ Boys				Ø Overall
<u>Shoaff et al. (2018)</u>	OH, USA, 2003–2006	345	1.5 (0.1, 32.5)	- Overall	- Overall		- Overall ^a	Ø Overall
<u>Starling et al. (2019)</u>	CO, USA, 2009–2014	415	0.7 (0.2, 2.8) ^b	- Overall/Girls ^a + Boys ^a			Ø Overall + Boys - Girls	↑ Overall
Zhang et al. (2022)	China, 2013–2016	2,395	0.53 (0, 25.4)	\varnothing Overall/Boys + Girls			\varnothing Overall/ Boys/Girls	
Medium Confidence Stu								

Table 3-18. Summary of 11 epidemiologic studies of PFHxS exposure and postnatal growth measured

Author	Study location, years	Sample size	Median exposure (range) in ng/mL	Weight	Height	нс	Adiposity	Rapid growth
Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)	Sweden, 1996–2001	381	2.4 (0.32, 26.0)	arnothing Overall				
<u>Maisonet et al.</u> (2012)	United Kingdom, 1991-–992	422	1.6 (0.2, 54.8)	– Girls				
Low Confidence Studies	;							
<u>Cao et al. (2018)</u>	China, 2013–2015	337	0.09 0.03, 0.31 ^c	Ø Overall/Boys + Girls	+ Overall/ Girls Ø Boys	+ Overall/ Girls/Boys		
<u>Gross et al. (2020)</u>	USA, 2014	98	0.108 (N/A) ^d				↓ Overall/ Girls/Boys	
<u>Jensen et al.</u> (<u>2020a)</u>	Denmark, 2010–2012	589	0.30 (0.08, 0.66) ^b				Ø Overall/Girls + Boys	
Lee et al. (2018)	S. Korea, 2012–2013	361	1.19 (0.22, 1.69)	– Overall	– Overall [*] a			

Abbreviations: N/A: not available

*Denotes statistical significance at p < 0.05; Æ represents a null association; + represents a positive association; -

represents a negative association; - represents increased odds ratio; ⁻ represents decreased odds ratio Note: "Adverse effects" are indicated by both increased ORs (-) for dichotomous outcomes and negative associations (-) for the other outcomes.

/ Denotes multiple groups with the same direction of associations.

^aExposure-response relationship detected based on categorical data.

^bNo range provided but 5th-95th percentiles included.

^cNo range provided but 10th-90th percentiles included.

^dDried Blood spot PFHxS sample collected within 48 hours of birth.

Anogenital distance

1

- Four medium confidence studies examined the associations between PFHxS and AGD in
- 2 infants (see Figure 3-44). Reduced AGD is associated with clinically relevant outcomes in males,
- 3 including cryptorchidism, hypospadias, and lower semen quality and testosterone levels
- 4 (<u>Thankamony et al., 2016</u>), but adversity of reduced AGD is less established in females. Three
- 5 studies examined boys and girls (<u>Christensen et al., 2021; Arbuckle et al., 2020; Lind et al., 2017</u>),
- 6 while one included boys only (<u>Tian et al., 2019b</u>). All four studies were birth cohorts in Denmark
- 7 (Lind et al., 2017), Faroe Islands (Christensen et al., 2021) (cross-sectional analysis within cohort
- 8 sample), Canada (<u>Arbuckle et al., 2020</u>), and China (<u>Tian et al., 2019b</u>). In <u>Arbuckle et al. (2020)</u> and
- 9 <u>Tian et al. (2019b)</u>, AGD was measured shortly after birth (median 3.5 days). <u>Christensen et al.</u>
- 10 (2021) measured AGD at two weeks after the expected term date. <u>Tian et al. (2019b)</u> additionally
- 11 measured AGD at 6 and 12 months, and <u>Lind et al. (2017)</u> measured at 3 months. With greater
- 12 variability in timing of measurements, there is additional potential for misclassification with these
- 13 measures, but age at time of measurement was included in the statistical models in all studies.



Figure 3-44. Summary of study evaluation for epidemiology studies of anogenital distance. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

In Lind et al. (2017), there was a statistically significant inverse association (i.e., shorter 14 15 AGD with higher exposure) with ASD among boys. The other three studies did not report decreased 16 AGD, despite greater exposure contrasts (see Table 3-19). In girls, there was an inverse association 17 with PFHxS for ACD Lind et al. (2017). This was statistically significant with PFHxS analyzed as 18 continuous, although there was not a monotonic decrease across quartiles. A consistent but smaller 19 and non-significant association was also observed in the third and fourth quartiles for AFD. This 20 association is coherent with the decrease in testosterone observed in some studies (described 21 below in the Reproductive Effects section). However, in the other two studies (Christensen et al., 22 2021); Arbuckle et al. (2020), there was no decrease in either AGD measure with higher PFHxS 23 exposure.

1 AGD is a marker of androgen exposure, and thus an inverse in AGD would be expected to

- 2 correspond with a decrease in testosterone. This was not observed in the two studies of
- 3 testosterone in male neonates, but an inverse association was observed in a study of female
- 4 neonates (see Male and Female Reproductive Effects). The lack of coherence for males does not
- 5 reduce confidence in the AGD findings due to low confidence in the reproductive hormone studies.
- 6 However, the inconsistency across studies results in considerable uncertainty for an association
- 7 with AGD.

	Boys												
Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) (ng/mL)	Effect estimate	ASD	APD								
<u>Christensen et al.</u> (2021)	Cross-sectional analysis within birth cohort in the Faroe Islands; 232 boys at 2 wks post term	Serum 0.2 (0.1– 0.3)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	0.2 (-0.3, 0.7)	NR								
<u>Lind et al. (2017)</u>	Birth cohort in Denmark; 299 boys at 3 months	Serum 0.3 (0.2– 0.4)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	-1.2 (-2.3, -0.2)	-0.6 (-1.8, 0.5)								
			Quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: 0.6 (-1.3, 2.4) Q3: -0.3 (-2.1, 1.6) Q4: -0.8 (-2.7, 1.2)	Q2: 2.6 (0.5, 4.6) Q3: 0.9 (-1.0, 2.9) Q4: 0.1 (-2.0, 2.3)								
(<u>Arbuckle et al.,</u> <u>2020</u>)	Birth cohort in Canada; 198 boys at birth	Plasma 1.1 (0.7–1.7)	β (95% CI) for unit increase	0.22 (-0.54, 0.98)	0.24 (-0.52, 1.01)								
			Quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: -0.08 (-1.99, 1.83) Q3: 0.13 (-1.80, 2.06) Q4: 0.57 (-1.33, 2.46)	Q2: -0.91 (-2.74, 0.91) Q3: 0.64 (-1.23, 2.51) Q4: 0.57 (-1.30, 2.44)								
<u>Tian et al.</u> (2019b)	Birth cohort in China; 439 boys at birth	Plasma 2.8 (2.2–3.6)	β (95% CI) for In- unit increase	Birth: -0.19 (-0.97, 0.58) 6 mos: 0.69 (-1.86, 3.23) 12 mos: 2.21 (-0.47, 4.89)	Birth: 0.35 (-0.55, 1.26) 6 mos: 0.04 (-2.53, 2.61) 12 mos: 0.60 (-2.62, 3.83)								
		•	Girls										
Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) (ng/mL)	Effect estimate	ACD	AFD								
<u>Christensen et al.</u> (2021)	Cross-sectional analysis within birth cohort in the Faroe Islands; 231 girls at 2 wks post term	Serum 0.2 (0.1– 0.3)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	NR	-0.1 (-0.4, 0.3)								
Lind et al. (2017)	Birth cohort in Denmark; 212 girls at 3 mos	Serum 0.3 (0.2–0.4)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	-0.9 (-1.9, 0.0)	-0.3 (-1.1, 0.4)								
			Quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: -1.6 (-3.4, 0.2) Q3: -2.3 (-4.1, -0.5) Q4: -1.6 (-3.4, 0.2)	Q2: 0.2 (-1.2, 1.6) Q3: -0.8 (-2.2, 0.6) Q4: -0.5 (-1.6, 0.9)								

Table 3-19. Associations between PFHxS and anogenital distance in *medium* confidence epidemiology studies

<u>Arbuckle et al.</u> (2020)	Birth cohort in Canada; 205 girls at birth	Plasma 1.1 (0.7– 1.7)	β (95% CI) for unit increase	0.3 (-0.47, 1.07)	0.14 (-0.79, 1.07)
			Quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: 1.01 (-0.56, 2.59) Q3: 0.31 (-1.40, 2.02) Q4: 0.92 (-0.94, 2.79)	Q2: 1.23 (-0.66, 3.13) Q3: -0.51 (-2.56, 1.54) Q4: 0.52 (-1.71, 2.75)

Abbreviations: ASD: AGD measured from anus to the posterior base of the scrotum; APD: AGD measured from the center of the anus to the cephalad insertion of the penile; ACD: AGD measured from the from the center of the anus to the top of the clitoris; AFD: AGD measured from the top of the center of the anus to the posterior fourchette; mos: months

Gestation duration

- 1 As shown in Figure 3-47, 19 informative epidemiological studies assessed PFHxS in relation
- 2 to changes in gestational duration measures. All 19 studies examined gestational age, with 10 of
- 3 these providing analyses of both preterm delivery and gestational age. Fourteen of the 19
- 4 gestational duration studies were nested case-control studies or prospective cohort studies (Yang
- 5 <u>et al., 2022a; Gardener et al., 2021; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Huo et al., 2020; Gao et al., 2019;</u>
- 6 Workman et al., 2019; Buck Louis et al., 2018; Meng et al., 2018; Sagiv et al., 2018; Lind et al., 2017;
- 7 <u>Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Bach et al., 2016; Maisonet et al., 2012; Hamm et al., 2010</u>), and five
- 8 were cross-sectional (Bangma et al., 2020; Eick et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2019; Gyllenhammar et al.,
- 9 <u>2018</u>; <u>Li et al., 2017b</u>). The 19 epidemiological studies examined here had maternal exposure
- 10 biomarkers collected either during trimesters one (<u>Buck Louis et al., 2018</u>; <u>Lind et al., 2017</u>;
- 11 Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a), two (Huo et al., 2020; Hamm et al., 2010), three (Gardener et al.,
- 12 <u>2021; Gao et al., 2019</u>) across multiple trimesters (<u>Eick et al., 2020</u>; <u>Hjermitslev et al., 2020</u>;
- 13 Workman et al., 2019; Meng et al., 2018; Sagiv et al., 2018; Bach et al., 2016; Maisonet et al., 2012),
- 14 or had post-partum maternal or infant samples (<u>Yang et al., 2022a</u>; <u>Bangma et al., 2020</u>; <u>Xu et al.,</u>
- 15 <u>2019; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b</u>).
- 16 Nine studies each were classified as having late (defined as trimester 2 exclusive onward)
- 17 and early sampling biomarker sampling (defined as having at least some trimester 1 maternal
- 18 sampling). Four of the five-cross-sectional studies/analyses had late biomarker sampling. Among
- 19 the 14 cohort or nested case-control studies, eight studies had early biomarker sampling
- 20 (Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Buck Louis et al., 2018; Meng et al., 2018; Sagiv et al., 2018; Lind et al.,
- 21 <u>2017; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Bach et al., 2016; Maisonet et al., 2012</u>), while six were
- classified as late (<u>Yang et al., 2022a; Gardener et al., 2021; Huo et al., 2020; Gao et al., 2019;</u>
- 23 <u>Workman et al., 2019</u>; <u>Hamm et al., 2010</u>). For examination of consistency and between-study
- 24 heterogeneity, the type of statistical analyses in addition to the type of study design was evaluated.
- 25 As part of this evaluation, cross-sectional analyses are considered for any study that used maternal
- 26 serum/plasma, umbilical cord or placental post-partum PFHxS measures in relation to gestational
- 27 duration even if the data were derived from prospective cohort or nested case-control studies (e.g.,
- 28 (<u>Yang et al., 2022a</u>)).

1 Preterm Birth

2 Two (Huo et al., 2020; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a) of the ten preterm birth (typically 3 defined as <37 gestational weeks) studies reported sex-specific findings in addition to overall 4 population results (see Figure 3-45 and Table 3-20). Ten studies examined PFHxS and preterm 5 birth including six high (Gardener et al., 2021; Eick et al., 2020; Huo et al., 2020; Sagiv et al., 2018; 6 Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Bach et al., 2016) and four medium confidence (Yang et al., 2022a; 7 Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Meng et al., 2018; Hamm et al., 2010) studies. Two studies had good study 8 sensitivity (Meng et al., 2018; Sagiv et al., 2018), six had adequate study sensitivity (Gardener et al., 9 2021; Eick et al., 2020; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Bach et al., 2016; 10 Hamm et al., 2010) and two were rated as deficient (Yang et al., 2022a; Huo et al., 2020). Six of the ten studies showed no increased odds for preterm birth in relation to PFHxS 11 12 (Yang et al., 2022a; Eick et al., 2020; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Bach et 13 al., 2016; Hamm et al., 2010) with two reporting decreased risks (see Figure 3-46). The medium 14 confidence study by Hamm et al. (2010) found a statistically significant decreased exposure-15 response relationship between preterm birth and the upper two PFHxS exposure tertiles (OR range: 0.31 to 0.59). An inverse association (OR = 0.59; 95%CI: 0.33, 1.06) was also detected in girls 16 17 in the largely null Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017a) study. 18 Six studies were null for based on the overall population. The other four *high* and *medium* 19 confidence studies reported some increased ORs but were not always internally consistent in 20 direction of the effect estimates reported for different PFHxS exposure comparisons. The *high* 21 confidence Sagiv et al. (2018) study reported largely null results based on continuous PFHxS 22 exposures but showed some associations based on their categorical analysis that were not dose-23 dependent. For example, they reported an increased OR of preterm birth for PFHxS quartile 3 (OR=1.8; 95%CI: 1.1, 3.1 for 2.5–3.7 ng/mL) and 4 (OR = 1.3; 95%CI: 0.7, 2.2 for 3.8–74.5 ng/mL) 24 25 compared with quartile one. Similarly, the *medium* confidence study by <u>Meng et al. (2018)</u> reported 26 no associations for the various definitions of preterm birth examined for PFHxS guartile 4 or per a 27 In-unit increase. They did detect an increased OR of preterm birth for the second (OR=2.3; 95%CI: 28 1.1, 4.6) and third (OR=1.5; 95%CI: 0.7, 3.2) PFHxS quartiles compared with the first quartile. 29 However, small sample sizes limited the interpretation of these categorical data. The categorical 30 analysis in the *high* confidence Gardener et al. (2021) also found no dose-dependence but showed a 31 non-significant two-fold increased risk of preterm birth in quartile 2 (OR = 2.11; 95%CI: 0.76, 5.81) 32 relative to quartile 1. 33 In the *high* confidence study by Huo et al. (2020), associations between PFHxS and different 34 preterm birth measures (including overall and different sub-types) were just above the null value 35 based on continuous or categorical exposures for the overall population. However, an association 36 was seen for clinically indicated preterm births for each ln-unit increase (OR = 1.58; 95%CI: 0.82, 37 3.05) and for tertile 3 (OR=1.43; 95%CI: 0.66, 3.08). A small non-significant increased risk was also 38 seen for overall preterm birth (OR=1.33; 95%CI: 0.77, 2.27 per each ln-unit) in girls only, with

- 1 larger statistically significant associations noted among girls only for the clinically indicated
- 2 preterm birth subtype (OR = 2.56; 95%CI: 1.18, 5.53).



Figure 3-45. Summary of study evaluation for 10 epidemiology studies of preterm birth. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison	Regression coefficient	PTE Relative Rick (RR)
Manzano-Salgado etul: 2017. 4230465	INMA cohort (2003-2008) 1202 mother infont pairs	Hight	Adequate	Cohort (Pruspective)	Trimester 1	0.79	In-unit (goimL) Increase		95% confidence Interval
Bach et al. 2016,	Aarhus Binn Cohort (2005-2013).	(High)	Acequate	Conort	Trimester 1-2	0.72	Quartile 2	H-B-L-A	
3981534	Denmark, 1507 mother-infant pairs			(Pruspactive)		0.97	Quantile 3		
						0.68	Diatio d		
						0.78	In-unit (naimL)	HAT .	
Saga, 2018;	Project Visio (1999-2002) 1645	(High)	Good	Cohort	Trimester 1-2	0.0	Qualitie 2	t	
4230410	mother-Infant pairs			(Prospective)		1.0	Quartile 3		
						1.5	Chearfile &		
						Ŧ	in-unit (ng/ml.)		
Lick, et al., 2020, 7102797	Chemicals in Our Bodies (CilÚB) (2014-2018): US. 497 female participants	thani	Adequate	Cross-sectional	Thmester 1-3	1.12	fettie2		
						1.15	(entrie ta		
Hun et al., 2020,	Shanghai Birth Cohort (2013-2016),	Peopl	Deficient	Cohort	Trinkoster 2	1,67	Terrin 2	in the second se	
0835452	China, 2849 mother-infant pains			(Printhecade)		1117	Tiertiler 3		
						1.16	In unit (rig/mL)	r-1-0	
Ganiener 2021	Vanguard Pilot Study of the National	(High)	Arequate	Cohort	Trimester 3	2.11	Quantile 2	E	
1021139	motherinfant pairs			(Prospective)		1.21	Quartile 3		
						1.27	Qualitie 4		
Yang et al., 2022, 10176806	Kashgar Birth Cohort (2018-2019). China, 768 mother infant pairs	(Medium)	Deficient	Nested case-control	At delivery	1.01	In-unit (naimL)	144	
Meng et al., 2018,	DNBC (1996-2002), Denmark, 3535	Mediume	Good	Cohort	Trimester 1-2	2.3	Guartie 2	1	
48,0801	motines-intant pairs			(Prospective)		1.5	Quartile 3		
						1	Cocarrilie d	·····•	
						1.5	Inunit (ngred.)		
Hjermitstev, 2020, 5880549	ACCEPT bith conct (2010-2011 2013-2016), Greenland, 482 mother-infant pars	Wedium	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1+3	0.813	In-unit (ng/mL)		
Hamm, 2010, 1290814	Alberta cohort (2005-2009) 252 mather infant pairs	(Medium)	Adequate	Cohorr (Prospective)	Trimentor 2	0.69	lettie 2	H-0-1	
						0.31	Tertile 3	10-1	
Manzano-Salgado ol.ul., 2017, 4238465	INMA cohort (2003-2008) 1202 mother infant pairs	PidN	Adoqueto	Cohort (Pruspudive)	Trimester 1	0.07	In-Unit ond/mLJ Increase	BOAR	
Hue et al., 2020,	Shanghai Bith Cohort (2013-2016),	1000	Deficient	Cohort	Trimeater 2	1	in-unit (nalml.)		
Menzano-944gado el el. 2017, 4238465	INMA conort (2003-2006) 1/202 mother-infant pairs	99001	Acequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Travestic 1	0.59	In-unit (ng(mL)	CiRts y-	
Huo et al., 2020, 6835452	Shanghai Birth Cohort (2013-2016), Galina, 2849 mother-Infant pairs	reght	Delicient	Cohort (Prospective)	Transitier 2	1.33	In-unit (ogimL) Increase	·	

Figure 3-46. Preterm birth results for 10 PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: PTB= Preterm Birth

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bSex specific data below solid black line; newborn boys above dotted line, newborn girls below.

^cFor evaluation of patterns of results, we considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses (e.g., <u>Yang et al. (2022a)</u>).

^dFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

Gestational age-overall population results

- 1 Seventeen of the 19 epidemiological studies examined mean gestational age data in the
- 2 overall population, with the other two only reporting sex-specific findings (Lind et al., 2017;
- 3 Maisonet et al., 2012) for PFHxS and gestational age relationships. Four studies reporting both sex-
- 4 specific and overall population results (Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Meng et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b;
- 5 Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a). Among the 19 studies with gestational age measures, eight were
- 6 high confidence (Gardener et al., 2021; Eick et al., 2020; Huo et al., 2020; Buck Louis et al., 2018;
- 7 Sagiv et al., 2018; Lind et al., 2017; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Bach et al., 2016), five were
- 8 medium (Yang et al., 2022a; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Meng et al., 2018;
- 9 Maisonet et al., 2012), and six were low confidence studies (Bangma et al., 2020; Gao et al., 2019;
- 10 Workman et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Li et al., 2017b; Hamm et al., 2010) (see Figure 3-47). Five
- (Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Meng et al., 2018; Sagiv et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Maisonet et al., 11
- 12 2012) of the 19 studies received a good rating in the study sensitivity domain, while eight
- 13 (Gardener et al., 2021; Eick et al., 2020; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Buck Louis et al., 2018; Lind et al.,
- 14 2017; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a; Bach et al., 2016; Hamm et al., 2010) were considered
- adequate and six were deficient (Yang et al., 2022a; Bangma et al., 2020; Huo et al., 2020; Gao et al., 15
- 16 2019; Workman et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019).
- 17 Six (Bangma et al., 2020; Huo et al., 2020; Workman et al., 2019; Buck Louis et al., 2018;
- 18 Gyllenhammar et al., 2018; Bach et al., 2016) of the 17 studies in the overall population reported no
- 19 associations between gestational age and PFHxS exposures, while four reported an increased
- 20 gestational age with increasing PFHxS exposures (Eick et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2017); Li et al., 2017b;
- 21 Hamm et al., 2010) (see Table 3-20 or Figure 3-48). For example, the *low* confidence study by Xu et
- 22 al. (2019) reported a very large increase in gestational age (β = 3.38 weeks; 95%CI: -0.80, 7.55) per
- 23 In-unit increase in PFHxS. The Buck Louis et al. (2018) study was largely null in the overall
- 24 population and reported some small non-significant differences for black (β = -0.14 weeks; 95%CI:
- 25 -0.34, 0.05 for each ln-unit increase) and Asian (β = -0.09 weeks; 95%CI: -0.40, 0.21 for each ln-
- 26 unit increase) neonates.
- 27 Seven studies reported some gestational age reductions in relation to PFHxS in the overall 28 population. Although their continuous PFHxS exposure results were null, the *high* confidence study 29 by Sagiv et al. (2018) showed small non-significant decreases for quartiles 3 and 4 albeit not in a
- 30 non-monotonic fashion. Although their overall population results were null, based on each ln-unit
- 31 increase, the *high* confidence study by Manzano-Salgado et al. (2017a) did show a small decrease in
- 32 gestational age for quartile 4 (β = -0.16 weeks; 95%CI: -0.43, 0.1). The *medium* confidence study by
- 33 <u>Hiermitslev et al. (2020)</u> reported a relatively large gestational age reduction (β = -0.32 weeks;
- 34 95%CI: -0.72, 0.08 per each ln-unit increase). The *medium* confidence study by Yang et al. (2022a)
- 35 showed larger gestational age reductions among term births ($\beta = -0.64$; 95%CI: -1.64, 0.36)
- 36 compared to preterm births (β = -0.20 weeks; 95%CI: -3.32, 2.93) per each ln-unit increase in Total
- 37 PFHxS exposures. The *medium* confidence Meng et al. (2018) study reported a decrease based on

- 1 continuous exposure (β = -0.29 weeks; 95%CI: -1.15, 0.58 per each ln-unit PFHxS increase) and
- 2 small non-monotonic decreases across quartiles (β range: -0.06 to -0.17 weeks). The *low*
- 3 confidence study by <u>Gao et al. (2019)</u> reported a non-monotonic decreased gestational age in
- 4 relation to PFHxS tertiles 2 (β = -0.37 weeks; 95%CI: -0.82, 0.09) and 3 (β = -0.22 weeks; 95%CI:
- 5 –0.71, 0.27). Although there was no evidence of an exposure-response relationship, the *high*
- 6 confidence study by <u>Gardener et al. (2021)</u> reported that participants in the three upper PFHxS
- 7 quartiles had smaller gestational ages (β range: -0.18 to -0.75) relative to quartile 1.
- 8 Although they were not always internally consistent across exposure metrics, seven (3 *high*,
- 9 3 *medium*, and 1 *low* confidence) of 17 studies in the overall population showed some gestational
- 10 age reductions in relation to PFHxS exposures. Few study characteristics appeared to be related to
- 11 patterns across the study results. For example, four of the seven studies showing inverse
- 12 associations were based on early biomarker sampling. Study sensitivity in the six (three *high*, one
- 13 *medium*, and one *low* confidence) may explain some of the null findings as half of the studies had
- 14 deficient ratings (one good, two adequate, and three deficient).



Figure 3-47. Study evaluation results for 19 epidemiological studies of gestational age and PFHxS. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison	Regression coefficient essociation with GA]
Manzano-Salgado	INMA cohori (2003-2008) 1202	Nion	Adequate	Cohori	Trimester 1	-0.08	Quartile 2	Instantiation with GAI p<0.05
01 W1, 2017, 4238465	uncerner-indees being-			(biotheation)		-0.02	Quartile 3	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I
						0.16	Quartile a	
						10.01	Island (ngimi,) increase	b
Buck Louis, 2018.	NICHD Fatal Growth Statian	ingel	Americanic	Conut	Transition 1	-0.06	marri (ngeni,) menusia	
5016892	(2009-2013), United States, 2108 mother-infant pairs			(Prinspective)				H-0H
Bach at al., 2016.	Alimus Birth Conort (2008-2013),	IHION	Autequate	Coboit	Transmiss 1-2	Ó	Quartile 2	
3961004	Dermark, 1507 mother-intent pairs			(hitospective)		0	Quartle 3	_
						0.5	Quartile 4	and the second sec
						Ð	Nuumit (ngimL) monase	
Sughi, 2018,	Project Vive (1999-2002) 1645	IHighi	Good	Cohort	Titmester 1-2	0,08	Quartite 2	Provide annual
4238410	mother-initiant pains			(Prospective)		-0.10	Quaritie 3	time the second s
						-0.1	Quartilo 4	
						0.04	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	
Eich el al. 7020	Chamicals in Duc Rodies (CICIB)	114450	Artholipto	Cross samplings	TRANSIGN T. J.	0.28	Tortie 7	
7102797	(2014-2018), US, 497 fomale participants	and a		Frinsk farmer or	Junior La			1-1
						0.09	Tertile 3	1
Hup et al. 2020.	Shanghai Birth Cohort (2013-2016)	THIRN	Deficient	Cohort	Trimester 2	0.06	Terble 2	
6835452	Chana, 2849 mother ardunt parts			(Prospective)		-0.07	Tertile 1	
						0.02	THE APPL (PROPERTY OF THE APPL	
Gardenver, 2021.	Vance and Pilot Study of the Neronal	IHON	Adomunat	Conort	Trenaster 3	-0.75	Owerthe 2	
7021199	Children's Study (NCS) (2009), 5420 mother-infant part-	i dat		(Prospective)		0.34	Quarter 3	
						-0.10	Quarila A	
Collectroneered	000010 (1000 2011) 141	ik fands om t	dand	Constructions)		0.098		
el 2018, 4238300	inother infant pairs	Incomis	3000	Carbas-accitoria/	2 WOORS DOBINDED	-0.025	windows (righting) with case	Her.
Yang et al., 2022, 10176306	Kashgar Birth Cohort (2018-2019). China, 768 mother-infant pairs	(Medium)	Deficient	Nested cano-control	At dain/wry	-0,64	(controls)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
						10.4	uni indimità indiana	• • •
Meng et al., 2018,	DNBC (1996-2002). Dennutik, 3535	(Macham)	Good	Conort	Trimester 1-2	-0.17	Osartie 2	and the second s
4829851	mother-infant pairs			(Prospective)		0.00	Quartie 3	
						-0.13	Quarille 4	
						-0.29	In-unit (rejimi.) menunu	
Hieroitany 2020.	ACCEPT birth columi (2010-2011	Martauro	Actemustes	Columi	Tremaine 1-8	-0.52	In-unit (maini.) increases	
5880849	2013-2015), Geneniami, 482 mother-Infant pairs		0004000	(Prinpective)			C. C	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Hamm, 2010,	Alberta cohort (2005-2006) 252	(Midsuro/	Adequate	Cohort	Tronester 2	0.14	Terme 2	
1200814	mother-infant pairs			(HADBDective)		0,6	Textile 3	
						0,22	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	1-0-1
Workman at al _	Canadian Healthy Infant Lonoitudina	(LOH)	Deficient	Conort	Transistor 2-3	0.053	in-uniting/mL) increase	
2019, 5387040	Development (CHILD) Study (2010-2012). Canada (454 mother-infant pairs)			(Prospection)				
Gao et al., 2019, 5387135	Affiliated Hospital of Capital Medical University (2015-2016). China, 132 pregnant women	(Low)	Deficient	Cohoit (Prospective)	Trimester 3	-0,37	Tertile 2	1
						-0.22	Tertile 3	1
LI, 2017, 3981358	GBCS (2013), China 321 mother-infant pairs	(UDWI	Good	Choss-sectional	F0.DPM	0,12	In-Unit (ng/mL) increase	4
80, 2019, 5381338	Cross-sectional study (2016-2017), China, 98 mother-infant pairs	ji.ow(Deficient	Cross-sectione)	ALDIAN	3,38	in-unit (ngimL) increase	
Bengma, 2020;	PTB (2015-2018), US, 122 placentas	ILow]	Deficient	Cross-sectional	AL birth	0,002	In-unit (ng/mL) încrease	
nessi(20								to de la ale de de de de de de ale de la constru

Figure 3-48. Overall population gestational age results for 17 PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: GA= Gestational Age

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bThe (<u>Yang et al., 2022a</u>) -0.64 per IQR Increase value is reported in the term birth population; the -0.2 per IQR increase value is in the preterm birth population.

^cGardener gestational age differences estimated from digitization of their Figure 4; 95%CIs were not estimable. ^dFor evaluation of patterns of results, we considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses (e.g., <u>Yang et al. (2022a)</u>).

^eYang et al. (2022a) preterm results are truncated: the complete 95% CI ranges from -3.32 to 2.93.

^eYang et al. (2022b) term results are truncated; the complete 95% CI ranges from -1.64 to 0.36.

^fXu et al. (2019) results are truncated: the complete 95% CI ranges from -0.8 to 7.55.

^gUnlike other studies that relied on maternal or cord serum or plasma (in ng/mL), <u>Bangma et al. (2020)</u> used placental exposure measures (in ng/g).

^hFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

1 Gestational Age - Sex-specific Results

2 Eight (four high, three medium, and one low confidence) epidemiological studies examined 3 mean gestational age in relation to PFHxS in either or both sexes including one that evaluated data 4 in girls only (Maisonet et al., 2012) (see Figure 3-49). None of the seven studies in boys showed 5 decreased gestational age with increasing PFHxS, with six studies showing null associations (Eick et 6 al., 2020; Hjermitslev et al., 2020; Meng et al., 2018; Sagiv et al., 2018; Lind et al., 2017; Manzano-7 Salgado et al., 2017a). The low confidence study by Li et al. (2017b) reported a small increased 8 gestational age per each ln-unit PFHxS increase (β = 0.20 weeks; 95%CI: -0.02, 0.42) among boys. 9 Five (Eick et al., 2020; Meng et al., 2018; Sagiv et al., 2018; Li et al., 2017b; Manzano-Salgado 10 et al., 2017a) of the eight studies in girls reported null associations between PFHxS and mean 11 gestational age, while another study (Eick et al., 2020) reported non-significant increased 12 gestational age across tertiles (β range: 0.18 to 0.33). Three studies in girls showed some 13 gestational age reductions including some that were moderately large in magnitude. The *high* 14 confidence study by Lind et al. (2017) showed some suggestion of an exposure-response 15 relationship for mean gestational age across the upper three PFHxS quartiles (β range: -0.33 to 16 -0.86 weeks) including a large association ($\beta = -0.86$ weeks; 95%CI: -1.34, -0.29) in quartile 4 17 (0.4–7.3 ng/mL) versus quartile 1 (0.2–0.29 ng/mL). The medium confidence study by Hjermitslev 18 et al. (2020) also reported a large gestational age reduction ($\beta = -0.57$ weeks; 95%CI: -1.04, -0.1019 per each ln-unit increase). In their study population of female infants only, the *medium* confidence 20 study by Maisonet et al. (2012) reported nonstatistically significant decreases in gestational age 21 with some suggestion of an exposure-response relationship. They reported reduced gestational age 22 in the second (β = -0.15 weeks; 95%CI: -0.52, 0.22 for 1.3-2.0 ng/mL) and third PFHxS tertiles (β = 23 -0.24 weeks; 95% CI: -0.62, 0.14 for 2.0-54.8 ng/mL) compared with the lowest tertile (<1.3 24 ng/mL). 25 Overall, three (one *high* and two *medium* confidence) studies out of eight studies in girls 26 only showed reduced gestational age in relation to PFHxS exposures. Although they were not 27 always monotonic, both of the studies with categorical data showed some evidence of exposure-28 response relationships which lends support to the findings based on continuous exposure metrics. There was no evidence of inverse associations among boys, although half of the studies 29 30 had deficient study sensitivity. Few other study characteristics appeared to be related to patterns 31 across the study results; however, all three of the studies showing inverse associations in females

32 were based on early biomarker sampling.

Study	Population	Overall Study Confidence	Study Sensitivity	Design	Exposure Window	Regression Coefficient	Exposure Comparison	Regression coefficient	β [association with GA]
Lind, 2017, 3858512	Odense Child Cohort (2010-2012)	High	Adequate	Cotion	Tomostor 1	0.07	Quartilo 2	i	β [association with GA] p<0.0.
	ode monormant pera-			(Frighterive).		-0.19	Quartile 3		95% confidence interval
						a	Quartile 4		
						0.04	in-unit (rig/mL) increase		
Sagiv. 2018. 4238410	Project Viva (1999-2002) 1645 mother-infant pairs	Highl	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	-0.01	In-unit (ng/ml.) increase	+	
Manzano-Salgado e) al., 2017, 4238465	INMA cohon: (2003-2008) 1202 moltrer-intent pairs	Highl	Adenuate	Cohort (Prospective)	T/imester 1	-0.09	In-unit (rig/ml.) increase		
Eick et al., 2020, 7102797	Chemicals In Our Bodies (CIOB) (2014-2018), US. 497 female participants	Highl	Adequate	Cross sectional	Trimester 1-3	0.48	Tertilo 2		
						0.06	Tertile 3	-	
Meng et al., 2018. 4829851	DNBC (1996-2002), Donmark. 3535 mother-infant pairs	Medium	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trunester 1-2	-0.06	lo-unit (ng/mE) increase		
Hjermitslev, 2020. 5880848	ACCEPT birth cohort (2010-2011). 2013-2015). Greenland, 482 mother-infant pairs	(Medium)	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-3	-0.68	ki-unit (ng/mL) increase	+	-
Li, 2017, 3081368	GBCS (2013), Chine, 321 mother-infant pairs.	(Lines)	Good	Cross-sectional	At birth	0.2	In-unil (ng/mL) increase	<u>↓</u> • • • •	
Lind, 2017. 3858512	Odense Child Corrert (2010-2012) 638 mether-Inlant pare	High	Adequato	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1	-0.33	Quartile 2		
120013						-0.33	Quartile 3	++	
						-0.86	Quartile 4		
						-0.17	In-unit (ng/int.) increase		
Sagiv. 2018, 4238410	Project Viva (1999-2002) 1645 mother-infant pairs.	нан	Good	Cahort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-2	a	lin-unit (og/ml.) increase	•	-
Manzano-Salgado e) al., 2017, 4238465	INMA cohon (2003-2008) 1202 mother-intent pairs	High	Adequate	Cohori (Prospective)	Trimester 1	0.06	In-unit (rightu) (norease	s <mark>+∎</mark>	
Eick et al. 2020, 7102797	Chemicals In Our Bodies (CIOB) (2014-2018), US: 497 female participants	High)	Adequate	Cross-sectional	Trimester 1-3	0.33	Tonilo 2		-
						30.6	Tettile 3		
Meng et al., 2018. 4829851	DNBC (1996-2002), Denmark, 3535 mother-infam pairs	(Medium)	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trüncstor 1-2	0.01	lo-unit (ng/mL) increase	1- 0 -1	
Hjermitslev, 2020. 5880849	ACCEPT birth cohort (2010-2011, 2013-2015). Greenland, 482 mother-infant pairs	Médiumj	Adequate	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-3	-0.57	lo-unit (ng/mL) increase	(
Maisonet et al. 2012, 1332465	ALSPAC (1991-1992), U.K., 447 mother-grid pairs	(Medium)	Good	Cohort (Prospective)	Trimester 1-3	-0.15	Tertile 2		
						-0.24	Tertie 3		
L), 2017: 3981358	GBCS (2013), China, 321 mother-infagt pairs	(Line)	Good	Cross-sections	At Birth	0.07	In-unit (ng/mL) increase	+ -+++++++++++++	

Figure 3-49. Sex stratified gestational age results for 8 PFHxS epidemiological studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Abbreviations: GA= Gestational Age

^aStudies are sorted first by overall study confidence level then by Exposure Window examined.

^bFor evaluation of patterns of results, we considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses (e.g., <u>Yang et al. (2022a)</u>).

^cLind et al. (2017) results are truncated: the complete 95% CI ranges from –3.1 to 0.7.

^dFor evaluation of patterns of results, EPA considered studies that collected biomarker samples concurrently or after birth to be cross-sectional analyses.

Gestational duration summary

- 1 There was mixed evidence within and between studies examining adverse associations
- 2 between PFHxS exposure with any gestational duration measures (preterm birth or gestational
- 3 age). Out of 19 total studies, 8 different ones showed gestational duration associations with
- 4 PFHxS. Four of 10 studies showed some increased odds preterm birth and PFHxS exposures in the
- 5 overall population or either/both of the sexes, although these were not always internally
- 6 consistent. Seven of 17 studies in the overall population reported mean gestational age deficits in
- 7 relation to PFHxS, while 3 of 8 studies with sex-specific data only reported inverse associations in
- 8 girls. In addition to the null studies, a few studies also reported increased gestational age related to
- 9 PFHxS exposures. Gestational age can be prone to some measurement error which may reduce the
- 10 ability of some studies to detect statistically significant results for this endpoint. The preterm birth
- 11 binary endpoint may also be less impacted by this measurement error given the broad classification
- 12 of pre-term versus term births.

Author	Study location/ years	N	PFHxS median (ng/mL) exposure	Overall confidence descriptor	Study sensitivity domain	РТВ	GA
<u>Bach et al. (2016)</u>	Denmark 2008–2013	1,507	0.5	High	Adequate	Ø All	Ø All
Buck Louis et al. (2018)	USA, 2009–2013	2,106	0.71	High	Adequate		Ø All
<u>Eick et al. (2020)</u>	USA, 2014–2018	506	0.33	High	Adequate	Ø All	+ All ∅ Boys/Girls
<u>Gardener et al. (2021)</u>	USA, 2009–2013	354	0.5	High	Adequate	↑ All	– All
<u>Huo et al. (2020)</u>	China, 2013–2016	2,849	0.54	High	Deficient	Ø All/Boys ↑ Girls	Ø All
<u>Lind et al. (2017)</u>	Denmark, 2010–2012	636	0.3	High	Adequate		– Girls ∅ Boys
<u>Manzano-Salgado et al.</u> (2017a)	Spain, 2003–2008	1,202	0.58	High	Adequate	Ø All/Boys↓Girls	– All ∅ Boys/Girls
<u>Sagiv et al. (2018)</u>	USA, 1999–2002	1,645	2.4	High	Good	↑ All	– All ∅ Boys/Girls
<u>Gyllenhammar et al.</u> (<u>2018</u>); 2017 ^a	Sweden, 1996–2001	381	2.4	Medium	Good		Ø All
<u>Hjermitslev et al.</u> (2020)	Greenland, 2010–2015	266	0.51	Medium	Adequate	Ø All	−All/Girls ØBoys
<u>Maisonet et al. (2012)</u>	United Kingdom, 1991–1992	444	1.6	Medium	Good		– Girls ^b
<u>Meng et al. (2018)</u>	Denmark 1996–2002	2,132	~1	Medium	Good	↑ All	∅ All/Boys/Girls
<u>Hamm et al. (2010)</u>	Canada, 2005–2006	252	2.1	Medium/ Low∘	Adequate	↓ All⊳	+ All
(<u>Yang et al., 2022a</u>)	China, 2018–2019	768	0.049– 0.058₫	Medium	Deficient	Ø All	-All ^d
Bangma et al. (2020)	USA, 2015– 2018	122	0.067°	Low	Deficient		Ø All
<u>Gao et al. (2019)</u>	China, 2015–2016	132	0.24	Low	Deficient		-All

Table 3-20. Summary of 19 epidemiological studies of PFHxS exposure and gestational duration measures

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-175DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Author	Study location/ years	N	PFHxS median (ng/mL) exposure	Overall confidence descriptor	Study sensitivity domain	РТВ	GA
<u>Li et al. (2017b)</u>	China, 2013	321	3.87	Low	Good		+ All/Boys ∅ Girls
<u>Workman et al. (2019)</u>	Canada, 2010–2011	414	0.44	Low	Deficient		Ø All
<u>Xu et al. (2019)</u>	China, 2016–2017	98	0.61 (0.30- 1.94) ^f	Low	Deficient		+ Overall

Abbreviations: PTB = Preterm Birth; GA = Gestational Age.

*Denotes statistical significance at p < 0.05; \emptyset : represents a null association; + : represents a positive association;

- : represents a negative association; \uparrow : represents an increased odds ratio; \downarrow : represents a decreased odds ratio; / implies that multiple groups shared the same classification.

Note: "Adverse effects" are indicated by both increased odds ratios () for dichotomous outcomes and negative associations (–) for the other outcomes.

^a<u>Gyllenhammar I (2017)</u> and <u>Gyllenhammar et al. (2018)</u> results are included here (both analyzed the POPUP cohort).

^bExposure-response relationship detected based on categorical data.

^cHamm et al. (2010) was *medium* confidence for PTB and *low* confidence for GA.

^dMedian range across cases and controls.

^eExposure measured in placenta (ng/g).

^f5th–95th percentiles.

Fetal Loss/Spontaneous Abortion

1 Five studies reported on the relationship between PFHxS exposure and spontaneous 2 abortion (see Figure 3-50). A cohort of pregnant women enrolled at 8–16 weeks gestation (Jensen 3 et al., 2015) was considered *low* confidence primarily due to loss to follow-up and the high risk of 4 incomplete case ascertainment (i.e., not including women with losses that occurred prior to study 5 enrollment, which may bias the results towards or even past the null if there is a true association 6 between PFHxS exposure and spontaneous abortion (Radke et al., 2019)). Liew et al. (2020) is a 7 case-control study that identified cases via medical registry and also has the potential to miss early 8 losses. However, this study was not downgraded to low confidence as loss to follow-up was not a 9 concern. Three additional studies were considered medium confidence, two case-control studies of first trimester miscarriage (Mi et al., 2022; Wikström et al., 2021) and a cohort of women 10 undergoing their first *in vitro* fertilization-embryo transfer treatment cycle (Wang et al., 2021a). 11 12 Notably, Mi et al. (2022) measured sodium perfluoro-1-hexanesulfonate, a related salt, rather than 13 PFH_xS. 14 Jensen et al. (2015) reported an increased OR (1.53; 95% CI: 0.99, 2.38) for spontaneous 15 abortion for each ln-unit increase in exposure despite study sensitivity limitations. While this study 16 is low confidence, the bias is unlikely to be away from the null (as described above), and thus the 17 limitations are unlikely to explain the observed positive association. However, the other four studies, all *medium* confidence, reported no association between PFHxS exposure and early 18 19 spontaneous abortion. It is possible that there is only an association with second trimester 20 spontaneous abortion, but the evidence is currently not adequate to make this determination and 21 there is considerable uncertainty due to inconsistency across studies.



Figure 3-50. Study evaluation results for nine epidemiological studies of fetal loss and PFHxS. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Birth Defects

1	Two studies examined birth defects in relation to DELLYC supervises (as Figure 2.51). The
Т	Two studies examined birth defects in relation to Prinxs exposures (see Figure 5-51). The
2	<i>medium</i> confidence congenital heart defect study by <u>Ou et al. (2021)</u> reported null associations
3	risks for PFHxS ≥0.153 ng/mL (vs. <0.153 ng/mL) for septal defects (OR=1.07; 95%CI: 0.52, 2.22),
4	and total heart defects (OR=1.03; 95%CI: 0.65, 1.64), although a non-significant inverse risk was
5	seen for conotruncal defects (OR=0.64; 95%CI: 0.28, 1.49). Relative to tertile 1, the <i>low</i> confidence
6	Cao et al. (2018) study showed evidence of monotonic associations between all birth defects and
7	PFHxS tertiles 2 (OR=2.24; 95%CI: 1.05, 5.27) and 3 (OR=2.54; 95%CI: 1.06, 6.13). There is
8	considerable uncertainty in interpreting results for broad all birth defect groupings which
9	decreases study sensitivity given the etiological heterogeneity across different birth defects.
10	Overall, there was limited evidence of associations between PFHxS and birth defect based
11	on the two available epidemiological studies. Despite an exposure-response relationships in one
12	low confidence study based on an all (i.e., total) birth defect grouping, there is currently insufficient
13	data for any specific birth defects to draw further conclusions given the limitations noted above.



Figure 3-51. Summary of study evaluation for 2 epidemiology studies of birth defects. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Animal Studies

- 1 Five of the available toxicology studies evaluated PFHxS-induced effects in developing
- 2 animals. Three studies exposed Wistar rats (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>) or CD-1 mice (<u>Chang</u>
- 3 <u>et al., 2018</u>) to PFHxS for 14 days before mating, and during mating, gestation, and lactation while
- 4 <u>Marques et al. (2021)</u> treated CD-1 mice with PFHxS from GD1 to PND20; one study exposed Wistar
- 5 rats from GD7 to PND22 (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>); and a separate study using Wistar rats treated
- 6 animals from GD7 to GD22 and from PND1 to PND22. These studies administered PFHxS (doses
- 7 ranging from 0.03 to 45 mg/kg-day) via gavage and evaluated maternal toxicity and fetal survival,
- 8 growth, and morphological development. The <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u>, <u>3M (2003)</u> and <u>Chang et al.</u>
- 9 (2018) studies were evaluated as high confidence, while the <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u>, <u>Marques et al.</u>
- 10 (2021), and <u>Tetzlaff et al. (2021)</u> studies were evaluated as medium confidence (see Figure 3-52).
- 11 Concerns in the <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u>, <u>Tetzlaff et al. (2021)</u>, and <u>Marques et al. (2021)</u> studies were
- 12 noted for allocation, and the reporting of the number of animals per exposure group.


Figure 3-52. Developmental animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Maternal health

- The health of the dams was assessed in all available studies except <u>Tetzlaff et al. (2021)</u> (see
 Figure 3-53). <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u>; <u>3M (2003)</u> reported that Sprague Dawley rats administered
- 3 PFHxS displayed decreased maternal body weight (6% to 8% relative to controls) during the
- 4 lactation period: on PNDs 4, 6–8, 11, and 13 at the lowest dose (0.3 mg/kg-day); on PNDs 7 and 8 at
- 5 3 mg/kg-day; and on PNDs 4, 6–9, 11, 13, and 14 at the highest dose (10 mg/kg-day). However,
- 6 these decrements are considered minimal, the animals recovered from these effects at weaning
- 7 (PND 22), and studies in CD-1 mice (<u>Marques et al., 2021; Chang et al., 2018</u>) or Wistar rats
- 8 (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>) did not report significant PFHxS-induced effects on maternal body weight
- 9 during gestation or lactation. Maternal food consumption was also not affected in exposed rats or
- 10 mice (Chang et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003). Additional outcomes evaluated in F0
- 11 females included kidney and liver weights, reproductive organ weights and histopathology, and
- 12 maternal serum thyroxine levels, which are discussed in those respective sections (see Sections
- 13 3.2.3, 3.2.4, and 3.2.10). Briefly, significant treatment-related increases were observed for mean
- 14 liver weight and the incidence of histopathological findings at 3 mg/kg-day in CD-1 mice (<u>Chang et</u>
- 15 <u>al., 2018</u>), and significant treatment- and dose-related decreases were observed in serum thyroxine
- 16 levels in Wistar rats (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>); see hepatic and thyroid effect sections (see Sections 3.2.5
- 17 and 3.2.1, respectively) for more detail.

<u>Fetal viability</u>

- 1 Endpoints related to fetal and postnatal viability were measured in the <u>Butenhoff et al.</u>
- 2 (2009), Chang et al. (2018), Marques et al. (2021), and Ramhøj et al. (2018) studies. Post-
- 3 implantation loss, perinatal loss, number of live pups, litter size, and number of stillborn pups were
- 4 not affected by PFHxS exposure in Sprague Dawley or Wistar rats (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>; <u>Butenhoff et</u>
- 5 <u>al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>), and <u>Marques et al. (2021)</u> reported no PFHxS-induced effects on live births per
- 6 litter in CD-1 mice. However, a similar study in CD-1 mice reported that exposure to PFHxS at 1 and
- 7 3 mg/kg-day decreased the related measures of live litter size (by 14% and 12%, respectively) and
- 8 the number of pups born per litter (by 12% and 11%, respectively) (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>). An
- 9 explanation for the lack of dose-dependence of these observations is unavailable. Decreased litter
- 10 size is considered an indirect indication of pre-implantation loss and resorptions (<u>IPCS, 2006</u>), but
- 11 the <u>Chang et al. (2018)</u> study did not measure either of these two outcomes. This mouse study also
- evaluated the number of pups born-to-implant ratio and pup survival and reported no treatment-
- related effects (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>). The finding of reduced litter size and live pups per litter in mice
- 14 but not in rats exposed to higher PFHxS levels is not explainable by differences in
- 15 pharmacokinetics, study design, or study evaluation considerations. Furthermore, the toxicological
- 16 significance of these effects observed in mice is not clear as these responses did not appear to be
- 17 dose dependent; other measured developmental outcomes were not altered in the <u>Chang et al.</u>
- 18 <u>(2018)</u> study.

<u>Fetal growth</u>

- 19 F1 animal growth was evaluated in all available animal developmental studies. PFHxS
- 20 exposure did not affect pup body weights in male or female Sprague Dawley and Wistar rats, or in
- 21 CD-1 mice (<u>Marques et al., 2021</u>; <u>Tetzlaff et al., 2021</u>; <u>Chang et al., 2018</u>; <u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>;
- 22 <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>). Furthermore, no significant treatment-related effects were
- 23 observed on sex ratio in Sprague Dawley and Wistar rats (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>; <u>Butenhoff et al.</u>,
- 24 <u>2009; 3M, 2003</u>), or in CD-1 mice (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>) suggesting PFHxS exposure did not
- 25 specifically affect male or female animals.

Morphological development

- 26 Gross pathological examination of F1 pups revealed no significant exposure-related
- 27 developmental effects in exposed Sprague Dawley and Wistar rats, or CD-1 mice (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>;
- 28 <u>Ramhøj et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>).
- 29 Small but significant alterations in F1 AGD at birth were observed in CD-1 mice and Wistar
- rats (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>; <u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>). <u>Chang et al. (2018</u>) reported that adjusted (i.e.,
- relative to cube root body weight) PND1 AGD was increased by 3% to 5% in male CD-1 mice at
- 32 doses ranging from 0.3 to 3 mg/kg-day; and in female PND1 mice, adjusted AGD was decreased by
- 33 5% only at the mid-dose (1 mg/kg-day). AGD is used as a phenotypical marker of androgen

- 1 levels/production during the masculinization programming window (<u>Foster and Gray, 2013</u>)⁹.
- 2 Other phenotypical markers of androgen disruption were not altered in the available studies. On
- 3 PND13 male nipple retention (another marker indicative of hormonal alterations (Foster and Gray,
- 4 <u>2013</u>)) was not altered by PFHxS treatment in CD-1 mice, and puberty onset was not affected in
- 5 either CD-1 mice or Wistar rats (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>; <u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>). Additionally, male, and
- 6 female reproductive organ weights in F1 CD-1 mice (at PND36) and Wistar rats (males at PND16,
- 7 females at PND17 or 22) were not affected by PFHxS treatment (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>; <u>Ramhøj et al.,</u>
- 8 <u>2018</u>).
- 9 The biological significance of the small and directionally inconsistent changes in androgen
- 10 dependent AGD measures in animal and human studies is unclear. Taken together, the available
- 11 evidence does not support an effect on reproductive organ development by PFHxS exposure in
- 12 these animal studies.

⁹ In rodent models and in humans AGD is longer in males when compared to females (<u>Dean and Sharpe</u>, <u>2013</u>). Decreases in AGD are associated with androgen disruption during the masculinization programming window (<u>Dean and Sharpe</u>, <u>2013</u>; Foster and Gray, <u>2013</u>), whereas increased AGD in females could be indicative or increased androgen levels or activation of the androgen receptor (<u>Foster and Gray</u>, <u>2013</u>). Exposure to chemicals known to impair androgen synthesis or antagonize the androgen receptor have been shown to result in decreased AGD as well as effects on other indicators of hormone disruption (e.g., increased nipple retention) or adverse effects in the reproductive system (e.g., testicular atrophy, epididymal malformations, testicular size, hypospadias, reduced size of the testis and accessory reproductive glands) (<u>Dent et al., 2015</u>).

Effect	Study Name	Endpoint Name	Animal Description	PFHxS Animal Developmental Effects
Maternal Body Weight	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	Maternal Body Weight Gain, GD 0-20	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (⊇)	No significant change
		Maternal Body Weight, PND 4	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (Չ)	▲ Significant increase ▼ ● ▼
		Maternal Body Weight, PND 6	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (☉)	Significant decrease V
		Maternal Body Weight, PND 8	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (᠑)	
		Maternal Body Weight, PND 7	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (ੁ)	▼ • ▼ ▼
		Maternal Body Weight, PND 11	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (ີ)	▼ • • ▼
		Maternal Body Weight Change, PND 1-22	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (☉)	• • • •
	Chang, 2018, 4409324	Maternal Body Weight Change, GD 0-18	P0 Mouse, CD-1 (♀)	• • •
		Maternal Body Weight Change, PND 1-21	P0 Mouse, CD-1 (♀)	• • • •
	Ramhøj, 2018, 4442260	Maternal Body Weight Change, GD 7-21	P0 Rat, Wistar (ີ)	•••
		Maternal Body Weight Change, PND 1-14	P0 Rat, Wistar (☺)	•••
	Marques, 2021, 9960182	Maternal Body Weight	P0 Mouse, CD-1 (♀)	
Pregnancy Outcomes	Chang, 2018, 4409324	Number of Pups Born to Implant Ratio	F1 Mouse, CD-1 (순일)	• • •
	Ramhøj, 2018, 4442260	Perinatal Loss	P0 Rat, Wistar (⊉)	• • • •
		Viable Litters	P0 Rat. Wistar ()	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
etal Survival	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	Number of Pups Delivered	F1 Rat. Sprague-Dawley (공약)	
	and the second stated a state second	Stillborn Pups	F1 Rat. Sprague-Dawley (경우)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		Viability index	F1 Rat. Sprague-Dawley (승우)	• • • • • • • • •
		Lactation index	F1 Rat. Sprague-Dawley (종유)	• • • •
	Ramhøi, 2018, 4442260	Postimplantation Loss	F1 Rat, Wistar (♂♀)	•••
			P0 Rat, Wistar (☉)	• • •
Offspring Viability	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	Liveborn Pups	F1 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (공우)	
	Chang, 2018, 4409324	Number of Pups Born per Litter	F1 Mouse, CD-1 (순♀)	• • •
itter Size	Chang, 2018, 4409324	Live Litter Size	F1 Mouse, CD-1 (♂♀)	• • •
	Ramhøj, 2018, 4442260	Litter size (Live Pups PND1)	F1 Rat, Wistar (ै♀)	• • •
	Marques, 2021, 9960182	Mean Litter Size, Liveborn	P0 Mouse, CD-1 (♀)	

Figure 3-53. PFHxS-induced developmental effects. Figure displays the *high* and *medium* confidence studies included in the analysis. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link. Details on study confidence may be found in Figure 3-30. Note: while some of the decreases in maternal body weight were statistically significant, these small changes are of unclear biological significance and not necessarily adverse.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-183DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Evidence Integration

1 The currently available **evidence suggests** but is not sufficient to infer that PFHxS might 2 cause developmental effects in humans given sufficient exposure conditions¹⁰. This judgment is 3 based on *slight* human evidence, specifically the fairly consistent, but notably uncertain, evidence of 4 decreased birth weight and some coherent changes in other growth parameters from studies of 5 exposed humans in which PFHxS was measured pre-conception or either during or shortly after 6 pregnancy (see Table 3-2118). As discussed earlier (see Appendix C for more details), with the 7 exception of post-partum samples, fairly consistent small (but often statistically significant) birth 8 weight deficits were detected in EPA's meta-analysis of epidemiological studies including those 9 based on early sample timing. Overall, although there are data that suggest changes in fetal growth 10 are related to PFHxS exposures, additional evidence (e.g., more epidemiological study of PFHxS 11 exposure on birth weight with earlier biomarker sampling that helps to reduce uncertainties in the 12 current evidence base) would be needed to draw a stronger judgment. 13 Although not entirely consistent, the epidemiological evidence includes a large fetal growth 14 restriction database with some of the most accurate endpoints available (e.g., birth weight is 15 generally measured with little error). The available epidemiologic studies showing birthweight-16 related differences for continuous exposure data (β range: -12 to -145 grams per each ln-unit 17 increase) and categorical (β range: -25 to -101 grams for the highest quantile compared to the 18 lowest quantile) showed results comparable in magnitude and provided some support of a biologic 19 gradient, albeit the categorical data to a lesser degree given lack of monotonicity across quantiles. 20 For example, many studies based on continuous exposure data (per each increasing unit change in 21 PFHxS) showed fairly comparable birth weight-related deficits ranges in either boys or girls (β 22 range: -25 to -145 g) or in the overall population (β range: -12 to -93 g). There also was some 23 evidence of exposure-response relationships based on categorical data in 3 of 16 epidemiological 24 studies, although these were predominately driven by sex-specific findings. 25 Taken together, some birth weight deficits of varying magnitude were detected in 17 of 31 26 studies included in the main developmental synthesis, including 14 of 27 (and 10 of 21 27 *medium/high* confidence) studies that examined associations in the overall population and 8 of 14 28 that reported mean birth weight deficits in either male or female neonates or both. Based on EPA's 29 meta-analysis, similar birth weight deficits per ln-unit PFHxS increase were seen across all 27 30 studies ($\beta = -7.7$ g; 95%CI: -14.8, -0.5 per each ln-unit increase), 23 *medium* and *high* confidence studies (β = -8.0 g; 95% CI: -15.2, -0.7), or for the 12 *high* confidence studies (β = -6.8 g; 95% CI: 31 32 -16.3, 2.8). No gradient was seen across confidence levels or by biomarker sample timing. Although 33 limited by a small sample size and considerable variation in results across studies, some deficits

- 34 were detected for five post-partum sampled studies (β = -28.3 g; 95% CI: -69.3, 12.7) using
- 35 umbilical cord samples or maternal samples after birth; this may be reflective of bias due to

¹⁰ The "sufficient exposure conditions" are more fully evaluated and defined for the identified health effects through dose-response analysis in Section 5.

1 pregnancy hemodynamic changes. In contrast, 12 studies based on earlier pregnancy sampling 2 periods (e.g., any first trimester sampling) showed deficits ($\beta = -7.3$ g; 95% CI: -16.0, 1.4) similar in 3 magnitude to the overall pooled estimate of all 27 studies and those restricted to medium and high 4 confidence. Given that these patterns are not consistent with what EPA has seen for other PFAS 5 such as PFNA (Wright et al., 2023) and what others have reported for PFOA and PFOS Dzierlenga et 6 al. (2020); Steenland et al. (2018), it remains unclear whether any differences noted between late 7 pregnancy and postpartum samples is unique to PFHxS. 8 Examining birth weight differences in human populations is challenging, and it can be 9 difficult to differentiate pathological deficits versus natural biological variation in distributions 10 within study populations. The magnitude of birth weight deficits across categorical and continuous 11 exposures in the individual studies, for example, ranged from -12 to -145 grams, depending on the 12 exposure contrasts being compared. The meta-analysis of the 27 studies that EPA conducted 13 showed a small but statistically significant decrease in mean birth weight ($\beta = -7.7$ g; 95% CI: -14.8, 14 -0.5) per ln-unit increase in PFHxS. This overall result was similar when studies were restricted to 15 just the 12 high (β = -6.8 g; 95% CI: -16.3, 2.8) confidence studies or the 19 combined *medium* and 16 *high* confidence studies (β = -7.1 g; 95% CI: -15.2, 1.0). The public health significance of small 17 changes in birth weight noted here in this meta-analysis may not be immediately evident. On a 18 population level, even small changes, if causally related, can increase the number of infants at 19 higher risk for other co-morbidities and mortality especially during the first year of life. And, 20 therefore, small decrements may have a large public health impact if these shift the birth weight 21 distribution to include more infants in the low-birth-weight category. Additionally, decreased birth 22 weight has been associated with long-term adverse health outcomes such as cardiovascular disease 23 and diabetes (Osmond and Barker, 2000). Thus, this magnitude of decrease is considered to be of 24 concern. 25 Providing some evidence for changes coherent with the observed birth weight decreases, 26 decreases, 5 of 7 small for gestational age and low birth weight studies showed increased risk in

relation to PFHxS exposures. Additional evidence was seen in 12 of 18 (including 9 of 16 in the
overall population) birth length studies that showed associations of smaller birth length with
increasing PFHxS exposures, including 5 of 6 available *high* confidence studies. These results were
fairly small in magnitude. In addition, there was some support for these findings from coherent
effects related to postnatal weight measures (as 5 of 8 studies showed inverse associations), albeit
the other postnatal growth endpoints were null or mixed.

In addition to the uncertainty related to potential bias from pregnancy hemodynamics in
developmental epidemiological studies, a common area of concern when interpreting
epidemiological findings on individual PFAS is the potential for confounding by PFAS co-exposures.
As noted for other endpoints in general, despite extensive and advanced statistical modeling
attempts, it can be difficult at times to completely isolate an independent effect for each individual
PFAS when real-world exposures involve a myriad of sources. Although there were some moderate

1 to strong positive correlations between PFHxS and some other PFAS, there were no consistent

- 2 patterns in magnitude of effects detected in models that adjusted for other PFAS (see detailed
- 3 write-up in Appendix C). Thus, while confounding by other PFAS remains a general source of
- 4 uncertainty in epidemiological studies, the lack of a consistent patterns across the available studies
- 5 here does not provide strong evidence of this possibility.
- 6 The available evidence on PFHxS-induced developmental effects in animal toxicity studies is
 7 considered *indeterminate*. The available animal studies do not provide evidence coherent with the
- 8 epidemiological observations of effects on fetal growth (i.e., rodent offspring body weights were
- 9 generally unaffected). Similarly, PFHxS exposure during early developmental stages did not impact
- 10 the incidence of developmental malformations or alter reproductive organ development. One *high*
- 11 confidence study reported a significant decrease in litter size and numbers of pups per litter in CD-1
- 12 mice that was not dose-dependent (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>) (note: a single, *low* confidence
- epidemiological study evaluating an outcome related to fetal survival showed a marginally
- 14 statistically significant increased odds of fetal loss with increasing PFHxS exposure). However,
- 15 (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>) also reported that the number of pups born-to-implant ratio was unaffected,
- 16 and two separate *high* and *medium* confidence studies in rats reported no significant treatment-
- 17 related effects on fetal survival endpoints at the same or higher PFHxS levels (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>;
- 18 <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>). Chemical-induced reduction in litter size can provide an indirect
- 19 indication of pre-implantation loss (<u>IPCS, 2006</u>); however, this was not evaluated in any of the
- 20 available gestational PFHxS exposure studies in animals, highlighting a significant data gap.
- Several epidemiological and animal toxicity studies report alterations in AGD. However, the
 biological significance of the small and directionally inconsistent changes as well as lack of
 consistency with other markers of androgen-dependent phenotypical outcomes and developmental
 measures adds uncertainty to the available evidence. Overall, the available studies do not support
 an effect on reproductive organ development by PFHxS exposure.
- Overall, the available evidence suggests but is not sufficient to infer that PFHxS exposure
 may have the potential to cause developmental toxicity in humans given sufficient exposure
 conditions¹¹. A stronger evidence integration judgment was not drawn due to some important
 sources of uncertainty in the epidemiological literature (most notably, uncertainty due to potential
 bias by pregnancy hemodynamics) that appear to reflect complex patterns of biological influence
 that are not completely understood. Nonetheless, the consistent and coherent epidemiological
 findings on fetal growth restriction warrant further examination to disentangle these uncertainties
- 33 and improve understanding of whether and to what extent PFHxS exposure during these sensitive
- 34 lifestages might contribute to growth restriction in children.

¹¹ Given the uncertainty in this judgement and the available evidence, this assessment does not derive a toxicity value that might better define the "sufficient exposure conditions" for developing this outcome (see Section 5 discussion).

	Evidence str	eam summary and in	terpretation		Evidence integration summary judgment
Evid	ence from studies of ex n human studies-fetal g	xposed humans (see De rowth restriction	velopment Human Sec	tion)	⊕⊙⊙ Evidence suggests, but is not
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	sufficient to infer
Fetal growth (Mean birth weight /z scores/small for gestation age/low birth weight) 9 high, 7 medium, and 5 low confidence studies	 Consistent findings of some inverse associations in 20 of 34 (including 14 of 26 high or medium confidence) studies Inverse associations in 17 of 31 mean birth weight studies and 14 (5 high; 5 medium; 4 low) of 27 in overall population across all study confidence levels Although they varied across confidence 	 Imprecision of some birth weight deficits Concern for potential confounding by co-exposures to highly correlated PFAS Exposure- dependence limited, including monotonic relationships, in only 3 of 14 different birth weight studies with categorical data in overall population or either sex; lends limited support to studies based 	 20 of 34 overall birth weight studies (including 14 of 26 medium or high confidence) studies showed inverse associations in the overall population, or among boys or girls Meta-analysis conducted by US EPA showed a small but statistically significant birth weight deficit (7.7 g; 95% CI: -14.8, -0.5) per each In-unit PFHxS increase; results were 	 ⊕⊙⊙ Slight Based primarily on consistent evidence for birth weight reductions and coherent findings for other fetal and postnatal weight endpoints, but strength was reduced due to concern for confounding and limited evidence of dose-dependence across most studies with categorical data. 	 Primary basis: Consistent human evidence of decreased birth weight and coherent findings across multiple other fetal and early-life measures of growth. Median PFHxS values spanned from 0.09 to 10.36 ng/mL across the birth weight meta-analysis studies. Human relevance: N/A (based on human evidence) Cross-stream coherence: N/A (animal evidence indeterminate) Susceptible populations and lifestages: Pregnancy and early life

Table 3-21. Evidence profile table for PFHxS related developmental effects

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-187DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Evidence stream summary and interpretation	Evidence integration summary judgment
levels, some reported mean birth weight deficits (up to 	
 Overall meta- analysis birth weight results (- 7.7 g) comparable to early pregnancy (-7.3 g) studies; suggests results not likely due to 	

	Evidence integration summary judgment			
	pregnancy hemodynamics			
	 Evidence among 6 of 13 standardized birth weight studies primarily seen in high (4 of 8 high and medium (1 of 3) confidence studies 			
	• 5 of 7 studies examining either small for gestational age, low birth weight or very low birth weight showed some increased risks with increasing PFHxS exposures among the overall population or either girls or boys (quite variable in magnitude, OR range: 1.3–9.1)			

	Evidence integration summary judgment							
Fetal growth restriction (birth length) 6 high, 5 medium, and 7 low confidence studies		Consistent findings of some inverse associations in 9 of the 16 studies in the overall population (5 high, 1 medium, and 3 low confidence)	•	None of the 5 studies with categorical data showed dose- dependent associations in the overall population although 2 of 3 sex-specific analyses did (both from same birth cohort). Concern for potential confounding by co-exposures to highly correlated PFAS Some concern for potential bias due to sample timing (pregnancy hemodynamics) as 6 of 9 studies with inverse associations were based on later biomarker sampling; although this did not bear out in		9 of 16 studies reported adverse effects, including all 5 of 6 high and 1 of 5 medium confidence studies		

	Evidence str	eam summary and ir	iterpretation	Evidence integration summary judgment
		the sex-specific analyses.		
Fetal growth restriction (head circumference) 5 high, 5 medium, and 4 low confidence studies	 8 of 14 studies in total showed inverse associations, including 7 of 12 studies in the overall population (4 of 5 high; 2 of 4 medium and 1 of 3 low confidence) Exposure-dependence in 1 of 2 studies with categorical data Limited concern over pregnancy hemodynamics as 5 of 7 studies with inverse associations in the overall population were based on early biomarker compliance 	 Concern for potential confounding by co-exposures to highly correlated PFAS 	 8 of 14 studies (5 high; 2 medium and 1 low confidence) reported adverse associations, including 4 of 5 high confidence studies 	

	Evidence integration summary judgment				
Anogenital distance (AGD) 4 medium confidence studies	• No factors noted	 No factors noted 	 Inverse association between PFHxS exposure and AGD in 1 of 4 medium confidence studies in boys and in 1 of 3 studies in girls 		
Evidence from human	studies postnatal grow	th			
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	
Postnatal growth- Weight measures: 5 high, 3 medium, and 3 low confidence studies	 Consistent findings of inverse associations across 5 of the 8 studies of infant weight with more evidence among girls Mixed results were seen among four studies of rapid growth (2 of 4 studies). Limited to no evidence of 	 Inconsistent periods of follow-up and assessment (e.g., childhood age at examination) precludes more direct comparison across studies. Concern for potential confounding by co-exposures to highly correlated PFAS 	 5 of 8 studies showed some evidence of postnatal weight reductions which showed some coherence with birth weight deficits. The other endpoints were mixed or provided limited or no evidence of associations. 		

	Evidence integration summary judgment				
	 associations for postnatal height (1 of 5 studies), head circumference (0 of 3 studies) in overall population or either sex. No evidence of associations with adiposity (0 of 5 studies) in the overall population, but 2 of 3 studies did report this for boys. 				
Evidence from human	studies-gestational dura	tion	•		
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	
Preterm birth 6 high and 4 medium confidence studies	• All 10 published studies were <i>high</i> or <i>medium</i> confidence	 Unexplained inconsistency Concern for potential confounding by co-exposures to highly correlated PFAS 	 4 of 10 studies showed some evidence of adverse associations 		

		Evidence stre	am	summary and in	nte	rpretation	Evidence integration summary judgment
Gestational age 8 high, 5 medium, and 6 low confidence studies	•	4 of the 7 studies were based on early biomarker sampling; suggesting that pregnancy hemodynamics may have less of an impact in this subset. There was a preponderance of associations among girls with 2 of 3 of the studies with categorical data showing some exposure- response relationship.	•	Unexplained inconsistency One-half of the studies in boys were deficient in study sensitivity Concern for potential confounding by co-exposures to highly correlated PFAS	•	8 of 19 studies in total as well as 7 (3 high, 3 medium, and 1 low confidence) of 17 studies in the overall population showed some gestational age reductions 5 of the 8 sex- specific studies reported associations in girls, while none of the studies in the boys did.	
Spontaneous abortion 4 medium and 1 low confidence study	•	No factors noted	•	<i>Low</i> confidence study reporting an effect	•	1 <i>low</i> confidence reported a positive association despite bias towards null, but 4 <i>medium</i> confidence studies reported no associations.	

	Evidence integration summary judgment			
Evidence from in vivo	animal studies (see Dev	elopmental Animal Se	ection)	
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key Evidence stream findings judgment	
Maternal health, fetal viability, fetal growth, morphological development 2 high confidence studies: GD0 – PND22 GD7 – PND22 1 high confidence study: GD0 – PND22	• <i>High</i> confidence studies	 Unclear biological significance of small maternal weight changes Lack of expected dose- dependence for litter size decrease in 1 study 	 Decreased litter size in 1 of 3 studies No notable PFHxS-induced effects on maternal health, fetal viability, fetal growth, and gestation duration. Studies did not evaluate pre- implantation loss 	

3.2.4. Hepatic Effects

Human Studies

1 Thirteen epidemiology studies (reported in 14 publications) report on the relationship 2 between PFHxS exposure and liver effects, primarily serum liver enzymes. Serum levels of alanine 3 aminotransferase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) are considered reliable markers of 4 hepatocellular function/injury, with ALT considered more specific and sensitive (Boone et al., 5 2005). Alkaline phosphatase (ALP), bilirubin, and y-glutamyltransferase (GGT) are also routinely 6 used to evaluate potential hepatobiliary toxicity (Hall et al., 2012; EMEA, 2008; Boone et al., 2005). 7 Elevation of liver serum biomarkers is frequently an indication of liver injury, although they are not 8 as specific as functional tests, which are currently not available for PFHxS. 9 Of 13 available epidemiology studies, 10 were classified as *medium* confidence, 2 as *low* 10 confidence, and 1 was considered *uninformative* (see Figure 3-54). Jiang et al. (2014) was 11 considered *uninformative* due to critical deficiency in the confounding domain as well as a lack of 12 information on participant selection (deficient) and was excluded from further analysis. The 13 majority of the available studies were cross-sectional studies in adults, four of which (Omoike et al., 14 2020; Jain and Ducatman, 2019c; Gleason et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2010) were analyses of different 15 NHANES study populations (1999–2004, 2007–2010, 2011–2014, 2005–2012 respectively). The 16 inclusion criteria in these NHANES studies varied across analyses (e.g., Gleason et al. (2015) 17 included adolescents as well as adults, fasting was required in Lin et al. (2010), individuals who 18 were carriers of hepatitis B or C virus were not excluded in Jain and Ducatman (2019c)). Because of 19 the overlapping population in Omoike et al. (2020) with the previous studies, this paper was not 20 considered a separate study. The other cross-sectional studies were in populations in Canada 21 (Cakmak et al., 2022), China (Liu et al., 2022a). In addition, there was a cohort of elderly adults 22 (Salihovic et al., 2018) and a birth cohort with follow-up into childhood (Mora et al., 2018). In 23 children and adolescents, in addition to the NHANES 2007–2010 analysis in Gleason et al. (2015) 24 that included adolescents but did not provide stratified estimates, Attanasio (2019b) examined 25 NHANES data from 2013 to 2016 in adolescents. A multicenter birth cohort examined liver 26 enzymes in childhood and was considered *medium* confidence (Stratakis et al., 2020). There were 27 also two low confidence studies of children. Khalil et al. (2018) was a pilot cross-sectional study of 28 48 obese children, and there was concern for potential for selection bias and confounding. Jin et al. 29 [2020b] was a cross-sectional study of children who had nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and 30 analyzed the odds of severe disease (non-alcoholic steatohepatitis) with PFHxS exposure. This was 31 the only study that did not examine liver function tests, but there were concerns for confounding 32 due to lack of adjustment for socioeconomic status and inclusion of BMI, which may lie on the 33 causal pathway. Across the studies of liver function, liver enzymes were analyzed appropriately in 34 serum. Analysis of PFHxS in serum or plasma samples was also appropriate in all studies.



Figure 3-54. Hepatic effects human study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link. Multiple publications of the same study: <u>Attanasio (2019b)</u> also includes <u>Attanasio (2019a)</u>

- 1 The results for the ten *medium* confidence studies are presented in Table 3-19. Five studies
- 2 reported small, but statistically significant, positive associations between serum ALT and PFHxS
- **3** exposure (<u>Cakmak et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2022a; Jain and Ducatman, 2019c; Salihovic et al., 2018;</u>
- 4 <u>Gleason et al., 2015</u>), although in <u>Jain and Ducatman (2019c</u>), this was observed only in obese
- 5 participants. Lin et al. (2010) and Nian et al. (2019) also reported positive associations, but with
- 6 imprecise estimates. A study in children reported a nonsignificant inverse association for ALT
- 7 (<u>Mora et al., 2018</u>).
- 8 For other enzymes, the direction of association varied across studies <u>Gleason et al. (2015)</u>
- 9 and (Liu et al., 2022a) also reported significant positive associations with AST, ALP, and total
- 10 bilirubin, while Salihovic et al. (2018) reported a significant positive association with ALP but an
- 11 inverse association with total bilirubin. Other studies reported non-statistically significant
- 12 associations in both directions for different enzymes (<u>Cakmak et al., 2022</u>; <u>Nian et al., 2019</u>). In
- 13 adolescents, <u>Attanasio (2019b)</u> reported positive associations with total bilirubin but no clear
- 14 associations with other enzymes analyzed continuously. There were positive associations (p > 0.05)

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-197DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- in girls with elevated ALT, AST, and GGT (dichotomous based on upper reference limits). The other 1 2 *medium* confidence study in children (<u>Stratakis et al., 2020</u>) did not report results for individual 3 liver enzymes but defined liver injury risk as having any liver enzyme concentration above the 90th 4 percentile for the study population. They found no association between liver injury risk and PFHxS 5 exposure. The low confidence study (Khalil et al., 2018) also reported no association between 6 PFHxS and liver enzymes. In children with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, higher PFHxS exposure 7 was associated with the presence of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (OR [95% CI]: 4.18 [1.64, 10.7] per 8 IQR increase). Positive associations were also observed with grade of steatosis (p > 0.05), lobular 9 inflammation, portal inflammation, ballooning (p > 0.05), and liver fibrosis (lin et al., 2020b). 10 Given the consistency of direction of association for ALT across most of the studies in 11 adults, there is some indication that PFHxS exposure may be associated with hepatic effects.
- 12 However, there is still some uncertainty due to the small or imprecise nature of some ALT increases
- 13 as well as the inconsistency of results for other liver enzymes. The single available *low* confidence
- 14 epidemiology study of liver histology (<u>Jin et al., 2020b</u>) indicates an association between PFHxS
- 15 exposure and disease severity (i.e., nonalcoholic steatohepatitis), but these findings should be
- 16 interpreted with caution due to the potential for confounding and the nongeneralizable study
- 17 population. Additional studies of functional hepatic endpoints (e.g., liver disease) are not available,
- so it is not possible to evaluate whether the small changes in liver enzymes observed in these
- 19 studies translate to clinical hepatic injury.

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified	Effect estimate	ALT	AST	ALP	GGT	Total bilirubin	
Adults									
<u>Nian et al.</u> (2019)	Cross- sectional (2015–2016); China; 1,605 adults	0.7 (0.01–2.7)	% change (95% CI) for In-unit change	0.2 (-0.8,1.2)	0.1 (-0.5,0.8)	-0.1 (-0.6,0.5)	0.4 (-0.6,1.4)	-0.3 (-1.0,0.5)	
<u>Liu et al. (2022a)</u>	Cross- sectional (2018–2019); China; 1,303 adults	0.9 (0.5–1.4)	% difference (95% CI) vs. 25 th percentile	50 th : 7.69 (5.62, 9.80)* 75 th : 12.15 (7.66, 16.83)* 95 th : 16.90 (7.86, 26.70)*	50 th : 3.43 (2.11, 4.78)* 75 th : 6.16 (3.32, 9.07)* 95 th : 9.66 (3.95, 15.68)*	50 th : 0.90 (-0.22, 2.03) 75 th : 0.88 (-1.46, 3.27) 95 th : 0.44 (- 4.10, 5.19)	50 th : 5.65 (3.22, 8.14)* 75 th : 9.01 (3.81, 14.47)* 95 th : 12.65 (2.30, 24.04)	50 th : 3.05 (1.57, 4.55)* 75 th : 6.44 (3.25, 9.72)* 95 th : 11.40 (4.92, 18.28)*	
<u>Jain and</u> <u>Ducatman</u> (2019c)	NHANES cross- sectional (2011–2014), U.S.; 2,883 adults	1.4	β (p-value) for log- unit change	Nonobese 0.005 (0.8) Obese 0.05 (<0.01)*	Nonobese 0.007 (0.6) Obese 0.01 (0.4)	Nonobese -0.005 (0.7) Obese 0.006 (0.6)	Nonobese 0.008 (0.7) Obese 0.03 (0.1)	Nonobese 0.002 (0.9) Obese 0.04 (0.07)	
<u>Lin et al. (2010)</u>	NHANES cross- sectional (1999–2004), U.S.; 2,216 adults	mean (SE) 1.7 (1.0) (women)	β (SE) for log-unit increase	0.2 (0.5), p = 0.7	NR	NR	0.0 (0.02), p = 0.9	0.4 (0.2), p = 0.06	

Table 3-22. Associations between PFHxS and liver enzymes in *medium* confidence epidemiology studies

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified	Effect estimate	ALT	AST	ALP	GGT	Total bilirubin
<u>Gleason et al.</u> <u>(2015)</u>	NHANES cross- sectional (2007–2010), U.S.; 4,333 adults (12+ yrs)	1.8 (1.0–3.1)	β (95% Cl) for ln-unit increase	0.02 (0.01,0.03)*	0.02 (0.01,0.03)*	0.02 (0.01,0.04)*	0.01 (-0.01,0.03)	0.03 (0.01,0.05)*
<u>Cakmak et al.</u> (2022)	Cross- sectional (2007–2017); Canada; 4,952 adults	Cycle 1: 2.2; Cycle 2: 1.7; Cycle: 1.0	% change (95% CI) for GM change	1.7 (0.2, 3.3)*	-0.3 (-1.6, 0.9)	-1.2 (-3.7, 1.3)	3.6 (-0.7, 8.0)	-0.8 (-4.8, 3.5)
<u>Salihovic et al.</u> (2018)	Cohort (2001–2014); Sweden; 1,002 elderly adults	2.1 (1.6–3.4)	β (p-value) for In-unit change	0.02 (0.0,0.03)*	NR	0.06 (0.02,0.09)*	0.03 (-0.01,0.07)	-1.0 (-1.3,-0.7)*
			Children and	d adolescents				
<u>Mora et al.</u> (2018)	Project Viva birth cohort	prenatal 2.4 (1.6–3.8)	β (95% CI) for IQR increase	-0.1 (-0.4,0.2)	NR	NR	NR	NR
	(1999–2002), U.S.; 682 children (7–8 yrs)	child 1.9 (1.2–3.4)		0.0 (-0.2,0.2)	NR	NR	NR	NR

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified	Effect estimate	ALT	AST	ALP	GGT	Total bilirubin
Attanasio	NHANES	GM (SE)	β (95% Cl) for	boys	boys	NR	boys	boys
<u>(2019b)</u>	cross-	male 1.3 (0.09)	quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: -0.07	Q2: -0.04		Q2: -0.09	Q2: 0.11
	sectional	female 0.9 (0.06)		(-0.15, 0.01)	(-0.10, 0.03)		(-0.21, 0.03)	(0.03, 0.20)
	(2013–2016);			Q3: -0.09	Q3: -0.03		Q3: -0.03	Q3: 0.07
	354 males			(-0.20, 0.02)	(-0.09, 0.04)		(–0.15 <i>,</i> 0.09)	(-0.01, 0.15)
	and 305			Q4: -0.02	Q4: 0.00		Q4: 0.02	Q4: 0.16
	females (12–			(-0.12, 0.08)	(-0.09, 0.09)		(-0.12, 0.15)	(0.07, 0.26)
	19 yrs)			girls	girls		girls	<i>p</i> -trend: 0.01
				Q2: -0.01	Q2: 0.00		Q2: 0.10	girls
				(-0.14, 0.12)	(-0.10, 0.10)		(-0.01, 0.20)	Q2: 0.08
				Q3: 0.05	Q3: 0.07		Q3: 0.10	(-0.02, 0.18)
				(-0.05, 0.16)	(-0.01, 0.15)		(-0.01, 0.20)	Q3: 0.19
				Q4: 0.03	Q4: 0.03		Q4: 0.08	(0.08, 0.30)
				(-0.10, 0.16)	(-0.08, 0.14)		(-0.02, 0.18)	Q4: 0.25
								(0.11, 0.40)
								<i>p</i> -trend < 0.01*

**p* < 0.05.

NR: not reported.

Animal Studies

1 The toxicity database for PFHxS-induced liver effects in experimental animals consists of

2 two short-term exposure studies using SD rats (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>; <u>3M, 2000a</u>); two subchronic exposure

3 study using APOE*3-Leiden.CETP mice¹² (<u>Bijland et al., 2011</u>) or C57BL/6 mice (<u>He et al., 2022</u>);

4 one chronic exposure study using C57BL/6J mice (<u>Pfohl et al., 2020</u>) and four multigeneration

5 studies using Wistar (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>) or Sprague Dawley rats (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M</u>,

6 <u>2003</u>), or CD-1 mice (<u>Marques et al., 2021</u>; <u>Chang et al., 2018</u>). All studies exposed animals orally via

7 either gavage (<u>Chang et al., 2018; NTP, 2018a; Ramhøj et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>,

8 <u>2000a</u>) or the diet (<u>Bijland et al., 2011</u>). Outcomes evaluated and reported in these studies include

9 histopathological effects, serum biomarkers of liver damage and lipid metabolism, and changes in

10 absolute and relative liver weights.

<u>Organ weight</u>

Four *high* confidence studies five *medium* confidence studies evaluated PFHxS-induced
effects on liver weight (see Figure 3-55). In both rats and mice, short-term and subchronic exposure

13 led to increased absolute and relative liver weights¹³ (<u>NTP, 2018a; Bijland et al., 2011; 3M, 2000a</u>)

14 (see Figure 3-56). However, a chronic exposure study using male C57BL/6J mice reported no

15 significant effect on liver weight after exposure to 0.15 mg/kg-day for 29 weeks (<u>Pfohl et al., 2020</u>).

16 Two short-term (28-day) exposure studies using SD rats reported that exposure to PFHxS

17 increased liver weight by 8% to 54% at doses ranging from 1.25 to 10 mg/kg-day (<u>NTP, 2018a; 3M</u>,

18 <u>2000a</u>). Although <u>NTP (2018a)</u> observed increased relative and absolute liver weights in both male

and female animals, <u>3M (2000a)</u> only observed exposure-related changes in male rats. A separate

20 subchronic exposure study using APOE*3-Leiden.CETP mice also observed increased absolute liver

weight (108%) in animals orally exposed to 6 mg/kg-day PFHxS for 42 days (<u>Bijland et al., 2011</u>).

22 Four multigenerational toxicity studies evaluated PFHxS-induced effects on liver weights in

23 F0 and/or F1 animals (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>; <u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>; <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>). In

F0 generation male SD rats, exposure to 3 or 10 mg/kg-day PFHxS increased absolute and relative

liver weight by 20% to 67% when compared with controls, but no effects were observed in F0

26 females (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>). Two similar studies using CD-1 mice also measured liver

27 weights, but reported different effects: (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>) reported increased absolute and relative

28 liver weight (23% to 70%) in F0 generation (male and female) animals, but (Marques et al., 2021)

29 observed no exposure-related changes in F0 female liver weights. Both (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>) and

30 (Marques et al., 2021) exposed pregnant animals to similar doses of PFHxS, however (Chang et al.,

31 <u>2018</u>) treated animals for 42 days before mating, through gestation and lactation whereas

 ¹² APOE*3-Leiden.CETP mice is a genetically modified animal model which emulates human lipoprotein profiles and is used to investigate cholesterol metabolism and cardiovascular disease (<u>Veseli et al., 2017</u>).
 ¹³ Alterations in liver weight are considered indicative of exposure-related responses such as enzyme induction and hepatocellular hypertrophy (<u>Thoolen et al., 2010</u>; <u>Sellers et al., 2007</u>).

- 1 (Marques et al., 2021) exposed F0 female animals from GD1 to PND20. In F1 generation animals,
- 2 significant PFHxS-induced increases in liver weight were observed in male CD-1 mice (10%
- 3 increase in relative liver weight at 3 mg/kg-day) after exposure during gestation, lactation, and
- 4 post-weaning (until postnatal day 36) (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>). However, in F1 male and female SD rats
- 5 sampled on PND22 and Wistar rats sampled on PNDs 16–17, there were no significant exposure-
- 6 related changes in relative or absolute liver weights (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2020</u>; <u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>;
- 7 <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>). In F1 male and female CD-1 mice exposure to a high fat diet plus
- 8 PFHxS resulted in decreased relative, but not absolute, liver weight on PND21. These effects were
- 9 not apparent on PND90. Overall, the majority of the available studies report fairly consistent
- 10 increases in liver weight across lifestages following PFHxS exposure.



Figure 3-55. PFHxS liver weight animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.



Figure 3-56. Liver weight responses from animal studies. Figure displays the high and medium confidence studies included in the analysis (see Figure 3-55. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

<u>Histopathology</u>

1	Histopathological lesions in the liver were reported in four <i>high</i> confidence studies using
2	Sprague Dawley rats (<u>NTP, 2018a; Butenhoff et al., 2009</u> ; <u>3M, 2003</u> , <u>2000a</u>) or mice (<u>Chang et al.,</u>
3	2018), two <i>medium</i> confidence study using Wistar rats (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2020</u>) or CD-1 mice, and one
4	low confidence study using C57BL/6 mice (<u>He et al., 2022</u>) (see Figure 3-57).
5	Two short-term studies evaluated histopathological responses male and female SD rats
6	after exposing animals to doses ranging from 2.5 to 10 mg/kg-day for 28 days, and one chronic
7	study evaluated effects in male C57BL/6 mice treated with 60 μ g/kg-day PFHxS for 12 weeks.
8	Statistically significant increases in the incidence of hepatocellular hypertrophy ¹⁴ (44% to 100%)
9	were observed in male SD rats exposed to PFHxS at doses ≥2.5 mg/kg-day (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>), or 10
10	mg/k-day (<u>3M, 2000a</u>) (see Figure 3-58). <u>3M (2000a)</u> also evaluated other histological responses
11	(including hematopoietic cell foci, single cell necrosis, coagulative necrosis, hepatocellular
12	vacuolation, and inflammatory cell foci), but reported no significant exposure-related effects. Both
13	studies also report that female animals did not exhibit the histopathological effects observed in
14	male animals (NTP, 2018a; 3M, 2000a). In male C57BL/6 mice, exposure to 60 μ g/kg-day for 12
15	weeks resulted in increased hepatocyte ballooning, inflammatory infiltration and fibrosis.
16	However, several deficiencies were identified in <u>He et al. (2022)</u> including lack of reporting of
17	histopathological effect incidences, observational bias, and chemical administration (see Figure 3-
18	57, and follow HAWC link for additional details).
19	PFHxS-induced histopathological effects were also evaluated in two multigenerational
20	toxicity studies. In F0 generation male SD rats or male and female CD-1 mice, exposure to PFHxS
21	caused increased incidence of histopathological effects (see Figure 3-59), primarily hepatocellular
22	hypertrophy. In the rat study, F0 generation animals exposed to PFHxS for 42 days to 3 or 10
23	mg/kg-day increased the incidence of hepatocellular hypertrophy by 90% and 100%, but other
24	histological responses (including focal necrosis, lipidosis, vacuolation [midzonal or multifocal], and
25	chronic liver inflammation) were not significantly affected (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>).
26	Similar observations were made in male F0 generation CD-1 mice for which exposure to 0.3, 1, or 3
27	mg/kg-day PFHxS for 42 days increased hepatocellular hypertrophy and cytoplasmic alterations by
28	80%, 100%, and 100%, respectively when compared with controls (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>).
29	Furthermore, the incidence of single cell necrosis and microvesicular fatty change were increased
30	(40% and 60% respectively) at the highest dose, but hepatocellular cell necrosis was not affected.
31	Female F0 generation rats or mice used in the <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> and <u>Chang et al. (2018)</u>
32	studies were exposed to PFHxS for 14 days before cohabitation and continued up to postnatal day
33	22. F0 generation female rats were nonresponsive to PFHxS exposure (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u> ; <u>3M.</u>

¹⁴Hepatocellular hypertrophy: a cellular response to chemical-induced stress that is considered indicative of hepatomegaly (<u>Cattley and Cullen, 2018</u>; <u>Thoolen et al., 2010</u>) and characterized by an increase of hepatocyte size (<u>Cesta et al., 2014</u>). It may be caused by increases in mitochondria, peroxisomes, endoplasmic reticulum, or metabolic enzyme induction (<u>Thoolen et al., 2010</u>).

- 1 <u>2003</u>). However, in F0 generation female CD-1 mice cytoplasmic vacuolation was increased by 30%
- 2 at the highest dose (3 mg/kg-day) and hepatocellular hypertrophy and cytoplasmic alterations
- 3 (ground glass) were increased by 50 to 100% in all treated animals, but these effects were not
- 4 dose-dependent (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>). F1 generation CD-1 mice exposed to 3 mg/kg-day PFHxS
- 5 during gestation and lactation displayed statistically significant increases in cytoplasmic alterations
- 6 (63% incidence in males and 88% in females) and hepatocellular hypertrophy (83% incidence in
- 7 males and 88% in females) (see Figure 3-60), but the incidence of hepatocellular necrosis,
- 8 inflammation, and cytoplasmic vacuolation was not affected in F1 male or female CD-1 mice (Chang
- 9 et al., 2018). A separate study using CD-1 mice reported no effect on male or female F1 animals
- 10 exposed to 1 mg/kg-day PFHxS from GD1 to PND20 (Marques et al., 2021). These varying
- 11 responses in the two studies using CD-1 mice (<u>Marques et al., 2021; Chang et al., 2018</u>) could have
- 12 been due to differences in experimental exposure durations: Chang, 2018, 4409324@@author-year
- 13 exposed animals before mating (14 days) and then during gestation and lactation, whereas
- 14 <u>Marques et al. (2021)</u> only exposed animals during gestation and lactation. Furthermore, a separate
- 15 study using Wistar rats reported no significant effects in F0 or F1 animals exposed to PFHxS (0.05
- 16 to 25 mg/kg-day) from GD7 to PND22 (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2020</u>).



Figure 3-57. Liver histopathology animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Endpoint Name	Study Name	Study Design	Animal Description	Dose (mg/kg-day)	observation time text		PEHVSLIVA	r Histonatholo	av	
Uppetasellijet Hugedtaelu	NTD 2018 4200282	78 Day Oral	Mala Caragua Doulou (CD) Dat	0	Day 20	1	FTTING LIVE	Thistopatholo	97	
пераюсениал пуретгорну	NTP, 2010, 4309303	20 Day Otal	wale oprague Dawley (SD) Rat	0 625	Day 29				atistically sign	officient
				0.020	Day 28	and the second s		lin	cidence	medane
				1.20	Day 29	-				
				2.0	Day 29		-			
				3	Day 29		-			
			Ferrale Passaria Daulari (PD) Dat	10	Day 29		_			
			Female Sprague Dawley (SD) Rat	0	Day 29					
				0.12	Day 29					
				6.25	Day 29					
				12.5	Day 29					
				25	Day 29					
				50	Day 29					
Midzonal/Centrilobular Hypertrophy, Diffuse	3M, 2000, 3981194	28 Day Oral	Male Cri:Cd Br Rat	Ö	Study Day 28					
				10	Study Day 28		3			
			Female Cri:Cd Br Rat	10	Study Day 28					
				0	Study Day 28					
Hepatocellular Vacuolation	3M, 2000, 3981194	28 Day Oral	Male Cri:Cd Br Rat	0	Study Day 28					
				10	Study Day 28					
			Female Cri:Cd Br Rat	0	Study Day 28					
				10	Study Day 28					
Hematopoietic Cell Foci	3M, 2000, 3981194	28 Day Oral	Male Cri:Cd Br Rat	0	Study Day 28					
				10	Study Day 28					
			Female CritCd Br Rat	0	Study Day 28					
				10	Study Day 28					
Single Cell Necrosis	3M, 2000, 3981194	28 Day Oral	Male Cri:Cd Br Rat	0	Study Day 28					
				10	Study Day 28					
Single cell necrosis	3M, 2000, 3981194	28 Day Oral	Female Cri:Cd Br Rat	0	Study Day 28	-				
			the second second	10	Study Day 28					
Coagulative Necrosis, Focal	3M, 2000, 3981194	28 Day Oral	Male Cri;Cd Br Rat	0	Study Day 28	1 m m				
				10	Study Day 28					
Coagulative Necrosis, focal	3M, 2000, 3981194	28 Day Oral	Female Cri:Cd Br Rat	0	Study Day 28	1				
A STATE OF STATE OF STATE				10	Study Day 28					
Inflammatory Cell Foci	3M, 2000, 3981194	28 Day Oral	Male Cri:Cd Br Rat	Ō	Study Day 28	-	3			24
				10	Study Day 28	2				
			Female CritCd Br Rat	Ū.	Study Day 28					
				10	Study Day 28	-	ń			
						0 2 4 6	8 10 1 in	2 14 16 cidence	18 20 2	2 24

Figure 3-58. Histopathology observations from short-term studies. Figure displays the *high* and *medium* confidence studies included in the analysis. Details on study confidence may be found in Figure 3-57. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Endpoint Name	Study Name	Animal Description	Dose (mg/kg-day)	observation time text	-		
						PFHxS Liver Histopati	hology
lepatocellular. Hypertrophy	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	F0 Male CritCD (SD) Rel	0	Day 44		-	
			0.3	Day 44			Statistically significan
			1	Day 44		-	incidence
			3	Day 44	1		
			10	Day 44	4		
		F0 Female Cri;CD (SD) Rat	0	Day 44			
			10	Day 44			
	Chang, 2018, 4409324	F0 Male Crl:CD1 (ICR) Mouse	0	Day 42			
			0.3	Day 42	0 I	<u>[]</u>	
				Oay 42	-		
			3	Day 42	-		
		F0 Female Cri:CD1 (ICR) Mouse	0	Day 42			
			0.3	Day 42			
			1	Day 42			
			3	Day 42			
yloplasmic Alteration, Ground-Glass	Chang, 2018, 4409324	F0 Male Crt:CD1 (ICR) Mouse	a	Day 42			
			0.3	Day 42			
			1	Day 42	-		
			3	Day 42	-		
		F0 Female CritCD1 (ICR) Mouse	0	Day 42			
			0.3	Day 42	-		
			3	Day 42			
			3	Day 42			
atty Change, Microvesicular	Chang, 2018, 4409324	F0 Male Cri:CD1 (ICR) Mouse	0	Day 42			
			0.3	Day 42			
			1	Day 42			
			3	Oay 42			
		F0 Female Crt:CD1 (ICR) Mouse	0	Day 42			
		and a second second second second	0.3	Day 42			
			1	Day 42			
			3	Day 42			
ocal Nacrosis	Butenhoff 2009, 1405789	F0 Male Cri CD (SD) Rat	0	Day 44			
and the base of	Annound bread 1 and ad	Contraction for the second	03	Day 44			
			1	Day 44			
			4	Day 44			
			iπ	Day 44			
		El Londo Dalo D (20) Pat	0	Day 44			
		Furthing Group (ab) Rai		Day 44	-		
in the second	Chann 2019 4400004	FO Male CricDa (ICD) Magazi	à	Day 44			
nu vars	unang, 2018, 4409324	Formatio Chicker I (ICH) Mouse	0.9	Day 42			
			0.3	Day 42	-		
			-	Day 42			
		The Provide Malanda community	3	Day 42	-		
		FU Female Un;CD1 (ICR) Mouse	0	Day 42			
			0.3	Day 42	-		
			1	Day 42	1		
		approximation of them.	3	Day 42			
ver Steatosis	Marques, 2021, 9960182	SD P0 Female CD 1 Mice	0	21 PND			
			1	21 PND			
		HFD P0 Female CD-1 Mice	0	21 PND			
			4	21 PND	2 4 6	8 10 12 14 1	6 18 20 22 24

Figure 3-59. Histopathology observations from developmental toxicity studies (F0 generation animals). Figure displays the high and medium confidence studies included in the analysis. Details on study confidence may be found in Figure 3-57. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.



Figure 3-60. Histopathology observations from developmental toxicity studies (F1 generation animals). Figure displays the *high* and *medium* confidence studies included in the analysis. Details on study confidence may be found in Figure 3-57. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Serum biomarkers of liver function

- 1 Four *high* confidence studies and two *medium* confidence studies measured serum 2 biomarkers indicative of potential liver toxicity (see Figure 3-61). As in epidemiological studies, 3 serum measures of clinical markers which inform of potential liver damage in experimental studies: 4 ALT and AST are markers of hepatocellular function/injury; circulating ALP, bile salts/acids, and 5 bilirubin are routinely used to evaluate hepatobiliary toxicity (Whalan, 2015; Hall et al., 2012; 6 EMEA, 2008; Boone et al., 2005). Changes in albumin and total protein may be indicative of chronic 7 liver disease, as well as damage to other organs such as kidney, pancreas, thyroid, and G.I. tract 8 (Whalan, 2015). 9 Two multigenerational toxicity studies report that exposure to 3 or 10 mg/kg PFHxS for 24 10 or 44 days statistically increased ALP¹⁵ in F0 generation male CD-1 mice (133%) and SD rats (37%), respectively (Chang et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003) (see Figure 3-62). Albumin was 11 12 also statistically increased (5%) in F0 male SD rats treated with the highest PFHxS dose (10 mg/kg-13 day) (Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003) and bilirubin was decreased by 60% in male F0 CD-1 mice 14 treated with 3 mg/kg-day PFHxS for 42 days (Chang et al., 2018). These two studies also measured 15 ALP, AST, ALT, and serum bilirubin in female F0 rats and mice but reported no significant exposure-
- 16 related effects (<u>Chang et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>). Furthermore, a recent study

¹⁵Increased serum ALP is considered indicative of cholestasis, and osteoclast activity (<u>Whalan, 2015</u>; <u>Yang et al., 2014</u>). It is produced in liver, but also in bone and intestines (<u>Whalan, 2015</u>) and conditions other than liver injury (e.g., bone disease) are associated with increased ALP (<u>Yang et al., 2014</u>). Thus, ALP is not regarded as a unique biomarker for cholestasis (<u>Yang et al., 2014</u>).

using CD-1 mice treated with 0, or 1 mg/kg-day PFHxS also reported no effects on serum ALT in F0
 dams sampled on PND21 or male or female F1 animals sampled on PND5, 21, or 90 (<u>Marques et al.</u>,
 <u>2021</u>).

4 Two short-term studies using SD rats and one chronic exposure study using C57BL/6] mice 5 evaluated serum levels of AST, ALT, ALP, and bile salts/acids after exposure to doses ranging from 6 0.6 to 10 mg/kg-day PFHxS for 28 days (NTP, 2018a; 3M, 2000a). 3M (2000a) reported that ALP 7 was statistically increased by 20% in male SD rats exposed to 10 mg/kg-day, but a similar study by 8 NTP observed no exposure-related effects (NTP, 2018a). Serum levels of ALT or AST were not 9 affected in male or female SD rats in either study (NTP, 2018a; 3M, 2000a). However, a chronic 10 exposure study using male C57BL/6J reported a 42% increase in ALT after exposure to 0.6 mg/kg-11 day for 12 weeks. (NTP, 2018a) also evaluated serum levels of albumin and total protein in male 12 and female SD rats and reported no significant exposure-related effects (NTP, 2018a). Serum 13 globulin levels were statistically decreased by 14% to 15% in male SD rats exposed to 10 mg/kg-14 day PFHxS for 28 days (NTP, 2018a; 3M, 2000a), and bilirubin was significantly decreased by 12% 15 to 21% in male SD rats after 28 days of exposure to PFHxS at doses ranging from 2.5 to 10 mg/kg-16 day (NTP, 2018a). The 3M and NTP studies also evaluated female animals and reported no 17 exposure-related effects. 18 One study using APOE*3-Leiden.CETP male mice, an animal model that better emulates 19 human lipoprotein profiles, evaluated PFHxS-induced changes in hepatic triglyceride, cholesterol 20 esters, and free cholesterol levels. Exposure to 6 mg/kg-day PFHxS for 42 days resulted in a 67% 21 increase in liver triglyceride levels, but free cholesterol levels were not affected (Bijland et al., 22 2011). These observations suggest PFHxS exposure may alter hepatic function in a manner relevant

- to humans and they are supported by mechanistic studies evaluating PFHxS-induced alterations in
- 24 the liver of wild-type and genetically modified animals (see mechanisms section below).



Figure 3-61. PFHxS liver serum biomarkers animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Endpoint Name	Study Name	Animal Description	Duration of exposure	PEHXS Liver/Hepatobiliary Serum Biomarkers	-
nine Aminotransferase (ALT)	NTP, 2018, 4309363	Rat, Sprague-Dawley ($\frac{2}{2}$)	28 Days	No significant change	
	3M, 2000, 3981194	Rat, Crl:Cd Br (♂)	28 Days	Significant increase	
		Rat, Crl:Cd Br ()	28 Days	V Significant decrease	
	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (&)	44 Days	0-0-0	
		P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley $(\hat{\downarrow})$	PND 22	0-0-0	
	Marques, 2021, 9960182	P0 Mouse, CD-1 (♀)	GD1-19		
	He, 2022, 10273379	Mouse, C57BL/6 (♂)	84 days	A	
partate Aminotransferase (AST)	NTP, 2018, 4309363	Rat, Sprague-Dawley (2)	28 Days	0-0-0-0-0	
		Rat, Sprague-Dawley (?)	28 Days		
	3M, 2000, 3981194	Rat, Crl:Cd Br (3)	28 Days		
		Rat, Crl:Cd Br (♀)	28 Days	•	
	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley ()	44 Days	0-0-0-0	
		P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (1)	PND 22		
aline Phosphatase (ALP)	NTP, 2018, 4309363	Rat, Sprague-Dawley (<)	28 Days	0-0-0-0-0	
		Rat, Sprague-Dawley ()	28 Days	0-0-0-0	
	3M, 2000, 3981194	Rat, Crl:Cd Br (3)	28 Days	Δ	
	Constraint and and and a	Rat, Crl:Cd Br (2)	28 Days		
	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (44 Days	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
		P0 Rat. Spraque-Dawley (;)	PND 22		
e Salt/Acids	NTP 2018 4309363	Rat. Spraque-Dawley (*)	28 Davs	0-0-0-0	
	10111 00100 1000000	Rat Spraque-Dawley (C)	28 Days		
rect Bilirubin	NTP 2018 4309363	Rat Sprague-Dawley (2)	28 Days	0-0-0-0	
	1111, 2010, 1000000	Rat Sprague-Dawley (3)	28 Days		-
tal Bilinubin	NTP 2018 4309363	Rat, Sprague-Dawley (2)	28 Days		
		Rat Sprague-Dawley (C)	28 Davs		
	3M 2000 3981194	Rat, Cri:Cd Br (3)	28 Days		
	514, 2000, 000 (104	Rat, Crl-Crl Br (3)	28 Days		
	Butenhoff 2009 1405789	P0 Rat Spraque Dawley (2)	14 Dave		
	Baterinon, 2003, 1403/03	PO Pat, Sprague Dawley (C)	PND 22		
	Chang 2018 4400224	PO Mouse CD 1/2)	12 Dava		
alvesside (TDIC)	Gliand, 2018, 4409524	Meuro Anast2 Leiden Cetr (?)	42 Days		
giycende (TRIG)	Bijiand, 2011, 1578502	Mouse, Appe 3-Leiden.Cerp ()	42 Days		
Jumin	NTP, 2018, 4309363	Rat, oprague-Dawley (5)	20 Days		
	211 2020 2024404	nar, oprague-⊎awley (⊊)	20 Days		
	SIM, 2000, 3981194	Rar, CIPCO Br (1)	20 Days		
in here	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	Pu Rat, Sprague-Dawley (?)	44 Days		
niinde	NTP, 2018, 4309363	Rat, Sprague-Dawley (*)	28 Days		
		Kat, Sprague-Dawley (⊈)	26 Days		
	3M, 2000, 3981194	Rat, CritCd Br (3)	28 Days		
		Rat, Crl:Cd Br (\$)	28 Days	•	
oumin/Giobulin (A/G) Ratio	NTP, 2018, 4309363	Rat, Sprague-Dawley (3)	28 Days		
	2M 2000 200404	Rat, oprague-Dawley (Y)	20 Days		
	3M, 2000, 3981194	Rat, United Br (8)	26 Days		
10.11	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	PU Rat, Sprague-Dawley (44 Days		
al Protein	NTP, 2018, 4309363	Rat, Sprague-Dawley (d)	28 Days	0-0-0-0	
		Rat, Sprague-Dawley (1)	28 Days		-•
er Cholesteryl Esters	Bijland, 2011, 1578502	Mouse, Apoe*3-Leiden.Cetp (3)	42 Days	•	
er Free Cholesterol	Bijland, 2011, 1578502	Mouse, Apoe*3-Leiden.Cetp ()	42 Days	A	
er Triglycerides	Bijland, 2011, 1578502	Mouse, Apoe*3-Leiden.Cetp (?)	42 Days	▲	

Figure 3-62. PFHxS liver/hepatobiliary serum biomarkers. Figure displays the *high* and *medium* confidence studies included in the analysis (see Figure 3-61). For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Mechanistic Evidence and Supplemental Information

- 1 Mechanistic evidence relevant to PFHxS-induced effects was collected from the peer-
- 2 reviewed literature and from in vitro high-throughput screening (HTS) assays from the ToxCast and
- 3 Tox21 databases accessed via EPAs Chemicals Dashboard. The available in vitro and in vivo studies

1 were evaluated based on a proposed mode of action (MOA) for liver injury for PFOS and PFOA, two

- 2 structural analogs of PFHxS and among the most well-studied PFAS (<u>U.S. EPA, 2019c</u>). Further, an
- 3 AOP-based approach was employed to organize and discuss the evidence according to the following
- 4 levels of biological organization: molecular events, cellular effects, organ effects, and organism
- 5 effects. Reponses informative of later two biological levels of organization are presented in the
- 6 preceding hazard sections. Refer to Appendix C for more details on the objective and methodology
- 7 of the mechanistic evaluation undertaken herein, and a description of the proposed MOA for PFAS-
- 8 induced hepatotoxicity (see Appendix C, Section 2). A detailed summary of the HTS data analysis
- 9 can be found in Appendix C, Section 3.

10 Molecular Initiating Events

- 11 The available studies have examined several nuclear receptor and cell signaling pathways
- 12 associated with chemical-induced liver toxicity. Many of the hepatic effects caused by exposure to
- 13 perfluorinated compounds such as PFHxS have been attributed to activation of the peroxisome
- 14 proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPAR α^{16}) (<u>Das et al., 2017; Gleason, 2017; NIDWQI, 2017;</u>
- 15 <u>Rosen et al., 2017</u>; <u>U.S. EPA, 2016a</u>, <u>b</u>). In vivo studies using SD rats or several strains of mice report
- 16 that exposure to PFHxS results in activation of PPAR α and increased expression of PPAR α -
- 17 responsive genes (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>; <u>NTP, 2018a</u>; <u>Das et al., 2017</u>; <u>Rosen et al., 2017</u>; <u>Bijland et al.</u>,
- 18 <u>2011</u>). Two cell culture studies using rat FaO hepatoma cells or primary mouse hepatocytes also
- 19 reported altered expression of PPAR α -responsive genes (<u>Bjork et al., 2021</u>; <u>Rosen et al., 2013</u>).
- $20 \qquad \text{PFHxS also activates the human PPAR} \alpha. \text{PFHxS caused PPAR} \alpha \text{ activation in human hepatoma cell}$
- 21 lines <u>Rosenmai et al. (2018)</u> and in primary human hepatocytes exposure was associated with
- 22 increased expression of PPAR α -responsive genes (<u>Rosen et al., 2013</u>). Overall, these studies suggest
- that PFHxS exposure can activate PPARα in animal in vivo and in vitro studies, and in human liver
- cell culture models.
- 25 Animal studies also provide evidence suggesting that additional nuclear receptor pathways
- 26 may be involved in PFHxS-induced liver effects. Two studies using genetically modified animals
- 27 reported increases in absolute and relative liver weight in both wild-type and PPARαnull animals
- 28 (<u>Das et al., 2017; Rosen et al., 2017</u>). However, one study (<u>Rosen et al., 2017</u>) also reported that
- 29 these effects were reduced in PPAR α -null mice. Gene expression analyses in both wild-type and
- **30** PPARαnull animals report that in addition to PPARα, other hepatocellular receptors that are known
- to play a role in liver function can be affected by PFHxS exposure. These include: PPARα, the
- 32 constitutive androstane receptor (CAR), and the pregnane × receptor (PXR) (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>;
- 33 Rosen et al., 2017; Bijland et al., 2011; 3M, 2010). A 28-day study using SD rats also reported
- 34 increased mRNA levels of CAR/PXR-responsive genes (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>), suggesting these molecular

 $^{^{16}}$ PPAR α is a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily that can be activated endogenously by free fatty acid derivatives. PPAR α plays a role in lipid homeostasis, but it is also associated with cell proliferation, oxidative stress and inflammation (Li et al., 2017a; Mellor et al., 2016; Hall et al., 2012).

1 effects are conserved across rodent models. Furthermore, PFHxS was able to activate nuclear 2 receptors other than PPAR α , in human cells (including PPAR α , RXR, LXR, FOS, and NRF2; see 3 Appendix C). Activation of these hepatic nuclear receptors plays an important role in regulating 4 responses to xenobiotics, energy and nutrient homeostasis, and development of fatty liver disease¹⁷ 5 (Mackowiak et al., 2018; Angrish et al., 2016; Mellor et al., 2016; di Masi et al., 2009). 6 *Cellular Effects* 7 As discussed below, the available studies provide evidence for PFHxS-induced alterations in 8 reactive oxygen species production, cellular stress, and alterations in liver metabolic functions. 9 Excessive production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is considered a mechanism 10 associated with PFAS-induced hepatocellular toxicity (Li et al., 2017a; U.S. EPA, 2016a, b) and fatty 11 liver disease (Wahlang et al., 2019; Joshi-Barve et al., 2015). One in-vivo study using C57BL/6J mice 12 reported increased mRNA levels of genes associated with oxidative stress, after exposure to 0.15 mg/kg-day for 25 weeks (Pfohl et al., 2020). Two cell culture studies using HepG2 human 13 14 hepatocytes present conflicting evidence (<u>Ojo et al., 2021; Wielsøe et al., 2015</u>). While both studies 15 exposed cells for the same duration (24 hours) and similar concentrations (0, 0.02, 0.2, 2, 20, 200 16 μM in (Wielsøe et al., 2015); and 0, 0.2, 2, 20 μM in (Ojo et al., 2021)) only (Wielsøe et al., 2015) 17 observed increased intracellular ROS production and neither study observed exposure-related 18 changes in cellular antioxidant levels. 19 PFHxS-induced alterations in hepatic lipid metabolism were evaluated in three in vivo 20 studies using mice and in one cell culture study using primary rat hepatocytes. In mice PPFhX 21 exposure is associated with increased mRNA levels of genes associated with lipid synthesis, 22 metabolism, and transport (Pfohl et al., 2020), and liver cell lipid content and size (Das et al., 2017). 23 Similar have been reported in genetically modified PPAR α -null mice (Das et al., 2017). However, 24 PPAR α -null animals also had higher (sevenfold) baseline levels of cellular lipids when compared 25 with wild type SV129 control mice (<u>Das et al., 2017</u>). The same study used WY-14643, a PPARα 26 activator, as a positive control and observed no significant effects in hepatic lipid accumulation in 27 WY-14643-exposed PPAR α -null animals, suggesting that PFHxS-induced lipid accumulation in 28 genetically modified animals is mediated mostly (or entirely) via a PPAR α -independent mechanism 29 (Das et al., 2017). Das et al. (2017) also observed that PFHxS exposure did not have an impact on 30 fatty acid beta-oxidation in wild-type and PPAR α -null animals, and a separate in vitro experiment 31 by the same group reported no significant exposure-related effects on rat hepatic mitochondria

¹⁷Fatty liver (steatosis) is a hepatic response to moderate alcohol consumption, xenobiotic exposure, or other factors that may alter metabolic functions (<u>Roth et al., 2019</u>; Joshi-Barve et al., 2015; <u>Wahlang et al., 2013</u>). It is characterized by excessive lipid accumulation in hepatocytes (<u>Angrish et al., 2016</u>) and is considered a reversible response when the stimulus is temporary (<u>Roth et al., 2019</u>). However, steatosis increases susceptibility to other insults and persistent steatosis is considered a precursor to other forms of liver disease (<u>Bessone et al., 2019</u>; <u>Roth et al., 2019</u>). When combined with inflammation (steatohepatitis) fatty liver can progress to fibrosis and cirrhosis (<u>Roth et al., 2019</u>; <u>Wahlang et al., 2013</u>).

1 fatty acid beta-oxidation. Two studies evaluated hepatic triglyceride (TG) content and report that 2 PFHxS exposure led to increased liver TG levels in wild-type and APOE*3-Leiden.CETP mice (Das et 3 al., 2017; Bijland et al., 2011), a genetically modified animal model used to investigate cholesterol 4 metabolism and cardiovascular disease. However, Das et al. (2017) also observed that PPAR α -null 5 animals appeared to be less sensitive to this effect (<u>Das et al., 2017</u>). Gene expression analysis 6 revealed that in both wild-type and PPAR α -null animals PFHxS treatment resulted in altered 7 expression of genes associated with peroxisomal and mitochondrial fatty acid metabolism and 8 increased levels of genes associated with fatty acid and triglyceride transport and synthesis (Das et 9 al., 2017). However, these responses were also attenuated in the PPAR α -null mice (Das et al., 2017). 10 The available studies suggest that PFHxS may alter hepatic lipid metabolism in animal models. 11 Experiments using genetically modified animals suggest that PPAR α activation plays a role in the 12 metabolic responses described above, but other pathways are likely involved. Overall, the metabolic 13 effects reported in the <u>Das et al. (2017)</u> and <u>Bijland et al. (2011)</u> studies are considered to be 14 potential indicators of toxicant-induced alterations in hepatocyte function, which can result in 15 abnormal metabolism and accumulation of fatty acids leading to steatosis (Wahlang et al., 2019; 16 Angrish et al., 2016). Biological understanding suggests that such changes can, in turn, increase 17 lipotoxicity susceptibility to other hepatic insults or independently progress to steatohepatitis 18 (Roth et al., 2019; Mendez-Sanchez et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2014). 19 Cytotoxicity induced by PFHxS exposure was evaluated in two cell culture studies using 20 HepG2 human hepatocytes (Ojo et al., 2021; Ojo et al., 2020). Ojo, 2020, 6333436 reported 21 increased cytotoxicity at an effective dose of 183 µM. (Oio et al., 2021), did not report PFHxS-22 induced changes in cytotoxicity. However, this was a mixture study designed to evaluate the 23 combined effects of PFHxS with other PFAS and (Ojo et al., 2021) selected concentrations below 24 their previously identified effective dose of 183 µM. 25 Conclusions from Mechanistic Evidence 26 Mechanistic evidence from in vivo and in vitro rodent cell models suggests that PFHxS 27 activates several hepatic xenobiotic-sensing nuclear receptors and other cell signaling pathways,

28 namely PPARα, PPARα, CAR, PXR, and LXR. PFHxS exposure was also associated with alterations in 29 hepatic ROS production, cellular stress, and abnormal liver function related to lipid metabolism in 30 animals (including genetically modified mouse models). The molecular and cellular mechanisms 31 induced by PFHxS exposure in these models have been implicated in chemical-induced liver 32 diseases such as steatosis, steatohepatitis, and fibrosis (Angrish et al., 2016; Mellor et al., 2016; 33 <u>Ioshi-Barve et al., 2015; Wahlang et al., 2013</u>), and provide support for the biological plausibility of 34 the observed liver effects (i.e., histopathological responses, biomarkers of altered liver function and 35 lipid accumulation, and organ weight changes) in short-term oral studies on PFHxS. 36 Available mechanistic information in human models is limited to two in vitro studies in the

37 peer-reviewed literature and HTS assays from the ToxCast databases accessed via EPAs Chemicals
1 Dashboard. As described in Appendix C-3, none of the 54 available assays in the ToxCast database 2 using the human hepatoma HepG2 cells were responsive to PFHxS treatment. These HTS assay 3 findings are inconsistent with the observations from the other two in vitro studies Wielsøe et al. 4 (2015) and Rosenmai et al. (2018), which also used HepG2 cells and reported that PFHxS exposure 5 promotes activation of the human PPAR α and increased reactive oxygen species production. 6 Additional studies are needed to resolve these conflicting results. 7 Overall, the mechanistic evidence on pathways known to be associated with liver toxicity 8 (i.e., increased oxidative stress and altered lipid metabolism) provides biological plausibility for the 9 liver effects observed in animal bioassays. The available mechanistic evidence provides some 10 support for a possible role for both PPAR α -dependent and PPAR α -independent mechanisms in the 11 hepatic responses to PFHxS exposure, including hepatocellular hypertrophy, increased cellular lipid 12 content, and increased liver weight observed in animal studies. Limited evidence from in vitro 13 studies suggest that some responses may also be activated in human cellular models, including 14 nuclear receptor and transcription factor pathways that regulate liver functions (i.e., PPAR α/γ , CAR, 15 PXR, RXR, LXR, FOS, NRF2), and outcomes indicative of oxidative stress and altered metabolism. As 16 described above activation of these nuclear receptor and cell signaling pathways is associated with 17 changes in hepatic functions, lipid accumulation, and progression of fatty liver disease. However, 18 inconsistencies between the available peer-reviewed studies using human cell culture models and 19 HTS assays from the ToxCast database suggest that additional experiments are needed.

Considerations for potentially adaptive versus adverse responses

20 Increases in liver weight and hepatocyte hypertrophy were observed in rodents with PFHxS 21 administration in short-term oral studies. Enlargement of the liver and/or individual hepatocytes is 22 a common chemical-induced response that can involve lipid accumulation (e.g., micro- or macro-23 vesicular steatosis), organellar growth and proliferation (e.g., peroxisomes, endoplasmic 24 reticulum), increased intracellular protein levels (e.g., Phase I and II enzymes), and altered 25 regulation of gene expression (e.g., stress response, nuclear receptors) (reviewed by Batt and 26 Ferrari (1995)). Hepatocyte hypertrophy related to organelle growth and proliferation in response 27 to activation of xenobiotic-sensing receptors (primarily PPAR α) is often considered an adaptive 28 response (Hall et al., 2012). Histological and clinical effects considered adverse responses in the 29 liver (e.g., increased hepatic inflammation, and elevated serum markers of hepatocyte damage (Hall 30 et al., 2012)) were reported in the study by (He et al., 2022). However, the study by He et al. (2022) 31 was considered *low confidence* due to issues related with evidence reporting and animal allocation 32 to exposure groups, and the other in vivo studies described above also evaluated hepatocellular necrosis, inflammation and serum markers of liver disease and they report no PFHxS-induced 33 34 changes (see synthesis of histopathology and serum biomarkers of liver function above). In the 35 absence of concordant histopathological evidence of degenerative changes or other changes 36 indicative of adverse responses, the available evidence supports an interpretation that the 37 responses to PFHxS observed in the currently available animal studies are considered adaptive.

Evidence Integration

1 The available **evidence suggests** but is not sufficient to infer that exposure to PFHxS might 2 cause hepatobiliary system effects in humans given sufficient exposure conditions¹⁸. This is due to 3 limitations in the available evidence that introduce significant uncertainty (see Table 3-23). 4 The available evidence on PFHxS-induced hepatic effects in humans is considered *slight*. 5 There is some evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure and hepatic effects in human 6 studies that is based on largely consistent associations with liver biomarkers (primarily small 7 increases in ALT, a specific biomarker of potential liver injury) in the blood in multiple studies of 8 adults. In addition, one study of liver disease found that in children with nonalcoholic fatty liver 9 disease, PFHxS exposure was associated with severe disease. However, there were no additional 10 studies of clinical liver effects available, and so it is not possible to evaluate whether the small 11 changes in liver enzymes observed in the biomarker studies translate into clinical hepatic injury. 12 There is also some unexplained inconsistency across studies and incoherence across liver enzymes 13 other than ALT that further reduces the strength of the evidence. 14 The available evidence on PFHxS-induced hepatic effects in animal toxicity studies is 15 considered *slight*. The evidence from short-term and multigenerational animal studies provides 16 evidence of PFHxS-induced effects on multiple endpoints relevant to the assessment of liver 17 responses to chemical exposure (including organ weight changes, histopathology [hepatocellular 18 hypertrophy], and lipid accumulation). Alterations in serum biomarkers of liver/hepatobiliary 19 function (ALT, ALP, bile salts/acids, and globulin) were observed in SD rats (NTP, 2018a; Butenhoff 20 et al., 2009; 3M, 2003, 2000b), and C57BL/6J and CD-1 mice (Chang et al., 2018). However, as 21 described above, responses such as alterations in ALT, ALP and albumin were not consistently 22 observed in similar short-term (NTP, 2018a; <u>3M, 2000b</u>), sub-chronic and chronic (<u>He et al., 2022</u>; 23 Chang et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009), or multigenerational (Margues et al., 2021; Chang et al., 24 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003) studies, and markers considered indicative of 25 hepatocellular toxicity (ALT and AST) (Hall et al., 2012) were not affected in the available studies 26 (Chang et al., 2018; NTP, 2018a; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003, 2000b). 27 Increased liver weights were reported in SD rats after 28 to 44 days of exposure (NTP, 28 2018a; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003, 2000b) and in APOE*3-Leiden.CETP and CD-1 mice treated 29 with PFHxS for 42 to 44 days (Chang et al., 2018; Bijland et al., 2011). Alterations in histological 30 responses were also observed in the available studies and responses such as hepatocellular 31 hypertrophy were consistently observed after short-term exposure in male rats and mice (NTP, 32 2018a; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2000b) and F1 generation male and female mice (Chang et al., 33 2018). <u>He et al. (2022)</u> observed evidence of increased hepatic inflammation, but as described 34 above several issues were identified with this study which lowers our confidence to *low*, and other 35 outcomes indicative of hepatocellular degeneration (e.g., vacuolization) or injury (e.g., necrosis)

¹⁸ The "sufficient exposure conditions" are more fully evaluated and defined for the identified health effects through dose-response analysis in Section 5.

(<u>Hall et al., 2012</u>) were unaffected in the available short-term and multigenerational studies (<u>Chang</u>
 <u>et al., 2018</u>; <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>). Responses such as single cell necrosis might progress
 to more severe effect after continued exposure (<u>Thoolen et al., 2010</u>), but the available information

- 4 from short-term studies is not sufficient to determine whether the observed histological effects can
- Four short even in studies is not sufficient to determine whether the observed instological encets can
 evolve to clearly adverse hepatic injuries with continued exposure. Exposure to PFHxS also resulted
- 6 in increased hepatocyte lipid accumulation in exposed APOE*3-Leiden.CETP (Bijland et al., 2011),
- 7 as well as wild-type and PPAR α -null, mice (<u>Das et al., 2017</u>) suggesting that PFHxS exposure may
- 7 as well as while type and FFARG-hull, lince (Das et al., 2017) suggesting that FFIRS exposure may
- 8 have the potential to promote fatty liver development, including in the absence of PPAR α . In
- 9 general, the responses observed in animals exhibited a dose-response gradient.
- Analysis of mechanistic data from in vivo and in vitro rodent models provide biological
 plausibility for the apical effects reported in the short-term and multigenerational oral studies
 summarized above. Exposure to PFHxS was associated with the activation of several molecular
- 13 signaling pathways and altered cellular functions thought to be involved in the MOA for liver
- 14 toxicity of well-studied PFAS such as PFOA and PFOS (see synthesis of Mechanistic evidence and
- 15 supplemental information above for more details). Additionally, the evidence for PFHxS-mediated
- 16 liver effects point to potential PPAR α -dependent and -independent pathways, which is consistent
- with the mechanisms of potential hepatotoxicity for related perfluorinated compounds (<u>ATSDR</u>,
- 18 2018b; Li et al., 2017a; U.S. EPA, 2016a, b).
- 19 Potential adverse liver effects caused by exposure to PFHxS and other PFAS have been
- 20 attributed, in part, to activation of PPARα (<u>ATSDR, 2018b</u>; <u>Li et al., 2017a</u>; <u>U.S. EPA, 2016a</u>, <u>b</u>).
- $\label{eq:21} However, in addition to PPAR\alpha, PFHxS exposure appears to promote activation of other nuclear$
- 22 receptor pathways (PPARγ, CAR, PXR, LXR, and transcriptional factors, FOS, and NRF2) and
- 23 responses indicative of oxidative stress and cellular damage were observed in human liver cell
- 24 models (see synthesis of Mechanistic studies and supplemental information above for more
- 25 details). In addition, studies of PFHxS in PPARα-null mice indicate that many of the observed
- 26 responses are unaffected by loss of PPAR α -signaling. Therefore, the available evidence supports the
- 27 interpretation that PPARα-dependent and -independent mechanisms mediate PFHxS-induced
- 28 effects in animals.
- The available mechanistic evidence supports that PFHxS exposure may induce fatty liver
 disease, but subchronic and chronic duration studies are not available to inform whether the
 observed PFHxS-induced effects progress to adverse responses (e.g., steatosis and steatohepatitis)
 in animal models.

	Evidence str	eam summary and in	terpretation		Evidence integration summary judgment
Evidence from studies Studies and confidence Serum Biomarkers 10 medium and 2 low confidence studies	Evidence str of exposed humans (se Factors that increase certainty • Most medium confidence studies reported an effect • Consistency increased ALT in adults • Precision in three studies	eam summary and in ee Hepatic Human Stud Factors that decrease certainty Unexplained inconsistency for biomarkers other than ALT Lack of coherence across biomarkers Unclear biological significance of small changes in ALT	terpretation ies Section) Summary and key findings • Positive associations observed between PFHxS and ALT in multiple studies. • Direction of association with other liver biomarkers varied within and across studies. • 1 study of liver	Evidence stream judgment $\oplus \odot \odot$ <i>Slight</i> Based on largely consistent, but uncertain, increases in ALT in adults	Evidence integration summary judgment ⊕⊙⊙ Evidence suggests, but is not sufficient to infer Based primarily on small increases in ALT in men and women, and consistent, but possibly not adverse, hepatic effects in rodents Human relevance: Limited studies in human in vitro models suggest activation of molecular and cellular responses observed in rodent models are relevant to human toxicity Cross-stream coherence:
			disease reported a positive association (p > 0.05) with severe disease.		Alterations in serum biomarkers of hepatobiliary injury were reported in animals and in a few epidemiological studies, although the observations are uncertain, and the markers affected differed across species. <i>Susceptible populations and</i> <i>lifestages:</i>
Evidence from in vivo	animal studies (see He	patic Animal Studies Se	ction)		lifestages:

Table 3-23. Evidence profile table for oral PFHxS exposure and liver effects

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-219DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

	Evidence str	eam summary and in	terpretation		Evidence integration summary judgment
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	None identified, although those with pre-existing liver disease
Organ Weight 5 high and 3 medium and confidence studies in rats and mice • 28-d (×2) • 42-d • 203-d • Gestational (×4)	 Consistent increases, across studies Dose-response in studies reporting effects Coherence with histopathology in male rats and mice All high or medium confidence studies 	 Unclear biological significance (adversity) of the combined hepatic findings in animals across endpoints 	 Dose-related increases in liver weights reported at doses ranging from 1.25 to 50 mg/kg-d rat and mouse studies, and a gestational exposure study in mice 	 ⊕⊙⊙ Slight Based on consistent, coherent, and dose- dependent increases in organ weight and related histopathology. However, the current evidence is insufficient to support the adversity of the changes. 	could potentially be a greater risk
Histopathology 4 high, 1 medium, and 1 low confidence studies in rats and mice: • 28-d (×2) • 84-d • Gestational (×3)	 Consistent cellular hypertrophy across studies and species Coherence with liver weight effects (especially at high doses) Dose response 	 Unclear biological significance (adversity) of histopathological changes (e.g., no necrosis observed) as well as the combined hepatic findings in animals across endpoints 	 Hepatocellular lesions observed in rats and mice including hepatocellular hypertrophy in mice exposed to ≥0.3 mg/kg-d and rats exposed to 2.5 mg/kg-d. 		

	Evidence str	eam summary and ir	nterpretation		Evidence integration summary judgment
	All high confidence studies				
Serum Biomarkers 4 high confidence studies in rats and mice: • 28-d (×2) • 44-d • 42-d 1 high and 2 medium confidence studies in mice • 42-d • 84-d • Gestational (×1)	• Dose response	 Affected biomarker (ALP) not specific to liver Inconsistent evidence on ALT levels No effects on AST) Unclear biological significance (adversity) of the combined hepatic findings in animals across endpoints 	 Dose-related increases in biomarker (ALP) in male mice and rats exposed to 3 or 10 mg/kg-d respectively Increased serum ALT in 1 mouse study Increased marker of altered function (tissue triglyceride levels) in mice exposed to 6 mg/kg-d 		
Mechanistic evidence Section)	and supplemental info	rmation (see Mechanis	stic Studies and Supplei	mental Information	
Biological events or pathways	Summary of key	findings, interpretation	n, and limitations	Evidence stream judgment	
Molecular initiating events — PPARα	 Key findings and interp Activation of hepa evidence of PPARd 	pretation: itic PPARα in rat and ma α activation in human in	Evidence indicates a role for PPARα- dependent and - independent		

	Evidence stream summary and interpretation		Evidence integration summary judgment
	 In vivo PFHxS exposure increased expression of PPARα- responsive genes in wild-type and hPPARα mice. 	pathways in the MOA for noncancer liver	
	<i>Limitations</i> : No evidence in humanized in vivo models. Inconsistencies in peer-reviewed and ToxCast/Tox21 studies using human hepatoma HepG2 cells.	effects of PFHxS. Limited in vitro studies suggest some responses may be	
Molecular initiating	Key findings and interpretation:	activated in human	
events — PPARg	 Activation of PPARγ in mouse (in vivo) and human (in vitro) models. 	molecular/cellular models.	
	 Increased expression of PPARy-responsive genes in vivo; and induction of PPARy transactivation in human hepatoma HepG2 cells. 		
	<i>Limitations</i> : Few studies and no evidence in humanized in vivo models.		
Molecular initiating	Key findings and interpretation:		
events — CAR/PXR	• Increased expression of CAR/PXR-responsive genes in mice.		
	Limitations: No evidence in humanized in vivo or in vitro models.		
Molecular initiating	Key findings and interpretation:		
events — other pathways	 Limited in vivo evidence supports activation of cell signaling pathways related to altered hepatic metabolism and oxidative/cellular stress responses (RXR, LXR, FOS, and Nrf2). 		
	Limitations: Few studies and no evidence in humanized in vivo or in vitro models.		
Cellular effects	Key findings and interpretation:		
	• Increased hepatic lipid content and altered expression of genes associated with fatty acid and triglyceride metabolism.		
	 Increased ROS production and markers of cellular stress/cytotoxicity in HepG2 cells. 		

Evidence stream summary and interpretation	Evidence integration summary judgment
Limitations: Few in vivo studies examining cellular toxicity, functions, other cell signaling pathways, and no evidence in humanized in vivo models. Inconsistencies in the in vivo and in vitro results likely due to differences in experimental model and/or design features.	

3.2.5. Neurodevelopmental Effects

The available database examining potential nervous system effects of PFHxS exposure was
composed of 17 epidemiological and 2 animal studies. All the studies in the evidence base examined
the effects of PFHxS in children or, in animal studies, exposed animals during early lifestages to
examine potential effects on neurodevelopment manifest in later lifestages (i.e., testing in newborn,
juvenile, or adult rats). Therefore, this section examines and discusses the evidence on PFHxSinduced effects on the developing nervous system. For information on other developmental effects
please see Section 3.2.3.

Human Studies

8 Twenty-two studies (reported in in 31 publications) examined associations between PFHxS 9 exposure (measured in blood) and neurodevelopmental outcomes. Neurodevelopment is typically 10 assessed with a wide array of neurobehavioral or neuropsychological tests, which makes it difficult 11 to draw clear-cut divisions of neuropsychological categories. For example, a longer mean reaction 12 time (a measure of response time after a stimulus is introduced) on a continuous performance test 13 typically indicates inattention but may also be affected by slower information processing or motor 14 response. For the purposes of this review, and due partly to data availability, tests were organized 15 into the following categories: (1) cognition, (2) Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) or 16 related behaviors, (3) social behavior or autism spectrum disorder, and (4) other outcomes. Nine 17 studies evaluated cognition, which comprised several endpoints including IQ, executive function, 18 language development, and intellectual disability. Seven studies evaluated ADHD or related 19 behaviors, which included ADHD diagnosis, inattention, impulsivity, hyperactivity, and 20 externalizing problems. Five studies evaluated social behavior and included autism spectrum 21 disorder (ASD) diagnosis, and two different autism screening scores, although there is overlap with 22 the behaviors assessed with ADHD. Given the heterogeneity in the tools and age ranges used in the 23 studies, it can be difficult to assess consistency within these categories. Other outcomes included 24 motor effects (three studies) and cerebral palsy (one study). 25 There were several considerations specific to the use of neuropsychological tests for 26 assessing children. For outcome ascertainment, tests used in a study should be appropriate for the 27 age range being studied and for the culture and language. Other relevant factors, such as time of day 28 of test administration or computer use, should have been considered, and some description of the 29 testing environment should have been provided. If there were multiple raters, this factor should 30 have been considered (e.g., statistical adjustment for rater, or analysis of interrater reliability). 31 While blinding to exposure is ideal, this information was not commonly reported, and it was 32 considered unlikely that participants or the outcome assessors would have knowledge of PFHxS 33 exposure levels during testing. Therefore, no blinding or lack of reporting on blinding was 34 determined to be unlikely to cause outcome misclassification. Evaluation of confounding was based 35 on the approach used by the study authors to identify potential confounders; confounders that

1 were considered potentially relevant across studies included child age and sex, maternal age, 2 socioeconomic status, quality of caregiving environment, prenatal tobacco exposure, and parental 3 mental health and IQ. It was considered preferable for analyses to use the outcome scales as 4 continuous variables to minimize misclassification into artificial categories and improve statistical 5 power (Sagiv et al., 2015), although this does not apply to clinical diagnosis of conditions such as 6 ASD and ADHD. 7 The majority of available studies were birth cohorts or case-control studies nested in birth 8 cohorts that evaluated maternal exposure to PFHxS during pregnancy (Yao et al., 2022; Dalsager et 9 al., 2021b; Oh et al., 2021; Skogheim et al., 2021; Luo et al., 2020; Spratlen et al., 2020a; Niu et al., 2019; Harris et al., 2018; Liew et al., 2018; Høyer et al., 2017; Jeddy et al., 2017; Oulhote et al., 2016; 10 11 <u>Vuong et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2015</u>). Some of these studies were considered adequate rather than 12 good for exposure measurement due to variations in the timing during gestation of sample 13 collection across participants within each study. While the half-life of PFHxS is long and exposure 14 levels are unlikely to have changed drastically during pregnancy, changes in hemodynamics during 15 pregnancy may influence levels in the blood at different points during pregnancy. In some cohort 16 studies, childhood exposure was measured as well (Harris et al., 2018; Vuong et al., 2018a; Oulhote 17 et al., 2016). There was one case-control study with measurements from banked maternal samples 18 (Lyall et al., 2018) and one case-control study with maternal samples taken concurrently with 19 outcome measurement (Shin et al., 2020). In addition, there were three cross-sectional studies, 20 based on data from NHANES (Hoffman et al., 2010), the C8 Health Project (Stein and Savitz, 2011), 21 and a survey in the United States (Gump et al., 2011). While the exposures measured in these 22 studies with concurrent exposure and outcome measurement may not represent an etiologically 23 relevant period, particularly for capturing any influence of exposure on the genetic component of 24 ADHD, these studies were considered adequate for exposure measurement due to the long half-life 25 of PFHxS and since exposure levels are generally expected to be fairly stable over time. Reverse 26 causation is not a concern for these outcomes because neuropsychological performance is unlikely 27 to influence PFHxS levels. The study evaluations are summarized in Figure 3-63. 28 For data extraction and synthesis, when multiple exposure measures from different time 29 points (ages) were available, cross-sectional results were not extracted unless the results were 30 different from results from the prospective measurement.



Figure 3-63. Summary of study evaluation for epidemiology studies of neurodevelopment. Multiple publications of the same study: HOME study: <u>Vuong</u> et al. (2016) also includes <u>Vuong et al. (2018b</u>), <u>Vuong et al. (2018a</u>), <u>Vuong et al. (2019)</u>, <u>Braun et al. (2014</u>), <u>Zhang et al. (2018a</u>), <u>Vuong et al. (2020)</u>, <u>Vuong et al. (2021a</u>), and <u>Vuong et al. (2021b</u>). Project Viva: <u>Harris et al. (2018</u>) also includes <u>Harris et al. (2021</u>). Four publications with data from the Danish National Birth Cohort were evaluated separately due to significantly different procedures but should not be considered independent: <u>Liew et al. (2014</u>), <u>Liew et al. (2015</u>), <u>Liew</u> et al. (2018), <u>Luo et al. (2020</u>). Two publications with data from the Norwegian Mother Father and Child Cohort were evaluated separately due to significantly different selection procedures but should not be considered independent: <u>Skogheim et al. (2020</u>) and <u>Skogheim et al. (2021</u>) For additional detail see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Cognition

1 Ten studies (13 publications) reported on endpoints related to cognition and PFHxS 2 exposure, including 9 medium confidence studies and 1 low confidence study. The medium 3 confidence studies are presented in Table 3-24. Among the *medium* confidence studies, there was a 4 non-statistically significant inverse association with an exposure-response gradient across 5 quartiles in one study for nonverbal IQ when exposure was measured in mid-childhood (Harris et 6 al., 2018). The same study also reports inverse associations between nonverbal IQ and maternal 7 exposure during pregnancy and between verbal IQ in mid-childhood and both exposure measures, 8 but these are nonmonotonic across the quartiles. Nonmonotonic associations with maternal 9 exposure during pregnancy were also observed for the Full-Scale Intelligence Quotient (FSIQ) at 5 10 vears of age in Liew et al. (2018) and for intellectual disability in Lyall et al. (2018). Other studies 11 reported non-statistically significant inverse associations with in some analyses but positive 12 associations in others (Yao et al., 2022; Skogheim et al., 2020; Niu et al., 2019); Vuong et al. (2019); 13 (Vuong et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2015), with no clear pattern by endpoints, timing of exposure 14 measurement, sex, or any other factor. The remaining *medium* confidence studies did not show decreased cognition with PFHxS exposure. Lastly, the single *low* confidence study (Jeddy et al., 15 16 2017) reported associations in opposite directions for multiple measures of language and 17 communication development, and these varied by maternal age. This could be due to social factors 18 associated with age, but since only one *low* confidence study examined this interaction, it should be 19 interpreted with caution. Overall, while there are some inverse associations between cognitive 20 performance and PFHxS exposure, the nonmonotonicity, general imprecision, and inconsistency 21 across sub-analyses within studies make the findings difficult to interpret. It is possible that there 22 are biological reasons for the inconsistencies, but given the heterogeneity in study designs, the data 23 currently do not provide clear support for associations between PFHxS exposure and cognition in 24 children.

Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) or Related Behaviors

Ten studies (13 publications) reported on associations between PFHxS exposure and ADHD
or behaviors potentially related to ADHD, including nine *medium* confidence studies and one *low*confidence study. The *medium* confidence studies are presented in Tables 3-25 and 3-26. Six of the
ten studies (five of nine *medium* confidence) reported positive associations.

Two *medium* confidence studies examined ADHD diagnosis with PFHxS exposure measured in children cross-sectionally and two studies were cohorts examining maternal exposure. <u>Stein and</u> <u>Savitz (2011)</u> reported statistically significant associations between ADHD diagnosis and diagnosis plus medication in children 5 to 18 years old and exposure-response gradients observed across quartiles. <u>Hoffman et al. (2010)</u> also reported statistically significant positive associations for both outcomes in children 12–15 years of age. <u>Liew et al. (2015)</u> and <u>Skogheim et al. (2021)</u> examined ADHD cases identified from national registries. In <u>Liew et al. (2015)</u>, the registry was limited to

hospital and psychiatric admissions, which likely represent only severe cases. Neither registry 1 2 study observed higher likelihood of ADHD with higher PFHxS exposure. All of the studies of ADHD 3 adjusted for sex but did not examine associations stratified by sex. 4 The remaining seven studies focused on behaviors. While these behaviors are not specific to 5 ADHD, many of them are elevated in individuals with ADHD and are used in its diagnosis. 6 Externalizing problems (consisting of hyperactivity and conduct subscales on the Strengths and 7 Difficulties Questionnaire [SDQ]) were examined in four studies (using the parent version of SDQ). 8 One *medium* confidence study (<u>Høyer et al., 2017</u>) reported a statistically significant positive 9 association for 5- to 9-year-olds with maternal exposure measured during the second trimester of 10 pregnancy modeled as continuous (when exposure was modeled as tertiles, there was an exposure-11 response gradient across exposure groups, but it was not statistically significant). Another *medium* 12 confidence study using the SDQ reported non-statistically significant positive associations for 13 externalizing, internalizing, and total scores (Luo et al., 2020). The other two study using the SDQ, 14 also *medium* confidence, did not report greater problem behaviors with higher exposure (Harris et 15 al., 2021; Oulhote et al., 2016). The SDQ is a validated instrument, but its sensitivity for ADHD has 16 been inconsistent in different populations (Hall et al., 2019; Pritchard, 2012; Ullebo et al., 2011). 17 Looking at other neurobehavioral tests, most had only a single study available. One study 18 examined impulsivity and inattention using a different tool (the Conners Continuous Performance 19 Test-II) and also found a non-statistically significant positive association. for inattention but not 20 impulsivity in 8-year-olds with both maternal exposure and exposure measured in the children 21 (Vuong et al., 2018a). In the same study population using a different tool (the Behavioral 22 Assessment System for Children 2 [BASC-2]), positive associations were reported with 23 externalizing problems, hyperactivity, internalizing problems, and attention (statistically significant 24 for all but the latter) when exposure was measured during gestation, but no associations were 25 observed when exposure was measured in children at 3 years. Another *medium* confidence study 26 found no association with behavior problems (measured using the Child Behavior Checklist) using 27 either maternal or childhood exposure measurement. Finally, a low confidence cross-sectional 28 study examined inter-response time (IRT) at age 9–11 and found statistically significant decreases 29 in IRT, which indicates poor response inhibition (a primary deficit in children with ADHD) as the 30 test is designed to reward longer response times (<u>Gump et al., 2011</u>). 31 Taken together, there is some evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure and 32 ADHD or potentially related behaviors. A positive association was observed in most studies (6 of 33 10) across a variety of populations and diagnostic tests, with an exposure-response gradient in 34 multiple studies. However, there is remaining uncertainty. Associations were inconsistent across 35 medium confidence studies. In addition, the only studies reporting an association with ADHD 36 diagnosis are cross-sectional, which may not represent exposure in an etiologically relevant period, 37 while the prospective study of ADHD diagnosis reported an inverse association, although the bias in 38 the cross-sectional studies would likely be toward the null due to nondifferential misclassification.

- 1 A few studies examined the possibility of an interaction with sex. <u>Vuong et al. (2018a)</u>
- 2 reported better performance (lower errors of omission) in boys with higher PFHxS (β = -4.5, 95%
- 3 CI: -10.0, 1.0), but worse in girls (β = 3.2, 95% CI: -1.1, 7.4). In sex-stratified analyses in <u>Oulhote et</u>
- 4 <u>al. (2016)</u>, most associations were similar in boys and girls, but some had deficits in girls but not
- 5 boys (cross-sectional analyses at 7 years for externalizing problems and related subscales). <u>Høyer</u>
- 6 <u>et al. (2017)</u> reported a lack of interaction with sex (p > 0.1). There is not adequate evidence to fully
- 7 assess differences in the association with ADHD or related behaviors by sex.

Social behavior or autism spectrum disorder

- 8 Nine studies (10 publications), all *medium* confidence, examined social behaviors or ASD
 9 and PFHxS exposure. Five studies examined ASD diagnosis. Two studies (<u>Shin et al., 2020</u>); <u>Liew et al. (2015</u>) reported positive associations. <u>Liew et al. (2015</u>) found a higher risk ratio (RR 1.10, 95%)
- 11 CI: 0.92, 1.33) with PFHxS exposure and <u>Shin et al. (2020)</u> a higher odds ratio (OR 1.36, 95% CI:
- 12 0.96, 1.93). The associations in both studies became statistically significant when adjusting for
- 13 other PFAS. The other three studies ASD diagnosis reported no increase in the odds of ASD
- 14 diagnosis (<u>Oh et al., 2021; Skogheim et al., 2021; Lyall et al., 2018</u>).
- Four *medium* confidence studies (five publications) examined questionnaires for social
 behavior. Braun et al. (2014) used the Social Responsiveness Scale at 4 and 5 years and reported a
- benavior. <u>Braun et al. [2014]</u> used the social Responsiveness scale at 4 and 5 years and reported a
- 17 nonsignificant positive association (more problem behaviors) (β : 0.4, 95% CI: –1.5, 2.3); in the
- 18 same study population, <u>Vuong et al. (2021b)</u> used the BASC-2 questionnaire and found similar
- 19 results with poor social skills. <u>Niu et al. (2019)</u> examined the Ages and Stages questionnaire at 4
- 20 years of age and also reported an elevated risk ratio (p > 0.05) for personal social skills problems
- 21 with higher exposure (RR 1.60, 95% CI: 0.92, 2.80 per ln-unit increase in exposure). However,
- 22 <u>Oulhote et al. (2016)</u> calculated an autism screening score using the peer problems and prosocial
- subscales on the SDQ at 7 years and reported an inverse association (mean difference: -0.1, 95% CI:
- 24 –0.3, 0.1). <u>Yao et al. (2022)</u> reported no association with the Social Development Quotient on the
- 25 Gesell Development Schedules at 1 year. Three of these studies measured PFHxS exposure in
- 26 maternal serum samples collected during pregnancy (most at 16 weeks gestation for <u>Braun et al.</u>
- 27 (2014), at 12–16 weeks gestation for <u>Niu et al. (2019</u>), and at 32 weeks gestation for <u>Oulhote et al.</u>
- 28 (2016)); one study measured exposure in cord blood (<u>Yao et al., 2022</u>), and one study measured
- exposure in childhood at 3 and 8 years (<u>Vuong et al., 2021b</u>).
- Overall, there is some evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure and autism and
 social behaviors, but there is inconsistency across studies and estimates are generally imprecise. It
 is feasible that the inconsistency could be explained by timing of exposure measurement, autism
 measurement tool, or some other factor, but is not possible to determine with the evidence
- 33 measurement tool, or some other factor, but is not possible to determine with tr
- 34 currently available.

Other neurodevelopmental outcomes

1 Four *medium* confidence studies reported on motor-related behaviors and PFHxS exposure. 2 In (<u>Harris et al., 2018</u>), there was a statistically significant decrease in the visual-motor score from 3 the Wide Range Assessment of Visual Motor Abilities (WRAVMA) test in mid-childhood with higher 4 exposures, when measured cross-sectionally (mean difference (95% CI) versus Q1: Q2: -5.1 (-8.9, 5 -1.3); Q3: -5.0 (-9.0, -0.9), Q4: -5.0 (-9.1, -0.8)). When using a maternal exposure measure during 6 pregnancy, the association was nonmonotonic across the quartiles. No association was observed 7 between the WRAVMA total score and early childhood and maternal exposure measures. In Yao et 8 al. (2022), a statistically significant inverse association was reported with the Gross Motor 9 Development Quotient on the Gesell Development Schedules at 1 year. Conversely, in Spratlen et al. (2020a), positive associations (better motor function on Motor Development Index on Bayleys 10 11 Scales of Infant Development) were observed with PFHxS exposure at 1, 2, and 3 years of age 12 (p > 0.05). An association (p > 0.05) with better fine motor skills was also observed in Niu et al. 13 (2019), but no association was observed with gross motor skills using the Ages and Stages 14 Questionnaire. Given the lack of consistency across studies, there is not clear evidence of an 15 association between PFHxS exposure and motor-related behaviors. 16 One *medium* confidence study examined the association of PFHxS exposure measured 17 during the first or second trimester of gestation with rates of cerebral palsy (Liew et al., 2014). 18 Cases of congenital cerebral palsy were identified from a population-based registry. There was a 19 nonstatistically significant positive association with congenital cerebral palsy in boys (RR 1.2, 95% 20 CI: 0.9, 1.7, exposure-response gradient across quartiles). No association was observed in girls (RR 21 1.1, 95% CI: 0.6., 1.9), and when limited to girls born at term, a nonsignificant inverse association 22 was observed (RR 0.7, 95% CI: 0.3, 1.6). Given the lack of additional studies and imprecision in the 23 estimate (i.e., wide confidence intervals), there is not clear evidence of an association between 24 PFHxS exposure and cerebral palsy.

Study name, country, reference(s)	Measured endpoint (test used)	Exposure measurement timing	Estimate type (adverse direction) ^a	Sub- population / N	Group or unit change	Exposure median (IQR) or range (quartiles)	Effect estimate	CI LCL	CI UCL
Danish National	FSIQ at 5 yrs	Maternal	Mean	Boys	Q1	<loq-0.76< td=""><td>Ref</td><td></td><td></td></loq-0.76<>	Ref		
Birth Cohort, Denmark	(WPPSI)	(median 8.7, SD 2.5 wk gestation)	vs. Q1 (↓)	(n = 831)	Q2	0.77–1.07	-4.5*	-8.6	-0.4
Liew et al. (2014)					Q3	1.08–1.38	-2.7	-7.0	1.6
					Q4	> = 1.39	-2.0	-7.0	2.9
			Mean Difference vs. Q1 (↓)	Girls	Q1	<loq-0.76< td=""><td>Ref</td><td></td><td></td></loq-0.76<>	Ref		
				(n = 761)	Q2	0.77–1.07	2.8	-0.8	6.5
					Q3	1.08–1.38	2.6	-1.1	6.2
					Q4	> = 1.39	-0.7	-5.1	3.6
Health Outcomes and Measures of the Home	es FSIQ at 8 yrs 3 yrs (WISC-IV) Maternal (16 ± 3 wks gestation)	3 yrs	Regression Coefficient (↓)	221	Ln-unit increase in exposure	NR	-0.4	-2.5	1.6
Environment (HOME), U.S.		Regression Coefficient (\downarrow)	221	Ln-unit increase in exposure	GM 1.4	0.5	-1.8	2.9	
<u>Vuong et al.</u> (2016) <u>Vuong et al.</u> (2019)	Global executive function score at 5/8 yrs (BRIEF)	Maternal (16 ± 3 wks gestation)	Mean Difference (↑)	219	Ln-unit increase in exposure	1.5 (0.9–2.4)	1.36	-0.41	3.12

Table 3-24. Summary of results for *medium* confidence epidemiology studies of PFHxS exposure and cognitive effects

Study name, country, reference(s)	Measured endpoint (test used)	Exposure measurement timing	Estimate type (adverse direction) ^a	Sub- population / N	Group or unit change	Exposure median (IQR) or range (quartiles)	Effect estimate	CI LCL	CI UCL
<u>Vuong et al.</u> (2020)	Reading composite scores at 8 yrs	Maternal	Regression Coefficient (↓)	161	Log10-unit increase in exposure	1.7	4.5	-3.1	12.0
Project Viva,	Word	Maternal	Mean	948	Q1	<0.1–1.6	Ref		
0.5. <u>Harris et al. (2018)</u>	early	gestation)	vs. Q1 (↓)		Q2	1.7–2.4	0.7	-1.6	2.9
Harris et al. (2021)	childhood ^b (PPVT)				Q3	2.5–3.7	0.1	-2.1	2.4
					Q4	3.8–43.2	0.4	-1.9	2.7
	Verbal IQ	Maternal	Mean	851	Q1	<0.1–1.6	Ref		
childhood ^b	childhood ^b	gestation)	vs. Q1 (↓)		Q2	1.7–2.4	-2.8*	-5.1	-0.5
	(КВІТ)				Q3	2.5–3.7	-1.2	-3.6	1.2
					Q4	3.8–43.2	0.3	-2.2	2.8
		Mid-childhood	Mean	Mean 631 Differences. Q1 (\downarrow)	Q1	<0.1–1.1	Ref		
		(6–10 yrs)	vs. Q1 (↓)		Q2	1.2–1.9	-0.8	-3.6	2.1
					Q3	2.0–3.4	-0.2	-3.3	2.8
					Q4	3.5–56.8	-1.7	-4.8	1.5
	Nonverbal IQ	Maternal	Mean	862	Q1	<0.1–1.6	Ref		
	mid- (5–21 wks childhood ^b gestation) (KBIT)	(5–21 WKS gestation)	vs. Q1 (↓)		Q2	1.7–2.4	-3.9*	-6.9	-0.5
					Q3	2.5–3.7	-1.6	-4.7	1.5
					Q4	3.8–43.2	-1.0	-4.2	2.2
				640	Q1	<0.1-1.1	Ref		

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-232DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Study name, country, reference(s)	Measured endpoint (test used)	Exposure measurement timing	Estimate type (adverse direction) ^a	Sub- population / N	Group or unit change	Exposure median (IQR) or range (quartiles)	Effect estimate	CI LCL	CI UCL
			Moon		Q2	<0.1-1.1	-0.9	-4.4	2.7
		Mid-childhood (6–10 yrs)	Difference		Q3	1.2–1.9	-2.3	-6.1	1.5
			vs. Q1 (↓)		Q4	2.0–3.4	-2.7	-6.6	1.2
	Global	Maternal (5–21 wks gestation)	Mean	921	Q1	<0.1–1.6	Ref		
	function		Difference vs Q1 (个)		Q2	1.7–2.4	-0.3	-1.9	1.3
	score at 6-10 yrs (BRIEF)				Q3	2.5–3.7	0.2	-1.4	1.9
					Q4	3.8–43	-1.1	-2.8	0.6
Taiwan maternal and infant cohort study, Taiwan <u>Wang et al. (2015)</u>	FSIQ at 5 yrs (WPPSI)	Maternal (3 rd trimester)	Regression Coefficient (↓)	120	Doubling of exposure	0.7 (0.07–1.09)	0.4	-1.1	1.9
	FSIQ at 8 yrs (WISC)		Regression Coefficient (↓)	120	Doubling of exposure	0.7 (0.07–1.07)	-0.2	-1.8	1.4
WTC cohort, U.S. <u>Spratlen et al.</u>	MDI at 1 yr (BSID)	Cord blood/ maternal (1 d post-delivery)	Regression Coefficient (↓)	302	Log-unit increase	GM 0.7 (range <loq–15.8)< td=""><td>0.20</td><td>-2.06</td><td>2.45</td></loq–15.8)<>	0.20	-2.06	2.45
<u>(2020a)</u>				Girls 150			0.03	-2.71	2.77
				Boys 152			0.45	-2.69	3.59
N	MDI at 3 yr			302			3.30	0.70	5.90
	(R2ID)			Girls 150			2.39	-1.0	5.78
				Boys 152			4.62	-5.08	14.3

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-233DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Study name, country, reference(s)	Measured endpoint (test used)	Exposure measurement timing	Estimate type (adverse direction) ^a	Sub- population / N	Group or unit change	Exposure median (IQR) or range (quartiles)	Effect estimate	CI LCL	CI UCL
	FSIQ at 4 yr			302			0.04	-2.78	2.86
	(WPPSI)			Girls 150			0.35	-3.20	3.90
				Boys 152			-0.41	-4.84	4.02
	FSIQ at 6 yr			302			-0.34	-3.71	3.03
	(WPPSI)			Girls 150			0.57	-3.13	4.27
				Boys 152			-1.64	-8.07	4.79
Norwegian Mother, Father and Child cohort,	Verbal working memory at 42	Maternal (17 wk gestation)	Regression coefficient (↓)	768	Q2	0.7 (0.5–0.9)	0.03	-0.20	0.26
Norway mo	mo (CDI)				Q3		0.10	-0.13	0.33
<u>Skogheim et al.</u> (2020)					Q4		0.20	-0.03	0.44
<u></u>					Q5		0.21	-0.03	0.45
	Nonverbal			934	Q2		-0.18	-0.38	0.03
	memory at 42				Q3		-0.05	-0.26	0.16
	mo (CDI)				Q4		-0.23	-0.44	-0.02
					Q5		-0.18	-0.40	0.04
Shanghai-Minhang	Communicati	Maternal (12–	Risk ratio	533	Ln-unit	2.8 (2.1–0.5)	1.10	0.78	1.54
conort, china	(ASQ-3)	gestation)	problems	Girls 236	exposure		1.46	0.79	2.70
<u>Niu et al. (2019)</u>			(个)	Boys 297			0.90	0.60	1.35
				533			0.85	0.54	1.36

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-234DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Study name, country, reference(s)	Measured endpoint (test used)	Exposure measurement timing	Estimate type (adverse direction) ^a	Sub- population / N	Group or unit change	Exposure median (IQR) or range (quartiles)	Effect estimate	CI LCL	CI UCL
	Problem			Girls 236			1.06	0.40	2.78
	yrs (ASQ-3)			Boys 297			0.75	0.43	1.32
Early Markers for Autism (EMA), U.S.	Intellectual disability at 4–9 yrs	Maternal (15– 19 wks gestation)	Odds Ratio (OR) (个)	622	Ln-unit increase in exposure	GM 1.33	1.11	0.86	1.42
Lyall et al. (2018)	(clinical Lyall et al. (2018) diagnosis)		Odds Ratio (OR) vs. Q1 (个)	160	Q1	<0.8	1.0		
				171	Q2	0.8-<1.3	1.43	0.86	2.40
				133	Q3	1.3-<2.0	1.03	0.58	1.85
				157	Q4	> = 2.0	1.30	0.74	2.29
Laizhou Wan Birth	Adaptive	Cord serum	Regression	274	Log10-unit	0.3 (range 0.1-	-1.40	-6.17	3.37
Cohort, China	Development Quotient at 1		(\downarrow)	Girls 135	exposure	1.1)	-2.02	-9.27	5.23
<u>Yao et al. (2022)</u>	yr			Boys 139			-1.22	-7.62	5.18
	Language			274			3.00	-1.67	7.67
Developmen Quotient at	Development Quotient at 1			Girls 135			2.05	-4.82	8.93
	yr			Boys 139			4.02	-2.39	10.42

**p* < 0.05.

^aThe arrows indicate the direction the effect estimate will be if there is an association between PFHxS and reduced cognitive performance. For some tests, a higher score means better performance, while for other tests, a higher score means more problems.

^bEarly childhood median age 3.2 years, range 2.8–6.3; Mid-childhood median age 7.7 years, range 6.6–10.9.

FSIQ: Full-Scale Intelligence Quotient; WPPSI: Wechsler Primary and Preschool Scales of Intelligence, WISC: Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, BRIEF: Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function, PPVT: Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test, KBIT: Kaufman Brief Intelligence Test, BSID: Bayley Scales of Infant Development, MDI: mental development index.

Study name	Measured endpoint	Exposure measure- ment timing	Estimate type (adverse direction) ^a	Subpopulation/ N	Group or unit change	Exposure median (IQR) or range (quartiles)	Effect Estimate	CI LCL	CI UCL
C8 Health	ADHD	Cross-	Odds Ratio	1,0546	Q1	0.25-<2.9 ng/mL	1.0		
U.S.	18 yrs (clinical)	sectional	(OR) VS. QI (个)		Q2	2.9–<5.2	1.27*	1.06	1.52
(Stein and					Q3	5.2-<10.1	1.43*	1.21	1.70
Savitz, 2011)					Q4	10.1–276.4	1.53*	1.29	1.83
	ADHD	Cross-	Odds Ratio	1,0546	Q1	0.25-<2.9 ng/mL	1.0		
	medication at	sectional	(OR) VS. QI (个)		Q2	2.9–<5.2	1.44*	1.09	1.90
	5–18 yrs (clinical)			Q3	5.2-<10.1	1.55*	1.19	2.04	
					Q4	10.1–276.4	1.59*	1.21	2.08
NHANES (1999–2000,	ADHD at 12– 15 yrs (clinical)	Cross- sectional	Odds Ratio (OR) (个)	571	One unit increase in exposure	2.2 (2.9)	1.06*	1.02	1.11
2003–2004), U.S. <u>Hoffman et al.</u> (2010)	ADHD+ medication at 12–15 yrs (clinical)					2.2 (2.9)	1.07*	1.03	1.11
Danish	ADHD	Maternal	Risk ratio (个)	770	In-unit increase	Controls 0.9 (0.7–1.2)	0.97	0.88	1.08
Cohort,	(national	(1st trimester)			Q1	<loq-0.68< td=""><td>1.0</td><td></td><td></td></loq-0.68<>	1.0		
Denmark	registry)	stry)			Q2	0.69–0.92	1.05	0.88	1.26
Liew et al.					Q3	0.93-1.23	0.94	0.78	1.14
120121					Q4	>1.23	0.67*	0.54	0.83

Table 3-25. Summary of results for *medium* confidence epidemiology studies of PFHxS exposure and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-236DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Study name	Measured endpoint	Exposure measure- ment timing	Estimate type (adverse direction) ^a	Subpopulation/ N	Group or unit change	Exposure median (IQR) or range (quartiles)	Effect Estimate	CI LCL	CI UCL
Norwegian	ADHD	Maternal	Odds ratio	1801	Q1	0.1-0.5	1.0		
Child Cohort,	diagnosis (national	trimester,	(1)		Q2	0.5-0.6	1.08	0.82	1.42
Norway Skogheim et al.	registry)	18 wks gestation)			Q3	0.6-0.9	1.12	0.85	1.49
<u>(2021)</u>		0,			Q4	0.9-15	0.89	0.66	1.19

**p* < 0.05.

^aThe arrows indicate the direction the effect estimate will be if there is an association between PFHxS and reduced behavior. For all the tests included here, higher scores indicate more ADHD diagnosis.

	Measured	Exposure measure- ment	Estimate type (adverse	Subpopulation/	Group or unit	Exposure median (IQR) or range	Effect		
Study name	endpoint	timing	direction) ^a	N	change	(quartiles)	Estimate	CI LCL	CI UCL
Faroe Island	Externalizing	5 yrs	Mean	508	Per doubling of	0.6 (0.5–0.9)	0	-0.36	0.37
cohort, Denmark	yrs (SDQ)	Maternal (32-wk gestation)	Difference (个)	539	exposure	4.5 (2.2–8.4)	-0.19	-0.48	0.11
(2016)	Internalizing	5 yrs	Mean	508	Per doubling of	0.6 (0.5–0.9)	-0.1	-0.43	0.22
(2010)	problems at 7 yrs (SDQ)	Maternal (32-wk gestation)	Difference (个)	539	exposure	4.5 (2.2–8.4)	-0.1	-0.36	0.17
	Total SDQ	5 yrs	Mean	508	Per doubling of exposure	0.6 (0.5–0.9)	-0.1	-0.66	0.46
	score at 7 yrs	Maternal (32-wk gestation)	Difference (个)	539		4.5 (2.2–8.4)	-0.28	-0.75	0.18
INUENDO (Bio persistent	Hyperactivity score at 5–9 yrs	Maternal (median 2nd	Regression Coefficient	1,023	In-unit increase in exposure	1.5 (10th–90th 0.7–3.4)	0.20*	0.00	0.40
organochlorines	(SDQ)	trimester)	ester) (个)		Low exposure	0.2–1.2	Ref		
human fertility),					Medium exposure	1.2–2.0	0.15	-0.30	0.60
Greenland,					High exposure	2.0–18.8	0.41	-0.03	0.86
Ukraine, Poland	Total SDQ score at 5–9 yrs	Maternal (median 2nd	Regression Coefficient	1,023	In-unit increase in exposure	1.5 (10th–90th 0.7–3.4)	0.45	-0.03	0.92
(2017)		trimester)	(个)		Low exposure	0.2–1.2	Ref		
					Medium exposure	1.2–2.0	0.68	-0.04	1.38
					High exposure	2.0–18.8	0.80*	0.06	1.54
Project Viva,	Externalizing	Maternal (5-	Mean	921	Q1	<0.1-1.6	Ref		
U.S. Harris et al	problems at 6- 10 yrs (SDO)	21 wks	Difference vs O1 (个)		Q2	1.7-2.4	0.0	-0.5	0.5
<u>(2021)</u>	1.0 (02 00)	8-0000000	~~ () /		Q3	2.5-3.7	0.6	0.0	1.1
					Q4	3.8-43	0.0	-0.5	0.6

Table 3-26. Summary of results for medium confidence epidemiology studies of PFHxS exposure and behavior

Study name	Measured endpoint	Exposure measure- ment timing	Estimate type (adverse direction) ^a	Subpopulation/ N	Group or unit change	Exposure median (IQR) or range (quartiles)	Effect Estimate	CI LCL	CI UCL	
	Internalizing				Q1	<0.1-1.6	Ref			
	problems at 6–				Q2	1.7-2.4	0.2	-0.3	0.6	
	10 413 (30 Q)				Q3	2.5-3.7	-0.1	-0.5	0.4	
					Q4	3.8-43	0.2	-0.3	0.7	
	Total SDQ				Q1	<0.1-1.6	Ref			
	score at 6–10 vrs				Q2	1.7-2.4	0.2	-0.6	1.0	
	,				Q3	2.5-3.7	0.5	-0.3	1.4	
					Q4	3.8-43	0.2	-0.7	1.1	
Danish National Birth Cohort,	Externalizing problems at 7 yrs	Maternal (1st trimester)	OR (个) (odds of elevated score)	2421	Per doubling of exposure	0.9 (0.7-1.3)	1.11	0.86	1.43	
Denmark Luo et al.	Internalizing problems at 7 yrs						1.18	0.88	1.58	
<u>(2020)</u>	Total SDQ score at 7 yrs						1.15	0.94	1.42	
Odense Child Cohort,	Behavior problems (CBC)	Maternal (8– 16 wks	Incidence rate ratio (个)	1138	Doubling of exposure	0.4	0.98	0.93	1.03	
Denmark (<mark>Dalsager et</mark>	at 2–5 yrs	gestation)	gestation) O ('	estation) Odds ratio (个)				0.95	0.79	1.16
<u>al., 2021b</u>)		18 mo	Incidence rate ratio (个)	817		0.3	0.95	0.88	1.04	
			Odds ratio (个)				1.04	0.79	1.37	
Health	Impulsivity –	3 yrs	Regression	204	In-unit increase in	1.9 (1.0–3.3)	-0.6	-2.1	1.0	
Outcomes and Measures of the Home	8 yrs (CPT)	Maternal (16 ± 3 wk- gestation)	(个)		exposure	1.3 (0.8–2.3)	-0.5	-1.9	0.9	
		3 yrs				1.9 (1.0–3.3)	0.6	-2.3	3.5	

Study name	Measured endpoint	Exposure measure- ment timing	Estimate type (adverse direction) ^a	Subpopulation/	Group or unit change	Exposure median (IQR) or range (quartiles)	Effect Estimate	CI LCL	CI UCL
Environment (HOME) U.S.	Inattention – Omissions at 8 yrs (CPT)	Maternal (16 ± 3 wk- gestation)				1.3 (0.8–2.3)	2.5	-0.9	6.0
<u>Vuong et al.</u> (<u>2018a)</u> <u>Vuong et al.</u> (2021a)	Externalizing problems (BASC-2) at 5 and 8 yrs	Maternal (16 ± 3 wk- gestation)	Odds ratio (个)	241	In-unit increase in exposure	1.5	1.9*	1.1	3.2
Vuong et al. (2021b)	Hyperactivity (BASC-2)						2.5*	1.5	4.3
1	Attention (BASC-2)						1.2	0.8	1.9
	Internalizing problems (BASC-2)						2.0*	1.1	3.4
	Externalizing problems (BASC-2) at 8 yrs	3 yrs	Regression Coefficient (个)	208	Ln-unit increase in exposure	1.9	0.02	-1.6	1.6
	Hyperactivity (BASC-2)						-0.3	-1.9	1.2
	Attention (BASC-2)						-0.1	-1.6	1.4
	Conduct problems (BASC-2)						0.4	-1.3	2.1

**p* < 0.05.

SDQ: Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, CPT: Conners continuous performance test, CBC: Child Behavior Checklist, BASC-2: Behavioral Assessment System for Children 2.

^aThe arrows indicate the direction the effect estimate will be if there is an association between PFHxS and reduced behavior. For all the tests included here, higher scores indicate more difficulties/behavior problems.

Animal Studies

- 1 There were three animal studies evaluating neurodevelopmental outcomes and PFHxS
- 2 exposure: two *medium* confidence studies (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2020</u>; <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>) and one *low*
- 3 confidence study (<u>Viberg et al., 2013</u>) (see Figure 3-64). <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009</u>) exposed male and
- 4 female Crl:CD Sprague Dawley rats to 0.3, 1, 3, or 10 mg/kg-day daily via oral gavage starting at 14
- 5 days prior to cohabitation (F_0). F_1 pups were not exposed directly but were exposed in utero and
- 6 through lactation. The study authors then assessed 5 pups per sex per litter from 10 dams using the
- 7 functional observation battery (FOB)¹⁹ and an automated motor activity assessment tool at PND22.
- 8 In the second *medium* confidence study, <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u> exposed Wistar dams to 0, 0.05, 5, or
- 9 25 mg/k bw-day PFHxS via gavage starting at gestational day 7 (GD7) through postnatal day 22 (PD
- 10 22). After weaning, one male and one female pup from each litter subsequently underwent
- behavioral assessment of motor activity levels²⁰ at each of three ages: PD 27, PD 115, and PD 340.
- 12 Additionally, <u>Viberg et al. (2013)</u> evaluated spontaneous locomotor behavior by exposing male and
- 13 female NMRI mouse pups at postnatal day 10 (PND10) to a single oral dose of PFHxS at 0.61, 6.1, or
- 14 9.2 mg/kg-bw PFHxS. Spontaneous locomotor behavior was then evaluated at 2– and 4–months
- 15 post-exposure, and nicotine-induced behavior was evaluated at 4 months.

¹⁹FOB evaluations consisted of assessment of (1) autonomic functions: lacrimation, salivation, palpebral closure, prominence of the eye, pupillary reaction to light, piloerection, respiration, and urination and defecation; (2) reactivity and sensitivity: sensorimotor responses to visual, auditory, tactile and painful stimuli; (3) excitability reactions to handling and behavior in the open field; (4) gait and sensorimotor coordination: gait pattern in the open field, severity of gait abnormalities, air righting reaction and landing foot splay; forelimb and hindlimb grip strength; and (5) abnormal clinical signs including convulsions, tremors and other unusual behavior, hypotonia or hypertonia, emaciation, dehydration, unkempt appearance and deposits around the eyes, nose or mouth. (Butenhoff et al., 2009)

²⁰Measured in activity boxes with photocells recording horizontal activity for 30 minutes. Rearing behavior (vertical activity) was not measured by <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u>



Figure 3-64. Confidence scores of neurodevelopmental system effects from repeated PFHxS dose animal toxicity studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Functional observation battery (FOB)

- 1 One study (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>) reported on PFHxS effects on FOB assessment on F1
- 2 pups. The authors reported no statistically significant differences between control animals and
- **3** PFHxS treated animals on the assessments of FOB parameters.

Learning and memory

- 4 One study (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2020</u>) reported on PFHxS effects on radial arm maze assessments
- 5 in Wistar male and female rat offspring exposed to PFHxS in utero and through lactation.
- 6 Assessments were performed at postnatal day (PD) 115 and PD 340. The authors reported that no
- 7 statistically significant differences between control animals versus PFHxS treated animals.

Motor-related behaviors

- 8 <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u>, <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u> and <u>Viberg et al. (2013)</u> evaluated and
- 9 reported on locomotor activity (including anxiety-related behaviors) in response to PFHxS
- 10 exposure. The two *medium* confidence studies, <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> and <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u>,
- 11 reported no statistically significant differences in motor activity in either sex with in-utero and

- 1 lactational PFHxS dosing of dams from 0.05 to 25 mg/kg-day. One *low* confidence study, <u>Viberg et</u>
- 2 <u>al. (2013)</u> reported decreases in ambulatory (horizontal) activity and rearing behaviors in male and
- 3 female NMRI pups at 2 and 4 months following a single oral dose of PFHxS at 0.61, 6.1, or 9.2 mg/kg
- 4 bw PFHxS at postnatal day 10 (PND10) during the habituation (first 20 minutes) and end (minutes
- 5 40–60) periods of observation at 2 and 4 months after a single exposure to 9.2 mg/kg-day PFHxS on
- 6 PND9; however, the authors did not account for the potential impact of litter effects In their
- 7 experimental design, and they allocated pups to dosing groups from 3–4 litters in an unclear
- 8 fashion, reducing confidence in these findings. Taken together, the potential effects of PFHxS
- 9 exposure on motor-related behaviors in rodents remain unknown.

Mechanistic evidence and supplemental information

- **10** Seven mechanistic studies were identified relating to the potential for PFHxS to elicit
- 11 neurodevelopmental effects. Two of these studies were performed in vivo and five were performed
- using in vitro models. Of the two in vivo studies, one was a follow-up to the <u>Viberg et al. (2013)</u>
- 13 study described above. Using the same study design as <u>Viberg et al. (2013)</u>, and thus possessing the
- 14 same methodological limitations, <u>Lee and Viberg (2013)</u> examined changes in proteins²¹ involved in
- 15 a variety of neuronal functions in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus in NMRI male and female
- 16 mice at both 24 hours and 4 months following a single dose of PFHxS on PND9 at either 6.2 mg/kg
- 17 bw or 9.2 mg/kg bw. While the authors observed significant changes in protein levels at 24 hours in
- 18 PFHxS-exposed animals the majority of these changes had resolved at the 4-month timepoint. At 4
- 19 months the only significant change was an increase in Tau protein expression (p < 0.01) in the
- 20 cerebral cortex of male mice at the 6.1 mg/kg bw dose.
- 21 PFHxS was also shown to produce a significant repression of long-term potentiation (LTP)
- 22 (p < 0.05), which is associated with learning and memory formation processes, in adult Sprague
- 23 Dawley rats exposed via intracerebroventricular injection at the CA1 region of the hippocampus
- both 10 and 100 μM PFHxS (<u>Zhang et al., 2016a</u>). However, the authors noted no remarkable
- 25 changes in field excitatory postsynaptic potential (fEPSP) amplitude (decreased LTP would be
- 26 expected to represent weaker synaptic strength and reduced fEPSP) between control and PFHxS
- 27 treated groups (<u>Zhang et al., 2016a</u>). In addition, this study was performed in adult rats therefore
- 28 making it difficult to determine how relevant the effects observed by <u>Zhang et al. (2016a)</u> are to
- 29 human neurodevelopment.

²¹**BNDF**: brain derived neurotrophic factor; protein involved in canonical nerve growth (<u>Huang and</u> <u>Reichardt, 2001</u>); **CaMKII**: Ca²⁺/calmodulin dependent protein kinase II; a serine-threonine-specific protein kinase that is regulated by Ca²/calmodulin. Involved in a variety of neuronal processes including learning and memory (<u>Yamauchi, 2005</u>). **GAP43**: Growth Associated Protein 43; Protein expressed at high levels in neural growth cones during development and axonal regeneration (<u>Rosskothen-Kuhl and Illing, 2014</u>) **Synaptophysin:** protein present in the neuroendocrine cells involved in synaptic transmission (<u>Mcmahon et</u> al., 1996); **Tau:** Tau proteins are a group of 6 highly soluble protein isoforms that are produced by alternative splicing. Tau proteins play a role in the stability of microtubules in axons and are present in abundance in CNS neurons (<u>Barbier et al., 2019</u>).

- 1 Evidence from animals prenatally exposed to other per and polyfluoroalkyl substances
- 2 (PFAS) such as PFOA and PFOS, suggest that PFAS may affect neurodevelopment (<u>Kawabata et al.</u>,
- 3 2017; <u>Shrestha et al., 2017; Salgado et al., 2016;</u> <u>Zhang et al., 2016</u>; <u>Fuentes et al., 2007; Lau et al.,</u>
- 4 <u>2003</u>). PFAS-related effects relevant to neurodevelopment include decreased choline
- 5 acetyltransferase activity in the prefrontal cortex of exposed rats postnatally (Lau et al., 2003),
- 6 delayed neuromotor maturation (e.g., decreased resistance to backward pull-on postnatal day
- 7 [PND] 10 and 11) (<u>Fuentes et al., 2007</u>).

Evidence Integration

- 8 Taken together, the available human studies were interpreted to provide *slight* evidence.
- 9 Specifically, five *medium* confidence epidemiological studies that reported some evidence of
- 10 positive associations between PFHxS exposure and ADHD or behaviors potentially related to ADHD
- 11 at median blood concentrations in the study populations of 1–5 ng/mL. In addition, several
- 12 epidemiology studies examined whether PFHxS exposure has the potential to affect the following
- 13 neurodevelopmental outcomes: cognition, social behavior and autism, and other outcomes such as
- 14 motor-related behaviors and cerebral palsy. However, associations with these neurodevelopmental
- 15 outcomes were inconsistent across studies and generally imprecise, and thus did not contribute to
- 16 the overall judgment for potential neurodevelopmental effects.
- Th animal evidence base consisted of three studies examining PFHxS effect on FOB and
 motor function, and a single study on PFHxS effects on learning and memory. PFHxS-related effects
 in these studies were null or of *low* confidence. Additional animal studies potentially relevant to
- 20 interpreting the outcomes examined in the epidemiology studies of PFHxS were unavailable. Thus,
- 21 the overall animal evidence was considered *indeterminate* (see Table 3-27).
- 22 The endocrine and nervous systems work in harmony during early development. To this 23 end, evidence from the endocrine evidence base was also examined to see if any of the studies in 24 the endocrine database could help inform PFHxS neurotoxicity. While no studies evaluated both 25 endocrine and neurological outcomes as part of their study designs, the prior judgment that PFHxS 26 exposure is likely to result in decreased levels of serum thyroxine (T4)—particularly the evidence 27 after developmental PFHxS exposure (for more details please see Section 3.2.1), is of potential 28 relevance. In rats, decreased serum T4 is correlated with adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes 29 (Crofton, 2004), and, in humans, a link between prenatal maternal T4 and decreased cognitive 30 function in children has been observed (Finken et al., 2013; Henrichs et al., 2013; Li et al., 2010; 31 Haddow et al., 1999; Man et al., 1971). The lack of neurological outcome measurements in the 32 available endocrine studies examining PFHxS-related toxicity highlights an important data gap.
- The available evidence suggests but is not sufficient to infer whether exposure to PFHxS
 might cause neurodevelopmental effects in humans given sufficient exposure conditions²² (see

²² The "sufficient exposure conditions" are more fully evaluated and defined for the identified health effects through dose-response analysis in Section 5.

- 1 Table 3-27). This conclusion is based on *slight* epidemiological evidence primarily from four
- 2 *medium* confidence epidemiological studies that reported some evidence of positive associations
- 3 between PFHxS exposure and ADHD or behaviors potentially related to ADHD at median blood
- 4 concentrations in the study populations of 1–5 ng/mL.

Table 3-27. Evidence profile table for PFHxS neurotoxicological effects

	Evidence integration summary judgment								
Evidence from studies of exposed humans (see Nervous System Human Studies Section)									
Studies and confidence	Studies and confidence Factors that increase certainty		Summary of key findings	Evidence stream judgment	⊕⊙⊙				
 ADHD or related behaviors 9 <i>medium</i>, 1 <i>low</i> confidence studies 	 Exposure-response gradients in multiple studies Mostly <i>medium</i> confidence studies, with positive associations in 5 of 9 	 Unexplained inconsistency Unclear biological relevance of etiologic window in cross-sectional studies reporting associations 	5 medium and 1 low confidence studies reported positive associations between PFHxS exposure and ADHD or behavior consistent with ADHD.	 ⊕⊙⊙ Slight Based on some evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure or ADHD and related behaviors, although uncertainty remains. Other outcomes did not contribute to this judgment. 	Evidence suggests, but is not sufficient to infer Primary basis: Based on human evidence for decreased ADHD and related behaviors at median blood concentrations of 0.9–5 ng/mL Human relevance: Evidence comes from epidemiological studies (see Nervous System Human Studies Section) Cross-stream coherence: NA: animal evidence is indeterminate Susceptible populations: In utero or childhood exposure.				
Cognition 9 medium and 1 low confidence studies 	 No factors noted 	 Unexplained inconsistency, including by timing of exposure measurement. 	Inverse associations between cognition and PFHxS exposure were observed in multiple studies, but there were inconsistencies across studies and in sub-analyses within studies.						

	Evidence integration summary judgment						
Social behavior or ASD 9 medium confidence studies Other neurodevelopmental	No factors noted	 Unexplained inconsistency Imprecision 	Of 5 studies of ASD, 2 reported higher likelihood of diagnosis. Other studies of social behavior were similarly inconsistent. 2 <i>medium</i> confidence studies				
effects 5 medium confidence studies 	No factors noted.	 Unexplained inconsistency for motor-related behaviors Imprecision for cerebral palsy 	reported a decrease in motor scores with higher PFHxS exposure, while improved motor function was observed in two <i>medium</i> confidence studies. A <i>medium</i> confidence study reported a non- statistically significant positive association with cerebral palsy in boys.				
Evidence from In vivo Anima	Evidence from In vivo Animal Studies (see Nervous System Animal Studies Section) Evidence stream judgme						
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase strength	Factors that decrease strength	Summary of key findings				
 Behavioral 2 medium 1 low confidence studies 	No factors noted	 Low confidence study is only one to observe an effect 	2 <i>medium</i> confidence studies reported no effects on FOB parameters, motor activity, or learning and memory. The <i>low</i> confidence study observed decreases in spontaneous behaviors.	⊙⊙⊙ Indeterminate			

3.2.6. Cardiometabolic Effects

Cardiometabolic risk refers to the likelihood of developing diabetes, heart disease, or
 stroke. Contributors to this risk include a combination of metabolic dysfunctions mainly

3 characterized by insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, hypertension, and adiposity (obesity).

Human Studies

Serum lipids

High cholesterol, specifically low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, is one of the major
controllable risk factors for cardiovascular disease, including coronary heart disease, myocardial
infarction, and stroke. Cholesterol levels are typically measured in the blood. Thirty-eight studies
evaluated the relationship between PFHxS exposure and blood lipids (i.e., cholesterol, LDL

8 cholesterol, and triglycerides).

9 Multiple outcome-specific considerations for study evaluation influenced the ratings. First, 10 for outcome ascertainment, collection of blood during a fasting state is preferred for all blood lipid 11 measures (NIH, 2020; Nigam, 2011) but lack of fasting was considered deficient for triglycerides 12 and LDL cholesterol (which is typically calculated using triglycerides). This is because triglyceride levels remain elevated for several hours after a meal (Nigam, 2011), which is likely to result in 13 14 substantial outcome misclassification if there is not standardization across study participants. Self-15 reported high cholesterol was also considered deficient for outcome ascertainment due to the high 16 likelihood of misclassifying cases as controls (<u>Natarajan et al., 2002</u>). Both of these issues are likely 17 to result in nondifferential outcome misclassification and to generally bias results toward the null.

18 It is also important for studies to account for factors that meaningfully influence serum lipids, most

19 notably use of cholesterol lowering medications and pregnancy. Studies that did not consider these

20 factors by exclusion, stratification, or adjustment were considered deficient for the participant

21 selection domain. All of the available studies analyzed serum lipids and PFHxS in serum or plasma

22 using standard, appropriate methods. As described in the Endocrine Effects section, reverse

23 causation was considered based on binding of lipophilic chemicals (such as PFAS) to serum lipids

24 (Chevrier, 2013), but this is unlikely to significantly bias the results because PFAS, including PFHxS,

do not preferentially bind to serum lipids (<u>Forsthuber et al., 2020</u>), so exposure measurements in

26 blood, including cross-sectional, were considered adequate for this outcome.

A summary of the study evaluations is presented in Figure 3-65, and additional details can
be obtained from HAWC. Five studies were excluded from further analysis as *uninformative* due to

29 critical deficiencies confounding in four studies (Seo et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2018; Rotander et al.,

30 <u>2015b; Tao et al., 2008</u>) and selection bias in two studies (<u>Sinisalu et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2018</u>).

31 Twenty-four studies were classified as *medium* confidence for at least one serum lipid measure

32 (<u>Cakmak et al., 2022; Dunder et al., 2022; Averina et al., 2021; Blomberg et al., 2021; Canova et al.,</u>

33 2021; Dalla Zuanna et al., 2021; Gardener et al., 2021; Li et al., 2021a; Tian et al., 2021; Canova et al.,

34 <u>2020; Jensen et al., 2020a; Liu et al., 2020a; Spratlen et al., 2020b; Yang et al., 2020b; Dong et al.,</u>

- 1 <u>2019; Lin et al., 2019; Jain and Ducatman, 2018; Kang et al., 2018; Mora et al., 2018; Manzano-</u>
- 2 Salgado et al., 2017b; Matilla-Santander et al., 2017; Zeng et al., 2015; Starling et al., 2014b),
- 3 although 11 of these were *low* confidence for triglycerides (and LDL cholesterol when calculated
- 4 from triglycerides), as described above (<u>Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017b</u>; <u>Matilla-Santander et al.</u>,
- 5 <u>2017; Zeng et al., 2015; Starling et al., 2014b</u>). Nine studies were classified as *low* confidence for all
- 6 serum lipid endpoints (<u>Batzella et al., 2022</u>; <u>Varshavsky et al., 2021</u>; <u>Khalil et al., 2020</u>; <u>Li et al.,</u>
- 7 <u>2020b; Chen et al., 2019a; Khalil et al., 2018; Koshy et al., 2017; Christensen et al., 2016</u>).



Figure 3-65. Study evaluation results for epidemiology studies of PFHxS and blood lipids. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u>. Multiple publications of the same study: <u>Canova et al. (2020)</u> also includes <u>Zare Jeddi et al. (2021)</u>; <u>Cakmak et al. (2022)</u> also includes <u>Fisher et al. (2013)</u>.

The results for the association between PFHxS exposure and blood lipids are presented in 1 2 Table 3-28. It is difficult to directly compare the magnitudes of effect across studies due to the 3 different analyses and data transformations (e.g., log transformations of PFHxS levels and/or lipid 4 levels), so the synthesis is focused primarily on direction of association. 5 In adults, all six *medium* confidence studies (reported in eight publications) examining total 6 cholesterol reported positive associations between total cholesterol and PFHxS exposure (Cakmak 7 et al., 2022; Dunder et al., 2022; Canova et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020a; Dong et al., 2019; Lin et al., 8 2019), with statistical significance in four (Cakmak et al., 2022; Dunder et al., 2022; Canova et al., 9 2020; Lin et al., 2019). In the four studies that additionally examined exposure modeled as 10 quartiles, three reported a monotonic exposure-response gradient (Canova et al., 2020; Liu et al., 11 2020a; Fisher et al., 2013), while one reported the strongest association in the third quartile (Lin et 12 al., 2019). While the direction of association was mostly consistent across studies, in the NHANES 13 data reported in <u>Dong et al. (2019)</u>, the direction of association was not consistent across NHANES 14 study cycles. The association was inverse (not statistically significant) in 2003–2004 and 2005– 15 2006, but positive (not statistically significant) in 2007–2008, 2011–2012, and 2013–2014, despite 16 similar exposure levels across cycles. Further, in the two studies with prospective exposure 17 measurement, only one found a positive association (Dunder et al., 2022), while the other found an 18 association in cross-sectional but not prospective analyses (Lin et al., 2019). This raises the 19 possibility that the observed associations across mostly cross-sectional studies could be due to 20 reverse causality. 21 Two low confidence studies (Li et al., 2020b; Chen et al., 2019a) in general population adults 22 also observed positive associations with total cholesterol, with the latter being statistically 23 significant, while a third *low* confidence study (Lin et al., 2020c) found no association in older 24 residents (55–75 years). The populations in both Lin et al. (2020c) and Li et al. (2020b) were living 25 in high contamination areas (in Taiwan and Sweden, respectively). In addition, two studies 26 examined occupational populations with PFAS exposure. These studies were *low* confidence due to 27 concerns for potential selection bias and residual confounding. Batzella et al. (2022), examining 28 PFAS production workers in Italy, and <u>Khalil et al. (2020)</u> examining firefighters in the U.S., both 29 reported positive, but not statistically significant associations between PFHxS and total cholesterol. 30 In pregnant women, two studies (Yang et al., 2020b; Starling et al., 2014b) out of five (see 31 Table 3-28) reported higher total cholesterol with higher PFHxS exposure, with statistical 32 significance in Yang et al. (2020b) and an exposure-response gradient across quartiles in Starling et 33 al. (2014b). In a low confidence study of high cholesterol (Christensen et al., 2016), no association 34 was observed (OR 1.01, 95% CI: 0.91, 1.13), but the study is expected to be biased toward the null 35 due to nondifferential outcome misclassification. 36 Three of the *medium* confidence studies additionally reported analyses of dichotomous 37 hypercholesterolemia (Canova et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2019; Fisher et al., 2013). Cutoffs for high

38 cholesterol differed across studies: in <u>Fisher et al. (2013)</u> the cutoff for total cholesterol was 5.2
1 mmol/L; in Canova et al. (2020), the cutoff was 190 mg/mL, and in Lin et al. (2019), the outcome 2 was initiation of cholesterol lowering medication, or total cholesterol of 240 mg/mL/LDL cutoff of 3 160 ng/mL). Significantly higher odds of high cholesterol (OR of 1.4–1.6 in the highest quartiles) 4 were reported in both Fisher et al. (2013) and Canova et al. (2020), with a monotonic exposure-5 response gradient across quartiles. In Lin et al. (2019), higher odds (not statistically significant) 6 were observed in an analysis of high cholesterol at baseline, but not when risk of high cholesterol 7 was analyzed prospectively. 8 Results for LDL cholesterol and triglycerides in adults were less consistent than total 9 cholesterol in the *medium* confidence studies, with most studies showing similar results across the 10 different outcome markers, but a few reporting inverse associations for LDL and/or triglycerides 11 (Cakmak et al., 2022; Dalla Zuanna et al., 2021; Matilla-Santander et al., 2017). 12 In adolescents and children, there was very limited evidence of an association, with 4 of 12 13 *medium* confidence studies reporting higher total cholesterol with higher PFHxS exposure (Canova 14 et al., 2021; Kang et al., 2018; Mora et al., 2018; Zeng et al., 2015), and only one reporting 15 statistically significance, but without an exposure-response gradient across quartiles (Canova et al., 16 2021). The other *medium* confidence studies reported no association (Averina et al., 2021; 17 Blomberg et al., 2021; Papadopoulou et al., 2021; Jensen et al., 2020a; Jain and Ducatman, 2018; 18 Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017b). For triglycerides, 4 of 12 studies reported positive associations 19 (Blomberg et al., 2021; Spratlen et al., 2020b; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017b; Zeng et al., 2015). Of 20 note, both Spratlen et al. (2020b) and (Blomberg et al., 2021) reported statistically significant 21 positive associations in neonates, though the third study in neonates found no association (Tian et 22 al., 2020). Looking at the two studies of low confidence in adolescents (Koshy et al., 2017) and 23 children (Khalil et al., 2018), both reported higher total cholesterol with higher exposure, with the 24 difference being statistically significant in <u>Koshy et al. (2017</u>), but both had serious limitations. 25 Overall, there is some evidence that higher PFHxS exposure is associated with higher total 26 cholesterol levels in adults, with less consistent evidence for parallel changes in triglycerides. The 27 majority of studies in adults, including pregnant women, support this association, though there are 28 remaining uncertainties, including less consistent evidence for LDL cholesterol and triglycerides. 29 Additionally, a possible explanation for the observed associations is the presence of residual 30 confounding. It is plausible that an association between PFAS exposure and consumption of high 31 cholesterol foods, as suggested in some studies (Susmann et al., 2019; Schaider et al., 2017), could 32 induce a positive association with serum lipids; however, the currently available evidence does not 33 allow for evaluation of this possibility as most studies that adjusted for dietary habits were in 34 children, where the evidence was less consistent. In addition, there is potential for confounding 35 across the PFAS. In the studies with stronger association, there were similar associations with other 36 PFAS, including PFOS, PFOA, and PFNA, and PFHxS is moderately positively correlated with them. 37 With the available evidence, it is not possible to rule this out, but the association with cholesterol 38 was still present in a study with weak correlations (~ 0.3) between PFHxS and PFOS and PFOA

- 1 (<u>Cakmak et al., 2022</u>). Given the overall consistency across studies and the observation of exposure-
- 2 response gradients across quartiles in multiple studies, there is reasonable support for a positive
- 3 association with this outcome.

Table 3-28. Associations between PFHxS exposure and blood lipids in *medium* confidence epidemiology studies

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified (ng/mL)	Effect estimate	Total cholesterol ^a	LDLª	Triglycerides ^a			
General population, adults									
<u>Dong et al.</u> (2019)	NHANES cross- sectional (2003– 2014 pooled), U.S.; 8,950 adults	1.6	β (95% CI) for 1 unit increase	0.98 (-0.89, 2.85)	0.72 (–1.63, 3.06)	NR			
<u>Fisher et al.</u> (2013)	Canadian Health Measures Survey	2.2 (1.2–3.6)	β (95% CI) for 1 log-unit increase	0.03 (0.01,0.05)*	0.06 (0.01,0.11)*	0.02 (-0.02,0.06)			
<u>Cakmak et al.</u> (2022)	(2007–2009) cross-sectional, Canada; 2,345 adults		OR (95% CI) for high cholesterol vs. Q1	Q2: 1.05 (0.69,1.61) Q3: 1.43 (0.85,1.4) Q4: 1.57 (0.93, 2.64) <i>p</i> -trend: 0.001*	NR	NR			
	(2007–2017); 6,045 participants	1.5 (GM)	% change for increase equivalent to GM	2.8 (1.1, 4.5)*	-3.8 (-9, 1.7)	-1.4 (-5.0, 2.3)			
<u>Lin et al. (2019)</u>	Participants from randomized trial of diabetes prevention, U.S.; 888 overweight and pre-diabetic adults	rticipants 2.3 (1.4–3.8) m ndomized trial diabetes evention, U.S.; 8 overweight d pre-diabetic ults	Mean diff (95% CI) for twofold increase	2.24 (0.15, 4.33)*	1.32 (-0.59, 3.22)	3.91 (–1.77, 9.59)			
			quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: 3.87 (-2.89, 10.63) Q3: 9.28 (2.38, 16.19)* Q4: 7.43 (0.53, 14.33)*	Q2: 1.22 (-4.94, 7.38) Q3: 6.22 (-0.06, 12.52) Q4: 3.88 (-2.39, 10.17)	Q2: 9.64 (-8.75, 28.03) Q3: 16.43 (-2.34, 35.22) Q4: 11.23 (-7.52, 29.99)			
			Cross- sectional OR (95% CI) for high lipids	1.08 (0.94, 1.25)	NR	1.03 (0.90, 1.18)			
			Prospective HR (95%) for high lipids	Total: 1.00 0.92 (1.09) Placebo: 1.02 (0.89, 1.17) Lifestyle: 1.02 (0.90, 1.15)	NR	Total: 1.14 (1.00, 1.28)* Placebo: 1.23 (1.03, 1.47)* Lifestyle: 1.19 (0.98, 1.44)			

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified (ng/mL)	Effect estimate	Total cholesterol ^a	LDLª	Triglycerides ^a
<u>Liu et al.</u> (2020a)	Cross-sectional analysis from randomized clinical trial of weight loss; 326 overweight adults	2.4 (1.6–3.6)	Means ± SE for tertiles	T1: 181.6 ± 7.8 T2: 189.3 ± 7.6 T3: 192.5 ± 7.8 <i>p</i> -trend = 0.15	NR	T1: 119.4 ± 11.2 T2: 133.6 ± 11.0 T3: 130.8 ± 11.2 <i>p</i> -trend = 0.37
<u>Dunder et al.</u> (2022)	Cohort study (2001–2004), Sweden; 864 older adults (70 yrs at baseline)	3.1 (2.0–5.8)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase (for lipids over 10 years)	0.08 (0.01, 0.15)*	0.04 (-0.01, 0.10)	0.04 (0.01, 0.07)*
<u>Canova et al.</u> (2020)	Cross-sectional study in highly contaminated area (2017– 2019), Italy; 15,720 young adults (20-39 yrs)	3.6 (1.6–7.8)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	2.02 (1.45, 2.58)* (exposure-response gradient across quartiles)	1.31 (0.81, 1.8)*	0.02 (0.01, 0.02)* ^b
			OR (95% Cl) vs Q1 for abnormal lipids	Q2: 1.18 (1.06, 1.30)* Q3: 1.19 (1.07, 1.32)* Q4: 1.41 (1.25, 1.58)*	Q2: 1.21 (1.08, 1.35)* Q3: 1.15 (1.02, 1.29)* Q4: 1.37 (1.20, 1.55)*	Q2: 1.11 (0.93, 1.32) Q3: 1.17 (0.98, 1.40) Q4: 1.22 (1.02, 1.46)* ^b
	•	•	Pregnant wo	men		
<u>Yang et al.</u> (2020b)	Pregnancy cohort (2013– 2014), China, 436 women	0.3 (0.2–0.5)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	0.18 (0.05, 0.32)*	0.09 (0.001, 0.19)*	0.07 (-0.1, 0.24) ^b
<u>Gardener et al.</u> (2021)	Pregnancy cohort (2009), U.S., 433 women	0.5 (0.3-0.9)	Means ± Cl for quartiles	No clear association (reported only on figure)	NR	No clear association (reported only on figure)
<u>Starling et al.</u> (2014b)	Norwegian Mother and Child cross- sectional analysis (2003– 2004), Norway; 891 women	0.6 (0.4–0.9)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	3.00 (-1.75,7.76)	1.92 (-2.50, 6.33) ^b	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03) ^b
			quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: 0.65 (-6.87,8.17) Q3: 1.62 (-6.08,9.32) Q4: 4.25 (-3.88,12.39)	Q2: 0.44 (-6.19, 7.08) Q3: 0.50 (-6.15, 7.16) Q4: 1.48 (-5.89, 8.85) ^b	Q2: -0.04 (-0.11, 0.02) Q3: -0.02 (-0.10, 0.05) Q4: -0.02 (-0.09, 0.05) ^b
<u>Matilla-</u> <u>Santander et al.</u> (2017)	INMA cross- sectional analysis (2003– 2008), Spain; 1,240 women	0.6 (0.4–0.8)	% change (95% CI) for log-unit increase	-0.09 (-8.25, 1.45)	NR	-4.90 (-9.16, -0.72)* ^b
			quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: 1.21 (-1.05, 3.45) Q3: 0.60 (-1.69, 2.94) Q4: 0.70 (-1.86, 3.38)	NR	Q2: -7.69 (-14.3, -1.00)

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified (ng/mL)	Effect estimate	Total cholesterol ^a	LDLª	Triglycerides ^a
						Q3: -3.92 (-10.9, 3.05) Q4: -7.69 (-13.9, 1.40) ^b
<u>Dalla Zuanna et</u> al. (2021)	Cross-sectional study in highly contaminated area (2017– 2020), Italy; 319 women	2.1 (1.1–4.1)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	-4.91 (-10.06, 0.24)	-8.17 (-12.54, - 3.81)*	NR
		A	dolescents and	children		
Blomberg et al. (2021) (additional results with different timing of exposure and	Birth cohort (2007–2009), Faroe Islands, 459 children (followed to 9 yrs)	0.2 (0.1-0.2)	β (95% CI) for doubling PFAS and lipids at birth	Overall 0.03 (-0.04, 0.09) Girls 0.05 (-0.03, 0.14) Boys 003 (-0.1, 0.09)	Overall 0.01 (-0.03, 0.05) Girls 0.019 (-0.03, 0.07) Boys -0.01 (-0.06, 0.05)	Overall 11 (5.9, 17)* ^b Girls 13 (5.5, 21)* Boys 9.7 (1.9, 18)*
outcome measurement are available in the publication)			PFAS at birth and lipids at 18 mo	Overall -0.04 (-0.18, 0.1) Girls -0.03 (-0.22, 0.17) Boys -0.05 (-0.24, 0.15)	Overall -0.05 (-0.15, 0.06) Girls -0.05 (-0.2, 0.1) Boys -0.04 (-0.19, 0.12)	Overall 3.5 (-3.9, 11) Girls 7.9 (-2.5, 19) Boys -0.87 (-11, 9.9)
			PFAS and lipids at 9 yrs	Overall -0.02 (-0.14, 0.1) Girls -0.05 (-0.21, 0.1) Boys 0.02 (-0.15, 0.19)	Overall -0.06 (-0.14, 0.03) Girls -0.06 (-0.18, 0.06) Boys -0.05 (-0.18, 0.08)	Overall -1.8 (-8.3, 5.2) Girls 2.6 (-6.3, 12) Boys -6.8 (-16, 3)
<u>Jensen et al.</u> (2020a)	Birth cohort (2010–2012), Denmark; 612 children (followed to 18 mo)	0.3 (5 th -95 th : 0.1–0.7)	β (95% CI) for 1 unit increase	3 mo -0.08 (-0.33, 0.17) Girls -0.11 (-0.37, 0.16) Boys 0.13 (-0.58, 0.85) 18 mo -0.06 (-0.32, 0.21) Girls -0.05 (-0.32, 0.21) Boys -0.10 (-1.41, 1.21)	3 mo 0.01 (-0.24, 0.26) Girls 0.05 (-0.22, 0.32) Boys -0.28 (-1.01, 0.44) 18 mo -0.06 (-0.35, 0.22) Girls -0.08 (-0.37, 0.21) Boys 0.37 (-1.02, 1.76) b	3 mo 0.18 (-0.07, 0.44) Girls 0.21 (-0.06, 0.48) Boys -0.02 (-0.75, 0.71) 18 mo -0.24 (-0.51, 0.04) Girls -0.22 (-0.50, 0.06) Boys -0.62 (-1.95, 0.70) b
<u>Papadopoulou</u> et al. (2021)	Six birth cohorts, Europe, 1,301 children (6–11 yrs)	prenatal 0.5 (0.3–0.9) Children	β (95% CI) for doubling exposure	NR	0.03 (-0.03, 0.09) b 0.02 (-0.06, 0.10)	0.02 (-0.05, 0.08) b 0.00 (-0.08, 0.08)

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified (ng/mL)	Effect estimate	Total cholesterol ^a	LDLª	Triglycerides ^a
<u>Manzano-</u> <u>Salgado et al.</u> (2017b)-	INMA cohort (2003–2008), Spain; 627 children (4 yrs)	prenatal 0.6 (0.4–0.8) (GM (IQR))	β (95% CI) for doubling exposure and cholesterol z- score	0.02 (-0.09,0.12) Boys: -0.02 (-0.17,0.13) Girls: 0.04 (-0.12,0.20)	-0.01 (-0.12, 0.09) ^b Boys: -0.04 (-0.18, 0.10) Girls: 0.00 (-0.15, 0.15)	0.11 (-0.01, 0.21) ^b Boys: 0.16 (0.03, 0.30)* Girls: 0.07 (-0.08, 0.22)
<u>Spratlen et al.</u> (2020b)	WTC cohort (2001–2002), U.S.; 222	cord blood 0.7 (0.5–1.0)	% difference for 1% increase	0.03 (-0.02, 0.08)	NR	0.13 (-0.04, 0.23)
	newborns		Mean ratio vs. Q1	Q2: 1.03 (0.94, 1.12) Q3: 1.06 (0.98, 1.16) Q4: 1.07 (0.98, 1.16) <i>p</i> -trend 0.5	NR	Q2: 1.08 (92, 1.28) Q3: 1.22 (1.04, 1.45) Q4: 1.26 (1.07, 1.49) <i>p</i> -trend 0.002
<u>Kang et al.</u> (2018)	Korea Environmental Health Survey in Children and Adolescents cross-sectional analysis (2012– 2014), Korea, 150 children (3– 18 yrs)	0.8 (0.6–1.0)	β (95% Cl) for In-unit increase	0.99 (-9.53, 11.50)	-4.22 (-13.98, 5.53)	0.08 (-0.09, 0.25)
<u>Averina et al.</u> (2021)	Cross-sectional study (2010– 2011), Norway, 940 adolescents (~16 yrs)	Girls 0.8, Boys 1.0 (GMs)	β (95% CI) for log-unit increase	"No association" (data not shown)	"No association" (data not shown)	"No association" (data not shown)
<u>Jain and</u> Ducatman (2018)	NHANES cross- sectional (2013– 2014), U.S.; 458 children (6–11 yrs)	0.9	Means (95% CI)	Q1: 154 (149–159) Q2: 159 (155–163) Q3: 153 (145–161) Q4: 158 (153–164) p = 0.4	NR	NR
<u>Zeng et al.</u> (2015)	Genetic and Biomarkers study for Childhood Asthma cross- sectional analysis (2009– 2010), Taiwan; 225 adolescents (12–15 yrs)	1.2 (range 0.2– 10.3) (boys)	β (95% Cl) for 1 unit increase	1.10 (-0.71,2.92)	0.99 (-0.41, 2.39) ^b	1.80 (-0.67, 4.27) ^b
<u>Li et al. (2021a)</u>	HOME cohort (2003–2006);	prenatal 1.3 (0.8– 2.3)	Difference for IQR increase	NR	NR	0.1 (0.0, 0.2)

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified (ng/mL)	Effect estimate	Total cholesterol ^a	LDLª	Triglycerides ^a
	U.S.; 186 adolescents (12 yrs)	birth 0.6 (0.4–1.0)		NR	NR	0.1 (-0.1, 0.3)
<u>Mora et al.</u> (2018)	Project Viva cohort (1999– 2002), U.S.; 682 children (7–8 yrs)	prenatal 2.4 (1.6–3.8)	β (95% CI) for IQR increase	0.5 (-1.1,2.2) similar for boys and girls	0.5 (-0.9,1.9) similar for boys and girls	-0.6 (-2.0,0.8) Boys: 0.6 (-1.9,3.1) Girls: -1.1 (-3.1,0.1)
		child 1.9 (1.2–3.4)		-0.3 (-1.0,0.5) Boys: -0.5 (-1.5,0.4) Girls: 0.2 (-1.0,1.3)	-0.2 (-0.9,0.4) Boys: -0.5 (-1.4,0.3) Girls: 0.3 (-0.6,1.3)	-0.4 (-1.0,0.3) similar for boys and girls
<u>Tian et al.</u> (2021)	Birth cohort (2012), China; 306 newborns	prenatal 2.7 (2.0–3.5)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	0.05 (-0.07, 0.16)	0.03 (-0.11, 0.18)	0.02 (-0.11, 0.15)
<u>Canova et al.</u> (2021)	Cross-sectional study in highly contaminated area (2017– 2019), Italy; 6,669 adolescents (14–19 yrs) and 2,693 children (8–11 yrs)	ross-sectional tudy in highly ontaminated rea (2017– 019), Italy; ,669 dolescents 14–19 yrs) and ,693 children 3–11 yrs)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	1.49 (0.60, 2.37)	1.44 (0.68, 2.19)	0.01 (-0.01, 0.02) b
			β (95% Cl) vs Q1	Q2: 1.96 (0.20, 3.73)* Q3: 1.72 (-0.10, 3.54) Q4: 3.80 (1.83, 5.77)*	Q2: 2.03 (0.52, 3.55)* Q3: 1.60 (0.05, 3.16)* Q4: 3.65 (1.97, 5.33)	Q2: 0.01 (-0.02, 0.04) Q3: 0.00 (-0.03, 0.03) Q4: 0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)
		children 1.9 (1.2–2.8)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	1.30 (-0.28, 2.88)	0.54 (-0.87, 1.96)	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.01)
			β (95% CI) vs Q1	Q2: 0.46 (-0.73, 1.65) Q3: 1.68 (0.44, 2.91)* Q4: 1.32 (0.07, 2.56)*	Q2: -1.70 (-4.19, 0.8) Q3: -1.22 (-3.81, 1.38) Q4: 0.76 (-1.86, 3.39)	Q2: 0 (-0.04, 0.04) Q3: 0 (-0.04, 0.04) Q4: -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02)

**p* < 0.05.

NR: not reported.

^aUnits and transformations of outcome variables varied across studies. ^bLow confidence endpoint within *medium* confidence study.

Other risk factors for cardiovascular disease

- 1 Twenty-seven studies report on the association between PFHxS exposure and other risk
- 2 factors for cardiovascular disease, including blood pressure in the general population (18 studies),
- 3 blood pressure and hypertensive disorders during pregnancy (6 studies), atherosclerosis (2
- 4 studies), abdominal aortic calcification (1 study), and ventricular geometry (1 study). The study
- 5 evaluations for these outcomes are summarized in Figure 3-66. One study was considered high

1 confidence, 18 were medium confidence, and 7 were low confidence. One study (Yang et al., 2018) 2 evaluating blood pressure was excluded from further analysis (uninformative) due to critical 3 deficiencies in participant selection and confounding. 4 Considering blood pressure in the general population, the majority of studies reported no 5 association between PFHxS exposure and higher blood pressure. A few positive associations with 6 hypertension or higher blood pressure were observed in studies of adolescents and young adults 7 (see Table 3-29). Statistically significant associations were reported in a cross-sectional study of 8 16-year-olds in Norway (Averina et al., 2021) and a cohort with follow-up to 12 years of age in the 9 U.S. (Li et al., 2021a), though the association was not monotonic across quartiles in Averina et al. 10 (2021). In a region of Italy with high PFAS contamination, a positive association was observed in 11 young adults aged 20–39 years (Pitter et al., 2020) but not adolescents aged 14–19 years (Canova et 12 al., 2021). Studies in non-age restricted adults (Lin et al., 2020b; Chen et al., 2019a; Christensen et 13 al., 2019; Liu et al., 2018; Bao et al., 2017; Christensen et al., 2016) and children (Papadopoulou et 14 al., 2021; Khalil et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017b) reported null findings with blood 15 pressure and/or odds of hypertension, and there is not a clear biological explanation for this 16 pattern of results by age. 17 Results for hypertensive disorders of pregnancy are summarized in Table 3-30. One of four 18 studies of gestational hypertension Borghese et al. (2020) and two of four studies of preeclampsia (Birukov et al., 2021; Borghese et al., 2020) reported positive associations, with statistical 19 20 significance in one. Conversely, two studies reported inverse associations (statistically significant in 21 one) with gestational hypertension (Liu et al., 2021a; Huang et al., 2019c). The other one study of 22 gestational hypertension (Birukov et al., 2021) and two studies of preeclampsia (Huang et al., 23 2019c; Starling et al., 2014a) reported no association. One low confidence study reported no 24 association between PFHxS and continuous blood pressure during pregnancy (Varshavsky et al., 25 <u>2021</u>). 26 No association with PFHxS exposure was observed in studies of atherosclerosis in adults 27 (Lind et al. (2017), medium confidence) and markers of atherosclerosis/arterial wall stiffness in 28 adolescents (Koshy et al. (2017), low confidence). One study examining abdominal aortic 29 calcification, a marker of subclinical atherosclerotic disease, reported a positive, though not 30 statistically significant, association in men but not women (Koskela et al., 2022). Lastly, no 31 association was observed in a single medium confidence study of ventricular geometry (Mobacke et 32 al., 2018).



Figure 3-66. Study evaluation results for epidemiology studies of PFHxS and cardiovascular disease risk factors. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link. Multiple publications of the same study: <u>Christensen et al. (2019)</u> also includes <u>Liao et al.</u> (2020).

Table 3-29. Associations between PFHxS exposure and hypertension in
<i>medium</i> confidence epidemiology studies in adolescents and young adults

Reference confidence	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified (ug/mL)	Effect estimate	Hypertension
<u>Averina et al. (2021)</u>	Cross-sectional study in Norway; 940 adolescents (~16 yrs)	0.8 (GM in girls)	OR (95% CI) for quartiles vs Q1	Q2: 1.63 (0.90, 2.94) Q3: 1.25 (0.69, 2.28) Q4: 2.06 (1.16, 3.65)*
<u>Li et al. (2021a)</u>	Cohort in U.S.; 221 adolescents (follow-up through 12 yrs)	1.2 (0.9, 1.8) at 8 yrs	Difference for IQR increase (outcome continuous blood pressure z-score)	Systolic BP 0.2 (0.0, 0.4)*
<u>Canova et al. (2021)</u>	Cross-sectional study in highly PFAS exposed region, Italy; 6,669 adolescents (14–19 yrs)	2.8 (1.6- 4.8)	β (95% CI) for In- unit increase (outcome continuous blood pressure)	Systolic BP -0.22 (-0.65, 0.21) Diastolic BP -0.15 (-0.45, 0.16)
<u>Pitter et al. (2020)</u>	Cross-sectional study in highly PFAS exposed region, Italy; 15,786 adults (20–39 yrs)	6.0 (mean)	OR (95% CI) for quartiles vs Q1	Q2: 1.01 (0.86, 1.19) Q3: 1.08 (0.92, 1.27) Q4: 1.19 (1.00, 1.41)

* *p* <0.05.

Table 3-30. Associations between PFHxS exposure and gestationalhypertension and preeclampsia in *medium* confidence epidemiology studies

Reference	Population	Median exposure in ng/mL (IQR)	Effect estimate	Gestational hypertension	Preeclampsia
<u>Liu et al.</u> (2021a)	Nested case-control study within cohort in China; 544 women	0.1 (0.03, 0.1)	OR (95% CI) for tertiles vs T1	T2: 0.41 (0.25, 0.67)* T3: 0.29 (0.17, 0.50)*	NR
<u>Huang et al.</u> (2019c)	Cross-sectional study in China; 674 women at delivery	0.2 (0.1–0.2)	OR (95% CI) for tertiles vs T1	T2: 0.83 (0.31, 2.22) T3: 0.48 (0.16, 1.43)	T2: 1.10 (0.36, 3.38) T3: 0.80 (0.25, 2.60)
<u>Birukov et al.</u> (2021)	Cohort in Denmark; 1,436 women	0.4 (0.3–0.5)	HR (95% CI) for doubling of exposure	0.97 (0.66, 1.43)	1.14 (0.91, 1.42)
<u>Starling et al.</u> (2014a)	Nested case-control study within cohort in Norway; 1,046 women	0.7 (0.5–1.0)	HR (95 Cl) for quartiles vs Q1	NR	Q2: 0.86 (0.59, 1.26) Q3: 1.01 (0.69, 1.49) Q4: 0.93 (0.64, 1.36)
<u>Borghese et</u> al. (2020)	Cohort in Canada; 1,739 women	1.0 (0.7–1.6)	OR (95% CI) for tertiles vs T1	T2: 1.03 (0.64, 1.67) T3: 1.39 (0.87, 2.20)	T2: 1.40 (0.54, 3.63) T3: 3.06 (1.27, 7.39)*

**p* <0.05.

Cardiovascular disease

1 Five studies report on the association between PFHxS and cardiovascular disease, including 2 coronary heart disease, myocardial infarction (heart attack), and congestive heart failure. The study 3 evaluations are summarized in Figure 3-67. Two studies, an analysis of NHANES data for 1999-4 2014 and a prospective cohort of farmers and other rural residents, were *medium* confidence (Huang et al., 2018; Mattsson et al., 2015). The other three were low confidence (Graber et al., 2019; 5 6 Honda-Kohmo et al., 2019; Christensen et al., 2016). These cross-sectional studies were focused on 7 very specific populations—participants in litigation over PFAS exposure (Graber et al., 2019; 8 Honda-Kohmo et al., 2019) or anglers (Christensen et al., 2016). There were concerns about 9 confounding in all of these studies, and for sensitivity in Graber et al. (2019) and Christensen et al. (2016) due to small sample size. Additionally, all the studies except Mattsson et al. (2015)—which 10 11 used a national register of disease—classified cardiovascular disease based on self-report on 12 questionnaires, which is likely to suffer from misclassification and which could be differential in 13 studies wherein exposure was known due to litigation (Graber et al., 2019; Honda-Kohmo et al., 14 2019) but is likely nondifferential and thus toward the null in the other studies (Huang et al., 2018; 15 Christensen et al., 2016). 16 In the two medium confidence studies, no association between PFHxS exposure and 17 coronary heart disease (Huang et al., 2018; Mattsson et al., 2015) or total cardiovascular disease, congestive heart failure, coronary heart disease, angina pectoris, myocardial infarction, or stroke 18 19 (Huang et al., 2018) was observed. In the low confidence studies, one reported higher odds of 20 cardiovascular conditions with higher exposure (Graber et al., 2019) and two reported lower odds 21 of coronary heart disease (Honda-Kohmo et al., 2019; Christensen et al., 2016), although only 22 results in <u>Honda-Kohmo et al. (2019)</u> were statistically significant. An exposure-response gradient 23 was observed in Honda-Kohmo et al. (2019) across quantiles.



Figure 3-67. Study evaluation results for epidemiology studies of PFHxS and cardiovascular disease. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Summary of cardiovascular effects

- 1 Overall, there is some evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure and serum lipids.
- 2 However, the evidence for other cardiovascular-related effects is mostly null, which raises
- 3 questions about the adversity of the observed lipids changes. It is possible that cholesterol is a more
- 4 sensitive measure and that the exposure contrasts in the available studies of disease risk were
- 5 inadequate to detect differences.

Metabolic effects

- 6 Diabetes
- 7 Seven studies (reported in seven publications) report on the relationship between PFHxS
- 8 exposure and diabetes (i.e., type 2 diabetes). In cross-sectional studies of PFHxS and diabetes
- 9 outcomes, there is some concern for reverse causality. Metabolic changes related to diabetes (e.g.,
- 10 impairments of renal function) may affect the amount of PFHxS measured in blood. Four out of the
- 11 seven available studies were cross-sectional and were considered *low* confidence studies due to
- 12 temporality and other deficiencies as noted in HAWC. Three studies (<u>Charles et al., 2020</u>; <u>Sun et al.</u>,
- 13 <u>2018</u>; <u>Cardenas et al., 2017</u>) had prospective exposure measurement prior to development of
- 14 diabetes. <u>Sun et al. (2018)</u> and <u>Charles et al. (2020)</u> used nested case-control study designs and
- 15 <u>Cardenas et al. (2017)</u> used a multicenter randomized clinical trial of a diabetes prevention lifestyle
- 16 intervention. Thus, these three studies were evaluated as *medium* confidence. A summary of the
- 17 study evaluations for PFHxS and diabetes is presented in Figure 3-68, and additional details of the
- 18 studies can be obtained from HAWC.



Figure 3-68. Summary of study evaluation for PFHxS and type 2 diabetes in epidemiology studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link. Multiple publications of the same study: <u>He et al. (2018)</u> also includes <u>Jain (2020)</u> and <u>Jain (2021b)</u>.

- 1 The results for the association between PFHxS exposure and diabetes are presented in
- 2 Table 3-31. All the studies evaluated exposure and outcome associations in adults; in Conway et al.
- 3 (2016), both adults and children were included in study population. In the three studies of *medium*
- 4 confidence, one reported higher odds of incident diabetes with higher PFHxS exposure (<u>Sun et al.</u>,
- 5 <u>2018</u>), although not statistically significant, while one reported an inverse association (also not
- 6 statistically significant) (<u>Charles et al., 2020</u>) and the other reported no association (<u>Cardenas et al.</u>,
- 7 <u>2017</u>). In the *low* confidence studies, one study reported higher odds of diabetes with higher
- 8 exposure in men (He et al., 2018) and one in women (Zare Jeddi et al., 2021). On the other hand,
- 9 there was an inverse association with PFHxS exposure in <u>Conway et al. (2016)</u> with higher
- 10 exposure associated with lower odds of diabetes. The third *low* confidence study (<u>Lind et al., 2014</u>)
- 11 reported no association.
- 12 Overall, the evidence for the association between PFHxS exposure and diabetes is mixed.
- **13** There is some indication of higher odds of diabetes in three studies, one *medium* and two *low*
- 14 *confidences*, but other studies of similar confidence and design reported null or inverse findings,
- and there was inconsistency in sex differences across the two *low* confidence studies reporting an
- 16 effect.

Reference, study confidence	Population	Median exposure (IQR) or as specified	Effect estimate exposure change	Diabetes OR (95% CI)
<u>Charles et al.</u> (2020), medium	Prospective nested case- control study of Norwegian Women and Cancer Study (2001–2006), Norway; 88 women (30–70 yrs)	0.9 (5 th -95 th : 0.4–4.3) Controls	IQR change	0.80 (0.54, 1.20)
<u>Sun et al. (2018),</u> medium	Prospective nested case- control study of Nurses Health Study II (1995–2000), U.S.; 793 adults (32–52 yrs)	2.0 (1.3–3.5) controls	tertiles vs. T1	Incident type 2 T2: 1.15 (0.79, 1.67) T3: 1.26 (0.86, 1.86)
<u>Lind et al. (2014)</u> , low	PIVUS study cross-sectional (2001–2004), Sweden; 1,016 adults (70 yrs)	2.1 (1.6–3.4)	In-unit change	1.00 (0.74, 1.35)
<u>Cardenas et al.</u> (2017), medium	Diabetes Prevention Program (1996–1999), U.S.; 957 adults (25+ yrs)	Geometric mean (IQR) 2.4 (2.4)	log2-unit change	Incident type 2 0.98 (0.86, 1.12) ^b
<u>He et al. (2018)</u> , Iow	NHANES cross-sectional (2003, 2004, 2005–2006, 2007–2008, 2009–2010, 2011–2012), U.S.; 7,904 adults (20+ yrs)	Mean <u>+</u> SE Male 2.9 <u>+</u> 0.1 Female 1.9 <u>+</u> 0.04	quartiles vs. Q1	Men Q2: 1.99 (1.19, 3.33)* Q3: 1.87 (1.15, 3.05)* Q4: 2.31 (1.37, 3.91)* Women Q2: 0.65 (0.41, 1.03) Q3: 0.87 (0.52, 1.43) Q4: 1.22 (0.71, 2.11)
<u>Zare Jeddi et al.</u> (<u>2021</u>), Iow	Cross-sectional study in region with high PFAS contamination (2017–2019), Italy; 15,876 young adults (20–39 yrs)	3.5 (1.7–7.8)	quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: 0.97 (0.76, 1.24) Q3: 1.23 (0.97, 1.57) Q4: 1.06 (0.82, 1.37) Men Q2: 1 (0.69, 1.46) Q3: 1.22 (0.86, 1.72) Q4: 0.99 (0.7, 1.4) Women Q2: 1 (0.72, 1.39) Q3: 1.39 (1.01, 1.91)* Q4: 1.12 (0.8, 1.58)
<u>Conway et al.</u> (2016), low	C8 Health Project cross- sectional (2005–2006), U.S.; 66,889 children and adults	Mean <u>+</u> SD 5.2 <u>+</u> 10.4 no diabetes	Unit change (No transformat ion)	0.74 (0.71, 0.77)

Table 3-31. Associations between PFHxS exposure and type 2 diabetes in epidemiology studies

1 *Gestational diabetes*

2 Six studies report on the relationship between PFHxS exposure and gestational diabetes.

3 The quality of gestational diabetes ascertainment was based on how screening of gestational

- 1 diabetes mellitus (GDM) was performed (e.g., defined by a study protocol versus doctor's diagnosis
- 2 at individual clinics). Another important consideration is that GDM associations with exposure are
- 3 not interpretable in the presence of diabetes. Thus, for participant selection, it was important for
- 4 studies to account for the diabetic status and/or the use of diabetic medications. Studies that did
- 5 not consider these factors by exclusion or stratification were considered deficient for the
- 6 participant selection domain. Overall, there were five studies that examined the association
- 7 between PFHxS exposure and gestational diabetes that were of *medium* confidence (Yu et al., 2021;
- 8 Rahman et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2018; Valvi et al., 2017; Shapiro et al., 2016) and one study of *low*
- 9 confidence (Matilla-Santander et al., 2017). A summary of the study evaluations for PFHxS and
- 10 gestational diabetes is presented in Figure 3-69, and additional details of the studies can be
- 11 obtained from HAWC.



Figure 3-69. Heatmap of study evaluations for PFHxS and gestational diabetes. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

- **12** The results for the association between PFHxS exposure and gestational diabetes for all
- 13 studies are presented in Table 3-32. Two medium confidence studies (<u>Yu et al., 2021</u>; <u>Shapiro et al.</u>,
- 14 <u>2016</u>) reported higher odds of GDM with PFHxS exposure, but neither was statistically significant,
- and in <u>Shapiro et al. (2016)</u>, the exposure-response gradient was nonmonotonic, with the odds
- 16 ratio highest in the second quartile. The results were generally null in the three other medium
- 17 confidence studies (<u>Rahman et al., 2019</u>; <u>Wang et al., 2018</u>; <u>Valvi et al., 2017</u>). In the low confidence
- 18 study (Matilla-Santander et al., 2017), there were higher odds of GDM with PFHxS exposure,
- 19 although the exposure-response gradient was again nonmonotonic. Overall, there is no clear
- 20 association between PFHxS exposure and GDM.

Reference, study confidence	Population	Median exposure (IQR) in ng/mL or as specified	Effect estimate exposure change	Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) OR (95% Cl)
<u>Yu et al.</u> (2021), medium	Population-based birth cohort study in Shanghai, China (2013–2016); 2,747 pregnant women	0.5 (0.3) in controls	Log-unit change	1.15 (0.86, 1.54)
<u>Wang et al.</u> (<u>2018)</u> , medium	Haidian Maternal & Child Health Hospital in Beijing, China (2013); 84 pregnant women with GDM and 168 healthy pregnant women	0.5 (0.3–0.7) in controls	Unit change	1.07 (0.86, 1.35)
<u>Matilla-</u> <u>Santander et</u> <u>al. (2017)</u> , Iow	Population-based birth cohort study INMA (2003–2008); Spanish regions of Valencia, Sabadell, and Gipuzoka; 2,150 pregnant women (recruited during first trimester of pregnancy)	Geometric mean (Geometric SD) 0.6 (2.0)	Quartiles	Q2: 1.25 (0.51, 3.03) Q3: 1.81 (0.76, 4.28) Q4: 1.15 (0.42, 3.12)
<u>Rahman et al.</u> (<u>2019)</u> , medium	NICHD Fetal Growth Study, Singletons (2009–2013); 2,334 pregnant women (8– 13 wks of gestation)	Geometric mean (95% CI) Overall cohort 0.8 (0.7–0.8) GDM 0.7 (0.6–0.9)	SD increment	Overall cohort ^a 0.95 (0.73, 1.23) With family history of type 2 diabetes ^a 1.03 (0.92, 1.16)
<u>Shapiro et al.</u> (2016), medium	Longitudinal birth cohort study MIREC (2008–2011); Canada; 1,274 pregnant women (recruited <14 wks of gestation)	Geometric mean (SD) GDM 1.1 (2.0) Non-GDM 1.0 (2.3)	Quartiles	Q2: 1.6 (0.7, 3.8) Q3: 1.4 (0.6, 3.5) Q4: 1.2 (0.4, 3.5)
<u>Valvi et al.</u> (2017), medium	National Hospital in Torshavn (1997 and 2000); Faroe Islands; 604 mother-child pairs (recruited at 34 wks of gestation)	Median (IQR) 4.5 (2.2, 8.5)	Doubling	1.03 (0.80, 1.33)

Table 3-32. Associations between PFHxS exposure and gestational diabetes in epidemiology studies

1 Blood glucose and insulin resistance

- 2 Homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) is a method for assessing insulin resistance and β -3 cell function from fasting glucose and insulin measured in the plasma (Matthews et al., 1985). The 4 HOMA of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) is often used in studies evaluating future risk of diabetes. It 5 is important to consider that blood glucose and insulin levels and HOMA-IR are difficult to interpret 6 in the presence of diabetes, especially if diabetes is treated with hypoglycemic medication since the 7 treatment will affect insulin production and secretion. Thus, for participant selection, the studies 8 should account for the diabetic status and/or the use of diabetic medications in participants. 9 Studies that did not consider these factors by exclusion or stratification were considered deficient 10 for the participant selection domain, and *low* confidence overall. 11 Twenty-eight studies (reported in 31 publications) report on the relationship between
- 12 PFHxS exposure and blood glucose and/or insulin resistance. Of these, 15 were considered *medium*
- 13 confidence (Cakmak et al., 2022; Gardener et al., 2021; Goodrich et al., 2021; Li et al., 2021a; Valvi et

1 al., 2021; Yu et al., 2021; Duan et al., 2020; Ren et al., 2020; Alderete et al., 2019; Christensen et al., 2 2019; Jensen et al., 2018; Kang et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018; Cardenas et al., 2017; Starling et al., 3 2017) and ten were *low* confidence. Many of these studies did not account for diabetic status of the 4 participants and were thus deficient for participant selection. In addition, three studies were 5 uninformative due to critical deficiencies in at least one domain and are not considered further 6 (Zhang et al., 2019a; Yang et al., 2018; Jiang et al., 2014). Study evaluation results are summarized 7 in Figure 3-49 and additional details are available in HAWC. Fifteen studies reported on general 8 population adults and adolescents, one examined occupational exposure in firefighters, six studies 9 reported on pregnant women, and five studies reported on children. 10 The results for the association between PFHxS exposure and these outcomes for all studies 11 are presented in Table 3-33. For insulin resistance, two of the *medium* confidence studies in adults 12 (Cardenas et al., 2017) and pregnant women (Jensen et al., 2018) reported higher HOMA-IR with 13 higher PFHxS exposure (both statistically significant). The association in <u>lensen et al. (2018)</u> was 14 observed primarily in women with high GDM risk based on predefined risk factors (BMI ≥ 27 15 kg/m², family history of diabetes mellitus, present multiple pregnancy, glucosuria during 16 pregnancy, previous GDM, or delivery of macrosomic child). The association in women without 17 GDM risk was in the same direction but much smaller, which may suggest an interaction between 18 PFAS exposure and metabolic vulnerability, but this cannot be assessed further using the available 19 data. The other studies indicated no increase in insulin resistance with higher exposure. For blood 20 glucose, three of the *medium* confidence studies in pregnant women (Yu et al., 2021; Jensen et al., 21 2018) and 6 weeks postpartum (Wang et al., 2018) reported statistically significantly elevated 22 blood glucose with higher PFHxS exposure. One study in adolescents and young adults also 23 reported a positive association in post-puberty girls undergoing an oral glucose tolerance test, with 24 a significant association at the 1-hour post glucose test, but an inverse association was reported in 25 boys and results at other ages did not show an association (Goodrich et al., 2021). Results in other 26 studies were generally null. 27 Overall, there is not a clear association between PFHxS exposure and insulin resistance or 28 blood glucose. Some positive associations were observed in *medium* confidence studies, but this 29 was not consistently observed across studies, including other *medium* confidence studies of similar

- 30 design and power. It is possible that exposure contrast was not adequate to observe an association
- 31 in these studies, but the positive associations were observed in studies with exposure levels similar
- 32 to the null studies.



Figure 3-70. Heatmap of study evaluations for insulin resistance and blood glucose ^a**.** For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

^aMultiple publications of the same study: <u>Lin et al. (2009a)</u> also includes <u>Nelson et al. (2010)</u>; <u>Christensen et al.</u> (2019) also includes <u>Jain (2020)</u>; <u>Cakmak et al. (2022)</u> also includes <u>Fisher et al. (2013)</u>.

Table 3-33. Associations between PFHxS exposure and insulin resistance or
blood glucose in epidemiology studies

Reference and		Median exposure (IQR) in ng/ mL or as	Effect	Insulin resistance	
confidence	Population	specified Adults and a	estimate	(HOMA-IR)	Blood glucose
<u>Duan et al. (2020)</u> , Medium	Cross-sectional study in China in 2017; 294 adults	0.3 (<lod-0.8)< td=""><td>% change for 1% increase in exposure</td><td>NR</td><td>0.004 (-0.001, 0.009)</td></lod-0.8)<>	% change for 1% increase in exposure	NR	0.004 (-0.001, 0.009)
<u>Koshy et al. (2017)</u> ; Low	World Trade Center Health Registry (WTCHR) who resided in NYC and were born between Sept. 11, 1993 and Sept. 10, 2001; U.S.; 402 adolescents	Control 0.5 (0.5) WTCHR 0.7 (0.7)	Beta coefficient (95% CI) for In- unit change	-0.09 (-0.18, -0.003)*	NR
<u>Chen et al. (2019a)</u> ; Low	Cross-sectional study in Croatia in 2007–2008; 123 adults	GM (range) 0.8 (0.3–2.4)	Beta coefficient (95% CI) for In- unit change	0.64 (-1.27, 2.56)	-0.16 (-0.37, 0.04)
<u>Valvi et al. (2021)</u> ; Medium	Prospective cohort (1986–1987); Faroe Islands; 699 young adults (28 yrs) with follow-up since birth	0.9 (0.7–1.2)	Beta coefficient (95% CI) for doubling	Exposure in gestation 0.00 (-0.03, 0.04) 7 years 0.01 (-0.04, 0.05) 28 years 0.03 (-0.02, 0.07)	Exposure in gestation 0.00 (-0.01, 0.01) 7 years 0.01 (-0.01, 0.01) 28 years 0.01 (-0.00, 0.02)
Heffernan et al. (2018); Medium	Prospective cohort of women with and without polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) performed within the Hull IVF Unit (United Kingdom); 59 adults (20–45 yrs)	GM (95% CI) Control 0.9 (0.8, 1.2) PCOS 1.1 (0.9–1.4)	Beta coefficient (SE) for In-unit change	Controls 0.03 (0.10) PCOS -0.15 (0.08)	Controls 0.17 (0.09) PCOS -0.05 (0.09)
<u>Lin et al. (2009a)</u> ; Low	NHANES cross-sectional (1999–2000, 2003– 2004a); U.S.; 1,443 adolescents and adults (12–20 yrs, >20 yrs)	Log mean <u>+</u> SEM Adolescents 1.0 <u>+</u> 0.1 Adults 0.6 <u>+</u> 0.04	Mean <u>+</u> SEM ^b for log-unit change	Adolescents 0.05 <u>+</u> 0.03 Adults 0.00 <u>+</u> 0.04	Adolescents -0.01 <u>+</u> 0.03 Adults -0.02 <u>+</u> 0.06
Goodrich et al. (2021), Medium	SOLAR cohort (2001– 2012), U.S.; 328 children (8–13 years) with 2 years follow-up Children's Health Study cross-sectional analysis within cohort (2002), U.S.; 137 young adults (17–22 years)	1.1 (GM) in SOLAR cohort; 0.8 in CHS cohort girls	Differences with high vs low PFHxS levels	NR	SOLAR Puberty Girls Fasting: 1 (-9, 12) OGTT 1 hr: 3 (-8, 13) Boys Fasting: 0 (-12, 13) OGTT 1 hr: -7 (-19, 5) Postpuberty

Reference and confidence	Population	Median exposure (IQR) in ng/ mL or as specified	Effect estimate	Insulin resistance (HOMA-IR)	Blood glucose
					Girls Fasting: 6 (-8, 19) OGTT 1 hr: 25 (12, 39)* Boys Fasting: -5 (-20, 11) OGTT 1 hr: -25 (-40, -9)* CHS young adult Girls Fasting 3 (-17, 23) OGTT 1 hr: 26 (6, 46) Boys Fasting: 1 (-12, 13) OGTT 1 hr: 3 (-10, 17)
<u>Li et al. (2021a)</u> ; Medium	Prospective cohort (2003–2006); U.S.; 221 adolescents (12 yrs, followed from pregnancy)	1.9 (1.0-3.3) at age 3	Adjusted difference for IQR increase	NR	Exposure in gestation -0.3 (-1.4, 0.9) 3 years 0.4 (-0.6, 1.5) 12 years 0.5 (-0.7, 1.8)
<u>Christensen et al.</u> (<u>2019)</u> ; Medium	NHANES cross-sectional (2007–2014); U.S.; 2,975 adults (>20 yrs)	2007–2008 2.0 (1.1, 3.5) 2009–2010 1.7 (0.9, 2.9) 2011–2012 1.3 (0.8, 2.3) 2013–2014 1.4 (0.8, 2.6)	Odds ratio (95% CI) for quartiles vs. Q1	NR	Q2: 0.88 (0.61, 1.27) Q3: 0.87 (0.59, 1.29) Q4: 0.85 (0.55, 1.31)
<u>Cakmak et al.</u> (2022); Medium	Canadian Health Measures Survey cross- sectional (2007–2017); Canada; 6,024 all ages	1.5 (GM)	% change for GM increase	-0.1 (-4.1, 4.6)	0.3 (-0.6, 1.3)
Lind et al. (2014); Low	PIVUS study cross- sectional (2001–2004), Sweden; 1,016 adults (70 yrs)	2.1 (1.6–3.4)	Beta coefficient (95% CI) for In- unit change	-0.085 (-0.14, -0.03)*	NR
<u>Cardenas et al.</u> (2017); Medium	Diabetes Prevention Program (1996–1999), U.S.; 957 adults (25+ yrs)	GM (IQR) 2.4 (2.4)	Beta coefficient (95% CI) for doubling	0.34 (0.12, 0.55)ª	0.29 (-0.13, 0.70)
<u>Lin et al. (2020c)</u> ; Low	Cross-sectional study in high contamination area (2016–2017),	2.7	Beta coefficient (95% CI) for quartiles vs. Q1	NR	Q2: 2.42 (-4.91, 9.75) Q3: -3.22 (-10.78, 4.35)

Reference and confidence	Population	Median exposure (IQR) in ng/ mL or as specified	Effect estimate	Insulin resistance (HOMA-IR)	Blood glucose
	Taiwan; 397 older adults (55–75 yrs)				Q4: 2.54 (-5.13, 10.21)
<u>Khalil et al. (2020);</u> Low	Cross-sectional study of firefighters (2009), U.S. 38 men	3.1 (GM)	Beta coefficient (95% CI) for log-unit change	NR	no association (figure only)
<u>Liu et al. (2018)</u> ; Low	POUNDS clinical trial (2003–2007), U.S.; 621 adults (30–70 yrs)	Male 3.1 (2.3– 4.4) Female 1.9 (1.2– 3.0)	Spearman correlation	0.07	Change in glucose 0–6 mo in trial: 0.02 6–24 mo: –0.02
		Pregnant	women		
<u>Jensen et al. (2018)</u> ; Medium	Odense Child Cohort (OCC) (2010–2012), Denmark; 649 pregnant women (15–49 yrs), outcome measured at 28 wks gestation	0.3 (0.1–0.6)	% Change (95% CI) for doubling	High GDM risk 9.5 (1.0, 18.8)* Low GDM risk 2.8 (–7.5, 14.3)	High GDM risk 1.7 (0.2, 3.2)* Low GDM risk 0.2 (–1.3, 1.7)
<u>Yu et al. (2021)</u> , medium	Population-based birth cohort study in Shanghai, China (2013– 2016); 2,747 pregnant women	0.5 (0.3) in controls	Beta coefficient (95% CI) for log-unit change	NR	0.003 (-0.04, 0.05) OGTT 1 hr 0.22 (0.06, 0.37)* OGTT 2 hr 0.08 (-0.06, 0.21)
<u>Gardener et al.</u> (2021); Medium	Vanguard Pilot Study of the National Children's Study cross-sectional (2009); U.S.; 425 pregnant women in 3rd trimester	0.5 (0.3-0.9)	Means (95% CI) for quartilers	Non-significant, non- monotonic increase (figure only)	NR
Wang et al. (2018); Medium	Haidian Maternal & Child Health Hospital in Beijing, China (January– March 2013); 84 pregnant women as GDM and 168 healthy pregnant women, outcome measured at 6 wks postpartum	GDM 0.5 (0.3 – 0.8) Non-GDM 0.5 (0.3 – 0.7)	Odds ratio (95% CI) for categories of blood glucose (3.2–4.74; 4.75–5.04; 5.06–6.84 mmol/L)	NR	GDM/non-GDM pooled (adjusted for status) Medium vs. Lowest 1.32 (0.72, 2.42) Highest vs. Lowest 2.29 (1.22, 4.29)*
<u>Starling et al. (2017);</u> Medium	Health Start cohort at the University of Colorado Hospital (2009–2014); U.S.; 1,410 pregnant women (>16 yrs), outcome measured at mid- pregnancy	0.8 (0.5, 1.2)	% Change (95% CI) for categories of exposure	NR	Group 1 -0.009 (-0.029, 0.010) Group 2 -0.023 (-0.044, -0.002)

Reference and confidence	Population	Median exposure (IQR) in ng/ mL or as specified	Effect estimate	Insulin resistance (HOMA-IR)	Blood glucose
<u>Ren et al. (2020)</u> ; Medium	Shanghai-Minhang Birth Cohort (2012); China; 856 pregnant women (outcome measured at 20–28 weeks gestation)	2.8 (2.1-3.6)	OR (95% CI) for high glucose	NR	0.89 (0.51, 1.55)
		Child	ren		
<u>Kang et al. (2018);</u> Medium	Korea Environmental Health Survey in Children and Adolescents (KorEHS-C) subcohort (2012–2014); South Korea; children (3–18 yrs)	Geometric mean (SD) 0.8 (1.6)	Beta coefficient (95% CI) for In- unit change	NR	0.925 (–1.779, 2.164)
<u>Khalil et al. (2018);</u> Low	Cross-sectional study of obese children from Lipid Clinic at Dayton's Children Hospital (April–Oct. 2016); U.S.; children (8–12 yrs)	1.1 (1.4)	Beta coefficient (95% CI) for unit change	-0.11 (-0.10, 0.78)	0.00 (-2.10, 2.09)
<u>Goodrich et al.</u> (2021), Medium	SOLAR cohort (2001– 2012), U.S.; 328 children (8–13 years) with 2 years follow-up	1.1 (GM) in SOLAR cohort; 0.8 in CHS cohort girls	Differences with high vs low PFHxS levels	NR	Prepuberty Girls Fasting -2 (-16, 12) OGTT 1 hr -4 (-18, 10) Boys Fasting -7 (-15, 0) OGTT -7 (-15,0)
<u>Alderete et al.</u> (2019); Medium	Study of Latino Adolescents at Risk of type 2 Diabetes (SOLAR) cohort (2001– 2011); U.S.; children (8– 14 yrs)	Geometric mean (SD) 1.7 (2)	Beta coefficient (95% CI) for In- unit change	-0.4 (-1.7, 0.8)	0.9 (-2.5, 4.2)
<u>Fleisch et al. (2017);</u> Low	Project Viva prospective cohort (1992–2002); U.S.; 665 mother–children pairs	Geomean (25%, 75%) Prenatal 2.5 (1.6, 3.8) Mid-childhood 2.2 (1.2, 3.4)	% Change (95% CI) for quartiles vs Q1	Prenatal Q2: -6.7 (-23.7, 14.2) Q3: -13.5 (-29.6, 6.3) Q4: -17.1 (-32.3, 1.6) Mid-childhood Q2: -5.1 (-20.9, 13.8) Q3: -6.7 (-22.7, 12.6) Q4: -16.8 (-31.4, 0.8)	NR

**P*-value or *p*-trend \leq 0.05.

NR = not reported; OGTT = oral glucose tolerance test

1 Metabolic syndrome

Metabolic syndrome is defined using criteria related to waist circumference, elevated
triglycerides, reduced HDL cholesterol, elevated blood pressure, and elevated fasting glucose. Three
abnormal findings out of the five factors classify a person with metabolic syndrome (Alberti et al.,
2009).

- 6 Six studies reported on the association between PFHxS exposure and metabolic syndrome.
- 7 One study was *uninformative* due to critical deficiencies in participant selection, outcome
- 8 ascertainment, and confounding (<u>Yang et al., 2018</u>). The other five studies were cross-sectional
- 9 (Zare Jeddi et al., 2021; Christensen et al., 2019; Fisher et al., 2013; Lin et al., 2009b; Lin et al.,
- 10 <u>2009a</u>) and considered *medium* confidence. A summary of the study evaluations for PFHxS and
- 11 metabolic syndrome is presented in Figure 3-71, and additional details of the studies can be
- 12 obtained from HAWC.
- 13 There was little indication of increased odds of metabolic syndrome with higher exposure
- 14 to PFHxS. One study in older adults in an area with high PFAS contamination (Lin et al., 2020c)
- reported a positive association in the fourth quartile (OR [95% CI]: 1.22 [0.66, 2.25]), but this
- 16 association was non-monotonic across quartiles and not statistically significant. The other four
- 17 studies reported results that were null (Zare Jeddi et al., 2021; Fisher et al., 2013; Lin et al., 2009a)
- 18 or inverse (<u>Christensen et al., 2019</u>).



Figure 3-71. Summary of study evaluations for epidemiology studies of PFHxS and metabolic syndrome. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

- 19 Adiposity
- 20 Twenty-five studies (29 publications) reported on the association between PFHxS exposure
- 21 and obesity, BMI, and/or other measures of adiposity. Two studies were excluded as *uninformative*
- due to lack of consideration of potential confounding (<u>Zhang et al., 2019a</u>; <u>Yang et al., 2018</u>). Of the

- 1 23 remaining studies, ten were cross-sectional studies (<u>Lind et al., 2022</u>; <u>Canova et al., 2021</u>;
- 2 Thomsen et al., 2021; Zare Jeddi et al., 2021; Domazet et al., 2020; Scinicariello et al., 2020a; Chen et
- 3 <u>al., 2019a; Christensen et al., 2019; Khalil et al., 2018; Nelson et al., 2010</u>) and were classified as *low*
- 4 confidence because of concern that the timing of exposure measurement was not relevant to
- 5 development of this chronic outcome, similar to concerns described for diabetes. Thirteen studies
- 6 had prospective exposure measurement, including nine that examined the association between
- 7 prenatal or early-life exposure measurements and adiposity during childhood, one cohort of people
- 8 living near a uranium processing plant, one clinical trial of weight loss diets that examined weight
- 9 change, and two studies of gestational weight gain. All of the prospective studies, where exposure
- 10 was measured prior to the outcome, were classified as *medium* confidence. The evaluations for
- 11 these studies are summarized in Figure 3-72.

_	Part	icipant s	selection osure m Out	come as	certainm founding Ana	lysis Ser	sitivity	ective Rep Over	lotting al confidence
Blake, 2018, 5080657 -	*	+	+	•	••		+	+	
Bloom, 2022, 9959635 -	•	•	•	+	**	+	+	*	
Braun, 2016, 3859836 -	**	•		•		•	+	*	
Canova, 2021, 10176518 -	*	•	•	*	+	+	+	-	Legend Good (metric) or High confidence (overall)
Chen, 2019, 5080578 -	*	+	++	÷		×.	+	*	Adequate (metric) or Medium confidence (overall) Deficient (metric) or Low confidence (overall)
Chen, 2019, 5387400 -	+		**	÷.	19	-	+	4	Critically deficient (metric) or Uninformative (overa
Christensen, 2019, 5080398 -	**	÷	-	+		*	+	+	
Domazet, 2020, 6833700 -	1	×	*	•	+	•	+	×.	
Hartman, 2017, 3859812 -	•	÷	.#	÷	\sim	•	*	*	
Janis, 2021, 7410181 -	+	+	++	÷	***	*	*	*	
Karlsen, 2017, 3858520 -	÷	+	+	*	**	а.		*	
Khalil, 2018, 4238547 -	4	4	+	-	+	+	+	-	
Lind, 2022, 10176401-	•	4		•	+	+	+	-	
Liu, 2018, 4238396 -		•	**	*	1	+	+		
lanzano-Salgado, 2017b, 4238509 -	*			+	**	9	+	*	
Marks, 2019, 5381534 -	*	•	**	÷	**	*	+	+	
Martinsson, 2020, 6311645 -	÷	•	3	×	***	٠	*	+	
Mora, 2017, 3859823 -		٠		+	**	•	+	*	
Nelson, 2010, 1291110 -	**	1	•	*		+	+	1	
Papadopoulou, 2021, 9960593 -	*	•	•	+	•	3	+	*	
Romano, 2020, 7014708 -		**		•	**	+	٠	*	
Scinicariello, 2020, 6391244 -	**	-	**	+	**	+	*		
Thomsen, 2021, 9959568 -	*	18	++	+	+		+	-	
Yang, 2018, 4238462 -	-	•	8	-	a.	+	*	+	
Zare Jeddi, 2021, 7404065 -	*	2	•	•	+	+	+	-	
Zhang, 2019, 5083675 -	-	*	3	14	-	-	-	+	

Figure 3-72. Summary of study evaluations for epidemiology studies of adiposity. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link. Multiple publications of the same study: <u>Braun et al. (2016)</u> also includes <u>Braun et al. (2020)</u>; <u>Liu et al. (2020c)</u>, and <u>Li et al. (2021a)</u>. <u>Mora et al. (2017)</u> also includes <u>Janis et al. (2021)</u>.

1 The results from the studies of adiposity in children are summarized in Tables 3-34 and 3-2 35, which contain the continuous outcome measures and dichotomous outcome (overweight), 3 respectively. Most studies report null results for the associations between PFHxS and BMI, waist 4 circumference, or direct measures of body fat. In analyses of overweight/obesity as a dichotomous 5 outcome, three *medium* confidence studies (four publications) reported positive associations (Liu et 6 al., 2020c; Martinsson et al., 2020; Braun et al., 2016) with odds ratios or relative risks ranging 1.16 7 to 1.71. However, only one study was statistically significant (Liu et al., 2020c) and the association 8 in Martinsson et al. (2020) was non-monotonic across quartiles, with an inverse association in the 9 third quartile and a positive association in the fourth quartile. n addition, as described in the 10 Developmental Effects section, one *medium* confidence study by Gyllenhammar et al. (2018) was 11 null for weight standard deviation scores over time from 3 to 60 months of age. 12 In adults, one *medium* confidence prospective study (Liu et al., 2018) reported no difference 13 in weight loss associated with PFHxS exposure but found a statistically significant increase in 14 weight gain associated with PFHxS exposure in women following the weight loss trial (changes in 15 body weight: tertile 1: 2.7 ± 0.8 , tertile 2: 3.6 ± 0.9 , tertile 3: 4.9 ± 0.9 , *p*-trend: 0.009). The second 16 *medium* confidence prospective study (Blake et al., 2018) and the *low* confidence cross-sectional 17 studies (Lind et al., 2022; Zare Jeddi et al., 2021; Chen et al., 2019a; Christensen et al., 2019) 18 reported no difference in adiposity with higher PFHxS exposure. Additionally, two medium 19 confidence studies examined gestational weight gain. Marks et al. (2019b) and Romano et al. (2020) 20 reported no association with absolute gestational weight gain (stratified by baseline weight 21 categories under/normal weight and overweight/obese). 22 Overall, there is very limited evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure and 23 adiposity. The strongest evidence comes from a weight loss trial in adults that observed higher 24 weight gain following the trial, but the lack of coherence with related outcomes in the remaining

25 studies decreases the strength of the evidence.

Reference, study confidence	Population	Median exposure (IQR) (μg/mL)	Effect estimate	BMI	Waist circumference	Body fat
<u>Chen et al.</u> (2019b), medium	Prospective birth cohort in China; 404 children at 5 yrs	0.2 (range 0.1–0.9)	β (95% CI) for log- unit change	Girls: -0.5 (-1.1, 0.2) Boys: 0.4 (-0.3, 1.1)	Girls: -1.2 (-3.1, 0.7) Boys: 0.6 (-1.3, 2.5)	Body fat percent Girls: -1.9 (-4.9, 1.0) Boys: 1.8 (-0.7, 4.3)
			β (95% CI) for tertiles (ref T1)	Girls T2: 0.2 (-0.8, 0.3) T3: -0.2 (-0.8, 0.3) Boys T2: 0.1 (-0.5, 0.7) T3: 0.2 (-0.4, 0.8)	Girls T2: -0.4 (-2.1, 1.2) T3: -0.4 (-2.1, 1.3) Boys T2: -0.2 (-1.8, 1.4) T3: 0.5 (-1.1, 2.1)	Girls T2: -0.8 (-3.4, 1.7) T3: -1.9 (-4.4, 0.7) Boys T2: 0.2 (-2.0, 2.3) T3: 0.7 (-1.4, 2.8)
<u>Karlsen et al.</u> (2017), medium	Birth cohort (2007– 2009), Faroe Islands; 444 children with follow-up at 18 mos	0.2 (0.1– 0.3)	β (95% CI) for log- unit increase; T2 and T3	0.10 (-0.01,0.21) T2: -0.03 (-0.23,0.17) T3: 0.18 (-0.03,0.38)	NR	NR
	371 children with follow-up at 5 yrs		vs. T1	0.04 (-0.07,0.15) T2: -0.02 (-0.22,0.19) T3: 0.07 (-0.14,0.28)	NR	NR
<u>Papadopoulou et</u> <u>al. (2021),</u> medium	Six birth cohorts, Europe, 1,301 children at 6–11 yrs	prenatal 0.5 (0.3– 0.9)	β (95% CI) for Quartiles vs Q1	NR	Q2: -0.02 (-0.22, 0.17) Q3: 0.05 (-0.18, 0.28) Q4: 0.03 (-0.23, 0.30)	NR
		Children 0.3 (0.2– 0.6)		NR	Q2: -0.12 (-0.31, 0.06) Q3: 0.10 (-0.13, 0.32) Q4: 0.04 (-0.22, 0.29)	NR
<u>Thomsen et al.</u> (2021), low	Cross-sectional analysis within birth cohort (2009), Denmark, 109 boys at ~12 yrs	0.5 (0.4– 0.7)	β (95% CI) for log- unit increase	NR	NR	Abdominal fat 0.03 (-0.15, 0.20) Visceral fat 0.02 (-0.11, 0.14) Total fat 0.01 (-0.22, 0.23)
<u>Manzano-</u> <u>Salgado et al.</u> (2017b), medium	INMA birth cohort (2003–2008), Spain; 1,230 children with follow-up at 4 yrs	0.6 (GM) (0.4–0.8)	β (95% CI) for doubling exposure	-0.02 (-0.10,0.07)	-0.04 (-0.14,0.05)	NR
	1,086 children with follow-up at 7 yrs			-0.04 (-0.14,0.06)	-0.04 (-0.12,0.04)	NR
<u>Domazet et al.</u> (<u>2020)</u> , Iow	Cross-sectional analysis within multi-center cohort	0.9 (0.7– 1.1)	% change (95% Cl) for 10% increase	NR	NR	Fat mass -1.07 (-1.99, -0.15)*

Table 3-34. Associations between maternal exposure to PFHxS and adiposity in children

Reference, study confidence	Population	Median exposure (IQR) (μg/mL)	Effect estimate	BMI	Waist circumference	Body fat
	(1997), Europe; 242 children at 9 yrs					
<u>Bloom et al.</u> (2022), Iow	ECHO cohort (2017– 2019), U.S. 803 children at 4–8 yrs	0.9 (0.5- 1.5)	β (95% CI) for log- unit increase	BMI z-score Without obesity -0.06 (-0.17, 0.05) With obesity 0.01 (-0.22, 0.24)	Without obesity -0.06 (-0.15, 0.04) With obesity 0.16 (-0.09, 0.40)	Fat mass Without obesity -0.08 (-0.42, 0.25) With obesity 0.63 (-0.68, 1.93) Percent body fat Without obesity -0.003 (-0.01, 0.01) With obesity 0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)
<u>Scinicariello et</u> <u>al. (2020a)</u> , Iow	NHANES cross- sectional study (2013–2014), U.S. 600 children at 3–11 yrs	0.9 (GM)	β (95% CI) for tertiles vs T1	BMI z-score T2: -0.17 (-0.47, 0.13) T3: -0.26 (-0.57, 0.04)	Weight for age T2: -0.30 (-0.67, 0.07) T3: -0.42 (-0.76, - 0.08)*	NR
<u>Khalil et al.</u> (<u>2018)</u> , Iow	Cross-sectional study (2016), U.S. 48 children with obesity at 8–12 yrs	1.1 (1.4)	β (95% CI) for unit change	0.32 (-0.76, 1.39)	NR	NR
<u>Braun et al.</u> (2016); <u>Liu et al.</u> (2020c); Braun et al.	HOME birth cohort (2003–2006), U.S.; 204 children with follow-up at 8 yrs	1.4 (0.8– 2.3)	Difference (95% CI) Tertiles vs. T1	T2: 0.22 (-0.10,0.54) T3: 0.12 (-0.21,0.45)	T2: 2.7 (0.0,5.4) T3: 1.1 (-1.7,3.9)	Body fat percent T2: 2.3 (0.3,4.2) T3: 1.1 (-0.9,3.1)
(2020); <u>Li et al.</u> (2021a), medium	212 children with follow-up at 12 yrs		β (95% CI) for IQR increase	BMI z-score Prenatal exposure 0.10 (-0.08, 0.28) 12 year old exposure 0.09 (-0.14, 0.31)	Prenatal exposure 1.73 (-0.87, 4.33) 12 year old exposure 0.55 (-2.48, 3.57)	Fat mass index Prenatal exposure 0.10 (-0.07, 0.26) 12 year old exposure 0.08 (-0.11, 0.27) Body fat percent Prenatal exposure 0.94 (-0.35, 2.22) 12 year old exposure 0.68 (-0.79, 2.15)
	214 children with follow-up at 12 yrs		β (95% CI) for IQR increase	T2: -0.65 (-1.90, 0.65) T3: -0.50 (-1.78, 0.76)	NR	NR
			Difference (95% Cl) Tertiles vs. T1	Rate of BMI change from 8–12 yrs T2: -0.06 (-0.20, 0.09) T3: -0.01 (-0.15, 0.13)	NR	NR
	186 children with follow-up at 12 yrs		Difference (95% Cl)	NR	Prenatal exposure 0.03 (-0.01, 0.08)	Visceral fat Prenatal exposure

Reference, study confidence	Population	Median exposure (IQR) (µg/mL)	Effect estimate	BMI	Waist circumference	Body fat
			for IQR change		12 year old exposure 0.02 (-0.04, 0.07)	0.09 (-0.01, 0.20) 12 year old exposure 0.10 (-0.05, 0.26)
<u>Hartman et al.</u> (2017), medium	ALSPAC birth cohort (1991–1992), United Kingdom; 359 children with follow-up at 9 yrs)	1.6 (1.3– 2.2)	β (95% CI) for 1 unit increase	-0.02 (-0.08,0.03)	-0.08 (-0.22,0.06)	DXA total body fat -0.06 (-0.21,0.09) DXA trunk fat -0.01 (-0.11,0.08)
<u>Mora et al.</u> (<u>2017); Janis et</u> <u>al. (2021)</u> , medium	Project Viva birth cohort (1999–2002), U.S.; 1,006 children with follow-up at median 3 yrs	2.4 (1.6– 3.8)	β (95% CI) for IQR increase	0.01 (-0.03,0.05)	0.03 (-0.10,0.16)	Sum of subscapular and triceps skinfold thickness 0.16 (0.01,0.31)
	876 children with follow-up at median 7 yrs			0.01 (-0.03,0.05)	0.11 (-0.22,0.43)	Sum of subscapular and triceps skinfold thickness 0.25 (-0.14,0.64) DXA total fat mass index 0.04 (-0.04,0.13) DXA trunk fat mass index 0.02 (-0.02,0.06)
	531 children with follow-up at 13 yrs		β (95% CI)	BMI z-score -0.05 (-0.09, 0.00)	NR	Total fat mass index -0.22 (-0.35, -0.08)* Truncal fat mass index -0.09 (-0.16, -0.03)*
<u>Canova et al.</u> (<u>2021</u>), Iow	Cross-sectional study in highly contaminated area (2017–2019), Italy; 6,669 adolescents (14–19 yrs) and 2,693 children (8–11 yrs)	adolescen ts 2.8 (1.6– 4.8)	β (95% CI) vs Q1	BMI z-score Q2: -0.08 (-0.15, 0) Q3: 0.01 (-0.07, 0.09) Q4: 0.03 (-0.05, 0.12) Similar for boys and girls	NR	NR
		children 1.9 (1.2– 2.8)	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	BMI z-score Q2: 0.06 (-0.08, 0.2) Q3: -0.20 (-0.34, - 0.06)* Q4: -0.18 (-0.32, - 0.03)*	NR	NR

**p* < 0.05.

T: tertile, GM: geometric mean, DXA: dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, NR: not reported.

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) (µg/mL)	Effect estimate	Overweight
<u>Karlsen et al.</u> (2017)	Birth cohort (2007–2009), Faroe Islands; 444 children with follow-up at 18 mos	0.2 (0.1–0.3)	OR (95% CI) for log-unit increase; Tertiles vs. T1	1.12 (0.97, 1.30) T2: 1.06 (0.82, 1.38) T3: 1.24 (0.97, 1.58)
	371 children with follow-up at 5 yrs			1.11 (0.77, 1.59) T2: 0.86 (0.47, 1.55) T3: 1.22 (0.73, 2.04)
<u>Manzano-</u> <u>Salgado et al.</u> (2017b)	INMA cohort (2003–2008), Spain; 1,230 children with follow-up at 4 yrs	0.6 (GM) (0.4–0.8)	RR (95% CI) for doubling exposure	0.96 (0.87, 1.07)
	1,086 children with follow-up at 7 yrs			0.94 (0.84, 1.05)
<u>Martinsson et</u> al. (2020)	Case-control study (2003–2008), Sweden; 1,048 children at 4 yrs	0.7 (0.5–1.0)	OR (95% Cl); Quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: 0.95 (0.66, 1.37) Q3: 0.66 (0.44, 0.97) Q4: 1.16 (0.81, 1.66)
<u>Braun et al.</u> (2016); Liu et al.	HOME birth cohort (2003–2006), U.S.; 204 children with follow-up at 8 yrs	1.4 (0.8–2.3)	RR (95% CI); Tertiles vs. T1	T2: 1.33 (0.72, 2.48) T3: 1.48 (0.75, 2.96)
<u>(2020c)</u>	212 children with follow-up at 12 yrs		RR (95% CI) for IQR increase	1.71 (1.08, 2.73)*
<u>Mora et al.</u> (2017)	Project Viva birth cohort (1999– 2002), U.S.; 1,006 children with follow-up at median 3 yrs	2.4 (1.6–3.8)	RR (95% CI) for IQR increase	Overweight: 1.03 (0.94, 1.13) Obese: 1.02 (0.89, 1.17)
	876 children with follow-up at median 7 yrs			Overweight: 1.04 (0.92, 1.17) Obese: 1.07 (0.94, 1.22)

Table 3-35. Associations between maternal exposure to PFHxS and overweight status in children in *medium* confidence epidemiology studies

Animal Studies

- 1 There are two 28-day gavage studies in SD rats (<u>NTP, 2018b</u>; <u>3M, 2000a</u>), one 4- to 6-week
- 2 oral gavage exposure study using genetically modified mice (<u>Bijland et al., 2011</u>), and two
- **3** reproductive/developmental studies using CD-1 mice (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>) or Sprague Dawley rats
- 4 (Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003) that measure effects relevant to the assessment of the
- 5 cardiovascular or metabolic systems after repeated oral dose exposure to PFHxS. The studies
- 6 report on heart weight and histopathology, and alterations of cardiometabolic endpoints such as
- 7 fasting levels of serum lipids which are considered indicative of potential cardiotoxicity (<u>Gad</u>,
- 8 <u>2015</u>). Overall study confidence was high for cardiometabolic endpoints evaluated in these studies
- 9 (Chang et al., 2018; NTP, 2018b; Bijland et al., 2011; Butenhoff et al., 2009; <u>3M</u>, 2003, <u>2000a</u>).

- 1 Studies reporting on heart weight and histopathology were considered of *low* confidence due to
- 2 experimental design uncertainties (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>; <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>) (see Figure 3-73).
- 3 Specifically, the exposure duration of less a month was not considered sufficient for evaluation of
- 4 injury to the cardiovascular system (<u>Daugherty et al., 2017</u>), raising significant concerns for
- 5 insensitivity.

Heart weight and histopathology

- 6 There is no clearly preferred measurement for evaluating heart weights (absolute or
- 7 relative). Some data show that heart weight is nonproportional to body weight (<u>Bailey et al., 2004</u>),
- 8 other data reports that heart weight in strongly correlated with body weight, with better
- 9 correlation in males (<u>Nirogi et al., 2014</u>). Thus, both absolute and relative heart weights are
- 10 considered biological relevant metric for this endpoint. Absolute and relative heart weights were
- 11 not altered in SD rats exposed to PFHxS for 28 days at 0.625 to 10 mg/kg-day (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>; <u>3M</u>,
- 12 <u>2000a</u>). However, one reproductive/developmental toxicity study reported decreased relative
- 13 heart/brain weight (by 8%) in F0 generation male SD rats exposed to PFHxS for 44 days (<u>Butenhoff</u>
- 14 <u>et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>); the biological significance of this 8% change is unclear. Importantly, the
- 15 same study also reports that absolute and heart-to-body weight ratios were not affected in males or
- 16 females exposed to PFHxS.
- 17 Heart histopathology was evaluated in a 28-day study (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>) and a
- 18 reproductive/developmental toxicity study (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>), both in SD rats.
- 19 Exposure to PFHxS from 0.625 to 10 mg/kg-day did not cause a significant effect on the incidence of
- 20 nonneoplastic cardiovascular injury in male or female rats (<u>NTP, 2018a; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M</u>,
- 21 <u>2003</u>). As noted above, there is concern that the exposure duration of these studies (<1 month) was
- 22 too short to expect to see histological manifestations of cardiac injury.



Figure 3-73. Cardiometabolic effects, heart weight/histopathology – animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Serum lipids

1



- 2 reproductive/developmental toxicity studies (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>; <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>),
- 3 and in four short-term exposure studies (<u>He et al., 2022</u>; <u>NTP, 2018a</u>; <u>Bijland et al., 2011</u>; <u>3M</u>,
- 4 <u>2000a</u>), and one chronic exposure study (<u>Pfohl et al., 2020</u>) (see Figure 3-74). In the high
- 5 confidence, short-term studies, exposure to PFHxS for 28 days resulted in a 12% to 51% reduction
- 6 in serum cholesterol at doses ranging from 1.25 to 10 mg/kg-day in male and female rats in one
- 7 study (<u>3M, 2000a</u>) and in males only in the other (<u>NTP, 2018b</u>). Likewise, a separate study using
- 8 male APOE*3-Leiden CETP23 mice reported that exposure to 6 mg/kg-day PFHxS decreased total
- 9 cholesterol, HDL and non-HDL cholesterol (<u>Bijland et al., 2011</u>). Two reproductive/developmental
- 10 toxicity studies report that PFHxS exposure for 42 to 44 days decreased serum cholesterol by 19%
- to 42% in male F0 SD rats at doses ranging from 0.3 to 10 mg/kg-day (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M.</u>
- 12 <u>2003</u>), whereas F0 CD-1 male mice treated with 10 mg/kg-day displayed a 27% reduction in
- 13 cholesterol (Chang et al., 2018). However, these effects were not observed in female Sprague
- 14 Dawley rats or CD-1 mice (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>; <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>), or male C57BL/6J
- 15 mice exposed to 12 or 29 weeks in high (<u>He et al., 2022</u>) or medium confidence studies (<u>Pfohl et al.</u>,
- 16 <u>2020</u>) exposed to 0.06 or 0.15 mg/kg-day, respectively.

²³APOE*3-Leiden.CETP mice is a genetically modified animal model which better emulates human lipoprotein profiles and is used to investigate cholesterol metabolism and cardiovascular disease (<u>Veseli et al., 2017</u>).

PFHxS exposure-induced effects on serum lipid levels and production were also measured

in rats and mice. In a high confidence study of SD rats, short-term oral exposure for 28 days decreased serum triglyceride levels by 22% to 46% after exposures ranging from 2.5 to 10 mg/kgday (NTP, 2018a; 3M, 2000a), and a medium confidence study using APOE*3-Leiden.CETP mice reported decreased serum-free fatty acids (43%) and VLDL-triglyceride production rate (74%), very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) half-life, and VLDL apolipoprotein production in animals treated with 6 mg/kg-day PFHxS (Bijland et al., 2011). The same study reported a 75% increase in lipoprotein lipase in exposed mice (Bijland et al., 2011). Two high confidence reproductive/developmental toxicity studies also evaluated PFHxS-induced alterations in other serum lipids. In SD rats, exposure to 10 mg/kg-day, decreased serum triglycerides by 27% in F0 males (Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003), but a similar study using CD-1 mice did not observe significant treatment-related changes in serum triglycerides in male or female F0 animals at PFHxS levels up to 3mg/kg-day (Chang et al., 2018). Medium and high confidence studies exposing using C57BL/6J mice to 0.15 or 0.06 mg/kg-day PFHxS for 29 or 12 weeks respectively report no significant effect on serum tryglycerides (He et al., 2022; Pfohl et al., 2020). Overall, a consistent pattern of dose-dependent decreases in cholesterol and other lipids in the blood of animals exposed to PFHxS were observed across *high* and *medium* confidence studies of varied design in both rats

- 18 and mice, although effects were largely absent in female rodents and studies that exposed mice to
- 19 PFHxS at lower doses. However, as described below there are limitations in using animal models
- 20 (including the APOE-modified mice) to emulate human lipid regulation.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13 14

15

16

17



Figure 3-74. Cardiometabolic effects, serum lipids – animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Considerations for interpreting the human relevance of the animal cardiometabolic evidence

1 The results from the available animal studies should be interpreted with caution because of 2 known cardiometabolic differences between humans and laboratory animal models commonly 3 used in toxicological studies (Getz and Reardon, 2012). This section briefly highlights what is 4 currently known regarding cardiometabolic differences between humans and laboratory animal 5 models commonly used in toxicological studies to inform potential future studies. The 6 pathophysiology of cardiovascular disease in humans is a complex process driven by multiple risk 7 factors (e.g., diabetes, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, and aging), which lead to metabolic and pro-8 inflammatory alterations. Unfortunately, there is no single animal model that completely 9 recapitulates all the features of human disease (Oppi et al., 2019). Furthermore, there are 10 significant differences between rodent and human cardiovascular systems that should be taken into 11 consideration. Murine plasma cholesterol is approximately threefold lower, the major lipoprotein in 12 mice is HDL, not LDL (Getz and Reardon, 2012), and differences in bile acid composition contribute 13 to lower intestinal absorption of cholesterol and higher cholesterol excretion (Oppi et al., 2019). 14 These differences contribute to significantly lower cholesterol levels in mice when compared with 15 humans and having lower cholesterol levels in turn confers protection from cardiovascular injuries 16 such as atherosclerosis (Oppi et al., 2019). 17 Although the available animal **evidence suggests** the cardiovascular system may be 18 responsive to PFHxS-induced responses, additional studies using experimental models and designs 19 that better emulate human disease would help to fully characterize the pathology of potential 20 cardiometabolic responses to this chemical. Future studies should focus on the use of genetically 21 manipulated or experimentally induced rodent models that can emulate human metabolic and 22 pathological conditions (Kodavanti et al., 2015). For example, studies aimed at evaluating vascular 23 injuries such as atherosclerosis should focus on the use of animal models that can generate non-24 HDL-based hypercholesterolemia such as LDL Receptor or apolipoprotein E (ApoE) null mice (Getz 25 and Reardon, 2012) and expose animals for sufficient time to develop of arterial injuries 26 (Daugherty et al., 2017). Furthermore, future studies focused on potential effects to the 27 cardiovascular system should include analysis of physiological and biochemical parameters (e.g., 28 heart rate, blood pressure, blood gases, and oxygen consumption), which are considered indicative 29 of adverse responses in the cardiovascular system (Gad, 2015).

Evidence Integration

- 30 The available evidence on PFHxS-induced cardiometabolic effects in humans is considered
- *slight* (see Table 3-36). There is some evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure and
- 32 cardiometabolic effects in humans, specifically an indication of higher serum cholesterol levels. A
- 33 similar association has been noted for some other long-chain PFAS, including PFOA and PFOS (U.S.
- 34 <u>EPA, 2016a, b</u>). However, there is little evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure and
- 35 cardiovascular disease, functional endpoints of cardiovascular function (e.g., blood pressure), or

other related cardiovascular risk factors. It is possible that cholesterol is a more sensitive measure
 to PFHxS exposure and that the exposure levels and contrast were inadequate to detect differences

- 3 in disease risk. However, without additional evidence, the lack of coherence across outcomes
- 4 reduces confidence in the evidence of the association with cardiovascular effects and indicates that
- 5 the observed changes in serum lipids may not be adverse.
- 6 The evidence from animal toxicity studies on PFHxS-induced cardiometabolic effects is
 7 considered *indeterminate*. Animal studies report dose-related decreases in serum cholesterol and
- 8 triglyceride levels in male, but not female (largely), rats and mice. The direction of the observed
- 9 responses in animals is different from the observations made in human studies (e.g., decreased
- 10 serum lipids in animals versus reported increases in humans) and these effects may be caused by
- 11 PFHxS-induced alterations in hepatic lipoprotein metabolism (see Serum Biomarkers of Liver
- 12 Function Section 3.2.5). Heart weights and histopathology were not affected in exposed animals,
- 13 although these *low* confidence experiments were potentially insensitive. The downstream effects of
- 14 the metabolic alterations observed in the available studies are unclear in the absence of additional
- 15 experiments and measures of adverse responses in the cardiovascular system. Further,
- 16 interpretation of such results is not possible due to major limitations in the animal toxicity
- 17 database. As described above, commonly used laboratory rodent species are relatively resistant to
- 18 cardiotoxicity effects in part due to differences in lipid profiles (<u>Veseli et al., 2017</u>). Furthermore,
- 19 the available evidence on PFHxS-induced cardiometabolic effects consists of short-term and
- 20 developmental exposure studies, whereas longer study durations (between 10 to 12 weeks in mice
- 21 <u>Daugherty et al. (2017)</u>) are generally preferred for evaluations cardiovascular system functions
- 22 and disease (e.g., atherosclerosis). These experimental design and database deficiencies limit the
- 23 interpretation of observed cardiometabolic changes in rodents and their applicability for informing
- 24 human health hazard.
- 25 The available animal and epidemiological **evidence suggests** but is not sufficient to infer
- 26 whether exposure to PFHxS might cause cardiometabolic effects in humans given sufficient
- 27 exposure conditions²⁴. This judgement is based primarily on consistent increases in cholesterol in
- 28 humans, but with limitations in the available epidemiological studies that introduce uncertainty
- 29 (see description above) and also reflects an inability to interpret the available epidemiology
- 30 evidence on PFHxS-induced cardiovascular disease as well as the animal evidence available to
- 31 inform this health effect.

²⁴ The "sufficient exposure conditions" are more fully evaluated and defined for the identified health effects through dose-response analysis in Section 5.

	Evid	Evidence integration summary judgment			
Evidence from stu	dies of exposed human				
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	
Serum Lipids 25 <i>medium</i> and 9 <i>low</i> confidence studies	 Consistency in direction of association for cross-sectional analyses in adults Medium confidence studies reporting an effect Exposure-response gradient observed in five studies 	 Potential for residual confounding across PFAS Unexplained inconsistency among studies with prospective exposure measurement and for all studies of LDL cholesterol and triglycerides 	Majority of studies in adults report higher serum cholesterol with higher PFHxS exposure, including 40–60% increases in the odds of high cholesterol.	 ⊕⊙⊙ Slight Generally consistent findings for total cholesterol in adults. Evidence for other related outcomes and age groups is inconsistent. 	 ⊕⊙⊙ Evidence suggests, but is not sufficient to infer Primary Basis: based primarily on consistent increases in cholesterol in humans, but with limitations in the available epidemiological studies that introduce uncertainty. Human relevance: The animal models used are considered inadequate to inform potential human cardiometabolic responses with confidence. Cross-stream coherence: Evidence in animals is indeterminate
Other Cardiovascular Risk Factors 1 high, 18 medium, and 7 low confidence studies	• No factors noted	• Unexplained inconsistency	Positive associations reported for hypertension in adolescents and young adults, but not other adults or children. One of four studies of gestational hypertension and two of four studies of preeclampsia reported a positive association. No association between PFHxS exposure		

Table 3-36. Evidence profile table for PFHxS exposure and cardiometabolic effects

	Evic	Evidence integration summary judgment			
			atherosclerosis or ventricular geometry		
Cardiovascular Disease 2 medium and 3 low confidence studies	No factors noted	 Lack of coherence across outcomes in <i>low</i> confidence studies Unexplained inconsistency – No associations in the two medium confidence studies 	No association with cardiovascular disease in medium confidence studies. Low confidence studies report higher odds of cardiovascular conditions and lower odds of coronary heart disease		
Evidence from in v	vivo animal studies	1	1	1	-
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	
Heart Weight / Histopathology 3 low confidence studies in adult rats: 28-d (×2) 44-d Serum Lipids 5 high confidence studies in adult rats: 28-d (×2) 42-d 44-d 84-d	 High and medium confidence studies of serum lipid measures 	 Inconsistent findings across studies reporting on serum lipids. Unclear biological significance of decreases in serum lipids. 	 No observed PFHxS- induced effects on heart weight or histopathology in short-term, potentially insensitive studies. Dose-dependent decreases in serum cholesterol and triglycerides. 	⊙⊙⊙ Indeterminate	
	Evic	Evidence integration summary judgment			
--------------------------------	------	---------------------------------------	--	--	
2 <i>medium</i> quality study:					
• 42-d					
• 203-d					

1

3.2.7. Hematopoietic Effects

Human Studies

One epidemiology study (<u>Jiang et al., 2014</u>) examined the association between PFHxS
 exposure and hematopoietic system effects, specifically the parameters from a complete blood
 count (white and red blood cells, hemoglobin, platelets). This study was considered *uninformative* due to lack of consideration of confounding, and thus no human studies were synthesized for
 hematopoietic effects.

Animal Studies

- 6 The toxicity database for PFHxS-induced hematopoietic system effects consists of two 28-
- 7 day studies (<u>NTP, 2018a; 3M, 2000a</u>) in Crl:Cd Br and Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats, respectively; and

8 one multigenerational study in Sprague Dawley rats (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>). All studies exposed the

- 9 animals orally via gavage. Hematopoietic system-related outcomes evaluated by these studies
- 10 included non-immune blood cells counts and clotting parameters.
- 11 Evaluation of the available animal studies showed that these were well conducted for most
- 12 hematopoietic-related endpoints. All were considered *high* confidence. The available studies
- 13 generally examined PFHxS hematopoietic effects using doses that ranged between 0 and 10 mg/kg-
- 14 day in rats (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2000a</u>) with the exception of <u>NTP (2018a)</u> in which a range
- 15 of 0–50 mg/kg-day in female rats and 0–10 mg/kg-day in male rats was used. This approach was to
- 16 account for the pharmacokinetic (PK) sex differences that have been observed in rats, in
- 17 which PFHxS appears to have a lower mean half-life in female rats versus their male counterparts
- 18 (20.7 and 26.9 days respectively (<u>Kim et al., 2016b</u>)). No overt toxicity was observed at any of the
- 19 highest doses tested in any of the available studies. <u>3M (2000a)</u> and <u>NTP</u>
- 20 (2018a) measured PFHxS related hematopoietic effects using the following parameters: hematocrit,
- 21 hemoglobin, platelet counts, prothrombin time, and red blood cell counts. <u>NTP (2018a)</u> also
- 22 measured PFHxS effects on reticulocyte counts. The study by <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> measured
- 23 hematocrit, hemoglobin, prothrombin time, and red blood cell counts in P0 males and females after
- 24 44 days of PFHxS (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>).
- Figure 3-75 below summarizes the results of animal study evaluations, and Figure 3-76
- 26 summarizes the experimental studies and their findings.



Figure 3-75. Hematological animal study confidence scores from repeated PFHxS dose animal toxicity studies. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

- 1 Hemostasis, the physiological process of blood coagulation after injury, is dependent on 2 interactions between the vasculature and circulating plasma, platelets, blood cells and their related 3 molecules (Harris et al., 2012; Gale, 2011). Clinical hematology assays like those available in the 4 PFHxS evidence based provide insight into bone marrow²⁵ health as well as to assess blood clotting 5 function. Due to the dynamic interactions between hematopoietic cells and their related molecules, 6 information on the hematopoietic health of an organism is gained by the interpretation of the 7 collective battery of assays, rather than individual assay results (Harris et al., 2012). Therefore, the 8 collective information from the entirety of the data provided from these available assays was used 9 to determine the potential for hazard posed by PFHxS on the hematopoietic system. Hematocrit (Hct), hemoglobin (Hb), and red blood cell (RBC) count 10 The hematocrit assay measures the amount (i.e., as a percent of blood volume) of red blood
- 11 cells (RBCs) in the blood. This measurement can provide insight on oxygen delivery capacity. All
- 12 three studies measured PFHxS effects on hematocrit. Two out of the three observed effects related
- 13 to PFHxS exposure 3M (2000a) observed a significant decrease (5%–6%) in hematocrit in male and
- 14 female Crl:Cd Br rats following 28 days of daily oral exposure to 10 mg/kg-day PFHxS (the only

²⁵The bone marrow is the site of blood stem cell formation. Blood stem cells transform into a variety of blood cells with distinct functions such as white cells (immune function); red blood cells (oxygen carrying) and platelet cells (clotting and injury repair) (<u>Manz et al., 2004</u>).

1 tested dose). In the multigenerational study, <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> also observed a significant

2 (between 6% and 8%) decrease in hematocrit in male SD rats exposed to PFHxS at \geq 3 mg/kg-day

- 3 for 44 days in F0 rats; however, females were unaffected. Further, changes in hematocrit were not
- 4 observed by <u>NTP (2018a)</u> in male or female SD rats exposed for 28 days to doses of PFHxS up to 10
- 5 or 50 mg/kg-day, respectively.
- Hemoglobin is an oxygen-carrying protein found in red blood cells. Its function is to deliver
 oxygen from red blood cells to organs and tissues and to transport carbon dioxide from these back

8 to the lungs. All three studies measured hemoglobin in response to PFHxS exposure (<u>NTP, 2018a;</u>

- 9 <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2000a</u>). Similar to the results for hematocrit, <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u>
- 10 observed a significant decrease (between 5% and 7%) in hemoglobin in male, but not female, rats
- orally exposed to $\geq 1 \text{ mg/kg-day PFHxS}$ after 44 days of exposure, while <u>3M (2000a)</u> observed a
- significant decrease (4%–7%) in hemoglobin in male and female rats at the only dose, 10 mg/kg-
- day, at day 28. Changes in hemoglobin were not observed by <u>NTP (2018a)</u> in either male or female
- 14 SD rats exposed to a similar dose range of PFHxS for 28 days.
- 15Red blood cells carry oxygen, and their abundance can affect how much oxygen is received
- 16 by tissues and organs. RBC count provides a screening tool to assist in diagnosing or monitoring
- 17 conditions such as anemia. All studies measured RBC counts in response to PFHxS exposure, with
- 18 similar findings as for Hct and Hb, specifically: decreased RBC counts (between 7% and 8%) at \geq 3
- 19 mg/kg-day in male, but not female, rats exposed to PFHxS for at least 42 days (Butenhoff et al.,
- 20 2009); decreased RBC counts (between 6% and 7%) in male and female rats exposed to 10 mg/kg-
- 21 day PFHxS for 28 days (<u>3M, 2000a</u>); and, in the second 28-day study, no changes in RBC counts in
- 22 male or female rats at up to 10 mg/kg-day (males) or 50 mg/kg-day (females) PFHxS (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>).

Reticulocytes count

- 23 Reticulocytes are RBC precursors produced in the bone marrow and released into the
- 24 bloodstream where they develop into mature RBCs. Reticulocyte counts can provide information
- about the health of the bone marrow and its ability to produce RBCs. Only the NTP study measured
- 26 reticulocyte counts., A significant decrease (10% –27%) in number of reticulocytes was observed in
- SD male rats at \geq 1.25 mg/kg-day and a significant increase (40%) in reticulocyte counts in female
- rats at 3.12 mg/kg-day, but not higher or lower doses (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>). The other two studies
- 29 (Butenhoff et al., 2009; <u>3M</u>, 2000a) did not evaluate reticulocytes, preventing interpretation as to
- 30 whether a compensatory response of the bone marrow to the observed effects on red blood cell
- 31 parameters might exist.

<u>Platelet count</u>

32 Platelets are cell fragments found within the blood that are critical for clot formation when

- 33 blood vessels are damaged. Together with prothrombin time, platelet counts provide information
- 34 on coagulation potential. Two studies, <u>3M (2000a)</u> and <u>NTP (2018a)</u>, measured PFHxS effects on
- 35 platelet counts. <u>3M (2000a)</u> observed a significant decrease (11%–26%) in total platelet numbers

- 1 in male and female rats exposed to 10 mg/kg-day PFHxS for 28 days. <u>NTP (2018a)</u> did not report
- 2 any changes in platelet counts in male or female rats exposed to PFHxS for 28 days at up to 10
- 3 mg/kg-day (males) or up to 50 mg/kg-day (females).

Prothrombin time

- 4 Prothrombin time is an assay measuring the amount of time it takes blood to clot. Two
- 5 studies, <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> and <u>3M (2000a)</u>, measured PFHxS effects on prothrombin time.
- 6 <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> observed a significant increase (between 3%–6%) in prothrombin time in
- 7 male, but not female, rats at 0.3, 3 and 10 mg/kg-day (doses tested: 0.3, 1, 3, and 10 mg/kg-day).
- 8 Under similar study conditions, the single dose (10 mg/kg-day) 28-day study by <u>3M (2000a)</u>
- 9 observed that prothrombin time significantly decreased (between 5%–6%) in female rats and male
- 10 rats in response to 10 mg/kg-day PFHxS. Figure 3-76 below summarizes the study design and
- 11 results for each hematology parameter described in these three studies.

Endpoint Name	Study Name	Experiment Name	Animal Description	Observation Time	PFHxS-Related Hematopoietic Effects	
Hemalocril (Hcl)	3M, 2000, 3981194	28 Day Oral	Rat, Crl:Cd Br (2)	Study Day 28	V No signit	ficant change
				Recovery Day 14	 Significa 	int increase
				Recovery Day 28	Significa	int decrease
			Rat, CrI:Cd Br (1)	Study Day 28		
				Recovery Day 14	•	
				Recovery Day 28		
	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	Multi-Generational Oral	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (5)	Day 44	• • • •	
	NTP, 2018, 4309363	28 Day Oral	Rat, Sprague-Dawley (2)	Day 29	0-0-0-0	
			Rat, Sprague-Dawley (3)	Day 29		
Hemoglobin (Hb)	3M, 2000, 3981194	28 Day Oral	Rat, Cri:Cd Br (2)	Study Day 28		
				Recovery Day 14		
				Recovery Day 28	•	
			Rat. Crl:Cd Br (2)	Study Day 28	•	
				Recovery Day 14	•	
				Recovery Day 28	•	
	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	Multi-Generational Oral	P0 Rat, Sprague-Dawley (Day 44	• • • •	
	NTP, 2018, 4309363	28 Day Oral	Rat, Sprague-Dawley ()	Day 29	0-0-0-0-0	
		1000 March	Rat, Sprague-Dawley ()	Day 29		
Red Blood Cells (RBC)	3M, 2000, 3981194	28 Day Oral	Rat, Crl:Cd Br (/?)	Study Day 28	▼	
				Recovery Day 14	•	
				Recovery Day 28		
			Rat, Cri:Cd Br (?)	Study Day 28	▼	
				Recovery Day 14		
				Recovery Day 28		
	Butenhoff, 2009, 1405789	Multi-Generational Oral	P0 Rat, Spradue-Dawley (.1)	Day 44	• • • • •	
	NTP. 2018, 4309363	28 Day Oral	Rat, Spraque-Dawley (S)	Day 29	0-0-0-0	
			Rat, Spraque-Dawley (3)	Day 29	0-0-0-0	
Reticulocytes (RET)	NTP. 2018. 4309363	28 Day Oral	Rat. Sprague-Dawley (2)	Day 29	A-0-0-0	
	Card & Mandae Politica and	CHARLES & R. LAN	Rat. Sprague-Dawley (3)	Day 29		
Platelet (PLAT)	3M. 2000. 3981194	28 Day Oral	Rat. Crl:Cd Br (2)	Study Day 28	▼	
	and a state of the second	and the second second		Recovery Day 14		
				Recovery Day 28		
			Rat. Cri:Cd Br (S)	Study Day 28		
			Construction of ARY	Recovery Day 14	▼	
				Recovery Day 28		
	NTP 2018 4309363	28 Day Oral	Rat Spranue-Dawley (S)	Day 29		
	(1)1, 2010, 1000000	Lo Duy ona	Rat Sprague-Dawley (-*)	Day 29		
Prothrombin Time (PT)	3M 2000 3081104	28 Day Oral	Rat Cri/Cd Br (3)	Study Day 28	v	
(Totalonion fine (FT)	5141, 2000, 300 1104	20 Day Ola	nation.ou brite)	Recovery Day 14		
				Receivery Day 14		
			Pat Critical Br (0)	Study Day 28	v	
			nation of (±)	Recovery Day 14	v	
				Recovery Day 14		
	Butanhaff 2000 4405700	Multi Conservational C	DO Dat Corport Dentes 1 1	Dou 44		
	Buterinon, 2009, 1405/89	wum-Generational Oral	Fornat, Sprague-Dawley (0)	Day 44		



Evidence Integration

1 The currently available evidence is inadequate to assess whether PFHxS exposure may 2 cause hematopoietic effects in humans. The evidence informing the potential for PFHxS exposure to 3 cause hematopoietic effects is limited to hematology measures in three *high* confidence studies in 4 rats, with exposure durations of 28–44 days, and which together are considered to provide *slight* 5 evidence (see Table 3-37). Two of the three studies were consistent to some degree, demonstrating 6 a pattern of changes in male rats. Specifically, male rats exposed to PFHxS at doses ranging from 0 7 to 10 mg/kg-day for 28-44 days exhibited decreases in multiple RBC parameters (i.e., Hct, Hb, and 8 RBCs). However, there were inconsistencies, such as reported decreases in platelets counts in one

1 28-day study (3M, 2000a), which were not observed in a separate 28-day study with similar study 2 design (NTP, 2018a). Prothrombin time was reported to increase in male rats as a result of PFHxS 3 exposure in one study (Butenhoff et al., 2009) and decrease in male and female rats in another (3M, 4 2000a). Butenhoff et al. (2009) did not measure hematological parameters in female rats). There 5 was unexplained inconsistency across studies. The two 28-day studies (NTP, 2018a; 3M, 2000a) 6 reported opposite findings, despite similar study designs and rat strains (the Crl:CD Br rats used by 7 <u>3M (2000a)</u> are a Sprague Dawley strain). Specifically, <u>NTP (2018a)</u> did not observe consistent 8 effects on these same parameters (i.e., Hct, Hb, RBCs, and platelets were unchanged; reticulocytes 9 were decreased) in male animals exposed to doses of PFHxS ranging from 0.625 to 10 mg/kg-day. 10 Thus, there is no clear explanation (e.g., study methods; doses; exposure duration; species, strain, 11 or sex) for this inconsistency. 12 As noted above, the observations in male rats across RBC parameters and other measures 13 reported in <u>3M (2000a)</u> and <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> appear somewhat coherent. RBCs play an 14 important role in hemostasis, as increased Hct has been shown to increase blood viscosity 15 (reviewed in Litvinov and Weisel (2017)). Additionally, RBCs interact with platelets and modulate 16 their reactivity through cell signaling molecules or through direct adhesive RBC-platelet 17 interactions (reviewed in Litvinov and Weisel (2017)). Therefore, if RBC counts, along with Hb and 18 Hct measures are decreased following PFHxS exposure, then it is reasonable that an increase in 19 prothrombin time would be observed. 20 The observed effects in the study by <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> were dose dependent, with 21 effects generally observed at or greater than 3 mg/kg-day, although some changes at lower doses 22 were also noted. The duration dependence of these effects could not be determined; the 28-day 23 study by 3M (2000a) that reported similar findings to those observed by Butenhoff et al. (2009) 24 only tested 10 mg/kg-day and the PFHxS-related effects on RBC parameters were no longer 25 observed at or after recovery day 14. Further the magnitude of effects across the various 26 hematological endpoints measured (ranging from about 4% to 8%) is small and their biological 27 significance is questionable. The animal evidence is considered *slight* due to the questionable 28 biological significance and unexplained inconsistencies in the reported PFHxS effects on 29 hematology among the available studies. 30 The currently available **evidence is inadequate to assess** whether PFHxS may cause 31 adverse hematopoietic effects in humans given sufficient exposure conditions²⁶. This conclusion is

- 32 based on the three available animal studies that assessed PFHxS doses ranging from 0 to 10 mg/kg-
- day in male rats.

²⁶ The "sufficient exposure conditions" are more fully evaluated and defined for the identified health effects through dose-response analysis in Section 5.

Table 3-37. Evidence profile table for PFHxS hematopoietic effects

	Evidence s	tream summary and inte	rpretation		Evidence integration summary judgment	
Evidence from studies of exposed humans (see Hematopoietic Human Studies Section)						
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	Inferences across evidence streams	
No informative studies (1 <i>uninformative</i>)	rmative studies identified OOO Indeterminate					
Evidence from in vivo ani	mal studies (see Hemato	poietic Animal Studies S	ection)		Primary basis:	
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	rs that increase Factors that decrease Sum certainty		Evidence stream judgment	Despite coherent decreases in multiple RBC parameters in two studies in male rats, there were	
3 <i>high</i> confidence studies in rats	• All <i>high</i> confidence studies	 Unexplained inconsistencies across sexes and studies. Unclear biological significance of effect magnitude for most endpoints (~4%–8%) 	2 of the 3 studies reported male rats exposed for 28–44 d exhibited small decreases in multiple, coherent RBC parameters (i.e., Hct, Hb, and RBCs), as well as decreases in prothrombin time. However, these effects were observed in both sexes in one study, only males in a second study, and results were null in the third.	⊕⊙ ⊙ Slight	unexplained inconsistencies across studies and an unclear biological significance of effect magnitude for most endpoints <i>Human relevance</i> : Without evidence to the contrary, effects in rodent models are considered relevant to humans. <i>Cross-stream coherence</i> : NA; human evidence indeterminate <i>Susceptible Populations</i> <i>and lifestages</i> : NA	

3.2.8. Female Reproductive Effects

Human Studies

1 Studies of possible female reproductive effects of PFHxS are available for fecundity (i.e., 2 time to pregnancy), reproductive hormones, pubertal development, gynecological conditions 3 (endometriosis and polycystic ovary syndrome [PCOS]), ovarian reserve (including POI), menstrual 4 cycle characteristics, and developmental measures (anogenital distance). While the evidence for 5 each of these outcomes is synthesized separately, many of them are closely interconnected, with 6 almost all of the outcomes having the potential to influence fecundity, as well as each other. For 7 example, fecundity may be reduced by gynecological conditions and diminished ovarian reserve. 8 Both of these may influence or be influenced by reproductive hormones levels, as are menstrual 9 cycle characteristics, timing of pubertal development, and anogenital distance. The direction of 10 association across these related outcomes is not always straightforward, which complicates 11 considerations of coherence across outcomes. For example, low levels of anti-Mullerian hormone 12 (discussed with ovarian reserve) may indicate difficulty getting pregnant (i.e., decreased fecundity) 13 but high levels may be associated with PCOS, which may also decrease fecundity. In addition, 14 preterm birth and spontaneous abortion could be driven by either female reproductive or 15 developmental toxicity. These latter two outcomes are reviewed in the developmental section of 16 this assessment but are also included in the consideration of coherence across outcomes for female 17 reproductive effects.

18 In total, 35 epidemiology studies are available for these outcomes. The study evaluations19 are summarized below for each outcome or group of outcomes.

Fecundity (time to pregnancy)

20 Fecundity is the biological capacity to reproduce. Time to pregnancy, defined as the number 21 of calendar months or menstrual cycles from the time of cessation of contraception to detection of 22 pregnancy, is the primary outcome measure used to study fecundity. Many of the other outcomes 23 described in this section contribute to fecundity. There are nine epidemiology studies that report 24 on the association between PFHxS exposure and fecundity and related outcomes. A summary of the 25 study evaluations is presented in Figure 3-77, and additional details can be obtained from HAWC. 26 One study (Cariou et al., 2015) was considered *uninformative* due to lack of consideration of any 27 potential confounders and excluded from further analysis. Of the remaining studies, two were 28 preconception cohorts and considered *medium* confidence (Crawford et al., 2017; Vestergaard et al., 29 2012), and four were pregnancy cohorts and considered *low* confidence (Bach et al., 2018; Bach et 30 al., 2015; Vélez et al., 2015; Jørgensen et al., 2014). The pregnancy cohorts were rated lower due to 31 potential selection bias from excluding women who were unable to conceive. Two studies examined 32 related outcomes in women undergoing treatment for infertility. Wang et al. (2021a) describes a 33 cohort of women undergoing *in vitro* fertilization (IVF)-embryo transfer and reports rates of human

- 1 chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) negativity following treatment; this study was rated *medium*
- 2 confidence. <u>Kim et al. (2020b)</u> is a cross-sectional study of fertilization rate in women who
- 3 underwent fully stimulated assisted reproductive treatment at an IVF clinic; this study was rated
- 4 *low* confidence primarily due to concerns for residual confounding.



Figure 3-77. Summary of study evaluation for epidemiology studies of fecundity. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

5 The results for the association between PFHxS exposure and fecundity are presented in 6 Table 3-38. A fecundability ratio less than 1 indicates a decrease in fecundity/increase in time to 7 pregnancy. Of the seven studies, two low confidence studies (Bach et al., 2018; Vélez et al., 2015) 8 reported a statistically significant decrease in fecundity/increase in time to pregnancy with 9 increased exposure (only in parous women in <u>Bach et al. (2018)</u>). The remaining studies reported 10 no decrease in fecundity. In addition to the time to pregnancy results, three studies (Bach et al., 11 2015; Vélez et al., 2015; Vestergaard et al., 2012) also analyzed infertility as an outcome. Only the 12 low confidence study by <u>Vélez et al. (2015)</u> reported an increase in infertility with increased 13 exposure (OR:1.27 (95% CI:1.09,1.48). Neither study of IVF outcomes (fertilization rate, hCG negativity) reported an association between PFHxS exposure and reduced fertility. 14 15 There is unexplained inconsistency in the evidence for this association. A decrease in 16 fecundity with higher exposure was observed in two *low* confidence studies, but not the other four studies, which included the two *medium* confidence studies. The primary limitation in both Bach et 17 18 al. (2018) and <u>Vélez et al. (2015)</u> was the potential for selection bias resulting from enrollment of 19 participants during pregnancy. This approach would exclude women who were ultimately unable to

- 1 conceive. If there is a true association between PFHxS and fecundity, this would be a bias against
- 2 the most exposed women, which would likely result in an underestimate of the association.
- 3 However, if there is no association, selection would not be related to exposure, so is unlikely to
- 4 cause bias. Thus, the observed associations should not be dismissed as due to selection bias. On the
- 5 other hand, as suggested by the authors, the lack of association in nulliparous women in <u>Bach et al.</u>
- 6 (2018) suggests the possibility of confounding by factors related to previous pregnancies in the
- 7 results of parous women, which could also exist in <u>Vélez et al. (2015</u>), where the population was
- 8 only 29% nulliparous. Overall, there is considerable uncertainty in the strength of this
- 9 inconsistently observed association.

Reference, confidence	Population	Exposure median (IQR)	Comparison for effect estimate	Fecundability ratio (95% Cl)
Bach et al. (2015),	Aarhus pregnancy cohort (2008–2013),	0.5 (0.4–	0.1 ng/mL increase	1.00 (0.99,1.01)
low	Denmark; 1,372 nulliparous women	0.6)	Quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: 1.05 (0.89,1.24) Q3: 1.06 (0.89,1.25) Q4: 1.12 (0.94,1.32)
<u>Bach et al. (2018)</u> , Iow	Danish National Birth Cohort sub- sample (1996–2002), Denmark0.9 (0.7– 1.2)QuaNulliparous women (n = 638)		Quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: 1.03 (0.81–1.32) Q3: 1.05 (0.83–1.35) Q4: 0.92 (0.72–1.18)
	Parous women (n = 613)			Q2: 0.74 (0.55–1.01) Q3: 0.79 (0.59–1.04) Q4: 0.60 (0.45–0.80)*
<u>Vélez et al.</u> (2015), low	MIREC pregnancy cohort (2008–2011), Canada; 1,625 women (29% nulliparous)	1	SD increase	0.91 (0.86,0.97)*
Vestergaard et al.	Preconception cohort (1992–1995),	1.2 (0.9–	log-unit increase	1.33 (1.01,1.75)
<u>(2012)</u> , medium	Denmark; 222 nulliparous women	1.8)ª	Above median vs. below	1.29 (0.90,1.83)
Crawford et al. (2017), medium	Time to Conceive cohort (2008–2009), U.S.; 99 women (40% nulliparous)	1.6 (GM)	dichotomous cutoff 75th percentile	Cycle-specific model 1.40 (0.79,2.49) d-specific model 0.96 (0.31,1.71)
<mark>Jørgensen et al.</mark> (2014), Iow	INUENDO pregnancy cohort (2002– 2004), Greenland, Poland, Ukraine; 938 women	1.9	In-unit increase	Pooled 0.97 (0.85,1.11)
	Greenland (n = 448, 31% nulliparous)	2.0	Tertiles vs. T1	T2: 1.05 (0.79,1.38) T3: 0.90 (0.68,1.19)
	Poland (n = 203, 92% nulliparous)	2.4		T2: 0.86 (0.57,1.30) T3: 0.94 (0.62,1.42)
	Ukraine (n = 287, 79% nulliparous)	1.6		T2: 0.85 (0.59,1.23) T3: 1.11 (0.78,1.58)

Table 3-38. Summary of results for epidemiology studies of fecundity

**p* < 0.05.

^aIn participants with pregnancy.

Reproductive hormones in females

1 Reproductive hormones and related proteins examined in the evaluated studies include 2 testosterone, estradiol, insulin like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), 3 luteinizing hormone (LH), progesterone, as well as sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG), all 4 measured in blood, or in one study, saliva. Reproductive hormone levels are associated with all of 5 the other female reproductive outcomes discussed in this section, but the relationships are often 6 complex. 7 Key issues for the evaluation of studies of reproductive hormones were sample collection 8 and processing. For testosterone, LH, FSH, and prolactin, due to diurnal variation, blood sample 9 collection should occur at the same time of day for all participants, and if not, time of collection 10 must be accounted for in the analysis. If there is no consideration of time of collection, the study is 11 classified as deficient for outcome ascertainment and *low* confidence overall for these hormones as 12 this is expected to result in nondifferential outcome misclassification. This applied to eight studies 13 (Timmermann et al., 2022; Aycan, 2019; Elavarasi et al., 2019; Heffernan et al., 2018; Lopez-14 Espinosa et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2015; Osterman et al., 2008; Martin, 1978). Lastly, the etiologic 15 timing of PFHxS exposure relevant for influencing reproductive hormones is unclear and likely 16 dependent on several factors, and thus all exposure windows with available data were considered, 17 including cross-sectional since circulating hormone levels can be rapidly upregulated or 18 downregulated in response to a change in exposure. 19 Fifteen studies (reported in 16 publications) examine potential associations between PFHxS 20 exposure and reproductive hormones. One study was deemed *uninformative* due to multiple 21 serious deficiencies in the participant selection, confounding, and analysis domains (McCov et al., 22 2017). Most studies examined only testosterone and estradiol and measured exposure and outcome 23 concurrently, though some studies measured additional hormones and/or measured exposure 24 prospectively (prenatal exposure in Maisonet et al. (2015), Jensen et al. (2020b), and Timmermann 25 et al. (2022), early pregnancy for outcomes in late pregnancy (Yang et al., 2022b), and pre-26 menopause in Harlow et al. (2021). Eight studies (Timmermann et al., 2022; Yang et al., 2022b; 27 Harlow et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2021b; Heffernan et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018b; Barrett et al., 28 2015; Lewis et al., 2015) examined associations in adults, three studies (Zhou et al., 2016; Lewis et 29 al., 2015; Maisonet et al., 2015) in adolescents, one study (Lopez-Espinosa et al., 2016) in children, 30 and three studies (Jensen et al., 2020b; Liu et al., 2020b; Yao et al., 2019) in infants. The study 31 evaluations are summarized in Figure 3-78. Six studies were considered *medium* confidence and 32 seven were low confidence. However, of the medium confidence studies, two did not consider time 33 of day of sample collection for hormones and were thus *low* confidence for testosterone (Yao et al., 34 2019; Lopez-Espinosa et al., 2016). Notably, two studies (Heffernan et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018b) 35 included participants with gynecological conditions (polycystic ovarian syndrome [PCOS] and 36 premature ovarian insufficiency (POI), respectively). These conditions are associated with changes 37 in reproductive hormone levels, and thus stratified results were used. These studies may also be

- 1 affected by reverse causality, as menstrual cyclicity is associated with both hormone levels and
- 2 these conditions, and menstrual cycle length/regularity may influence PFAS excretion (discussed
- 3 further below, see Menstrual cycle characteristics below).



Figure 3-78. Summary of study evaluations for epidemiology studies of female reproductive hormones. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link. Multiple publications of the same study: <u>Yao et al. (2019)</u> also includes <u>Yao et al. (2021)</u>.

- 4 Estradiol
- 5
- Nine studies examined estradiol levels in association with PFHxS. In six studies of adults,
- 6 one *low* confidence study reported lower estradiol with higher exposure in women with premature
- 7 ovarian insufficiency (POI) (β : -0.19 (95% CI: -0.37, -0.02)) but no change in women without POI
- 8 (<u>Zhang et al., 2018b</u>). Conversely, one *low* confidence study reported higher estradiol with higher
- 9 exposure in adult women without PCOS (β : 223, SE 255), although this was not statistically
- significant, and no change was observed in women with PCOS (<u>Heffernan et al., 2018</u>). In both of
- 11 these studies, the results in controls (without POI or PCOS) are more straightforward to interpret

- 1 since the presence of these conditions may influence hormones levels and as discussed below, PFAS
- 2 levels. The remaining studies of adults, all *medium* confidence, including one in healthy non-
- 3 pregnant women (<u>Barrett et al., 2015</u>), one in pregnant women (<u>Yang et al., 2022b</u>), one in
- 4 premenopausal (or transitioning to menopause) women (<u>Harlow et al., 2021</u>), and one in
- 5 postmenopausal women (Wang et al., 2021b), reported no association. In younger populations, a
- 6 single *low* confidence study of adolescents reported no association (Zhou et al., 2016), while a
- 7 single *low* confidence study of children (<u>Lopez-Espinosa et al., 2016</u>) reported higher ln-estradiol
- 8 levels with higher PFHxS (2.1% difference (95% CI: –2.2, 6.5)). Lastly, in one *medium* confidence
- **9** study of infants (Yao et al., 2019), there was higher estradiol with higher PFHxS (β: 0.30 (95% CI:
- 10 0.27, 0.37)). Overall, there are three studies reporting higher estradiol (one statistically significant)
- 11 in at least one subpopulation, one study reporting lower estradiol, and five studies reporting no
- 12 association with PFHxS exposure. There was no apparent pattern of association by study
- 13 confidence or study sensitivity ratings/exposure levels and contrast, and thus these inconsistent
- 14 results are difficult to interpret.

15 *Testosterone*

- 16 As described above, most studies were *low* confidence for testosterone. In adult women, there were
- 17 five studies available, all *low* confidence except <u>Harlow et al. (2021)</u>. Two of these reported
- 18 nonstatistically significant inverse associations between testosterone and PFHxS exposure. Lewis et
- 19 <u>al. (2015)</u> reported results stratified by age group and observed stronger associations in lower ages
- 20 (β (95% CI) for 20-<40: -3.3 (-8.7, 2.5), 40-<60: -2.4 (-8.7, 4.3), 60-80: -0.2 (-8.3, 8.7). Zhang et
- 21 al. (2018b), also reported an inverse association in controls without POI (β –0.11, 95% CI: –0.27,
- 22 0.05). In contrast, <u>Heffernan et al. (2018)</u> reported a statistically significant positive association in
- 23 controls without PCOS (β 0.50, SE 0.17). Studies in pre- and post-menopausal women reported no
- 24 association (<u>Harlow et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2021b</u>). In adolescents, three studies were available.
- 25 <u>Maisonet et al. (2015)</u>, a *medium* confidence study, reported higher testosterone levels in 15-year-
- 26 old girls with the increasing tertiles of PFHxS exposure, although there was no apparent exposure-
- 27 response gradient across the narrow tertiles (1.3–1.9 ng/mL (β: 0.18 (95% CI: 0.00,0.37), and
- 28 >1.9ng/mL (β: 0.18 (95% CI: 0.00, 0.35) compared with ≤1.2ng/mL PFHxS). Lewis et al. (2015)
- 29 reported an inverse association (β 5.3, 95% CI: –11.6, 1.5) (with median exposure of 0.8 ng/mL)
- 30 while <u>Zhou et al. (2016)</u> reported no association (with mean PFHxS exposure of 1.2 ng/mL). One
- 31 *low* confidence study in children reported no association with testosterone (Lopez-Espinosa et al.,
- 32 <u>2016</u>) with median exposure of 7 ng/mL, and one *low* confidence study in infants (<u>Yao et al., 2019</u>)
- reported an inverse association ($\beta = -0.16$ (95% CI: -0.36, 0.04) with median exposure of 0.3
- 34 ng/mL.
- Overall, there are three of ten studies reporting inverse associations between testosterone
 and PFHxS exposure, including two of five studies in adults, one of three studies in adolescents, zero
 of one study in children, and one of one study in infants. In addition, one study in adults reported a
- 38 positive association. There was no apparent pattern of association by exposure levels. The study

- 1 with the highest exposure levels and greatest contrast (<u>Lopez-Espinosa et al., 2016</u>) reported no
- 2 association, while inverse associations were observed in studies with narrow contrast (<u>Yao et al.</u>,
- 3 <u>2019</u>; <u>Zhang et al., 2018b</u>), although not statistically significant.

4 Other hormones and related molecules

- 5 For other hormones and related molecules, <u>Lopez-Espinosa et al. (2016)</u> examined
- 6 associations between PFHxS and IGF-1, reporting inverse, although nonmonotonic in categorical
- 7 analyses, associations. Sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) was not associated with PFHxS levels
- 8 in four studies (Harlow et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2021b; Heffernan et al., 2018; Maisonet et al.,
- 9 <u>2015</u>). <u>Barrett et al. (2015</u>) observed no evidence of association with luteal phase progesterone in
- 10 saliva in normally cycling women, while in infants, <u>Liu et al. (2020b)</u> reported a small but not
- 11 statistically significant positive association (2.8% increase) with progesterone. <u>Zhang et al. (2018b)</u>
- 12 reported positive associations with FSH (β 0.16, 95% CI: 0.04, 0.28) and prolactin (β 0.11, 95% CI:
- 13 –0.01, 0.22) in women with premature ovarian sufficiency, but no association in controls, while
- 14 <u>Harlow et al. (2021)</u> reported an inverse association with FSH only in nulliparous women (-4.62,
- 15 95% CI; -8.60, -0.47). In Jensen et al. (2020b), there were positive associations (*p* > 0.05) with LH,
- 16 androstenedione, and DHEAS in infant girls. Lastly, <u>Timmermann et al. (2022)</u> reported a
- 17 statistically non-significant inverse association with prolactin in pregnant women at gestational
- 18 week 10 (3.1% decrease) but no difference at gestational week 28.



Figure 3-79. Summary of study evaluation for epidemiology studies of other female reproductive effects (menstrual cycle characteristics, gynecological conditions, ovarian reserve, and pubertal development). For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Menstrual cycle characteristics

1 Three epidemiology studies report on the association between PFHxS exposure and 2 menstrual cycle characteristics. One was a pregnancy cohort in Norway (Singer et al., 2018), one 3 was a cross-sectional study of participants in a preconception cohort in China (Zhou et al., 2017a), 4 and one was a cross-sectional study of reproductive aged Black women in the U.S. (Wise et al., 5 2022). For this outcome, there is potential for reverse causation because menstruation is one of the 6 mechanisms by which PFAS are removed from the body. It is expected that a longer cycle would 7 result in less clearance of PFAS, and therefore higher PFAS in the body, possibly resulting in inflated 8 effect estimates. Thus, all three studies were considered *low* confidence (see Figure 3-58). There 9 were also concerns for potential outcome misclassification due to self-report, since the 10 questionnaires used were not validated. Zhou et al. (2017a) reported an increase in odds of irregular and long cycle (OR (95% CI) for continuous exposure = 1.80 (1.17,2.77) and 1.73 11

- 1 (1.13,2.65), respectively), and a decrease in the odds of menorrhagia (OR = 0.14 (0.06,0.36). <u>Singer</u>
- 2 <u>et al. (2018)</u> also reported higher PFHxS levels in participants with irregular (4% change, 95% CI:
- 3 –3, 11) and long cycles (5% change, 95% CI; –4, 14), although neither was statistically significant.
- 4 <u>Wise et al. (2022)</u> reported lower intensity of menstrual bleed with higher exposure, but no
- 5 difference in bleed length in days. These associations with irregular and long cycles in two studies
- 6 and lower bleeding in one study is consistent with either a true association or reverse causation
- 7 due to less PFAS excretion through menstruation compared to women with regular cycles, and it is
- 8 difficult to interpret with currently available evidence.

Gynecological conditions

9 Four epidemiology studies report on the association between PFHxS exposure and 10 endometriosis. Three of the studies were cross-sectional, which decreases confidence for this chronic outcome due to the inability to establish temporality (Buck Louis et al., 2018; Wang et al., 11 12 2017; Campbell et al., 2016). There is potential for reverse causality as described above since 13 endometriosis can influence the menstrual cycle, and this could be toward a protective direction 14 given that endometriosis can be associated with heavier and more frequent bleeding. Because of 15 this issue, these studies were classified *low* confidence, although the study by Buck Louis et al. 16 (2018) is considered stronger in other study design aspects than the remaining two studies; this 17 study included two groups of women, one group scheduled for surgery (laparoscopy or 18 laparotomy), and one group identified through a population database who underwent pelvic MRI to 19 identify endometriosis (Buck Louis et al., 2018) (see Figure 3-79). The remaining two studies were 20 deficient for outcome ascertainment, specifically due to self-report of endometriosis diagnosis 21 (Campbell et al., 2016) and case definition including only endometriosis-related infertility among 22 surgically confirmed cases (Wang et al., 2017). Both of these methods are likely to include 23 asymptomatic cases among the controls. In addition, one study that reported results only on a 24 mixture of PFAS was determined to meet the PECO criteria due to very high exposure to PFHxS in 25 participants. <u>Hammarstrand et al. (2021)</u> examines a population in Ronneby, Sweden with high 26 PFAS contamination in drinking water. This study estimated exposure using residence location 27 linked to data on the municipal water supply (validated against serum measurements in a 28 subsample) and was thus not able to develop individual PFAS estimates. PFHxS and PFOS were 29 predominant in this population (subsample mean serum levels in participants living in the area at 30 the time of high contamination were 243 and 279, respectively, compared to 15 for PFOA), so any 31 effect observed can likely be largely attributed to those PFAS, but it is not possible to separate their 32 effects, and thus the study is considered *low* confidence. 33 Two of the *low* confidence studies, including the <u>Buck Louis et al. (2018)</u> study, reported 34 slightly increased odds of endometriosis with higher exposure, although the estimates were

imprecise (<u>Buck Louis et al. (2018)</u>: operative sample OR: 1.14 (95% CI: 0.58,2.24); population

36 sample OR: 1.52 (95% CI: 0.40,5.80); <u>Campbell et al. (2016)</u> OR (95%) versus T1: T2: 0.66

- 1 (0.37,1.19), T3: 0.47 (0.25,0.87)). <u>Hammarstrand et al. (2021)</u> found no association with
- 2 endometriosis despite the very high exposure to PFHxS and PFOS.
- 3 In addition, two studies examined PCOS and PFHxS exposure, including the study in
- 4 Ronneby, Sweden (<u>Hammarstrand et al., 2021</u>) described above and a case-control study in the U.S.
- 5 (Vagi et al., 2014). Vagi et al. (2014) suffers from potential for reverse causality due to association
- 6 with menstruation, similar to the studies of endometriosis. Because PCOS is associated with
- 7 irregular menstruation and thus less frequent bleeding, it is possible that effect estimates will be
- 8 inflated. This study is *low* confidence for this reason and concerns with participant selection and
- 9 confounding. There was no association between PFHxS and PCOS, but due to the study limitations,
- 10 this is difficult to interpret. <u>Hammarstrand et al. (2021)</u> reported higher odds of PCOS in
- 11 participants with the highest exposure (HR: 2.18, 95% CI: 1.43, 3.34), but this is also difficult to
- 12 interpret due to the co-exposure with PFOS.

<u>Ovarian reserve</u>

13 Three studies examined the association between PFHxS exposure and ovarian reserve, an 14 indication of a woman's egg count or remaining reproductive potential. The available studies were 15 two *medium* confidence studies, a cohort (<u>Crawford et al., 2017</u>) and a nested case-control study 16 (<u>Donley et al., 2019</u>), examining anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH), and a *low* confidence case-control 17 study examining POI (Zhang et al., 2018b). AMH is commonly used as an endocrine marker for age-18 related decline of ovarian reserve in healthy women, with reduced AMH an indication of small 19 primordial follicle pool, as well as predicting poor oocyte yield for in vitro fertilization (Grynnerup 20 et al., 2012). However, a single measurement in healthy women may not be informative in 21 predicting fecundity (ACOG, 2019) and, as mentioned above, elevated levels of AMH are associated 22 with PCOS, so these results should be interpreted with caution. In contrast to AMH, POI is a more 23 specific outcome (defined as an elevated FSH level greater than 25 IU/L on two occasions more 24 than four weeks apart and oligo/amenorrhea for at least four months in Zhang et al. (2018b), but 25 because this definition is closely tied to menstruation, there are concerns for reverse causality as 26 with the previous outcomes, which would be expected to be biased away from the null. In Zhang et 27 al. (2018b), there were higher odds of POI with higher exposure, with an exposure-response 28 gradient across tertiles (OR (95% CI) versus tertile 1: T2: 2.04 (1.03, 4.04), T3: 6.63 (3.22, 13.65)). 29 In <u>Crawford et al. (2017)</u>, there was an inverse association between AMH and PFHxS, consistent 30 with decreased ovarian reserve, although this was not statistically significant (β : -0.12, p = 0.4). No 31 association was observed with AMH in <u>Donley et al. (2019)</u>, despite similar exposure contrast 32 (median 1.6 ng/mL) in the two AMH studies and lower exposure levels in <u>Zhang et al. (2018b</u>). The 33 results of <u>Zhang et al. (2018b</u>) and <u>Crawford et al. (2017</u>) are coherent with each other as well as 34 with the positive association with FSH observed in women with POI in Zhang et al. (2018b), 35 although no association was observed in control women without POI (discussed with reproductive 36 hormones). Overall, due to the study limitations and small number of studies, there is still

37 considerable uncertainty.

Pubertal development

1 Three *medium* confidence studies, including birth cohorts in Denmark (Ernst et al., 2019) 2 and the U.S. (Carwile et al., 2021) and a case-control study nested in a birth cohort in the United 3 Kingdom (Christensen et al., 2011), and low confidence cross-sectional study in the U.S. (Wise et al., 4 <u>2022</u>) examined timing of pubertal development with prenatal PFHxS exposure. <u>Ernst et al. (2019)</u> 5 and <u>Carwile et al. (2021)</u> reported results for several pubertal outcome measures, while 6 Christensen et al. (2011) and Wise et al. (2022) focused on age at menarche. In Ernst et al. (2019), 7 with median exposure of 1.1 ng/mL (10th–90th percentile: 0.6–1.7), the participants in the third 8 tertile of exposure had earlier age of breast development, axillary hair, and menarche, although 9 none were statistically significant. Looking at a combined puberty indicator outcome, there was 10 lower age at puberty in the third tertile (age difference -2.22 months; 95% CI: -8.37, 3.93). Carwile 11 et al. (2021), with median exposure of 1.9 ng/mL, reported no association with pubertal 12 development score or peak height velocity (i.e., the age at which a child experiences the largest 13 increase in height, a proxy for pubertal timing). In <u>Christensen et al. (2011)</u>, with median exposure 14 of 1.5 ng/mL (IQR 0.5–0.8), there was not a clear association, as there were higher odds of earlier 15 age at menarche when PFHxS was analyzed as dichotomous based on above/below the median (OR 16 1.11; 95% CI: 0.76, 1.64) but lower odds when analyzed as continuous (OR 0.89; 95% CI: 0.65, 17 1.22), neither statistically significant. Lastly, the *low* confidence study found no association with age 18 at menarch (Wise et al., 2022). Overall, there is considerable uncertainty for this outcome given the 19 inconsistency in three *medium* confidence studies and imprecision of the effect estimates.

<u>Menopause</u>

- 20 One *medium* confidence study, a cohort of midlife women in the U.S., examined timing of
- 21 menopause (<u>Ding et al., 2022</u>). The effect estimate is in the direction of earlier onset of natural
- 22 menopause, though not statistically significant. (relative survival: 0.90, 95% CI: 0.76, 1.05 for total
- 23 effect (including author-proposed mediation by FSH)).

Animal Studies

24 The database of animal toxicity studies for PFHxS-induced female reproductive effects 25 consists of five oral exposure studies that include two short-term studies in Harlan Sprague Dawley 26 or Crl:CD BR rats exposed for 28 days (NTP, 2018a; 3M, 2000b), two reproductive/developmental 27 toxicity studies in Crl:CD (SD) rats or Crl:CD1 (ICR) mice with exposures starting during premating 28 through postnatal days (PND) 22-35 (Chang et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003) and a 29 developmental toxicity study in Wistar rats with exposure during gestion and lactation (gestational 30 days [GD] 7 to PND 22) (Ramhøj et al., 2018). The studies evaluated several endpoints relevant to 31 the assessment of female reproductive toxicity, namely mating and fertility, estrous cycle, hormone 32 levels, histopathology, organ weight and markers of sexual differentiation and maturation (U.S. 33 EPA, 1996). Other developmental outcomes reported in the Ramhøj et al. (2018) study are 34 described in the synthesis of developmental effects (see Section 3.2.3).

Mating and fertility

- 1 Mating and fertility measures (i.e., fertility index, mating index and pre-coital interval) were
- 2 evaluated across two *high* confidence studies with no outstanding issues regarding risk of bias or
- 3 sensitivity (see Figure 3-80). The studies exposed F0 female SD rats or CD-1 mice to doses ranging
- 4 from 3 to 10 mg/kg-day during premating, gestation, and lactation (PND 22) (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>;
- 5 <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>). No treatment-related effects were noted in mating and fertility
- 6 indices, including length of pre-coital interval in female parental animals.



Figure 3-80. PFHxS mating and fertility animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Estrous cycle characteristics

7 Effects on the estrous cycle were measured in four studies: a short-term study in rats

8 exposed for 28 days (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>) and two reproductive-developmental toxicity studies in F0 rats

- 9 or mice exposed during premating, gestation, and lactation (PND 22) (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>; <u>Butenhoff</u>
- 10 <u>et al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>), and one sub-chronic study that exposed ICR mice for 42 days (<u>Yin et al.</u>,
- 11 <u>2021</u>) (see Figure 3-81). Two of the studies were considered *high* confidence (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>;
- 12 <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>) and two were considered *medium* confidence because of
- 13 uncertainties surrounding presentation of results and selection of animals for outcome assessment
- 14 (<u>Yin et al., 2021</u>; <u>Chang et al., 2018</u>) (see Figure 3-81). <u>Yin et al. (2021</u>) reported decreased
- 15 increased estrous cycle duration in treated animals, but the remaining studies which evaluated this
- 16 outcome report that PFHxS exposure had no effects in the number of cycles, cycle length, or time in

- 1 each estrous stage (proestrus, estrus, metestrus, and diestrus) of female rats or mice exposed to
- 2 doses of 0.3–50 mg/kg-day and 0.3–3 mg/kg-day, respectively (<u>Chang et al., 2018; NTP, 2018a</u>;
- 3 <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>).





Hormone levels

- 4 The available studies have measured reproductive hormones including testosterone, follicle 5 stimulating hormone (FSH), Luteinizing hormone (LH), and estrogen. Serum testosterone levels 6 were measured in female rats in a single short-term *high* confidence study with no notable 7 concerns in any of the study evaluation domains (NTP, 2018a) (see Figure 3-82). Female rats were 8 exposed to 0, 3.12, 6.25, 12.5, 25, and 50 mg/kg-day PFHxS for 28 days. Serum testosterone levels 9 were slightly increased in PFHxS-exposed rats at all doses (9%–29% compared with controls) but 10 the changes were not statistically significant compared with controls and did not display a dose-11 response gradient. A *medium* confidence study using ICR mice reported that exposure to 5 mg/kg-12 day PFHxS decreased serum FSH, LH, and estrogen (<u>Yin et al., 2021</u>). These observations suggest 13 that PFHxS exposure may alter reproductive hormones in exposed female animals, however several 14 issues were identified with the <u>Yin et al. (2021)</u> study including lack of randomization and selective
- 15 reporting. Therefore, additional studies are needed.



Figure 3-82. PFHxS hormone levels animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

<u>Histopathology</u>

1 Histopathology of female reproductive organs including the ovary, uterus, vagina, and 2 clitoral and mammary glands were examined across four studies. Two short-term studies in rats 3 exposed for 28 days (NTP, 2018a; 3M, 2000b) and two reproductive-developmental toxicity studies 4 in F0 rats or mice exposed from 14 days of premating to PND 22 (<u>Chang et al., 2018; Butenhoff et</u> 5 al., 2009; 3M, 2003). Three of the studies were considered high confidence (NTP, 2018a; Butenhoff 6 et al., 2009; 3M, 2003, 2000b) and one was rated as medium confidence due to deficiencies in the 7 presentation of histopathological findings (data were only reported qualitatively) (Chang et al., 8 2018) (see Figure 3-83). 9 Bilateral dilation of the uterus (minimal to mild severity) was reported in rats in the control 10 (1/10 rats) and PFHxS exposure groups (1/1, 1/1, 3/3, and 1/10 rats at 3.12, 6.25, 12.5, and 50 11 mg/kg-day, respectively) in the NTP (2018a) study. Although lesions were observed in 100% of the 12 animals evaluated in the 12.5 mg/kg-day dose group, the incidence rates were identical for the 13 control and high dose groups (10%) and a limited number of animals were examined in the other 14 exposure groups; therefore, the biological interpretation of these findings is unclear. Butenhoff et 15 al. (2009) and <u>3M (2003)</u> also observed uterine lesions in rats (mild-moderate distention and 16 microphage infiltration of mostly moderate severity) but the incidence rates were not significantly 17 different between control and PFHxS exposure (10 mg/kg-day). Two medium *confidence* mouse 18 studies report conflicting evidence. Chang et al. (2018) reported no lesions in the uterus of CD-1

- 1 mice exposed to 10 mg/kg-day PFHxS for 42 days (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>). However, a similar study
- 2 also using CD-1 mice exposed to 5 mg/kg-day PFHxS for 42 days reported decreased number of
- 3 secondary follicles and corpora lutea, but no effect on primordial or primary follicles (<u>Yin et al.</u>,
- 4 <u>2021</u>). A single case of minimal focal necrosis was reported in the mammary gland of rats (1/10) at
- 5 a dose of 10 mg/kg-day (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>) but no lesions were observed in the
- 6 mammary gland of rats exposed to doses ranging from 3.12–50 mg/kg-day in a different study
- 7 (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>). Histological examination of the ovaries (including primordial follicle counts), clitoral
- 8 gland and vagina showed no treatment-related effects in exposed rats or mice (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>;
- 9 <u>NTP, 2018a; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003, 2000b</u>).



Figure 3-83. PFHxS female reproductive histopathology animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

<u>Organ weight</u>

- There are six available animal toxicity studies that evaluated effects on reproductive organ
 weights in females (i.e., ovary and uterus). One study exposed CD-1 mice for 42 days (<u>Yin et al.</u>
- weights in remains (i.e., ovary and derus). One study exposed CD-1 interior 42 days (<u>interior</u>)
 <u>2021</u>), two studies exposed SD rats for 28 days (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>; <u>3M, 2000b</u>) and three reproductive-
- developmental toxicity studies examining effects in F0 rats and mice exposed during premating
- 14 and/or gestation and lactation (PND 22) (Chang et al., 2018; Ramhøj et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al.,
- 15 <u>2009</u>; <u>3M</u>, <u>2003</u>) and in F1 mice exposed in utero, via lactation and directly from PND 22 to PND 35
- 16 (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>). Overall study confidence was *medium* in the <u>Chang et al. (2018</u>) study due to
- 17 incomplete reporting of organ weight data (quantitative results were not provided) (see Figure 3-
- 18 84). The study by <u>Yin et al. (2021)</u> was also considered *medium* confidence due to concerns related

- 1 to animal selection for outcome assessment. There were no major concerns with respect to risk of
- 2 bias or sensitivity in the other studies deemed as *high* confidence (<u>NTP, 2018a; Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>;
- **3** Butenhoff et al., 2009; <u>3M</u>, 2003, <u>2000b</u>). <u>Yin et al. (2021)</u> reported decreased absolute (but not
- 4 relative) ovary weight in animals exposed to 50 mg/kg-day for 42 days. However, in all other
- 5 available studies PFHxS exposure did not significantly impact ovarian and uterine weights (both
- 6 absolute and relative) in animals at doses ranging from 0.05–50 mg/kg-day in any of the studies
- 7 (Chang et al., 2018; NTP, 2018a; Ramhøj et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009; <u>3M</u>, 2003, <u>2000b</u>).



Figure 3-84. PFHxS female reproductive organ weight animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Landmarks of female reproductive system development and maturation

- 8 Markers of sexual differentiation and maturation, namely anogenital distance (AGD)²⁷ and
- 9 onset of puberty (vaginal patency), were evaluated in F1 offspring in two reproductive-
- 10 developmental toxicity studies of *medium* confidence in rats exposed during gestion to PND 22
- 11 (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>) or in mice exposed in utero, via lactation and directly from PND 22 to PND 35
- 12 (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>). Key issues related to animal allocation and presentation of results for AGD (no
- 13 adjustment for body weight ²⁸) reduced confidence in one study (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>) (see Figure 3-
- 14 85). Ambiguity surrounding the reporting of sample size raised potential concerns in the second
- 15 study (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>).

²⁷AGD is a phenotypical marker of androgen levels during gestational development (<u>Thankamony et al.</u>, <u>2016</u>). Increased AGD in considered indicative of an adverse response in the developing female reproductive system (<u>U.S. EPA, 1996</u>).

²⁸Relative AGD adjusted to the cube root of body weight is the preferred measurement for this endpoint (<u>Daston and Kimmel, 1998</u>).

- 1 Statistically significant reductions in relative AGD (adjusted to body weight) evaluated on
- 2 PND 1 were noted in F1 mice exposed to 1 mg/kg-day (5% compared with controls) but the effects
- 3 were not seen at other dose levels (0.3 and 3 mg/kg-day) (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>). Furthermore,
- 4 absolute AGD was unaffected by treatment in F1 mice or rats up to doses of 45 mg/kg-day (Chang
- 5 <u>et al., 2018; Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>). Similarly, PFHxS had no effect on the onset of puberty (vaginal
- 6 patency) in F1 mice exposed to doses of 0.3-3 mg/kg-day.



Figure 3-85. PFHxS female reproductive sexual differentiation and maturation animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Evidence Integration

- 7 The available studies provide inadequate evidence to determine whether PFHxS exposure
 8 has the potential to affect female reproduction in humans. This conclusion is based on studies in
- 9 both humans and animals (see Table 3-39).
- 10 The available evidence on PFHxS-induced female reproductive effects in human studies is 11 considered *indeterminate*. Outcomes evaluated in human studies include fecundity, reproductive 12 hormones, pubertal development, menstrual cycle characteristics, gynecological conditions, and 13 ovarian reserve. Associations were observed with many of these outcomes in some studies, but 14 there was considerable inconsistency across studies within outcomes and uncertainty due to 15 considerations such as reverse causality and confounding (e.g., parity for fecundity) that reduced 16 study confidence. Looking across outcomes, there is some coherence. The observed increase in 17 estradiol and FSH and decrease in testosterone in some studies (one study for FSH) is coherent

- 1 with risk factors for endometriosis, which in turn is coherent with reduced ovarian reserve and
- 2 fecundity. Similarly, the decrease in anogenital distance in one study of newborn girls (see
- 3 Developmental Effects Section) is coherent with the decrease is testosterone levels in some of the
- 4 studies, including the single study in infants. These connections between the outcomes increase the
- 5 strength of the evidence, but because of the limitations described above, there is too much
- 6 uncertainty in the association to draw a stronger judgment than *indeterminate*.
- 7 The available animal evidence on PFHxS-induced female reproductive effects is also
- 8 considered *indeterminate*. One medium confidence, study using mice reported PFHxS-induced
- 9 alterations in estrus cycle, histopathology, ovary weight, and reproductive hormone levels (<u>Yin et</u>
- 10 <u>al., 2021</u>). In all other *medium* and *high* confidence studies there were no clear exposure-related
- 11 effects were observed in reproductive organ weights, estrous cycle characteristics, histopathology,
- 12 reproductive hormones levels, and functional measures of mating and fertility. In addition to the
- 13 inconsistencies between the Yin, 2021, 9960589@@author-year and the other available studies
- 14 there are no subchronic or chronic exposure studies available, which also limits the interpretation
- 15 of the current findings.

Evidence stream summary and interpretation						
Evidence from studies of exp	osed humans					
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	⊙⊙⊙ Evidence inadequate	
Fecundity 3 medium and 5 low confidence studies	No factors noted	 Unexplained inconsistency High risk of bias 	Decreased fecundity/longer time to pregnancy in 2 <i>low</i> confidence studies, but no effect in <i>medium</i> confidence studies.		Primary Basis: Evidence is inconsistent across studies or largely	
Reproductive hormones 7 <i>medium</i> and 7 <i>low</i> confidence studies	No factors noted	 Unexplained inconsistency High risk of bias – Most testosterone studies were low confidence 	3 of 9 studies report higher estradiol. 3 of 9 studies report lower testosterone.	⊙⊙⊙ Indeterminate Associations between exposure	null. Human relevance: Without evidence to the contrary, effects in rodent models are considered relevant	
Pubertal development 3 <i>medium</i> and 2 <i>low</i> confidence studies	No factors noted	Unexplained inconsistency	Earlier age of puberty (not statistically significant) in one study, but no clear association in other studies	and female reproductive outcomes observed in studies of multiple outcomes. Inconsistency across studies and concerns for reverse causality and other bias hinder	to humans. Cross-stream coherence: N/A, evidence	
Menstrual cycle 3 <i>low</i> confidence studies	Consistency	Low confidence studies- potential reverse causality	Higher odds of irregular and long cycle in 2 studies, lower odds of menorrhagia in 1 study, and less intense bleeding in one study		indeterminate for both human and animal studies.	
Gynecological conditions 5 <i>low</i> confidence studies	• No factors noted	 Unexplained inconsistency All low confidence studies- potential reverse causality Imprecision of effect estimate 	Higher odds of endometriosis in 2 of 4 studies. Lower odds of endometriosis-related infertility in one study. 1 of 2 studies reported higher likelihood of PCOS, but there is potential for confounding by PFOS.	Interpretation.	populations and lifestages: None identified.	

Table 3-39. Evidence profile table for PFHxS exposure and female reproductive effects

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-314DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Evidence stream summary and interpretation						
Ovarian reserve 2 <i>medium</i> and 1 <i>low</i> confidence studies	 Coherence in associations between POI and AMH in one study 	 Potential for reverse causality Unexplained inconsistency across studies of AMH 	Higher odds of premature ovarian insufficiency (POI) and lower levels of anti-Mullerian hormones (AMH) (in 1/2 studies)			
Evidence from in vivo animal	studies					
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment		
Mating and fertility2 high confidence studies inadult rats and mice:14-d (×2)	 No factors noted 	 No factors noted 	No observed effects on mating or fertility index	⊙⊙⊙ Indeterminate		
Estrous cycle 2 high confidence studies in adult rats: • 28-d		 Unexplained inconsistency across studies 	Altered cycle duration reported in one medium confidence study	notable findings, no long-term studies were available]		
 14-d premating to PND22 						
2 <i>medium</i> confidence study in adult mice:						
 14-d premating to PND22 						
• 42-d						
Hormone levels 1 high confidence study in adult rats		 Lack of expected dose response 	Slight increase in testosterone, decreased estrogen, LH, and FSH			
• 28-d						

Evidence stream summary and interpretation						
• 1 <i>medium</i> confidence study in adult mice.						
• 42-d						
Histopathology 3 high confidence studies in adult rats		 Unexplained inconsistency across studies 	Decreased number of secondary follicles and corpora lutea in 1 <i>low</i> confidence study			
• 28-d (×2)			,			
• 14-d premating to PND22						
1 medium confidence study						
• 14-d premating to PND22						
1 low confidence study						
• 42-d						
Organ weights 1 high confidence study in adult rats		 Unexplained inconsistency across studies 	Decreased ovary weight reported in 1 <i>medium</i> confidence study			
• 28-d (×2)						
• 14-d premating to PND22						
3 <i>medium</i> confidence studies in rats and mice						
• GD7–PND22						
 14-d premating to PND22 						

Evidence stream summary and interpretation						
• 42-d						
Developmental effects 2 medium confidence studies in rats and mice • GD7–PND22 • GD0–PND22			No observed effects on female reproductive organ development			

3.2.9. Male Reproductive Effects

Human Studies

Twelve epidemiology studies (reported in 15 publications) examined the association
 between PFHxS exposure and male reproductive effects. The outcomes included in these studies
 were semen parameters, reproductive hormones, timing of pubertal development, and anogenital
 distance. These studies are described below.

Semen parameters

5 Semen concentration and sperm motility and morphology were considered the core 6 endpoints for the assessment of semen parameters. Other outcomes, such as specific sperm 7 morphology and motility defects, were not consistently reported across studies and were 8 considered secondary; these outcomes are most useful to probe into associations observed in the 9 core endpoints. Key issues for the assessment of semen parameters involve sample collection and 10 sample analysis. Samples should be collected after an abstinence period of 2–7 days, and analysis 11 should take place within 2 hours of collection and follow guidelines established by the World 12 Health Organization (WHO, 2010). While exposure would ideally be measured during the period of 13 spermatogenesis rather than concurrent with the outcome, a cross-sectional design is considered 14 adequate because the period of spermatogenesis is fairly short (<3 months) relative to the half-life 15 of PFHxS (years), and there is no concern for reverse causality with this outcome. 16 Five epidemiology studies (reported in seven publications) examined the association 17 between PFHxS exposure and semen quality. The evaluations for these studies are summarized in 18 Figure 3-65, and additional details can be obtained from HAWC. Three studies were *medium* 19 confidence: one was a cross-sectional analysis of male partners in a pregnancy cohort (Toft et al., 20 2012) and two were cross-sectional studies of healthy young men (Petersen et al., 2022; Joensen et 21 al., 2013). The remaining two studies were *low* confidence due to multiple identified deficiencies 22 and were cross-sectional studies of men seeking infertility assessment (Huang et al., 2019b; Song et 23 al., 2018). All the studies analyzed PFHxS in serum using appropriate methods and thus exposure 24 misclassification is expected to be minimal.



Figure 3-86. Semen parameters epidemiology study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

1 The results for the association between PFHxS exposure and semen quality in *medium*

- 2 confidence studies are presented in Table 3-34. The studies analyzed the outcomes differently, so
- 3 the effect estimates are not directly comparable, but a negative effect estimate indicates a reduction
- 4 in sperm quality with higher exposure. There was a statistically significant and dose-dependent
- 5 decrease in normal sperm morphology in one *medium* confidence study (<u>Toft et al., 2012</u>) and an
- 6 imprecise and non-dose-dependent decrease (>10% change) in concentration in the same study
- 7 (<u>Toft et al., 2012</u>). A *low* confidence study (<u>Huang et al., 2019b</u>) reported a higher concentration
- 8 (p < 0.05) and motility (p > 0.05) with PFHxS exposure. No association was reported in the other
- 9 *medium* (Petersen et al., 2022; Joensen et al., 2013) or low (Song et al., 2018) studies. Other
- 10 publications of the same study described in <u>Toft et al. (2012)</u> reported no clear association between
- 11 PFHxS exposure and sperm DNA damage (Leter et al., 2014; Specht et al., 2012), indicating that
- 12 PFHxS-induced DNA damage is unlikely to explain the decreases in the percent of sperm with
- 13 normal morphology (and the slightly decreased sperm numbers) observed in <u>Toft et al. (2012)</u>).
- 14 Exposure levels were slightly higher in <u>Toft et al. (2012)</u> than <u>Joensen et al. (2013)</u>, which could
- 15 explain the differing results, but this cannot be confirmed with the currently available evidence.

Reference	Population	Median exposure (IQR) (ng/mL)	Effect estimate	Concentration	Motility ^a (% progressively motile)	Morphology ^a (% normal)
<u>Petersen et</u> al. (2022)	Cross-sectional study of young men (2017–2019), Denmark; 1,041 men (18–20 yrs)	0.3 (P5–P95: 0.2–0.6)	% Change vs. T1	T2: 0 (-12, 13) T3: 2 (-10, 16)	T2: -7 (-12, -1) T3: -2 (-8, 4)	T2: 1 (-10, 12) T3: 6 (-5, 18)
<u>Joensen et</u> <u>al. (2013)</u>	Cross-sectional study of men evaluated for military service (2008– 2009), Denmark; 247 men (18–22 yrs)	0.7 (0.5–0.9)	β (95% CI) for 1-unit increase	Cubic root transformed 0.05 (-0.12,0.22)	% Immotile Square transformed -2.82 (-232,227)	Square root transformed 0.12 (–0.02,0.26)
<u>Toft et al.</u> (2012)	INUENDO cohort cross- sectional analysis (2002– 2004), Greenland, Ukraine, Poland; 588 men	1.1 (P33–P66: 0.7–1.5)	% Change vs. T1	(mill/ mL) T2: -12 (-52,28) T3: -11 (-57,35)	T2: 11 (-12,35) T3: 10 (-18,37)	T2: -27 (-58,3) T3: -35 (-70,- 1)*

Table 3-40. Associations between PFHxS and semen sperm parameters in medium confidence epidemiology studies

**p* < 0.05, CD: critically deficient, T: tertile.

^aPercent motile in population was 37% in <u>Petersen et al. (2022)</u>, 58% in <u>Joensen et al. (2013)</u>, and 56%–64% in <u>Toft</u> <u>et al. (2012)</u>, varying by country. Percent normal morphology in population was 6% in <u>Petersen et al. (2022)</u>, 7% in <u>Joensen et al. (2013)</u> and 6%–7% in <u>Toft et al. (2012)</u>.

Reproductive hormones in males

1 Testosterone and estradiol were considered the primary endpoints for male reproductive 2 hormones, although findings for LH, FSH, and SHBG were also reviewed where available. Key issues 3 for the evaluation of these studies were sample collection and processing. For testosterone, LH, and 4 FSH, blood sample collection should be performed in the morning due to diurnal variation, and if 5 not possible, time of collection must be accounted for in the analysis. If there is no consideration of 6 time of collection, the study is classified as deficient for outcome ascertainment and *low* confidence 7 overall for these hormones. 8 Nine studies (reported in ten publications) examined the associations between PFHxS and 9 male reproductive hormones. Most studies examined only testosterone and estradiol. All the 10 studies measured exposure and outcome concurrently which was considered appropriate since

11 levels of these hormones are capable of being rapidly upregulated or downregulated and they are

12 not expected to directly bind to or otherwise interact with circulating PFAS. Four studies (<u>Petersen</u>

13 <u>et al., 2022; Lewis et al., 2015; Joensen et al., 2013; Specht et al., 2012</u>) examined associations in

14 adults, two studies in adolescents (<u>Zhou et al., 2016</u>; <u>Lewis et al., 2015</u>), one study in children

- 15 (Lopez-Espinosa et al., 2016), and three studies in infants (Jensen et al., 2020b; Liu et al., 2020b;
- 16 <u>Yao et al., 2019</u>). The study evaluations are summarized in Figure 3-66. Four studies were rated
- 17 *medium* in overall study confidence (<u>Petersen et al., 2022</u>; <u>Liu et al., 2020</u>b; <u>Lopez-Espinosa et al.</u>,
- 18 <u>2016</u>; Joensen et al., 2013), and five were *low* confidence (Jensen et al., 2020b; Yao et al., 2019; Zhou

- 1 <u>et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2015; Specht et al., 2012</u>). However, of the *medium* confidence studies, one
- 2 did not consider timing of sample collection and was thus *low* confidence for testosterone (Lopez-
- 3 <u>Espinosa et al., 2016</u>).



Figure 3-87. Summary of study evaluation for epidemiology studies of male reproductive hormones. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

4 Testosterone

5 As described above, most studies were *low* confidence for testosterone. In adult men, four 6 studies were available and two were low confidence. In the two medium confidence studies, both 7 populations of young men in Sweden (<u>Joensen et al., 2013</u>) and Denmark (<u>Petersen et al., 2022</u>), no 8 association was reported between PFHxS exposure and testosterone levels, at mean concentrations 9 of 0.7 and 0.3, respectively. Non-statistically significant inverse associations were observed in one 10 low confidence study of adults (Lewis et al., 2015), and only in age groups 20 to <40 and 40 to 60 (β (95% CI); for 20 to 40: -1.2 (-4.7, 2.4), for 40 to 60: -3.6 (-8.2, 1.2), and 60 to 80: 3.3 (-3.8, 10.8). 11 12 The other low confidence study did not report quantitative results but stated that associations were not consistent across countries in the study (Specht et al., 2012). For adolescents, one low 13 14 confidence study (<u>Lewis et al., 2015</u>) reported a non-statistically significant positive association (β 15 2.4, 95% CI: -9.1, 15.2), and the other reported no association (Zhou et al., 2016). A study in 16 children (Lopez-Espinosa et al., 2016) reported a non-statistically significant inverse association (β -2.7, 95%CI: -6.4, 1.2), while two studies in infants (Jensen et al., 2020b; Yao et al., 2019) reported 17 no association. Overall, there is inconsistent evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure 18 19 and testosterone. Some low confidence studies report inverse associations, but the medium

> This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. 3-321 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- 1 confidence studies reported no association. It is possible that this is due to differences in PFHxS
- 2 levels, as the *medium* confidence studies had exposure levels lower than the studies that observed
- 3 an association (median blood concentrations 0.3–0.7 ng/mL versus 1.3–1.8 ng/mL in Lewis et al.
- 4 (2015) and 8 ng/mL in Lopez-Espinosa et al. (2016)), but given the concerns for outcome
- 5 misclassification in the *low* confidence studies, the results are difficult to interpret.

6 Estradiol

- 7 Six studies examined associations between PFHxS exposure and estradiol in male subjects.
- 8 Among the three *medium* confidence studies (<u>Petersen et al., 2022</u>; <u>Lopez-Espinosa et al., 2016</u>;
- 9 <u>Joensen et al., 2013</u>) reported no association between increasing PFHxS exposure and estradiol.
- 10 Results across the *low* confidence studies are mixed, as <u>Zhou et al. (2016)</u> reported higher estradiol
- 11 levels with higher PFHxS exposure, while <u>Specht et al. (2012)</u> reported that estradiol levels were
- 12 not consistently associated with PFHxS across countries with no data shown and <u>Yao et al. (2019)</u>
- 13 reported no association.

14 Other reproductive hormones

- For other reproductive hormones, SHBG was not associated with PFHxS levels in <u>Specht et</u> al. (2012), Joensen et al. (2013), or <u>Petersen et al. (2022)</u>. FSH and LH were not associated with PFHxS in Joensen et al. (2013) or <u>Petersen et al. (2022)</u> and associations were not consistent across
- 18 regions in <u>Specht et al. (2012)</u>. In <u>Jensen et al. (2020b</u>, positive but nonstatistically significant
- 19 associations were reported with LH, dehyroepiandosterone (DHEA), dehydroepiandrosterone-
- sulfate (DHEAS), androstenedione, and 17-hydroxyprogesterone (17-OHP). Liu et al. (2020b)
- 21 reported a small but not statistically significant positive association (2.7% increase) with
- 22 progesterone in infants.
- 23 Overall, there is little evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure and male
- 24 reproductive hormones, but there are limitations in the available evidence that hinder
- 25 interpretation of the null findings.

Pubertal development

- 26 Two *medium* confidence studies, birth cohorts in Denmark (Ernst et al., 2019) and the U.S.
- 27 (<u>Carwile et al., 2021</u>), examined timing of pubertal development with PFHxS exposure. <u>Ernst et al.</u>
- 28 (2019) used maternal exposure (median 1.1 ng/mL, 10th–90th percentile: 0.6–1.7) while Carwile et
- 29 <u>al. (2021)</u> used childhood exposure at around 8 years of age. One study reported that the
- 30 participants in the third tertile of exposure had earlier genital development, pubic hair, axillary
- 31 hair, acne, voice break, and first ejaculation, with axillary hair acne, and voice break being
- 32 statistically significant. Looking at a combined puberty indicator outcome, there was lower age of
- 33 puberty in the third tertile (age difference –6.89 (95% CI: –12.57, –1.20)) (<u>Ernst et al., 2019</u>). The
- 34 second study reported no association between PFHxS exposure and a pubertal development score
- 35 or age at peak height velocity (<u>Carwile et al., 2021</u>).

Summary of human studies on male reproductive effects

- 1 Overall, there is some limited evidence of an association between PFHxS exposure and
- 2 sperm motility, timing of pubertal development, and anogenital distance, but there is considerable
- 3 uncertainty in the available data due to lack of consistency across the studies on each outcome and
- 4 lack of coherence with reproductive hormones.

Animal Studies

- 5 The database of animal toxicity studies on PFHxS-induced male reproductive effects
- 6 consists of five oral exposure studies that include two short-term studies in Harlan Sprague Dawley
- 7 rats exposed for 28 days (<u>NTP, 2018c; 3M, 2000b</u>), two multigeneration reproduction studies in
- 8 Crl:CD (SD) rats or Crl:CD1 (ICR) mice with exposures starting during 2–week premating through
- 9 postnatal days (PND) 22–35 (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>; <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>) and a single-generation
- 10 reproduction study in Wistar rats with exposure during gestation and lactation (gestational days
- 11 [GD] 7 to PND 22) (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>). The studies evaluated several endpoints relevant to the
- 12 assessment of male reproductive toxicity, namely mating and fertility, sperm measures, hormone
- 13 levels, histopathology, organ weights, and morphological markers of sexual differentiation and
- 14 maturation (<u>U.S. EPA, 1996</u>).

Sperm parameters

- 15 Sperm measures (count, motility, morphology, concentration, and production rate) were
- 16 evaluated in three *low* confidence studies that exposed animals for 28 or 44 days (see Figure 3-88).
- 17 In SD rats, exposure to PFHxS for 28 days did not impact sperm count, spermatid count, or sperm
- 18 motility. Additionally, <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u>, <u>3M (2003)</u> and <u>Chang et al. (2018)</u> did not observe
- 19 PFHxS-induced alterations in sperm motility, morphology, or concentration after exposing SD rats
- 20 or CD-1 mice for 44 and 42 days respectively. Overall, these results suggest that PFHxS exposure
- 21 does not affect sperm measures. However, these findings should be interpreted with caution as the
- 22 available studies were of *low* confidence due to experimental design features that may have
- 23 resulted in reduced sensitivity and a potential bias toward the null^{29.}

²⁹In rodent models such as the rat it takes approximately eight weeks for spermatogonia to develop to spermatozoa (<u>Foster and Gray, 2013</u>). Damage to the spermatogonial cells would not be detected in ejaculate or cauda epididymis samples from animals exposed for periods that are shorter than eight weeks (<u>U.S. EPA, 1996</u>).


Figure 3-88. Male reproductive animal study evaluation heatmap – sperm measures. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Histopathology

- 1 Histopathology of male reproductive organs was evaluated in two *high* confidence studies
- 2 and one *medium* confidence study (see Figure 3-89). In SD rats, exposure to PFHxS for 28 to 44 days
- 3 at doses ranging from 0.3 to 10 mg/kg-day did not affect the histopathology of the testes, preputial
- 4 glands, epididymis, or seminal vesicles (<u>NTP, 2018c; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003, 2000b</u>).



Figure 3-89. Male reproductive histopathology animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Hormone levels

- 1 The effects of PFHxS exposure on reproductive hormones was evaluated in one *high*
- 2 confidence study using SD rats (see Figure 3-90). Exposure to PFHxS for 28 days at doses ranging
- 3 from 0.625 to 10 mg/kg-day did not affect serum testosterone levels (<u>NTP, 2018c</u>).



Figure 3-90. Male reproductive animal study evaluation heatmap – reproductive hormones. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

<u>Organ weights</u>

1 Potential PFHxS-induced effects on male reproductive organ weights were evaluated in 2 three *high* confidence studies using SD rats (<u>NTP, 2018c; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>, <u>2000b</u>) 3 and one *medium* confidence study using Wistar rats (Ramhøj et al., 2018) (see Figure 3-91). In SD 4 rats, exposure to PFHxS for 28 to 44 days at doses ranging from 0.3 to 10 mg/kg-day did not affect 5 the weights of the testis, epididymis, or seminal vesicle (<u>NTP, 2018c</u>; <u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M</u>, 2003, 2000b). Furthermore, gestational plus lactational exposure to PFHxS (0.05 to 25 mg/kg-day) 6 7 also did not affect organ weights for epididymis, ventral prostrates, seminal vesicles, levator ani, or 8 testes in Wistar rats (Ramhøj et al., 2018).



Figure 3-91. Male reproductive animal study evaluation heatmap – reproductive organ weights. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Landmarks of male reproductive system development and maturation

- 1 One *medium* confidence gestational exposure study evaluated PFHxS-induced effects on
- 2 androgen sensitive developmental landmarks in F1 Wistar rats (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>). Gestational
- 3 plus lactational exposure to PFHxS at doses ranging from 0.05 to 45 mg/kg-day did not affect
- 4 anogenital distance or nipple retention in Wistar rats. The developmental effects and pregnancy
- 5 outcomes of PFHxS exposure are summarized in Section 3.2.3.

Functional measures

- 6 Functional measures were evaluated in *medium* and *high* confidence studies using mice or
- 7 rats (see Figure 3-92). PFHxS exposure for 14 days before mating at doses ranging from 0.3 to 10
- 8 mg/kg-day did not have a significant impact on mating or fertility indices in rats or mice (<u>Chang et</u>
- 9 <u>al., 2018; Ramhøj et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>).



Figure 3-92. Male reproductive animal study evaluation heatmap – developmental effects and functional measures. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Evidence Integration

The available studies provide inadequate evidence to determine whether PFHxS exposure
 has the potential to affect male reproduction in humans. This conclusion is based on studies in both
 humans and animals (see Table 3-41).

4 The available evidence on PFHxS-induced male reproductive effects in human studies is 5 considered indeterminate. Outcomes evaluated in human studies include semen parameters, male 6 reproductive hormones, and onset of puberty. No associations were observed for reproductive 7 hormone measures. Exposure-related alterations in sperm morphology and age of puberty were 8 reported. However, considerable uncertainties were also identified that reduce the strength of 9 evidence (see Table 3-41). 10 The available evidence on PFHxS-induced male reproductive effects in animal toxicity 11 studies is also considered *indeterminate*. Experimental studies using different laboratory rodent

12 species measured parameters considered indicative of potential adverse responses, including

13 reproductive organ weights, sperm measures, histopathology, reproductive hormones, and

- 14 developmental and functional measures. No significant exposure-related effects were observed for
- 15 the measured reproductive parameters in the available studies. While a judgment of *compelling*
- 16 *evidence of no effect* was considered for characterizing the animal evidence, significant
- 17 uncertainties in the animal study database prevent judgments about PFHxS exposure and male
- 18 reproductive toxicity from being drawn. Specifically, the short exposure duration in the available
- 19 studies is considered inadequate for the evaluation of sperm measures, only a single study
- 20 evaluated and rogen levels, and other reproductive hormones were not studied.

	Evidence integration summary judgment				
Evidence from studies of e					
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	⊙⊙⊙ Evidence inadequate
Sperm parameters 3 medium and 2 low confidence studies	• No factors noted	 Unexplained inconsistency across studies Imprecision – for sperm concentration 	Decreased normal morphology and concentration in one <i>medium</i> confidence study.	⊙⊙⊙ Indeterminate Some evidence of association with sperm motility, and pubertal development. Significant uncertainty due to lack of	Primary Basis: Evidence is inconsistent across studies or largely null. Human relevance: Without evidence to the contrary, effects in rodent models are considered
Reproductive hormones 4 <i>medium</i> and 5 <i>low</i> confidence studies		 Unexplained inconsistency across studies Low confidence studies 	Inverse association with testosterone and estradiol in some <i>low</i> confidence studies, but <i>medium</i> confidence studies were null. No association with LH or FSH levels.		relevant to humans. The rodent and human male reproductive systems share many conserved features. <i>Cross-stream coherence:</i> N/A, human and animal evidence indeterminate
Pubertal development 2 <i>medium</i> confidence study		No factors noted	Significant association between exposure and lower puberty age in 1 of 2 studies.	consistency and coherence	Susceptible populations and lifestages: N/A evidence inadequate to draw inferences
Evidence from in vivo anin	nal studies				
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	Factors that decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	

Table 3-41. Evidence profile table for PFHxS exposure and male reproductive effects

	Evidence stream	n summary and interp	retation		Evidence integration summary judgment
Sperm parameters 3 low confidence studies in adult rats and mice: • 28-d		 All <i>low</i> confidence studies – Low sensitivity 	No observed effects on sperm measures in <i>low</i> confidence, insensitive studies	⊙⊙⊙ Indeterminate	
44-d42-d				Certainty in the consistently null findings	
Histopathology 2 high confidence studies in adult rats: 28-d 44-d 1 medium confidence study in adult rats 42-d Hormone levels	 High or medium confidence in studies, with sensitive outcome measures and low risk of bias. 	No factors noted	No observed effects on histopathological outcomes	was reduced due to notable data gaps.	
1 <i>high</i> confidence study in adult rats 28-d			levels		
Organ weights 3 high confidence studies in adult rats • 28-d (×2) • 44-d 1 medium confidence study in rats • GD7–PND22			No observed effects on reproductive organ weights		

	Evidence integration summary judgment	
Developmental effects 1 <i>high</i> confidence study in rats	No observed effects on male reproductive organ development	
Functional measures 2 high confidence studies	No observed effects on mating or	
in rats and mice 14-d (×2) 		

1

3.2.10. Renal Effects

Human Studies

1 Seventeen studies (reported in 27 publications) investigate the relationship between PFHxS 2 exposure and markers of renal function, specifically measures of glomerular filtration rate (GFR) 3 and uric acid (UA). Three studies (Zhang et al., 2019b; Seo et al., 2018; Rotander et al., 2015b) were 4 considered *uninformative* due to critical deficiencies in confounding (see Figure 3-93). The 5 remaining 14 studies were primarily cross-sectional analyses and were classified as *low* confidence 6 primarily due to concerns for reverse causality without other major methodological limitations. In 7 essence, as described in Watkins et al. (2013), decreased renal function (as measured by decreased 8 GFR or other measures) could plausibly lead to higher levels of PFAS, including PFHxS, in the blood. 9 This hypothesis is supported by data presented by <u>Watkins et al. (2013)</u>, although there is some 10 uncertainty in the conclusions due to the use of modeled exposure data as a negative control and the potential for the causal effect to occur in addition to reverse causality. The results least likely to 11 12 be affected by reverse causality were analyses in four studies (four publications) designed to assess 13 reverse causality (e.g., stratification by glomerular filtration stage or modeling with PFHxS as the 14 dependent variable) (Lin et al., 2021; Moon, 2021); Jain (2019); (Zeng et al., 2019c; Conway et al., 2018) and two studies with prospective designs (Lin et al., 2021); Blake et al. (2018). Of these, Lin 15 16 et al. (2021) had the benefit of both prospective data analysis and additional analyses and was thus 17 rated as *medium* confidence. Across studies, because of the potential for reverse causation, there is 18 considerable uncertainty in interpreting the results of the available studies. However, the

- 19 informative studies were otherwise well conducted and had adequate or good ratings for all
- 20 domains other than exposure measurement.



Figure 3-93. Renal effects human study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link. Multiple publications of the same study: <u>Jain and Ducatman</u> (2019b) also includes <u>Jain and Ducatman (2019a)</u>, <u>Jain (2019)</u>, <u>Jain (2013)</u>, <u>Jain (2021b)</u>, <u>Jain (2020)</u>, <u>Jain (2021a)</u>, <u>Moon (2021)</u>, and <u>Scinicariello et al.</u> (2020b).

- 1 Across the 14 available studies, there is an indication of impaired renal function (i.e., lower
- 2 GFR, higher UA, creatinine, or disease) in nine (<u>Cakmak et al., 2022; Lin et al., 2021; Lin et al.,</u>
- 3 <u>2020c; Mao et al., 2020; Blake et al., 2018; Qin et al., 2016; Sagiv et al., 2015; Watkins et al., 2013</u>),
- 4 including multiple NHANES publications (<u>Moon, 2021</u>; <u>Scinicariello et al., 2020b</u>; <u>Jain and</u>
- 5 <u>Ducatman, 2019b</u>), but there are some inconsistencies (see Table 3-42). In adults, <u>Blake et al.</u>
- 6 (2018), Sagiv et al. (2015), Moon (2021), Lin et al. (2021) reported lower GFR with higher
- 7 exposure, all statistically significant, though the association in Lin et al. (2021) was observed only
- 8 in participants with hypertension (the direction was in the opposite direction for participants

- 1 without hypertension). A different analysis of NHANES data overlapping with <u>Moon (2021)</u>, Jain
- 2 and Ducatman (2019b), reported an inverted U-shape response with GFR (higher exposure levels in
- 3 the second and third tertiles than first and fourth, also observed in analyses stratified by sex). In
- 4 contrast to the majority of studies, <u>Conway et al. (2018)</u> and <u>Wang et al. (2019a)</u> reported higher
- 5 GFR with higher exposure (not statistically significant). Looking at hyperuricemia, <u>Scinicariello et</u>
- 6 <u>al. (2020b)</u> reported higher odds (unstratified by sex) with an exposure-response gradient
- 7 observed across quartiles. Zeng et al. (2019c) reported higher odds in women but not men, while
- 8 <u>Lin et al. (2020c)</u> reported higher uric acid in the fourth quartile in men but not women. A positive
- 9 association with creatinine was observed in <u>Cakmak et al. (2022)</u> and with kidney stones in (<u>Mao et</u>
- 10 <u>al., 2020</u>). However, no association was observed with chronic kidney disease in the only study that
- 11 reported it (<u>Wang et al., 2019c</u>). In children and adolescents, <u>Watkins et al. (2013)</u> reported lower
- 12 GFR with higher exposure and <u>Qin et al. (2016)</u> reported higher UA, while <u>Kataria et al. (2015)</u> also
- 13 reported the inverted U-shape with GFR.
- 14 Overall, there are generally consistent associations between impaired renal function and
- 15 PFHxS exposure but the potential for reverse causation is an important source of uncertainty.
- 16 However, in the studies with less potential for reverse causation, there is an indication that this bias
- 17 is unlikely to fully explain the observed associations. Significant associations were observed in both
- 18 studies with prospective exposure measurement (<u>Lin et al., 2021</u>; <u>Blake et al., 2018</u>), though only in
- 19 participants with hypertension in <u>Lin et al. (2021)</u>. While prospective measurement does not
- 20 eliminate the possibility of reverse causation due to ongoing exposure prior to study enrollment,
- 21 the effect is likely lower. Further, <u>Lin et al. (2021)</u> performed a secondary analysis using baseline
- 22 GFR as the independent variable and repeated measures of PAS as the dependent variable and
- 23 found that PFAS levels did not differ significantly by baseline GFR. A similar analysis without
- repeated measures in <u>Moon (2021)</u> also indicated that reverse causation was not likely to explain
- the results.

Reference, confidence	Study population	Median exposure level (IQR) in ng/mL	Form and units of effect estimate	Effect estimate
	(Decre	Glomerular filtration rate (G ase indicates impaired renal	FR) function	
<u>Wang et al.</u> (2019a), Low	Cross-sectional study (2015–2016); China; 1,612 adults	0.7 (0.01,2.7)	Mean change (95% CI) in eGFR per In-unit change	0.24 (-0.02, 0.50)
Watkins et al. (2013), Low	Cross-sectional study of 9,660 children in U.S. exposed to high PFOA	IQR 1.3	Mean change (95% CI) per IQR increase exp	-1.0 (-1.5, -0.4)*
Jain and Ducatman (2019b), Low	Cross-sectional study (NHANES) (2007–2014); U.S.; 6,836 adults	1.4	Adjusted geometric means (95% CI) by glomerular function stage (GF-1 is normal or high filtration; GF-3B/4 is moderately to severely decreased)	All participants GF-1: 1.20 (1.14–1.27) GF-2: 1.73 (1.61–1.86) GF-3: 1.83 (1.63–2.05) GF-3B/4: 1.01 (0.78–1.31)
<u>Moon (2021)</u> , <i>Low</i>	Cross-sectional study (NHANES) (2003–2018); U.S.; 14,373 adults	1.5 (0.8-2.6)	β (p-value) for In-unit increase	-1.52 (-2.10, -0.94)*
<u>Kataria et al.</u> (2015), Low	Cross-sectional study of 1,960 adolescents in U.S.	2	β (95 Cl) for quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: 1.4 (-3.6,6.3) Q3: 1.9 (-3.4,7.1) Q4: -0.3 (-4.4,3.8)
<u>Sagiv et al. (2015)</u> ,	Cross-sectional study of 1.645 pregnant women in	2.4 (1.6–3.8)	% change GFR	-4.3 (-5.3, -3.3)*
	U.S.	(,	Geometric means (IQR) of exp by quartile	Q1: 3.0 (1.9,4.3) Q2: 2.7 (1.7,4.1) Q3: 2.3 (1.5,3.2) Q4: 2.2 (1.5,3.5)*
<u>Lin et al. (2021)</u> , Medium	Cohort study within placebo and lifestyle intervention arms of a diabetes prevention randomized controlled trial of 875 adults in the U.S.	2.4 (1.6–3.8)	β (95 CI) for doubling of baseline exposure	0.21 (-0.79, 1.21) With hypertension -2.35 (-4.46, -0.25)* Without hypertension 1.24 (0.09, 2.39)*
<u>Blake et al. (2018)</u> , Low	Prospective cohort of residents near a uranium processing site (1990– 2008); U.S.; 210 adults	2.7 (1.7–4.1)	Percent change (95% CI) in eGFR per IQR change	-2.06 (-3.53, -0.59)*
<u>Conway et al.</u> (2018), Low	Cross-sectional study of 53,650 adults in U.S. exposed to high PFOA	3.0 (1.9–4.8)	OR (95% CI) for 1-unit increase	GF-1: 2.07 (1.69–2.55) GF-2: 2.29 (1.86–2.81) GF-3A: 2.37 (1.87–2.84) GF-3B: 2.30 (1.83–2.90) GF-4/5: 1.0 (ref)
	Incred	Uric acid (UA) ase indicates impaired renal f	function	

Table 3-42. Associations between PFHxS exposure and renal function

Reference, confidence	Study population	Median exposure level (IQR) in ng/mL	Form and units of effect estimate	Effect estimate
Zeng et al. (2019c), Low	Cross-sectional study of 1,612 adults in China	0.7 (0.01–2.7)	Mean difference per log-unit increase	0.01 (-0.15, 0.03) GF-1: -0.01 (-0.06, 0.04) GF-2: -0.00 (-0.03, 0.03) GF-3: 0.05 (-0.04, 0.15) GF-4: -0.04 (-0.23, 0.15)
			OR (95% CI) for hyperuricemia for log- unit increase	1.01 (0.97, 1.06) Women: 1.18 (1.01, 1.37)* Men: 0.99 (0.95, 1.04)
<u>Chen et al. (2019a)</u> , Low	Cross-sectional study of 122 adults in China	GM 0.8, range 0.3–2.4	β (95% CI) for In-unit increase	-4.42 (-24.23, 15.38)
<u>Qin et al. (2016)</u> , <i>Low</i>	Cross-sectional study of 225 children in Taiwan	1.3 (0.6–2.8)	β (95 CI) for In-unit increase	0.14 (0.02,0.26)*
			OR (95% CI) for quartile increase exp and high UA	1.4 (0.9,2.1)
Jain and Ducatman (2019a), Low	Cross-sectional study (NHANES) (2007–2014); U.S.; 6,836 adults	1.4	β (<i>p</i> -value) for 1-unit increase	In GF-1 participants Women: 0.023 (<0.01)* Men: 0.015 (0.06)
<u>Scinicariello et al.</u> (<u>2020b</u>), <i>Low</i>	Cross-sectional study (NHANES) (2009–2014); U.S.; 4,917 adults	1.4 (GM)	β (95% CI) in serum uric acid for quartiles vs Q1	Q2: 0.14 (0.02, 0.26)* Q3: 0.22 (0.08, 0.36)* Q4: 0.33 (0.19, 0.47)*
			OR (95% CI) in hyperuricemia for quartiles vs Q1	Q2: 1.15 (0.89, 1.50)* Q3: 1.33 (0.95, 1.86)* Q4: 1.51 (1.12, 2.03)*
<u>Kataria et al.</u> (2015), Low	Cross-sectional study of 1,960 adolescents in the U.S.	2	β (95% Cl) for quartiles vs. Q1	Q2: 0.04 (-0.1,0.2) Q3: 0.05 (-0.1,0.2) Q4: -0.05 (-0.2,0.1)
<u>Lin et al. (2020c)</u> , <i>Low</i>	Cross-sectional study (2016–2017); Taiwan; 397 older adults (55–75 yrs)	2.7 (1.9-3.7)	β (95% Cl) in serum uric acid for quartiles vs Q1	Q2: 0.01 (-0.32, 0.33) Q3: -0.1 (-0.44, 0.23) Q4: 0.39 (0.05, 0.72)* Women: Q2: 0 (-0.36, 0.35) Q3: -0.1 (-0.46, 0.26) Q3: 0.05 (-0.31, 0.42) Men: Q2: -0.31 (-0.97, 0.35) Q3: 0.3 (-0.37, 0.96) Q4: 0.89 (0.22, 1.56)*
	Increa	Creatinine ase indicates impaired renal	function	
<u>Cakmak et al.</u> (<u>2022)</u> , Low	Cross-sectional study (2007–2017); Canada; 6,045 adults	1.5 (GM)	% change per 1 mean increase in PFDA	1.0 (0.1, 1.8)*
		Chronic kidney disease		
Wang et al. (2019b), Low	Cross-sectional study (2015–2016); China; 1,612 adults	0.7 (0.01–2.7)	OR (95% CI) for chronic kidney disease per In- unit change in PFDA	1.01 (0.94, 1.07)

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.3-336DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Reference, confidence	Study population	Median exposure level (IQR) in ng/mL	Form and units of effect estimate	Effect estimate		
Kidney stones						
<u>Mao et al. (2020)</u> , <i>Low</i>	Cross-sectional study (NHANES) (2007–2016); U.S.; 8,453 adults	1.5 (0.8–2.5)	OR (95% CI) for kidney stone history for tertiles vs T1	T2: 1.24 (1.03, 1.51)* T3: 1.35 (1.10, 1.68)*		

**p* < 0.05.

Animal Studies

1	There are two 28-day oral gavage exposure studies in Sprague Dawley rats (<u>NTP, 2018b</u> ;
2	<u>3M, 2000a</u>) and two 42–44 day exposure oral gavage studies in CD-1 mice (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>) and
3	Sprague Dawley rats (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003</u>) that measure effects relevant to the
4	assessment of the urinary system after repeated oral dose exposure to PFHxS. The studies report on
5	clinical chemistry (serum) biomarkers of effect, histopathology, and organ weights. Overall study
6	confidence was high for most endpoints evaluated in these studies with the exception of organ
7	weights and serum markers in Chang et al. (2018), which had incomplete reporting of null data
8	(results were only discussed qualitatively) resulting in a <i>medium</i> confidence rating (see Figure 3-
9	94).



Figure 3-94. Renal effects – animal study evaluation heatmap. For additional details see <u>HAWC</u> link.

Clinical chemistry

1 Serum biomarkers of renal injury (including blood urea nitrogen [BUN], creatinine, 2 creatinine kinase, and total protein) were measured in Sprague Dawley rats after short-term (28 3 day) exposure (<u>NTP, 2018b; 3M, 2000a</u>), and two 42- or 44-day exposure studies using CD-1 mice and Sprague Dawley rats (Chang et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003). In the F0 generation 4 5 male Sprague Dawley rats, 44 days of exposure to PFHxS at the highest tested dose, 10 mg/kg-day, resulted in a 31% increase in BUN when compared with controls (Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003). 6 7 However, no effects were observed for creatinine, creatinine kinase, or total protein in male 8 animals and female animals from the same study (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>); a similar study 9 using CD-1 mice reported no effects on creatinine, urea nitrogen, and electrolytes in F0 generation 10 male and female animals exposed to same levels of PFHxS (10 mg/kg-day) for 44 days; and two 28-11 day study using SD rats reported no exposure-related effects in creatinine, creatinine kinase, blood 12 urea nitrogen (BUN), or total protein after PFHxS exposure at doses ranging from 0.6 to 10 mg/kgday (NTP, 2018b; 3M, 2000a). BUN is considered a late biomarker of renal injury not normally 13 14 affected until at least half of the kidney mass is compromised (Khan et al., 2018). The biological 15 significance of the PFHxS-induced BUN increase observed in the NTP study is not clear as BUN was 16 not affected in similar studies, and other clinical indicators of kidney damage were not altered in 17 the available studies.

Histopathology

Renal histopathology was evaluated across two 28-day gavage studies (NTP, 2018a; 3M,
 2000a) and one 42- to 44-day exposure toxicity study (Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 2003). All studies
 used Sprague Dawley rats. Exposure to PFHxS for 28 to 44 days at doses ranging from 0.3 to 10
 mg/kg-day did not have any notable treatment-related impacts on kidney histopathology. One 28 day short-term study also evaluated the urinary bladder and reported no effects (NTP, 2018a). In
 this study, chronic progressive nephropathy³⁰ graded as minimal occurred in the kidneys of all
 exposed animals, including controls.

<u>Organ weight</u>

- 8 Absolute and relative (to body weight) kidney weights were measured in the two 28-day
- 9 gavage studies using Sprague Dawley rats (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>; <u>3M, 2000a</u>) and the two 42- to 44-day
- 10 exposure studies using Sprague Dawley rats (<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003</u>) or CD-1 mice (<u>Chang</u>
- 11 <u>et al., 2018</u>). Exposure to 10 mg/kg-day PFHxS for 28 days increased relative kidney weights in
- 12 male Sprague Dawley rats (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>). This response was not observed in female animals (<u>NTP,</u>
- 13 <u>2018a</u>) and none of the remaining studies exposing rats or mice to similar doses and durations
- 14 (ranging from 28 to 44 days) did not observe significant PFHxS-induced changes in relative or
- absolute kidney weights (<u>Chang et al., 2018; Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>; <u>3M, 2003, 2000a</u>).

Evidence Integration

- 16 The available *evidence suggests* but is not sufficient to infer that exposure to PFHxS might 17 cause renal system effects in humans given sufficient exposure conditions³¹ (see Table 3-43). 18 The available evidence on PFHxS-induced renal effects in humans is considered *slight*. The 19 evidence for potential renal system effects in humans is based on reported associations between 20 PFHxS exposure and impaired renal function in nine out of 14 informative epidemiological studies 21 including several statistically significant findings. There is considerable uncertainty remaining due 22 to the potential for reverse causation, but study analyses examining this bias indicate that it is 23 unlikely to fully explain the observed associations. 24 The available evidence on PFHxS-induced renal effects in animal toxicity studies is also 25 considered *indeterminate*. The experimental animal evidence informing potential renal system 26 effects is limited to two 28-day gavage studies in Sprague Dawley rats (NTP, 2018a; 3M, 2000a), 27 and two 42- to 44-day exposure studies using Sprague Dawley rats (Butenhoff et al., 2009; 3M, 28 2003) or CD-1 mice (Chang et al., 2018). The studies were generally well conducted (confidence
- 29 ratings were *high/medium*) and reported on relevant measurements, including serum biomarkers

³⁰Chronic progressive nephropathy is a commonly observed spontaneous lesion frequently observed in 2 to 13-week studies using SD rats (<u>Khan et al., 2018</u>).

³¹The "sufficient exposure conditions" are more fully evaluated and defined for the identified health effects through dose-response analysis in Section 5.

- 1 of renal injury (i.e., BUN, creatinine, and creatinine kinase), kidney and urinary bladder
- 2 histopathology and kidney weights. Although a few significant findings were observed, PFHxS
- 3 exposure generally did not affect the renal system in the available studies. However, the absence of
- 4 long-term studies limits the evaluation of potential renal system toxicity in animals following
- 5 PFHxS exposure, hence a conclusion of *compelling evidence of no effect* was not considered
- 6 appropriate.

Table 3-43. Evidence	profile table for P	FHxS urinary sy	stem effects

	Evidence integration summary judgment				
Evidence from studie	es of exposed humans	Factors that			-
Studies and	Forthern that in success could inter	decrease	Current and have findings	Evidence stream	Evidence suggests
Confidence Renal Functions 1 medium and 13 low confidence studies	Consistency Precision	Primarily <i>low</i> confidence studies – potential reverse causality	Summary and key findings 9 of 14 studies reported associations between PFHxS exposure and impaired renal function. Reverse causality is an important source of uncertainty.	Judgment ⊕⊙⊙ Slight	Primary Basis: Generally consistent evidence across studies in humans. Human relevance: N/A Cross-stream coherence: N/A. Evidence in animals is indeterminate.
Evidence from in vive	o animal studies	Factors that			
Studies and confidence	Factors that increase certainty	decrease certainty	Summary and key findings	Evidence stream judgment	
Serum Biomarkers of Renal Injury, Histopathology, Organ Weights 3 high confidence studies in adult rats: • 28-d (×2) • 44-d 1 medium confidence study using mice • 44-d	 All high or medium confidence studies 	 Unexplained inconsistency 	 Increased BUN reported in one study, bit no effects in remaining studies and no response in other markers of renal disease. No PFHxS-induced effects on histopathological outcomes. No observed PFHxS-induced effects on kidney weights 	⊙⊙⊙ Indeterminate	

3.2.11. Other Noncancer Health Effects

Human Studies

No epidemiological studies in the database were identified to inform health effects other
 than those discussed in prior sections.

Animal Studies

3 Several other health effects were examined in experimental animals; however, there were 4 very little data to inform whether PFHxS exposure might have the potential to cause these effects. 5 Specifically, the *high* confidence, 28-day rat study conducted by NTP (2018c) investigated the 6 potential for PFHxS exposure to cause effects on the alimentary system (including the esophagus, 7 large, small intestine, pancreas, salivary glands, and stomach), musculoskeletal system, and 8 respiratory system. For each of these systems, there were no clear PFHxS exposure-related effects 9 in male or female animals, with the exception of an observation of minimal³² olfactory epithelium 10 degeneration and minimal hyperplasia along with minimal suppurative inflammation in females, 11 but not males, in the highest exposure group (8/10 rats in 50 mg/kg-day exposure group). Overall, 12 the sparsity of evidence on these outcomes prevents any interpretation from being drawn.

Evidence Integration

The currently available **evidence is inadequate** to assess whether PFHxS may cause other noncancer health effects in humans, including those related to the alimentary system, musculoskeletal system, and respiratory system. In general, the data available for these health outcomes were largely null and/or absent (i.e., *indeterminate* evidence from human and animal studies) and considerable data gaps remain for these health effects.

3.3. CARCINOGENICITY

3.3.1. Cancer

18 The systematic review identified twelve epidemiologic studies that evaluated the risks of

19 cancer associated with exposures to PFHxS (<u>Li et al., 2022a</u>; <u>Velarde et al., 2022</u>; <u>Liu et al., 2021b</u>;

20 <u>Omoike et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2020a; Tsai et al., 2020; Ghisari et al., 2017; Wielsøe et al., 2017;</u>

- 21 <u>Christensen et al., 2016; Bonefeld-Jørgensen et al., 2014; Hardell et al., 2014; Yeung et al., 2013</u>). Six
- 22 cancer studies by (<u>Li et al., 2022a; Velarde et al., 2022; Omoike et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2020a;</u>
- 23 <u>Wielsøe et al., 2017; Christensen et al., 2016</u>) were evaluated as 'Uninformative.' One study (Yeung
- 24 <u>et al., 2013</u>) was screened as related to hepatocellular carcinoma cancer, but actually examined the
- 25 serum and liver concentrations of PFAS, including PFHxS, among patients who had liver

³²Minimal refers to average histological severity grade as follows: 1 = minimal; 2 = mild; 3 = moderate; 4 = marked) as determined by <u>NTP (2018c)</u>.

- 1 transplants—some of whom had hepatocellular carcinoma cancer; this study did not assess cancer
- 2 risk and was not evaluated for study quality.
- 3 No animal in vivo, mutagenicity or genotoxicity studies were identified in the database.





4 Human Studies

- 5 The study of prostate cancer (Hardell et al., 2014) was low confidence due to concern about 6 the exposure measurement not representing the etiologically relevant time period, potential for 7 confounding, insufficiencies in the analysis, and concerns about sensitivity (see Figure 3-95). 8 Hardell et al. (2014) reported a non-significantly increased risk of prostate cancer among men with 9 PFHxS concentrations in blood that were above the median value; and a higher, borderline 10 significant, risk of prostate cancer among men with PFHxS concentration greater than the 75th percentile. Hardell et al. (2014) also reported that men with PFHxS concentrations above the 11 12 median and with a first-degree relative with prostate cancer were at significantly increased risk. The study of thyroid cancer (Liu et al., 2021b) was *low* confidence due to concern about the 13 14 exposure measurement not representing the etiologically relevant time period, deficiencies 15 regarding the outcome definition, and potential for confounding, (see Figure 3-95). Liu et al. 16 (2021b) reported significantly decreased risk of thyroid cancer associated with increasing quartiles of PFHxS. The first study of breast cancer (Bonefeld-Jørgensen et al., 2014) was low confidence due 17
- 18 to concerns about participant selection and potential selection bias as there was: (1) no explanation

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- 1 of why 29% of cases were withdrawn from the National Patient Registry, (2) no comparisons of the
- 2 subjects' details between the withdrawn cases and the originally selected cases, and (3) no
- 3 consideration of how the originally matched controls might no longer match the final set of cases.
- 4 <u>Bonefeld-Jørgensen et al. (2014)</u> studied the effect of PFHxS on the risks of breast cancer in Danish
- 5 women using a case-control study, and initially found a significantly decreased risk of breast cancer
- 6 with increases in continuously measured PFHxS, although in subsequent analyses, excluding 72
- 7 breast cancer cases (29% of the cases) which were withdrawn from the National Patient Registry,
- 8 the effects changed slightly and lost statistical significance. The second of breast cancer <u>Ghisari et</u>
- 9 <u>al. (2017)</u> was *low* confidence because it was based on the same case-control as <u>Bonefeld-Jørgensen</u>
- 10 <u>et al. (2014)</u> and had the same deficiencies. <u>Ghisari et al. (2017)</u> investigated genetic
- 11 polymorphisms as potential effect modifiers of the risk of PFAS on breast cancer. They reported
- 12 that none of the genetic polymorphisms evaluated was an effect modifier, but that some genotypes
- 13 (CYP1B1 Val/Val, COMT Val/Val, CYP17 A1/A1 and CYP19 CT) were associated with significantly
- 14 decreased risks of breast cancer associated with increased PFHxS exposure. The third study of
- 15 breast cancer (<u>Tsai et al., 2020</u>) was *low* confidence due to concern about the exposure
- 16 measurement not representing the etiologically relevant time period, potential for confounding,
- 17 and concerns about low sensitivity (see Figure 3-95). <u>Tsai et al. (2020)</u> reported significantly
- 18 increased risk of breast cancer per ln-transformed unit increase in PFHxS concentration in blood
- 19 among women <= 50 years of age who were estrogen receptor positive; and non-significantly
- 20 decreased risk of breast cancer per ln-transformed unit increase in PFHxS concentration in women
- 21 <= 50 years of age and estrogen receptor negative and in all women > 50 years of age. In summary,
- 22 the available epidemiologic evidence on PFHxS and the risk of cancer is limited and generally
- 23 *uninformative*.

24 Animal Studies

25 No studies were identified in the evidence base evaluating the carcinogenicity of PFHxS in26 animals.

27 Evidence Integration Summary

- The available evidence for any effect of PFHxS on the risk of developing or dying from
 cancer is scant, inconsistent, and limited to *low* confidence studies. Thus, the available human
- cancer is scant, inconsistent, and limited to *low* confidence studies. Thus, the available human
 evidence on breast, thyroid or prostate cancer is considered *indeterminate* and, overall, based on
- 31 EPA guidelines (U.S. EPA, 2005), there is *inadeguate information to assess carcinogenic*
- 32 *potential*.

4. SUMMARY OF HAZARD IDENTIFICATION CONCLUSIONS

4.1. SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS FOR NONCANCER HEALTH EFFECTS

1 As described in detail in Section 3, the currently available evidence indicates that exposure 2 to perfluorohexane sulfuric acid [PFHxS] and its related salts likely results in thyroid (see Section 3 3.2.1) and immune (see Section 3.2.2) effects in humans given sufficient PFHxS exposure 4 conditions. These judgments are based primarily on data from epidemiologic studies for immune 5 effects and on short-term (28-day exposure), and reproductive (gestational and postnatal 6 exposure) oral exposure studies in rodents for thyroid effects. Further characterizations of the 7 exposure conditions relating to these two identified hazards are provided in Section 5. 8 The hazard identification judgment that the evidence indicates PFHxS exposure is likely to 9 cause thyroid toxicity, specifically decreased thyroid hormones, in humans given sufficient PFHxS

10 exposure conditions, is based primarily on a short-term study and two multigenerational studies in 11 rats reporting a consistent and coherent pattern of hormonal changes at PFHxS exposure levels 12 ≥2.5 mg/kg-day. A consistent dose-dependent decrease of T4, and to a lesser extent T3, in adult and 13 juvenile rats, with a magnitude of effect (up to 70%) in the absence of effects in TSH was observed 14 (with males being more sensitive). In addition, one multigenerational study reported increased 15 incidence of minimal thyroid hypertrophy and moderate hyperplasia in male rats after PFHxS 16 exposure. Due to the similarities in thyroid hormone production between rodents and humans, the 17 effects in rodents were considered relevant to humans. A detailed discussion of thyroid effects is

18 included in Section 3.2.1.

19 The hazard identification judgment that the evidence indicates PFHxS exposure is likely to 20 cause immunotoxicity in humans given sufficient exposure conditions is based on generally 21 consistent evidence of reduced antibody response to vaccination at median blood concentrations of 22 0.2–0.6 ng/mL in children. The direction of association was generally consistent across studies and 23 timing of exposure and outcome measures, although not all the results were statistically significant. 24 Further, three studies reported higher odds of infectious disease with higher PFHxS exposure, 25 including total infectious disease, lower respiratory infection, throat infection, pseudocroup, and 26 gastroenteritis. Lastly, there was some evidence of hypersensitivity, based primarily on a single 27 well-conducted study of asthma, although findings were inconsistent across studies. A detailed

28 discussion of immune effects is included in Section 3.2.2.

29 The *evidence suggests* but is not sufficient to infer that, given sufficient exposure
30 conditions, PFHxS exposure may result in adverse health effects on the hepatic, cardiometabolic,
31 and neurodevelopmental systems, along with developmental effects. These judgments highlight the

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.4-1DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

1 notable data gaps and uncertainties identified in the available epidemiological and experimental

- 2 animal PFHxS studies (see Section 3.2.3, Section 3.2.4, Section 3.2.5, and Section 3.2.6). The
- 3 uncertainties in the above-mentioned hazards were considered too large for developing toxicity
- 4 values (see Section 5). However, to convey some sense of the magnitude of a potential estimate for
- 5 developmental effects, calculations based on this suggestive evidence are provided for comparison
- 6 purposes. The objective was to inform the database uncertainty factor (UF) for quantitative
- 7 estimates of thyroid and immune effects.

For all other health effects described in Section 3 (i.e., renal, male, and female reproductive,
cardiometabolic, hematopoietic, and other noncancer effects) the evidence is inadequate to assess
whether PFHxS exposure might cause effects in humans. No quantitative estimates were attempted
for these health effects.

12 The potential for multi-organ effects of PFHxS exposure exists. As an example, the reported 13 hypertrophy and hyperplasia in the follicular epithelium cells of the thyroid and in the centrilobular 14 hepatocytes in the F0 male rats exposed to 10 mg/kg-day PFHxS (Butenhoff et al., 2009) may be 15 related effects. It has been shown that exposure to compounds that cause microsomal enzyme 16 induction in the liver can result in a compensatory hypertrophy and hyperplasia of the thyroid due 17 to increased plasma turnover of T4 and TSH (Butenhoff et al., 2009; Sanders et al., 1988). However, 18 as discussed in Section 3.2.1, the authors did not measure thyroid hormones as part of their study 19 design and therefore the reported observation that thyroid hypertrophy and hyperplasia are 20 compensatory mechanisms due to turnover of T4 and TSH is speculative. In addition, decreases in 21 T3 and T4 observed in adult and juvenile animals exposed to PFHxS could be linked to metabolic 22 effects as well as neurodevelopmental effects such as cognitive decline in children discussed in 23 detail Section 3.2.1). Lastly, the decreased immune response observed in children exposed to PFHxS 24 could lead to increased risk of infection as well as cancer (Germolec et al., 2022), although neither 25 of these latter effects were well-studied in the available PFHxS evidence base.

Health outcome	ne PFAS assessments ^{a,b,c}							
	PFHxS	PFDA	PFHxA	PFBA	PFBS ^d	Gen X chemicals ^d	PFOAd	PFOS ^d
Endocrine/ Thyroid	+	-	+	+	+	ND	Human: +	Human: +/-
							Animal: +/-	Animal: +/-
Hepatic/Liver	+/-	+	+	+	-	+	Human: + Animal: +	Human: –
Developmental	+/-	+	+	+	+	+/-	Human: + Animal: +	Human: + Animal: +
Reproductive	-	-	-	-	-	+/-	Human: – Animal: +/–	ND
Immunotoxicity	+	-	-	-	-	+/-	Human: + Animal: +	Human: +/- Animal: +
Renal	-	-	-	-	+	+/-	Human: +/– Animal: +/–	ND
Hematopoietic/ Hematological	-	-	+	-	ND	+/-	ND	ND
Ocular	-	-	ND	-	ND	ND	ND	ND
Serum Lipids	-	+/-	ND	ND	-	ND	Human: + Animal: +	Human: +
Hyperglycemia	-	-	ND	ND	ND	ND	Human: – Animal: –	Animal: +/-
Nervous System	-	+/-	-	ND	ND	ND	Human: – Animal: –	Animal: +/-
Cardiovascular	-	+/-	ND	ND	-	ND	ND	ND
Cancer	-	-	-	-	-	+/-	+/-	+/-

Table 4-1. Hazard conclusions across published EPA PFAS human health assessments

^aAssessments used multiple approaches for summarizing their noncancer hazard conclusion scales; for comparison purposes, the conclusions are presented as follows: '+' = evidence demonstrates or evidence indicates (e.g., PFHxA), or evidence supports (e.g., PFBS); '+/-' = suggestive evidence, '-' = inadequate evidence (e.g., PFHxA) or equivocal evidence (e.g., PFBS); '-/-' = sufficient evidence to conclude no hazard (no assessment drew this conclusion); ND = no data available for this outcome for this PFAS.

^bThe assessments all followed the EPA carcinogenicity guidelines (U.S. EPA, 2005) a similar presentation to that used to summarize the noncancer judgments is applied for the cancer hazard conclusions, as follows: '+' = carcinogenic to humans or likely to carcinogenic to humans;'+/-' = suggestive evidence of

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.4-3DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

carcinogenic potential; '-' = inadequate information to assess carcinogenic potential; '-/-' = not likely to be carcinogenic to humans(no assessment drew this conclusion); ND = no carcinogenicity data available for this PFAS.

^cThe hazard conclusions for the various EPA PFAS assessments presented in this table were not considered during evidence integration and thus did not inform the evidence integration conclusions presented in the PFHxA assessment.

^dThe U.S. EPA PFOA (<u>U.S. EPA, 2016b</u>) and PFOS (<u>U.S. EPA, 2016a</u>) assessments did not use structured language to summarize the noncancer hazard conclusions. The presentation in this table was inferred from the hazard summaries found in the respective assessments; however, this is for comparison purposes only and should not be taken as representative of the conclusions from these assessments. Those interested in the specific noncancer hazard conclusions for PFOA and PFOS must consult the source assessments. Note that new assessments for PFOA and PFOS are currently being finalized to support a National Primary Drinking Water Regulation; note that hazard conclusions in these updated assessments will differ from those presented in this table as the new assessments use structured language to summarize the noncancer hazard conclusions. For access to the more recent draft assessment materials please follow this link.

4.2. SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS FOR CARCINOGENICITY

1 The evidence currently available to make a judgment as to whether PFHxS exposure might 2 affect the development of any specific cancers is scant, inconsistent, and limited to *low* confidence 3 studies. Consistent with EPA guidance (U.S. EPA, 2005) to apply a standard descriptor as part of the 4 hazard narrative and to express a conclusion regarding the weight of evidence for the carcinogenic 5 hazard potential, a descriptor of *inadequate information to assess carcinogenic potential* is 6 applied for PFHxS.

CONCLUSIONS REGARDING SUSCEPTIBLE POPULATIONS AND 4.3. LIFESTAGES

7 Understanding of potential areas of susceptibility to the identified human health hazards of 8 PFHxS can help to inform expectations of variability in responses across individuals, as well as 9 uncertainties and confidence in candidate toxicity values (see Section 5.2). The available human 10 and animal evidence indicate that early lifestages represent a susceptible population for the 11 adverse effects of PFHxS exposure. *High* confidence experimental studies report alterations in 12 thyroid function, including reduced serum T4 and T3, after gestational and early postnatal PFHxS 13 exposures in rats (see Section 3.2.1). In addition, medium confidence epidemiological studies report 14 that exposure to PFHxS was associated with decreased immune response after routine vaccinations 15 against tetanus and diphtheria vaccines in children at ages 5 and 7 (see Section 3.2.2). Although 16 there are considerable uncertainties in the developmental epidemiological database (e.g., potential 17 impact on PFHxS biomarkers due to pregnancy hemodynamics), consistent and coherent 18 epidemiological findings on fetal growth restriction including several *medium* and *high* confidence 19 developmental epidemiological studies also provide support for examination of critical in utero 20 exposure windows (see Section 3.2.3). 21 The significant difference in clearance between male and female rats (7.2 vs. 84.1 mL/kg-22 day, respectively; see Section 3.1.4 for details) implies a sex-dependent susceptibility in that 23 species: for given dose, blood and tissue levels are predicted and were observed to be significantly 24 higher in male rats than female rats. While clearance levels in male and female mice were quite 25 similar to each other (3.9 and 3.2 mL/kg-day), the markedly lower clearance in female mice 26 compared to female rats predicts a strong species difference for susceptibility to developmental 27 effects. Results for adult humans are consistently much lower than observed in either mice or rats 28 (0.02-0.07 mL/kg-day), which is predicted to result in a strong species difference in susceptibility. 29 But only one of the human studies observed a clear sex difference, with that in younger women 30 being about 50% higher than men and older women (Zhang et al. (2013b); see Table 3-4). 31 Additional clearance due to menstrual fluid loss could significantly reduce internal doses in women 32 of childbearing age. The rate of menstrual fluid clearance estimated by Verner and Longnecker

33 (2015) (0.033 mL/kg-day) is only slightly lower than (80% of) the geometric mean clearance for

- 1 fecal and urinary elimination (0.041 mL/kg-day), so blood levels in a 30-year-old woman might be
- 2 55% of those in a 30-year-old man exposed to the same dose (Jain and Ducatman, 2022). In
- 3 addition, serial blood measurement of PFHxS in pregnant women show that the decrease in
- 4 clearance due to the lack of menstruation during pregnancy does not result in an increase in
- 5 internal dose (<u>Oh et al., 2022</u>). This implies that other pharmacokinetic changes during pregnancy
- 6 mediate the decreased clearance during that time and that the clearance for women of reproductive
- 7 age (prior to pregnancy) is also appropriate for evaluating maternal dosimetry for developmental
- 8 endpoints in humans. Animal-to-human extrapolations do account for the species- and sex-specific
- 9 clearance observed among mice and rats, so in that regard PK-related susceptibility is addressed.
- 10 Given the effects seen in the developing individuals (i.e., altered thyroid and immune
- 11 functions), prenatal and early postnatal lifestages represent a potentially sensitive population for
- 12 the effects of PFHxS exposure. No evidence was available to inform other factors that could inform
- 13 the potential for susceptibility to PFHxS exposure including demographics, genetic variability,
- 14 health status, behaviors or practices or social determinants. The potential impact of these other
- 15 susceptibility factors remains unknown.

5. DERIVATION OF TOXICITY VALUES

5.1. NONCANCER AND CANCER HEALTH EFFECT CATEGORIES CONSIDERED

1 The available evidence indicates that oral exposure to perfluorohexane sulfuric acid 2 [PFHxS] and its related salts is likely to cause adverse immune effects in humans on the basis of the 3 evidence presented in human studies and adverse thyroid effects on the basis of the evidence 4 presented in animal toxicity studies. The dose levels associated with these two identified hazards 5 were considered for the derivation of reference doses (RfDs) as presented below. The available 6 evidence suggests but is not sufficient to infer that PFHxS exposure may result in developmental, 7 neurodevelopmental, cardiometabolic, and hepatic effects. Given the uncertainty in these latter 8 conclusions, ultimately no toxicity values were derived for these health effects. A dose-response 9 assessment is typically not performed for health effect judgments of "evidence suggests," although 10 when the database contains at least one well-conducted study, quantitative analyses may still be 11 useful for some purposes, such as providing a sense of the magnitude and uncertainty of estimates 12 for health effects of concern, ranking potential hazards, informing responses in potentially 13 susceptible populations and lifestages, or setting research priorities (U.S. EPA, 2020, 2005). The available evidence on PFHxS-induced developmental effects includes *high* confidence 14 15 epidemiological studies in which the observed outcome (low birth weight) occurs during a 16 susceptible lifestage and is associated with increased lifetime risk for developing a variety of 17 adverse health conditions such as type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, neurodevelopmental 18 disorders, and renal disease (Tian et al., 2019a; Reves and Mañalich, 2005; Hack et al., 1995). Thus, 19 for comparison purposes during toxicity value derivation for immune and thyroid effects, a point of 20 departure (POD) was estimated for developmental effects (see Section 5.2.1). For all other health effects (i.e., female, and male reproductive, hematopoietic, and renal) the currently available 21 22 evidence is inadequate to assess whether PFHxS exposure might be capable of causing these 23 potential health effects; therefore, these endpoints were not considered for the derivation of 24 toxicity values. 25 There are no available studies to inform the potential for PFHxS to cause adverse health 26 effects via inhalation exposure precluding the derivation of reference concentration (RfC) (see 27 Section 5.2.3). Likewise, evidence pertaining to the evaluation of carcinogenicity was considered 28 inadequate to assess carcinogenic potential of PFHxS in humans, precluding the derivation of

29 cancer toxicity values via any exposure route (see Section 5.3).

5.2. NONCANCER TOXICITY VALUES

1 Noncancer toxicity values, including reference doses (RfDs) for oral exposure and reference 2 concentrations (RfCs) for inhalation exposure, are estimates of an exposure for a given duration to 3 the human population (including susceptible subgroups and/or life stages) that are likely to be 4 without an appreciable risk of adverse health effects over a lifetime. The RfD derived in Section 5 5.2.1 corresponds to chronic, lifetime exposure and is the primary focus of this document. In 6 addition, a less-than-lifetime, subchronic toxicity value (referred to as a "subchronic RfD"), which 7 corresponds to exposure durations ranging from a month to 10% of the life span in humans, is 8 derived in Section 5.2.2. Subchronic toxicity values may be useful for certain decision-making 9 contexts (e.g., site-specific risk assessments with less-than-lifetime exposures). Both RfD and 10 subchronic RfD derivations include organ-/system-specific RfDs (osRfDs) associated with health 11 effect-specific PODs considered for use in deriving the RfD (or subchronic RfD). As with the 12 subchronic RfD, osRfDs can be useful for certain decision-making contexts (e.g., cumulative risk 13 assessment). Subsequent decisions related to dosimetric extrapolation, application of uncertainty 14 factors, and confidence in toxicity values are discussed below. No information exists to inform the

15 potential toxicity of inhaled PFHxS or derive an RfC; this decision is discussed in Section 5.2.3.

5.2.1. Oral Reference Dose (RfD) Derivation

Study/Endpoint Selection

16 Data sufficient to support dose-response analyses and POD calculations for oral exposure to 17 PFHxS or its salts were available for both identified human health hazards: thyroid and immune 18 effects. As mentioned above, although a definitive health hazard was not identified, a POD was also 19 calculated for developmental effects because the evidence base for developmental effects caused by 20 PFHxS includes well-conducted epidemiological studies. In addition, derivation of a POD for 21 developmental outcomes was considered informative of the potential magnitude of effects relevant 22 to susceptible populations and lifestages and thus might inform toxicity value derivation for thyroid 23 or immune effects. 24 Rationales for study selection, details of the POD calculations, and toxicity value estimation, 25 as well as determination of confidence in the derived toxicity values, are detailed in this section.

26 The general considerations used to prioritize studies for estimating PODs for potential use in

27 derivation of toxicity values are described in the IRIS PFAS Protocol (see Appendix A). Well-

28 conducted (i.e., *high* or *medium* confidence) human studies that were deemed influential to the

29 hazard conclusions were prioritized for POD derivation and compared with PODs derived from

30 well-conducted animal studies when possible. Such human studies were available for

31 developmental and immunotoxicity effects.

A summary of endpoints and rationales considered for toxicity value derivation is presentedbelow.

<u>Thyroid effects</u>

1	Human studies provide conflicting evidence as to the potential effects of PFHxS on thyroid
2	outcomes (e.g., thyroid hormone levels). While a few studies did suggest an association between
3	increasing PFHxS exposure levels and decreased circulating thyroid hormones (i.e., T4) or
4	subclinical thyroid disease, these associations were not consistent across studies (see Section 3.2.1
5	for details). Overall, the available human evidence on PFHxS effects on the thyroid was considered
6	indeterminate, and thus these studies were not considered for use in deriving toxicity values.
7	The database of animal studies examining PFHxS-induced thyroid effects includes two
8	short-term studies in rats and mice (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u> ; <u>NTP, 2018a</u>) and two multigenerational
9	reproductive studies (one study, two publications: <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u> and <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u> ;
10	(<u>Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>)). Of these, a study in ICR mice (<u>Chang et al., 2018</u>) was judged as <i>low</i>
11	confidence and thus was not considered for POD derivation, leaving three high confidence studies
12	in SD rats (<u>NTP, 2018a; Butenhoff et al., 2009</u>) or Wistar rats (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2020; Ramhøj et al.,</u>
13	<u>2018</u>).
14	NTP (2018a) examined effects on serum concentrations of total and free T4 in adult rats,
15	while <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u> evaluated effects of PFHxS on free T4 serum levels in exposed dams and
16	their offspring (exposed during gestation and lactation) through PND 22. <u>NTP (2018a)</u> observed a
17	statistically significant, dose-dependent decrease ($p < 0.01$) of free and total T4 levels starting at the
18	lowest experimental dose (0.625 mg/kg-day) in male rats (up to 60% in free T4 and 78% decrease
19	in total T4). In female rats, T4 levels were significantly decreased beginning at higher doses (12.5
20	mg/kg-day and above), with 38% decrease in free T4 and 33% decreases in total T4 at the highest
21	dose (50 mg/kg-day) (<i>p</i> < 0.01). <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u> reported similar findings to those reported by
22	NTP (2018a) in Wistar rat dams, with statistically significant, dose-dependent decreases in serum-
23	free T4 at 5 mg/kg-day and above in dams at PND 22 after exposure from GD 7 through PND16 or
24	17 (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>). In addition, <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u> also reported statistically significant
25	($p < 0.001$) decreases in free T4 in the F1 offspring born from these PFHxS-exposed dams, with free
26	T4 decreases at \geq 5.0 mg/kg-day at both the end of exposure, PND16 or 17 (26%–32% decrease),
27	and when pups were euthanized at PND22 (26%–71% decrease). Total T4 assay measurements are
28	more reliable that those provided by the assays available to measure free T4 in rodents as these are
29	insufficiently sensitive to measure the very small quantity of unbound (ie 'free') T4 in circulation
30	and therefore less reliable than total T4 measurements (personal communication with Mary
31	Gilbert, EPA, ORD). For this reason, total, but not free, T4 was moved forward for POD and
32	candidate value derivation.
33	Two studies measured T3 in serum (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2020</u> ; <u>NTP, 2018a</u>). <u>NTP (2018a)</u>
34	observed a statistically significant and dose-dependent decrease ($p < 0.05$) in serum T3 levels in
35	male, but not female, SD rats at ≥0.625 mg/kg-day (<i>p</i> < 0.01). <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u> analyzed
36	samples taken in Ramhøj et al. (2018) and observed a significant decrease in serum T3 in Wistar rat
37	dams at the highest tested dose: 19% decrease at 25 mg/kg-day ($p < 0.001$) measured on PND 22

1 after exposure from GD 7 through postnatal day 16 or 17. Overall, for TH changes, findings for both

- 2 T4 and T3 in nonpregnant adult females were relatively insensitive as compared with adult males
- 3 and thus set aside from further consideration.
- 4 <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> reported increased incidences of hypertrophy/hyperplasia in the
- 5 thyroid. In this 44-day exposure study, <u>Butenhoff et al. (2009)</u> observed increased incidences of
- 6 hypertrophy (characterized as "minimal") of thyroid follicular epithelial cells in adult male rats that
- 7 were exposed to 0.3 mg/kg-day PFHxS and an increase in "moderate" hypertrophy at the 10 mg/kg-
- 8 day PFHxS dose for up to 44 days. Hypertrophy was not observed in control animals. Decreased
- 9 thyroid hormone levels are judged relevant to human health, given the many similarities in the
- 10 production, regulation, and functioning of thyroid hormones between rodents and humans (<u>Vansell</u>,
- 11 <u>2022; Stagnaro-Green and Rovet, 2016; Dong et al., 2015; Navarro et al., 2014; Rovet, 2014; Berbel</u>
- 12 <u>et al., 2010; Morreale de Escobar et al., 2008; Cuevas et al., 2005; Rovet, 2005; Zoeller and Rovet,</u>
- 13 2004; Hood and Klaassen, 2000; Hood et al., 1999a; Hood et al., 1999b). In addition, rodents are
- 14 known to be more sensitive to increases in thyroid follicular hypertrophy and hyperplasia than
- 15 humans, and thus the observed changes in thyroid hormone levels (which are not known to suffer
- 16 from this same limitation) were preferentially advanced over these histopathological changes for
- 17 deriving points of departure and the increases in thyroid hypertrophy/hyperplasia were not
- 18 considered further (see Table 5-1).

Endpoint	Study reference and confidence	Exposure route and duration	Test strain, species, and sex	POD Derivation	Notes
Decreased Total T4	NTP (2018a), high confidence	Gavage, 28 d	Rat/SD/Male	Yes	Dose-dependent effects were observed across sexes, but responses were much more sensitive in males, even after considering sex-dependent PK differences.
	<u>Ramhøj et al.</u> (<u>2018)</u> , high confidence	Exposure in utero and lactation GD7–PND16 or 17; measurements taken at PND 16/17	Rat/ Wistar /F1 Combined ^a	Yes	Dose-dependent effects in combined serum from (male plus female) offspring were consistent across timepoints. Responses in dams were
		Exposure in utero and lactation GD7–PND16/17 measurements taken at PND 22	Rat/ Wistar /F1 Combined ^a	Yes	much less sensitive.
		Gavage	Rat/ Wistar /P0 Female	No	

Table 5-1. Endpoints considered for dose-response modeling and derivation of points of departure for thyroid effects in animals

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.5-4DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Endpoint	Study reference and confidence	Exposure route and duration	Test strain, species, and sex	POD Derivation	Notes
		GD7–PND16; Free T4 measured at GD15			
		Gavage GD7–PND 16; Free T4 measured at PND 22	Rat/ Wistar /P0 Female	No	
Decreased T3	NTP (2018a), high confidence	Gavage, 28 d	Rat/SD/Male	Yes	Dose-dependent effects were only observed in male rats.
	Ramhøj et al. (2020), high confidence	Gavage GD7–PND16/17; T3 measured at PND 22	Rat/ Wistar /P0 Female	No	Decrease was only observed in exposed dams and F1 pups at the highest dose. Responses in dams were much less sensitive.
		In utero and lactation GD7–PND16/17 measurements taken at PND 16/17	Rat/ Wistar /F1 Combined ^a	Yes	
Thyroid histopathology	Butenhoff et al. (2009)	44 d	Rat/SD/P0 Male	No	Concern for potential reduced human relevance as compared with TH measures.

^aRamhøj et al. (2018) reported as combined male and female fetal and juvenile rats; individual female pup data not reported. TH= Thyroid hormone.

Immune effects

- 1 Consistent findings of reduced antibody responses from human epidemiological studies 2 provide *moderate* human evidence of immunosuppression with PFHxS exposure. This conclusion is 3 based primarily on two medium confidence studies (reported in three publications) in children 4 (Grandjean et al., 2017b; Grandjean et al., 2017a; Grandjean et al., 2012), supported by additional 5 studies in children and adults (Kielsen et al., 2016; Stein et al., 2016b; Stein et al., 2016a; Granum et 6 al., 2013). Although there may be some residual uncertainty regarding the potential for 7 confounding by other PFAS, including PFOA and PFOS, the evidence overall supports a concern for 8 immunosuppression in PFHxS-exposed humans. 9 The two *medium* confidence studies of antibody response following vaccination are birth 10 cohorts of similar populations in the Faroe Islands (see Table 5-2) (Grandjean et al., 2017b; Grandjean et al., 2017a; Grandjean et al., 2012). Across these studies, PFHxS exposure was 11 12 measured during gestation, and at 18 months and 5, 7, and 13 years, and measures of antibody 13 levels were taken at 5, 7, and 13 years for both diphtheria and tetanus. Inverse associations,
- 14 indicating immunosuppression, were generally observed between PFHxS exposure and antibody

- 1 findings were reported for other long-chain PFAS. However, there are a minority of combinations
- 2 for which positive associations (higher antibody levels with higher PFHxS exposure) were observed
- 3 (not statistically significant). This heterogeneity in results does not have a clear biologic
- 4 explanation and the relevant etiologic window of exposure for this outcome is not known, although
- 5 (Grandjean et al., 2017b) noted that associations were generally weaker for two early life windows
- 6 of PFHxS when exposures were measured at 18 months (as compared to PFHxS exposures
- 7 measured prenatally or in early infancy) antibodies were measured at age 5 years, and for PFHxS
- 8 exposures measured at 5 years of age and antibodies measured at age 5 years. Still, given the
- 9 inverse associations observed for most of the exposure-outcome combinations and the low risk of
- 10 bias in these studies (sensitivity was the primary concern), they are considered appropriate
- 11 candidates for POD derivation. In Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018), the study authors
- 12 performed benchmark dose modeling for a subset of the data presented in these papers, specifically
- 13 antibody levels at age 7 and PFHxS concentrations at age 5, and antibody levels at age 5
- 14 (prebooster) and perinatal PFHxS concentrations. The authors selected these combinations due to
- 15 the strong inverse associations and because they are reasonably representative of the study results
- 16 across exposure/outcome combinations, so after review of the BMD methods, their exposure-
- 17 response results were used to inform the benchmark dose analyses. EPA selected a different BMR in
- 18 deriving the BMDs and BMDLs (see Appendix E, Section 1 for more details).

Table 5-2. Endpoints considered for dose-response modeling and derivation of points of departure for immune (decreased serum antibody) effects in humans

Study reference and confidence	Antibody type; Measurement timing	POD derivation	Notes
Antibody concentrations for diphtheria and tetanus	Grandjean et al. (2012) and Grandjean et al. (2017a); Grandjean et al. (2017b); medium confidence	No	Effect was generally coherent with epidemiological evidence for other antibody effects. However, while these results contribute to understanding the hazard for PFHxS, the analytic models in these specific publications used log-transformed exposure and log- transformed outcome variables and such log-log models cannot be used for BMD calculations and thus PODs were not derived.
<u>Budtz-</u> Jørgensen and <u>Grandjean</u> (2018) using data from Grandjean et	Decreased serum anti- tetanus antibody concentration in children at age 7 yrs and PFHxS measured at age 5 yrs	Yes	Both vaccine antibody types and the two exposure and outcome measurement timing combinations were generally coherent with the broader epidemiological evidence for antibody effects. Results were based on analytic models using log- transformed outcome and untransformed exposure
al. (2017b); (<u>Grandjean et</u> <u>al., 2017a</u>); <u>Grandjean et</u> <u>al. (2012)</u>	Decreased serum anti- diphtheria antibody concentration in children at age 7 yrs and PFHxS measured at age 5 yrs	Yes	which were suitable for BMD calculations and POD derivations (see Appendix D1 for more details on BMD modeling results).

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Study reference and confidence	Antibody type; Measurement timing	POD derivation	Notes
medium confidence	Decreased serum anti- tetanus antibody concentration in children at age 5 yrs and PFHxS measured perinatally	Yes	
	Decreased serum anti- diphtheria antibody concentration in children at age 5 yrs and PFHxS measured perinatally	Yes	

Developmental effects

1 Although the human evidence on developmental effects was highly uncertain and ultimately judged as *slight* (see Section 3.2.3), the database includes several well-conducted *medium* and *high* 2 3 confidence epidemiological studies reporting birth weight deficits of varying magnitude in male or 4 female neonates or both. A meta-analysis of the available studies showed a small but statistically 5 significant decrease in birth weight per each ln-unit increase in PFHxS exposure (see Section 3.2.3; 6 and Appendix C). However, in contrast to previous meta-analyses for PFOS and PFOA (Dzierlenga et 7 al. (2020) and Steenland et al. (2018)), differences in detected deficits based on sample timing were 8 evident for early sampled studies as well as *high* and *medium/high* confidence studies combined. 9 Notably large effects were seen for postpartum measures, but this stratum was based on 10 considerably fewer studies. This suggests that studies based on post-partum samples may be most 11 prone to potential bias from pregnancy hemodynamics, but the meta-analytical data are indicative 12 of complex patterns of influence due to pregnancy hemodynamic that are not completely 13 understood. Nevertheless, the apparent influence of pregnancy hemodynamics introduces 14 considerable uncertainty in the interpretation of these associations of evidence of PFHxS-induced 15 developmental effects and was a major contributing factor in the overall evidence integration 16 judgment for this health effect (see Section 3.2.3). Despite these important concerns regarding 17 sample timing, as noted above, derivation of a POD(s) for developmental outcomes was considered 18 potentially informative to toxicity value derivation for thyroid or immune effects. 19 For developmental effects, 22 epidemiology studies evaluated associations between PFHxS 20 exposure and fetal growth restriction, seven of which were considered *high* confidence. Three of 21 these *high* confidence studies measured maternal blood levels of PFHxS in the first trimester (Buck 22 Louis et al., 2018; Sagiv et al., 2018; Manzano-Salgado et al., 2017a). One study each sampled in the 23 second (Shoaff et al., 2018) third trimester (Valvi et al., 2017), while two studies collected samples 24 across multiple trimesters (Starling et al., 2017; Bach et al., 2016).

- 1 Five of the seven *high* confidence studies reported adverse associations between birth
- 2 weight and PFHxS, with no evidence of adverse associations reported in <u>Valvi et al. (2017)</u> or <u>Sagiv</u>
- 3 <u>et al. (2018)</u>.
- 4 Thus, the five *high* confidence studies considered for illustrative use in dose-response
- 5 analysis (see Table 5-3) were: <u>Buck Louis et al. (2018)</u>; <u>Shoaff et al. (2018)</u>, <u>Starling et al. (2017)</u>,
- 6 <u>Manzano-Salgado et al. (2019)</u>, and <u>Bach et al. (2016)</u>. These studies showed consistent results
- 7 especially when re-expressed on the ln-unit scale for consistency (range: -12 to -22 grams per each
- 8 In-unit PFHxS increase).
- 9 As previously described, while no toxicity value for developmental effects will be derived
- 10 due to the high uncertainty of any such value as compared with values based on thyroid or immune
- 11 effects, the PODs for developmental effects are still useful for the purposes delineated above in
- 12 Section 5.1.

Table 5-3. Mean birth weight deficit studies considered for dose-response modeling and derivation of points of departure for developmental effects in humans

Study reference and confidence	Population-overall population, sex- specific and all births vs. term births only	PFHxS biomarker sample timing	POD derivation	Notes
Buck Louis et al. (2018); high confidence	Overall population; term births	Trimester 1	Yes	Effect size was large in magnitude; study showed some association for other endpoints such as birth length deficits. Maternal samples were collected during trimester one (range: 10–13.9 wks) which should minimize the pregnancy hemodynamic impact.
Manzano-Salgado et al. (2019); high confidence	Overall population; all births	Trimester 1	Yes	Results based on continuous exposure increases were moderate in magnitude and consistent with larger birth weight deficits based on categorical data; study showed some coherence across other endpoints such as postnatal growth and other fetal growth indices. Maternal samples were collected during trimester one (mean = 12.3 wks) which should minimize the pregnancy hemodynamic impact. Multi-PFAS models were developed.
Shoaff et al. (2018); high confidence	Overall population; term births	Trimester 2	Yes	Effect size was moderate in magnitude; study showed some coherence across other endpoints such as postnatal growth. Although the mean reported sampling period was 18 wks, it was variable across study participants (range: 16–40 wks) which may make a subset of these data (i.e., those with later sampling) more prone to potential bias from pregnancy hemodynamic changes.

Study reference and confidence	Population-overall population, sex- specific and all births vs. term births only	PFHxS biomarker sample timing	POD derivation	Notes
Starling et al. (2017); high confidence	Overall population; term births	Trimesters 2–3	Yes	Effect size was moderate in magnitude. Multi- PFAS models were developed. Median of 27 gestational wks of sampling. Concerns regarding the influence of pregnancy hemodynamic changes are generally greater for any trimester three PFHxS measures, but authors statistically adjusted for sampling timing.
Bach et al. (2016); high confidence	Overall population; sex-specific; term births	Trimester 1–2	Yesª	Results based on continuous exposure increases were moderate in magnitude and consistent with larger deficits based on categorical data and across sexes; this study also showed some coherence across other endpoints such as head circumference. Maternal samples were largely collected during trimesters one and two (mode: 12 wks) which may minimize the pregnancy hemodynamic impact.
Valvi et al. (2017); high confidence	Sex-specific; all births	Trimester 3	No	Study reported increased birth weight (i.e., no adverse effects).
Sagiv et al. (2018); high confidence	Sex-specific; term births	Trimester 1	No	Study showed mixed results.

^aStudy reported sex-specific findings that boys have larger deficits compared with girls. The associations between exposure and birth weight were not consistent across quantiles of exposures in girls. Results based overall population were used for POD derivation since the general population was the target population.

Estimation or Selection of Points of Departure (PODs)

Benchmark dose modeling

- 1 Consistent with EPA's Benchmark Dose Technical Guidance Document (U.S. EPA, 2012), the
- 2 BMD and 95% lower confidence limit on the BMD (BMDL) were estimated using a BMR to
- 3 represent a minimal, biologically significant level of change. The BMD Technical Guidance (U.S. EPA,
- 4 <u>2012</u>) sets up a hierarchy by which benchmark responses (BMRs) are selected. The first and
- 5 preferred approach uses a biological or toxicological basis to define what minimal level of response
- 6 or change is biologically significant. In the absence of information regarding the level of change that
- 7 is considered biologically significant, a BMR of 1 SD from the control mean for continuous data or a
- 8 BMR of 10% extra risk for dichotomous data is used to estimate the BMD and BMDL. The BMRs
- 9 selected for dose-response modeling of PFHxS-induced health effects are listed in Table 5-4 along
- 10 with the rationale for their selection. Further details, including the modeling output and graphical
- 11 results for the model selected for each endpoint, can be found in Appendix D. When dose-response
- 12 modeling was not feasible, or adequate modeling results were not obtained, no-observed-adverse-
- 1 effect level (NOAEL) or lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL) values were identified and
- 2 used as the POD.

Table 5-4. Benchmark response levels selected for BMD modeling of PFHxS outcomes

Endpoint	BMR	Rationale
Thyroid effects		
Decreased serum-total T4 Decreased serum-total T3	1 standard deviation	No information is readily available that allows for determining a minimally biological significant response. The BMD Technical Guidance (<u>U.S. EPA, 2012</u>) recommends a BMR based on 1 SD for continuous endpoints when biological information is not sufficient to identify the BMR.
Immune effects		
Decreased antibody concentrations for diphtheria and tetanus in children	1/2 standard deviation	No information is readily available that allows for determining a minimally biological significant response. The BMD Technical Guidance (<u>U.S. EPA, 2012</u>) recommends a BMR based on 1 SD for continuous endpoints when biological information is not sufficient to identify the BMR. Diphtheria and tetanus are serious and sometimes fatal infections. In addition, childhood represents a sensitive lifestage when immunosuppression during the developmental stage may impede children's ability to protect against a range of immune hazards. Given the potential severity of this outcome, a BMR of ½ SD was selected (see additional discussion in Appendix D, Section 1.1).
Developmental Effects		
Decreased birth weight in humans	5% extra risk of exceeding adversity cutoff (hybrid approach)	A 5% extra risk is commonly used for dichotomous developmental endpoints as recommended by <i>Benchmark Dose Technical</i> <i>Guidance</i> (U.S. EPA, 2012). For birth weight, a public health definition of low birth weight exists, and the hybrid approach was used to estimate the dose at which the extra risk of falling below that cutoff equaled 5% (see Appendix D).

- When modeling was feasible, the estimated BMDLs were used as PODs (see Table 5-5).
 Further details, including the modeling output and graphical results for the model selected for each
 endpoint, can be found in Appendix D. For the modeling of immune effects, potential confounding
 by other PFOS and PFOA was considered in the POD derivation by comparing the effect estimates
 from the analyses in and BMDLs for PFHxS from single-PFAS models against those from multi-PFAS
- 8 models controlling for PFOS and PFOA in analyses by <u>Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018)</u> (see

- 1 Appendix D, Section 1 for details). When dose-response modeling was not feasible, or adequate
- 2 modeling results were not obtained, NOAEL or LOAEL values were identified based on biological
- 3 rationales when possible and used as the POD. The PODs (based on BMD modeling or
- 4 NOAEL/LOAEL selection) for the endpoints advanced for dose-response analysis are presented in
- 5 Table 5-5 alongside the corresponding POD_{HED}s derived based on the PK extrapolations as
- 6 described in Section 3.1.6.

Table 5-5. Points of Departure (PODs) considered for the derivation of PFHxS candidate toxicity values

Endpoint	Study/confidence	Species/	POD type (% change if NOAEL or	Free Acid POD (mg/kg-d) ^f	DDEF	Free Acid POD _{HED} ^d (mg/kg-d)
Thyroid	Study/connuence	JEX	LOALL	(116/ 16-0)		(116/ 16-0)
Decreased Total T4	28-d study <u>NTP (2018a)</u> , high confidence	SD rat, male	LOAELª (-44%)	0.684	5.73 × 10 ⁻³	3.92 × 10 ⁻³
	Multigenerational Study <u>Ramhøj et al.</u> (2018), high confidence	Wistar rat, Combined F ₁ (PND 16/17)	NOAEL ^b (+4%)	0.051	4.88 × 10 ⁻⁴	2.49 × 10 ⁻⁵
Decreased T3	Multigenerational Study <u>Ramhøj et al.</u> (2020), high confidence	Wistar rat, Combined F ₁ (PND 16/17)	NOAEL⁵(−7%)	5.5	4.88 × 10 ⁻⁴	2.68 × 10 ⁻³
	28-d study <u>NTP (2018a)</u> , high confidence	SD rat, male	LOAELª (–22%)	0.684	5.73 × 10 ⁻³	3.92 × 10 ⁻³
Endpoint	Study/Confidence	Species/Sex	POD type (% change if NOAE or LOAEL)	<u>POD</u> (mg/kg-d)	POD _{internal} (mg/L)	<u>POD_{н∈D}d (mg/kg-d)</u>
Immune (developm	ental)					
Decreased serum anti-tetanus antibody concentration in children at age 7 and PFHxS conc measured at age 5	<u>Budtz-Jørgensen</u> <u>and Grandjean</u> (2018); <u>Grandjean</u> <u>et al. (2012)</u> , <i>medium</i> confidence	Human (children)/both	BMDL _{½ SD}	e	2.82 × 10 ⁻⁴	1.16 × 10 ⁻⁸
Decreased serum anti-diphtheria antibody concentration in children at age 7 and PFHxS conc measured at age 5	Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018); Grandjean et al. (2012), medium confidence	Human (children)/both	BMDL _{% SD}	e	3.00 × 10 ⁻⁴	1.23 × 10 ⁻⁸

Decreased serum anti-tetanus antibody concentration in children at age 5 and PFHxS conc measured perinatally	Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018); Grandjean et al. (2012), medium confidence	Human (children)/both	BMDL _{½ SD}	e	1.44 × 10 ⁻²	5.90 × 10 ⁻⁷
Decreased serum anti-diphtheria antibody concentration in children at age 5 and PFHxS conc measured perinatally	Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018); Grandjean et al. (2012), medium confidence	Human (children)/both	BMDL _{½ SD}	e	1.37 × 10 ⁻²	1.01 × 10 ⁻⁶
Developmental ^g	•					
Decreased birth weight	Bach et al. (2016), high confidence	Human (newborn)/Both	BMDL _{SER} , Hybrid	e	1.12 × 10 ⁻³	8.29 × 10 ⁻⁸
	Buck Louis et al. (2018), high confidence	Human (newborn)/Both	BMDL _{5ER} , Hybrid	e	1.71 × 10 ⁻³	1.27 × 10 ⁻⁷
	Manzano-Salgado et al. (2019), high confidence	Human (newborn)/Both	BMDL _{SER} , Hybrid	^e	1.33 × 10 ⁻³	9.84 × 10 ⁻⁸

^aNo models provided adequate fit; therefore, a freestanding LOAEL, no NOAEL was identified as there were statistically significant effects in the lowest dose.

^bNo models provided adequate fit; therefore, NOAEL approach was used.

^cFor thyroid effects, POD_{HED} = POD × DDEF, where the DDEF corresponding to the rat sex for the observation is taken from **Error! Reference source not found.** Table 3-7; the lower DDEF for female rats used for observations in combined sex groups.

^dFor immune and developmental effects observed at PND 16/17 in rats or associated with serum concentrations measured in children at age 5 POD_{HED} was calculated assuming steady-state serum concentrations using CL for human males and older women, since the endpoint is assumed to depend on serum concentrations in the offspring, for which the lower clearance (not including menstrual fluid loss) is relevant. For effects observed at birth or associated with perinatal maternal serum concentrations, CL for humans included menstrual fluid loss, since maternal serum concentrations throughout pregnancy are similar to or below pre-pregnancy concentrations, which result from the total clearance of the reproductive age woman.

^e BMD modeling was done on serum concentrations and hence there was no POD based on external dose.
^fPOD for PFHxS free acid were calculated by taking the LOAEL or NOAEL and multiplying by the ratio of potassium salt/ molecular weight of the free acid.

^g Although PODs were derived for five birth weight studies (see above), there was less uncertainty in three developmental epidemiological studies noted here with earlier maternal biomarker sampling (<u>Manzano-Salgado</u> <u>et al., 2019</u>; <u>Buck Louis et al., 2018</u>; <u>Bach et al., 2016</u>).

Derivation of Candidate Lifetime Toxicity Values for the Reference Dose (RfD)

1 As discussed, below the developmental period is recognized as a susceptible lifestage when

- 2 exposure during a critical time window is more relevant to the induction of adverse effects than
- 3 lifetime exposure. Thus, the derivation of a lifetime value for developmental thyroid and immune
- 4 endpoints following PFHxS exposure is supported. Exposure during pregnancy was also considered
- 5 a potentially susceptible lifestage. Consistent with EPA guidelines (<u>U.S. EPA, 1994</u>), the thyroid

1 hormone PODs following 28-day PFHxS exposure in adult SD rats were not considered for 2 derivation of candidate lifetime values given the high degree of uncertainty associated with using 3 PODs from a 28-day rodent study to protect against effects observed in a chronic setting. However, 4 these endpoints were considered for the derivation of the subchronic RfD (see Section 5.2.2). 5 Overall, the developmental immune endpoints from epidemiological studies and thyroid endpoints, 6 specifically decreases in T3 and total T4, from a multigenerational rodent study of PFHxS, were 7 preferentially advanced for the derivation of candidate lifetime values. 8 For developmental immune effects, POD_{HED} values were derived for decreased serum 9 antibody levels (for both diphtheria and tetanus) in children (male and female) at different timing 10 of exposure and outcome measurement combinations, specifically antibody levels at age 7 and 11 PFHxS concentrations at age 5, and antibody levels at age 5 and perinatal PFHxS concentrations 12 (Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean, 2018) (see Table 5-5). The BMDL_{½SD(HED)} of 1.16 × 10⁻⁸ mg/kg-day 13 for decreased serum anti-tetanus antibody concentrations at age 7 and PFHxS measured at age 5 is 14 selected for the derivation of osRfDs for immune effects. Confidence in the BMDL estimate was 15 highest (*medium* confidence) for this endpoint in comparison with other exposure-outcome 16 combinations evaluated by Grandjean et al. (2012) and Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018) 17 based on a better fit model for PFHxS in the single-PFAS model and less uncertainty with respect to 18 potential confounding with other co-occurring PFAS (i.e., PFOS and PFOA) (see Appendix D, Section 1.1 for more details). The BMDL_{$\frac{1}{5}$ SD(HED)} of 1.23 × 10⁻⁸ mg/kg-day for decreased serum anti-19 20 diphtheria antibody concentrations at age 7 and PFHxS measured at age 5 is also selected for the 21 derivation of osRfDs for immune effects. Confidence in this BMDL estimate was somewhat lower 22 (medium/low confidence) for this endpoint than for anti-tetanus antibody concentrations at age 7 23 (see Appendix D, Section 1.1 for more details). Further, although both tetanus and diphtheria are 24 rare in the United States, tetanus remains more of a concern primarily among older adults, who are 25 unvaccinated or inadequately vaccinated and therefore are at higher risk of disease and mortality 26 (Liang et al., 2018). The estimated BMDL_{4SD} (2.82 × 10⁻⁴ mg/L) for this endpoint in the single-PFAS</sub> 27 model is at about the 10th percentile of the observed distribution. No information was available to 28 judge the fit of the model in the range of the BMDLs, but the BMD and BMDL were both within the 29 range of observed values and the model fit PFHxS well (see Appendix D, Section 1.1 for more 30 details). The fact that the derived POD_{HED} for immune effects on both tetanus and diphtheria 31 antibody concentrations at the same ages are relatively close $(1.16 \times 10^{-8} \text{ mg/kg-day versus})$ 32 1.23×10^{-8} mg/kg-day) lends support to the choice of the POD_{HED} of 1.16×10^{-8} mg/kg-day for 33 decreased serum anti-tetanus antibody concentrations at age 7 and PFHxS measured at age 5 for 34 the derivation of the osRfD. 35 For thyroid osRfD, POD_{HED} values were derived for decreased total thyroxine (T4) as well as

- 36 decreased triiodothyronine (T3) in a multigenerational reproductive study, with exposure
- including all of gestation (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2020</u>; <u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>) and a 28-day comprehensive
- toxicity study in rats (<u>NTP, 2018a</u>) (see Table 5-5). The POD_{HED} of 2.49 × 10⁻⁵ for decreased total T4

- 1 in combined F₁ Wistar rats is selected for the derivation of osRfD for thyroid effects as it was the
- 2 most sensitive and reliable measure of thyroid hormone function (see Table 5-5). As described
- 3 previously, although candidate toxicity values were not derived for developmental effects
- 4 (decreased birth weight), PODs for this outcome were derived as they were considered informative
- 5 of the magnitude of effects relevant to susceptible lifestages and may help inform uncertainty factor
- 6 selection for developmental immune effects and thyroid effects.

7

- Under EPA's A Review of the Reference Dose and Reference Concentration Processes (U.S. EPA,
- 8 <u>2002</u>) and Methods for Derivation of Inhalation Reference Concentrations and Application of
- 9 Inhalation Dosimetry (U.S. EPA, 1994), five possible areas of uncertainty and variability were
- 10 considered in deriving the candidate values for PFHxS. An explanation of these five possible areas
- of uncertainty and variability and the values assigned to each as a designated uncertainty factor
- 12 (UF) to be applied to the candidate POD_{HED} values are listed in Table 5-6, below.

Table 5-6. Uncertainty factors for the development of the lifetime RfD for PFHxS

	Value	Justification
UFA	1	A UF _A of 1 is applied to the POD derived from developmental immune effects as these responses were observed in epidemiological studies.
	3	For thyroid effects, a UF _A of 3 is applied to account for uncertainty in characterizing the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic differences between mice or rats and humans following oral PFHxS exposure. Some aspects of the cross-species extrapolation of pharmacokinetic processes have been accounted for using a DDEF to convert external doses from rodents to administered doses in humans; however, residual uncertainty related to potential pharmacodynamic differences remains.
UF _H	10	A UF _H of 10 is applied for developmental immune and thyroid effects. This is to account for interindividual variability in humans in the absence of quantitative information on potential differences in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics relating to PFHxS exposure in humans. (See discussion below for additional details).
UFs	1	A UF _s of 1 is applied to reduced antibody responses in children (Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean, 2018; Grandjean et al., 2012). The developmental period is recognized as a susceptible lifestage when exposure during a critical window of development is more relevant than lifetime exposure in adulthood (U.S. EPA, 1991). Additional considerations for the UF _s for immune effects are discussed below.
	1	A UF _s of 1 is applied to thyroid effects observed in the F1 animals from reproductive study (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>); the developmental period is a susceptible lifestage where exposure during certain time windows (e.g., pregnancy and gestation) is more relevant to the induction of developmental effects than lifetime exposure (<u>U.S. EPA, 1991</u>).
UFL	1	A UF _L of 1 is applied for LOAEL-to-NOAEL extrapolation when the POD is a BMDL as is the case for developmental immune endpoint or POD is a NOAEL as is the case for the thyroid endpoint.

	Value	Justification
UFD	3	A UFD of 3 is applied to account for deficiencies and uncertainties in the database. Although limited, the evidence base in laboratory animals consists of high/medium confidence short-term studies in rodents and a high confidence developmental study in mice. The database for PFHxS also includes several high/medium confidence epidemiological studies most informative for immune and developmental effects, which are sensitive effects of PFHxS exposure. However, uncertainties remain regarding the lack of studies examining effects with long-term exposure in adults—including in women of reproductive age (which may have increased susceptibility), studies of potential multigenerational effects, and studies of postnatal development, neurotoxicity, and thyroid toxicity during developmental lifestages. In all, the data are too sparse to conclude with certainty that the quantified developmental effects are likely to be the most sensitive; thus, a UFD of 1 was not selected. However, a UFD of 10 was also not selected given the availability of data from well-conducted studies on a range of health outcomes in multiple species, including sensitive evaluations of developmental and immune endpoints in humans. See discussion below for additional details.
UFc	See Table 5- 8	Composite Uncertainty Factor = $UF_A \times UF_H \times UF_S \times UF_L \times UF_D$

1 As described in EPA's A Review of the Reference Dose and Reference Concentration Processes 2 (U.S. EPA, 2002), the interspecies uncertainty factor (UF_A) is applied to account for extrapolation of 3 animal data to humans, and accounts for uncertainty regarding the pharmacokinetic and 4 pharmacodynamic differences across species. As is usual in the application of this uncertainty 5 factor, the pharmacokinetic uncertainty is mostly accounted for through the application of 6 dosimetric approaches for estimation of HEDs. This leaves some residual uncertainty around the 7 pharmacokinetics and the uncertainty surrounding pharmacodynamics. For developmental 8 immune effects, a $UF_A = 1$ was applied to the POD as these responses were observed in 9 epidemiological studies. For thyroid effects, a UF_A = 3 was applied to the POD derived from rodent 10 studies to account for interspecies uncertainty. While uncertainty in the pharmacokinetic processes has largely been accounted for by using a DDEF to convert external rodent doses to human 11 12 administered doses, a UF_A = 3 was applied to address the remaining pharmacokinetic uncertainty 13 and to address the pharmacodynamic uncertainty in extrapolating those effects to humans (see 14 Uncertainty in HED Calculations for more details.). 15 For developmental immune effects in children, a UF_{H} of either 3 or 10 was considered. 16 Specifically, it can be argued that the PODs are derived from susceptible individuals because 17 children's immune systems are not fully formed and are presumably more sensitive to these effects 18 than most other populations, and thus, the UF_H should be reduced (although uncertainty regarding 19 differences across individuals exposed during this sensitive lifestage would still remain). However, 20 a counter argument is that currently there are no data to compare the responses in children with 21 other populations or lifestages, so it is unclear whether these individuals are indeed particularly 22 susceptible to these specific effects. As described in U.S. EPA (2020), other factors, in addition to 23 lifestage, may increase susceptibility, including: demographics, genetic variability, health status,

1 behavior or practices, and social determinants. Ultimately, since the current evidence is insufficient 2 to address these uncertainties, a UF_H of 10 is applied for developmental immune effects. For thyroid 3 effects, a UF_H of 10 is applied to address differences due to intraspecies variability, including 4 potentially more sensitive or severe effects in susceptible populations or lifestages. 5 The duration extrapolation factor (UF_s) accounts for the uncertainty in extrapolating from 6 less than chronic PFHxS exposure to lifetime exposure. A UF_s = 1 was applied to the PODs for 7 thyroid effects as the selected POD was derived from a reproductive study with exposure 8 encompassing the critical window of gestation (Ramhøj et al., 2018). This developmental window is 9 recognized as a susceptible lifestage when exposure is more relevant to the induction of 10 developmental effects than lifetime exposure (U.S. EPA, 1991). The reduced antibody responses 11 were measured in children 5–7 years of age, which also constitutes a sensitive lifestage. However, 12 given the slow clearance rates for this chemical, particularly in humans (see Table 3-5), PFHxS is 13 expected to accumulate in the body through adulthood. Therefore, it is plausible that longer 14 exposure durations can result in effects at lower exposure levels. Although the MOA for PFHxS-15 induced immunosuppressive responses in humans is unknown, early-life exposures may alter the 16 immune system and lead to unpredictable outcomes later in life or during other susceptible 17 lifestages of reduced immunocompetence such as pregnancy, advanced lifestages, or 18 immunocompromised states (IPCS, 2012) that show increased sensitivity with continuous, longer-19 term exposures. Still, given the expectation that the children and their mothers have been exposed 20 to elevated levels of PFHxS for many years, the observed effects on immune response are 21 considered the result of a cumulative, prolonged PFHxS exposure to the subjects from conception 22 until the age when the response was evaluated. Further, the consequences of perturbed immune 23 system function (in this case, suppressed antibody responses leading to potentially increased risk 24 of disease) during development are expected to be generally more severe and longer lasting that 25 those that manifest in healthy adults. Thus, a UF_s of 1 was considered appropriate. 26 The database uncertainty factor $(UF_{\rm p})$ is applied to account for the potential of deriving an 27 under-protective reference value as a result of incomplete characterization of a chemical's toxicity 28 (U.S. EPA, 2002). For PFHxS, a UF_D of 3 was selected to account for deficiencies and uncertainties in 29 the database. Although limited, the evidence base in laboratory animals consists of *high/medium* 30 confidence short-term studies in rodents and a *high* confidence developmental study in mice. The 31 database for PFHxS also includes several *high/medium* confidence epidemiological studies most 32 informative for immune and developmental effects, which are sensitive effects of PFHxS exposure. 33 However, uncertainties remain regarding the lack of studies examining effects with long-term 34 exposure in adults—including in women of reproductive age (which may have increased 35 susceptibility), studies of potential multigenerational effects, and studies of postnatal development, 36 neurotoxicity, and thyroid toxicity during developmental lifestages. Typically, the specific study 37 types lacking in a chemical's database that influence the value of the UF_D to the greatest degree are 38 developmental toxicity and multigenerational reproductive toxicity studies. While the PFHxS

- 1 database does include *high* confidence reproductive/developmental toxicity studies in rats and
- 2 mice, these only span one-generation. Therefore, despite their quality, these studies fail to cover
- 3 potential transgenerational impacts of longer-term exposures evaluated in two-generation studies.
- 4 The availability of a two-generation multigenerational reproductive study could result in reference
- 5 values below those currently derived for PFHxS. However, the concern over a lack of two-
- 6 generation study in the available literature is diminished when the PFHxS, PFDA, PFOA, and PFOS
- 7 evidence bases are considered together. Although limited in their ability to assess reproductive
- 8 health or function, measures of possible reproductive toxicity occurred at doses equal to or higher
- 9 than those that resulted in effects in other organ systems (e.g., thyroid, liver) when measured after
- 10 exposure to PFHxS in utero through PND 22 (<u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>). Similar results were observed for
- 11 the animal databases for PFOA and PFOS indicating reproductive effects were not uniquely
- 12 sensitive markers of toxicity for these long-chain PFAS (<u>ATSDR, 2018b</u>). Further, no notable male or
- 13 female reproductive effects were observed in epidemiological or toxicological studies investigating
- 14 exposure to PFHxS (MDH, 2019). Given these overall uncertainties with the database, a 3-fold UF
- 15 was applied.

16 The uncertainty factors described in Table 5-6 and the text above were applied and the

- 17 resulting candidate values are shown in Table 5-7. The candidate values are derived by dividing the
- 18 POD_{HED} by the composite uncertainty factor:
- 19 Candidate values for PFHxS = $POD_{HED} \div UF_C$.

Endpoint	Study/ confidence	Strain/ species/sex	Free Acid POD _{HED} (mg/kg-d)	UFA	UFн	UFs	UF∟	UF₀	UFc	Candidate value (mg/kg-d)
Thyroid				•	•	•	•	•		
Decreased Total T4	Ramhøj et al. (2018), high confidence Wistar rat, combined F ₁	Wistar rat, Combined F ₁ (PND 16/17)	2.49 × 10 ⁻⁵	3	10	1	1	3	100	2 × 10 ⁻⁷
Decreased T3	Multigenerational Study <u>Ramhøj et al. (2020)</u> , high confidence	Wistar rat, Combined F ₁ (PND 16/17)	2.68 × 10 ⁻³	3	10	1	1	3	100	3 × 10 ⁻⁵
Developmental Imm	une Effects							•		
Decreased serum anti-tetanus antibody concentration in children at age 7	Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018); Grandjean et al. (2012); medium confidence	Human (children), male and female	1.16 × 10 ⁻⁸	1	10	1	1	3	30	4 × 10 ⁻¹⁰
Decreased serum anti-diphtheria antibody concentration in children at age 7	Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018); Grandjean et al. (2012); medium confidence	Human (children), male and female	1.23 × 10 ⁻⁸	1	10	1	1	3	30	4 × 10 ⁻¹⁰

Table 5-7. Lifetime candidate values for PFHxS

Selection of Lifetime Toxicity Value(s)

Selection of organ-/system-specific oral reference doses (osRfDs)

- Table 5-7 shows osRfDs selected for the individual organ systems identified in Section 3.2
- 2 (i.e., thyroid and developmental immune effects).
 - The value of 4 \times 10⁻¹⁰ mg/kg-day (rounded from 3.9 \times 10⁻¹⁰ and, separately, 4.1 \times 10⁻¹⁰
- 4 mg/kg-day in Table 5-7 for decreased serum anti-tetanus and anti-diphtheria antibody
- 5 concentrations in children (male and female) at age 7 years and PFHxS measured at age 5 years
- 6 from the <u>Grandjean et al. (2012)</u> and <u>Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018)</u> was selected as the
- 7 osRfD for developmental immune effects. The respective POD_{HED} values for these two endpoints
- 8 (decreased anti-tetanus as well as decreased anti-diphtheria antibodies) were close in value
- 9 $(1.16 \times 10^{-8} \text{ versus } 1.23 \times 10^{-8}, \text{ respectively})$ and the candidate values round to the same toxicity
- 10 value.

1

3

- 1 For the thyroid effects, an osRfD of 2×10^{-7} mg/kg-day (rounded from 2.49×10^{-7} in Table
- 2 5-7) was selected based on decreased total T4 in F1 pups exposed to PFHxS in the <u>Ramhøj et al.</u>
- 3 (2018). As there was no other reason to select one POD over the other (e.g., different levels of
- 4 confidence in the POD calculations), the more sensitive POD for total T4 was selected over the POD
- 5 for T3.
- 6 The confidence decisions about the study, evidence base, quantification of the POD, and
- 7 overall RfD for these organ-/system-specific values are described in detail in Table 5-8, along with
- 8 the rationales for selection of confidence levels. In deciding overall confidence, confidence in the
- 9 evidence base is prioritized over the other confidence decisions. The overall confidence in the
- 10 osRfDs for both immune and thyroid effects is judged as *medium*. Selection of the overall RfD is
- 11 described in the following section.

Confidence categories	Designation	Discussion
Thyroid 2 × 10 ⁻⁷ RfD	= mg/kg-d	
Confidence in study ^a used to derive osRfD	High	Confidence in <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u> was <i>high</i> and is based on a well-designed experimental design using established approaches, recommendations, and best practices (<u>HAWC link</u>).
Confidence in evidence base supporting this hazard	Medium	Confidence in the evidence base for thyroid effects is medium based on consistent findings in animals of decreases in T3 and T4 in adult and juvenile rats in the absence of effects on TSH (<u>NTP</u> , <u>2018a</u> ; <u>Ramhøj et al., 2018</u>), but with unexplained inconsistency in the available epidemiological studies and other uncertainties (see Table 3-6).
Confidence in quantification of the POD _{HED}	Medium	Confidence in the quantification of the POD _{HED} and osRfD is <i>medium</i> given POD was based on a NOAEL (data did not fit BMD models) and because a DDEF was applied to estimate the POD _{HED} . The uncertainty associated with the use of a DDEF is less than the uncertainty introduced from the use of a NOAEL because the DDEF is based on PFHxS-specific pharmacokinetic data (see Uncertainty in HED Calculations). Considering these limitations, confidence in the POD was <i>medium</i> .
Overall confidence in osRfD	Medium	The overall confidence in the osRfD is <i>medium</i> . The <i>medium</i> confidence in the POD derivation is offset by the <i>high</i> confidence in the study and <i>medium</i> confidence in the evidence base for thyroid effects.
Developmental Imm	une RfD = 4 × 10)-10
Confidence in study ^a used to derive osRfD	Medium	Confidence in <u>Grandjean et al. (2012)</u> ; <u>Budtz-Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018)</u> was rated as <i>medium</i> based on some concerns for sensitivity from narrow exposure contrast, which decreases confidence in null associations only (<u>HAWC link</u>).
Confidence in evidence base supporting this hazard	Medium	Confidence in the evidence base for immune effects is <i>medium</i> based on consistent findings of reduced antibody responses from two <i>medium</i> confidence birth cohort studies (<u>Grandjean et al., 2017b</u> ; <u>Grandjean et al., 2017a</u> ; <u>Grandjean et al., 2017a</u> ; <u>Grandjean et al., 2017a</u>) and a <i>low</i> confidence study in adults (<u>Grandjean et al., 2017b</u>). Limitations in this evidence base include the lack of epidemiological studies in adults or long-term/chronic studies in animals, and a general lack of studies examining effects on the immune system across different developmental immunotoxicity categories, including sensitization and allergic response and autoimmunity and autoimmune disease.

Table 5-8. Confidence in the organ-/system-specific RfDs for PFHxS

Confidence categories	Designation	Discussion
Confidence in quantification of the POD _{HED}	Medium	The POD is based on BMD modeling within the range of the observed data and a BMDL _{kSD} estimate that is associated with little uncertainty due to potential confounding by PFOA or PFOS (see Appendix D, Section 1.1 for more details). The POD _{HED} s for decreased anti-tetanus and decreased anti-diphtheria antibodies were close in value $(1.16 \times 10^{-8} \text{ vs.} 1.23 \times 10^{-8}, \text{ respectively})$ which increases confidence in the quantification of the POD _{HED} . There is uncertainty as to the most sensitive window of vulnerability with respect to the exposure/outcome measurement timing (BMDs/BMDLs were estimated from PFHxS levels measured at age 5 or perinatally and anti-tetanus antibody concentrations measured at age 7 or 5) and the effect on antibodies at age 7 were more sensitive that those measured at age 5 (see Appendix D, Section 1.1 for more details); however, Grandjean et al. (2017b) reported that <i>estimated</i> PFOS and PFOA "concentrations at 3 m and 6 m showed the strongest inverse associations with antibody concentrations at age 5 yrs, particularly for tetanus." Thus, it is possible that adverse effects of PFHxS during infancy could be more sensitive than between ages 5 and 7 yrs.
Overall confidence in osRfD	Medium	The overall confidence in the osRfD is <i>medium</i> and is driven by <i>medium</i> confidence in the evidence base for immune effects, the quantification of the POD, and the study used for BMD modeling.

^aAll study evaluation details can be found on HAWC.

Selection of overall reference dose (RfD) and confidence statement

Table 5-9. RfD and organ-/system-specific RfDs for PFHxS

			Reference Dose (RfD)			
Basis		RfD	(mg/kg-d)		Confidence	
Immune (developmental) effects		4	4 × 10 ⁻¹⁰		Medium	
		Organ-/	system-specific RfDs	(osRfDs)		
Organ / System	tem Outcomes and studies		POD _{HED} (mg/kg-d)	UFC	osRfD (mg/kg-d)ª	Confidence
Thyroid	Decreased serum Total T4 in F1 Wistar rats (Ramhøj et al., 2018)		2.49 × 10 ⁻⁵	100	2 × 10 ⁻⁷	Medium
Immune (developmental)	Decreased serum anti- tetanus and anti-diphtheria antibody concentrations measured in children at age 7 with PFHxS exposure measured at age 5 <u>Grandjean et al. (2012);</u> <u>Budtz-Jørgensen and</u> <u>Grandjean (2018); Budtz- Jørgensen and Grandjean</u> (2018); <u>Grandjean et al.</u> (2012)		1.16 × 10 ⁻⁹ and 1.23 × 10 ⁻⁹	30	4 × 10 ⁻¹⁰	Medium

^aThe RfD or osRfD values for different salts of PFHxS would be calculated by multiplying the RfD or osRfD values for the free acid of PFHxS (i.e.., the toxicity values in the table above) by the ratio of molecular weights. For example, for the potassium salt the ratio would be: $\frac{MW \ apotassium \ salt}{MW \ free \ acid} = \frac{438}{400} = 1.095$. This same method of conversion can be applied to other salts of PFHxS, such as the ammonium or sodium salts, using the corresponding molecular weights.

From the identified human health effects of PFHxS and derived osRfDs for thyroid and 1 2 developmental immune effects (see Table 5-10), an RfD of 4×10^{-10} mg/kg-day was selected based 3 on decreased serum anti-tetanus and anti-diphtheria antibody concentrations in children. As 4 described in Table 5-9, confidence in the RfD is *medium*, based on *medium* confidence in the 5 developmental immune osRfD. This osRfD is based on the two lowest POD_{HED}s available on PFHxS 6 immune effects (an evidence based interpreted with *medium* confidence) using a study considered 7 *medium* confidence. The selected osRfD is based on effects in children and expected to be protective 8 across all lifestages. The selection considered both available osRfDs as well as the overall 9 confidence and composite uncertainty for those osRfDs. The thyroid osRfD was based on 10 application of a composite uncertainty threefold greater than that applied in deriving the immune 11 osRfD. Further, when comparing the sensitivity of thyroid and immune osRfDs, the thyroid value is 12 over 3,000-fold higher. Had the osRfD for thyroid effects been chosen as the overall RfD, this would 13 have raised concerns over the ability of the thyroid RfD to be protective against potential immune 14 effects (and it may not be protective against other developmental effects, such as decreased birth 15 weight (see Table 5-6) if those other effects could be reliably quantified). Selection of the RfD on the 16 basis of developmental immune effects is presumed to be protective of possible thyroid and other 17 potential adverse health effects (including potential effects on birth weight) in humans. Finally, 18 since the developmental immune osRfD is based on effects observed in males and females, the

19 overall RfD would be protective for both sexes.

5.2.2. Subchronic Toxicity Values for Oral Exposure (Subchronic Oral Reference Dose [RfD]) Derivation

20 In addition to providing an RfD for lifetime exposure in health systems, this document also 21 provides an RfD for less-than-lifetime ("subchronic") exposures. These candidate subchronic 22 toxicity values were based on the endpoints and PODs in Table 5-5 including the shorter duration 23 studies that were not advanced for consideration in developing the lifetime RfD. Given that the 24 immune and thyroid effects considered for the RfD were observed after exposure to PFHxS during 25 susceptible lifestages, these endpoints were also considered for the derivation of candidate 26 subchronic toxicity values, applying identical uncertainty factors to those used for the lifetime RfDs 27 (see Table 5-6). 28 The datasets advanced for derivation of the subchronic toxicity values were selected on the 29 basis of several considerations, including whether there is an endpoint with less uncertainty and/or

- 30 greater sensitivity, and whether the endpoint is protective of both sexes and all lifestages.
- 31 Ultimately, similar to the datasets advanced for the lifetime thyroid osRfD derivation, decreased
- total T4 and decreased T3 endpoints from the <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u> study was advanced over
- identical endpoints from the *high* confidence <u>NTP (2018a)</u> study. This is because the <u>Ramhøj et al.</u>
- 34 (2018) study included exposure to PFHxS during gestation, this exposure is interpreted as a critical
- 35 sensitive window for effects on the developing thyroid system. Further, consistent with the decision
- 36 when estimating the lifetime osRfD, the POD for total T4 was advanced over the POD for T3 from

- 1 <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u> given the increased sensitivity of the POD. The NOAEL_{HED} of 2.49 × 10⁻⁵ mg/kg-
- 2 day for decreased total T4 in F1 generation rats in the <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u> study was selected for
- 3 the thyroid subchronic osRfD (see Table 5-5). The UFs applied to the derivation of a subchronic RfD
- 4 thyroid POD in rat offspring are the same as those applied in the derivation of lifetime RfD values.
- 5 See Table 5-6 for details.
- 6 Likewise, the same datasets on developmental immune effects were advanced for
- 7 derivation of the subchronic osRfD, with the same inherent confidence and uncertainties.

Selection of Subchronic Toxicity Value(s)

- 8 As described above, subchronic osRfDs associated with each health effect are presented as
- 9 they may be useful for certain decision purposes (i.e., site-specific risk assessments with less-than-
- 10 lifetime exposures). The osRfD values selected were associated with decreased serum anti-tetanus
- 11 antibody concentrations for immune effects and decreased total T4 levels for thyroid effects.
- 12 Confidence in each osRfD is described in Table 5-8 and consider confidence in the study used to
- 13 derive the quantitative estimate, the overall health effect, specific evidence base, and quantitative
- 14 estimate for each osRfD.

Selection of Subchronic RfD and Confidence Statement

Organ-/system-specific subchronic RfD values for PFHxS selected in the previous sectionare summarized in Table 5-10.

Subchronic Reference Dose (RfD)										
Basis RfD			(mg/kg-d)		Confidence					
Immune (developmental)		l × 10 ⁻¹⁰	Medium							
	Subchronic organ-/system-specific RfDs									
Organ / system	Outcomes	and studies	POD _{HED} (mg/kg- d)	UFc	osRfD (mg/kg-d)	Confidence				
Thyroid	Decreased serum T4 (free) in F1 Wistar rats <u>Ramhøj et al. (2018)</u>		2.49 × 10⁻⁵ (NOAEL)	100	2 × 10 ⁻⁷	Medium				
lmmune (developmental)	Decreased serum anti- tetanus and anti- diphtheria antibody concentrations measured in children at age 7 with PFHxS exposure measured at age 5 <u>Grandjean et al.</u>		1.16 × 10 ⁻⁸ and 1.23 × 10 ⁻⁸ (BMDL _{½SD})	30	4 × 10 ⁻¹⁰	Medium				

Table 5-10. Subchronic RfD organ-/system-specific RfD values for PFHxS

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.5-22DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

Subchronic Reference Dose (RfD)								
Basis RfD			(mg/kg-d)	Confidence				
Immune (developmental) 4 effects		I × 10 ^{−10}	Medium					
Subchronic organ-/system-specific RfDs								
Organ / system	Outcomes and studies		POD <u>_{HED} (</u> mg/kg- d)	UFc	osRfD (mg/kg-d)	Confidence		
	(2012); Budtz- Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018); Grandjean et al. (2012); Budtz- Jørgensen and Grandjean (2018) 1.16–1.23 × 10 ⁻⁹							

1 From the identified targets of PFHxS toxicity and derived subchronic osRfDs (see Table 5-

2 10), an RfD of 4 \times 10⁻¹⁰ mg/kg-day based on decreased serum anti-tetanus and diphtheria antibody

3 concentrations in children is selected for less-than-lifetime exposure. Confidence in the RfD is

4 *medium*, based on *medium* confidence in the immune osRfD, as described in Table 5-8. The

5 considerations for selecting the immune osRfD for the lifetime RfD are the same as those applied in

6 selecting the subchronic RfD.

5.2.3. Inhalation Reference Concentration (RfC) Derivation

No studies examining inhalation effects of short-term, subchronic, chronic, or gestational
exposure for PFHxS in humans or animals have been identified, precluding the derivation of an RfC.

5.3. CANCER TOXICITY VALUES

9 Considering the limitations in the PFHxS evidence base on cancer (see Section 3.3) and in

- 10 accordance with the Guidelines for Carcinogen Risk Assessment (U.S. EPA, 2005), EPA concluded
- 11 that based on the available evidence, a classification of "Inadequate Information to Assess
- 12 Carcinogenic Potential" of PFHxS in humans. The lack of adequate carcinogenicity data for PFHxS
- 13 precludes the derivation of quantitative estimates of cancer for either oral (e.g., an oral slope factor
- 14 [OSF]) or inhalation (e.g., an inhalation unit risk [IUR]) PFHxS exposure.

REFERENCES

<u>3M</u> (3M Company). (2000a). Sanitized report: Exploratory 28-day oral toxicity study with telomer alcohol, telomer acrylate, PFHS and PFOS (positive control) by daily gavage in the rat followed by a 14/28-day recovery period [TSCA Submission]. (FYI-0500-01378 B; DCN 8400000018). St. Paul, MN.

https://vosemite.epa.gov/oppts/epatscat8.nsf/ReportSearchView/05ADDF3067814C9785 25703B004B4119.

- <u>3M</u> (3M Company). (2000b). Support: Protocol & report of data for exploratory 28-day oral toxicity study in rats: Telomer alcohol, telomer acrylate, [], PFHS, PFOS, w/ attachments, cvr ltr dated 050400 [TSCA Submission]. (EPA/OTS Doc #8EHQ-0800-0373). St. Paul, MN. https://ntrl.ntis.gov/NTRL/dashboard/searchResults/titleDetail/OTS020492910.xhtml.
- <u>3M</u> (3M Company). (2003). Oral (gavage) combined repeated dose toxicity study of T-7706 with the reproduction/developmental toxicity screening test [TSCA Submission]. (89-000811850U; 8EHQ-0903-00373). St. Paul, MN.
- <u>3M</u> (3M Company). (2004). 28-day repeated dermal contact study of 3m test articles in Sprague-Dawley rats final report 01G00002 with letter dated 10/04/2004 [TSCA Submission]. (8EHQ-04-00373BJ). Washington, D.C.: TSCA. https://java.epa.gov/oppt_chemical_search/proxy?filename=2004-10-8EHO-04-00373BJ 8ehq 1004 00373bj.pdf.
- <u>3M</u> (3M Company). (2010). TSCA 8(e) substantial risk notice: Sulfonate-based and carboxylic-based fluorochemicals, docket 8EHQ-0598-373 - Results from a mechanistic investigation of the effect of PFBS, PFHS, and PFOS on lipid and lipoprotein metabolism in transgenic mice [TSCA Submission]. (8EHQ-10-00373DH). St. Paul, MN.
- Abraham, K; Mielke, H; Fromme, H; Völkel, W; Menzel, J; Peiser, M; Zepp, F; Willich, SN; Weikert, C. (2020). Internal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) and biological markers in 101 healthy 1-year-old children: associations between levels of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and vaccine response. Arch Toxicol 94: 2131-2147. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00204-020-02715-4.
- ACOG (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists). (2019). The use of antimüllerian hormone in women not seeking fertility care. Am J Obstet Gynecol 133: e274-e278.
- Aimuzi, R; Luo, K; Chen, O; Wang, H; Feng, L; Ouyang, F; Zhang, J. (2019). Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances and fetal thyroid hormone levels in umbilical cord blood among newborns by prelabor caesarean delivery. Environ Int 130: 104929. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.104929.
- Aimuzi, R; Luo, K; Huang, R; Huo, XN; Nian, M; Ouyang, FX; Du, YT; Feng, LP; Wang, WY; Zhang, J. (2020). Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluroalkyl substances and maternal thyroid hormones in early pregnancy. Environ Pollut 264: 114557. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.114557.
- Alberti, KG; Eckel, RH; Grundy, SM; Zimmet, PZ; Cleeman, JI; Donato, KA; Fruchart, JC; James, WP; Loria, CM; Smith, SC. (2009). Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: A joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation 120: 1640-1645.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-1

- Alderete, TL; Jin, R; Walker, DI; Valvi, D; Chen, Z; Jones, DP; Peng, C; Gilliland, FD; Berhane, K; Conti, DV; Goran, MI; Chatzi, L. (2019). Perfluoroalkyl substances, metabolomic profiling, and alterations in glucose homeostasis among overweight and obese Hispanic children: A proofof-concept analysis. Environ Int 126: 445-453. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.02.047.
- <u>Alesio, JL; Slitt, A; Bothun, GD.</u> (2022). Critical new insights into the binding of poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) to albumin protein. Chemosphere 287: 131979. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131979.
- <u>Alkhalawi, E; Kasper-Sonnenberg, M; Wilhelm, M; Völkel, W; Wittsiepe, J.</u> (2016). Perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) and anthropometric measures in the first year of life: Results from the Duisburg Birth Cohort. J Toxicol Environ Health A 79: 1041-1049. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2016.1219552</u>.
- Anderson, RH: Long, GC: Porter, RC: Anderson, JK. (2016). Occurrence of select perfluoroalkyl substances at U.S. Air Force aqueous film-forming foam release sites other than fire-training areas: Field-validation of critical fate and transport properties. Chemosphere 150: 678-685. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.01.014.
- <u>Angrish, MM; Kaiser, JP; Mcqueen, CA; Chorley, BN.</u> (2016). Tipping the balance: Hepatotoxicity and the 4 apical key events of hepatic steatosis [Review]. Toxicol Sci 150: 261-268. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfw018</u>.
- <u>Arbuckle, TE; Macpherson, S; Foster, WG; Sathyanarayana, S; Fisher, M; Monnier, P; Lanphear, B;</u> <u>Muckle, G; Fraser, WD.</u> (2020). Prenatal Perfluoroalkyl Substances and Newborn Anogenital Distance in a Canadian Cohort. Reprod Toxicol 94: 31-39. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2020.03.011</u>.
- Ashley-Martin, J; Dodds, L; Arbuckle, TE; Bouchard, MF; Fisher, M; Morriset, AS; Monnier, P; Shapiro, GD; Ettinger, AS; Dallaire, R; Taback, S; Fraser, W; Platt, RW. (2017). Maternal concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances and fetal markers of metabolic function and birth weight. Am J Epidemiol 185: 185-193. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kww213</u>.
- Ashley-Martin, J; Dodds, L; Levy, AR; Platt, RW; Marshall, JS; Arbuckle, TE. (2015). Prenatal exposure to phthalates, bisphenol A and perfluoroalkyl substances and cord blood levels of IgE, TSLP and IL-33. Environ Res 140: 360-368. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.04.010.
- ATSDR (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry). (2018a). An overview of perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances and interim guidance for clinicians responding to patient exposure concerns. Interim guidance revised 5/7/2018. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/77114.
- ATSDR (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry). (2018b). Toxicological profile for perfluoroalkyls. Draft for public comment [ATSDR Tox Profile]. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp200.pdf.
- <u>Attanasio, R.</u> (2019a). Association between perfluoroalkyl acids and liver function: Data on sex differences in adolescents. Data in Brief 27: 104618. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2019.104618</u>.
- Attanasio, R. (2019b). Sex differences in the association between perfluoroalkyl acids and liver function in US adolescents: Analyses of NHANES 2013-2016. Environ Pollut 254: 113061. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113061.
- Averina, M; Brox, J; Huber, S; Furberg, AS. (2021). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and dyslipidemia, hypertension and obesity in adolescents. The Fit Futures study. Environ Res 195: 110740. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.110740</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-2 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>Aycan, MF.</u> (2019). Comparison of biomechanical properties of implant systems used in treatment of proximal femur fractures. Gazi Universitesi Muhendislik Mimarlik Fakultesi Dergisi 34: 812-818. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17341/gazimmfd.416539</u>.
- Bach, CC; Bech, BH; Nohr, EA; Olsen, J; Matthiesen, NB; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC; Bossi, R; Henriksen, TB. (2016). Perfluoroalkyl acids in maternal serum and indices of fetal growth: The Aarhus Birth Cohort. Environ Health Perspect 124: 848-854. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1510046.
- Bach, CC; Bech, BH; Nohr, EA; Olsen, J; Matthiesen, NB; Bossi, R; Uldbjerg, N; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, <u>EC; Henriksen, TB.</u> (2015). Serum perfluoroalkyl acids and time to pregnancy in nulliparous women. Environ Res 142: 535-541. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.08.007</u>.
- Bach, CC; Matthiesen, NB; Olsen, J; Henriksen, TB. (2018). Conditioning on parity in studies of perfluoroalkyl acids and time to pregnancy: An example from the Danish national birth cohort. Environ Health Perspect 126: 117003. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP1493</u>.
- Baduel, C; Paxman, CJ; Mueller, JF. (2015). Perfluoroalkyl substances in a firefighting training ground (FTG), distribution and potential future release. J Hazard Mater 296: 46-53. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2015.03.007.
- Bailey, SA; Zidell, RH; Perry, RW. (2004). Relationships between organ weight and body/brain weight in the rat: What is the best analytical endpoint? Toxicol Pathol 32: 448-466. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01926230490465874.
- Bangma, J; Eaves, LA; Oldenburg, K; Reiner, JL; Manuck, T; Fry, RC. (2020). Identifying Risk Factors for Levels of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in the Placenta in a High-Risk Pregnancy Cohort in North Carolina. Environ Sci Technol 54: 8158-8166. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b07102.
- Bao, WW; Qian, ZM; Geiger, SD; Liu, E; Liu, Y; Wang, SQ; Lawrence, WR; Yang, BY; Hu, LW; Zeng, XW;
 Dong, GH. (2017). Gender-specific associations between serum isomers of perfluoroalkyl substances and blood pressure among Chinese: Isomers of C8 Health Project in China. Sci Total Environ 607-608: 1304-1312. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.07.124.
- Barber, JL; Berger, U; Chaemfa, C; Huber, S; Jahnke, A; Temme, C; Jones, KC. (2007). Analysis of perand polyfluorinated alkyl substances in air samples from Northwest Europe. J Environ Monit 9: 530-541. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/b701417a</u>.
- Barbier, P; Zejneli, O; Martinho, M; Lasorsa, A; Belle, V; Smet-Nocca, C; Tsvetkov, PO; Devred, F; Landrieu, I. (2019). Role of Tau as a microtubule-associated protein: Structural and functional aspects. Front Aging Neurosci 11: 204. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2019.00204.
- Barrett, ES; Chen, C; Thurston, SW; Haug, LS; Sabaredzovic, A; Fjeldheim, FN; Frydenberg, H; Lipson, SF; Ellison, PT; Thune, I. (2015). Perfluoroalkyl substances and ovarian hormone concentrations in naturally cycling women. Fertil Steril 103: 1261-1270.e1263. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.02.001.
- Bartell, SM. (2012). Bias in half-life estimates using log concentration regression in the presence of background exposures, and potential solutions. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 22: 299-303. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/jes.2012.2.
- Bassett, JHD; Clement-Lacroix, P; Samarut, J; Chassande, O; Williams, GR; O'Shea, PJ; Sriskantharajah, S; Rabier, B; Boyde, A; Howell, PGT; Weiss, R, oyE; Roux, JP; Malaval, L, uc. (2007). Thyroid hormone excess rather than thyrotropin deficiency induces osteoporosis in hyperthyroidism. Mol Endocrinol1095-1107. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/me.2007-0033</u>.
- Batt, AM; Ferrari, L. (1995). Manifestations of chemically-induced liver-damage. Clin Chem 41: 1882-1887.
- Batzella, E; Girardi, P; Russo, F; Pitter, G; Da Re, F; Fletcher, T; Canova, C. (2022). Perfluoroalkyl substance mixtures and cardio-metabolic outcomes in highly exposed male workers in the

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.

Veneto Region: A mixture-based approach. Environ Res 212: 113225. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.113225.

- Beck, IH; Timmermann, CAG; Nielsen, F; Schoeters, G; Jøhnk, C; Kyhl, HB; Høst, A; Jensen, TK. (2019). Association between prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and asthma in 5-year-old children in the Odense Child Cohort. Environ Health 18: 97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-019-0541-z.
- Benskin, JP; De Silva, AO; Martin, LJ; Arsenault, G; Mccrindle, R; Riddell, N; Mabury, SA; Martin, JW.
 (2009). Disposition of perfluorinated acid isomers in Sprague-Dawley rats; part 1: single dose. Environ Toxicol Chem 28: 542-554. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1897/08-239.1</u>.
- Berbel, P; Navarro, D; Ausó, E; Varea, E; Rodríguez, AE; Ballesta, JJ; Salinas, M; Flores, E; Faura, CC; de Escobar, GM. (2010). Role of late maternal thyroid hormones in cerebral cortex development: An experimental model for human prematurity. Cereb Cortex 20: 1462-1475. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp212.
- Berg, V; Nøst, TH; Pettersen, RD; Hansen, S; Veyhe, AS; Jorde, R; Odland, JØ; Sandanger, TM. (2017). Persistent organic pollutants and the association with maternal and infant thyroid homeostasis: a multipollutant assessment. Environ Health Perspect 125: 127-133. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP152.
- Bessone, F: Razori, MV; Roma, MG. (2019). Molecular pathways of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease development and progression. Cell Mol Life Sci 76: 99-128. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00018-018-2947-0.
- Bijland, S; Rensen, PCN; Pieterman, EJ; Maas, ACE; van Der Hoorn, JW; van Erk, MJ; Havekes, LM;
 <u>Willems van Dijk, K; Chang, SC; Ehresman, DJ; Butenhoff, JL; Princen, HMG.</u> (2011).
 Perfluoroalkyl sulfonates cause alkyl chain length-dependent hepatic steatosis and
 hypolipidemia mainly by impairing lipoprotein production in APOE*3-Leiden CETP mice.
 Toxicol Sci 123: 290-303. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfr142</u>.
- Bil, W; Zeilmaker, MJ; Bokkers, BGH. (2022). Internal Relative Potency Factors for the Risk Assessment of Mixtures of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in Human Biomonitoring. Environ Health Perspect 130: 77005. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP10009</u>.
- Birukov, A; Andersen, LB; Andersen, MS; Nielsen, JH; Nielsen, F; Kyhl, HB; Jørgensen, JS; Grandjean, P; Dechend, R; Jensen, TK. (2021). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and blood pressure in pregnancy among 1436 women from the Odense Child Cohort. Environ Int 151: 106442. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106442.
- Bischel, HN: Macmanus-Spencer, LA: Luthy, RG. (2010). Noncovalent Interactions of Long-Chain Perfluoroalkyl Acids with Serum Albumin. Environ Sci Technol 44: 5263-5269. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es101334s</u>.
- Bischel, HN; Macmanus-Spencer, LA; Zhang, CJ; Luthy, RG. (2011). Strong associations of shortchain perfluoroalkyl acids with serum albumin and investigation of binding mechanisms. Environ Toxicol Chem 30: 2423-2430. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/etc.647</u>.
- <u>Bizzarro, MJ; Gross, I.</u> (2004). Effects of hormones on fetal lung development [Review]. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am 31: 949-961, xii. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ogc.2004.08.001</u>.
- Bjerregaard-Olesen, C; Bach, CC; Long, M; Wielsøe, M; Bech, BH; Henriksen, TB; Olsen, J; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC. (2019). Associations of Fetal Growth Outcomes with Measures of the Combined Xenoestrogenic Activity of Maternal Serum Perfluorinated Alkyl Acids in Danish Pregnant Women. Environ Health Perspect 127: 17006. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP1884.
- Bjork, JA; Dawson, DA; Krogstad, JO; Wallace, KB. (2021). Transcriptional effects of binary combinations of PFAS in FaO cells. Toxicology 464: 152997. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2021.152997.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-4 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Blake, BE; Pinney, SM; Hines, EP; Fenton, SE; Ferguson, KK. (2018). Associations between longitudinal serum perfluoroalkyl substance (PFAS) levels and measures of thyroid hormone, kidney function, and body mass index in the Fernald Community Cohort. Environ Pollut 242: 894-904. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.07.042.
- Blomberg, AJ; Haug, LS; Lindh, C; Sabaredzovic, A; Pineda, D; Jakobsson, K; Nielsen, C. (2023). Changes in perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) concentrations in human milk over the course of lactation: A study in Ronneby mother-child cohort. Environ Res 219: 115096. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.115096.
- Blomberg, AJ; Shih, YH; Messerlian, C; Jørgensen, LH; Weihe, P; Grandjean, P. (2021). Early-life associations between per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and serum lipids in a longitudinal birth cohort. Environ Res 200: 111400. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111400.
- Bloom, MS; Commodore, S; Ferguson, PL; Neelon, B; Pearce, JL; Baumer, A; Newman, RB; Grobman, W: Tita, A: Roberts, J: Skupski, D: Palomares, K: Nageotte, M: Kannan, K: Zhang, C: Wapner, R; Vena, JE; Hunt, KJ. (2022). Association between gestational PFAS exposure and Children's adiposity in a diverse population. Environ Res 203: 111820. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111820.
- Bloom, MS; Kannan, K; Spliethoff, HM; Tao, L; Aldous, KM; Vena, JE. (2010). Exploratory assessment of perfluorinated compounds and human thyroid function. Physiol Behav 99: 240-245. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.02.005.
- Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC; Long, M; Fredslund, SO; Bossi, R; Olsen, J. (2014). Breast cancer risk after exposure to perfluorinated compounds in Danish women: a case-control study nested in the Danish National Birth Cohort. Cancer Causes Control 25: 1439-1448. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-014-0446-7.
- Boone, L; Meyer, D; Cusick, P; Ennulat, D; Bolliger, AP; Everds, N; Meador, V; Elliott, G; Honor, D; Bounous, D; Jordan, H. (2005). Selection and interpretation of clinical pathology indicators of hepatic injury in preclinical studies [Review]. Vet Clin Pathol 34: 182-188. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/i.1939-165X.2005.tb00041.x.
- Borghese, MM; Walker, M; Helewa, ME; Fraser, WD; Arbuckle, TE. (2020). Association of perfluoroalkyl substances with gestational hypertension and preeclampsia in the MIREC study. Environ Int 141: 105789. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105789.
- Braun, JM; Chen, A; Romano, ME; Calafat, AM; Webster, GM; Yolton, K; Lanphear, BP. (2016). Prenatal perfluoroalkyl substance exposure and child adiposity at 8 years of age: The HOME study. Obesity (Silver Spring) 24: 231-237. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/obv.21258.
- Braun, IM; Eliot, M; Papandonatos, GD; Buckley, IP; Cecil, KM; Kalkwarf, HI; Chen, A; Eaton, CB; Kelsey, K; Lanphear, BP; Yolton, K. (2020). Gestational perfluoroalkyl substance exposure and body mass index trajectories over the first 12 years of life. Int J Obes (Lond) 45: 25-35. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41366-020-00717-x.
- Braun, JM; Kalkbrenner, AE; Just, AC; Yolton, K; Calafat, AM; Sjödin, A; Hauser, R; Webster, GM; Chen, A; Lanphear, BP. (2014). Gestational exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals and reciprocal social, repetitive, and stereotypic behaviors in 4- and 5-year-old children: the HOME study. Environ Health Perspect 122: 513-520. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1307261.
- Buck Louis, GM; Zhai, S; Smarr, MM; Grewal, J; Zhang, C; Grantz, KL; Hinkle, SN; Sundaram, R; Lee, S; Honda, M; Oh, J; Kannan, K. (2018). Endocrine disruptors and neonatal anthropometry, NICHD Fetal Growth Studies - Singletons. Environ Int 119: 515-526. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.07.024.
- Buck, RC; Franklin, J; Berger, U; Conder, JM; Cousins, IT; de Voogt, P; Jensen, AA; Kannan, K; Mabury, SA; van Leeuwen, SP. (2011). Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in the

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-5

environment: terminology, classification, and origins [Review]. Integr Environ Assess Manag 7: 513-541. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ieam.258</u>.

Budtz-Jørgensen, E; Grandjean, P. (2018). Application of benchmark analysis for mixed contaminant exposures: Mutual adjustment of perfluoroalkylate substances associated with immunotoxicity. PLoS ONE 13: e0205388.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0205388.

- Bueters, R; Bael, A; Gasthuys, E; Chen, C; Schreuder, MF; Frazier, KS. (2020). Ontogeny and Crossspecies Comparison of Pathways Involved in Drug Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Excretion in Neonates (Review): Kidney [Review]. Drug Metab Dispos 48: 353-367. http://dx.doi.org/10.1124/dmd.119.089755.
- Bulka, CM; Avula, V; Fry, RC. (2021). Associations of exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances individually and in mixtures with persistent infections: Recent findings from NHANES 1999-2016. Environ Pollut 275: 116619. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.116619.
- Buser, MC; Scinicariello, F. (2016). Perfluoroalkyl substances and food allergies in adolescents. Environ Int 88: 74-79. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.12.020</u>.
- Butenhoff, JL: Chang, SC: Ehresman, DJ: York, RG. (2009). Evaluation of potential reproductive and developmental toxicity of potassium perfluorohexanesulfonate in Sprague Dawley rats. Reprod Toxicol 27: 331-341. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2009.01.004.
- Byrne, S; Seguinot-Medina, S; Miller, P; Waghiyi, V; von Hippel, FA; Buck, CL; Carpenter, DO. (2017). Exposure to polybrominated diphenyl ethers and perfluoroalkyl substances in a remote population of Alaska Natives. Environ Pollut 231: 387-395. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.08.020</u>.
- <u>Cakmak, S; Lukina, A; Karthikeyan, S; Atlas, E; Dales, R.</u> (2022). The association between blood PFAS concentrations and clinical biochemical measures of organ function and metabolism in participants of the Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS). Sci Total Environ 827: 153900. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.153900</u>.
- <u>Callan, AC; Rotander, A; Thompson, K; Heyworth, J; Mueller, JF; Odland, JØ; Hinwood, AL.</u> (2016). Maternal exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids measured in whole blood and birth outcomes in offspring. Sci Total Environ 569-570: 1107-1113. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.06.177</u>.
- Campbell, S; Raza, M; Pollack, AZ. (2016). Perfluoroalkyl substances and endometriosis in US women in NHANES 2003-2006. Reprod Toxicol 65: 230-235. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2016.08.009.
- Canova, C; Barbieri, G; Zare Jeddi, M; Gion, M; Fabricio, A; Daprà, F; Russo, F; Fletcher, T; Pitter, G. (2020). Associations between perfluoroalkyl substances and lipid profile in a highly exposed young adult population in the Veneto Region. Environ Int 145: 106117. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106117.
- Canova, C; Di Nisio, A; Barbieri, G; Russo, F; Fletcher, T; Batzella, E; Dalla Zuanna, T; Pitter, G. (2021). PFAS Concentrations and Cardiometabolic Traits in Highly Exposed Children and Adolescents. Int J Environ Res Public Health 18. http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182412881.
- <u>Cao, W; Liu, X; Liu, X; Zhou, Y; Zhang, X; Tian, H; Wang, J; Feng, S; Wu, Y; Bhatti, P; Wen, S; Sun, X.</u> (2018). Perfluoroalkyl substances in umbilical cord serum and gestational and postnatal growth in a Chinese birth cohort. Environ Int 116: 197-205. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.04.015</u>.
- Cardenas, A; Gold, DR; Hauser, R; Kleinman, KP; Hivert, MF; Calafat, AM; Ye, X; Webster, TF; Horton, <u>ES; Oken, E.</u> (2017). Plasma concentrations of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances at baseline and associations with glycemic indicators and diabetes incidence among high-risk

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-6 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE adults in the Diabetes Prevention Program trial. Environ Health Perspect 125: 107001. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP1612</u>.

- Cariou, R; Veyrand, B; Yamada, A; Berrebi, A; Zalko, D; Durand, S; Pollono, C; Marchand, P; Leblanc, <u>IC</u>; Antignac, JP; Le Bizec, B. (2015). Perfluoroalkyl acid (PFAA) levels and profiles in breast milk, maternal and cord serum of French women and their newborns. Environ Int 84: 71-81. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.07.014</u>.
- Carlson, LA; Angrish, M; Shirke, AV; Radke, EG; Schulz, B; Kraft, A; Judson, R; Patlewicz, G; Blain, R; Lin, C; Vetter, N; Lemeris, C; Hartman, P; Hubbard, H; Arzuaga, X; Davis, A; Dishaw, LV; Druwe, IL; Hollinger, H; Jones, R; Kaiser, JP; Lizarraga, L; Noyes, PD; Taylor, M; Shapiro, AJ; Williams, AJ; Thayer, KA. (2022). Systematic evidence map for over one hundred and fifty per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) [Review]. Environ Health Perspect 130: 56001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP10343.
- Caron-Beaudoin, É; Ayotte, P; Laouan Sidi, EA; Simon, CoL; Nation, CoWLPF; Nutashkuan, CTKo; Shipu, CoU; Gros-Louis McHugh, N; Lemire, M. (2019). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and associations with thyroid parameters in First Nation children and youth from Quebec. Environ Int 128: 13-23. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.04.029.
- Carwile, JL; Seshasayee, SM; Aris, IM; Rifas-Shiman, SL; Claus Henn, B; Calafat, AM; Sagiv, SK; Oken, <u>E; Fleisch, AF.</u> (2021). Prospective associations of mid-childhood plasma per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and pubertal timing. Environ Int 156: 106729. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106729</u>.
- Cassone, CG; Vongphachan, V; Chiu, S; Williams, KL; Letcher, RJ; Pelletier, E; Crump, D; Kennedy, SW. (2012). In ovo effects of perfluorohexane sulfonate and perfluorohexanoate on pipping success, development, mRNA expression, and thyroid hormone levels in chicken embryos. Toxicol Sci 127: 216-224. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfs072</u>.
- Cattley, RC; Cullen, JM. (2018). Chapter 8. Liver and gall bladder. In MA Wallig; WM Haschek; CG Rousseaux; B Bolon (Eds.), Fundamentals of toxicologic pathology (3rd ed., pp. 125-151). Cambridge, MA: Academic Press. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809841-7.00008-3</u>.
- <u>CDC</u> (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). (2022). National report on human exposure to environmental chemicals. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/exposurereport/</u>.
- <u>Cesta, MF; Malarkey, DE; Herbert, R; Brix, A; Sills, RC.</u> (2014). Nonneoplastic lesion atlas. Available online at <u>https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/nnl/index.htm</u> (accessed December 17, 2018).
- <u>Chan, E; Burstyn, I; Cherry, N; Bamforth, F; Martin, JW.</u> (2011). Perfluorinated acids and hypothyroxinemia in pregnant women. Environ Res 111: 559-564. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2011.01.011</u>.
- Chang, CJ; Barr, DB; Ryan, PB; Panuwet, P; Smarr, MM; Liu, K; Kannan, K; Yakimavets, V; Tan, Y; Ly, V; Marsit, CJ; Jones, DP; Corwin, EJ; Dunlop, AL; Liang, D. (2022). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substance (PFAS) exposure, maternal metabolomic perturbation, and fetal growth in African American women: A meet-in-the-middle approach. Environ Int 158: 106964. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106964.
- <u>Chang, S; Butenhoff, JL; Parker, GA; Coder, PS; Zitzow, JD; Krisko, RM; Bjork, JA; Wallace, KB; Seed,</u> JG. (2018). Reproductive and developmental toxicity of potassium perfluorohexanesulfonate in CD-1 mice. Reprod Toxicol 78: 150-168. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2018.04.007</u>.
- <u>Charles, D; Berg, V; Nøst, TH; Huber, S; Sandanger, TM; Rylander, C.</u> (2020). Pre- and postdiagnostic blood profiles of perfluoroalkyl acids in type 2 diabetes mellitus cases and controls. Environ Int 145: 106095. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106095</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-7 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>Chen, A; Jandarov, R; Zhou, L; Calafat, AM; Zhang, G; Urbina, EM; Sarac, J; Augustin, DH; Caric, T;</u> <u>Bockor, L; Petranovic, MZ; Novokmet, N; Missoni, S; Rudan, P; Deka, R.</u> (2019a). Association of perfluoroalkyl substances exposure with cardiometabolic traits in an island population of the eastern Adriatic coast of Croatia. Sci Total Environ 683: 29-36. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.05.250</u>.
- <u>Chen, F; Yin, S; Kelly, BC; Liu, W.</u> (2017). Isomer-specific transplacental transfer of perfluoroalkyl acids: Results from a survey of paired maternal, cord sera, and placentas. Environ Sci Technol 51: 5756-5763. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b00268</u>.
- <u>Chen, L; Tong, C; Huo, X; Zhang, J; Tian, Y.</u> (2021). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances and birth outcomes: A longitudinal cohort with repeated measurements. Chemosphere 267: 128899. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.128899.
- <u>Chen, Q; Huang, R; Hua, L; Guo, Y; Huang, L; Zhao, Y; Wang, X; Zhang, J.</u> (2018a). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances and childhood atopic dermatitis: A prospective birth cohort study. Environ Health 17: 1-12. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-018-0352-7.
- <u>Chen, Q; Zhang, X; Zhao, Y; Lu, W; Wu, J; Zhao, S; Zhang, J; Huang, L.</u> (2019b). Prenatal exposure to perfluorobutanesulfonic acid and childhood adiposity: A prospective birth cohort study in Shanghai, China. Chemosphere 226: 17-23. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.03.095.
- <u>Chen, WL; Bai, FY; Chang, YC; Chen, PC; Chen, CY.</u> (2018b). Concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances in foods and the dietary exposure among Taiwan general population and pregnant women. J Food Drug Anal 26: 994-1004. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jfda.2017.12.011.
- <u>Chevrier, J.</u> (2013). Invited commentary: Maternal plasma polybrominated diphenyl ethers and thyroid hormones--challenges and opportunities [Comment]. Am J Epidemiol 178: 714-719. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwt138</u>.
- <u>Chiu, WA; Lynch, MT; Lay, CR; Antezana, A; Malek, P; Sokolinski, S; Rogers, RD.</u> (2022). Bayesian estimation of human population toxicokinetics of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA from studies of contaminated drinking water. Environ Health Perspect 130: 127001. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP10103</u>.
- <u>Christensen, JVR; Bangash, KK; Weihe, P; Grandjean, P; Nielsen, F; Jensen, TK; Petersen, MS.</u> (2021). Maternal exposure to perfluoroalkyl chemicals and anogenital distance in the offspring: A Faroese cohort study. Reprod Toxicol 104: 52-57. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2021.06.016</u>.
- <u>Christensen, KY; Maisonet, M; Rubin, C; Holmes, A; Calafat, AM; Kato, K; Flanders, WD; Heron, J;</u> <u>McGeehin, MA; Marcus, M.</u> (2011). Exposure to polyfluoroalkyl chemicals during pregnancy is not associated with offspring age at menarche in a contemporary British cohort. Environ Int 37: 129-135. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2010.08.007</u>.
- <u>Christensen, KY; Raymond, M; Blackowicz, M; Liu, Y; Thompson, BA; Anderson, HA; Turyk, M.</u> (2017). Perfluoroalkyl substances and fish consumption. Environ Res 154: 145-151. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.12.032</u>.
- <u>Christensen, KY; Raymond, M; Meiman, J.</u> (2019). Perfluoroalkyl substances and metabolic syndrome. Int J Hyg Environ Health 222: 147-153. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2018.08.014.
- <u>Christensen, KY; Raymond, M; Thompson, BA; Anderson, HA.</u> (2016). Perfluoroalkyl substances in older male anglers in Wisconsin. Environ Int 91: 312-318. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.03.012</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-8 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Conway, B: Innes, KE; Long, D. (2016). Perfluoroalkyl substances and beta cell deficient diabetes. J Diabetes Complications 30: 993-998. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2016.05.001</u>.
- <u>Conway, BN; Badders, AN; Costacou, T; Arthur, JM; Innes, KE.</u> (2018). Perfluoroalkyl substances and kidney function in chronic kidney disease, anemia, and diabetes. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes 11: 707-716. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2147/DMS0.S173809</u>.
- <u>Coperchini, F; Awwad, O; Rotondi, M; Santini, F; Imbriani, M; Chiovato, L.</u> (2017). Thyroid disruption by perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) [Review]. J Endocrinol Invest 40: 105-121. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40618-016-0572-z</u>.
- <u>Costa, O; Iñiguez, C; Manzano-Salgado, CB; Amiano, P; Murcia, M; Casas, M; Irizar, A; Basterrechea,</u> <u>M; Beneito, A; Schettgen, T; Sunyer, J; Vrijheid, M; Ballester, F; Lopez-Espinosa, MJ.</u> (2019). First-trimester maternal concentrations of polyfluoroalkyl substances and fetal growth throughout pregnancy. Environ Int 130: 104830. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.05.024</u>.
- <u>Crawford, NM; Fenton, SE; Strynar, M; Hines, EP; Pritchard, DA; Steiner, AZ.</u> (2017). Effects of perfluorinated chemicals on thyroid function, markers of ovarian reserve, and natural fertility. Reprod Toxicol 69: 53-59. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2017.01.006</u>.
- <u>Crofton, KM.</u> (2004). Developmental disruption of thyroid hormone: Correlations with hearing dysfunction in rats. Risk Anal 24: 1665-1671. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.0272-4332.2004.00557.x</u>.
- <u>Cuevas, E; Ausó, E; Telefont, M; De Escobar, GM; Sotelo, C; Berbel, P.</u> (2005). Transient maternal hypothyroxinemia at onset of corticogenesis alters tangential migration of medial ganglionic eminence-derived neurons. Eur J Neurosci 22: 541-551. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04243.x</u>.
- Dalla Zuanna, T; Savitz, DA; Barbieri, G; Pitter, G; Zare Jeddi, M; Daprà, F; Fabricio, ASC; Russo, F; Fletcher, T; Canova, C. (2021). The association between perfluoroalkyl substances and lipid profile in exposed pregnant women in the Veneto region, Italy. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 209: 111805. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111805</u>.
- Dalsager, L; Christensen, N; Halekoh, U; Timmermann, CAG; Nielsen, F; Kyhl, HB; Husby, S; <u>Grandjean, P; Jensen, TK; Andersen, HR.</u> (2021a). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances during fetal life and hospitalization for infectious disease in childhood: A study among 1,503 children from the Odense Child Cohort. Environ Int 149: 106395. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106395</u>.
- Dalsager, L; Christensen, N; Husby, S; Kyhl, H; Nielsen, F; Høst, A; Grandjean, P; Jensen, TK. (2016). Association between prenatal exposure to perfluorinated compounds and symptoms of infections at age 1-4years among 359 children in the Odense Child Cohort. Environ Int 96: 58-64. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.08.026</u>.
- Dalsager, L; Jensen, TK; Nielsen, F; Grandjean, P; Bilenberg, N; Andersen, HR. (2021b). No association between maternal and child PFAS concentrations and repeated measures of ADHD symptoms at age 2½ and 5 years in children from the Odense Child Cohort. Neurotoxicol Teratol 88: 107031. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ntt.2021.107031.
- Darrow, DC; Soule, HC; Buckman, TE. (1928). Blood volume in normal infants and children. J Clin Invest 5: 243-258. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1172/JCI100156</u>.
- Das, KP; Wood, CR; Lin, MT; Starkov, AA; Lau, C; Wallace, KB; Corton, JC; Abbott, BD. (2017). Perfluoroalkyl acids-induced liver steatosis: Effects on genes controlling lipid homeostasis. Toxicology 378: 37-52. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2016.12.007</u>.
- Daston, GP: Kimmel, CA. (1998). An evaluation and interpretation of reproductive endpoints for human health risk assessment. In An evaluation and interpretation of reproductive endpoints for human health risk assessment. Washington, DC: ILSI Press.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-9 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Daugherty, A; Tall, AR; Daemen, MJA; Falk, E; Fisher, EA; García-Cardeña, G; Lusis, AJ; Owens, AP, III; <u>Rosenfeld, ME; Virmani, R.</u> (2017). Recommendation on design, execution, and reporting of animal atherosclerosis studies: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association [Review]. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 37: e131-e157. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/ATV.00000000000062</u>.
- Davies, B: Morris, T. (1993). Physiological parameters in laboratory animals and humans [Review]. Pharm Res 10: 1093-1095. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1018943613122</u>.
- De Boo, HA; Harding, JE. (2006). The developmental origins of adult disease (Barker) hypothesis [Review]. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 46: 4-14. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1479-828X.2006.00506.x</u>.
- Dean, A; Sharpe, RM. (2013). Clinical review: Anogenital distance or digit length ratio as measures of fetal androgen exposure: relationship to male reproductive development and its disorders [Review]. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98: 2230-2238. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-4057.
- Dent, MP; Carmichael, PL; Jones, KC; Martin, FL. (2015). Towards a non-animal risk assessment for anti-androgenic effects in humans [Review]. Environ Int 83: 94-106. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.06.009.
- di Masi, A: De Marinis, E: Ascenzi, P: Marino, M. (2009). Nuclear receptors CAR and PXR: Molecular, functional, and biomedical aspects [Review]. Mol Aspects Med 30: 297-343. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2009.04.002.
- Ding, N; Harlow, SD; Randolph, JF; Mukherjee, B; Batterman, S; Gold, EB; Park, SK. (2022). Perfluoroalkyl Substances and Incident Natural Menopause in Midlife Women: The Mediating Role of Sex Hormones. Am J Epidemiol 191: 1212-1223. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwac052.
- Domazet, SL; Jensen, TK; Wedderkopp, N; Nielsen, F; Andersen, LB; Grøntved, A. (2020). Exposure to perfluoroalkylated substances (PFAS) in relation to fitness, physical activity, and adipokine levels in childhood: The European youth heart study. Environ Res 191: 110110. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110110.
- Dong, GH; Tung, KY; Tsai, CH; Liu, MM; Wang, D; Liu, W; Jin, YH; Hsieh, WS; Lee, YL; Chen, PC. (2013). Serum polyfluoroalkyl concentrations, asthma outcomes, and immunological markers in a case-control study of Taiwanese children. Environ Health Perspect 121: 507-513, 513e501-508. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1205351</u>.
- Dong, H; You, SH; Williams, A; Wade, MG; Yauk, CL; Zoeller, RT. (2015). Transient maternal hypothyroxinemia potentiates the transcriptional response to exogenous thyroid hormone in the fetal cerebral cortex before the onset of fetal thyroid function: A messenger and microRNA profiling study. Cereb Cortex 25: 1735-1745. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht364.
- Dong, Z; Wang, H; Yu, YY; Li, YB; Naidu, R; Liu, Y. (2019). Using 2003-2014 U.S. NHANES data to determine the associations between per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and cholesterol: Trend and implications. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 173: 461-468. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.02.061.
- Donley, GM; Taylor, E; Jeddy, Z; Namulanda, G; Hartman, TJ. (2019). Association between in utero perfluoroalkyl substance exposure and anti-Müllerian hormone levels in adolescent females in a British cohort. Environ Res 177: 108585. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.108585.
- Duan, Y; Sun, H; Yao, Y; Meng, Y; Li, Y. (2020). Distribution of novel and legacy per-/polyfluoroalkyl substances in serum and its associations with two glycemic biomarkers among Chinese adult men and women with normal blood glucose levels. Environ Int 134: 105295. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105295.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-10 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>Dufour, P; Pirard, C; Seghaye, MC; Charlier, C.</u> (2018). Association between organohalogenated pollutants in cord blood and thyroid function in newborns and mothers from Belgian population. Environ Pollut 238: 389-396. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.03.058</u>.
- Dunder, L; Lind, PM; Salihovic, S; Stubleski, J; Kärrman, A; Lind, L. (2022). Changes in plasma levels of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) are associated with changes in plasma lipids -A longitudinal study over 10 years. Environ Res 211: 112903. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.112903.
- Dzierlenga, AL; Robinson, VG; Waidyanatha, S; Devito, MJ; Eifrid, MA; Gibbs, ST; Granville, CA; <u>Blystone, CR.</u> (2019). Toxicokinetics of perfluorohexanoic acid (PFHxA), perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorodecanoic acid (PFDA) in male and female Hsd:Sprague dawley SD rats following intravenous or gavage administration. Xenobiotica 50: 1-11. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00498254.2019.1683776</u>.
- Dzierlenga, M, .W.; Crawford, L, .; Longnecker, M, .P. (2020). Birth weight and perfluorooctane sulfonic acid: a random-effects meta-regression analysis. Environmental Epidemiology 4: e095. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/EE9.0000000000000095</u>.
- <u>Eick, SM; Demicco, E; Valeri, L; Woodruff, TJ; Morello-Frosch, R; Hom Thepaksorn, EK; Izano, MA;</u>
 <u>Cushing, LJ; Wang, Y; Smith, SC; Gao, S; Park, JS; Padula, AM.</u> (2020). Associations between prenatal maternal exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and birth outcomes among pregnant women in San Francisco. Environ Health 19: 100-100. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-020-00654-2</u>.
- Elavarasi, SB; Mariam, D; Momeen, MU; Hu, J; Guin, M. (2019). Effect of fluorination on bandgap, first and second order hyperpolarizabilities in lithium substituted adamantane: A time dependent density functional theory. Chem Phys Lett 715: 310-316. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cplett.2018.11.034.
- EMEA (European Medicines Agency). (2008). Non-clinical guideline on drug induced hepatotoxicity. (EMEA/CHMP/SWP/150115/2006). London, UK. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/2009/09/ WC500003355.pdf.
- Ernst, A; Brix, N; Lauridsen, LLB; Olsen, J; Parner, ET; Liew, Z; Olsen, LH; Ramlau-Hansen, CH. (2019). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances during fetal life and pubertal development in boys and girls from the Danish National Birth Cohort. Environ Health Perspect 127: 17004. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP3567.
- <u>Fàbrega, F; Kumar, V; Benfenati, E; Schuhmacher, M; Domingo, JL; Nadal, M.</u> (2015). Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling of perfluoroalkyl substances in the human body. Toxicol Environ Chem 97: 814-827. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02772248.2015.1060976</u>.
- <u>Finken, MJ; van Eijsden, M; Loomans, EM; Vrijkotte, TG; Rotteveel, J.</u> (2013). Maternal hypothyroxinemia in early pregnancy predicts reduced performance in reaction time tests in 5- to 6-year-old offspring. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98: 1417-1426. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-3389</u>.
- Fisher, M; Arbuckle, TE; Wade, M; Haines, DA. (2013). Do perfluoroalkyl substances affect metabolic function and plasma lipids?--Analysis of the 2007-2009, Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS) Cycle 1. Environ Res 121: 95-103. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2012.11.006.
 Fleisch, AF; Rifas-Shiman, SL; Mora, AM; Calafat, AM; Ye, X; Luttmann-Gibson, H; Gillman, MW;
- <u>Oken, E; Sagiv, SK.</u> (2017). Early-life exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and childhood metabolic function. Environ Health Perspect 125: 481-487. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP303</u>.

- Forsthuber, M; Kaiser, AM; Granitzer, S; Hassl, I; Hengstschläger, M; Stangl, H; Gundacker, C. (2020). Albumin is the major carrier protein for PFOS, PFOA, PFHxS, PFNA and PFDA in human plasma. Environ Int 137: 105324. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105324</u>.
- Foster, P; Gray, LE, Jr. (2013). Toxic responses of the reproductive system. In CD Klaassen (Ed.), Casarett & Doull's toxicology: The basic science of poisons (8th ed., pp. 861-906). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education. <u>https://www.mheducation.com/highered/product/casarett-doull-s-toxicology-basic-science-poisons-9th-edition-klaassen/9781259863745.html</u>.
- <u>Friis-Hansen, B.</u> (1961). Body water compartments in children: Changes during growth and related changes in body composition. Pediatrics 28: 169-181.
- Fromme, H; Mosch, C; Morovitz, M; Alba-Alejandre, I; Boehmer, S; Kiranoglu, M; Faber, F; Hannibal, I: Genzel-Boroviczény, O; Koletzko, B; Völkel, W. (2010). Pre- and postnatal exposure to perfluorinated compounds (PFCs). Environ Sci Technol 44: 7123-7129. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es101184f.
- Fu, J; Gao, Y; Cui, L; Wang, T; Liang, Y; Qu, G; Yuan, B; Wang, Y; Zhang, A; Jiang, G. (2016). Occurrence, temporal trends, and half-lives of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) in occupational workers in China. Sci Rep 6: 38039. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep38039</u>.
- <u>Fuentes, S; Colomina, MT; Vicens, P; Franco-Pons, N; Domingo, JL.</u> (2007). Concurrent exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate and restraint stress during pregnancy in mice: effects on postnatal development and behavior of the offspring. Toxicol Sci 98: 589-598. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfm121</u>.
- <u>Gad, SC.</u> (2015). Cardiovascular toxicology and its evaluation. In MB Abou-Donia (Ed.), Mammalian Toxicology. West Sussex, United Kingdom: John Wiley & Sons.
- <u>Gale, AJ.</u> (2011). Continuing Education Course #2: Current Understanding of Hemostasis [Review]. Toxicol Pathol 39: 273-280. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0192623310389474</u>.
- <u>Gallo, E; Amidei, CB; Barbieri, G; Fabricio, ASC; Gion, M; Pitter, G; Daprà, F; Russo, F; Gregori, D;</u> <u>Fletcher, T; Canova, C.</u> (2022). Perfluoroalkyl substances and thyroid stimulating hormone levels in a highly exposed population in the Veneto Region. Environ Res 203: 111794. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111794</u>.
- Gao, K. e: Zhuang, T; Liu, X; Fu, J; Zhang, J; Fu, J, ie; Wang, L; Zhang, A; Liang, Y; Song, M; Jiang, G. (2019). Prenatal Exposure to Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) and Association between the Placental Transfer Efficiencies and Dissociation Constant of Serum Proteins-PFAS Complexes. Environ Sci Technol 53: 6529-6538. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b00715.
- Gao, Y; Fu, J; Cao, H; Wang, Y; Zhang, A; Liang, Y; Wang, T; Zhao, C; Jiang, G. (2015). Differential Accumulation and Elimination Behavior of Perfluoroalkyl Acid Isomers in Occupational Workers in a Manufactory in China. Environ Sci Technol 49: 6953-6962. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b00778.
- Gao, Y; Luo, J; Zhang, Y; Pan, C; Ren, Y; Zhang, J; Tian, Y; Cohort, SB. (2022). Prenatal Exposure to Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances and Child Growth Trajectories in the First Two Years. Environ Health Perspect 130: 37006. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP9875</u>.
- Gardener, H; Sun, Q; Grandjean, P. (2021). PFAS concentration during pregnancy in relation to cardiometabolic health and birth outcomes. Environ Res 192: 110287. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110287.
- Germolec, DR; Lebrec, H; Anderson, SE; Burleson, GR; Cardenas, A; Corsini, E; Elmore, SE; Kaplan, BLF; Lawrence, BP; Lehmann, GM; Maier, CC; McHale, CM; Myers, LP; Pallardy, M; Rooney, AA; Zeise, L; Zhang, L; Smith, MT. (2022). Consensus on the key characteristics of immunotoxic agents as a basis for hazard identification. Environ Health Perspect 130: 105001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP10800.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-12 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>Getz, GS; Reardon, CA.</u> (2012). Animal models of atherosclerosis [Review]. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 32: 1104-1115. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.237693</u>.
- <u>Ghisari, M; Long, M; Røge, DM; Olsen, J; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC.</u> (2017). Polymorphism in xenobiotic and estrogen metabolizing genes, exposure to perfluorinated compounds and subsequent breast cancer risk: A nested case-control study in the Danish National Birth Cohort. Environ Res 154: 325-333. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.01.020</u>.
- <u>Gilbert, ME; Sanchez-Huerta, K; Wood, C.</u> (2016). Mild thyroid hormone insufficiency during development compromises activity-dependent neuroplasticity in the hippocampus of adult male rats. Endocrinology 157: 774-787. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/en.2015-1643</u>.
- <u>Gleason, J., essie A. Cooper, K.,eith R. Klotz, J.,udith B. Post, G.,loria B. Van Orden, G.,eorge New Jersey</u> <u>Drinking Water Quality Institute</u> (NJDWQI). (2017). Health-based maximum contaminant level support document: Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA): Appendix A. New Jersey Drinking Water Quality Institute (NJDWQI), Health Effects Subcommittee.

https://www.state.nj.us/dep/watersupply/pdf/pfoa-appendixa.pdf.

- <u>Gleason, JA; Post, GB; Fagliano, JA.</u> (2015). Associations of perfluorinated chemical serum concentrations and biomarkers of liver function and uric acid in the US population (NHANES), 2007-2010. Environ Res 136: 8-14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.10.004.
- <u>Glynn, A; Berger, U; Bignert, A; Ullah, S; Aune, M; Lignell, S; Darnerud, PO.</u> (2012). Perfluorinated alkyl acids in blood serum from primiparous women in Sweden: serial sampling during pregnancy and nursing, and temporal trends 1996-2010. Environ Sci Technol 46: 9071-9079. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es301168c</u>.
- <u>Goeden, HM; Greene, CW; Jacobus, JA.</u> (2019). A transgenerational toxicokinetic model and its use in derivation of Minnesota PFOA water guidance. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 29: 183-195. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41370-018-0110-5</u>.
- <u>Goodrich, JA; Alderete, TL; Baumert, BO; Berhane, K; Chen, Z; Gilliland, FD; Goran, MI; Hu, X; Jones,</u> <u>DP; Margetaki, K; Rock, S; Stratakis, N; Valvi, D; Walker, DI; Conti, DV; Chatzi, L.</u> (2021). Exposure to Perfluoroalkyl Substances and Glucose Homeostasis in Youth. Environ Health Perspect 129: 97002. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP9200</u>.
- <u>Goudarzi, H; Miyashita, C; Okada, E; Kashino, I; Chen, CJ; Ito, S; Araki, A; Kobayashi, S; Matsuura, H;</u> <u>Kishi, R.</u> (2017). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids and prevalence of infectious diseases up to 4 years of age. Environ Int 104: 132-138. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.01.024</u>.
- Goudarzi, H; Miyashita, C; Okada, E; Kashino, I; Kobayashi, S; Chen, CJ; Ito, S; Araki, A; Matsuura, H; Ito, YM; Kishi, R. (2016). Effects of prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids on prevalence of allergic diseases among 4-year-old children. Environ Int 94: 124-132. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.05.020.
- <u>Graber, JM; Alexander, C; Laumbach, RJ; Black, K; Strickland, PO; Georgopoulos, PG; Marshall, EG;</u> <u>Shendell, DG; Alderson, D; Mi, Z; Mascari, M; Weisel, CP.</u> (2019). Per and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) blood levels after contamination of a community water supply and comparison with 2013-2014 NHANES. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 29: 172-182. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41370-018-0096-z</u>.
- Grandjean, P; Andersen, EW; Budtz-Jørgensen, E; Nielsen, F; Mølbak, K; Weihe, P; Heilmann, C. (2012). Serum vaccine antibody concentrations in children exposed to perfluorinated compounds. JAMA 307: 391-397. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.2011.2034</u>.
- <u>Grandjean, P: Heilmann, C: Weihe, P: Nielsen, F: Mogensen, UB: Budtz-Jørgensen, E.</u> (2017a). Serum vaccine antibody concentrations in adolescents exposed to perfluorinated compounds. Environ Health Perspect 125: 077018. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP275</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-13 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>Grandjean, P; Heilmann, C; Weihe, P; Nielsen, F; Mogensen, UB; Timmermann, A; Budtz-Jørgensen, E.</u> (2017b). Estimated exposures to perfluorinated compounds in infancy predict attenuated vaccine antibody concentrations at age 5-years. J Immunotoxicol 14: 188-195. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1547691X.2017.1360968</u>.
- <u>Grandjean, P; Timmermann, CAG; Kruse, M; Nielsen, F; Vinholt, PJ; Boding, L; Heilmann, C; Mølbak,</u> <u>K.</u> (2020). Severity of COVID-19 at elevated exposure to perfluorinated alkylates. PLoS ONE 15: e0244815. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244815</u>.
- Granum, B; Haug, LS; Namork, E; Stølevik, SB; Thomsen, C; Aaberge, IS; van Loveren, H; Løvik, M; Nygaard, UC. (2013). Pre-natal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances may be associated with altered vaccine antibody levels and immune-related health outcomes in early childhood. J Immunotoxicol 10: 373-379. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/1547691X.2012.755580.
- <u>Gross, RS; Ghassabian, A; Vandyousefi, S; Messito, MJ; Gao, C; Kannan, K; Trasande, L.</u> (2020). Persistent organic pollutants exposure in newborn dried blood spots and infant weight status: A case-control study of low-income Hispanic mother-infant pairs. Environ Pollut 267: 115427. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115427</u>.
- <u>Grynnerup, AG; Lindhard, A; Sørensen, S.</u> (2012). The role of anti-Müllerian hormone in female fertility and infertility - an overview [Review]. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 91: 1252-1260. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0412.2012.01471.x.
- <u>Gump, BB; Wu, Q; Dumas, AK; Kannan, K.</u> (2011). Perfluorochemical (PFC) exposure in children: Associations with impaired response inhibition. Environ Sci Technol 45: 8151-8159. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es103712g</u>.
- <u>Guo, J; Zhang, J; Wang, Z; Zhang, L; Qi, X; Zhang, Y; Chang, X; Wu, C; Zhou, Z.</u> (2021). Umbilical cord serum perfluoroalkyl substance mixtures in relation to thyroid function of newborns: Findings from Sheyang Mini Birth Cohort Study. Chemosphere 273: 129664. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.129664</u>.
- <u>Guyatt, G; Oxman, AD; Akl, EA; Kunz, R; Vist, G; Brozek, J; Norris, S; Falck-Ytter, Y; Glasziou, P;</u> <u>DeBeer, H; Jaeschke, R; Rind, D; Meerpohl, J; Dahm, P; Schünemann, HJ.</u> (2011). GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. J Clin Epidemiol 64: 383-394. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.026</u>.
- <u>Gyllenhammar, I; Diderholm, B; Gustafsson, J; Berger, U; Ridefelt, P; Benskin, JP; Lignell, S; Lampa, E;</u> <u>Glynn, A.</u> (2018). Perfluoroalkyl acid levels in first-time mothers in relation to offspring weight gain and growth. Environ Int 111: 191-199. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.12.002</u>.
- <u>Gyllenhammar I, G, lynn A, L.,ignell S, A.,une M, C.,antillana T, F.,ridén U, L.,ampa E.</u> (2017). Utvärdering av samband mellan mammors POP-belastning under graviditets- och amningsperioden och deras barns hälsa. (2215-17-008). Swedish Environmental Protection Agency.
- Hack, M; Klein, NK; Taylor, HG. (1995). Long-term developmental outcomes of low birth weight infants [Review]. Future Child 5: 176-196. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1602514</u>.
- Haddow, JE; Palomaki, GE; Allan, WC; Williams, JR; Knight, GJ; Gagnon, J; O'Heir, CE; Mitchell, ML; <u>Hermos, RJ; Waisbren, SE; Faix, JD; Klein, RZ.</u> (1999). Maternal thyroid deficiency during pregnancy and subsequent neuropsychological development of the child. N Engl J Med 341: 549-555. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199908193410801</u>.
- Hall, AP; Elcombe, CR; Foster, JR; Harada, T; Kaufmann, W; Knippel, A; Küttler, K; Malarkey, DE; Maronpot, RR; Nishikawa, A; Nolte, T; Schulte, A; Strauss, V; York, MJ. (2012). Liver hypertrophy: A review of adaptive (adverse and non-adverse) changes—Conclusions from the 3rd International ESTP Expert Workshop [Review]. Toxicol Pathol 40: 971-994. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0192623312448935.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.R-14DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Hall, CL; Guo, B; Valentine, AZ; Groom, MJ; Daley, D; Sayal, K; Hollis, C. (2019). The validity of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) for children with ADHD symptoms. PLoS ONE 14: e0218518. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218518.
- Hallberg, L; Högdahl, AM; Nilsson, L; Rybo, G. (1966). Menstrual blood loss--a population study. Variation at different ages and attempts to define normality. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 45: 320-351. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/00016346609158455.
- Hamm, MP: Cherry, NM; Chan, E; Martin, JW; Burstyn, I. (2010). Maternal exposure to perfluorinated acids and fetal growth. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 20: 589-597. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/jes.2009.57.
- Hammarstrand, S; Jakobsson, K; Andersson, E; Xu, Y; Li, Y; Olovsson, M; Andersson, EM. (2021). Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in drinking water and risk for polycystic ovarian syndrome, uterine leiomyoma, and endometriosis: A Swedish cohort study. Environ Int 157: 106819. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106819.
- Hanssen, L; Dudarev, AA; Huber, S; Odland, JØ; Nieboer, E; Sandanger, TM. (2013). Partition of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in whole blood and plasma, assessed in maternal and umbilical cord samples from inhabitants of arctic Russia and Uzbekistan. Sci Total Environ 447: 430-437. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.01.029.
- Harada, K; Inoue, K; Morikawa, A; Yoshinaga, T; Saito, N; Koizumi, A. (2005). Renal clearance of perfluorooctane sulfonate and perfluorooctanoate in humans and their species-specific excretion. Environ Res 99: 253-261. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2004.12.003</u>.
- <u>Harbison, RD; Bourgeois, MM; Johnson, GT.</u> (2015). Hamilton & Hardy's industrial toxicology (6th ed.). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. <u>http://www.wiley.com/WileyCDA/WileyTitle/productCd-0470929731,subjectCd-</u>

<u>CH50.html</u>.

- Hardell, E; Kärrman, A; van Bavel, B; Bao, J; Carlberg, M; Hardell, L. (2014). Case-control study on perfluorinated alkyl acids (PFAAs) and the risk of prostate cancer. Environ Int 63: 35-39. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.10.005.
- Harlow, SD; Hood, MM; Ding, N; Mukherjee, B; Calafat, AM; Randolph, JF, Jr; Gold, EB; Park, SK. (2021). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and hormone levels during the menopausal transition. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 106: e4427-e4437. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgab476.
- Harris, MH; Oken, E; Rifas-Shiman, SL; Calafat, AM; Bellinger, DC; Webster, TF; White, RF; Sagiv, SK. (2021). Prenatal and childhood exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and child executive function and behavioral problems. Environ Res 202: 111621. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111621.
- Harris, MH; Oken, E; Rifas-Shiman, SL; Calafat, AM; Ye, X; Bellinger, DC; Webster, TF; White, RF; Sagiv, SK. (2018). Prenatal and childhood exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) and child cognition. Environ Int 115: 358-369. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.03.025.
- Harris, NS; Bazydlo, LAL; Winter, WE. (2012). Coagulation tests: a primer on hemostasis for clinical chemists. Clinical Laboratory News 2012.
- Hartman, TJ; Calafat, AM; Holmes, AK; Marcus, M; Northstone, K; Flanders, WD; Kato, K; Taylor, EV. (2017). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and body fatness in girls. Child Obes 13: 222-230. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/chi.2016.0126.
- Haug, LS; Thomsen, C; Brantsæter, AL; Kvalem, HE; Haugen, M; Becher, G; Alexander, J; Meltzer, HM;
 Knutsen, HK. (2010). Diet and particularly seafood are major sources of perfluorinated compounds in humans. Environ Int 36: 772-778. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2010.05.016.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.R-15DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>He, X; Jiang, J; Zhang, XX.</u> (2022). Environmental exposure to low-dose perfluorohexanesulfonate promotes obesity and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in mice fed a high-fat diet. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 29: 49279-49290. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-19369-7</u>.
- <u>He, X; Liu, Y; Xu, B; Gu, L; Tang, W.</u> (2018). PFOA is associated with diabetes and metabolic alteration in US men: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2003-2012. Sci Total Environ 625: 566-574. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.12.186</u>.
- Heffernan, AL; Cunningham, TK; Drage, DS; Aylward, LL; Thompson, K; Vijayasarathy, S; Mueller, JF;
 Atkin, SL; Sathyapalan, T. (2018). Perfluorinated alkyl acids in the serum and follicular fluid of UK women with and without polycystic ovarian syndrome undergoing fertility treatment and associations with hormonal and metabolic parameters. Int J Hyg Environ Health 221: 1068-1075. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2018.07.009.
- Henrichs, J: Ghassabian, A: Peeters, RP: Tiemeier, H. (2013). Maternal hypothyroxinemia and effects on cognitive functioning in childhood: how and why? [Review]. Clin Endocrinol 79: 152-162. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/cen.12227</u>.
- Heo, JJ: Lee, JW: Kim, SK: Oh, JE. (2014). Foodstuff analyses show that seafood and water are major perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) sources to humans in Korea. J Hazard Mater 279: 402-409. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2014.07.004.
- Hill, AB. (1965). The environment and disease: Association or causation? Proc R Soc Med 58: 295-300. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/003591576505800503</u>.
- <u>Hjermitslev, MH; Long, M; Wielsøe, M; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC.</u> (2020). Persistent organic pollutants in Greenlandic pregnant women and indices of foetal growth: The ACCEPT study. Sci Total Environ 698: 134118. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134118</u>.
- Hoffman, K; Webster, TF; Weisskopf, MG; Weinberg, J; Vieira, VM. (2010). Exposure to polyfluoroalkyl chemicals and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder in U.S. children 12-15 years of age. Environ Health Perspect 118: 1762-1767. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1001898.
- <u>Honda-Kohmo, K; Hutcheson, R; Innes, KE; Conway, BN.</u> (2019). Perfluoroalkyl substances are inversely associated with coronary heart disease in adults with diabetes. J Diabetes Complications 33: 407-412. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2019.02.004</u>.
- <u>Hood, A; Hashmi, R; Klaassen, CD.</u> (1999a). Effects of microsomal enzyme inducers on thyroidfollicular cell proliferation, hyperplasia, and hypertrophy. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 160: 163-170. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/taap.1999.8752</u>.
- <u>Hood, A; Klaassen, CD.</u> (2000). Differential effects of microsomal enzyme inducers on in vitro thyroxine (T4) and triiodothyronine (T3) glucuronidation. Toxicol Sci 55: 78-84. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/55.1.78</u>.
- Hood, A; Liu, YP: Gattone, VH; Klaassen, CD. (1999b). Sensitivity of thyroid gland growth to thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) in rats treated with antithyroid drugs. Toxicol Sci 49: 263-271. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/49.2.263.
- <u>Høyer, BB; Bonde, JP; Tøttenborg, SS; Ramlau-Hansen, CH; Lindh, C; Pedersen, HS; Toft, G.</u> (2017). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances during pregnancy and child behaviour at 5 to 9 years of age. Horm Behav 101: 105-112. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2017.11.007</u>.
- Huang, EJ; Reichardt, LF. (2001). Neurotrophins: Roles in neuronal development and function. Annu Rev Neurosci 24: 677-736. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.677</u>.
- Huang, M; Jiao, J; Zhuang, P; Chen, X; Wang, J; Zhang, Y. (2018). Serum polyfluoroalkyl chemicals are associated with risk of cardiovascular diseases in national US population. Environ Int 119: 37-46. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.05.051.
- <u>Huang, MC; Dzierlenga, AL; Robinson, VG; Waidyanatha, S; Devito, MJ; Eifrid, MA; Granville, CA;</u> <u>Gibbs, ST; Blystone, CR.</u> (2019a). Toxicokinetics of perfluorobutane sulfonate (PFBS), perfluorohexane-1-sulphonic acid (PFHxS), and perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS) in

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-16 DRAFT–DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

male and female Hsd:Sprague Dawley SD rats after intravenous and gavage administration. Toxicol Rep 6: 645-655. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.toxrep.2019.06.016</u>.

- <u>Huang, Q; Liu, L; Wu, Y; Wang, X; Luo, L; Nan, B; Zhang, J; Tian, M; Shen, H.</u> (2019b). Seminal plasma metabolites mediate the associations of multiple environmental pollutants with semen quality in Chinese men. Environ Int 132: 105066. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105066</u>.
- Huang, R; Chen, Q; Zhang, L; Luo, K; Chen, L; Zhao, S; Feng, L; Zhang, J. (2019c). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances and the risk of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. Environ Health 18: 5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-018-0445-3.
- Humblet, O; Diaz-Ramirez, LG; Balmes, JR; Pinney, SM; Hiatt, RA. (2014). Perfluoroalkyl chemicals and asthma among children 12-19 years of age: NHANES (1999-2008). Environ Health Perspect 122: 1129-1133. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1306606</u>.
- <u>Huo, X; Zhang, L; Huang, R; Feng, L; Wang, W; Zhang, J; Cohort, SB.</u> (2020). Perfluoroalkyl substances exposure in early pregnancy and preterm birth in singleton pregnancies: a prospective cohort study. Environ Health 19: 60. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-020-00616-8</u>.
- ICH Expert Working Group. (2005). Immunotoxicity studies for human pharmaceuticals S8 11. In ICH Harmonised Tripartite Guideline.
- Impinen, A; Longnecker, MP; Nygaard, UC; London, SJ; Ferguson, KK; Haug, LS; Granum, B. (2019). Maternal levels of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) during pregnancy and childhood allergy and asthma related outcomes and infections in the Norwegian Mother and Child (MoBa) Cohort. Environ Int 124: 462-472. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.12.041</u>.
- Impinen, A; Nygaard, UC; Lødrup Carlsen, KC; Mowinckel, P; Carlsen, KH; Haug, LS; Granum, B. (2018). Prenatal exposure to perfluoralkyl substances (PFASs) associated with respiratory tract infections but not allergy- and asthma-related health outcomes in childhood. Environ Res 160: 518-523. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.10.012</u>.
- Inoue, K; Ritz, B; Andersen, SL; Ramlau-Hansen, CH; Høyer, BB; Bech, BH; Henriksen, TB; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC; Olsen, J; Liew, Z. (2019). Perfluoroalkyl substances and maternal thyroid hormones in early pregnancy; findings in the Danish National Birth Cohort. Environ Health Perspect 127: 117002. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP5482</u>.
- <u>IPCS</u> (International Programme on Chemical Safety). (1996). Principles and methods for assessing direct immunotoxicity associated with exposure to chemicals. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. <u>http://www.inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc180.htm</u>.
- <u>IPCS</u> (International Programme on Chemical Safety). (2006). Principles for evaluating health risks in children associated with exposure to chemicals [WHO EHC]. (Environmental Health Criteria 225). Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- <u>IPCS</u> (International Programme on Chemical Safety). (2012). Guidance for immunotoxicity risk assessment for chemicals. (Harmonization Project Document No. 10). Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330098</u>.
- Irizarry, L. (2014). Thyroid hormone toxicity [Supplemental Data]. Endocrinology n/a.
- Itoh, S; Araki, A; Miyashita, C; Yamazaki, K; Goudarzi, H; Minatoya, M; Ait Bamai, Y; Kobayashi, S; Okada, E; Kashino, I; Yuasa, M; Baba, T; Kishi, R. (2019). Association between perfluoroalkyl substance exposure and thyroid hormone/thyroid antibody levels in maternal and cord blood: The Hokkaido Study. Environ Int 133: 105139. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105139.
- Jackson-Browne, MS; Eliot, M; Patti, M; Spanier, AJ; Braun, JM. (2020). PFAS (per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances) and asthma in young children: NHANES 2013-2014. Int J Hyg Environ Health 229: 113565. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113565</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-17 DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Jain, R. (2021a). Impact of kidney hyperfiltration on concentrations of selected perfluoroalkyl acids among US adults for various disease groups. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 28: 21499-21515. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-11855-0.
- Jain, RB. (2013). Effect of pregnancy on the levels of selected perfluoroalkyl compounds for females aged 17-39 years: data from National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2003-2008. J Toxicol Environ Health A 76: 409-421. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2013.771547.
- Jain, RB. (2019). Synergistic impact of co-exposures to toxic metals cadmium, lead, and mercury along with perfluoroalkyl substances on the healthy kidney function. Environ Res 169: 342-347. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.11.037.
- Jain, RB. (2020). Impact of the co-occurrence of obesity with diabetes, anemia, hypertension, and albuminuria on concentrations of selected perfluoroalkyl acids. Environ Pollut 266 Pt. 2: 115207. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115207.
- Jain, RB. (2021b). Perfluoroalkyl acids and their isomers, diabetes, anemia, and albuminuria: Variabilities with deteriorating kidney function. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 208: 111625. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111625.
- Jain, RB; Ducatman, A. (2018). Associations between lipid/lipoprotein levels and perfluoroalkyl substances among US children aged 6-11 years. Environ Pollut 243: 1-8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.08.060.
- Jain, RB; Ducatman, A. (2019a). Dynamics of associations between perfluoroalkyl substances and uric acid across the various stages of glomerular function. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 26: 12425-12434. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-04666-5.
- Jain, RB; Ducatman, A. (2019b). Perfluoroalkyl substances follow inverted U-shaped distributions across various stages of glomerular function: Implications for future research. Environ Res 169: 476-482. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.11.033</u>.
- Jain, RB; Ducatman, A. (2019c). Selective associations of recent low concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances with liver function biomarkers: nhanes 2011 to 2014 data on us adults aged ≥20 years. J Occup Environ Med 61: 293-302.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000001532.

- Jain, RB; Ducatman, A. (2022). Serum concentrations of selected perfluoroalkyl substances for US females compared to males as they age. Sci Total Environ 842: 156891. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.156891.
- Janis, JA: Rifas-Shiman, SL: Seshasayee, SM: Sagiv, S: Calafat, AM: Gold, DR: Coull, BA: Rosen, CJ: Oken, E: Fleisch, AF. (2021). Plasma concentrations of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and body composition from mid-childhood to early adolescence. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 106: e3760-e3770. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgab187</u>.
- <u>Jeddy, Z; Hartman, TJ; Taylor, EV; Poteete, C; Kordas, K.</u> (2017). Prenatal concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances and early communication development in British girls. Early Hum Dev 109: 15-20. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2017.04.004</u>.
- Jensen, RC; Andersen, MS; Larsen, PV; Glintborg, D; Dalgård, C; Timmermann, CAG; Nielsen, F; Sandberg, MB; Andersen, HR; Christesen, HT; Grandjean, P; Jensen, TK. (2020a). Prenatal Exposures to Perfluoroalkyl Acids and Associations with Markers of Adiposity and Plasma Lipids in Infancy: An Odense Child Cohort Study. Environ Health Perspect 128: 77001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP5184.
- Jensen, RC; Glintborg, D; Gade Timmermann, CA; Nielsen, F; Kyhl, HB; Frederiksen, H; Andersson, AM; Juul, A; Sidelmann, JJ; Andersen, HR; Grandjean, P; Andersen, MS; Jensen, TK. (2020b). Prenatal exposure to perfluorodecanoic acid is associated with lower circulating concentration of adrenal steroid metabolites during mini puberty in human female infants.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.R-18DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

The odense child cohort. Environ Res 182: 109101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.109101.

- Jensen, RC; Glintborg, D; Timmermann, CAG; Nielsen, F; Kyhl, HB; Andersen, HR; Grandjean, P; Jensen, TK; Andersen, M. (2018). Perfluoroalkyl substances and glycemic status in pregnant Danish women: The Odense Child Cohort. Environ Int 116: 101-107. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.04.010.
- Jensen, TK; Andersen, LB; Kyhl, HB; Nielsen, F; Christesen, HT; Grandjean, P. (2015). Association between perfluorinated compound exposure and miscarriage in Danish pregnant women. PLoS ONE 10: e0123496. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123496</u>.
- Ji, K; Kim, S; Kho, Y; Paek, D; Sakong, J; Ha, J; Kim, S; Choi, K. (2012). Serum concentrations of major perfluorinated compounds among the general population in Korea: dietary sources and potential impact on thyroid hormones. Environ Int 45: 78-85. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2012.03.007.
- Jiang, W; Zhang, Y; Zhu, L; Deng, J. (2014). Serum levels of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) with isomer analysis and their associations with medical parameters in Chinese pregnant women. Environ Int 64: 40-47. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.12.001</u>.
- Jin, H; Mao, L; Xie, J; Zhao, M; Bai, X; Wen, J; Shen, T; Wu, P. (2020a). Poly- and perfluoroalkyl substance concentrations in human breast milk and their associations with postnatal infant growth. Sci Total Environ 713: 136417. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136417.
- Jin, H; Zhang, Y; Jiang, W; Zhu, L; Martin, JW. (2016). Isomer-Specific Distribution of Perfluoroalkyl Substances in Blood. Environ Sci Technol 50: 7808-7815. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b01698.
- Jin, R; Mcconnell, R; Catherine, C; Xu, S; Walker, DI; Stratakis, N; Jones, DP; Miller, GW; Peng, C; <u>Conti, DV; Vos, MB; Chatzi, L.</u> (2020b). Perfluoroalkyl substances and severity of nonalcoholic fatty liver in Children: An untargeted metabolomics approach. Environ Int 134: 105220. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105220</u>.
- Joensen, UN; Veyrand, B; Antignac, JP; Blomberg Jensen, M; Petersen, JH; Marchand, P; Skakkebæk, NE; Andersson, AM; Le Bizec, B; Jørgensen, N. (2013). PFOS (perfluorooctanesulfonate) in serum is negatively associated with testosterone levels, but not with semen quality, in healthy men. Hum Reprod 28: 599-608. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/humrep/des425</u>.
- Jopling. J: Henry, E: Wiedmeier, SE: Christensen, RD. (2009). Reference ranges for hematocrit and blood hemoglobin concentration during the neonatal period: Data from a multihospital health care system. Pediatrics 123: E333-E337. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-2654</u>.
- Jordan, CD; Flood, JG; Laposata, M; Lewandrowski, KB. (1992). Normal reference laboratory values. N Engl J Med 327: 718-724. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199209033271009</u>.
- Jørgensen, KT; Specht, IO; Lenters, V; Bach, CC; Rylander, L; Jönsson, BA; Lindh, CH; Giwercman, A; <u>Heederik, D; Toft, G; Bonde, JP.</u> (2014). Perfluoroalkyl substances and time to pregnancy in couples from Greenland, Poland and Ukraine. Environ Health 13: 116. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-13-116</u>.
- Joshi-Barve, S; Kirpich, I; Cave, MC; Marsano, LS; McClain, CJ. (2015). Alcoholic, nonalcoholic, and toxicant-associated steatohepatitis: Mechanistic similarities and differences [Review]. CMGH 1: 356-367. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmgh.2015.05.006.
- Kang, H; Kim, HS; Yoon, YS; Lee, J; Kho, Y; Lee, J; Chang, HJ; Cho, YH; Kim, YA. (2021). Placental transfer and composition of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs): A Korean birth panel of parent-infant triads. Toxics 9: 168. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/toxics9070168</u>.
- Kang, H; Lee, HK; Moon, HB; Kim, S; Lee, J; Ha, M; Hong, S; Kim, S; Choi, K. (2018). Perfluoroalkyl acids in serum of Korean children: Occurrences, related sources, and associated health outcomes. Sci Total Environ 645: 958-965. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.07.177.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-19 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Kang, Q; Gao, F; Zhang, X; Wang, L; Liu, J; Fu, M; Zhang, S; Wan, Y; Shen, H; Hu, J. (2020). Nontargeted identification of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in human follicular fluid and their blood-follicle transfer. Environ Int 139: 105686. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105686.
- Karlsen, M; Grandjean, P; Weihe, P; Steuerwald, U; Oulhote, Y; Valvi, D. (2017). Early-life exposures to persistent organic pollutants in relation to overweight in preschool children. Reprod Toxicol 68: 145-153. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2016.08.002</u>.

Karrman, A; Domingo, JL; Llebaria, X; Nadal, M; Bigas, E; van Bavel, B; Lindstrom, G. (2010). Biomonitoring perfluorinated compounds in Catalonia, Spain: concentrations and trends in human liver and milk samples. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 17: 750-758. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11356-009-0178-5.

- Kärrman, A; Ericson, I; van Bavel, B; Darnerud, PO; Aune, M; Glynn, A; Lignell, S; Lindström, G.
 (2007). Exposure of perfluorinated chemicals through lactation: Levels of matched human milk and serum and a temporal trend, 1996-2004, in Sweden. Environ Health Perspect 115: 226-230. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.9491</u>.
- Kashino, I; Sasaki, S; Okada, E; Matsuura, H; Goudarzi, H; Miyashita, C; Okada, E; Ito, YM; Araki, A; Kishi, R. (2020). Prenatal exposure to 11 perfluoroalkyl substances and fetal growth: A large-scale, prospective birth cohort study. Environ Int 136: 105355. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105355.
- Kataria, A; Trachtman, H; Malaga-Dieguez, L; Trasande, L. (2015). Association between perfluoroalkyl acids and kidney function in a cross-sectional study of adolescents. Environ Health 14: 89. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-015-0077-9</u>.
- Kato, K; Calafat, AM; Needham, LL. (2009). Polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in house dust. Environ Res 109: 518-523. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2009.01.005</u>.
- Kawabata, K; Matsuzaki, H; Nukui, S; Okazaki, M; Sakai, A; Kawashima, Y; Kudo, N. (2017). Perfluorododecanoic acid induces cognitive deficit in adult rats. Toxicol Sci 157: 421-428. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfx058.
- <u>Khalil, N; Ducatman, AM; Sinari, S; Billheimer, D; Hu, C; Littau, S; Burgess, JL.</u> (2020). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substance and cardio metabolic markers in firefighters. J Occup Environ Med 62: 1076-1081. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000002062</u>.
- Khalil, N; Ebert, JR; Honda, M; Lee, M; Nahhas, RW; Koskela, A; Hangartner, T; Kannan, K. (2018). Perfluoroalkyl substances, bone density, and cardio-metabolic risk factors in obese 8-12 year old children: A pilot study. Environ Res 160: 314-321. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.10.014.
- Khan, KNM; Hard, GC; Li, X; Alden, CL. (2018). Chapter 11 Urinary system. In Fundamentals of Toxicologic Pathology (Third Edition). Cambridge, MA: Academic Press. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809841-7.00011-3.
- Kielsen, K; Shamim, Z; Ryder, LP; Nielsen, F; Grandjean, P; Budtz-Jørgensen, E; Heilmann, C. (2016). Antibody response to booster vaccination with tetanus and diphtheria in adults exposed to perfluorinated alkylates. J Immunotoxicol 13: 270-273. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/1547691X.2015.1067259.
- Kim, DH; Kim, UJ; Kim, HY; Choi, SD; Oh, JE. (2016a). Perfluoroalkyl substances in serum from South Korean infants with congenital hypothyroidism and healthy infants - Its relationship with thyroid hormones. Environ Res 147: 399-404. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.02.037.

Kim, HY; Kim, KN; Shin, CH; Lim, YH; Kim, JI; Kim, BN; Hong, YC; Lee, YA. (2020a). The relationship between perfluoroalkyl substances concentrations and thyroid function in early childhood: A prospective cohort study. Thyroid 30: 1556-1565. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/thy.2019.0436.

> This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-20 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>Kim, MJ; Moon, S; Oh, BC; Jung, D; Ji, K; Choi, K; Park, YJ.</u> (2018a). Association between perfluoroalkyl substances exposure and thyroid function in adults: A meta-analysis. PLoS ONE 13: e0197244. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0197244</u>.
- <u>Kim, S; Choi, K; Ji, K; Seo, J; Kho, Y; Park, J; Kim, S; Park, S; Hwang, I; Jeon, J; Yang, H; Giesy, JP.</u>
 (2011a). Trans-placental transfer of thirteen perfluorinated compounds and relations with fetal thyroid hormones. Environ Sci Technol 45: 7465-7472.
 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es202408a</u>.
- Kim, SJ; Heo, SH; Lee, DS; Hwang, IG; Lee, YB; Cho, HY. (2016b). Gender differences in pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution of 3 perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in rats. Food Chem Toxicol 97: 243-255. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2016.09.017</u>.
- Kim, SJ; Shin, H; Lee, YB; Cho, HY. (2018b). Sex-specific risk assessment of PFHxS using a physiologically based pharmacokinetic model. Arch Toxicol 92: 1113-1131. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00204-017-2116-5.
- <u>Kim, SK; Kannan, K.</u> (2007). Perfluorinated acids in air, rain, snow, surface runoff, and lakes: relative importance of pathways to contamination of urban lakes. Environ Sci Technol 41: 8328-8334. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es072107t</u>.
- Kim, SK; Lee, KT; Kang, CS; Tao, L; Kannan, K; Kim, KR; Kim, CK; Lee, JS; Park, PS; Yoo, YW; Ha, JY; Shin, YS; Lee, JH. (2011b). Distribution of perfluorochemicals between sera and milk from the same mothers and implications for prenatal and postnatal exposures. Environ Pollut 159: 169-174. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2010.09.008</u>.
- Kim, YR; White, N; Bräunig, J; Vijayasarathy, S; Mueller, JF; Knox, CL; Harden, FA; Pacella, R; Toms, LL. (2020b). Per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in follicular fluid from women experiencing infertility in Australia. Environ Res 190: 109963. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109963.
- Kodavanti, UP; Russell, JC; Costa, DL. (2015). Rat models of cardiometabolic diseases: baseline clinical chemistries, and rationale for their use in examining air pollution health effects. Inhal Toxicol 27: 2-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/08958378.2014.954166.
- Korevaar, TIM; Muetzel, R; Medici, M; Chaker, L; Jaddoe, VWV; de Rijke, YB; Steegers, EAP; Visser, <u>TJ</u>; White, T; Tiemeier, H; Peeters, RP. (2016). Association of maternal thyroid function during early pregnancy with offspring IQ and brain morphology in childhood: A populationbased prospective cohort study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 4: 35-43. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00327-7</u>.
- Koshy, TT; Attina, TM; Ghassabian, A; Gilbert, J; Burdine, LK; Marmor, M; Honda, M; Chu, DB; Han, X; Shao, Y; Kannan, K; Urbina, EM; Trasande, L. (2017). Serum perfluoroalkyl substances and cardiometabolic consequences in adolescents exposed to the World Trade Center disaster and a matched comparison group. Environ Int 109: 128-135. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.08.003.
- Koskela, A; Ducatman, A; Schousboe, JT; Nahhas, RW; Khalil, N. (2022). Perfluoroalkyl Substances and Abdominal Aortic Calcification. J Occup Environ Med 64: 287-294. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/JOM.0000000002479.
- Kudo, N; Katakura, M; Sato, Y; Kawashima, Y. (2002). Sex hormone-regulated renal transport of perfluorooctanoic acid. Chem Biol Interact 139: 301-316. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0009-2797(02)00006-6.
- Kvalem, HE; Nygaard, UC; Lødrup Carlsen, KC; Carlsen, KH; Haug, LS; Granum, B. (2020).
 Perfluoroalkyl substances, airways infections, allergy and asthma related health outcomes -Implications of gender, exposure period and study design. Environ Int 134: 105259.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105259.
- Kwon, EJ; Shin, JS; Kim, BM; Shah-Kulkarni, S; Park, H; Kho, YL; Park, EA; Kim, YJ; Ha, EH. (2016). Prenatal exposure to perfluorinated compounds affects birth weight through GSTM1

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-21 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

polymorphism. J Occup Environ Med 58: e198-e205. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/JOM.000000000000739.

- Laitinen, JA; Koponen, J; Koikkalainen, J; Kiviranta, H. (2014). Firefighters' exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids and 2-butoxyethanol present in firefighting foams. Toxicol Lett 231: 227-232. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2014.09.007.
- Lau, C; Anitole, K; Hodes, C; Lai, D; Pfahles-Hutchens, A; Seed, J. (2007). Perfluoroalkyl acids: a review of monitoring and toxicological findings [Review]. Toxicol Sci 99: 366-394. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfm128.
- Lau, C; Thibodeaux, JR; Hanson, RG; Rogers, JM; Grey, BE; Stanton, ME; Butenhoff, JL; Stevenson, LA. (2003). Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. II: postnatal evaluation. Toxicol Sci 74: 382-392. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfg122</u>.
- Lebeaux, RM; Doherty, BT; Gallagher, LG; Zoeller, RT; Hoofnagle, AN; Calafat, AM; Karagas, MR; Yolton, K; Chen, A; Lanphear, BP; Braun, JM; Romano, ME. (2020). Maternal serum perfluoroalkyl substance mixtures and thyroid hormone concentrations in maternal and cord sera: The HOME Study. Environ Res 185: 109395. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109395.
- Leboff, MS; Kaplan, MM; Silva, JE; Larsen, PR. (1982). Bioavailability of thyroid hormones from oral replacement preparations. Metabolism 31: 900-905. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0026-0495(82)90179-2</u>.
- Lee, ES; Han, S; Oh, JE. (2016). Association between perfluorinated compound concentrations in cord serum and birth weight using multiple regression models. Reprod Toxicol 59: 53-59. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2015.10.020.
- Lee, I: Viberg, H. (2013). A single neonatal exposure to perfluorohexane sulfonate (PFHxS) affects the levels of important neuroproteins in the developing mouse brain. Neurotoxicology 37: 190-196. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuro.2013.05.007</u>.
- Lee, YA; Kim, JH; Jung, HW; Lim, YH; Bae, S; Kho, Y; Hong, YC; Shin, CH; Yang, SW. (2018). The serum concentrations of perfluoroalkyl compounds were inversely associated with growth parameters in 2-year old children. Sci Total Environ 628-629: 226-232. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.02.050.
- Lee, YJ; Kim, MK; Bae, J; Yang, JH. (2013). Concentrations of perfluoroalkyl compounds in maternal and umbilical cord sera and birth outcomes in Korea. Chemosphere 90: 1603-1609. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.08.035.
- Lenters, V; Portengen, L; Rignell-Hydbom, A; Jönsson, BA; Lindh, CH; Piersma, AH; Toft, G; Bonde, JP; Heederik, D; Rylander, L; Vermeulen, R. (2016). Prenatal phthalate, perfluoroalkyl acid, and organochlorine exposures and term birth weight in three birth cohorts: multi-pollutant models based on elastic net regression. Environ Health Perspect 124: 365-372. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1408933.
- Leter, G; Consales, C; Eleuteri, P; Uccelli, R; Specht, IO; Toft, G; Moccia, T; Budillon, A; Jönsson, BA; Lindh, CH; Giwercman, A; Pedersen, HS; Ludwicki, JK; Zviezdai, V; Heederik, D; Bonde, JP; Spanò, M. (2014). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and sperm DNA global methylation in Arctic and European populations. Environ Mol Mutagen 55: 591-600. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/em.21874.
- Lewis, RC: Johns, LE: Meeker, JD. (2015). Serum Biomarkers of Exposure to Perfluoroalkyl Substances in Relation to Serum Testosterone and Measures of Thyroid Function among Adults and Adolescents from NHANES 2011-2012. Int J Environ Res Public Health 12: 6098-6114. http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120606098.
- Li, H; Hammarstrand, S; Midberg, B; Xu, Y; Li, Y; Olsson, DS; Fletcher, T; Jakobsson, K; Andersson, EM. (2022a). Cancer incidence in a Swedish cohort with high exposure to perfluoroalkyl
substances in drinking water. Environ Res 204: 112217. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.112217.

- Li, J; Cai, D; Chu, C; Li, QQ; Zhou, Y; Hu, LW; Yang, BY; Dong, GH; Zeng, XW; Chen, D. (2020a). Transplacental Transfer of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs): Differences between Preterm and Full-Term Deliveries and Associations with Placental Transporter mRNA Expression. Environ Sci Technol 54: 5062-5070. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c00829.
- Li, K; Gao, P; Xiang, P; Zhang, X; Cui, X; Ma, LQ. (2017a). Molecular mechanisms of PFOA-induced toxicity in animals and humans: Implications for health risks [Review]. Environ Int 99: 43-54. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.11.014</u>.
- Li, M; Zeng, XW; Qian, ZM; Vaughn, MG; Sauvé, S; Paul, G; Lin, S; Lu, L; Hu, LW; Yang, BY; Zhou, Y; Qin, XD; Xu, SL; Bao, WW; Zhang, YZ; Yuan, P; Wang, J; Zhang, C; Tian, YP; Nian, M; Xiao, X; Fu, C; Dong, GH. (2017b). Isomers of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in cord serum and birth outcomes in China: Guangzhou Birth Cohort Study. Environ Int 102: 1-8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.03.006.
- Li, N; Liu, Y; Papandonatos, GD; Calafat, AM; Eaton, CB; Kelsey, KT; Cecil, KM; Kalkwarf, HJ; Yolton, K; Lanphear, BP; Chen, A; Braun, JM. (2021a). Gestational and childhood exposure to perand polyfluoroalkyl substances and cardiometabolic risk at age 12 years. Environ Int 147: 106344. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106344.
- Li, Y; Andersson, A; Xu, Y; Pineda, D; Nilsson, CA; Lindh, CH; Jakobsson, K; Fletcher, T. (2022b). Determinants of serum half-lives for linear and branched perfluoroalkyl substances after long-term high exposure—A study in Ronneby, Sweden. Environ Int 163: 107198. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107198</u>.
- Li, Y; Barregard, L; Xu, Y; Scott, K; Pineda, D; Lindh, CH; Jakobsson, K; Fletcher, T. (2020b). Associations between perfluoroalkyl substances and serum lipids in a Swedish adult population with contaminated drinking water. Environ Health 19: 33. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-020-00588-9</u>.
- Li, Y; Cheng, Y; Xie, Z; Zeng, F. (2017c). Perfluorinated alkyl substances in serum of the southern Chinese general population and potential impact on thyroid hormones. Sci Rep 7: 43380. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep43380.
- Li, Y; Fletcher, T; Mucs, D; Scott, K; Lindh, CH; Tallving, P; Jakobsson, K. (2018). Half-lives of PFOS, PFHxS and PFOA after end of exposure to contaminated drinking water. Occup Environ Med 75: 46-51. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2017-104651</u>.
- Li, Y; Shan, Z; Teng, W; Yu, X; Fan, C; Teng, X; Guo, R; Wang, H; Li, J; Chen, Y; Wang, W; Chawinga, M; Zhang, L; Yang, L; Zhao, Y; Hua, T. (2010). Abnormalities of maternal thyroid function during pregnancy affect neuropsychological development of their children at 25-30 months. Clin Endocrinol 72: 825-829. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2265.2009.03743.x</u>.
- Li, Y; Xu, Y; Fletcher, T; Scott, K; Nielsen, C; Pineda, D; Lindh, CH; Olsson, DS; Andersson, EM; Jakobsson, K. (2021b). Associations between perfluoroalkyl substances and thyroid hormones after high exposure through drinking water. Environ Res 194: 110647. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110647.
- <u>Liang, H; Wang, Z; Miao, M; Tian, Y; Zhou, Y; Wen, S; Chen, Y; Sun, X; Yuan, W.</u> (2020). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and thyroid hormone concentrations in cord plasma in a Chinese birth cohort. Environ Health 19: 127. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-020-00679-7</u>.
- Liang, JL; Tiwari, T; Moro, P; Messonnier, NE; Reingold, A; Sawyer, M; Clark, TA. (2018). Prevention of pertussis, tetanus, and diphtheria with vaccines in the United States: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep 67: 1-44. http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.rr6702a1.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-23 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Liao, S; Yao, W; Cheang, I; Tang, X; Yin, T; Lu, X; Zhou, Y; Zhang, H; Li, X. (2020). Association between perfluoroalkyl acids and the prevalence of hypertension among US adults. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 196: 110589. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.110589</u>.
- Liew, Z; Luo, J; Nohr, EA; Bech, BH; Bossi, R; Arah, OA; Olsen, J. (2020). Maternal plasma perfluoroalkyl substances and miscarriage: a nested case-control study in the Danish National Birth Cohort. Environ Health Perspect 128: 47007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP6202.
- Liew, Z; Ritz, B; Bach, CC; Asarnow, RF; Bech, BH; Nohr, EA; Bossi, R; Henriksen, TB; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC; Olsen, J. (2018). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and iq scores at age 5; a study in the danish national birth cohort. Environ Health Perspect 126: 067004. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP2754.
- Liew, Z; Ritz, B; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC; Henriksen, TB; Nohr, EA; Bech, BH; Fei, C; Bossi, R; von Ehrenstein, OS; Streja, E; Uldall, P; Olsen, J. (2014). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and the risk of congenital cerebral palsy in children. Am J Epidemiol 180: 574-581. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwu179.
- Liew, Z; Ritz, B; von Ehrenstein, OS; Bech, BH; Nohr, EA; Fei, C; Bossi, R; Henriksen, TB; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC; Olsen, J. (2015). Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder and childhood autism in association with prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances: A nested casecontrol study in the Danish National Birth Cohort. Environ Health Perspect 123: 367-373. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1408412.
- Lin, AY: Panchangam, SC; Lo, CC. (2009a). The impact of semiconductor, electronics and optoelectronic industries on downstream perfluorinated chemical contamination in Taiwanese rivers. Environ Pollut 157: 1365-1372. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2008.11.033.
- Lin, CY; Chen, PC; Lin, YC; Lin, LY. (2009b). Association among serum perfluoroalkyl chemicals, glucose homeostasis, and metabolic syndrome in adolescents and adults. Diabetes Care 32: 702-707. http://dx.doi.org/10.2337/dc08-1816.
- Lin, CY; Lin, LY; Chiang, CK; Wang, WJ; Su, YN; Hung, KY; Chen, PC. (2010). Investigation of the Associations Between Low-Dose Serum Perfluorinated Chemicals and Liver Enzymes in US Adults. Am J Gastroenterol 105: 1354-1363. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2009.707</u>.
- Lin, HW; Feng, HX; Chen, L; Yuan, XJ; Tan, Z. (2020a). Maternal exposure to environmental endocrine disruptors during pregnancy is associated with pediatric germ cell tumors. Nagoya J Med Sci 82: 323-333. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18999/nagjms.82.2.323</u>.
- Lin, P; Cardenas, A; Hauser, R; Gold, DR; Kleinman, K; Hivert, MF; Fleisch, AF; Calafat, AM; Webster, <u>TF; Horton, ES; Oken, E.</u> (2019). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and blood lipid levels in pre-diabetic adults-longitudinal analysis of the diabetes prevention program outcomes study. Environ Int 129: 343-353. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.05.027</u>.
- Lin, PD; Cardenas, A; Hauser, R; Gold, DR; Kleinman, KP; Hivert, MF; Calafat, AM; Webster, TF; Horton, ES; Oken, E. (2020b). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and blood pressure in pre-diabetic adults-cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses of the diabetes prevention program outcomes study. Environ Int 137: 105573. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105573.
- Lin, PD; Cardenas, A; Hauser, R; Gold, DR; Kleinman, KP; Hivert, MF; Calafat, AM; Webster, TF; Horton, ES; Oken, E. (2021). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and kidney function: Follow-up results from the Diabetes Prevention Program trial. Environ Int 148: 106375. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106375.
- Lin, TW; Chen, MK; Lin, CC; Chen, MH; Tsai, MS; Chan, DC; Hung, KY; Chen, PC. (2020c). Association between exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and metabolic syndrome and related

outcomes among older residents living near a Science Park in Taiwan. Int J Hyg Environ Health 230: 113607. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113607</u>.

- Lind, DV; Priskorn, L; Lassen, TH; Nielsen, F; Kyhl, HB; Kristensen, DM; Christesen, HT; Jørgensen, JS; Grandjean, P; Jensen, TK. (2017). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and anogenital distance at 3 months of age in a Danish mother-child cohort. Reprod Toxicol 68: 200-206. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2016.08.019.
- Lind, L; Zethelius, B; Salihovic, S; van Bavel, B; Lind, PM. (2014). Circulating levels of perfluoroalkyl substances and prevalent diabetes in the elderly. Diabetologia 57: 473-479. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00125-013-3126-3.
- Lind, PM; Lind, L; Salihovic, S; Ahlström, H; Michaelsson, K; Kullberg, J; Strand, R. (2022). Serum levels of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and body composition - A cross-sectional study in a middle-aged population. Environ Res 209: 112677. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.112677.
- Litvinov, RI; Weisel, JW. (2017). Role of red blood cells in haemostasis and thrombosis. 12: 176-183. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/voxs.12331</u>.
- Liu, B; Wei, B; Mo, M; Song, Y; Tang, C; Tang, P; Guo, X; Tan, C; Liu, S; Huang, D; Qiu, X. (2021a). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances in early pregnancy and the risk of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: A nested case-control study in Guangxi, China. Chemosphere 288: 132468. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.132468</u>.
- Liu, C; Xu, X; Huo, X, ia. (2014). Anogenital distance and its application in environmental health research [Review]. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 21: 5457-5464. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-2570-z.
- Liu, D; Tang, B; Nie, S; Zhao, N; He, L; Cui, J; Mao, W; Jin, H. (2023). Distribution of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and their precursors in human blood. J Hazard Mater 441: 129908. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2022.129908.
- Liu, G; Dhana, K; Furtado, JD; Rood, J; Zong, G; Liang, L; Qi, L; Bray, GA; Dejonge, L; Coull, B; Grandjean, P; Sun, Q. (2018). Perfluoroalkyl substances and changes in body weight and resting metabolic rate in response to weight-loss diets: A prospective study. PLoS Med 15: e1002502. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002502</u>.
- Liu, G; Zhang, B; Hu, Y; Rood, J; Liang, L; Qi, L; Bray, GA; Dejonge, L; Coull, B; Grandjean, P; Furtado, JD; Sun, Q. (2020a). Associations of Perfluoroalkyl substances with blood lipids and Apolipoproteins in lipoprotein subspecies: the POUNDS-lost study. Environ Health 19: 5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-020-0561-8.
- Liu, H; Pan, Y; Jin, S; Li, Y; Zhao, L; Sun, X; Cui, Q; Zhang, B; Zheng, T; Xia, W; Zhou, A; Campana, AM; Dai, J; Xu, S. (2020b). Associations of per-/polyfluoroalkyl substances with glucocorticoids and progestogens in newborns. Environ Int 140: 105636. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105636.
- Liu, J; Li, J; Liu, Y; Chan, HM; Zhao, Y; Cai, Z; Wu, Y. (2011). Comparison on gestation and lactation exposure of perfluorinated compounds for newborns. Environ Int 37: 1206-1212. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2011.05.001.
- Liu, JJ; Cui, XX; Tan, YW; Dong, PX; Ou, YQ; Li, QQ; Chu, C; Wu, LY; Liang, LX; Qin, SJ; Zeeshan, M; Zhou, Y; Hu, LW; Liu, RQ; Zeng, XW; Dong, GH; Zhao, XM. (2022a). Per- and perfluoroalkyl substances alternatives, mixtures and liver function in adults: A community-based population study in China. Environ Int 163: 107179. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107179.
- Liu, M; Zhang, G; Meng, L; Han, X; Li, Y; Shi, Y; Li, A; Turyk, ME; Zhang, Q; Jiang, G. (2021b). Associations between novel and legacy per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in human serum and thyroid cancer: A case and healthy population in Shandong Province, East China. Environ Sci Technol 56: 6144-6151. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c02850</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-25 DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Liu, Y; Li, N; Papandonatos, GD; Calafat, AM; Eaton, CB; Kelsey, KT; Chen, A; Lanphear, BP; Cecil, KM; Kalkwarf, HJ; Yolton, K; Braun, JM. (2020c). Exposure to Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances and Adiposity at Age 12 Years: Evaluating Periods of Susceptibility. Environ Sci Technol 54: 16039-16049. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c06088.
- Liu, Y; Zhou, X; Wu, Y; Yang, X; Wang, Y; Li, S; Bai, X; Schlenk, D; Liu, W. (2022b). Exposure and Blood-Cerebrospinal Fluid Barrier Permeability of PFASs in Neonates. Environ Sci Technol Lett 9: 64-70. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.1c00862</u>.
- Loccisano, AE; Campbell, JL, Jr; Andersen, ME; Clewell, HJ, III. (2011). Evaluation and prediction of pharmacokinetics of PFOA and PFOS in the monkey and human using a PBPK model. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 59: 157-175. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2010.12.004</u>.
- Long, M; Ghisari, M; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC. (2013). Effects of perfluoroalkyl acids on the function of the thyroid hormone and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 20: 8045-8056. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-1628-7</u>.
- Lopez-Espinosa, MJ; Mondal, D; Armstrong, BG; Eskenazi, B; Fletcher, T. (2016). Perfluoroalkyl Substances, Sex Hormones, and Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 at 6-9 Years of Age: A Cross-Sectional Analysis within the C8 Health Project. Environ Health Perspect 124: 1269-1275. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1509869.
- Lorber, M; Eaglesham, GE; Hobson, P; Toms, LM; Mueller, JF; Thompson, JS. (2015). The effect of ongoing blood loss on human serum concentrations of perfluorinated acids. Chemosphere 118: 170-177. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.07.093.
- Luo, D; Wu, WX; Pan, YA; Du, BB; Shen, MJ; Zeng, LX. (2021). Associations of prenatal exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances with the neonatal birth size and hormones in the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor axis. Environ Sci Technol 55: 11859-11873. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c02670.
- Luo, J; Xiao, J; Gao, Y; Ramlau-Hansen, CH; Toft, G; Li, J; Obel, C; Andersen, SL; Deziel, NC; Tseng, WL; <u>Inoue, K; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC; Olsen, J; Liew, Z.</u> (2020). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and behavioral difficulties in childhood at 7 and 11 years. Environ Res 191: 110111. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110111</u>.
- Lyall, K; Yau, VM; Hansen, R; Kharrazi, M; Yoshida, CK; Calafat, AM; Windham, G; Croen, LA. (2018). Prenatal maternal serum concentrations of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in association with autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability. Environ Health Perspect 126: 017001. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP1830</u>.
- Mackowiak, B; Hodge, J; Stern, S; Wang, H. (2018). The roles of xenobiotic receptors: Beyond chemical disposition [Review]. Drug Metab Dispos 46: 1361-1371. http://dx.doi.org/10.1124/dmd.118.081042.
- Maekawa, R; Ito, R; Iwasaki, Y; Saito, K; Akutsu, K; Takatori, S; Ishii, R; Kondo, F; Arai, Y; Ohgane, J; Shiota, K; Makino, T; Sugino, N. (2017). Evidence of exposure to chemicals and heavy metals during pregnancy in Japanese women. Reproductive Medicine and Biology 16: 337-348. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/rmb2.12049.
- Maisonet, M; Calafat, AM; Marcus, M; Jaakkola, JJ; Lashen, H. (2015). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids and serum testosterone concentrations at 15 years of age in female ALSPAC study participants. Environ Health Perspect 123: 1325-1330. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1408847.
- Maisonet, M; Terrell, ML; Mcgeehin, MA; Christensen, KY; Holmes, A; Calafat, AM; Marcus, M. (2012). Maternal concentrations of polyfluoroalkyl compounds during pregnancy and fetal and postnatal growth in British girls. Environ Health Perspect 120: 1432-1437. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1003096.
- Mamsen, LS; Björvang, RD; Mucs, D; Vinnars, MT; Papadogiannakis, N; Lindh, CH; Andersen, CY; Damdimopoulou, P. (2019). Concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in human

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-26 DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

embryonic and fetal organs from first, second, and third trimester pregnancies. Environ Int 124: 482-492. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.01.010</u>.

- Man, EB; Jones, WS; Holden, RH; Mellits, ED. (1971). Thyroid function in human pregnancy VIII Retardation of progency aged 7 years, relationships to maternal age and maternal thyroid function. Am J Obstet Gynecol 111: 905-916.
- Manz, MG; Akashi, K; Weissman, IL. (2004). Biology of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. In KG Blume; SJ Forman; FR Appelbaum (Eds.), Thomas' Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation (3 ed.). Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing.
- <u>Manzano-Salgado, CB; Casas, M; Lopez-Espinosa, MJ; Ballester, F; Iñiguez, C; Martinez, D; Costa, O;</u> <u>Santa-Marina, L; Pereda-Pereda, E; Schettgen, T; Sunyer, J; Vrijheid, M.</u> (2017a). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and birth outcomes in a Spanish birth cohort. Environ Int 108: 278-284. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.09.006</u>.
- Manzano-Salgado, CB; Casas, M; Lopez-Espinosa, MJ; Ballester, F; Iñiguez, C; Martinez, D; Romaguera, D; Fernández-Barrés, S; Santa-Marina, L; Basterretxea, M; Schettgen, T; Valvi, D; Vioque, J; Sunyer, J; Vrijheid, M. (2017b). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and cardiometabolic risk in children from the Spanish INMA birth cohort study. Environ Health Perspect 125: 097018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP1330.
- Manzano-Salgado, CB; Granum, B; Lopez-Espinosa, MJ; Ballester, F; Iñiguez, C; Gascón, M; Martínez, D; Guxens, M; Basterretxea, M; Zabaleta, C; Schettgen, T; Sunyer, J; Vrijheid, M; Casas, M. (2019). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances, immune-related outcomes, and lung function in children from a Spanish birth cohort study. Int J Hyg Environ Health 222: 945-954. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2019.06.005.
- Mao, W; Hu, Q; Chen, S; Chen, Y; Luo, M; Zhang, Z; Geng, J; Wu, J; Xu, B; Chen, M. (2020). Polyfluoroalkyl chemicals and the risk of kidney stones in US adults: A population-based study. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 208: 111497. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111497.
- Marks, KJ; Cutler, AJ; Jeddy, Z; Northstone, K; Kato, K; Hartman, TJ. (2019a). Maternal serum concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances and birth size in British boys. Int J Hyg Environ Health 222: 889-895. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2019.03.008</u>.
- Marks, KJ; Jeddy, Z; Flanders, WD; Northstone, K; Fraser, A; Calafat, AM; Kato, K; Hartman, TJ. (2019b). Maternal serum concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances during pregnancy and gestational weight gain: The Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. Reprod Toxicol 90: 8-14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2019.08.003.
- Marques, ES; Agudelo, J; Kaye, EM; Modaresi, SMS; Pfohl, M; Bečanová, J; Wei, W; Polunas, M; <u>Goedken, M; Slitt, AL.</u> (2021). The role of maternal high fat diet on mouse pup metabolic endpoints following perinatal PFAS and PFAS mixture exposure. Toxicology 462: 152921. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2021.152921</u>.
- Martin, CM. (1978). Verbal and spatial encoding of visual stimuli: the effects of sex, hemisphere and yes-no judgements. Cortex 14: 227-233. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0010-9452(78)80048-3</u>.
- Martinsson, M; Nielsen, C; Björk, J; Rylander, L; Malmqvist, E; Lindh, C; Rignell-Hydbom, A. (2020). Intrauterine exposure to perfluorinated compounds and overweight at age 4: A case-control study. PLoS ONE 15: e0230137. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230137.
- Matilla-Santander, N; Valvi, D; Lopez-Espinosa, MJ; Manzano-Salgado, CB; Ballester, F; Ibarluzea, J; Santa-Marina, L; Schettgen, T; Guxens, M; Sunyer, J; Vrijheid, M. (2017). Exposure to Perfluoroalkyl Substances and Metabolic Outcomes in Pregnant Women: Evidence from the Spanish INMA Birth Cohorts. Environ Health Perspect 125: 117004. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP1062.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.R-27DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Matthews, DR; Hosker, JP; Rudenski, AS; Naylor, BA; Treacher, DF; Turner, RC. (1985). Homeostasis model assessment: Insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia 28: 412-419. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00280883.
- Mattsson, K; Rignell-Hydbom, A; Holmberg, S; Thelin, A; Jönsson, BA; Lindh, CH; Sehlstedt, A; Rylander, L. (2015). Levels of perfluoroalkyl substances and risk of coronary heart disease: Findings from a population-based longitudinal study. Environ Res 142: 148-154. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.06.033.
- McCoy, JA; Bangma, JT; Reiner, JL; Bowden, JA; Schnorr, J; Slowey, M; O'Leary, T; Guillette, LJ; Parrott, BB. (2017). Associations between perfluorinated alkyl acids in blood and ovarian follicular fluid and ovarian function in women undergoing assisted reproductive treatment. Sci Total Environ 605-606: 9-17. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.06.137</u>.
- Mcmahon, HT; Bolshakov, VY; Janz, R; Hammer, RE; Siegelbaum, SA; Sudhof, TC. (1996). Synaptophysin, a major synaptic vesicle protein, is not essential for neurotransmitter release. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93: 4760-4764. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.10.4760</u>.
- MDH (Minnesota Department of Health). (2019). Health Based Guidance for Water: Toxicological Summary for: Perfluorohexane sulfonate (PFHxS). <u>https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/environment/risk/docs/guidance/gw/pfhx</u> s.pdf.
- Mellor, CL; Steinmetz, FP; Cronin, MT. (2016). The identification of nuclear receptors associated with hepatic steatosis to develop and extend adverse outcome pathways [Review]. Crit Rev Toxicol 46: 138-152. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/10408444.2015.1089471</u>.
- <u>Mendez-Sanchez, N; Cruz-Ramon, VC; Ramirez-Perez, OL; Hwang, JP; Barranco-Fragoso, B; Cordova-Gallardo, J.</u> (2018). New aspects of lipotoxicity in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 19: 2034. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijms19072034</u>.
- Meng, Q; Inoue, K; Ritz, B; Olsen, J; Liew, Z. (2018). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and birth outcomes; an updated analysis from the danish national birth cohort. Int J Environ Res Public Health 15: 1832. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15091832</u>.
- Mi, X; Lin, SQ; Zhang, XF; Li, JJ; Pei, LJ; Jin, F; Liao, Q; Xie, LM; Wei, LC; Hao, CJ; Zhang, YW; Li, W. (2022). Maternal perfluorinated compound exposure and risk of early pregnancy loss: A nested case-control study [Letter]. Biomed Environ Sci 35: 174-179. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3967/bes2022.026</u>.
- Mobacke, I: Lind, L: Dunder, L: Salihovic, S: Lind, PM. (2018). Circulating levels of perfluoroalkyl substances and left ventricular geometry of the heart in the elderly. Environ Int 115: 295-300. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.03.033.
- Mochizuki, K; Yagi, E; Sakaguchi, N; Mochizuki, H; Takabe, S; Kuranuki, S; Suzuki, T; Shimada, M; Goda, T. (2007). The critical period for thyroid hormone responsiveness through thyroid hormone receptor isoform alpha in the postnatal small intestine. Biochim Biophys Acta 1770: 609-616. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2006.12.011</u>.
- Mondal, D; Weldon, RH; Armstrong, BG; Gibson, LJ; Lopez-Espinosa, MJ; Shin, HM; Fletcher, T. (2014). Breastfeeding: a potential excretion route for mothers and implications for infant exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids. Environ Health Perspect 122: 187-192. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1306613.
- Monroy, R; Morrison, K; Teo, K; Atkinson, S; Kubwabo, C; Stewart, B; Foster, WG. (2008). Serum levels of perfluoroalkyl compounds in human maternal and umbilical cord blood samples. Environ Res 108: 56-62. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2008.06.001.
- Moog, NK; Entringer, S; Heim, C; Wadhwa, PD; Kathmann, N; Buss, C. (2017). Influence of maternal thyroid hormones during gestation on fetal brain development [Review]. Neuroscience 342: 68-100. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.09.070</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.R-28DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Moon, J. (2021). Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) exposure and kidney damage: Causal interpretation using the US 2003-2018 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) datasets. Environ Pollut 288: 117707. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117707.
- Mora, AM; Fleisch, AF; Rifas-Shiman, SL; Woo Baidal, JA; Pardo, L; Webster, TF; Calafat, AM; Ye, X; Oken, E; Sagiv, SK. (2018). Early life exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and mid-childhood lipid and alanine aminotransferase levels. Environ Int 111: 1-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.11.008.
- Mora, AM; Oken, E; Rifas-Shiman, SL; Webster, TF; Gillman, MW; Calafat, AM; Ye, X; Sagiv, SK. (2017). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and adiposity in early and mid-childhood. Environ Health Perspect 125: 467-473. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP246</u>.
- Moreta, C: Tena, MT. (2014). Determination of perfluorinated alkyl acids in corn, popcorn and popcorn bags before and after cooking by focused ultrasound solid-liquid extraction, liquid chromatography and quadrupole-time of flight mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1355: 211-218. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2014.06.018.
- Morgan, RL; Thayer, KA; Bero, L; Bruce, N; Falck-Ytter, Y; Ghersi, D; Guyatt, G; Hooijmans, C; Langendam, M; Mandrioli, D; Mustafa, RA; Rehfuess, EA; Rooney, AA; Shea, B; Silbergeld, EK; Sutton, P; Wolfe, MS; Woodruff, TJ; Verbeek, JH; Holloway, AC; Santesso, N; Schünemann, HJ. (2016). GRADE: Assessing the quality of evidence in environmental and occupational health. Environ Int 92-93: 611-616. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.01.004</u>.
- Morreale de Escobar, G; Ares, S; Berbel, P; Obregón, MJ; Escobar del Rey, F. (2008). The changing role of maternal thyroid hormone in fetal brain development [Review]. Semin Perinatol 32: 380-386. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2008.09.002</u>.
- Mullur, R; Liu, YY; Brent, GA. (2014). Thyroid hormone regulation of metabolism [Review]. Physiol Rev 94: 355-382. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00030.2013</u>.
- Murray, M. (2017). Trafficking and other regulatory mechanisms for organic anion transporting polypeptides and organic anion transporters that modulate cellular drug and xenobiotic influx and that are dysregulated in disease. Br J Pharmacol 174: 1908-1924. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bph.13785.
- Natarajan, S; Lipsitz, S. R.; Nietert, PJ. (2002). Self-report of high cholesterol Determinants of validity in US adults. Am J Prev Med 23: 13-21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0749-3797(02)00446-4</u>.
- Navarro, D; Alvarado, M; Morte, B; Berbel, D; Sesma, J; Pacheco, P; Morreale de Escobar, G; Bernal, J; Berbel, P. (2014). Late maternal hypothyroidism alters the expression of Camk4 in neocortical subplate neurons: a comparison with Nurr1 labeling. Cereb Cortex 24: 2694-2706. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht129</u>.
- Nelson, JW: Hatch, EE: Webster, TF. (2010). Exposure to Polyfluoroalkyl Chemicals and Cholesterol, Body Weight, and Insulin Resistance in the General US Population. Environ Health Perspect 118: 197-202. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0901165.
- Nian, M; Li, QQ; Bloom, M; Qian, ZM; Syberg, KM; Vaughn, MG; Wang, SQ; Wei, Q; Zeeshan, M;
 Gurram, N; Chu, C; Wang, J; Tian, YP; Hu, LW; Liu, KK; Yang, BY; Liu, RQ; Feng, D; Zeng, XW;
 Dong, GH. (2019). Liver function biomarkers disorder is associated with exposure to
 perfluoroalkyl acids in adults: Isomers of C8 Health Project in China. Environ Res 172: 81-88. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.02.013.
- Nigam, PK. (2011). Serum lipid profile: fasting or non-fasting? Indian J Clin Biochem 26: 96–97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12291-010-0095-x.
- <u>NIH</u> (National Institutes of Health). (2020). The PhenX Toolkit: protocol lipid profile. Available online at <u>https://www.phenxtoolkit.org/protocols/view/40201</u> (accessed

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.R-29DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>Nilsson, S; Smurthwaite, K; Aylward, LL; Kay, M; Toms, LM; King, L; Marrington, S; Barnes, C; Kirk,</u> <u>MD; Mueller, JF; Bräunig, J.</u> (2022). Serum concentration trends and apparent half-lives of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in Australian firefighters. Int J Hyg Environ Health 246: 114040. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2022.114040</u>.
- Nirogi, R; Goyal, VK; Jana, S; Pandey, SK; Gothi, A. (2014). What suits best for organ weight analysis: Review of relationship between organ weight and body / brain weight for rodent toxicity studies. Int J Pharm Sci Res 5: 1525-1532. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.13040/IJPSR.0975-8232.5(4).1525-32</u>.
- Niu, J; Liang, H; Tian, Y; Yuan, W; Xiao, H; Hu, H; Sun, X; Song, X; Wen, S; Yang, L; Ren, Y; Miao, M. (2019). Prenatal plasma concentrations of Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances and neuropsychological development in children at four years of age. Environ Health 18: 53. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-019-0493-3.
- NJDWQI (New Jersey Drinking Water Quality Institute). (2017). Public review draft: Health-based maximum contaminant level support document: Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) (CAS #: 1763-23-1; Chemical Formula: C8HF17O3S). NJDWQI Health Effects Subcommittee. https://cswab.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/New-Jersey-Scientific-Documentation-Supporting-PFOS-13-ppt.pdf.
- NLM (National Library of Medicine). (2013). HSDB: Perfluoro-n-nonanoic acid. Available online at https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/source/hsdb/8040 (accessed
- <u>NLM</u> (National Library of Medicine). (2016). HSDB: Perfluorohexanoic acid. Available online at <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/source/hsdb/8299</u> (accessed
- <u>NLM</u> (National Library of Medicine). (2017). HSDB: Perfluorohexanesulfonic acid. Available online at <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/source/hsdb/8274</u> (accessed
- Norwegian Environment Agency. (2018). Investigation of sources to PFHxS in the environment. Munich, Germany: BiPRO GmbH.

https://www.miljodirektoratet.no/globalassets/publikasjoner/M961/M961.pdf.

- Noyes, PD; Paul-Friedman, KP; Haselman, JT; Barone Jr., S; Crofton, KM; Gilbert, ME; Hornung, MW; Laws, SC; Simmons, SO; Stoker, TE; Tietge, JE; Degitz, SJ. (2019). Evaluating chemicals for thyroid disruption: Opportunities and challenges with in vitro testing and adverse outcome pathway approaches. Environ Health Perspect 127: 95001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP5297.
- <u>NTP</u> (National Toxicology Program). (2018a). 28-day evaluation of the toxicity (C06100) of perfluorohexane sulfonate potassium salt (PFHSKslt) (3871-99-6) on Harlan Sprague-Dawley rats exposed via gavage. Available online at <u>http://doi.org/10.22427/NTP-DATA-002-03267-0002-0000-2</u> (accessed October 13, 2020).
- NTP (National Toxicology Program). (2018b). 28-day evaluation of the toxicity (C20615) of perfluorodecanoic acid (PFDA) (335-76-2) on Harlan Sprague-Dawley rats exposed via gavage [NTP]. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. http://dx.doi.org/10.22427/NTP-DATA-002-02652-0004-0000-1.
- NTP (National Toxicology Program). (2018c). TOX-96: 1-Perfluorobutanesulfonic acid (375-73-5), potassium perfluorohexanesulfonate (3871-99-6), perfluorooctane sulfonate (1763-23-1), WY-14643 (50892-23-4). Chemical Effects in Biological Systems (CEBS). Available online at https://manticore.niehs.nih.gov/cebssearch/publication/TOX-96 (accessed August 6, 2018).
- <u>NTP</u> (National Toxicology Program). (2019). NTP technical report on the toxicity studies of perfluoroalkyl sulfonates (perfluorobutane sulfonic acid, perfluorohexane sulfonate potassium salt, and perfluorooctane sulfonic acid) administered by gavage to Sprague Dawley (Hsd:Sprague Dawley SD) rats. (Toxicity Report 96). Research Triangle Park, NC. <u>https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/htdocs/st_rpts/tox096_508.pdf</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-30 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE <u>OECD</u> (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development). (2015). Working towards a global emission inventory of PFASS: focus on PFCAS - status quo and the way forward. Paris, France.

http://www.oecd.org/chemicalsafety/Working%20Towards%20a%20Global%20Emission %20Inventory%20of%20PFASS.pdf.

- <u>OECD</u> (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development). (2016). Test no. 422: Combined repeated dose toxicity study with the reproduction/developmental toxicity screening test: 2016 version. In OECD guidelines for the testing of chemicals, Section 4: Health effects. Paris, France. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264264403-en</u>.
- Oh, J; Bennett, DH; Calafat, AM; Tancredi, D; Roa, DL; Schmidt, RJ; Hertz-Picciotto, I; Shin, HM. (2021). Prenatal exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in association with autism spectrum disorder in the MARBLES study. Environ Int 147: 106328. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106328.
- <u>Oh, J; Bennett, DH; Tancredi, DJ; Calafat, AM; Schmidt, RJ; Hertz-Picciotto, I; Shin, HM.</u> (2022). Longitudinal Changes in Maternal Serum Concentrations of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances from Pregnancy to Two Years Postpartum. Environ Sci Technol 56: 11449-11459. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c07970</u>.
- Ojo, AF: Peng, C: Ng, JC. (2020). Combined effects and toxicological interactions of perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances mixtures in human liver cells (HepG2). Environ Pollut 263: 114182. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.114182</u>.
- <u>Ojo, AF; Xia, Q; Peng, C; Ng, JC.</u> (2021). Evaluation of the individual and combined toxicity of perfluoroalkyl substances to human liver cells using biomarkers of oxidative stress. Chemosphere 281: 130808. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.130808</u>.
- Okada, E; Sasaki, S; Kashino, I; Matsuura, H; Miyashita, C; Kobayashi, S; Itoh, K; Ikeno, T; Tamakoshi, A; Kishi, R. (2014). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids and allergic diseases in early childhood. Environ Int 65: 127-134. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.01.007</u>.
- <u>Olsen, GW; Burris, JM; Ehresman, DJ; Froehlich, JW; Seacat, AM; Butenhoff, JL; Zobel, LR.</u> (2007). Half-life of serum elimination of perfluorooctanesulfonate,perfluorohexanesulfonate, and perfluorooctanoate in retired fluorochemical production workers. Environ Health Perspect 115: 1298-1305. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.10009</u>.
- Omoike, OE; Pack, RP; Mamudu, HM; Liu, Y; Strasser, S; Zheng, S; Okoro, J; Wang, L. (2020). Association between per and polyfluoroalkyl substances and markers of inflammation and oxidative stress. Environ Res 196: 110361. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110361.
- Omoike, OE; Pack, RP; Mamudu, HM; Liu, Y; Wang, L. (2021). A cross-sectional study of the association between perfluorinated chemical exposure and cancers related to deregulation of estrogen receptors. Environ Res 196: 110329. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110329.
- <u>Oppi, S; Lüscher, TF; Stein, S.</u> (2019). Mouse models for atherosclerosis research- Which is my line? [Review]. Front Cardiovasc Med 6: 46. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2019.00046</u>.
- Osmond, C: Barker, DJ. (2000). Fetal, infant, and childhood growth are predictors of coronary heart disease, diabetes, and hypertension in adult men and women [Review]. Environ Health Perspect 108: 545-553. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3454545</u>.
- Osterman, LE; Poore, RZ; Swarzenski, PW. (2008). The last 1000 years of natural and anthropogenic low-oxygen bottom-water on the Louisiana shelf, Gulf of Mexico. Marine Micropaleontology 66: 291-303. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.marmicro.2007.10.005.
- <u>Ou, Y; Zeng, X; Lin, S; Bloom, MS; Han, F; Xiao, X; Wang, H; Matala, R; Li, X; Qu, Y; Nie, Z; Dong, G; Liu, X.</u> (2021). Gestational exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and congenital heart defects: A

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-31 DRAFT—D0 NOT CITE OR QUOTE

nested case-control pilot study. Environ Int 154: 106567. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106567.

- <u>Oulhote, Y; Steuerwald, U; Debes, F; Weihe, P; Grandjean, P.</u> (2016). Behavioral difficulties in 7-year old children in relation to developmental exposure to perfluorinated alkyl substances [Review]. Environ Int 97: 237-245. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.09.015</u>.
- Palha, JA. (2002). Transthyretin as a thyroid hormone carrier: Function revisited [Review]. Clin Chem Lab Med 40: 1292-1300. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/CCLM.2002.223</u>.
- Papadopoulou, E; Stratakis, N; Basagaña, X; Brantsæter, AL; Casas, M; Fossati, S; Gražulevičienė, R; Småstuen Haug, L; Heude, B; Maitre, L; Mceachan, RRC; Robinson, O; Roumeliotaki, T; Sabidó, E; Borràs, E; Urquiza, J; Vafeiadi, M; Zhao, Y; Slama, R; Wright, J; Conti, DV; Vrijheid, M; Chatzi, L. (2021). Prenatal and postnatal exposure to PFAS and cardiometabolic factors and inflammation status in children from six European cohorts. Environ Int 157: 106853. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106853.
- Patel, J; Landers, K; Li, H; Mortimer, RH; Richard, K. (2011). Thyroid hormones and fetal neurological development [Review]. J Endocrinol 209: 1-8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1530/JOE-10-0444</u>.
- Pearce, RG; Setzer, RW; Strope, CL; Sipes, NS; Wambaugh, JF. (2017). Httk: R package for high-throughput toxicokinetics. J Stat Softw 79: 1-26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18637/jss.v079.i04</u>.
- Pelch, KE; Reade, A; Kwiatkowski, CF; Merced-Nieves, FM; Cavalier, H; Schultz, K; Wolffe, T: Varshavsky, J. (2022). The PFAS-Tox Database: A systematic evidence map of health studies on 29 per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances. Environ Int 167: 107408. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107408.
- Pennings, JLA; Jennen, DGJ; Nygaard, UC; Namork, E; Haug, LS; van Loveren, H; Granum, B. (2016). Cord blood gene expression supports that prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances causes depressed immune functionality in early childhood. J Immunotoxicol 13: 173-180. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/1547691X.2015.1029147.
- <u>Pérez, F; Llorca, M; Köck-Schulmeyer, M; Škrbić, B; Oliveira, LS; da Boit Martinello, K; Al-Dhabi, NA;</u> <u>Antić, I; Farré, M; Barceló, D.</u> (2014). Assessment of perfluoroalkyl substances in food items at global scale. Environ Res 135: 181-189. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.08.004</u>.
- <u>Pérez, F; Nadal, M; Navarro-Ortega, A; Fàbrega, F; Domingo, JL; Barceló, D; Farré, M.</u> (2013). Accumulation of perfluoroalkyl substances in human tissues. Environ Int 59: 354-362. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.06.004</u>.
- Perng, W, ei; Rifas-Shiman, SL; Kramer, MS; Haugaard, LK; Oken, E; Gillman, MW; Belfort, MB. (2016). Early Weight Gain, Linear Growth, and Mid-Childhood Blood Pressure A Prospective Study in Project Viva. Hypertension 67: 301-308. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.06635.
- Petersen, KU; Hærvig, KK; Flachs, EM; Bonde, JP; Lindh, C; Hougaard, KS; Toft, G; Ramlau-Hansen, <u>CH; Tøttenborg, SS.</u> (2022). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and male reproductive function in young adulthood; a cross-sectional study. Environ Res 212: 113157. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.113157</u>.
- Pfohl, M; Ingram, L; Marques, E; Auclair, A; Barlock, B; Jamwal, R; Anderson, D; Cummings, BS; Slitt, AL. (2020). Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid and perfluorohexanesulfonic acid alter the blood lipidome and the hepatic proteome in a murine model of diet-induced obesity. Toxicol Sci 178: 311-324. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfaa148</u>.
- <u>Pilo, A; Iervasi, G; Vitek, F; Ferdeghini, M; Cazzuola, F; Bianchi, R.</u> (1990). Thyroidal and peripheral production of 3,5,3'-triiodothyronine in humans by multicompartmental analysis. Am J Physiol 258: E715-E726. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1990.258.4.E715</u>.
- <u>Pitter, G; Zare Jeddi, M; Barbieri, G; Gion, M; Fabricio, ASC; Daprà, F; Russo, F; Fletcher, T; Canova, C.</u> (2020). Perfluoroalkyl substances are associated with elevated blood pressure and

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-32 DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

hypertension in highly exposed young adults. Environ Health 19: 102. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-020-00656-0.

- Poothong, S; Thomsen, C; Padilla-Sanchez, JA; Papadopoulou, E; Haug, LS. (2017). Distribution of novel and well-known poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in human serum, plasma, and whole blood. Environ Sci Technol 51: 13388-13396. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b03299.
- Preston, EV; Webster, TF; Claus Henn, B; Mcclean, MD; Gennings, C; Oken, E; Rifas-Shiman, SL; Pearce, EN; Calafat, AM; Fleisch, AF; Sagiv, SK. (2020). Prenatal exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and maternal and neonatal thyroid function in the Project Viva Cohort: A mixtures approach. Environ Int 139: 105728. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105728.
- Preston, EV; Webster, TF; Oken, E; Claus Henn, B; Mcclean, MD; Rifas-Shiman, SL; Pearce, EN; Braverman, LE; Calafat, AM; Ye, X; Sagiv, SK. (2018). Maternal plasma per- and polyfluoroalkyl substance concentrations in early pregnancy and maternal and neonatal thyroid function in a prospective birth cohort: Project Viva (USA). Environ Health Perspect 126: 027013. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP2534</u>.
- <u>Pritchard, A.</u> (2012). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire hyperactivity-inattention subscale is more sensitive for the ADHD-combined subtype than other subtypes in 7-9-yearold school children. Evid Based Ment Health 15: 34. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ebmental-2011-100482</u>.
- Qin, XD; Qian, Z; Vaughn, MG; Huang, J; Ward, P; Zeng, XW; Zhou, Y; Zhu, Y; Yuan, P; Li, M; Bai, Z; Paul, G; Hao, YT; Chen, W; Chen, PC; Dong, GH; Lee, YL. (2016). Positive associations of serum perfluoroalkyl substances with uric acid and hyperuricemia in children from Taiwan. Environ Pollut 212: 519-524. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.02.050</u>.
- Radke, E; Wright, MJ: Christensen, K: Lin, CJ: Goldstone, AE; Glenn, B; Thayer, K. (2022). Epidemiology evidence for health effects of 150 per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances: A systematic evidence map [Review]. Environ Health Perspect 130: 96003. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP11185.
- Radke, EG; Glenn, B; Galizia, A; Persad, A; Nachman, R; Bateson, T; Wright, JM; Navas-Acien, A; Arroyave, WD; Puett, RC; Harville, EW; Pollack, AZ; Burns, JS; Lynch, CD; Sagiv, SK; Stein, C; Cooper, GS. (2019). Development of outcome-specific criteria for study evaluation in systematic reviews of epidemiology studies. Environ Int 130: 104884. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.05.078.
- Rahman, ML; Zhang, C; Smarr, MM; Lee, S; Honda, M; Kannan, K; Tekola-Ayele, F; Buck Louis, GM. (2019). Persistent organic pollutants and gestational diabetes: A multi-center prospective cohort study of healthy US women. Environ Int 124: 249-258. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.01.027.
- Ramhøj, L; Hass, U; Boberg, J; Scholze, M; Christiansen, S; Nielsen, F; Axelstad, M. (2018). Perfluorohexane sulfonate (PFHxS) and a mixture of endocrine disrupters reduce thyroxine levels and cause anti-androgenic effects in rats. Toxicol Sci 163: 579-591. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfy055</u>.
- Ramhøj, L; Hass, U; Gilbert, ME; Wood, C; Svingen, T; Usai, D; Vinggaard, AM; Mandrup, K; Axelstad, M. (2020). Evaluating thyroid hormone disruption: investigations of long-term neurodevelopmental effects in rats after perinatal exposure to perfluorohexane sulfonate (PFHxS). Sci Rep 10: 2672. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59354-z.

Reardon, AJF: Khodayari Moez, E: Dinu, I: Goruk, S: Field, CJ: Kinniburgh, DW: Macdonald, AM: <u>Martin, JW: Study, A.</u> (2019). Longitudinal analysis reveals early-pregnancy associations between perfluoroalkyl sulfonates and thyroid hormone status in a Canadian prospective

> This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-33 DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

birth cohort. Environ Int 129: 389-399. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/i.envint.2019.04.023.

- Refetoff, S. (2015). Thyroid hormone serum transport proteins. In KR Feingold; B Anawalt; A Boyce; G Chrousos; WW de Herder; K Dhatariya; K Dungan; JM Hershman; J Hofland; S Kalra; G Kaltsas; C Koch; P Kopp; M Korbonits; CS Kovacs; W Kuohung; B Laferrère; M Levy; EA McGee; R McLachlan; JE Morley; M New; J Purnell; R Sahay; F Singer; MA Sperling; CA Stratakis; DL Trence; DP Wilson (Eds.), Endotext. South Dartmouth, MA: MDtext.com Inc. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK285566/.
- Ren, Y; Jin, L; Yang, F; Liang, H; Zhang, Z; Du, J; Song, X; Miao, M; Yuan, W. (2020). Concentrations of perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances and blood glucose in pregnant women. Environ Health 19: 88. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-020-00640-8</u>.
- <u>Reves, L; Mañalich, R.</u> (2005). Long-term consequences of low birth weight [Review]. Kidney Int Suppl 68: S107-S111. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.09718.x</u>.
- Robinson, PJ; Rapoport, SI. (1986). Kinetics of protein binding determine rates of uptake of drugs by brain. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 251: R1212-R1220. http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1986.251.6.R1212.
- Romano, ME; Gallagher, LG; Eliot, MN; Calafat, AM; Chen, A; Yolton, K; Lanphear, B; Braun, JM. (2020). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substance mixtures and gestational weight gain among mothers in the health outcomes and measures of the environment study. Int J Hyg Environ Health 231: 113660. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113660.
- <u>Rosen, MB; Das, KP; Rooney, J; Abbott, B; Lau, C; Corton, JC.</u> (2017). PPARα-independent transcriptional targets of perfluoroalkyl acids revealed by transcript profiling. Toxicology 387: 95-107. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2017.05.013</u>.
- Rosen, MB; Das, KP; Wood, CR; Wolf, CJ; Abbott, BD; Lau, C. (2013). Evaluation of perfluoroalkyl acid activity using primary mouse and human hepatocytes. Toxicology 308: 129-137. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2013.03.011.
- Rosenmai, AK; Ahrens, L; le Godec, T; Lundqvist, J; Oskarsson, A. (2018). Relationship between peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha activity and cellular concentration of 14 perfluoroalkyl substances in HepG2 cells. J Appl Toxicol 38: 219-226. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jat.3515.
- Rosskothen-Kuhl, N; Illing, RB. (2014). Gap43 transcription modulation in the adult brain depends on sensory activity and synaptic cooperation. PLoS ONE 9: e92624. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092624.
- Rotander, A; Kärrman, A; Toms, LM; Kay, M; Mueller, JF; Gómez Ramos, MJ. (2015a). Novel fluorinated surfactants tentatively identified in firefighters using liquid chromatography quadrupole time-of-flight tandem mass spectrometry and a case-control approach. Environ Sci Technol 49: 2434-2442. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es503653n</u>.
- Rotander, A: Toms, LM; Aylward, L; Kay, M; Mueller, JF. (2015b). Elevated levels of PFOS and PFHxS in firefighters exposed to aqueous film forming foam (AFFF). Environ Int 82: 28-34. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.05.005.
- Roth, RA: Jaeschke, H: Luyendyk, JP. (2019). Chapter 13: Toxic responses of the liver. In CD Klaassen (Ed.), Casarett & Doull's toxicology: The basic science of poisons (9th ed., pp. 719-766). New York, NY: McGraw Hill.
- Rovet, JF. (2005). Children with congenital hypothyroidism and their siblings: Do they really differ? Pediatrics 115: e52-e57. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1542/peds.2004-1492</u>.
- Rovet, JF. (2014). The role of thyroid hormones for brain development and cognitive function. In G Szinnai (Ed.), Paediatric thyroidology (pp. 26-43). Basel, Switzerland: Karger. http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000363153.
- Ruffle, B; Vedagiri, U; Bogdan, D; Maier, M; Schwach, C; Murphy-Hagan, C. (2020). Perfluoroalkyl Substances in U.S. market basket fish and shellfish. Environ Res 190: 9932-9932. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109932.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-34 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>Rylander, C; Brustad, M; Falk, H; Sandanger, TM.</u> (2009). Dietary predictors and plasma concentrations of perfluorinated compounds in a coastal population from northern Norway. J Environ Public Health 2009: 268219. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2009/268219</u>.
- Sagiv, SK; Rifas-Shiman, SL; Fleisch, AF; Webster, TF; Calafat, AM; Ye, X; Gillman, MW; Oken, E. (2018). Early Pregnancy Perfluoroalkyl Substance Plasma Concentrations and Birth Outcomes in Project Viva: Confounded by Pregnancy Hemodynamics? Am J Epidemiol 187: 793-802. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx332.
- Sagiv, SK; Rifas-Shiman, SL; Webster, TF; Mora, AM; Harris, MH; Calafat, AM; Ye, X; Gillman, MW; Oken, E. (2015). Sociodemographic and perinatal predictors of early pregnancy per- and polyfluoroalkyl substance (PFAS) concentrations. Environ Sci Technol 49: 11849-11858. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b02489.
- Salazar-Martinez, E; Romano-Riquer, P; Yanez-Marquez, E; Longnecker, MP; Hernandez-Avila, M. (2004). Anogenital distance in human male and female newborns: a descriptive, cross-sectional study. Environ Health 3: 8-13. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1476-069x-3-8</u>.
- Salgado, R; López-Doval, S; Pereiro, N; Lafuente, A. (2016). Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) exposure could modify the dopaminergic system in several limbic brain regions. Toxicol Lett 240: 226-235. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2015.10.023</u>.
- Salihovic, S; Stubleski, J; Kärrman, A; Larsson, A; Fall, T; Lind, L; Lind, PM. (2018). Changes in markers of liver function in relation to changes in perfluoroalkyl substances A longitudinal study. Environ Int 117: 196-203. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.04.052</u>.
- Sanders, JE; Eigenberg, DA; Bracht, LJ; Wang, WR; van Zwieten, MJ. (1988). Thyroid and liver trophic changes in rats secondary to liver microsomal enzyme induction caused by an experimental leukotriene antagonist (L-649,923). Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 95: 378-387. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0041-008x(88)90356-0.
- Sarzo, B; Ballesteros, V; Iñiguez, C; Manzano-Salgado, CB; Casas, M; Llop, S; Murcia, M; Guxens, M; Vrijheid, M; Marina, LS; Schettgen, T; Espada, M; Irizar, A; Fernandez-Jimenez, N; Ballester, F; Lopez-Espinosa, MJ. (2021). Maternal perfluoroalkyl substances, thyroid hormones, and DIO genes: A Spanish cross-sectional study. Environ Sci Technol 55: 11144–11154. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c01452.
- Sathyanarayana, S; Beard, L; Zhou, C; Grady, R. (2010). Measurement and correlates of ano-genital distance in healthy, newborn infants. Int J Androl 33: 317-323. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2605.2009.01044.x.
- Schaider, LA; Balan, SA; Blum, A; Andrews, DQ; Strynar, MJ; Dickinson, ME; Lunderberg, DM; Lang, JR; Peaslee, GF. (2017). Fluorinated compounds in US fast food packaging. Environ Sci Technol Lett 4: 105-111. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.6b00435</u>.
- Schecter, A; Malik-Bass, N; Calafat, AM; Kato, K; Colacino, JA; Gent, TL; Hynan, LS; Harris, TR; Malla, S; Birnbaum, L. (2012). Polyfluoroalkyl compounds in Texas children from birth through 12 years of age. Environ Health Perspect 120: 590-594. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1104325.
- Schünemann, H; Hill, S; Guyatt, G; Akl, EA; Ahmed, F. (2011). The GRADE approach and Bradford Hill's criteria for causation. J Epidemiol Community Health 65: 392-395. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech.2010.119933.
- Scinicariello, F; Buser, MC; Abadin, HG; Attanasio, R. (2020a). Perfluoroalkyl substances and anthropomorphic measures in children (ages 3-11 years), NHANES 2013-2014. Environ Res 186: 109518. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109518.
- Scinicariello, F; Buser, MC; Balluz, L; Gehle, K; Murray, HE; Abadin, HG; Attanasio, R. (2020b). Perfluoroalkyl acids, hyperuricemia and gout in adults: Analyses of NHANES 2009-2014. Chemosphere 259: 127446. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127446</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-35 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Sellers, RS; Mortan, D; Michael, B; Roome, N; Johnson, JK; Yano, BL; Perry, R; Schafer, K. (2007). Society of toxicologic pathology position paper: Organ weight recommendations for toxicology studies [Review]. Toxicol Pathol 35: 751-755. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01926230701595300</u>.
- Seo, SH; Son, MH; Choi, SD; Lee, DH; Chang, YS. (2018). Influence of exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) on the Korean general population: 10-year trend and health effects. Environ Int 113: 149-161. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.01.025</u>.
- Shah-Kulkarni, S; Kim, BM; Hong, YC; Kim, HS; Kwon, EJ; Park, H; Kim, YJ; Ha, EH. (2016). Prenatal exposure to perfluorinated compounds affects thyroid hormone levels in newborn girls. Environ Int 94: 607-613. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.06.024</u>.
- <u>Shapiro, GD; Dodds, L; Arbuckle, TE; Ashley-Martin, J; Ettinger, AS; Fisher, M; Taback, S; Bouchard, MF; Monnier, P; Dallaire, R; Morisset, AS; Fraser, W.</u> (2016). Exposure to organophosphorus and organochlorine pesticides, perfluoroalkyl substances, and polychlorinated biphenyls in pregnancy and the association with impaired glucose tolerance and gestational diabetes mellitus: The MIREC Study. Environ Res 147: 71-81. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.01.040.
- <u>Sheng, N; Li, J; Liu, H; Zhang, A; Dai, J.</u> (2016). Interaction of perfluoroalkyl acids with human liver fatty acid-binding protein. Arch Toxicol 90: 217-227. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00204-014-1391-7</u>.
- Shi, Y; Yang, L; Li, J; Lai, J; Wang, Y; Zhao, Y; Wu, Y. (2017). Occurrence of perfluoroalkyl substances in cord serum and association with growth indicators in newborns from Beijing. Chemosphere 169: 396-402. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.11.050</u>.
- Shih, YH; Blomberg, AJ; Bind, MA; Holm, D; Nielsen, F; Heilmann, C; Weihe, P; Grandjean, P. (2021). Serum vaccine antibody concentrations in adults exposed to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances: A birth cohort in the Faroe Islands. J Immunotoxicol 18: 85-92. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1547691X.2021.1922957.
- Shin, HM; Bennett, DH; Calafat, AM; Tancredi, D; Hertz-Picciotto, I. (2020). Modeled prenatal exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in association with child autism spectrum disorder: A case-control study. Environ Res 186: 109514. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109514.
- Shinwell, ES; Shlomo, M. (2003). Measured length of normal term infants changes over the first two days of life. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 16: 537-540. http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/jpem.2003.16.4.537.
- Shoaff, J: Papandonatos, GD: Calafat, AM; Chen, A: Lanphear, BP: Ehrlich, S: Kelsey, KT: Braun, JM. (2018). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances: Infant birth weight and early life growth. Environmental Epidemiology 2: e010. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/EE9.00000000000010.
- Shrestha, S; Bloom, MS; Yucel, R; Seegal, RF; Rej, R; Mccaffrey, RJ; Wu, Q; Kannan, K; Fitzgerald, EF. (2017). Perfluoroalkyl substances, thyroid hormones, and neuropsychological status in older adults. Int J Hyg Environ Health 220: 679-685. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2016.12.013.
- Singer, AB; Whitworth, KW; Haug, LS; Sabaredzovic, A; Impinen, A; Papadopoulou, E; Longnecker, MP. (2018). Menstrual cycle characteristics as determinants of plasma concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort (MoBa study). Environ Res 166: 78-85. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.05.019</u>.
- Sinisalu, L; Yeung, LWY; Wang, J; Pan, Y; Dai, J; Hyötyläinen, T. (2021). Prenatal exposure to poly-/per-fluoroalkyl substances is associated with alteration of lipid profiles in cord-blood. Metabolomics 17: 103. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11306-021-01853-9</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-36 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Skogheim, TS; Villanger, GD; Weyde, KVF; Engel, SM; Surén, P; Øie, MG; Skogan, AH; Biele, G; Zeiner, P; Øvergaard, KR; Haug, LS; Sabaredzovic, A; Aase, H. (2020). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and associations with symptoms of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder and cognitive functions in preschool children. Int J Hyg Environ Health 223: 80-92. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2019.10.003.
- Skogheim, TS; Weyde, K, jell Vegard F; Aase, H; Engel, SM; Suren, P; Oie, MG; Biele, G; Reichborn-Kjennerud, T; Brantsaeter, AL; Haug, LS; Sabaredzovic, A; Auyeung, B; Villanger, GD. (2021). Prenatal exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and associations with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and autism spectrum disorder in children. Environ Res 202: 111692. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111692</u>.
- Smit, LA; Lenters, V; Høyer, BB; Lindh, CH; Pedersen, HS; Liermontova, I; Jönsson, BA; Piersma, AH; Bonde, JP; Toft, G; Vermeulen, R; Heederik, D. (2015). Prenatal exposure to environmental chemical contaminants and asthma and eczema in school-age children. Allergy 70: 653-660. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/all.12605.
- Song. X; Tang. S; Zhu, H; Chen, Z; Zang, Z; Zhang, Y; Niu, X; Wang, X; Yin, H; Zeng, F; He, C. (2018). Biomonitoring PFAAs in blood and semen samples: Investigation of a potential link between PFAAs exposure and semen mobility in China. Environ Int 113: 50-54. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.01.010.
- Specht, IO; Hougaard, KS; Spanò, M; Bizzaro, D; Manicardi, GC; Lindh, CH; Toft, G; Jönsson, BA; Giwercman, A; Bonde, JP. (2012). Sperm DNA integrity in relation to exposure to environmental perfluoroalkyl substances - a study of spouses of pregnant women in three geographical regions. Reprod Toxicol 33: 577-583. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2012.02.008.
- Spratlen, MJ; Perera, FP; Lederman, SA; Rauh, VA; Robinson, M; Kannan, K; Trasande, L; Herbstman, J. (2020a). The association between prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and childhood neurodevelopment. Environ Pollut 263: 114444. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.114444</u>.
- Spratlen, MJ; Perera, FP; Lederman, SA; Robinson, M; Kannan, K; Herbstman, J; Trasande, L. (2020b). The association between perfluoroalkyl substances and lipids in cord blood. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 105: 43-54. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgz024</u>.
- Stagnaro-Green, A; Rovet, J. (2016). Pregnancy: Maternal thyroid function in pregnancy A tale of two tails [Comment]. Nat Rev Endocrinol 12: 10-11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2015.212.
- Stahl, LL; Snyder, BD; Olsen, AR; Kincaid, TM; Wathen, JB; Mccarty, HB. (2014). Perfluorinated compounds in fish from U.S. urban rivers and the Great Lakes. Sci Total Environ 499: 185-195. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.07.126.
- Starling, AP; Adgate, JL; Hamman, RF; Kechris, K; Calafat, AM; Dabelea, D. (2019). Prenatal exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and infant growth and adiposity: The healthy start study. Environ Int 131: 104983. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.104983</u>.
- <u>Starling, AP; Adgate, JL; Hamman, RF; Kechris, K; Calafat, AM; Ye, X; Dabelea, D.</u> (2017). Perfluoroalkyl substances during pregnancy and offspring weight and adiposity at birth: Examining mediation by maternal fasting glucose in the healthy start study. Environ Health Perspect 125: 067016. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP641</u>.
- <u>Starling, AP; Engel, SM; Richardson, DB; Baird, DD; Haug, LS; Stuebe, AM; Klungsoyr, K; Harmon, Q;</u> <u>Becher, G; Thomsen, C; Sabaredzovic, A; Eggesbo, M; Hoppin, JA; Travlos, GS; Wilson, RE;</u> <u>Trogstad, LI; Magnus, P, er; Longnecker, MP.</u> (2014a). Perfluoroalkyl Substances During Pregnancy and Validated Preeclampsia Among Nulliparous Women in the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study. Am J Epidemiol 179: 824-833. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwt432</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-37 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>Starling, AP; Engel, SM; Whitworth, KW; Richardson, DB; Stuebe, AM; Daniels, JL; Haug, LS; Eggesbø, M; Becher, G; Sabaredzovic, A; Thomsen, C; Wilson, RE; Travlos, GS; Hoppin, JA; Baird, DD; Longnecker, MP. (2014b). Perfluoroalkyl substances and lipid concentrations in plasma during pregnancy among women in the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study. Environ Int 62: 104-112. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.10.004</u>.
 </u>
- <u>Steenland, K; Barry, V; Savitz, D.</u> (2018). Serum perfluorooctanoic acid and birthweight: an updated meta-analysis with bias analysis. Epidemiology 29: 765-776. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/EDE.0000000000000903</u>.
- <u>Stein, CR; Ge, Y; Wolff, MS; Ye, X; Calafat, AM; Kraus, T; Moran, TM.</u> (2016a). Perfluoroalkyl substance serum concentrations and immune response to FluMist vaccination among healthy adults. Environ Res 149: 171-178. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.05.020</u>.
- <u>Stein, CR; Mcgovern, KJ; Pajak, AM; Maglione, PJ; Wolff, M.</u> (2016b). Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances and indicators of immune function in children aged 12-19 y: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Pediatr Res 79: 348-357. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/pr.2015.213</u>.
- <u>Stein, CR; Savitz, DA.</u> (2011). Serum perfluorinated compound concentration and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children 5-18 years of age. Environ Health Perspect 119: 1466-1471. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1003538</u>.
- <u>Stoker, TE; Ferrell, JM; Laws, SC; Cooper, RL; Buckalew, A.</u> (2006). Evaluation of ammonium perchlorate in the endocrine disruptor screening and testing program's male pubertal protocol: Ability to detect effects on thyroid endpoints. Toxicology 228: 58-65. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2006.08.026</u>.
- <u>Stratakis, N; Conti, DV; Jin, R; Margetaki, K; Valvi, D; Siskos, AP; Maitre, L; Garcia, E; Varo, N; Zhao, Y;</u> <u>Roumeliotaki, T; Vafeiadi, M; Urquiza, J; Fernández-Barrés, S; Heude, B; Basagana, X; Casas,</u> <u>M; Fossati, S; Gražulevičienė, R; Andrušaitytė, S; Uppal, K; Mceachan, RR; Papadopoulou, E;</u> <u>Robinson, O; Haug, LS; Wright, J; Vos, MB; Keun, HC; Vrijheid, M; Berhane, KT; Mcconnell, R;</u> <u>Chatzi, L.</u> (2020). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances associated with increased susceptibility to liver injury in children. Hepatology 72: 1758-1770. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.31483</u>.
- Stubleski, J: Salihovic, S: Lind, L: Lind, PM; van Bavel, B: Kärrman, A. (2016). Changes in serum levels of perfluoroalkyl substances during a 10-year follow-up period in a large population-based cohort. Environ Int 95: 86-92. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.08.002</u>.
- Sun, Q: Zong, G: Valvi, D: Nielsen, F: Coull, B: Grandjean, P. (2018). Plasma concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances and risk of Type 2 diabetes: A prospective investigation among U.S. women. Environ Health Perspect 126: 037001. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP2619</u>.
- Sunderland, EM; Hu, XC; Dassuncao, C; Tokranov, AK; Wagner, CC; Allen, JG. (2019). A review of the pathways of human exposure to poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) and present understanding of health effects [Review]. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 29: 131-147. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41370-018-0094-1.
- Sundström, M; Chang, SC; Noker, PE; Gorman, GS; Hart, JA; Ehresman, DJ; Bergman, A; Butenhoff, JL. (2012). Comparative pharmacokinetics of perfluorohexanesulfonate (PFHxS) in rats, mice, and monkeys. Reprod Toxicol 33: 441-451. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2011.07.004.
- Surma, M; Piskula, M; Wiczkowski, W; Zieliński, H. (2017). The perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCAs) and perfluoroalkane sulfonates (PFSAs) contamination level in spices. European Food Research and Technology 243: 297-307. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00217-016-2744-7</u>.

- Susmann, HP; Schaider, LA; Rodgers, KM; Rudel, R. (2019). Dietary Habits Related to Food Packaging and Population Exposure to PFASs. Environ Health Perspect 127: 107003. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP4092.
- <u>Sweeney, M.</u> (2022). Physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling of perfluorohexane sulfonate (PFHxS) in humans. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 129: 1-10.
- Tao, L, in; Kannan, K; Aldous, KM; Mauer, MP; Eadon, GA. (2008). Biomonitoring of perfluorochemicals in plasma of New York state personnel responding to the World Trade Center disaster. Environ Sci Technol 42: 3472-3478. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es8000079</u>.
- <u>Tetzlaff, CNR; Ramhøj, L; Lardenois, A; Axelstad, M; Evrard, B; Chalmel, F; Taxvig, C; Svingen, T.</u> (2021). Adult female rats perinatally exposed to perfluorohexane sulfonate (PFHxS) and a mixture of endocrine disruptors display increased body/fat weights without a transcriptional footprint in fat cells. Toxicol Lett 339: 78-87. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2020.12.018</u>.
- <u>Thankamony, A; Pasterski, V; Ong, KK; Acerini, CL; Hughes, IA.</u> (2016). Anogenital distance as a marker of androgen exposure in humans. Andrology 0: 1-10. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/andr.12156</u>.
- <u>Thomsen, ML; Henriksen, LS; Tinggaard, J; Nielsen, F; Jensen, TK; Main, KM.</u> (2021). Associations between exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and body fat evaluated by DXA and MRI in 109 adolescent boys. Environ Health 20: 73. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-021-00758-3</u>.
- Thoolen, B; Maronpot, RR; Harada, T; Nyska, A; Rousseaux, C; Nolte, T; Malarkey, DE; Kaufmann, W;Küttler, K; Deschl, U; Nakae, D; Gregson, R; Vinlove, MP; Brix, AE; Singh, B; Belpoggi, F;Ward, JM. (2010). Proliferative and nonproliferative lesions of the rat and mousehepatobiliary system [Review]. Toxicol Pathol 38: 5S-81S.http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0192623310386499.
- <u>Tian, M, .; Reichetzeder, C, .; Li, J, .; Hocher, B, .</u> (2019a). Low birth weight, a risk factor for diseases in later life, is a surrogate of insulin resistance at birth. J Hypertens 37: 2123-2134. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/HJH.00000000002156</u>.
- <u>Tian, Y; Liang, H; Miao, M; Yang, F; Ji, H; Cao, W; Liu, X; Zhang, X; Chen, A; Xiao, H; Hu, H; Yuan, W.</u> (2019b). Maternal plasma concentrations of perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances during pregnancy and anogenital distance in male infants. Hum Reprod 34: 1356-1368. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dez058</u>.
- Tian, Y; Miao, M; Ji, H; Zhang, X; Chen, A; Wang, Z; Yuan, W; Liang, H. (2021). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and cord plasma lipid concentrations. Environ Pollut 268: 115426. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115426</u>.
- Tian, Z; Peter, KT; Gipe, AD; Zhao, H; Hou, F; Wark, DA; Khangaonkar, T; Kolodziej, EP; James, CA. (2020). Suspect and Nontarget Screening for Contaminants of Emerging Concern in an Urban Estuary. Environ Sci Technol 54: 889-901. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b06126.
- Timmermann, CA; Budtz-Jørgensen, E; Jensen, TK; Osuna, CE; Petersen, MS; Steuerwald, U; Nielsen,
 F; Poulsen, LK; Weihe, P; Grandjean, P. (2017). Association between perfluoroalkyl substance exposure and asthma and allergic disease in children as modified by MMR vaccination. J Immunotoxicol 14: 39-49.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1547691X.2016.1254306.

<u>Timmermann, CAG; Andersen, MS; Budtz-Jørgensen, E; Boye, H; Nielsen, F; Jensen, RC; Bruun, S;</u> <u>Husby, S; Grandjean, P; Jensen, TK.</u> (2022). Pregnancy exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and associations with prolactin concentrations and breastfeeding in the Odense Child Cohort. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 107: e631-e642. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgab638</u>.

> This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-39 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>Timmermann, CAG; Jensen, KJ; Nielsen, F; Budtz-Jørgensen, E; van Der Klis, F; Benn, CS; Grandjean,</u> <u>P; Fisker, AB.</u> (2020). Serum Perfluoroalkyl Substances, Vaccine Responses, and Morbidity in a Cohort of Guinea-Bissau Children. Environ Health Perspect 128: 87002. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP6517</u>.
- Timmermann, CAG; Pedersen, HS; Weihe, P; Bjerregaard, P; Nielsen, F; Heilmann, C; Grandjean, P. (2021). Concentrations of tetanus and diphtheria antibodies in vaccinated Greenlandic children aged 7-12 years exposed to marine pollutants, a cross sectional study. Environ Res 203: 111712. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111712.
- <u>Toft, G; Jönsson, BAG; Lindh, CH; Giwercman, A; Spano, M; Heederik, D; Lenters, V; Vermeulen, R;</u> <u>Rylander, L; Pedersen, HS; Ludwicki, JK; Zviezdai, V; Bonde, JP.</u> (2012). Exposure to perfluorinated compounds and human semen quality in arctic and European populations. Hum Reprod 27: 2532-2540. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/humrep/des185</u>.
- Tsai, MS; Chang, SH; Kuo, WH; Kuo, CH; Li, SY; Wang, MY; Chang, DY; Lu, YS; Huang, CS; Cheng, AL; Lin, CH; Chen, PC. (2020). A case-control study of perfluoroalkyl substances and the risk of breast cancer in Taiwanese women. Environ Int 142: 105850. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105850.
- U.S. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (1991). Guidelines for developmental toxicity risk assessment. Fed Reg 56: 63798-63826.
- U.S. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (1994). Methods for derivation of inhalation reference concentrations and application of inhalation dosimetry [EPA Report]. (EPA600890066F). Research Triangle Park, NC. <u>https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/risk/recordisplay.cfm?deid=71993&CFID=51174829&CFTOKE</u> <u>N=25006317</u>.
- U.S. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (1996). Guidelines for reproductive toxicity risk assessment. Fed Reg 61: 56274-56322.
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (1998). Health effects test guidelines OPPTS 870.7800 immunotoxicity. (EPA 712-C-98-351). Washington, DC: Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/ocspp/pubs/frs/publications/Test Guidelines/series870.htm.
- U.S. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2002). A review of the reference dose and reference concentration processes. (EPA630P02002F). Washington, DC. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-12/documents/rfd-final.pdf.
- U.S. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2005). Guidelines for carcinogen risk assessment [EPA Report]. (EPA630P03001F). Washington, DC. <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2013-09/documents/cancer_guidelines_final_3-25-05.pdf</u>.
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2011a). Exposure factors handbook: 2011 edition [EPA Report]. (EPA/600/R-090/052F). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development, National Center for Environmental Assessment. <u>https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPURL.cgi?Dockey=P100F2OS.txt</u>.
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2011b). Recommended use of body weight 3/4 as the default method in derivation of the oral reference dose. (EPA100R110001). Washington, DC. <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2013-09/documents/recommended-use-of-bw34.pdf</u>.
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2012). Benchmark dose technical guidance [EPA Report]. (EPA100R12001). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Risk Assessment Forum. <u>https://www.epa.gov/risk/benchmark-dose-technical-guidance</u>.
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2014). Guidance for applying quantitative data to develop data-derived extrapolation factors for interspecies and intraspecies extrapolation

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-40 DRAFT–DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE [EPA Report]. (EPA/100/R-14/002F). Washington, DC: Risk Assessment Forum, Office of the Science Advisor. <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-01/documents/ddef-final.pdf</u>.

- U.S. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2016a). Health effects support document for perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) [EPA Report]. (EPA 822-R-16-002). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Health and Ecological Criteria Division. <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-</u>05/documents/pfos hesd final 508.pdf.
- U.S. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2016b). Health effects support document for perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) [EPA Report]. (EPA 822-R-16-003). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Health and Ecological Criteria Division. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-05/documents/pfoa hesd final-plain.pdf.
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2016c). The Third Unregulated Contaminant Monitoring Rule. Available online at <u>https://www.epa.gov/dwucmr/third-unregulatedcontaminant-monitoring-rule</u> (accessed
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2018a). Chemistry Dashboard. Washington, DC. Retrieved from <u>https://comptox.epa.gov/dashboard</u>
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2018b). An umbrella Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) for PBPK models [EPA Report]. (ORD QAPP ID No: B-0030740-QP-1-1). Research Triangle Park, NC.
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2019a). ChemView [Database]. Retrieved from <u>https://chemview.epa.gov/chemview</u>
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2019b). CompTox Chemicals Dashboard [Database]. Research Triangle Park, NC. Retrieved from <u>https://comptox.epa.gov/dashboard</u>
- U.S. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2019c). Systematic review protocol for the PFAS IRIS assessments. (EPA/635/R-19/050). https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/iris_drafts/recordisplay.cfm?deid=345065.
- U.S. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2020). ORD staff handbook for developing IRIS assessments (public comment draft) [EPA Report]. (EPA/600/R-20/137). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development, Center for Public Health and Environmental Assessment. https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/iris_drafts/recordisplay.cfm?deid=350086.
- U.S. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2021a). Human health toxicity values for perfluorobutane sulfonic acid (CASRN 375-73-5) and related compound potassium perfluorobutane sulfonate (CASRN 29420-49-3) [EPA Report]. (EPA/600/R-20/345F). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development. <u>https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/risk/recordisplay.cfm?deid=350888</u>.
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2021b). Toxicological review of perfluorobutanoic acid (PFBA) and related compound ammonium perfluorobutanoic acid (public comment and external review draft, Aug 2021) [EPA Report]. (EPA/635/R-20/424a). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Risk Information System. <u>https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPURL.cgi?Dockey=P1014IBF.txt</u>.
- <u>U.S. EPA</u> (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). (2022). DRAFT: Toxicological review of perfluorohexanoic acid [CASRN 307244] and related salts. (EPA/635/R-21/312a).
- <u>Ullebo, AK; Posserud, M; Heiervang, E; Gillberg, C; Obel, C.</u> (2011). Screening for the attention deficit hyperactivity disorder phenotype using the strength and difficulties questionnaire. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 20: 451-458. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00787-011-0198-9</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-41 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>Vagi, SJ: Azziz-Baumgartner, E: Sjödin, A: Calafat, AM: Dumesic, D: Gonzalez, L: Kato, K: Silva, MJ: Ye, X: Azziz, R.</u> (2014). Exploring the potential association between brominated diphenyl ethers, polychlorinated biphenyls, organochlorine pesticides, perfluorinated compounds, phthalates, and bisphenol a in polycystic ovary syndrome: a case-control study. BMC Endocrine Disorders 14: 86. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1472-6823-14-86</u>.
- Valvi, D; Højlund, K; Coull, BA; Nielsen, F; Weihe, P; Grandjean, P. (2021). Life-course Exposure to Perfluoroalkyl Substances in Relation to Markers of Glucose Homeostasis in Early Adulthood. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 106: 2495-2504. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgab267.
- Valvi, D; Oulhote, Y; Weihe, P; Dalgård, C; Bjerve, KS; Steuerwald, U; Grandjean, P. (2017). Gestational diabetes and offspring birth size at elevated environmental pollutant exposures. Environ Int 107: 205-215. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.07.016</u>.
- van Kerkhof, LWM; Van Dycke, KCG; Jansen, EHJ, M; Beekhof, PK; van Oostrom, CTM; Ruskovska, T; Velickova, N; Kamcev, N; Pennings, JLA; van Steeg, H; Rodenburg, W. (2015). Diurnal variation of hormonal and lipid biomarkers in a molecular epidemiology-like setting. PLoS ONE 10: e0135652. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0135652.
- <u>Vanden Heuvel, JP; Kuslikis, BI; Van Rafelghem, MJ; Peterson, RE.</u> (1991a). Disposition of perfluorodecanoic acid in male and female rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 107: 450-459. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0041-008X(91)90308-2.
- <u>Vanden Heuvel, JP; Kuslikis, BI; Van Rafelghem, MJ; Peterson, RE.</u> (1991b). Tissue distribution, metabolism, and elimination of perfluorooctanoic acid in male and female rats. J Biochem Toxicol 6: 83-92. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jbt.2570060202</u>.
- Vansell, NR. (2022). Mechanisms by Which Inducers of Drug Metabolizing Enzymes Alter Thyroid Hormones in Rats. Drug Metab Dispos 50: 508-517. http://dx.doi.org/10.1124/dmd.121.000498.
- Varshavsky, JR; Robinson, JF; Zhou, Y; Puckett, KA; Kwan, E; Buarpung, S; Aburajab, R; Gaw, SL; Sen, S; Gao, SM; Smith, SC; Park, JS; Zakharevich, I; Gerona, RR; Fisher, SJ; Woodruff, TJ. (2021). Organophosphate flame retardants, highly fluorinated chemicals, and biomarkers of placental development and disease during mid-gestation. Toxicol Sci 181: 215-228. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfab028.
- <u>Varsi, K; Huber, S; Averina, M; Brox, J; Bjørke-Monsen, AL.</u> (2022). Quantitation of linear and branched perfluoroalkane sulfonic acids (PFSAs) in women and infants during pregnancy and lactation. Environ Int 160: 107065. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.107065</u>.
- <u>Velarde, MC; Chan, AFO; Sajo, MEJ, V; Zakharevich, I; Melamed, J; Uy, GLB; Teves, JMY; Corachea, AJM; Valparaiso, AP; Macalindong, SS; Cabaluna, ND; Dofitas, RB; Giudice, LC; Gerona, RR.</u> (2022). Elevated levels of perfluoroalkyl substances in breast cancer patients within the Greater Manila Area. Chemosphere 286 Pt 1: 131545. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131545.
- <u>Vélez, MP; Arbuckle, TE; Fraser, WD.</u> (2015). Maternal exposure to perfluorinated chemicals and reduced fecundity: the MIREC study. Hum Reprod 30: 701-709. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deu350</u>.
- <u>Verner, MA; Longnecker, MP.</u> (2015). Comment on "enhanced elimination of perfluorooctanesulfonic acid by menstruating women: evidence from population-based pharmacokinetic modeling" [Letter]. Environ Sci Technol 49: 5836-5837. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b00187</u>.
- Verner, MA; Ngueta, G; Jensen, ET; Fromme, H; Vöelkel, W; Nygaard, UC; Granum, B; Longnecker, MP. (2016). A simple pharmacokinetic model of prenatal and postnatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs). Environ Sci Technol 50: 978-986. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b04399</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-42 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Veseli, BE; Perrotta, P; De Meyer, GRA; Roth, L; Van der Donckt, C; Martinet, W; De Meyer, GRY. (2017). Animal models of atherosclerosis. Eur J Pharmacol 816: 3-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2017.05.010.
- <u>Vestergaard, S; Nielsen, F; Andersson, AM; Hjøllund, NH; Grandjean, P; Andersen, HR; Jensen, TK.</u> (2012). Association between perfluorinated compounds and time to pregnancy in a prospective cohort of Danish couples attempting to conceive. Hum Reprod 27: 873-880. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/humrep/der450</u>.
- <u>Viberg, H; Lee, I; Eriksson, P.</u> (2013). Adult dose-dependent behavioral and cognitive disturbances after a single neonatal PFHxS dose. Toxicology 304: 185-191. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2012.12.013.
- <u>Vongphachan, V; Cassone, CG; Wu, DM; Chiu, SZ; Crump, D; Kennedy, SW.</u> (2011). Effects of perfluoroalkyl compounds on mRNA expression levels of thyroid hormone-responsive genes in primary cultures of avian neuronal cells. Toxicol Sci 120: 392-402. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfq395</u>.
- <u>Vuong, A; Yolton, K; Webster, GM; Sjodin, A; Calafat, AM; Braun, JM; Dietrich, K; Lanphear, BP; Chen, A.</u> (2016). Prenatal polybrominated diphenyl ether and perfluoroalkyl substance exposures and executive function in school-age children. Environ Res 147: 556-564. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.01.008.
- <u>Vuong, AM; Braun, JM; Yolton, K; Wang, Z; Xie, C; Webster, GM; Ye, X; Calafat, AM; Dietrich, KN;</u> <u>Lanphear, BP; Chen, A.</u> (2018a). Prenatal and childhood exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and measures of attention, impulse control, and visual spatial abilities. Environ Int 119: 413-420. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.07.013</u>.
- <u>Vuong, AM; Webster, GM; Yolton, K; Calafat, AM; Muckle, G; Lanphear, BP; Chen, A.</u> (2021a). Prenatal exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and neurobehavior in US children through 8 years of age: The HOME study. Environ Res 195: 110825. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.110825</u>.
- Vuong, AM; Xie, C; Jandarov, R; Dietrich, KN; Zhang, H; Sjödin, A; Calafat, AM; Lanphear, BP;
 Mccandless, L; Braun, JM; Yolton, K; Chen, A. (2020). Prenatal exposure to a mixture of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and child reading skills at school age. Int J Hyg Environ Health 228: 113527. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113527</u>.
- Vuong, AM; Yolton, K; Wang, Z; Xie, C; Webster, GM; Ye, X; Calafat, AM; Braun, JM; Dietrich, KN; Lanphear, BP; Chen, A. (2018b). Childhood perfluoroalkyl substance exposure and executive function in children at 8 years. Environ Int 119: 212-219. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.06.028.
- <u>Vuong, AM; Yolton, K; Xie, C; Dietrich, KN; Braun, JM; Webster, GM; Calafat, AM; Lanphear, BP; Chen,</u> <u>A.</u> (2019). Prenatal and childhood exposure to poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and cognitive development in children at age 8 years. Environ Res 172: 242-248. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.02.025</u>.
- <u>Vuong, AM; Yolton, K; Xie, C; Dietrich, KN; Braun, JM; Webster, GM; Calafat, AM; Lanphear, BP; Chen, A.</u> (2021b). Childhood exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and neurobehavioral domains in children at age 8 years. Neurotoxicol Teratol 88: 107022. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ntt.2021.107022.
- <u>Wahlang, B; Beier, JI; Clair, HB; Bellis-Jones, HJ; Falkner, K; Mcclain, CJ; Cave, MC.</u> (2013). Toxicantassociated steatohepatitis [Review]. Toxicol Pathol 41: 343-360. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0192623312468517</u>.
- Wahlang, B; Jin, J; Beier, JI; Hardesty, JE; Daly, EF; Schnegelberger, RD; Falkner, KC; Prough, RA; Kirpich, IA; Cave, MC. (2019). Mechanisms of environmental contributions to fatty liver disease [Review]. Curr Environ Health Rep 6: 80-94. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40572-019-00232-w</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.R-43DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Wang, B; Fu, J; Gao, K; Liu, Q; Zhuang, L; Zhang, G; Long, M; Na, J; Ren, M; Wang, A; Liang, R; Shen, G; Li, Z; Lu, Q. (2021a). Early pregnancy loss: Do Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances matter? Environ Int 157: 106837. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106837</u>.
- Wang, B; Zhang, R; Jin, F; Lou, H; Mao, Y; Zhu, W; Zhou, W; Zhang, P; Zhang, J. (2017). Perfluoroalkyl substances and endometriosis-related infertility in Chinese women. Environ Int 102: 207-212. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.03.003.
- Wang, F; Zhao, C; Gao, Y; Fu, J; Gao, K; Lv, K; Wang, K; Yue, H; Lan, X; Liang, Y; Wang, Y; Jiang, G. (2019a). Protein-specific distribution patterns of perfluoroalkyl acids in egg yolk and albumen samples around a fluorochemical facility. Sci Total Environ 650: 2697-2704. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.006.
- Wang, J; Zeng, XW; Bloom, MS; Qian, Z; Hinyard, LJ; Belue, R; Lin, S; Wang, SQ; Tian, YP; Yang, M; Chu, C; Gurram, N; Hu, LW; Liu, KK; Yang, BY; Feng, D; Liu, RQ; Dong, GH. (2019b). Renal function and isomers of perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) and perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS): Isomers of C8 Health Project in China. Chemosphere 218: 1042-1049. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.11.191.
- Wang, Y; Aimuzi, R; Nian, M; Zhang, Y; Luo, K; Zhang, J. (2021b). Perfluoroalkyl substances and sex hormones in postmenopausal women: NHANES 2013-2016. Environ Int 149: 106408. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106408.
- Wang, Y; Rogan, WJ; Chen, HY; Chen, PC; Su, PH; Chen, HY; Wang, SL. (2015). Prenatal exposure to perfluroalkyl substances and children's IQ: The Taiwan maternal and infant cohort study. Int J Hyg Environ Health 218: 639-644. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2015.07.002</u>.
- Wang, Y: Rogan, WJ: Chen, PC; Lien, GW; Chen, HY; Tseng, YC; Longnecker, MP; Wang, SL. (2014). Association between maternal serum perfluoroalkyl substances during pregnancy and maternal and cord thyroid hormones: Taiwan maternal and infant cohort study. Environ Health Perspect 122: 529-534. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1306925</u>.
- Wang, Y: Starling, AP; Haug, LS; Eggesbo, M; Becher, G; Thomsen, C; Travlos, G; King, D; Hoppin, JA; <u>Rogan, WJ</u>; Longnecker, MP. (2013). Association between perfluoroalkyl substances and thyroid stimulating hormone among pregnant women: a cross-sectional study. Environ Health 12: 76. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-12-76</u>.
- Wang, Y; Wang, L; Chang, W; Zhang, Y; Zhang, Y; Liu, W. (2019c). Neurotoxic effects of perfluoroalkyl acids: Neurobehavioral deficit and its molecular mechanism. Toxicol Lett 305: 65-72. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2019.01.012</u>.
- Wang, Y; Zhang, L; Teng, Y; Zhang, J; Yang, L; Li, J; Lai, J; Zhao, Y; Wu, Y. (2018). Association of serum levels of perfluoroalkyl substances with gestational diabetes mellitus and postpartum blood glucose. J Environ Sci 69: 5-11. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2018.03.016</u>.
- Wang, Z; Shi, R; Ding, G; Yao, Q; Pan, C; Gao, Y; Tian, Y. (2022). Association between maternal serum concentration of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) at delivery and acute infectious diseases in infancy. Chemosphere 289: 133235.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.133235.

- <u>Watkins, DJ: Josson, J: Elston, B: Bartell, SM: Shin, HM: Vieira, VM: Savitz, DA: Fletcher, T: Wellenius,</u> <u>GA.</u> (2013). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids and markers of kidney function among children and adolescents living near a chemical plant. Environ Health Perspect 121: 625-630. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1205838</u>.
- <u>Weaver, YM; Ehresman, DJ; Butenhoff, JL; Hagenbuch, B.</u> (2010). Roles of rat renal organic anion transporters in transporting perfluorinated carboxylates with different chain lengths. Toxicol Sci 113: 305-314. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfp275</u>.
- <u>Webster, GM; Venners, SA; Mattman, A; Martin, JW.</u> (2014). Associations between perfluoroalkyl acids (PFASs) and maternal thyroid hormones in early pregnancy: a population-based cohort study. Environ Res 133: 338-347. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.06.012</u>.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-44 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Weiss, JM; Andersson, PL; Lamoree, MH; Leonards, PEG; van Leeuwen, SPJ; Hamers, T. (2009). Competitive Binding of Poly- and Perfluorinated Compounds to the Thyroid Hormone Transport Protein Transthyretin. Toxicol Sci 109: 206-216. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfp055.
- Weisskopf, MG; Seals, RM; Webster, TF. (2018). Bias amplification in epidemiologic analysis of exposure to mixtures. Environ Health Perspect 126. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP2450</u>.
- Wen, LL; Lin, LY; Su, TC; Chen, PC; Lin, CY. (2013). Association between serum perfluorinated chemicals and thyroid function in U.S. adults: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2007-2010. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98: E1456-E1464. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/jc.2013-1282.
- Wexler, JA; Sharretts, J. (2007). Thyroid and bone [Review]. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 36: 673-705, vi. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecl.2007.04.005.
- Whalan, JE. (2015). A toxicologist's guide to clinical pathology in animals: Hematology, clinical chemistry, urinalysis. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-15853-2.
- <u>WHO</u> (World Health Organization). (2010). WHO laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen. In WHO laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen (5th ed.). Geneva, Switzerland.
- <u>Wielsøe, M; Kern, P; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC.</u> (2017). Serum levels of environmental pollutants is a risk factor for breast cancer in Inuit: a case control study. Environ Health 16: 56. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0269-6</u>.
- <u>Wielsøe, M; Long, M; Ghisari, M; Bonefeld-Jørgensen, EC.</u> (2015). Perfluoroalkylated substances (PFAS) affect oxidative stress biomarkers in vitro. Chemosphere 129: 239-245. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.10.014.
- <u>Wikström, S; Hussein, G; Lingroth Karlsson, A; Lindh, CH; Bornehag, CG.</u> (2021). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances in early pregnancy and risk of sporadic first trimester miscarriage. Sci Rep 11: 3568. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-82748-6</u>.
- Wikström, S; Lin, PI; Lindh, CH; Shu, H; Bornehag, CG. (2020). Maternal serum levels of perfluoroalkyl substances in early pregnancy and offspring birth weight. Pediatr Res 87: 1093-1099. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41390-019-0720-1</u>.
- <u>Wise, LA; Wesselink, AK; Schildroth, S; Calafat, AM; Bethea, TN; Geller, RJ; Coleman, CM; Fruh, V;</u> <u>Claus Henn, B; Botelho, JC; Harmon, QE; Thirkill, M; Wegienka, GR; Baird, DD.</u> (2022). Correlates of plasma concentrations of per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances among reproductive-aged Black women. Environ Res 203: 111860. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111860</u>.
- <u>Woods, MM; Lanphear, BP; Braun, JM; McCandless, LC.</u> (2017). Gestational exposure to endocrine disrupting chemicals in relation to infant birth weight: A Bayesian analysis of the HOME Study. Environ Health 16: 115. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0332-3</u>.
- Workman, CE; Becker, AB; Azad, MB; Moraes, TJ; Mandhane, PJ; Turvey, SE; Subbarao, P; Brook, JR; Sears, MR; Wong, CS. (2019). Associations between concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances in human plasma and maternal, infant, and home characteristics in Winnipeg, Canada. Environ Pollut 249: 758-766. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.03.054</u>.
- Worley, RR; Moore, SM; Tierney, BC; Ye, X; Calafat, AM; Campbell, S; Woudneh, MB; Fisher, J. (2017). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in human serum and urine samples from a residentially exposed community. Environ Int 106: 135-143. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.06.007.
- Wright, JM; Larsen, A; Rappazzo, K; Ru, H; Radke, EG; Bateson, TF. (2023). Systematic review and meta-analysis of birthweight and PFNA exposures. Environ Res115357. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2023.115357.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy.R-45DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- <u>WS</u> (Weston Solutions Inc). (2007). Remedial investigation report. Phase 2. Fluorochemical (FC) data assessment report for the Cottage Grove, MN site. St. Paul, MN: 3M Corporate Toxicology. <u>https://www.pca.state.mn.us/sites/default/files/pfc-cottagegrove-remedialinvestigationreport.pdf</u>.
- Xiao, C; Grandjean, P; Valvi, D; Nielsen, F; Jensen, TK; Weihe, P; Oulhote, Y. (2019). Associations of exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances with thyroid hormone concentrations and birth size. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 105: 735-745. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgz147</u>.
- Xu, C; Yin, S; Liu, Y; Chen, F; Zhong, Z; Li, F; Liu, K; Liu, W. (2019). Prenatal exposure to chlorinated polyfluoroalkyl ether sulfonic acids and perfluoroalkyl acids: Potential role of maternal determinants and associations with birth outcomes. J Hazard Mater 380: 120867. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.120867.
- Yamauchi, T. (2005). Neuronal Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II Discovery, progress in a quarter of a century, and perspective: Implication for learning and memory. Biol Pharm Bull 28: 1342-1354. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1248/bpb.28.1342</u>.
- Yang, A; Chen, L; Xie, Z; Feng, H; Sun, F. (2016a). Constructal heat transfer rate maximization for cylindrical pin-fin heat sinks. Applied Thermal Engineering 108: 427-435. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2016.07.150.
- Yang, BY; Wu, J; Niu, XL; He, CJ; Bloom, MS; Abudoukade, M; Abulizi, M; Xu, AM; Li, BB; Li, L; Zhong, XM; Wu, QZ; Chu, C; Luo, YN; Liu, XX; Zeng, XW; Yu, YJ; Dong, GH; Zou, XG; Liu, T. (2022a). Low-level environmental per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and preterm birth: A nested case-control study among a Uyghur population in northwestern China. Exposure and Health 14: 793-805. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12403-021-00454-0</u>.
- Yang, CH; Glover, KP; Han, X. (2009). Organic anion transporting polypeptide (Oatp) 1a1-mediated perfluorooctanoate transport and evidence for a renal reabsorption mechanism of Oatp1a1 in renal elimination of perfluorocarboxylates in rats. Toxicol Lett 190: 163-171. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2009.07.011.
- Yang, D; Han, J; Hall, DR; Sun, J; Fu, J; Kutarna, S; Houck, KA; Lalone, CA; Doering, JA; Ng, CA; Peng, H. (2020a). Nontarget screening of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances binding to human liver fatty acid binding protein. Environ Sci Technol 54: 5676-5686. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c00049.
- Yang, J; Wang, H; Du, H; Fang, H; Han, M; Wang, Y; Xu, L; Liu, S; Yi, J; Chen, Y; Jiang, Q; He, G. (2022b). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances was associated with estrogen homeostasis in pregnant women. Sci Total Environ 805: 150360. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150360.
- <u>Yang, J; Wang, H; Du, H; Fang, H; Han, M; Xu, L; Liu, S; Yi, J; Chen, Y; Jiang, Q; He, G.</u> (2020b). Serum perfluoroalkyl substances in relation to lipid metabolism in Chinese pregnant women. Chemosphere 273: 128566. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.128566</u>.
- Yang, L; Li, J; Lai, J; Luan, H; Cai, Z; Wang, Y; Zhao, Y; Wu, Y. (2016b). Placental transfer of perfluoroalkyl substances and associations with thyroid hormones: Beijing prenatal exposure study. Sci Rep 6: 21699. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep21699</u>.
- Yang, L; Wang, Z; Shi, Y; Li, J; Wang, Y; Zhao, Y; Wu, Y; Cai, Z. (2016c). Human placental transfer of perfluoroalkyl acid precursors: Levels and profiles in paired maternal and cord serum. Chemosphere 144: 1631-1638. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.10.063</u>.
- Yang, Q; Guo, X; Sun, P; Chen, Y; Zhang, W; Gao, A. (2018). Association of serum levels of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) with the metabolic syndrome (MetS) in Chinese male adults: A cross-sectional study. Sci Total Environ 621: 1542-1549. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.074.

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-46 DRAFT—D0 NOT CITE OR QUOTE

- Yang, X; Schnakenberg, LK; Shi, Q; Salminen, WF. (2014). Hepatic toxicity biomarkers. In RC Gupta (Ed.), Biomarkers in Toxicology (pp. 241-259). New York, NY: Academic Press. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-404630-6.00013-0.
- Yao, J; Dong, Z; Jiang, L; Pan, Y; Zhao, M; Bai, X; Dai, J. (2023). Emerging and Legacy Perfluoroalkyl Substances in Breastfed Chinese Infants: Renal Clearance, Body Burden, and Implications. Environ Health Perspect 131: 37003-37003. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP11403</u>.
- Yao, Q; Gao, Y; Zhang, Y; Qin, K; Liew, Z; Tian, Y. (2021). Associations of paternal and maternal perand polyfluoroalkyl substances exposure with cord serum reproductive hormones, placental steroidogenic enzyme and birth weight. Chemosphere 285: 131521. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131521.
- Yao, Q; Shi, R; Wang, C; Han, W; Gao, Y; Zhang, Y; Zhou, Y; Ding, G; Tian, Y. (2019). Cord blood perand polyfluoroalkyl substances, placental steroidogenic enzyme, and cord blood reproductive hormone. Environ Int 129: 573-582. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.03.047.
- Yao, Q: Vinturache, A; Lei, X; Wang, Z; Pan, C; Shi, R; Yuan, T; Gao, Y; Tian, Y. (2022). Prenatal exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances, fetal thyroid hormones, and infant neurodevelopment. Environ Res 206: 112561. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.112561.
- Yeung, LW; Guruge, KS; Taniyasu, S; Yamashita, N; Angus, PW; Herath, CB. (2013). Profiles of perfluoroalkyl substances in the liver and serum of patients with liver cancer and cirrhosis in Australia. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 96: 139-146. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2013.06.006.
- Yin, X; Di, T; Cao, X; Liu, Z; Xie, J; Zhang, S. (2021). Chronic exposure to perfluorohexane sulfonate leads to a reproduction deficit by suppressing hypothalamic kisspeptin expression in mice. Journal of Ovarian Research 14: 141. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13048-021-00903-z</u>.
- Yu, G; Jin, M; Huang, Y; Aimuzi, R; Zheng, T; Nian, M; Tian, Y; Wang, W; Luo, Z; Shen, L; Wang, X; Du, Q; Xu, W; Zhang, J. (2021). Environmental exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances in early pregnancy, maternal glucose homeostasis and the risk of gestational diabetes: A prospective cohort study. Environ Int 156: 106621. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106621</u>.
- Zare Jeddi, M; Dalla Zuanna, T; Barbieri, G; Fabricio, ASC; Daprà, F; Fletcher, T; Russo, F; Pitter, G; Canova, C. (2021). Associations of Perfluoroalkyl Substances with Prevalence of Metabolic Syndrome in Highly Exposed Young Adult Community Residents-A Cross-Sectional Study in Veneto Region, Italy. Int J Environ Res Public Health 18: 1194. http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18031194.
- Zeng, X; Chen, Q; Zhang, X; Li, H; Liu, Q; Li, C; Ma, M; Zhang, J; Zhang, W; Zhang, J; Huang, L. (2019a). Association between prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances and asthma-related diseases in preschool children. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 26: 29639-29648. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-05864-x</u>.
- Zeng, XW; Bloom, MS; Dharmage, SC; Lodge, CJ; Chen, D; Li, S; Guo, Y; Roponen, M; Jalava, P; Hirvonen, MR; Ma, H; Hao, YT; Chen, W; Yang, M; Chu, C; Li, QQ; Hu, LW; Liu, KK; Yang, BY; Liu, S; Fu, C; Dong, GH. (2019b). Prenatal exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances is associated with lower hand, foot and mouth disease viruses antibody response in infancy: Findings from the Guangzhou Birth Cohort Study. Sci Total Environ 663: 60-67. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.01.325.
- Zeng, XW; Lodge, CJ; Dharmage, SC; Bloom, MS; Yu, Y; Yang, M; Chu, C; Li, QQ; Hu, LW; Liu, KK; Yang, BY; Dong, GH. (2019c). Isomers of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and uric acid in adults: Isomers of C8 Health Project in China. Environ Int 133: 105160. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105160.

- Zeng, XW; Qian, Z; Emo, B; Vaughn, M; Bao, J; Qin, XD; Zhu, Y; Li, J; Lee, YL; Dong, GH. (2015). Association of polyfluoroalkyl chemical exposure with serum lipids in children. Sci Total Environ 512-513: 364-370. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.01.042</u>.
- Zhang, H; Yolton, K; Webster, GM; Ye, X; Calafat, AM; Dietrich, KN; Xu, Y; Xie, C; Braun, JM; Lanphear, BP; Chen, A. (2018a). Prenatal and childhood perfluoroalkyl substances exposures and children's reading skills at ages 5 and 8 years. Environ Int 111: 224-231. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.11.031.
- Zhang, Q; Liu, W; Niu, Q; Wang, Y; Zhao, H; Zhang, H; Song, J; Tsuda, S; Saito, N. (2016a). Effects of perfluorooctane sulfonate and its alternatives on long-term potentiation in the hippocampus CA1 region of adult rats in vivo. Toxicology Research 5: 539-546. http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/c5tx00184f.
- Zhang, Q; Zhao, H; Liu, W; Zhang, Z; Qin, H; Luo, F; Leng, S. (2016b). Developmental perfluorooctane sulfonate exposure results in tau hyperphosphorylation and β-amyloid aggregation in adults rats: Incidence for link to Alzheimer's disease. Toxicology 347-349: 40-46. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2016.03.003.
- Zhang, S; Tan, R; Pan, R; Xiong, J; Tian, Y; Wu, J; Chen, L. (2018b). Association of perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances with premature ovarian insufficiency in Chinese women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 103: 2543-2551. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/jc.2017-02783</u>.
- Zhang, T; Sun, H; Lin, Y; Qin, X; Zhang, Y; Geng, X; Kannan, K. (2013a). Distribution of poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances in matched samples from pregnant women and carbon chain length related maternal transfer. Environ Sci Technol 47: 7974-7981. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es400937y.
- Zhang, T; Zhang, B; Bai, X; Yao, Y; Wang, L; Shu, Y; Kannan, K; Huang, X; Sun, H. (2019a). Health status of elderly people living near e-waste recycling sites: association of e-waste dismantling activities with legacy perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs). Environ Sci Technol Lett 6: 133-140. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.9b00085</u>.
- Zhang, W; Zhang, D; Zagorevski, DV; Liang, Y. (2019b). Exposure of Juncus effusus to seven perfluoroalkyl acids: Uptake, accumulation and phytotoxicity. Chemosphere 233: 300-308. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.05.258.
- Zhang, Y; Beesoon, S; Zhu, L; Martin, JW. (2013b). Biomonitoring of perfluoroalkyl acids in human urine and estimates of biological half-life. Environ Sci Technol 47: 10619-10627. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es401905e.
- Zhang, Y; Pan, C; Ren, Y; Wang, Z; Luo, J; Ding, G; Vinturache, A; Wang, X; Shi, R; Ouyang, F; Zhang, J; Li, J; Gao, Y; Tian, Y. (2022). Association of maternal exposure to perfluoroalkyl and polyfluroalkyl substances with infant growth from birth to 12 months: A prospective cohort study. Sci Total Environ 806: 151303. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.151303</u>.
- Zhao, W; Zitzow, JD; Ehresman, DJ; Chang, SC; Butenhoff, JL; Forster, J; Hagenbuch, B. (2015). Na+/taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide and apical sodium-dependent bile acid transporter are involved in the disposition of perfluoroalkyl sulfonates in humans and rats. Toxicol Sci 146: 363-373. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfv102</u>.
- Zhao, W; Zitzow, JD; Weaver, Y; Ehresman, DJ; Chang, SC; Butenhoff, JL; Hagenbuch, B. (2017).
 Organic anion transporting polypeptides contribute to the disposition of perfluoroalkyl acids in humans and rats. Toxicol Sci 156: 84-95. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfw236.
 Zhao, W: Zhang, L: Tang, G: Fong, F: Zhao, S: Tian, Y: Tang, L. (2017a). Diagnet perfluoroallyl
- Zhou, W; Zhang, L; Tong, C; Fang, F; Zhao, S; Tian, Y; Tao, Y; Zhang, J. (2017a). Plasma perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances concentration and menstrual cycle characteristics in preconception women. Environ Health Perspect 125: 067012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/EHP1203.
- Zhou, Y; Hu, LW; Qian, ZM; Chang, JJ; King, C; Paul, G; Lin, S; Chen, PC; Lee, YL; Dong, GH. (2016). Association of perfluoroalkyl substances exposure with reproductive hormone levels in

This document is a draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. R-48 DRAFT-DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

adolescents: By sex status. Environ Int 94: 189-195. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.05.018.

- Zhou, Y; Hu, LW; Qian, ZM; Geiger, SD; Parrish, KL; Dharmage, SC; Campbell, B; Roponen, M; Jalava, P; Hirvonen, MR; Heinrich, J; Zeng, XW; Yang, BY; Qin, XD; Lee, YL; Dong, GH. (2017b). Interaction effects of polyfluoroalkyl substances and sex steroid hormones on asthma among children. Sci Rep 7: 899. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-01140-5</u>.
- Zhou, Z; Shi, YL; Vestergren, R; Wang, T; Liang, Y; Cai, YQ. (2014). Highly elevated serum concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances in fishery employees from Tangxun lake, china. Environ Sci Technol 48: 3864-3874. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es4057467</u>.
- Zhu, Y; Qin, XD; Zeng, XW; Paul, G; Morawska, L; Su, MW; Tsai, CH; Wang, SQ; Lee, YL; Dong, GH. (2016). Associations of serum perfluoroalkyl acid levels with T-helper cell-specific cytokines in children: By gender and asthma status. Sci Total Environ 559: 166-173. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.187.
- Zoeller, RT; Crofton, KM. (2005). Mode of action: developmental thyroid hormone insufficiency-neurological abnormalities resulting from exposure to propylthiouracil [Review]. Crit Rev Toxicol 35: 771-781. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10408440591007313</u>.
- Zoeller, RT; Rovet, J. (2004). Timing of thyroid hormone action in the developing brain: Clinical observations and experimental findings [Review]. J Neuroendocrinol 16: 809-818. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2826.2004.01243.x.